JMIR Public Health and Surveillance

Impact Factor (2023): 3.5 Volume 8 (2022), Issue 6 ISSN 2369-2960 Editor in Chief: Travis Sanchez, PhD, MPH

Contents

Review

Public Health Implications of Adapting HIV Pre-exposure Prophylaxis Programs for Virtual Service Delivery in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic: Systematic Review (e37479) Pragna Patel, Michael Kerzner, Jason Reed, Patrick Sullivan, Wafaa El-Sadr.	. 3
Original Papers	
Characterizing Anchoring Bias in Vaccine Comparator Selection Due to Health Care Utilization With COVID-19 and Influenza: Observational Cohort Study (e33099) Anna Ostropolets, Patrick Ryan, Martijn Schuemie, George Hripcsak.	22
Social Determinants in Self-Protective Behavior Related to COVID-19: Association Rule–Mining Study (e34020)	
Gabriel Urbanin, Wagner Meira, Alexandre Serpa, Danielle Costa, Leonardo Baldaçara, Ana da Silva, Rafaela Guatimosim, Anísio Lacerda, Eduardo Oliveira, Andre Braule, Marco Romano-Silva, Antônio da Silva, Leandro Malloy-Diniz, Gisele Pappa, Débora Miranda	31
The Moderating Effect of Educational Background on the Efficacy of a Computer-Based Brief Intervention Addressing the Full Spectrum of Alcohol Use: Randomized Controlled Trial (e33345) Andreas Staudt, Jennis Freyer-Adam, Christian Meyer, Gallus Bischof, Ulrich John, Sophie Baumann.	45
User- and Message-Level Correlates of Endorsement and Engagement for HIV-Related Messages on Twitter: Cross-sectional Study (e32718)	
Jimin Oh, Stephen Bonett, Elissa Kranzler, Bruno Saconi, Robin Stevens.	58
Strengthening the Merci Mon Héros Campaign Through Adaptive Management: Application of Social Listening Methodology (e35663)	
Martha Silva, Jonathan Walker, Erin Portillo, Leanne Dougherty.	69
The Distribution of HIV and AIDS Cases in Luzhou, China, From 2011 to 2020: Bayesian Spatiotemporal Analysis (e37491)	
Ningjun Ren, Yuansheng Li, Ruolan Wang, Wenxin Zhang, Run Chen, Ticheng Xiao, Hang Chen, Ailing Li, Song Fan.	78
Correlates of Engagement Within an Online HIV Prevention Intervention for Single Young Men Who Have Sex With Men: Randomized Controlled Trial (e33867)	
Seul Choi, Jesse Golinkoff, Mark Michna, Daniel Connochie, José Bauermeister.	88

Effect of Switching Antiretroviral Treatment Regimen in Patients With Drug-Resistant HIV-1 Infection: Retrospective Observational Cohort Study (e33429)	
Yiping Li, Qinjian Wang, Shu Liang, Chuanteng Feng, Hong Yang, Hang Yu, Dan Yuan, Shujuan Yang.	
Enablers and Barriers to HIV Services for Gay and Bisexual Men in the COVID-19 Era: Fusing Data Sets from Two Global Online Surveys Via File Concatenation With Adjusted Weights (e33538)	
George Ayala, Sonya Arreola, Sean Howell, Thomas Hoffmann, Glenn-Milo Santos.	111
Estimating COVID-19 Hospitalizations in the United States With Surveillance Data Using a Bayesian Hierarchical Model: Modeling Study (e34296)	
Alexia Couture, A Iuliano, Howard Chang, Neha Patel, Matthew Gilmer, Molly Steele, Fiona Havers, Michael Whitaker, Carrie Reed	122
COVID-19 Surveillance in the Biobank at the Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine: Observational Study (e37327)	
Randi Johnson, Katie Marker, David Mayer, Jonathan Shortt, David Kao, Kathleen Barnes, Jan Lowery, Christopher Gignoux	134
Changes in Temporal Properties of Notifiable Infectious Disease Epidemics in China During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Population-Based Surveillance Study (e35343)	
Xixi Zhao, Meijia Li, Naem Haihambo, Jianhua Jin, Yimeng Zeng, Jinyi Qiu, Mingrou Guo, Yuyao Zhu, Zhirui Li, Jiaxin Liu, Jiayi Teng, S Ya-nan Zhao, Yanxiang Cao, Xuemei Wang, Yaqiong Li, Michel Gao, Xiaoyang Feng, Chuanliang Han	Sixiao Li, 150
Vaccination Intention and Behavior of the General Public in China: Cross-sectional Survey and Moderated Mediation Model Analysis (e34666)	
Liuqing Yang, Lili Ji, Qiang Wang, Yan Xu, Guoping Yang, Tingting Cui, Naiyang Shi, Lin Zhu, Shixin Xiu, Hui Jin, Shiqi Zhen	162
Overlapping Delta and Omicron Outbreaks During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Dynamic Panel Data Estimates (e37377)	
Alexander Lundberg, Ramon Lorenzo-Redondo, Judd Hultquist, Claudia Hawkins, Egon Ozer, Sarah Welch, P Prasad, Chad Achenback White, James Oehmke, Robert Murphy, Robert Havey, Lori Post.	h, Janine 174
Enhancing COVID-19 Epidemic Forecasting Accuracy by Combining Real-time and Historical Data From Multiple Internet-Based Sources: Analysis of Social Media Data, Online News Articles, and Search Queries (e35266)	
Jingwei Li, Wei Huang, Choon Sia, Zhuo Chen, Tailai Wu, Qingnan Wang	192
Attitudes Toward the Global Allocation of Chinese COVID-19 Vaccines: Cross-sectional Online Survey of Adults Living in China (e33484)	
Hanzhi Yu, Runming Du, Minmin Wang, Fengyun Yu, Juntao Yang, Lirui Jiao, Zhuoran Wang, Haitao Liu, Peixin Wu, Till Bärnighausen, Chen Wang, Shannon McMahon, Pascal Geldsetzer, Simiao Chen.	Lan Xue, 205
Testing the Efficacy of Attitudinal Inoculation Videos to Enhance COVID-19 Vaccine Acceptance: Quasi-Experimental Intervention Trial (e34615)	
Rachael Piltch-Loeb, Max Su, Brian Hughes, Marcia Testa, Beth Goldberg, Kurt Braddock, Cynthia Miller-Idriss, Vanessa Maturo, Elena Sa 2 1 7	ivoia.
Reasons for COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy Among Chinese People Living With HIV/AIDS: Structural Equation Modeling Analysis (e33995)	
Yan Yao, Ruiyu Chai, Jianzhou Yang, Xiangjun Zhang, Xiaojie Huang, Maohe Yu, Geng-feng Fu, Guanghua Lan, Ying Qiao, Qidi Zhou Li, Junjie Xu	, Shuyue 230
Mobile Phone Ownership and Use Among Women Screening for Cervical Cancer in a Community-Based Setting in Western Kenya: Observational Study (e28885)	
Jacob Stocks, Saduma Ibrahim, Lawrence Park, Megan Huchko.	

XSL•FO RenderX

Review

Public Health Implications of Adapting HIV Pre-exposure Prophylaxis Programs for Virtual Service Delivery in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic: Systematic Review

Pragna Patel¹, MPH, MD; Michael Kerzner¹, MPH; Jason B Reed², MPH, MD; Patrick Sean Sullivan³, DVM, PhD; Wafaa M El-Sadr⁴, MPH, MPA, MD

¹COVID-19 Response Team, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA, United States

²Jhpiego, Washington, DC, United States

³Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States

⁴ICAP at Columbia University and Mailman School of Public Health, New York, NY, United States

Corresponding Author:

Pragna Patel, MPH, MD COVID-19 Response Team Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1600 Clifton Road Atlanta, GA, 30329 United States Phone: 1 4046396132 Email: plp3@cdc.gov

Abstract

Background: The novel coronavirus disease COVID-19 caused by SARS-CoV-2 threatens to disrupt global progress toward HIV epidemic control. Opportunities exist to leverage ongoing public health responses to mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 on HIV services, and novel approaches to care provision might help address both epidemics.

Objective: As the COVID-19 pandemic continues, novel approaches to maintain comprehensive HIV prevention service delivery are needed. The aim of this study was to summarize the related literature to highlight adaptations that could address potential COVID-19–related service interruptions.

Methods: We performed a systematic review and searched six databases, OVID/Medline, Scopus, Cochrane Library, CINAHL, PsycINFO, and Embase, for studies published between January 1, 2010, and October 26, 2021, related to recent technology-based interventions for virtual service delivery. Search terms included "telemedicine," "telehealth," "mobile health," "eHealth," "mHealth," "telecommunication," "social media," "mobile device," and "internet," among others. Of the 6685 abstracts identified, 1259 focused on HIV virtual service delivery, 120 of which were relevant for HIV prevention efforts; 48 pertained to pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) and 19 of these focused on evaluations of interventions for the virtual service delivery of PrEP. Of the 16 systematic reviews identified, three were specific to PrEP. All 35 papers were reviewed for outcomes of efficacy, feasibility, and/or acceptability. Limitations included heterogeneity of the studies' methodological approaches and outcomes; thus, a meta-analysis was not performed. We considered the evidence-based interventions found in our review and developed a virtual service delivery model for HIV prevention interventions. We also considered how this platform could be leveraged for COVID-19 prevention and care.

Results: We summarize 19 studies of virtual service delivery of PrEP and 16 relevant reviews. Examples of technology-based interventions that were effective, feasible, and/or acceptable for PrEP service delivery include: use of SMS, internet, and smartphone apps such as iText (50% [95% CI 16%-71%] reduction in discontinuation of PrEP) and PrEPmate (OR 2.62, 95% CI 1.24-5.5.4); telehealth and eHealth platforms for virtual visits such as PrEPTECH and IowaTelePrEP; and platforms for training of health care workers such as Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes (ECHO). We suggest a virtual service delivery model for PrEP that can be leveraged for COVID-19 using the internet and social media for demand creation, community-based self-testing, telehealth platforms for risk assessment and follow-up, applications for support groups and adherence/appointment reminders, and applications for monitoring.

Conclusions: Innovations in the virtual service provision of PrEP occurred before COVID-19 but have new relevance during the COVID-19 pandemic. The innovations we describe might strengthen HIV prevention service delivery during the COVID-19

pandemic and in the long run by engaging traditionally hard-to-reach populations, reducing stigma, and creating a more accessible health care platform. These virtual service delivery platforms can mitigate the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on HIV services, which can be leveraged to facilitate COVID-19 pandemic control now and for future responses.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e37479) doi: 10.2196/37479

KEYWORDS

HIV; pre-exposure prophylaxis; COVID-19; virtual service delivery; HIV prevention; public health; systematic review; virtual service; health intervention; digital intervention; health technology; social media platform; telehealth; public health message

Introduction

The novel coronavirus disease COVID-19 caused by SARS-CoV-2 threatens to disrupt global progress toward HIV elimination [1]. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, many countries have employed nonpharmacologic interventions such as lockdowns, social distancing, and restrictions on gatherings to control the spread of SARS-CoV-2. However, other countries with a high burden of COVID-19 have not successfully and universally instituted these mitigation measures at a national level [2]. Countries with limited uptake of mitigation measures are seeing their health care infrastructure overwhelmed with the pandemic due to widespread community transmission, and are thus struggling to provide comprehensive clinical care for COVID-19 and for chronic diseases, including HIV [1,2]. Recent gains in HIV epidemic control may be lost if HIV prevention and treatment services are not maintained. Additionally, the morbidity and mortality of COVID-19 might be increased in the face of uncontrolled chronic diseases and HIV, although there have been conflicting reports among persons living with HIV [3,4].

COVID-19 and HIV both disproportionally affect socially disadvantaged and hard-to-reach populations [4]. Opportunities exist to leverage ongoing public health responses to mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 on HIV services, and novel approaches to care provision might help address both epidemics. For example, the US Ending the HIV Epidemic (EHE) initiative aims to overcome existing social and economic disparities by increasing access to HIV services for vulnerable populations in the United States [5]. In this regard, the aims of EHE to increase services for vulnerable populations align with approaches for controlling the COVID-19 pandemic, which has also exacerbated health inequities [6]. Globally, the public and private sectors have collaborated for years to address the HIV crisis using a public health approach. This has resulted in platforms for service delivery, a health workforce trained in HIV care and treatment, supply chains, and collaboration across a diverse group of stakeholders, including community leaders and governments, to ensure that marginalized populations receive the services they need. Efforts should be made to identify best practices and lessons learned from HIV prevention to lessen the impacts of COVID-19 on HIV programs [7]. The HIV community can sustain progress toward HIV epidemic control by rapidly employing innovations to maintain and extend HIV programming during the COVID-19 pandemic [8]. Additionally, COVID-19-specific education, testing, and vaccination could be integrated into HIV prevention programs, considering that

these service delivery platforms are designed to reach vulnerable persons at risk of HIV and the general population.

To ensure that HIV prevention programs are improved to deliver services in the context of limited mobility and strained health systems, we reviewed the literature for adaptations of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) programs for HIV prevention both prior to and in the time of COVID-19. PrEP is vital to achieving HIV epidemic control and should be prioritized in the context of COVID-19 along with HIV treatment. We describe technological innovations for HIV prevention and PrEP service delivery, and propose a model for virtual PrEP service delivery to ensure HIV prevention interventions reach those most vulnerable during the implementation of COVID-19 mitigation measures.

Methods

Literature Search and Review

We performed a review of the literature to identify published peer-reviewed articles about virtual service delivery and related adaptations such as telemedicine (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for the detailed search strategy). PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) was used as a guide for this systematic review [9]. We searched the OVID/Medline, Scopus, Cochrane Library, CINAHL, PsycINFO, and Embase databases to identify human studies published between January 1, 2010, and October 26, 2021, to reflect the time period during which innovative technologies for health were introduced. Search terms included "telemedicine," "telehealth," "mobile health," "eHealth," "mHealth," "telecommunication," "social media," "mobile device," and "internet," among others (see Multimedia Appendix 1). The search was limited to articles published in English. We used EndNote X8 (Clarivate Analytics) to compile, clean, categorize, and assess citations. We assessed for risk of bias in a randomized controlled trial (RCT) using the Cochrane risk of bias tool [10].

Ethics Considerations

This activity was reviewed by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), and was conducted in compliance with applicable federal law and CDC policy. The activity was determined to meet the requirements of nonresearch and secondary data analysis for a public health response, as defined in 45 CFR 46.102(l). Thus, a protocol was not developed and registered.



Study Selection

Two authors (PP and MK) screened the titles and abstracts of articles identified from our database search for references to HIV, PrEP, and virtual service delivery using filters in EndNote. Next, the same two authors (PP and MK) reviewed the selected articles' titles and abstracts to identify those reporting effective adaptations for virtual HIV service delivery, particularly related to PrEP, HIV prevention, and HIV testing, by reporting outcomes related to efficacy, feasibility, and/or acceptability. The full text of articles reporting relevant data and systematic reviews of virtual service delivery interventions were further reviewed. All systematic reviews about innovations of virtual HIV service delivery that focused on adherence and HIV testing were included because both have relevance to PrEP programs. Studies of interventions were included if they focused on innovations for HIV prevention service delivery, particularly PrEP. We thus included intervention studies that described the use of technology such as apps, use of the internet, SMS text messaging, telemedicine/telehealth, mobile health (mHealth), and eHealth for PrEP. We also included all reviews and meta-analyses of technology innovations pertinent to HIV prevention service delivery, as these data would inform the virtual service delivery model that we aimed to propose. We excluded studies that did not focus on virtual service delivery, focused on prevention of vertical mother-to-child transmission, described protocols, were not in English, or were not accessible (Table 1).

Table 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Parameter	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Study topic	Technology innovations for HIV prevention and specifically pre- exposure prophylaxis service delivery, virtual service delivery	Focused on vertical mother-to-child transmission, did not focus on virtual HIV prevention service delivery
Study type	Randomized clinical trials, pre-postevaluations, mixed methods evaluations, surveys, reviews, meta-analyses	Protocols, viewpoints, editorials
Language	English	Language other than English
Time frame	Published after 2010	Published before 2010
Accessible	Able to retrieve publication	Publication was inaccessible

Figure 1 details the study selection procedure. In addition, the references of papers that were selected were examined to identify other pertinent references. These selections and related

data were confirmed by a second reviewer independent of the first reviewer. Studies with missing data were excluded.



Figure 1. Selection of studies regarding virtual service delivery and HIV. *See Multimedia Appendix 1 for more details.



Other Considerations

The RCT was assessed for risk of bias using the Cochrane risk of bias tool [10] and some concerns were identified (Multimedia Appendix 2). Given the limited number of studies and the heterogeneity of studies and their outcomes, it was decided that we could not perform a robust meta-analysis of any given outcome. Thus, related analyses to explore causes of heterogeneity and certainty were not performed.

After reviewing the literature, we considered evidence-based interventions for PrEP service delivery in the time of COVID-19, and developed a virtual service delivery model for implementation to improve HIV prevention services now and in the future. We also suggest how to leverage this model for COVID-19 service delivery to maximize the use of vital health resources. All data and tools used are presented in this manuscript and are publicly available.

Results

RenderX

Characteristics of Included Studies

Of the 6685 abstracts identified, 1888 were specific to virtual service delivery. Of those 1888 articles, 1259 focused on HIV, 120 of which were relevant for HIV prevention efforts; 48 pertained to PrEP and 19 of these focused on evaluations of

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37479
```

interventions for virtual service delivery of PrEP; 16 were conducted in the United States and the other three were conducted in Kenya, India, and England [11-29]. One RCT was identified [19]. There were 16 systematic reviews related to virtual HIV care delivery [30-45], 3 of which were related to virtual PrEP delivery [30,42,45]. The remaining articles focused on aspects of care delivery, including telemedicine, use of SMS and the internet, mHealth, and eHealth. (Figure 1). These 16 papers were reviewed and examined for interventions that support virtual care delivery, which were evaluated for efficacy, feasibility, and/or acceptability and could be considered for PrEP service delivery in the time of COVID-19. Three systematic reviews provided pooled estimates [34,39,44].

Summary of Pertinent Studies

We identified 19 papers [11-29] related to evaluations of interventions for PrEP virtual service delivery. These papers are summarized in Table 2. The primary aim of many of these interventions was to address barriers to PrEP delivery and uptake before the COVID-19 pandemic started in early 2020. For example, the interventions sought to reach people in rural areas or those who were not able to access facilities, as well as eliminating the stigma of PrEP and improving health literacy about many HIV prevention services, including HIV testing, condom use, PrEP, and testing for sexually transmitted infections (STIs). The data presented provide support for the

use of social media, smartphone apps, text messaging, and the internet for service delivery and health communication. Two studies described successful PrEP initiation and monitoring using an online platform [17,27], and four studies found that telehealth for PrEP was feasible, acceptable, and effective [13,16,24,25]. Eight studies examined the use of apps [11,18,21,28] and SMS [15,19,22,26] for PrEP service delivery. Of note, only one study, the Enhancing PrEP in Community Settings (EPIC) study, presented results from an RCT [19]. One study described the successful use of the Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes (ECHO) platform for training of PrEP providers [29]. ECHO, a distance telemonitoring program, has been extensively used to create communities of practice and deliver clinical mentorship to support remote health care provision, which has also been used for PrEP [29,41,46,47].

Of the 16 systematic reviews identified, three were specific to PrEP; one described successful PrEP delivery models, including community-based and home-based approaches [42], and two

summarized novel interventions to use technology to improve PrEP availability, adherence, and uptake [41,45]. These include mobile apps that offer PrEP prescribing and preclude an in-person visit, distance mentorship of community PrEP providers, video teleconferencing for provider visits, electronic consults, and using text messaging and mobile/web platforms for PrEP initiation (Table 3) [41,45].

We also summarize systematic reviews that focus on technology innovations to improve HIV testing and adherence in Table 3, because these would also pertain to PrEP programs [30-45]. Most of these reviews focused on interventions to improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy (ART) [31-33,41,43,44]. Two studies reported pooled estimates for improved ART adherence, one for mHealth interventions (pooled odds ratio 2.15, 95% CI 1.18-3.91) and one for eHealth interventions (pooled Cohen d=0.25, 95% CI 0.05-0.46). All studies reported positive outcomes; however, the evaluation methods varied and thus have limited comparability.

Patel et al

Table 2	Summery of avidance based interventions for HIV	nra avposura prophylavis (PrEP) virtual sorvice delivery
Table 2.	Summary of evidence-based interventions for Hiv	pre-exposure prophylaxis (FIEF) virtual service delivery.

				rp	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(-) ·		
Author, year	Country	Intervention	Sample size	Study period	Study name	Evaluation	Results	Main conclusions
Biello et al [11], 2021	United States	MyChoices app to increase HIV testing and PrEP uptake	11 YMSM ^a	2 months	University of North Caroli- na/Emory Cen- ter for Innova- tive Technology (iTech)	Baseline and 2- month postbase- line assess- ments	Mean System Usabil- ity Scale (SUS) score was 71 (SD 11.8); 80% (9/11) reported that app was useful	MyChoices app is acceptable to end users
Bond et al [12], 2019	United States	Avatar-led eHealth video	116 African American wom- en aged 16-61 years	6 weeks	PEP ^b and PrEP for Women	Cross-sectional web-based study with the- matic analysis	89% of participants rated the video as good or higher	Utilization of an avatar-led eHealth video fostered educa- tion about PEP and PrEP among African American women who have experi- enced insufficient outreach for biomedical HIV strategies
Chasco et al [13], 2021	United States	Home specimen self-collection kits with central laboratory test- ing	77 participants offered test kits (35 accepted and 42 refused)	18 months	Iowa TelePrEP	Mixed methods evaluation	Compared to labora- tory-site use, kit use was associated with higher completion of extragenital swabs (OR ^c 6.33, 95% CI 1.20-33.51 for anorectal swabs), but lower comple- tion of blood tests (OR 0.21, 95% CI 0.06-0.73 for creati- nine)	Telehealth PrEP programs should of- fer clients home kits and support clients with blood collec- tion and kit comple- tion
Farley et al [14], 2021	United States	Community en- gagement and linkage with both virtual and face-to-face models; prep- maryland.org, PrEP tele- phone/text line, and PrEPme smartphone app	2465 (24 prep- maryland.org; 60 phone line; 168 PrEPme app)	4 years	N/A ^d	Observational programmatic evaluation	Overall success of: prepmaryland.org (4/24, 16.7%), phone line (18/60, 30%), PrEPme app (39/168, 23.2%)	Compared to face- to-face community outreach efforts, all virtual platforms reached lower total numbers, but had greater success in at- tendance at PrEP visits
Fuchs et al [15], 2018	United States	Mobile health intervention (iText) to sup- port adherence with bidirection- al texting	56 MSM ^e	12- week pi- lot	iPrEx open-la- bel extension study	Pre- and postin- tervention re- gression discon- tinuity analysis	50% reduction in discontinuation of meds (95% CI 16%-71%; <i>P</i> =.008)	iText strategy was feasible and accept- able, and improved adherence to PrEP
Hoth et al [16], 2018	United States	Pharmacist-led video visits	186 referrals; 91% MSM	18 months	Iowa TelePrEP	Results at 6 months	Retention was 61%, and 96% completed laboratory tests	Regional telehealth PrEP programs can be developed to of- fer PrEP widely
Hughes et al [17], 2021	United States	Web-based PrEP service	31 PrEP re- questers	5 months	Nurx	Electronic chart review and 90- minute semistructured interviews	Nurx eased barriers to PrEP access through the availabil- ity of knowledge- able, willing pre- scribers, and mini- mizing embarrass- ment and discrimina- tion	Nurx produced satis- faction by achieving an acceptable bal- ance between 2 client desires: effi- ciency and humanity

XSL•FO RenderX

Author, year	Country	Intervention	Sample size	Study period	Study name	Evaluation	Results	Main conclusions
Liu et al [18], 2019	United States	LYNX app to support HIV testing and PrEP uptake	30 YMSM in focus group and 16 in open pilot	2-month pilot	Adolescent Tri- als Network iTech U19	SUS and focus groups	Median SUS score=72/100	The LYNX app was feasible and accept- able; well-received, especially the sexual diary and gamifica- tion features (sex- positive badges)
Liu et al [19], 2019	United States	Youth-tailored bidirectional text messaging intervention (PrEPmate)	121 participants	36 weeks	EPIC study	Randomized clinical trial (RCT) with some concerns of risk of bias ^f	Participants who re- ceived PrEPmate were more likely to attend study visits (OR 2.62, 95% CI 1.24-5.5.4) and have TDF-DP ^g levels consistent with >4 doses/week (OR 2.05, 95% CI 1.06- 3.94)	An interactive text messaging interven- tion had high accept- ability and signifi- cantly increased re- tention and adher- ence
McLaugh- lin et al [20], 2016	United States	Tweets about PrEP on Twitter	1435 tweets	4 months	N/A	Poisson regres- sion for propaga- tion rate	Affective tone was a significant predictor of tweet propagation frequency (Wald χ^2_2 =30.997, P<.001)	PrEP-related tweets covered a wide range of issues, and affective tone in tweets is a critical factor in predicting propagation
Mitchell et al [21], 2018	United States	Smartphone- based interven- tion (mS- MART)	10 YMSM	4 weeks	mSMART open-label phase 1 trial	Real-time adher- ence assessment using a camera- based medica- tion event-mon- itoring tool	Participants reported mean PrEP adher- ence rates of 91% via daily entries in mSMART	mSMART is feasi- ble and acceptable
Mu- wonge et al [22], 2018	Kenya	SMS-based sur- veys to collect data on sexual behaviors and adherence	142 participants from serodiscor- dant partner- ships	24 months	Partners Demonstration Project	Questionnaires	72% preferred SMS surveys to in-person visits	SMS surveys were acceptable and serve as reminders for ad- herence to PrEP and condom use
Patel et al [23], 2020	India	Peer-delivered, internet-based messaging for HIV testing and condom use	244 participants	12 weeks	CHALO! Pilot	Pre-postsurveys	Increase in HIV test- ing	Online HIV preven- tion interventions are feasible and ac- ceptable, and can improve HIV testing rates
Perlson et al [24], 2018	United States	PrEP telenaviga- tion program	139 participants	9 months	"At Distance" PrEP Naviga- tion	Surveys	Increased knowl- edge of PrEP and linkage to HIV test- ing and prevention services	PrEP telemedicine can improve PrEP utilization
Refugio et al [25], 2019	United States	Telehealth ap- proach to PrEP initiation	25 YMSM	180 days	PrEPTECH	2 online surveys	At least 75% felt PrEPTECH was confidential, fast, convenient, and easy to use	Telehealth PrEP programs increase access and eliminate barriers such as stig- ma

Patel et al

XSL•FO RenderX

Author, year	Country	Intervention	Sample size	Study period	Study name	Evaluation	Results	Main conclusions
Shrestha et al [26], 2020	United States	Text messages over a 4-week intervention pe- riod	40 people en- rolled in a methadone maintenance program	10 months	Telerivet mo- bile messaging platform	An audio com- puter-assisted self-interview (ACASI) was used to assess all quantitative measures and qualitative inter- views were semistructured	Mean adherence score of 87.6 (SD 18.6) for having tak- en PrEP in the past 30 days; mean ac- ceptability (range 0- 100) for the daily PrEP reminder was 75.0 (SD 11.7)	Preliminary evi- dence of the feasibil- ity and acceptability of a text messag- ing-based approach as a potential tool for primary HIV prevention to im- prove PrEP adher- ence and HIV risk reduction among this underserved popula- tion
Wang et al [27], 2018	England	Online generic PrEP and thera- peutic drug monitoring	293 individuals	6 months	InterPrEP	Testing baseline and every 3-6 months	PrEP drug concentra- tions were above target; no creatinine elevations were seen; no cases of HIV, hepatitis B or C were noted	Online PrEP ser- vices with therapeu- tic drug monitoring are feasible
Weitz- man et al [28], 2021	United States	PrEP adherence mobile app ("Dot"); the Dot intervention combined with personalized pill reminders with positive psychology- based texts	54 culturally diverse YMSM	6 weeks	Dot app	Pre- and posttest evalua- tion of the im- pact of the Dot mobile app on self-reported PrEP adher- ence, PrEP treatment self- efficacy, PrEP knowledge, and intention to practice safe sex	Significant changes in the percentage of participants who re- ported perfect (100%) PrEP adher- ence from pre- to posttesting (t_{53} =4.458, <i>P</i> <.001); PrEP treatment self- efficacy (t_{53} =3.067, <i>P</i> =.003); and inten- tion to follow safe sex and HIV testing guidelines (t_{53} =3.067, <i>P</i> =.003).	The Dot app was feasible and effec- tive at improving PrEP adherence for supporting medica- tion adherence among culturally di- verse YMSM on PrEP
Wood et al [29], 2018	United States	Project ECHO ^h –PrEP telemonitoring intervention	69 medical providers	2 years	Project ECHO	Pre- and postsur- vey	Providers reported that Project ECHO participation helped them stay current on PrEP guidelines, im- proved knowledge, increased likelihood to prescribe PrEP, and addressed most concerns about pre- scribing PrEP	It is feasible to incor- porate PrEP training into Project ECHO distance telementor- ing programs as a tool to educate com- munity practitioners and support PrEP prescribing

Patel et al

^aYMSM: young men who have sex with men.

^bPEP: postexposure prophylaxis.

^cOR: odds ratio.

^dN/A: not applicable.

^eMSM: men who have sex with men.

^fRisk of bias was assessed using the Cochrane risk of bias tool [10] (see Multimedia Appendix 2).

^gTDF-DP: tenofovir diphosphate.

^hECHO: Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes.

Table 3. Systematic reviews of technological innovations for improved HIV and pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) service delivery.

			,,
Author, year	Innovation(s) examined	Outcomes	Main findings
Catalani et al [30], 2013	62 articles summarizing the use of mobile health (mHealth) technology for HIV/AIDS	N/A ^a	Promising trend toward implementing mHealth innovations that are feasible and acceptable, but they are still in their early stages
Claborn et al [31], 2015	Computer-delivered adherence interven- tion; 5 randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and 1 single-group pre-posttri- al; 5 conducted in the United States and 1 in Canada	Adherence	Computer-delivered adherence interven- tions are feasible and acceptable among both HIV-positive adolescents and adults
Cooper et al [32], 2017	mHealth interventions, mainly SMS- based. The 41 studies were conducted in 12 countries across North America, South America, Africa, Asia, Europe, and New Zealand	Adherence and health-related behaviors	Significant impacts on a range of out- comes, including adherence, viral load, mental health, and social support
Daher et al [33], 2017	Digital innovations, classified into (1) mHealth-based (SMS/phone calls), (2) internet-based mHealth/eHealth (social media, avatar-guided computer pro- grams, websites, mobile apps, streamed soap opera videos), and (3) combined innovations (including both SMS/phone calls and internet-based mHealth/eHealth). Reviewed 99 stud- ies, 63 (64%) from America/Europe, 36 (36%) from Africa/Asia; 79% (79/99) were clinical trials; 84% (83/99) evaluated impact. Of innova- tions, 70% (69/99) were mHealth- based, 21% (21/99) were internet- based, and 9% (9/99) were combined. All digital innovations were highly ac- cepted (26/31, 84%) and feasible (20/31, 65%)	Feasibility, acceptability, impact. mHealth-based innovations (SMS) significantly improved antiretroviral therapy (ART) adherence (pooled OR ^b 2.15, 95% CI 1.18-3.91) and clinic at- tendance rates (pooled OR 1.76, 95% CI 1.28-2.42); internet-based innova- tions improved clinic attendance (6/6), ART adherence (4/4), and self-care (1/1), while reducing risk (5/5); com- bined innovations increased clinic atten- dance, ART adherence, partner notifi- cations, and self-care	Digital innovations were acceptable, feasible, and generated impact. A trend toward the use of internet-based and combined (internet and mobile) innova- tions was noted. Large scale-up studies of high quality, with new integrated impact metrics and cost-effectiveness are needed. Findings will appeal to all stakeholders in the HIV/STI global initiatives space
Hightow et al [34], 2015	Synthesis of 66 relevant papers on HIV, technology, and youth	N/A	A growing number of technology-based interventions for HIV prevention and care have been published; however, the majority were published in the United States. Given the disproportionate bur- den of HIV among adolescents world- wide, there is a need for more broadly expanding eHealth and mHealth to youth globally
Horvath et al [35], 2020	mHealth and other technology-based interventions for HIV testing: 6 effica- cy trials and 12 pilot RCTs or quasiex- perimental studies; 10 were conducted outside the United States, including countries in sub-Saharan Africa (n=4: Kenya, Tanzania, South Africa), China (n=3), Latin America (n=2: Brazil, Pe- ru), and India (n=1)	Efficacy, feasibility, acceptability	All efficacy trials showed some evi- dence of efficacy. Most pilot RCTs demonstrated high levels of feasibility and acceptability. Technology-assisted HIV testing interventions may be an important strategy to reach national and global targets for HIV status awareness in the general population and for most at-risk groups
Labelle et al [36], 2020	Summary of 22 papers on use of tech- nology for HIV prevention and PrEP to inform an mHealth app development in Taiwan	N/A	Features identified from studies testing HIV prevention applications for PrEP, such as education and gamification, will be used to formulate features of an HIV prevention app in Taiwan

Patel et al

Author, year	Innovation(s) examined	Outcomes	Main findings
Maloney et al [37], 2019	eHealth interventions for HIV care and prevention; 113 studies were included with 84 unique interventions. The ma- jority (n=71, 85%) of interventions were developed for users in resource- rich countries. The remaining (n=13, 15%) were intended to address the unique cultural needs of specific com- munities in low- or middle-income countries	N/A	Robust collection of eHealth interven- tions in the published literature as well as unpublished interventions still in development. In the published litera- ture, there is an imbalance of interven- tions favoring education and behavior change over linkage to care, retention in care, and adherence, especially for PrEP
Manby et al [38], 2021	25 RCTs that randomized a total of 15,343 participants: 2356 were random- ized to interactive interventions, 5530 to noninteractive interventions, and 5808 to the control condition. Studies were from 10 countries in Africa: 8 in Kenya, 7 in Uganda, and 5 in South Africa; 6 studies reported outcomes related to HIV prevention behaviors	Meta-analyses show that eHealth inter- ventions significantly improved HIV management behaviors (OR 1.21, 95% CI 1.05-1.40; $Z=2.67$; $P=.008$), but not HIV prevention behaviors (OR 1.02, 95% CI 0.78-1.34; $Z=0.17$; $P=.86$). There was no effect for HIV testing or biological outcomes (OR 1.17, 95% CI 0.89-1.54; $Z=1.10$; $P=.27$) compared with minimal intervention control groups	eHealth interventions can improve ad- herence to ART in sub-Saharan Africa, and serve as important tools to help re- duce HIV-related morbidity and mortal- ity as well as HIV transmission
Nelson et al [39], 2020	16 studies: 1 study was a fully powered RCT, 7 were single-arm pilots with pre- postassessments, 4 were pilot RCTs, and 4 tested public health campaigns with postassessments	N/A	All studies found that mHealth ap- proaches were feasible and acceptable; however, most studies were small pilot trials
Schnall et al [40], 2014	13 studies: 5 targeted HIV testing be- haviors and 8 focused on decreasing HIV risk behaviors with wed-based education modules, test messaging, chat rooms, social networking	N/A	eHealth has the potential to effectively reduce HIV risk behaviors and increase testing rates. Further evaluations are needed as there was wide variation in interventions and methodological quality
Touger et al [41], 2019	Multiple models of telehealth innova- tions in the United States (8 studies): <i>provider to patient</i> (mobile apps for PrEP prescribing [nurx.com], videocon- ferencing for PrEP initiation [PrEPTECH, PrEPIOWA, plush- care.com], home-based PrEP [ePrEP]); <i>provider to provider</i> (distance learning for community providers [ECHO ^c Project], electronic consults for PrEP support)	PrEP dissemination and adherence	Technology-based intervention can address gaps in the PrEP care continu- um and reach underserved populations; however, costs may impede progress. Platforms to share technology are needed as well as further research to assess scalability and sustainability
Vanhamel et al [42], 2020	Scoping review of PrEP delivery mod- els. The identified service delivery models showed that PrEP services mainly targeted people at high risk of HIV acquisition, with some models targeting specific key populations, mainly men who have sex with men	N/A	PrEP was often delivered centralized and in a clinical or hospital setting; yet, community-based as well as home- based PrEP delivery models were also reported. Providers of PrEP were mainly clinically trained health profes- sionals, but in some rare cases commu- nity workers and lay providers also delivered PrEP. In general, in-person visits were used to deliver PrEP. More innovative digital options using mHealth and telemedicine approaches to deliver specific parts of PrEP ser- vices are currently being applied in a minority of the service delivery models in mainly high-resource settings. This reflects differentiation of care accord- ing to different contextual settings

Patel et al

Author, year	Innovation(s) examined	Outcomes	Main findings
Velloza et al [43], 2021	Systematic review of adherence support interventions for adolescents. Fifteen oral contraceptive pill (OCP) articles and 26 ART, diabetes, and asthma systematic reviews were included. In- terventions that improved medication adherence for OCPs, ART, asthma, and diabetes treatment included reminder text messages, computer-based and phone-based support, and enhanced counseling. Multimonth prescriptions and same-day pill starts also were found to improve OCP adherence and continuation. Adolescent-friendly clin- ics and peer-based counseling signifi- cantly improved ART adherence, and telemedicine interventions improved diabetes medication adherence	Adherence. Enhanced counseling (whether in groups, families, or comput- er-delivered) and phone-based support (eg, one-way and two-way text mes- sages) improved ART adherence. Peer support interventions and adolescent- friendly services were effective for ART adherence	Interventions that improve medication adherence among youth include en- hanced counseling, extended pill sup- ply, adolescent-friendly services, and text message reminders. PrEP programs could incorporate and evaluate such interventions for their impact on PrEP adherence and continuation among at- risk adolescents
Wang et al [44], 2019	eHealth interventions. Twenty-one tri- als: 8 trials from high-income countries and 13 trials from low- and middle-in- come countries	Adherence. eHealth interventions sig- nificantly improved ART adherence of people living with HIV (pooled Cohen d=0.25, 95% CI 0.05-0.46; $P=.01$)	Some of the eHealth interventions may be used as an effective method to in- crease the ART adherence of people living with HIV
Wong et al [45], 2020	Four studies: one pilot study, three ret- rospective evaluations (Iowa TelePrEP, PrEPTech, Nurx, PlushCare)	Retention. The percentage of PrEP ini- tiation after the first telehealth appoint- ment ranges from 84% to 94%, and 6- month retention remains relatively high, in the range of 76%-99%	Success could be attributed to the abil- ity of technology to address the barriers of geographic distance and social stig- ma faced by those who would other- wise have limited access to care. The use of telemedicine for PrEP is general- ly viewed by users as easy, fast, and convenient

^aN/A: not applicable.

^bOR: odds ratio.

^cECHO: Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes.

PrEP Virtual Service Delivery Model

According to the evidence-based innovations identified from the literature review and those implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic, we suggest a comprehensive model for virtual PrEP service delivery (Figure 2) that includes a combination of interventions such as internet for demand creation and risk assessment, telehealth platforms for visits and training, multimonth dispensing and medication delivery, community-based and self-testing for HIV, and smartphone apps for follow-up reminders and adherence support groups [11-45,48-51]. Regarding monitoring and follow-up, quarterly PrEP monitoring is acceptable and preferred with in-person follow-up but also with telehealth [52].



Patel et al

Figure 2. Model of differentiated virtual HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) delivery.



Demand creation: process of increasing the demand for a product or intervention using marketing techniques.

Leveraging Adaptations for COVID-19 Service Delivery

Although our primary goal was to consider how innovative PrEP program delivery methods could be used to mitigate the impact of COVID-19 on PrEP services, it is also clear that these PrEP delivery methods have the potential for COVID-19 prevention and control (Table 4). Examples include: (1) demand creation using traditional (radio, television) and social media platforms for HIV prevention and COVID-19 messaging; (2) service delivery with decentralized care, moving from facility to community, including home-based and mobile delivery (for HIV and/or COVID-19 testing and multimonth PrEP prescription refills); virtual platforms for follow-up appointments (telehealth), such as risk assessment, lab assessment, and adherence counseling for PrEP; mental health counseling; using apps (eg, WhatsApp) for support groups and mobile device SMS for adherence reminders; (3) training and education with the use of web-based platforms for education and training of health care workers about HIV prevention (and developments in COVID-19 prevention and management) to promote task-shifting (eg, ECHO project); (4) monitoring and evaluation, involving web-based and app-based data entry using tablets and/or mobile devices of PrEP core indicators; and (5) supply chain vulnerabilities, involving working with governments to enact policies that allow for continued manufacturing of commodities and novel procurement and distribution platforms (electronic prescriptions, mail order, direct drug delivery).



Table 4. Leveraging adaptations to HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) service delivery in the time of COVID-19.

001			
PrEP program component	Adaptation	Evidence/reference	Contribution to COVID-19 response
Demand creation	Add web-based and social media platforms (TikTok videos, ads on Facebook and Insta- gram, pop-ups in apps like Tinder); continue campaigns and traditional methods (TV and radio)	[12,18-20,23,28]	Incorporate COVID-19 messaging, including information about social distancing and face masks, into the PrEP messaging and HIV edu- cation materials and campaigns
Service delivery	Decentralize care to decongest the clinics/facil- ities; virtual platforms for scheduling and ap- pointments with maps for locations of mobile sites; use community and mobile delivery (eg, tests and medications); virtual risk assessment (using internet and/or apps); scale-up telehealth for consultation with PrEP provider for review of risk assessment and test results, adherence counseling for PrEP, and mental health coun- seling in general; support groups (eg, What- sApp) and mobile device SMS for adherence and appointment reminders	[11-45,48,52]	Provide COVID-19 services as prevention and treatment modalities become available. This platform could be used to deliver the COVID- 19 vaccine
Drug delivery	Multimonth prescriptions for PrEP, home de- livery using postal service, mobile pharmacies	[13,16,24,25,27,49-51]	Delivery of pharmacologic interventions for COVID-19
Testing	Home-based testing and self-testing, mobile testing sites (eg, drive-through sites), home delivery (postal service, health care workers), community delivery (eg, at pharmacies, faith- based centers, vending machines)	[13,16,17,25,35,41,45]	Delivery of COVID-19 testing
Training and education	Web-based platforms for education and train- ing of health care workers about HIV preven- tion, particularly PrEP (eg, ECHO ^a Project)	[29,41,46,47]	Include developments in COVID-19 manage- ment to promote task-shifting so PrEP providers are knowledgeable about COVID- 19 diagnostics, treatments, and prevention in- terventions
Monitoring and evaluation	Web-based and app-based data entry using tablets and/or mobile devices of PrEP core in- dicators and syndromic surveillance for acute HIV infection; system to monitor the PrEP cascade (number who tested HIV-negative, number eligible/offered PrEP, number who initiated PrEP, number adherent and retained)	[52]	Syndromic surveillance for COVID-19 symp- toms and data collection of indicators related to COVID-19 response: testing uptake and re- sults, contact-tracing outcomes, severity of ill- ness, uptake of services, vaccine recipients, adverse events related to vaccines
Supply chain	Working with governments to enact policies and agreements that allow for continued man- ufacturing of commodities, and novel procure- ment and distribution platforms (electronic prescriptions, mail order, direct drug delivery)	N/A ^b	Leverage to include COVID-19 commodities such as vaccines
Community engagement	Engage community leaders in education of PrEP, including benefits; institute virtual peer- to-peer support groups; advocacy for PrEP to protect persons vulnerable to HIV acquisition	[14,20,22,23]	Education about COVID-19 prevention, treat- ment, and control, as well as advocacy for ser- vices needed by disenfranchised persons

^aECHO: Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes. ^bN/A: not applicable.

Discussion

XSL•FO RenderX

Principal Findings

COVID-19 mitigation measures such as physical distancing and lockdowns have created significant challenges for HIV and PrEP programming [8]. This systematic review is unique in that it provides a comprehensive overview of specific technology-based interventions as well as differentiated service delivery models that may be critical to program adaptation during COVID-19. Our findings demonstrate that interventions

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37479

developed before COVID-19, dating back to 2013, for successful adaptation of PrEP programs for virtual service delivery for HIV testing, ART adherence, and PrEP exist and are currently in use. Innovations such as telemedicine; using the internet and smartphone apps for demand creation, support groups, and follow-up reminders; and multimonth dispensing with mobile pharmacies are evidence-based interventions designed to address distance to services and improve convenience. These innovations might also be particularly impactful in the context of COVID-19 [11-29]. Our review also identified examples of models for virtual service delivery that use technology to support PrEP

users, such as PrEPTECH, IowaTelePrEP, and telehealth-led PrEP service delivery [41,42,45]. However, these models address some but not all aspects of PrEP implementation, such as commodity procurement and the ability to purchase medications, which is challenging when countries are locked down and companies cannot supply and distribute drugs.

To build upon the current literature and suggest a practical application for innovative technological adaptations, we used findings from the literature review to develop an example of a model of virtual PrEP delivery, which incorporates innovations identified in our literature search. We identified evidence-based interventions that could adapt the current PrEP service delivery platform to provide decentralized, virtual care. This model would allow for continued PrEP service delivery in the face of COVID-19 mitigation strategies but also may improve our ability to engage hard-to-reach populations who do not access care at facilities. The model is also aligned with approaches already described in some countries. For example, in Brazil, at the initial teleconsultation, individuals are assessed for PrEP by phone and undergo HIV rapid testing. Individuals receive a digital prescription to retrieve a 120-day PrEP supply plus two HIV self-test kits, because home delivery was deemed unaffordable. Subsequent follow-up teleconsultations are performed remotely by phone call, including instructions for the HIV self-test performance and the results are shared by digital photo. This approach was successful in maintaining PrEP services, including uptake, as part of the Implementation PrEP Study (ImPrEP) project [48]. In addition, community pharmacists can deliver drugs and manage minor ailments, which supports the use of task-shifting [49]. Our model can be implemented in countries with widespread access to the internet and smartphones. However, implementation could be challenging in areas where such technologies are limited or unreliable.

Globally, differentiated service delivery models to improve the reach of PrEP and HIV programs, to decongest facilities, and to limit exposure to SARS-CoV-2 are recommended [53]. Our model of service delivery could help to maintain PrEP services in resource-poor settings in all countries, including the United States and Canada, and might improve the program's ability to reach those most vulnerable by improving access to services and eliminating stigma associated with accessing facilities known to provide HIV services. Sexual and reproductive services could be leveraged to offer virtual HIV prevention services, particularly PrEP, as STI testing, condoms, and contraception should be offered with PrEP. Program evaluations are needed to understand the broader feasibility and impact of virtual service delivery models in low- and middle-income countries. To ensure that persons at substantial risk of HIV continue to benefit from PrEP, approaches to scale up virtual service delivery are underway in many countries [54]. HIV prevention services could also be leveraged for related prevention interventions such as STI testing, and to enhance the COVID-19 pandemic response.

Health care workers providing PrEP services can be trained virtually to deliver COVID-19 services, including education about mitigation measures and vaccination using online platforms [41,45]. The internet and smartphone apps can be

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37479
```

used for service delivery such as intake assessments and appointment reminders or other public health communications such as contact-tracing programs alerting someone of exposure to SARS-CoV-2. COVID-19 testing can be offered through HIV testing platforms in the facility and community to create efficiencies. In addition, other prevention modalities for both HIV and COVID-19 could be delivered through the HIV prevention platform by leveraging the virtual service delivery of PrEP for COVID-19. For example, once COVID-19 vaccines [55] become widely available, PrEP service delivery could be leveraged for safe, widespread delivery by offering vaccination to clients who present for HIV testing.

These adaptations should be instituted with engagement of governments, stakeholders, and community leaders. Community engagement is fundamental to the success of syndemic control; community leaders can be influential and are key for disseminating factual information. Efforts should be made to accurately forecast needs, in terms of funding, personnel, commodities, and others, and to allocate resources such that resources are not exhausted and are adequately redistributed as needed. Systems should be agile and adopt new advances in HIV prevention rapidly. Although our review was motivated by concern regarding service interruptions related to COVID-19, programs should be developed both for mitigating current service interruptions and for increasing efficiencies and creating more resilience to future causes of service interruptions. A recent study of HIV service disruption in sub-Saharan Africa highlighted that the most important priority to avoid additional deaths due to HIV during the COVID-19 pandemic was to maintain the supply of antiretroviral drugs for people living with HIV [56]. Provision of other HIV prevention interventions to prevent an increase in HIV incidence was also deemed necessary [56]. Therefore, our model of virtual service delivery might be relevant for maintaining and achieving low levels of HIV incidence.

Limitations

One important challenge that has not been addressed through our review and our model is the maintenance of supply chain and procurement mechanisms to ensure that HIV commodities such as drugs and tests remain available. National-level lockdowns have negatively impacted major pharmaceutical manufacturers, along with the global supply chain of drugs and medical commodities. Governments must ensure that HIV commodities procurement and delivery are maintained as essential services during pandemics that require lockdowns and quarantine for control. Governments should enact policies that allow for continued manufacturing of commodities and novel procurement and distribution platforms. Our literature review had other important limitations. We focused on HIV programs and may have missed relevant innovations used for other types of service delivery. We were not able to conduct meta-analyses for each PrEP intervention (Table 2) identified in our search given the small number of papers and the heterogeneity between studies, particularly of methodology. This limited our ability to conduct analyses related to syntheses of outcomes data. Lastly, as our search focused on service delivery, the review did not yield papers about policy needs related to virtual service delivery, which was outside the scope of our primary objectives.

XSL•FO RenderX

Conclusions

Although vaccines are critical to effectively controlling the COVID-19 pandemic, there are ongoing threats to COVID-19 control (and therefore to sustaining HIV prevention and care programs); most notably, the identification of variant strains with increased transmissibility and immune escape from current vaccines poses a significant threat to infection control [57]. COVID-19 control measures may need to continue to limit the spread of SARS-CoV-2 infection due to these variants in some countries [57]. The COVID-19 pandemic has catalyzed a new reality of virtual care [58]. Virtual health service delivery could improve accessibility and affordability of health care, and might improve health inequities, especially for people who are not proximate to care facilities, during COVID-19. However, this requires further investigation. There are also other relevant and newer technologies that have not yet been studied in this context. For example, machine learning can be used to identify individuals who might benefit from HIV testing, PrEP, and other risk reduction strategies [59]. Wearable devices with biosensing capabilities could be updated to improve adherence to daily medications; to provide location information for testing and pharmacies services and/or facilitate contact tracing; and

to provide notifications to maintain social distancing [60]. Further investigation is warranted to assess the feasibility, acceptability, and effectiveness of these new technologies and understand their role in public health and medicine.

Innovations in virtual service provision of PrEP occurred before COVID-19 but have new relevance in the COVID-19 pandemic. The United Nations Program on HIV and AIDS (UNAIDS) 2020 target of 3 million on PrEP was not achieved; without innovations and evolution of standard models of delivery, reaching the 2025 target of 95% of those at risk using effective combination prevention options may be similarly beyond reach. Substantial gains in HIV care and the intended acceleration toward global HIV epidemic control may be lost. The innovations we describe might strengthen HIV prevention service delivery in the long run by engaging traditionally hard-to-reach or remote populations, reducing stigma, and by also creating a more accessible health care platform. These are platforms that can be leveraged both to mitigate the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on HIV services, and to support interventions for the COVID-19 response and facilitate pandemic control directly now and in the future.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Literature review search strategy. [DOCX File, 16 KB - publichealth v8i6e37479 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Risk of bias arising from the randomization process for the randomized control trial [19] using the Risk of Bias 2 tool. [DOCX File, 20 KB - publichealth_v8i6e37479_app2.docx]

References

- 1. WHO Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://covid19.who.int/</u> [accessed 2020-11-28]
- Zheng Q, Jones FK, Leavitt SV, Ung L, Labrique AB, Peters DH, HIT-COVID Collaboration. HIT-COVID, a global database tracking public health interventions to COVID-19. Sci Data 2020 Aug 27;7(1):286. [doi: 10.1038/s41597-020-00610-2] [Medline: 32855428]
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 2020 Mar 28;395(10229):1054-1062 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3] [Medline: 32171076]
- Hadi YB, Naqvi SFZ, Kupec JT, Sarwari AR. Characteristics and outcomes of COVID-19 in patients with HIV: a multicentre research network study. AIDS 2020 Nov 01;34(13):F3-F8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000002666] [Medline: 32796217]
- 5. Ending the HIV epidemic: a plan for America. HIV.gov. URL: <u>https://www.hiv.gov/federal-response/ending-the-hiv-epidemic/overview</u> [accessed 2020-11-28]
- Hargreaves J, Davey C, Group for lessons from pandemic HIV prevention for the COVID-19 response. Three lessons for the COVID-19 response from pandemic HIV. Lancet HIV 2020 May;7(5):e309-e311 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2352-3018(20)30110-7] [Medline: 32298644]
- 7. McMahon JH, Hoy JF, Kamarulzaman A, Bekker L, Beyrer C, Lewin SR. Leveraging the advances in HIV for COVID-19. Lancet 2020 Oct 03;396(10256):943-944 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32012-2] [Medline: 33010825]
- 8. The Lancet. Maintaining the HIV response in a world shaped by COVID-19. Lancet 2020 Nov 28;396(10264):1703 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32526-5] [Medline: 33248482]

- 9. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. Ann Intern Med 2009 Aug 18;151(4):W65-W94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-151-4-200908180-00136] [Medline: 19622512]
- 10. Sterne JAC, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2019 Aug 28;366:l4898. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.l4898] [Medline: 31462531]
- 11. Biello KB, Hill-Rorie J, Valente PK, Futterman D, Sullivan PS, Hightow-Weidman L, et al. Development and evaluation of a mobile app designed to increase HIV testing and pre-exposure prophylaxis use among young men who have sex with men in the United States: open pilot trial. J Med Internet Res 2021 Mar 24;23(3):e25107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25107] [Medline: 33759792]
- Bond KT, Ramos SR. Utilization of an animated electronic health video to increase knowledge of post- and pre-exposure prophylaxis for HIV among African American women: nationwide cross-sectional survey. JMIR Form Res 2019 May 29;3(2):e9995 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/formative.9995] [Medline: 31144667]
- Chasco EE, Hoth AB, Cho H, Shafer C, Siegler AJ, Ohl ME. Mixed-methods evaluation of the incorporation of home specimen self-collection kits for laboratory testing in a telehealth program for HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis. AIDS Behav 2021 Aug;25(8):2463-2482 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-021-03209-9] [Medline: 33740212]
- Farley JE, Dangerfield DT, LaRicci J, Sacamano P, Heidari O, Lowensen K, et al. Community engagement and linkage to care efforts by peer community-health workers to increase PrEP uptake among sexual minority men. Public Health Nurs 2021 Sep;38(5):818-824 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/phn.12887] [Medline: 33749022]
- Fuchs JD, Stojanovski K, Vittinghoff E, McMahan VM, Hosek SG, Amico KR, et al. A mobile health strategy to support adherence to antiretroviral preexposure prophylaxis. AIDS Patient Care STDS 2018 Mar;32(3):104-111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/apc.2017.0255] [Medline: 29565183]
- Hoth AB, Shafer C, Dillon DB, Mayer R, Walton G, Ohl ME. Iowa TelePrEP: a public-health-partnered telehealth model for human immunodeficiency virus preexposure prophylaxis delivery in a rural state. Sex Transm Dis 2019 Aug;46(8):507-512. [doi: 10.1097/OLQ.00000000001017] [Medline: 31295217]
- 17. Hughes SD, Koester KA, Engesaeth E, Hawkins MV, Grant RM. Human enough: a qualitative study of client experience with internet-based access to pre-exposure prophylaxis. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jul 5;23(7):e22650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22650]
- Liu AY, Coleman K, Bojan K, Serrano PA, Oyedele T, Garcia A, et al. Developing a mobile app (LYNX) to support linkage to HIV/sexually transmitted infection testing and pre-exposure prophylaxis for young men who have sex with men: protocol for a randomized controlled trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Jan 25;8(1):e10659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10659] [Medline: 30681964]
- Liu AY, Vittinghoff E, von Felten P, Rivet Amico K, Anderson PL, Lester R, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a mobile health intervention to promote retention and adherence to preexposure prophylaxis among young people at risk for human immunodeficiency virus: The EPIC Study. Clin Infect Dis 2019 May 30;68(12):2010-2017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy810] [Medline: 30239620]
- 20. Mitchell JT, LeGrand S, Hightow-Weidman LB, McKellar MS, Kashuba AD, Cottrell M, et al. Smartphone-based contingency management intervention to improve pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence: pilot trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Sep 10;6(9):e10456 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10456] [Medline: 30201601]
- McLaughlin ML, Hou J, Meng J, Hu C, An Z, Park M, et al. Propagation of information about preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) for HIV prevention through Twitter. Health Commun 2016 Aug;31(8):998-1007. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2015.1027033] [Medline: 26756069]
- 22. Muwonge TR, Ngure K, Katabira E, Mugo N, Kimemia G, Burns BFO, Partners Mobile Adherence to PrEP (PMAP) Team. Short Message Service (SMS) surveys assessing pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) adherence and sexual behavior are highly acceptable among HIV-uninfected members of serodiscordant couples in East Africa: a mixed methods study. AIDS Behav 2019 May;23(5):1267-1276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-018-2326-8] [Medline: 30406335]
- 23. Patel VV, Rawat S, Dange A, Lelutiu-Weinberger C, Golub SA. An internet-based, peer-delivered messaging intervention for HIV testing and condom use among men who have sex with men in India (CHALO!): pilot randomized comparative trial. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Apr 16;6(2):e16494 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16494] [Medline: 32297875]
- 24. Perlson J, Kruger B, Padullaparti S. 1290. A model for "at-distance" PrEP navigation: acceptability and early insights. Open Forum Inf Dis 2018 Nov;5(Suppl 1):S394. [doi: 10.1093/ofid/ofy210.1123]
- 25. Refugio ON, Kimble MM, Silva CL, Lykens JE, Bannister C, Klausner JD. Brief Report: PrEPTECH: a telehealth-based initiation program for HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis in young men of color who have sex with men. A pilot study of feasibility. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2019 Jan 01;80(1):40-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAI.000000000001873] [Medline: 30272632]
- 26. Shrestha R, Altice FL, DiDomizio E, Sibilio B, Ranjit YS, Copenhaver MM. Feasibility and acceptability of an mHealth-based approach as an HIV prevention strategy among people who use drugs on pre-exposure prophylaxis. Patient Prefer Adherence 2020;14:107-118. [doi: <u>10.2147/PPA.S236794</u>] [Medline: <u>32021122</u>]

- 27. Wang X, Nwokolo N, Korologou-Linden R, Hill A, Whitlock G, Day-Weber I, et al. InterPrEP: internet-based pre-exposure prophylaxis with generic tenofovir disoproxil fumarate/emtrictabine in London analysis of pharmacokinetics, safety and outcomes. HIV Med 2018 Jan;19(1):1-6. [doi: 10.1111/hiv.12528] [Medline: 28657199]
- 28. Weitzman PF, Zhou Y, Kogelman L, Rodarte S, Vicente SR, Levkoff SE. mHealth for pre-exposure prophylaxis adherence by young adult men who have sex with men. Mhealth 2021 Jul;7:44. [doi: 10.21037/mhealth-20-51] [Medline: 34345621]
- 29. Wood BR, Mann MS, Martinez-Paz N, Unruh KT, Annese M, Spach DH, et al. Project ECHO: telementoring to educate and support prescribing of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis by community medical providers. Sex Health 2018 Nov;15(6):601-605. [doi: 10.1071/SH18062] [Medline: 30318034]
- 30. Catalani C, Philbrick W, Fraser H, Mechael P, Israelski DM. Open AIDS J 2013;7:17-41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1874613620130812003] [Medline: 24133558]
- Claborn KR, Fernandez A, Wray T, Ramsey S. Computer-based HIV adherence promotion interventions: a systematic review. Transl Behav Med 2015 Sep;5(3):294-306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-015-0317-0] [Medline: 26327935]
- 32. Cooper V, Clatworthy J, Whetham J, Consortium E. mHealth interventions to support self-management in HIV: a systematic review. Open AIDS J 2017;11:119-132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2174/1874613601711010119] [Medline: 29290888]
- Daher J, Vijh R, Linthwaite B, Dave S, Kim J, Dheda K, et al. Do digital innovations for HIV and sexually transmitted infections work? Results from a systematic review (1996-2017). BMJ Open 2017 Nov 03;7(11):e017604 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017604] [Medline: 29101138]
- 34. Hightow-Weidman LB, Muessig KE, Bauermeister J, Zhang C, LeGrand S. Youth, technology, and HIV: recent advances and future directions. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2015 Dec;12(4):500-515 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11904-015-0280-x] [Medline: 26385582]
- Horvath KJ, Walker T, Mireles L, Bauermeister JA, Hightow-Weidman L, Stephenson R. A systematic review of technology-assisted HIV testing interventions. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2020 Aug;17(4):269-280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11904-020-00506-1] [Medline: 32507984]
- 36. Labelle M, Strong C, Tseng Y. mHealth strategies to promote uptake and adherence to PrEP: a systematic review. In: Rau PL, editor. Cross-Cultural Design. Applications in Health, Learning, Communication, and Creativity. HCII 2020. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 12193. Cham: Springer; 2020.
- 37. Maloney KM, Bratcher A, Wilkerson R, Sullivan PS. Electronic and other new media technology interventions for HIV care and prevention: a systematic review. J Int AIDS Soc 2020 Jan;23(1):e25439 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jia2.25439] [Medline: 31909896]
- Manby L, Aicken C, Delgrange M, Bailey JV. Effectiveness of eHealth interventions for HIV prevention and management in sub-Saharan Africa: systematic review and meta-analyses. AIDS Behav 2022 Feb;26(2):457-469 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-021-03402-w] [Medline: 34427813]
- Nelson KM, Perry NS, Horvath KJ, Smith LR. A systematic review of mHealth interventions for HIV prevention and treatment among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. Transl Behav Med 2020 Oct 12;10(5):1211-1220 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibaa007] [Medline: 33044531]
- 40. Schnall R, Travers J, Rojas M, Carballo-Diéguez A. eHealth interventions for HIV prevention in high-risk men who have sex with men: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2014 May 26;16(5):e134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3393] [Medline: 24862459]
- 41. Touger R, Wood BR. A review of telehealth innovations for HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP). Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2019 Feb;16(1):113-119. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11904-019-00430-z</u>] [Medline: <u>30701404</u>]
- 42. Vanhamel J, Rotsaert A, Reyniers T, Nöstlinger C, Laga M, Van Landeghem E, et al. The current landscape of pre-exposure prophylaxis service delivery models for HIV prevention: a scoping review. BMC Health Serv Res 2020 Jul 31;20(1):704 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05568-w] [Medline: 32736626]
- 43. Velloza J, Kapogiannis B, Bekker L, Celum C, Hosek S, Delany-Moretlwe S, et al. Interventions to improve daily medication use among adolescents and young adults: what can we learn for youth pre-exposure prophylaxis services? AIDS 2021 Mar 01;35(3):463-475 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAD.000000000002777] [Medline: 33252486]
- 44. Wang Z, Zhu Y, Cui L, Qu B. Electronic health interventions to improve adherence to antiretroviral therapy in people living with HIV: systematic review and meta-analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Oct 16;7(10):e14404 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14404] [Medline: 31621641]
- 45. Wong KYK, Stafylis C, Klausner JD. Telemedicine: a solution to disparities in human immunodeficiency virus prevention and pre-exposure prophylaxis uptake, and a framework to scalability and equity. Mhealth 2020 Apr;6:21. [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2019.12.06] [Medline: 32270013]
- 46. Zhou C, Crawford A, Serhal E, Kurdyak P, Sockalingam S. The impact of Project ECHO on participant and patient outcomes: a systematic review. Acad Med 2016 Oct;91(10):1439-1461. [doi: <u>10.1097/ACM.00000000001328</u>] [Medline: <u>27489018</u>]
- McBain RK, Sousa JL, Rose AJ, Baxi SM, Faherty LJ, Taplin C, et al. Impact of project ECHO models of medical tele-education: a systematic review. J Gen Intern Med 2019 Dec;34(12):2842-2857 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-05291-1] [Medline: <u>31485970</u>]

- 48. Koester KA, Hughes SD, Grant RM. "A good habit": telehealth PrEP users find benefit in quarterly monitoring requirements. J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care 2020;19:2325958220919269 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1177/2325958220919269</u>] [Medline: <u>32323593</u>]
- 49. Hoagland B, Torres TS, Bezerra DRB, Geraldo K, Pimenta C, Veloso VG, et al. Telemedicine as a tool for PrEP delivery during the COVID-19 pandemic in a large HIV prevention service in Rio de Janeiro-Brazil. Braz J Infect Dis 2020;24(4):360-364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bjid.2020.05.004] [Medline: 32504552]
- 50. Elbeddini A, Prabaharan T, Almasalkhi S, Tran C. Pharmacists and COVID-19. J Pharm Policy Pract 2020;13:36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40545-020-00241-3] [Medline: 32572350]
- 51. Bailey LE, Siberry GK, Agaba P, Douglas M, Clinkscales JR, Godfrey C. The impact of COVID-19 on multi-month dispensing (MMD) policies for antiretroviral therapy (ART) and MMD uptake in 21 PEPFAR-supported countries: a multi-country analysis. J Int AIDS Soc 2021 Oct;24(Suppl 6):e25794 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jia2.25794] [Medline: 34713578]
- Zakumumpa H, Tumwine C, Milliam K, Spicer N. Dispensing antiretrovirals during Covid-19 lockdown: re-discovering community-based ART delivery models in Uganda. BMC Health Serv Res 2021 Jul 13;21(1):692 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06607-w] [Medline: 34256756]
- 53. Providing care and treatment for people living with HIV in low-resource non-US settings during COVID-19 pandemic. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/global-covid-19/</u> maintaining-essential-HIV-services.html#ref2 [accessed 2021-02-20]
- 54. Virtual satellite session: "Bringing PrEP closer to home: Why is now the time for differentiated PrEP?". AIDS 2020. URL: http://differentiatedservicedelivery.org/Resources/differentiated_PrEP_slides [accessed 2021-02-20]
- Rubin EJ, Longo DL. SARS-CoV-2 vaccination an ounce (actually, much less) of prevention. N Engl J Med 2020 Dec 31;383(27):2677-2678 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMe2034717] [Medline: 33301245]
- 56. Jewell BL, Mudimu E, Stover J, Ten Brink D, Phillips AN, Smith JA, et al. Potential effects of disruption to HIV programmes in sub-Saharan Africa caused by COVID-19: results from multiple mathematical models. Lancet HIV 2020 Sep;7(9):e629-e640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2352-3018(20)30211-3] [Medline: 32771089]
- 57. Walensky RP, Walke HT, Fauci AS. SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern in the United States-challenges and opportunities. JAMA 2021 Mar 16;325(11):1037-1038 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.2294] [Medline: 33595644]
- Wosik J, Fudim M, Cameron B, Gellad ZF, Cho A, Phinney D, et al. Telehealth transformation: COVID-19 and the rise of virtual care. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020 Jun 01;27(6):957-962 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocaa067] [Medline: 32311034]
- 59. Marcus JL, Sewell WC, Balzer LB, Krakower DS. Artificial intelligence and machine learning for HIV prevention: emerging approaches to ending the epidemic. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2020 Jun;17(3):171-179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11904-020-00490-6] [Medline: 32347446]
- 60. Cho J. Current status and prospects of health-related sensing technology in wearable devices. J Healthc Eng 2019;2019:3924508. [doi: 10.1155/2019/3924508] [Medline: 31316740]

Abbreviations

ART: antiretroviral therapy CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention ECHO: Extension for Community Healthcare Outcomes EHE: Ending the HIV Epidemic EPIC: Enhancing PrEP in Community Settings ImPrEP: Implementation PrEP Study mHealth: mobile health PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses RCT: randomized controlled trial STI: sexually transmitted infection UNAIDS: United Nations Program on HIV and AIDS



Edited by A Mavragani; submitted 23.02.22; peer-reviewed by M Warren, J Simmons, F Yu; comments to author 21.03.22; revised version received 06.04.22; accepted 27.04.22; published 07.06.22.

Please cite as: Patel P, Kerzner M, Reed JB, Sullivan PS, El-Sadr WM Public Health Implications of Adapting HIV Pre-exposure Prophylaxis Programs for Virtual Service Delivery in the Context of the COVID-19 Pandemic: Systematic Review JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e37479 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37479 doi:10.2196/37479 PMID:35486813

©Pragna Patel, Michael Kerzner, Jason B Reed, Patrick Sean Sullivan, Wafaa M El-Sadr. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 07.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Characterizing Anchoring Bias in Vaccine Comparator Selection Due to Health Care Utilization With COVID-19 and Influenza: Observational Cohort Study

Anna Ostropolets¹, MD; Patrick B Ryan², PhD; Martijn J Schuemie², PhD; George Hripcsak^{1,3}, MD

¹Department of Biomedical Informatics, Columbia University Irving Medical Center, New York, NY, United States

²Epidemiology Analytics, Janssen Research and Development, Titusville, NJ, United States

³Medical Informatics Services, New York-Presbyterian Hospital, New York, NY, United States

Corresponding Author:

George Hripcsak, MD Department of Biomedical Informatics Columbia University Irving Medical Center 622 West 168th Street, PH20 New York, NY, 10032 United States Phone: 1 2123055334 Email: gh13@cumc.columbia.edu

Abstract

Background: Observational data enables large-scale vaccine safety surveillance but requires careful evaluation of the potential sources of bias. One potential source of bias is the index date selection procedure for the unvaccinated cohort or unvaccinated comparison time ("anchoring").

Objective: Here, we evaluated the different index date selection procedures for 2 vaccinations: COVID-19 and influenza.

Methods: For each vaccine, we extracted patient baseline characteristics on the index date and up to 450 days prior and then compared them to the characteristics of the unvaccinated patients indexed on (1) an arbitrary date or (2) a date of a visit. Additionally, we compared vaccinated patients indexed on the date of vaccination and the same patients indexed on a prior date or visit.

Results: COVID-19 vaccination and influenza vaccination differ drastically from each other in terms of the populations vaccinated and their status on the day of vaccination. When compared to indexing on a visit in the unvaccinated population, influenza vaccination had markedly higher covariate proportions, and COVID-19 vaccination had lower proportions of most covariates on the index date. In contrast, COVID-19 vaccination had similar covariate proportions when compared to an arbitrary date. These effects attenuated, but were still present, with a longer lookback period. The effect of day 0 was present even when the patients served as their own controls.

Conclusions: Patient baseline characteristics are sensitive to the choice of the index date. In vaccine safety studies, unexposed index event should represent vaccination settings. Study designs previously used to assess influenza vaccination must be reassessed for COVID-19 to account for a potentially healthier population and lack of medical activity on the day of vaccination.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33099) doi:10.2196/33099

KEYWORDS

COVID-19; vaccine; anchoring; comparator selection; time-at-risk; vaccination; bias; observational; utilization; flu; influenza; index; cohort

Introduction

The world is faced with a deadly pandemic at a time of incredible technology such that new vaccines can be produced in a fraction of the previous development time and at a scale

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33099

that can potentially vaccinate the entire human population. This brings new challenges in using observational data to evaluate vaccine safety, where the pressure to vaccinate quickly to prevent more deaths and viral variants reduces the time available to carry out studies [1]. This time pressure affects not just the collection of data for research but also the time it takes to



develop and validate the evaluation methods. We therefore rely on the methods developed and validated in previous pandemics and seasonal infectious diseases, with influenza being an important example [2-4].

COVID-19 vaccination has been unlike any other in history. The target vaccination group has shifted from older adults and those with comorbidities in the early phases of vaccination to everyone including healthy, young people [5], with some nations already vaccinating the majority of their populations [6]. COVID-19 vaccines are delivered in a wide variety of settings, from pop-up centers unconnected to health care delivery to inpatient facilities for hospital discharge. Other vaccines such as those for influenza have a different delivery. They are often administered to specific vulnerable populations, such as pregnant women, patients at high risk of complications, or children, and are often given during health care visits [7-9].

The unique properties of COVID-19 vaccination may require adjusting study designs previously used for influenza vaccination, specifically the selection of a comparator cohort or an unvaccinated comparison time in cohort and self-controlled studies. Although, for the vaccinated group, the index date—vaccination—is clearly defined, the selection of the index date for the unexposed comparator group is more complex. Ideally, the index date in the unexposed group should be chosen based on the vaccination settings to reliably serve as a counterfactual. The selection procedure (which we have termed "anchoring") may itself influence the results of a study and induce bias in the analysis. For example, in studies of the background rates of adverse events, patients indexed on an arbitrary date were shown to have lower incidence of adverse events than the same patients indexed on a visit [10].

Here, we aimed to evaluate 2 alternative selection procedures for the index date in the unexposed group based on how vaccines are administered—coupled or decoupled to another health care encounter. We compared these approaches for 2 vaccinations, influenza and COVID-19, and investigated how anchoring influences the baseline patient characteristics of the unexposed group.

Methods

Data Collection and Analysis

We studied 2 types of vaccination: (1) influenza vaccine administered from 2017-2018 and (2) COVID-19 vaccine administered from 2020-2021 (the list of codes is presented in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 1). For each vaccine, we mimicked 2 study designs.

The first design (Figure 1A) corresponds to a cohort method, where the target group was vaccinated patients and the comparator group was unvaccinated patients. The index date for the target group was the date of vaccination; for the comparator, it was (1) a date selected from the unvaccinated patient's history (not necessarily with any medical event) such that it matched the index date of one of the target group participants or (2) a visit matched to the index date of one of the target and comparator pair were matched on age and gender.

Figure 1. Study design overview.



The second design (Figure 1B) corresponds to a self-controlled design (case-crossover design) [11], where the cases were the vaccinated patients indexed (or "anchored") on the day of vaccination and the controls were the same patients indexed on an arbitrary date or a visit within 180-450 days prior to the vaccination date.

For each group, we extracted patient baseline characteristics (covariates) recorded within 5 time intervals: on the index date (day 0), on the day before the index date (day -1), from 30 to 1 days prior to the index date (short-term baseline covariates), from 180 to 31 days prior to the index date (medium-term baseline covariates), and from 450 to 181 days prior to the index date (long-term baseline covariates). Baseline covariates included all condition, procedure, measurement (laboratory tests and vital signs), and drug group codes available in the patients' structured data within a specified time interval. For each covariate, we calculated covariate proportion, which is the proportion of patients with a covariate recorded in their electronic health record (EHR) within a given time interval along with its SD for binary variables or an average number with SD for continuous variables (such as the number of visits).

We then compared the covariates in each target-comparator pair and calculated the standardized difference of means. The covariates were said to be balanced if the standardized difference of means was less than 0.1 [12,13]. The standardized difference of means for each covariate was then plotted for each time interval and target-comparator pair. We conducted the analysis on 2 EHR data sources: Columbia University Irving Medical Center health record data set (CUIMC) and Optum deidentified electronic health record data set (Optum EHR). Optum EHR's data comprises medical record data from 87 million patients and includes clinical information, inclusive of prescriptions as prescribed and administered, lab results, vital signs, body measurements, diagnoses, and procedures. The CUIMC EHR gathers data from the clinical data warehouse of the NewYork-Presbyterian Hospital/Columbia University Irving Medical Center, New York, NY, based on its current and previous EHR systems, with data spanning over 30 years and including over 6 million patients. The data sources were selected based on the availability of both vaccines' data and captured inpatient and ambulatory aspects of care. Both data sources were mapped to the Observational Medical Outcomes Partnership Common Data Model [14]. The Observational Medical Outcomes Partnership Common Data Model provides a homogeneous format for health care data and standardization of the underlying clinical coding systems that thus enables analysis code to be shared across participating data sets in the network.

All analysis was done in R statistical software (version 4; R Foundation for Statistical Computing). FeatureExtraction package (version 3.1; Observational Health Data Sciences and Informatics) was used to extract the baseline covariates.

Ostropolets et al

Ethics Approval

The protocol for this research was approved by the Columbia University Institutional Review Board (AAAO7805).

Results

Study Populations

The initial study population included 210,263 and 57,000 patients vaccinated with any COVID-19 vaccine from 2020-2021 in CUIMC and Optum EHR, respectively, and 60,142 and 4,991,051 patients vaccinated with an influenza vaccine

from 2017-2018 in CUIMC and Optum EHR, respectively. The proportion of female patients was 62.7% (131,922/210,263) and 72.3% (41,204/57,000) for COVID-19 vaccinated patients and 61.4% (36,917/60,142) and 58.2% (2,906,757/4,991,051) for influenza vaccinated patients. The median (IQR) age was 57 (39-71) and 45 (34-56) years for COVID-19 vaccinated patients and 35 (12-63) and 50 (22-66) years for influenza vaccinated patients. We then matched each vaccinated population to the unvaccinated population on the date, age, and gender so that the distribution of age and gender between each target and comparator group was the same.

Table 1.	The number of	f covariates with	the standardized	difference of means	>0.1 f	or selected	time intervals
	The mannoer of	eonaliates min	the brandtan and a	difference of means		or bereeted	citie inter (and

Target-comparator pair	Index date (day 0), n/N (%)		Long-term (from 450-181 days prior to the index date), n/N (%)	
	CUIMC ^a	Optum EHR ^b	CUIMC	Optum EHR
COVID-19-vaccinated patients compared to unvaccinated patients indexed on a date	25/9073 (0.3)	11/15,097 (<0.1)	131/26,859 (0.5)	56/51,075 (0.1)
COVID-19-vaccinated patients compared to unvaccinated patients indexed on a visit	411/18,741 (2.2)	110/21,739 (0.5)	34/37,073 (<0.1)	91/50,358 (0.2)
Influenza-vaccinated patients compared to unvaccinated patients indexed on a date	469/12,684 (3.7)	268/26,809 (1)	881/25,782 (3.4)	201/55,665 (0.4)
Influenza-vaccinated patients compared to unvaccinated patients indexed on a visit	320/22,816 (1.4)	94/32,931 (0.3)	517/34,361 (1.5)	114/56,387 (0.2)

^aCUIMC: Columbia University Irving Medical Center electronic health record data set.

^bOptum EHR: Optum electronic health record data set.

Comparison of Vaccinated Patients and Unvaccinated Patients Indexed on a Date or a Visit

Influenza-Vaccinated Population

On the index date (day of vaccination=day 0), the influenza-vaccinated population had markedly higher proportion of most covariates than an arbitrary date in the comparison group (pinning most covariates against the x-axis in Figure 2, A and B, yellow). The largest difference in covariate proportions

between the unvaccinated and vaccinated populations on day 0 was observed for inpatient and outpatient measurements such as blood count, metabolic panels, blood pressure, and basal metabolic index, including both the presence of measurements and proportion of patients with of abnormal results; this means that patients were far more likely to have measurements on the date of vaccination than on an arbitrary date. Moreover, the influenza-vaccinated population had higher covariate proportions even a year prior to the vaccination.



Figure 2. Baseline covariate proportion in vaccinated and unvaccinated populations on day 0, day –1, days –1 to –30, days –31 to –180, and days –181 to –450 in CUIMC and Optum EHR. Each dot represents a covariate. Blue: covariate proportion in COVID-19 vaccinated population versus unvaccinated population; yellow: in influenza vaccinated population versus unvaccinated population. CUIMC: Columbia University Medical Irving Center health record data set; Optum EHR: Optum electronic health record data set.



Vaccinated population, indexed on the date of vaccination

In contrast, comparison with the unvaccinated population indexed on a visit (Figure 2, C and D) showed a smaller difference between covariate proportions in CUIMC and almost no difference in Optum EHR, potentially indicating that a visit is a better counterfactual for a vaccination date than an arbitrary date.

Covariate proportions in vaccinated patients were closer to the proportions in the unvaccinated population indexed on a visit even with a longer lookback period (examples of covariates are provided in Multimedia Appendix 1).

COVID-19–Vaccinated Population

As opposed to the influenza-vaccinated population, the difference in covariate proportion between the COVID-19–vaccinated and unvaccinated population indexed on an arbitrary date was moderate. We observed that COVID-19

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33099
```

vaccination was associated with a visit in 2.7% (5732/210,263) of patients (compared to 1.2% [2591/210,263] on an arbitrary date). In contrast, 55.8% (33,531/60,142) of the influenza-vaccinated population had a visit on the date of vaccination (compared to 0.6% [331/60,142] of unvaccinated population on an arbitrary date). The vaccinated population tended to have higher proportion of covariates prior to the index date (looking back a year prior).

When compared to the unvaccinated population indexed on a visit, the COVID-19–vaccinated population had markedly lower proportion of most covariates. Those vaccinated with the COVID-19 vaccine had much lower rates of diagnoses of both chronic and acute diseases on the date of vaccination than a visit in the unvaccinated population. The list of conditions included common chronic conditions such as hypertension, depressive disorder, asthma, and diabetes mellitus along with

acute conditions such as dyspnea, chest pain, and fever. This difference points out that an arbitrary date may be a better counterfactual for a vaccination date in COVID-19–vaccinated patients.

Comparison of Vaccinated Patients Indexed on the Date of Vaccination and the Same Patients Indexed on a Prior Date or Visit

Influenza-Vaccinated Population

Here, we compared vaccinated patients indexed on the vaccination date to the same patients indexed on a date or visit within a year prior, similar to the procedure in a self-controlled study. We observed that the date of influenza vaccination tended

to have a higher proportion of covariates than an arbitrary date within a year prior (Figure 3, first column) and even higher than an arbitrary visit within a year prior. Patients indexed on the date of vaccination were more likely to have antecedent health care encounters, conditions, and laboratory tests within a year prior to the vaccination date than within a year prior to their previous visits (Figure 3, C and D). For comparison with an arbitrary date, we observed a mixed effect: in Optum EHR, vaccinated patients had more events preceding their vaccination, whereas in CUIMC they had fewer events. Nevertheless, in both data sources, the difference between covariate proportions was larger in magnitude when compared to an arbitrary date than when compared to an arbitrary visit.

Figure 3. Baseline covariate proportion in vaccinated population indexed on the date of vaccination compared to the same population indexed on a prior visit or date on day 0, day -1, days -1 to -30, days -31 to -180, and days -181 to -450 in CUIMC and Optum EHR. Each dot represents a covariate. Blue: covariate proportion in COVID-19 population; yellow: in influenza vaccinated population. CUIMC: Columbia University Irving Medical Center health record data set; Optum EHR: Optum electronic health record data set.



Vaccinated population, indexed on the date of vaccination

COVID-19–Vaccinated Population

The COVID-19–vaccinated population showed a markedly lower proportion of covariates on the day of vaccination than a visit or an arbitrary date within a year prior to vaccination. The difference was attenuated with a longer lookback period; COVID-19–vaccinated patients had fewer health care events within a year prior to their vaccination than their previous history. We observed mixed effect when comparing to a date in the past; some covariates such as exposure to COVID-19, COVID-19 laboratory tests, vital signs, or acetaminophen were present in a higher proportion immediately before vaccination. Others such as glomerular filtration rate, thyrotropin measurement, urinalysis, or glomerulonephritis were observed in a lower proportion immediately before the vaccination.

Discussion

Principal Findings

We find that COVID-19 vaccination and influenza vaccination differ drastically from each other, with the proportion of most covariates much higher on the date of vaccination in the influenza group than the COVID-19 group. The results from looking back from 31 to 180 days and from 181 to 450 days before the vaccination (or index date) may be related to differences in the populations. The population vaccinated for influenza appears to have more comorbidities and past procedures and measurements than the average population, even after adjusting for age and gender, and the population vaccinated for COVID-19 appears to have a lower proportion of most medical covariates than the average population after adjusting for age and gender. This may be explained if influenza vaccination is targeted to sicker populations on average and if COVID-19 vaccination is targeted to the general public, which is healthier on average than those in our EHR data [7,9].

The drastic effects on day 0 (ie, the day of vaccination and its comparison) are likely related to the context in which the vaccination is given. If the comparison is an arbitrary date in the person's record, then influenza vaccination has markedly higher covariate proportions, reflecting the association of the vaccination with a health care encounter. Moreover, such a trend (not observed for the COVID-19 vaccine) was present even when comparing the date of influenza vaccination to prior patient visits.

The abovementioned trends for the COVID-19 vaccine were consistently observed in both data sources, and the differences between the data sources were mainly related to the coding practices. For example, in the CUIMC data, COVID-19 vaccination was not associated with a visit but rather with a patient encounter. On the contrary, COVID-19 vaccination in the Optum EHR was associated with the providers entering "Requires vaccination" and "Vaccine Administration" in the system along with the codes for the vaccines. For influenza vaccination, the observed patterns were also consistent when comparing the vaccinated population to the unvaccinated population. When looking at the vaccinated patients immediately before the vaccination compared to an arbitrary date in the past, the mixed effect observed can be attributable to the continuous surveillance of such patients in the CUIMC, which results in

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33099

having higher health care utilization over an extended time period in the past.

The first implication of these results is that, when comparing vaccinated to unvaccinated patients or time, the anchoring event for the unvaccinated comparator must be selected carefully. Previous research acknowledged that comparing unexposed and exposed patients in the context of vaccine safety and effectiveness surveillance may lead to between-person confounding due to noncomparable groups [15]. For example, as noted before for influenza, vaccinated and unvaccinated patients differ in comorbidity prevalence [16]. Nevertheless, even in the same population, the choice of the index date or event influences both baseline covariates and the incidence rates of conditions following the index date. For COVID-19 vaccination, it appears that the comparison should not be purposely anchored on a health care visit unless it is a relevant vaccination subgroup (eg, those vaccinated at hospital discharge).

Adjusting for confounding will be extremely important, as it appears unlikely that a comparison can be chosen perfectly, although the comparisons between the same participants looking a year prior led to the best equivalency for both influenza and COVID-19 vaccinations. Moreover, the difference in patient characteristics requires a robust selection of covariates for a propensity score model or outcome model as opposed to the current exposed versus unexposed COVID-19 vaccine cohort studies, which only use a limited subset of covariates in their propensity score model [17].

Alternatively, this may argue for a self-controlled study design [18], which mitigates the difference in patient characteristics. However, this design is also sensitive to anchoring (which is what happens on day 0 and around it) and carries other challenges such as accounting for differences in COVID-19 risk over time. For example, we observed that when the time before vaccination is compared to the time before a visit in the past, the former time interval is characterized by higher prevalence of COVID-19 diagnosis and laboratory tests in both data sources, as the previous visits mainly had occurred in 2020 before the COVID-19 pandemic started.

This study has implications beyond using covariates for confounding adjustment. The day 0 results have direct implications for analyses of acute side effects such as anaphylaxis that include day 0 because the side effect often occurs immediately. Any study of such short-term effects must directly account for anchoring to the context in which the vaccination is given. Furthermore, studies that compare effectiveness or safety among vaccines must account for differences in populations and vaccination context. For example, single-dose vaccines may be given preferentially to sicker patients who are unable to return for a second dose, such as those being discharged from the hospital.

Conclusions

Patient baseline covariates in the unexposed group or time are extremely sensitive to the choice of the index date (anchoring). COVID-19 vaccination and influenza vaccination differ drastically from each other in terms of the populations

XSL•FO RenderX

vaccinated and their status on the day of vaccination. Study designs previously used to assess influenza vaccination must be reassessed for COVID-19 to account for a potentially healthier population and lack of medical activity on the day of vaccination.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the US National Library of Medicine (R01 LM006910).

Conflicts of Interest

GH and AO receive funding from the US National Institutes of Health and the US Food and Drug Administration. PBR and MJS are employees of Janssen Research and Development and shareholders in Johnson and Johnson. Funders had no role in the conceptualization, design, data collection, analysis, decision to publish, nor preparation of the manuscript.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary materials. [DOC File, 1563 KB - publichealth v8i6e33099 app1.doc]

References

- Forni G, Mantovani A, COVID-19 Commission of Accademia Nazionale dei Lincei, Rome. COVID-19 vaccines: where we stand and challenges ahead. Cell Death Differ 2021 Feb;28(2):626-639 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41418-020-00720-9] [Medline: 33479399]
- Zayet S, Kadiane-Oussou NJ, Lepiller Q, Zahra H, Royer P, Toko L, et al. Clinical features of COVID-19 and influenza: a comparative study on Nord Franche-Comte cluster. Microbes Infect 2020 Oct;22(9):481-488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2020.05.016] [Medline: 32561409]
- Verity R, Okell LC, Dorigatti I, Winskill P, Whittaker C, Imai N, et al. Estimates of the severity of coronavirus disease 2019: a model-based analysis. Lancet Infect Dis 2020 Jun;20(6):669-677 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30243-7] [Medline: 32240634]
- 4. Burn E, You SC, Sena AG, Kostka K, Abedtash H, Abrahão MTF, et al. Deep phenotyping of 34,128 adult patients hospitalised with COVID-19 in an international network study. Nat Commun 2020 Oct 06;11(1):5009 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18849-z] [Medline: 33024121]
- Dooling K, Marin M, Wallace M, McClung N, Chamberland M, Lee GM, et al. The Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices' updated interim recommendation for allocation of COVID-19 vaccine - United States, December 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021 Jan 01;69(5152):1657-1660 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm695152e2] [Medline: 33382671]
- 6. Coronavirus (COVID-19) vaccinations. Our World in Data. URL: <u>https://ourworldindata.org/covid-vaccinations</u> [accessed 2021-05-31]
- Lee BY, Brown ST, Korch GW, Cooley PC, Zimmerman RK, Wheaton WD, et al. A computer simulation of vaccine prioritization, allocation, and rationing during the 2009 H1N1 influenza pandemic. Vaccine 2010 Jul 12;28(31):4875-4879 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.05.002] [Medline: 20483192]
- Petrie JG, Ohmit SE, Cheng CK, Martin ET, Malosh RE, Lauring AS, et al. Influenza vaccine effectiveness against antigenically drifted influenza higher than expected in hospitalized adults: 2014-2015. Clin Infect Dis 2016 Oct 15;63(8):1017-1025. [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw432] [Medline: 27369320]
- Pilishvili T, Fleming-Dutra KE, Farrar JL, Gierke R, Mohr NM, Talan DA, Vaccine Effectiveness Among Healthcare Personnel Study Team. Interim estimates of vaccine effectiveness of Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna COVID-19 vaccines among health care personnel - 33 U.S. Sites, January-March 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021 May 21;70(20):753-758 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7020e2] [Medline: 34014909]
- Ostropolets A, Li X, Makadia R, Rao G, Rijnbeek P, Duarte-Salles T, et al. Factors influencing background incidence rate calculation: systematic empirical evaluation across an international network of observational databases. Front Pharmacol 2022 Apr 26;13:814198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.814198] [Medline: 35559254]
- 11. Maclure M. The case-crossover design: a method for studying transient effects on the risk of acute events. Am J Epidemiol 1991 Jan 15;133(2):144-153. [doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a115853] [Medline: 1985444]
- 12. Austin PC. Using the standardized difference to compare the prevalence of a binary variable between two groups in observational research. Communications in Statistics Simulation and Computation 2009 Apr 09;38(6):1228-1234. [doi: 10.1080/03610910902859574]
- Walker A, Patrick, Lauer, Hornbrook, Marin, Platt, Roger, Stang, Schneeweiss. A tool for assessing the feasibility of comparative effectiveness research. CER 2013 Jan:11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/cer.s40357]

- Hripcsak G, Duke JD, Shah NH, Reich CG, Huser V, Schuemie MJ, et al. Observational Health Data Sciences and Informatics (OHDSI): opportunities for observational researchers. Stud Health Technol Inform 2015;216:574-578 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26262116]
- 15. Gagne JJ, Fireman B, Ryan PB, Maclure M, Gerhard T, Toh S, et al. Design considerations in an active medical product safety monitoring system. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2012 Jan 19;21 Suppl 1:32-40. [doi: <u>10.1002/pds.2316</u>] [Medline: <u>22262591</u>]
- 16. Hellfritzsch M, Thomsen RW, Baggesen LM, Larsen FB, Sørensen HT, Christiansen CF. Lifestyle, socioeconomic characteristics, and medical history of elderly persons who receive seasonal influenza vaccination in a tax-supported healthcare system. Vaccine 2017 Apr 25;35(18):2396-2403. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.03.040</u>] [Medline: <u>28343782</u>]
- 17. Pawlowski C, Lenehan P, Puranik A, Agarwal V, Venkatakrishnan AJ, Niesen MJM, et al. FDA-authorized mRNA COVID-19 vaccines are effective per real-world evidence synthesized across a multi-state health system. Med (N Y) 2021 Aug 13;2(8):979-992.e8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.medj.2021.06.007] [Medline: 34223401]
- Weldeselassie YG, Whitaker HJ, Farrington CP. Use of the self-controlled case-series method in vaccine safety studies: review and recommendations for best practice. Epidemiol Infect 2011 Dec;139(12):1805-1817. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0950268811001531</u>] [Medline: <u>21849099</u>]

Abbreviations

CUIMC: Columbia University Irving Medical Center health record data set **EHR:** electronic health record **Optum EHR:** Optum electronic health record data set

Edited by T Sanchez; submitted 24.08.21; peer-reviewed by C Shah, S Pranic; comments to author 06.01.22; revised version received 27.01.22; accepted 26.04.22; published 17.06.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ostropolets A, Ryan PB, Schuemie MJ, Hripcsak G Characterizing Anchoring Bias in Vaccine Comparator Selection Due to Health Care Utilization With COVID-19 and Influenza: Observational Cohort Study JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33099 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33099</u> doi:10.2196/33099 PMID:<u>35482996</u>

©Anna Ostropolets, Patrick B Ryan, Martijn J Schuemie, George Hripcsak. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 17.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Social Determinants in Self-Protective Behavior Related to COVID-19: Association Rule–Mining Study

Gabriel Urbanin¹; Wagner Meira¹, PhD; Alexandre Serpa², PhD; Danielle de Souza Costa², PhD; Leonardo Baldaçara^{2,3}, PhD; Ana Paula da Silva¹, PhD; Rafaela Guatimosim², BA; Anísio Mendes Lacerda¹, PhD; Eduardo Araújo Oliveira⁴, PhD; Andre Braule², PhD; Marco Aurélio Romano-Silva⁵, MD, PhD; Antônio Geraldo da Silva^{2,3,6}, PhD; Leandro Malloy-Diniz^{2,3,5}, PhD; Gisele Pappa¹, PhD; Débora Marques Miranda^{2,4,5}, PhD

⁵Centro de Tecnologia em Medicina Molecular, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

Corresponding Author:

Débora Marques Miranda, PhD Departamento de Pediatria Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais Av Alfredo Balena 190 Belo Horizonte, 30130-100 Brazil Phone: 55 31971380711 Email: <u>debora.m.miranda@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Human behavior is crucial in health outcomes. Particularly, individual behavior is a determinant of the success of measures to overcome critical conditions, such as a pandemic. In addition to intrinsic public health challenges associated with COVID-19, in many countries, some individuals decided not to get vaccinated, streets were crowded, parties were happening, and businesses struggling to survive were partially open, despite lockdown or stay-at-home instructions. These behaviors contrast with the instructions for potential benefits associated with social distancing, use of masks, and vaccination to manage collective and individual risks.

Objective: Considering that human behavior is a result of individuals' social and economic conditions, we investigated the social and working characteristics associated with reports of appropriate protective behavior in Brazil.

Methods: We analyzed data from a large web survey of individuals reporting their behavior during the pandemic. We selected 3 common self-care measures: use of protective masks, distancing by at least 1 m when out of the house, and handwashing or use of alcohol, combined with assessment of the social context of respondents. We measured the frequency of the use of these self-protective measures. Using a frequent pattern–mining perspective, we generated association rules from a set of answers to questions that co-occur with at least a given frequency, identifying the pattern of characteristics of the groups divided according to protective behavior reports.

Results: The rationale was to identify a pool of working and social characteristics that might have better adhesion to behaviors and self-care measures, showing these are more socially determined than previously thought. We identified common patterns of socioeconomic and working determinants of compliance with protective self-care measures. Data mining showed that social determinants might be important to shape behavior in different stages of the pandemic.

Conclusions: Identification of context determinants might be helpful to identify unexpected facilitators and constraints to fully follow public policies. The context of diseases contributes to psychological and physical health outcomes, and context understanding might change the approach to a disease. Hidden social determinants might change protective behavior, and social determinants of protective behavior related to COVID-19 are related to work and economic conditions.

Trial Registration: Not applicable.

¹Departamento de Ciência da Computação, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

²Instituto de Saúde Mental Baseada em Evidências, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

³Associação Brasileira de Psiquiatria, Brasilia, Brazil

⁴Departamento de Pediatria, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

⁶Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto, Porto, Portugal

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e34020) doi:10.2196/34020

KEYWORDS

social determinants; data mining; self-protective behavior; COVID-19; protection; behavior; sanitation; characteristic; Brazil; compliance; public health; policy; mask; risk

Introduction

Collectively, individual behavior is a crucial determinant of the success of measures to overcome critical conditions, such as a pandemic. During 2020-2021, Brazil had more than 20 million confirmed cases of COVID-19 and about 600,000 COVID-19–related deaths [1]. SARS-CoV-2 circulated widely, and intensive care unit (ICU) beds available reduced quickly, causing an imminent risk of health system collapse in many Brazilian states. Due to high transmission rates and a sequence of new variants, populations were caught in a conflict between the need for social distancing and economic burden [1,2].

Social restrictions with early and mandatory quarantine were supposed to be effective and were extensively recommended to contain virus dissemination [3]. Despite lockdown, isolation, and self-care campaigns, there was conflicting behavior by some people occupying the streets due to partially open commercial activities, protests, and leisure activities. Data from mobile phones showed not more than 50% of isolation in any given moment, even in critical periods of high transmission, a lack of ICU beds, and extenuated health professional teams [4]. Commonly, there is no convergence between the severity of the pandemic and individual behavior. It is interesting to note that information does not always lead to better and rational decisions. For example, in the face of proximity to death, individuals can activate some psychological defenses, such as minimizing the threat of the virus and its impact on their life [5]. In addition, individual behavior to deal with prevention depends on many factors, such as trust in the government and its strategies [6] and perception of the leaders' style to solve moral dilemmas [7]. These perceptions affected the efficacy of public policies to prevent infection during the COVID-19 pandemic.

In developed countries, re-emerging new waves of apparently more transmissible variants, driven by refusal to vaccinate, increased the risk of emergence of new resistant strains [8]. The lack of compliance with containing measures during a pandemic is not new. In 1919, Major George A. Soper published a paper in Science, entitled "Lessons of the Pandemic," regarding the Spanish flu pandemic [9]. He stated that 3 main factors stand in the way of prevention: First, public indifference, when people do not appreciate the risks they run due to a lack of comprehension of the disease; second, it does not lie in human nature for a person who has only a slight cold to shut up in rigid isolation as a means of protecting others on the bare chance that it may turn out to be a really dangerous infection; and third, the highly infectious nature of respiratory infections adds to the difficulty of their control, and the disease may be transmissible before the patient is aware that they are attacked. Despite all technological progress in the past 100 years, a health crisis still requires large-scale behavior modification, with a significant social and psychological burden on individuals and their families. It was estimated that up to 40% [10] of premature

deaths were accountable to individual unhealthy lifestyle decisions and behaviors [11]. It is paramount to align individual human behavior with the recommendations by public health experts.

Social, economic, psychological, and physical environments promote different changes in population behavior across stages of life [12,13]. Some social determinants, such as socioeconomic status, might delineate the distribution of mental disorders in the population, with socially disadvantaged individuals suffering a greater impact [13]. For example, there is a 2.5 times greater risk of having depression or anxiety among youth with low socioeconomic status than among those with a higher socioeconomic status [12]. An economic disadvantage also brings conditions such as compromised immune systems, diabetes, heart disease, and chronic lung diseases, resulting in higher morbidity in individuals infected by SARS-CoV-2 [12]. Those at an economic disadvantage are more likely to be exposed to the virus, susceptible to its effects, and suffer negative outcomes.

In Italy, many factors were considered as predictors of well-being in self-reports: gender (men), age (older), socioeconomic status, occupational status (unemployed), higher coping efficacy and trust in institutions, and positive attitudes toward quarantine measures [14]. During the pandemic, working conditions might have increased the risk to both COVID-19 and the related psychological burden [15,16]. There is also evidence that having COVID-19 increased anxiety, affecting home relationship engagement and critical work, and resulted in more somatic symptoms [16]. The socioeconomic burden can affect behavior and make people less willing to adopt recommended safety measures [17]. Incentives to healthier attitudes might have potential benefits, minimizing the impacts of behavior over health or shaping them according to public policy [11]. A multilevel framework should be applied to improve strategies and hence reduce new cases, deaths, and the burden of the pandemic. Policy makers must understand the dynamics of social determinants, interplaying with individual beliefs and behaviors in order to identify putative targets and plan effective care and interventions to mitigate the effects of the pandemic.

The most common self-care and protection recommendations during the COVID-19 pandemic were the universal use of facial masks, frequent handwashing or use of alcohol, and distancing when staying out (at least 1 m from someone who doesn't live with you) [18]. The cumulative protective effect might buffer transmission rates and help to control the pandemic. Considering that individual perception and behavior might change the efficacy of public policies, and part of the population reported continuing regular prepandemic life activities, 2 questions were formulated: (1) What are the characteristics of people informing careful/self-protective behavior? (2) What are their living contexts? These questions aim to better understand how we can

XSL•FO RenderX

improve conditions and strategies toward self-care, not only for the current pandemic, but also to understand the gap between presumptive information about protective measures, health promotion campaigns, and the resulting individual and societal behavior.

Methods

Ethical Considerations

This study was approved by the National Commission of Ethics in Research (CONEP) on May 2, 2020 (CAAE #30823620.6.0000.5149) and complied with the Declaration of Helsinki (1989). All participants were informed that the survey would take about 25 minutes to be completed. The consent form was presented on the first page of the online form, and only participants who consented to participation were further enrolled.

Recruitment and Participants

Participants needed to be 20 years of age or more, know how to read, and have access to the internet to enroll.

Two nonprobability samples from the general population were self-selected via a survey link promoted by the Associação Brasileira de Psiquiatria (ABP) targeting the whole country at two timepoints. Participants were also invited via posts on social media. Samples were compared in a repeated cross-sectional design. The sample from timepoint 1 (T1) was collected from May 9 to June 30, 2020. The sample from timepoint 2 (T2) was collected from November 10, 2020, to January 31, 2021. Overall, there were 10,162 participants. At T1, 7802 (69.9%) individuals gave consent to the research and filled the questionnaire, whereas 3062 (23.2%) individuals participated at T2. In addition, 702 (6.9%) individuals from both T1 and T2 identified by self-generated identification codes. Cases and deaths due to COVID-19 mostly increased in most parts of the country during the collection phase.

Measures

E-survey Development and Pretesting

The online survey was developed and collected through SurveyMonkey. Researchers and other collaborators tested the usability and technical functionality of the electronic questionnaire before sending it into the field. There were 61 questions displayed on 13 pages in a fixed order. No incentives were offered for survey participation. In this study, we used 4 variables from the "precautionary measures against COVID-19" question area as consequents and 11 from "sociodemographic variables" and 13 from the "work situation and economic perception" question areas as antecedents analyzed through association rule mining.

Sociodemographic Characteristics

The online survey contained questions investigating the participants' gender, age, education, civil/relationship status, ethnicity, household size, residence country region, maternal education, household monthly income, and work type/situation. Regarding work type, we investigated the categories of businessperson, full-time employee, liberal profession, public/civil service, retiree/pensioner (investigated only at T2), self-employed, and unemployed. For economic classification, we used the Brazilian Economic Classification Criteria (CCEB) [19], which is a Brazilian instrument with questions about possession of durable goods and educational level of household heads. A subject score on the CCEB varies from 0 to 46, and it is classified in 1 of 6 classes with a distinct average monthly income: A (BRL 25,554.33 [US \$5366.41], 2.5% of Brazilian population), B1 (BRL 11,279.14 [US \$2368.62], 4.4%), B2 (BRL 5641.64 [US \$1184.74], 16.5), C1 (BRL 3085.48 [US \$647.95], 21.5% of Brazilian population), C2 (BRL 1748.59 [US \$367.20], 26.8%), and DE (BRL 719.80 [US \$151.16], 28.3%). At the time of writing, the exchange rate was BRL 1=US \$0.21. In this study, we merged classes B1 and B2 into class B and classes C1 and C2 into class C.

Questions Related to the COVID-19 Outbreak

Sentences related to the COVID-19 outbreak were presented in a yes/no checkbox. Participants were asked to select all options that applied to their experience in the past 14 days. We based most of the questionnaire on the same questions presented in the first study on psychological impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic in China by Wang et al [12], adding questions we found appropriate for the Brazilian context at the time (ie, April 2020). The structured questionnaire consisted of 54 sentences that covered several areas. Here, we focused on questions related to precautionary measures against COVID-19, work situation, and economic perception. The questionnaire's sentences are presented in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Statistical Analysis: Theory/Calculation

Sociodemographic characteristics and responses on the COVID-19 questionnaire were described. Venn diagrams were used to visually describe the frequency of participants adopting at least 1 of the following preventive actions: (1) stay at least 1 m apart from people when out of the house; (2) sanitize hands with alcohol gel (70% ethyl alcohol) or wash hands for at least 20 seconds, whenever possible, when out of the house; and (3) only leave home when extremely necessary and wearing a face covering. We also depicted the frequency of participants who "kept going outdoors (leaving home) for work as usual." One diagram was made for each timepoint investigated.

Association Rule Mining

Research questions were answered by formulating our problem as a frequent pattern-mining task [20]. A pattern is a set of question-answer pairs, where the possible answers that compose the pair are specific to each question. A pattern is frequent when a number of subjects present a given pattern in their responses and the number is above a threshold. These frequent patterns can be used to generate association rules. An association rule follows an if-then format and is used to express how often 2 or more answers to questions of interest are associated with each other in the database. For example, we may find an association rule that says that *if* a subject is of the female gender, *then* it is frequently associated with COVID-19-protective behaviors, such as "only leaves home when extremely necessary and wearing a face covering" and "stays at least 1 m apart from people when out of the house."

XSL•FO

In short, association rules are generated from a set of answers to questions, also called items, that co-occur with a given frequency. Both the rule antecedent (the *if* part of the rule) and the rule consequent (the *then* part of the rule) may be formed by the answers to more than 1 question, but the set of answers that compose the rule has to occur together with the same frequency. The association between a set of answers to different questions is usually measured using 3 traditional metrics of interestingness: support, confidence, and lift.

Support shows how popular a set of question-answer pairs is, and is measured using the proportion of subjects who answered according to that set. For example, if we have responses from 100 subjects in the database and 70 (70%) of them only leave the house with a mask, the support of the answer "only leaves home when extremely necessary and wearing a face covering" is equal to 70/100 = 0.7. Confidence, in turn, measures how likely it is that a person gives a set of question-answers Y, given they gave a set of question-answers X, that is, the conditional probability of Y given X. Confidence is measured considering the frequency (support) of X and Y appearing together over the frequency (support) of X alone. One problem with confidence is that it may not capture the importance of the association, as it just accounts for the popularity of 1 question in the denominator.

The third popular metric, lift, solves this major drawback of confidence by quantifying to what extent the observed joint probability of X and Y deviates from the expected joint probability of them; in practice, it is the ratio between these 2 joint probabilities. A lift value of 1 means no correlation exists between X and Y, that is, the observed co-occurrence comes from the margins. A value greater than 1 means X and Y are positively correlated, and a value smaller than 1 means X and Y are negatively correlated. Replacing X and Y by the answers to questions from the pool, we were able to identify answers associated with both sociodemographic, COVID-19–related work situation, and economic perceptions, and adoption of human protection measures to prevent COVID-19 contamination and spread.

In this analysis, we used the Apriori algorithm [21] to determine the association rules. The support was a user-defined parameter. We used a minimum support of 5%, which establishes the minimum frequency of any question-answer pair to be considered relevant for the sake of an association rule, and a minimum confidence of 68%. For more details on frequent-pattern mining, please refer to Multimedia Appendix 1.

After the rules were generated a priori, we selected those that had in their consequent answers to questions related to measures individually taken to suppress COVID-19 transmission and contamination. We divided these rules into 2 groups: (1) those describing people who continued with their habits and lifestyle regardless of the pandemic and (2) those who were adopting at least 1 of the protection recommendations. The first group reported to continue going out normally regardless of the pandemic ("kept moving outdoors [leaving home] for work as usual"). The second group involved people who reported to take at least 1 of the following protective measures: (1) stay at least 1 m apart from people when out of the house; (2) sanitize hands with alcohol gel (70% ethyl alcohol) or wash hands for at least 20 seconds, whenever possible, when out of the house; or (3) only leave home when extremely necessary and wearing a face covering.

Results

Study Sample

The study sample was composed of individuals from the Brazilian adult population who have access to the internet and a computer. It was a population with predominance of women, Whites, married people, high education, from all Brazilian regions, and mostly middle class, living in a house with 3-5 people, at both timepoints. Tables 1-3 list the participants' sociodemographic characteristics, precautionary measures taken, and work situation and economic perceptions, respectively.

At T1, 131 (6%) individuals reported going out normally. At T2, 6 months later, 172 (31%) individuals reported going out normally. Despite the increase in people going out normally, most participants reported the use of protective measures against COVID-19.



Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics during the COVID-19 pandemic at 2 cross-sectional timepoints.

Characteristics	T1 ^a (May-June 2020; N=7802), n (%)	T2 ^{b,c} (November 2020-January 2021; N=3062), n (%)
Gender		// \/*/
Female	5366 (68.8)	2180 (71.2)
Male	1148 (14.7)	594 (19.4)
Missing	1288 (16.5)	288 (9.4)
Age (years)		
18-19	98 (1.3)	70 (2.3)
20-29	1188 (15.2)	604 (19.7)
30-39	1601 (20.5)	735 (24.0)
40-49	1464 (18.8)	579 (18.9)
50-59	1133 (14.5)	429 (14.0)
60-69	599 (7.7)	211 (6.9)
70-90	118 (1.5)	41 (1.3)
Missing	1601 (20.5)	393 (12.9)
Education		
No schooling	21 (0.3)	2 (0.1)
Doctorate degree (PhD)	429 (5.5)	156 (5.1)
Elementary school diploma/incomplete junior high school	232 (3.0)	78 (2.5)
Incomplete elementary school	91 (1.2)	18 (0.6)
High school diploma/incomplete higher education	1871 (24.0)	783 (25.6)
Master's degree	638 (8.2)	312 (10.2)
Higher education degree	3079 (39.5)	1427 (46.6)
Missing	1441 (18.3)	286 (9.3)
Ethnicity		
Asian/Oriental	108 (1.4)	37 (1.2)
White	3128 (40.1)	1403 (45.8)
Indigenous	20 (0.3)	4 (0.1)
Brown	1173 (15.0)	551 (18.0)
Black	244 (3.1)	133 (4.3)
Missing	3129 (40.1)	934 (30.6)
Marital status		
Married/cohabitation	3206 (41.1)	1226 (40.0)
Divorced	801 (10.3)	257 (8.4)
Single	2204 (28.2)	1237 (40.4)
Widowed	33 (0.4)	46 (1.5)
Missing	1558 (20.0)	296 (9.7)
Work type		
Full-time employee	1279 (16.4)	580 (19.0)
Self-employed	947 (12.1)	285 (9.3)
Unemployed	1431 (18.3)	577 (18.8)
Liberal professional	735 (9.4)	326 (10.6)
Public/civil servant	1871 (24.0)	663 (21.7)

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34020

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e34020 | p.35 (page number not for citation purposes)

Urbanin et al

Characteristics	T1 ^a (May-June 2020; N=7802), n (%)	T2 ^{b,c} (November 2020-January 2021; N=3062), n (%)
Retiree/pensioner	N/A ^d	202 (6.6)
Businessperson	N/A	75 (2.4)
Missing	1539 (19.8)	354 (11.6)
Economic class (BRL)		
A: BRL 25,554.33 (US \$5366.41) ^e average household income	889 (11.4)	970 (31.7)
B: BRL 11,279.14 (US \$2368.62) or BRL 5641.64 (US \$1184.74) average household income	2435 (31.2)	485 (15.8)
C: BRL 3085.48 (US \$647.95) or BRL 1748.59 (US \$367.20) average household income	1242 (15.9)	1165 (38.1)
DE: BRL 719.80 (US \$151.16) average household income	125 (1.6)	442 (14.4)
Missing	3111 (39.9)	N/A
Monthly household income (BRL)		
≤500 (US \$102.64)	105 (2.6)	11 (1.0)
501-1000 (US \$102.85-\$205.28)	235 (3.0)	51 (1.7)
1001-1500 (US \$205.49-\$307.92)	349 (4.5)	116 (3.8)
1501-2000 (US \$308.12-\$410.56)	368 (4.7)	117 (3.8)
2001-2500 (US \$410.76-\$513.20)	267 (3.4)	125 (4.1)
2501-3000 (US \$513.40-\$615.84)	382 (4.9)	166 (5.4)
3001-4000 (US \$616.04-\$821.12)	417 (5.3)	213 (7.0)
4001-5000 (US \$821.32-\$1026.40)	429 (5.5)	250 (8.2)
5001-10,000 (US \$1026.60-\$2052.80)	970 (12.4)	550 (18.0)
10,001-25,000 (US \$2053.00-\$5131.99)	765 (9.8)	385 (12.6)
≥25,001 (US \$5132.20)	269 (3.4)	105 (3.4)
Missing	3246 (40.5)	962 (31.0)
Household size		
1 person	470 (6.0)	249 (8.1)
2 people	1286 (16.5)	626 (20.4)
3-5 people	2557 (32.3)	1189 (38.8)
6 people or more	172 (2.2)	62 (2.0)
Missing	3317 (42.5)	936 (30.7)
Maternal education		
No schooling/incomplete elementary school	769 (9.9)	331 (10.8)
Elementary school diploma/incomplete junior high school	1085 (13.9)	431 (14.1)
Junior high school diploma/incomplete high school	541 (6.9)	248 (8.1)
High school diploma/incomplete higher education	1149 (14.7)	571 (18.6)
Higher education degree	1099 (14.1)	541 (17.7)
Missing	3159 (40.5)	940 (30.7)
Brazilian geographic region		
North	273 (3.5)	51 (1.7)
Northeast	961 (12.3)	230 (7.5)
Central-west	362 (4.6)	126 (4.1)
Southeast	3624 (46.4)	2058 (67.2)

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34020

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e34020 | p.36 (page number not for citation purposes)
Urbanin et al

Characteristics	T1 ^a (May-June 2020; N=7802), n (%)	T2 ^{b,c} (November 2020-January 2021; N=3062), n (%)
South	1076 (13.8)	313 (10.2)
Missing	1506 (19.4)	284 (9.3)

^aT1: timepoint 1.

^bT2: timepoint 2.

^cT1 and T2 were 6 months apart.

^dN/A: not applicable.

^eAn exchange rate of BRL 1=US \$0.21 was applied.

Table 2.	Precautionary mea	sures against COV	D-19 in the past	14 days at 2 cross	ss-sectional timepoints.
----------	-------------------	-------------------	------------------	--------------------	--------------------------

Characteristics	T1 ^a (May-June 2020; N=7802), n (%)	T2 ^{b,c} (November 2020-January 2021; N=3062), n (%)
Stays at least 1 m apart fro	m people when out of the house	
No	3277 (42)	1134 (37)
Yes	4525 (58)	1928 (63)
Sanitizes hands with alcoho	ol gel (70% ethyl alcohol) or washes hands for a	t least 20 seconds, whenever possible, when out of the house
No	2939 (38)	842 (27)
Yes	4863 (62)	2220 (73)
Only leaves home when ext	remely necessary and wearing a face covering	
No	2818 (36)	1279 (42)
Yes	4984 (64)	1783 (58)
Keeps moving outdoors (lea	aving home) for work as usual	
No	7679 (98)	2900 (95)
Yes	123 (1.6)	162 (5.3)

^aT1: timepoint 1.

^bT2: timepoint 2.

^cT1 and T2 were 6 months apart.



Table 3. COVID-19 pandemic work situation and economic perceptions at 2 cross-sectional timepoints.

Characteristics	T1 ^a (May-June 2020; N=7802)	T2 ^{b,c} (November 2020-January 2021; N=3062)
Feels more productive at work, n (%)		
No	7126 (91.3)	2709 (88.5)
Yes	676 (8.7)	353 (11.5)
Feels less productive at work, n (%)		
No	5616 (72.0)	1980 (64.7)
Yes	2186 (28.0)	1082 (35.3)
Already worked from home before COVID-19, n (%)		
No	7423 (95.1)	2871 (93.8)
Yes	379 (4.9)	191 (6.2)
Working or studying from home (home-office), n (%)		
No	5110 (65.9)	1781 (58.2)
Yes	2692 (34.5)	1281 (41.8)
Started using video calling apps/software often, n (%)		
No	5144 (65.9)	1606 (52.4)
Yes	2658 (34.1)	1456 (47.6)
Working under reduced hours or taking turns with cow	vorkers, n (%)	
No	6999 (89.7)	2819 (92.1)
Yes	803 (10.3)	243 (7.9)
Waiting social distancing rules' suspension to go back t	o working or studying, n (%)	
No	7213 (92.5)	2963 (96.8)
Yes	589 (7.5)	99 (3.2)
Need to leave home for work but is afraid of COVID-19), n (%)	
No	6,981 (89)	2,499 (82)
Yes	821 (11)	563 (18)
Afraid of not being able to deal with present or yet-to-c	ome financial difficulties, n (%)	
No	5,663 (73)	2,216 (72)
Yes	2,139 (27)	846 (28)
Believes that economic struggles related to social distant activity reopening/normalization), n (%)	cing measures will be overcome soon (recovering will take 1 or 2 years after economic
No	5791 (74.2)	2316 (75.6)
Yes	2011 (25.8)	746 (24.4)
Believes that economic struggles related to social distant economic activity reopening/normalization), n (%)	cing measures will last longer (recove	ering will take at least 2 years or more after
No	4347 (55.7)	1412 (46.1)

3455 (44.3)

6.63 (3.75)

^aT1: timepoint 1.

Yes

^bT2: timepoint 2.

XSL•FO RenderX

^cT1 and T2 were 6 months apart.

Association Rule Mining

After filtering the association rules by their consequents to obtain people who reported following at least 1 of 4 selected behaviors, we obtained a set of 1694 rules for the data collected

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34020

at T1 and 2490 rules for data collected at T2. Figure 1 shows Venn diagrams of the distribution of rule consequences and the number of people who were covered by the rules, considering different protective behaviors followed during the pandemic:

1650 (53.9)

7.08 (3.65)

going out normally, frequent handwashing and use of alcohol, keeping distance when out of the house, and use of facial masks. The number of people who reported to continue going out normally represents less than 5% of the population, and hence, they did not appear in any rules, as the minimum support was set to 5%. However, we added this behavior to the diagram for completeness. Circles in a Venn diagram can overlap partially, overlap completely, or even be separate, letting one easily see the relationship between different groups of people with different sets of protective measures. From the diagram, only 45(0.6%) and 56(1.8%) individuals at T1 and T2, respectively, reported going out normally without taking any protective measures (frequent handwashing and use of alcohol, keeping distance when out of the house, and use of facial masks). Moreover, 9 (0.1%) and 4 (0.1%) individuals at T1 and T2, respectively, reported going out normally but taking all protective measures. Most individuals, 3711 (47.6%) at T1 and 1401 (45.8%) at T2, reported adopting all protective measures.

Figures 2 and 3 show the set of association rules generated from the data gathered in the first and second round of surveys,

respectively, when considering people that took the 3 protective measures all together. The closed circle at the end of a sequence of answers indicates the end of a rule. From a total of 32,877 rules generated, considering all possible consequents, 11 (0.03%) included all the protective measures according to participants' answers in the first questionnaire (ie, the 3711, 47.6%, individuals in the intersection of the Venn diagram on the left in Figure 1) and 17 (0.03%) rules showed the same information for the 1401 (45.8%) participants of the second round in the shaded area representing all protective behaviors in the Venn diagram on the right in Figure 1. All rules in both figures had their confidence ranging from 0.681 to 0.736 and their lift in the (1.595,1.637) interval. These values indicated a high chance of 1 of the answers being associated with the next. Note that there were no patterns regarding the few people who were going out normally.

Reported fears included the economic struggle, fear of the disease, and fear of the potential to transmit it to their families.

Figure 1. A Brazilian profile (Venn diagrams) of adoption of human protection measures to prevent COVID-19 contamination and spread: frequency of people who (1) stay at least 1 m apart from people when out of the house; (2) sanitize hands with alcohol gel (70% ethyl alcohol) or wash hands for at least 20 seconds, whenever possible, when out of the house; (3) only leave home when extremely necessary and wearing a face covering; or (4) keep moving outdoors (leaving home) for work as usual. (A) COVID-19-preventive measures' profile at T1 (May-June 2020) (N=7802). (B) COVID-19-preventive profile at T2 (November 2020-January 2021) (N=3062). T1: timepoint 1; T2: timepoint 2.





Figure 2. Rules generated considering the answers of people who took care of themselves in the first round of questionnaires.



Figure 3. Rules generated considering the answers of people who took care of themselves in the second round of questionnaires.



XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

Principal Findings

To achieve the desired behavior for infection control (ie, extensive use of self-protective measures), increased use of videoconferencing and the possibility to work from home were present in all rules that explained better self-care behavior. The ability to change working conditions was combined with self-reports of being White, with a high educational profile and age around forties. A fear of economic struggle, in the short or the long term, composed many rules of preventive behavior. These findings might clarify hidden socioeconomic features associated with self-care measures. After 6 months, the rules were similar, and a feature related to work stability was evidenced: "being a public servant." Public servants in Brazil have tenure, and in many positions, they are allowed to perform their activities from home. These findings suggest that social distancing and self-care protection were implemented by those who were able to follow the stay-at-home policy, unveiling potential social disparities in health care.

The COVID-19 pandemic presented some particularities useful to help understanding the dissociation between the information given and the consequences of behavior. In Brazil, we observed a dissociation between the information given by health authorities and people's reactions in terms of individual and collective care [2]. It was not only a public health problem but also, on a large scale, an information crisis. In China, data from a 3-phase survey, collected during the first wave of COVID-19, showed low cooperation with prevention and control measures in the early stages, followed by a gradual increase as the pandemic progressed [22]. We aimed to understand the population's perception of the need for self-care and social distancing, considering the observed individual behavior and its consequences. We observed, in a large mental health online data set collected from May to June 2020, that a major part (75%) of the population reported being at home, believing in the potential severity of COVID-19, and trying to keep social distancing practices. Data was collected at 2 timepoints. In both, most of the assessed population did report using at least 2 self-care measures. Interestingly, the percentage of participants who followed the protective measures was almost the same in both periods, even with the significant increase in COVID-19 cases and deaths in Brazil. Most enrolled individuals reported not believing in information provided via the internet and conventional media (television and radio). However, they reported knowing how to protect themselves against COVID-19 and adopted self-care measures, showing that the information was reaching the target.

We did not focus only on short-term thinking about the current pandemic but also focused on social determinants of self-care behavior. Individuals with unfavorable economic, social, and environmental conditions have fewer buffers and suffer stronger consequences of cumulative stress [12]. In extreme situations, such as the pandemic, the presence of a social buffer can facilitate control and determine the individual risk for developing long-term mental health disorders. In a 2-month follow up of a Mexican population, financial and security

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34020
```

situations did not change but increased the risk for distress [23]. So, social determinants might not only be important for compliance with preventive measures and minimize new cases but also be important to avoid long-term consequences of the pandemic. Behavioral changes can be influenced, for example, by economic rewards, boosting cooperation among people, and should be considered in designing more efficient public health policies.

Financial incentives to modify behavior are cost-effective and might induce quick responses [24]. Thus, using financial incentives or other extrinsic motivations might be a strategy for governments and private organizations to improve compliance with health measures in similar conditions [25]. Infrequent behaviors, such as those required in a pandemic or in a disaster, are good targets for financial incentives, but the use of extrinsic reward is also associated with lower self-motivation, and sustained behavior seems less impacted by the incentive [11]. It might be a cost-effective strategy, especially in middle- and low-income countries, where the response depends on what people have, rather than what they can have [11]. Although extrinsic motivators might be a game changer, there is a need to better understand the strategies to sustain wished behaviors. The Brazilian government initiated many strategies during the pandemic to minimize economic burden on small and midsize businesses and vulnerable individuals [2]. The impact of these aids needs to be better known to understand the impact of financial incentives on changing behavior; however, it has been a difficult population to reach using online strategies. For a while, with this data, we only observed the importance of work's stability and related features to follow self-protective care. Further studies on evaluation of interventions with extrinsic motivators are still necessary.

Information, misinformation, fake news, and disinformation coexist in social media [26], which generates confusion, making it harder to attribute credibility to information and to educate the population on necessary health policies. In this regard, one should consider Brazil's inequality [27]. With a Gini Index of 0.849, Brazil is the fifth country in the inequality rank. Wilkinson and Pickett [28] showed that trust levels are lower in countries and states where income differences are greater. Likewise, Frank [29] gathered data from the International Social Survey Program (ISSP), with 48,651 subjects from 33 countries, and participants indicated their level of agreement with the statement "There are only a few people I can completely trust." It was found that income inequality is correlated with country differences in trust (r=-0.51). Societies with low levels of trust may lack the ability to create the kind of social support and connections that promote health and successful aging [29]. Brazil specifically has remarkably low levels of social and interpersonal trust (5%)—in fact, 1 of the lowest in the world [30]. Since trust plays a key role in the creation of knowledge [31] and sustaining well-being outcomes, it is questionable whether the potential lack of trust among Brazilians also influences their trust in information disseminated by health organizations and had a significant impact on the spread of COVID-19 in the country.

Despite miscommunication and a lack of interpersonal trust, people reported awareness of self-protective measures [31].

XSL•FO RenderX

Formal education affects a range of outcomes across life, such as adaptability to different standards, including switching to working from home, which was a common finding among those complying with protective measurements. It was a sample with a high educational profile, which certainly biased the responses and had an impact on the high adherence to self-care protection. In fact, people considered self-protected were those working from home and fearing the prospect of long-term impact and economic struggle.

In an unequal country, governmental financial aid to low-income families was essential to allow staying at home during the pandemic, as an act of solidarity emphasized by public health services as crucial for fighting COVID-19. Having people constantly present at work might potentially compromise contamination control. Thus, working from home seems to help mitigate the pandemic's impacts. Based on our data, governments should consider early and enough financial aid to promote adherence to health protective measures. In contrast, long and intermittent stay-at-home measures and a lack of mental health buffers might impair the well-being and health of children, adolescents, and adults. Working from home also had an impact on both mental and physical health [32]. Factors such as lack of communication with coworkers, distractions, children at home, and adjustment of working hours are factors that influence well-being related to home-office [32].

Considering the effect of working from home on mental health, it is possible that people decided to gradually return to the workplace regardless of known risks. Incentives to work from home must be coupled with the development of strategies to improve the well-being of those at home-office and their families. A long-term and multifactorial vision of the COVID-19 pandemic will be fundamental to evaluate and understand the ramifications of the social distancing strategies adopted worldwide.

Limitations

Some constraints must be addressed. Besides having a representative sampling of the Brazilian population, we had underrepresentation in the lowest economic classes, which was particular for the data collection strategy based on online access. In our sampling, there was a clear bias of access to the internet and to the online survey. However, as the economic and social features prevail, it is reasonable to infer that the effects might be stronger in more vulnerable populations.

Conclusion

Stable economic conditions and the possibility of working from home sound as an organizing social strategy to promote the use of self-care measures in a pandemic. The use of self-care protective measures is determined by social determinants that should be considered by policy makers.

Acknowledgments

This study was partially funded by the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) in Brazil. The views and opinions expressed in this paper are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official policy or position of any agency of PAHO or the Ministry of Health, Brazil. DSC was supported by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES; Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education). DMM, WM, and MARS were supported by the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPQ; the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development. Funders had no final role in the study design; in the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; or in the decision to submit the paper for publication. All researchers listed as authors are not aware of any other competing interests that could inappropriately influence (bias) their work. We thank the Associação Brasileira de Psiquiatria (ABP; Brazilian Psychiatry Association) for its recruitment efforts.

Data Availability

De-identified participant data and a data dictionary will be made available under reasonable request to Prof. Malloy-Diniz.

Authors' Contributions

GU, AML, and MARS were responsible for methodology, writing, analysis, and review; WM for methodology, writing, analysis, review, and supervision; AS and APdS for methodology, writing, analysis, review, and data curation; DdSC for conceptualization, data curation, review, and writing; LB, EAO, and AB for review; RG for writing and review; AGdS for funding acquisition, conceptualization, and review; LMD and DMM for methodology, writing, analysis, review, funding acquisition, conceptualization, and project administration; and GP for methodology, writing, analysis, review, investigation, visualization, and supervision.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

RenderX

Multimedia Appendix 1 Questionnaires without copyright protection. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 153 KB - publichealth_v8i6e34020_app1.xlsx]

References

- 1. Weiss M, Schwarzenberg A, Nelson R, Sutter K, Sutherland M. Global Economic Effects of COVID-19. URL: <u>https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R46270/27</u> [accessed 2022-06-08]
- Melo CMLD, Silva GAS, Melo ARS, Freitas ACD. COVID-19 pandemic outbreak: the Brazilian reality from the first case to the collapse of health services. An Acad Bras Cienc 2020;92(4):e20200709 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/0001-3765202020200709] [Medline: <u>32844985</u>]
- 3. Prem K, Liu Y, Russell TW, Kucharski AJ, Eggo RM, Davies N, et al. The effect of control strategies to reduce social mixing on outcomes of the COVID-19 epidemic in Wuhan, China: a modelling study. Lancet Public Health 2020 May;5(5):e261-e270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30073-6] [Medline: 32220655]
- 4. Schimit PHT. A model based on cellular automata to estimate the social isolation impact on COVID-19 spreading in Brazil. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2021 Mar;200:105832 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cmpb.2020.105832] [Medline: 33213971]
- 5. Pyszczynski T, Lockett M, Greenberg J, Solomon S. Terror management theory and the COVID-19 pandemic. J Humanis Psychol 2020 Sep 17;61(2):173-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0022167820959488]
- 6. Min C, Shen F, Yu W, Chu Y. The relationship between government trust and preventive behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic in China: exploring the roles of knowledge and negative emotion. Prev Med 2020 Dec;141:106288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106288] [Medline: 33091414]
- 7. Everett JAC, Colombatto C, Awad E, Boggio P, Bos B, Brady WJ, et al. Moral dilemmas and trust in leaders during a global health crisis. Nat Hum Behav 2021 Aug;5(8):1074-1088. [doi: 10.1038/s41562-021-01156-y] [Medline: 34211151]
- Hossain MK, Hassanzadeganroudsari M, Apostolopoulos V. The emergence of new strains of SARS-CoV-2. What does it mean for COVID-19 vaccines? Expert Rev Vaccines 2021 Jun 25;20(6):635-638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/14760584.2021.1915140] [Medline: <u>33896316</u>]
- 9. Soper GA. The lessons of the pandemic. Science 1919 May 30;49(1274):501-506. [doi: <u>10.1126/science.49.1274.501</u>] [Medline: <u>17793800</u>]
- 10. Mokdad AH, Marks JS, Stroup DF, Gerberding JL. Correction: actual causes of death in the United States, 2000. JAMA 2005 Jan 19;293(3):293-294. [doi: 10.1001/jama.293.3.293] [Medline: 15657315]
- Vlaev I, King D, Darzi A, Dolan P. Changing health behaviors using financial incentives: a review from behavioral economics. BMC Public Health 2019 Aug 07;19(1):1059 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7407-8] [Medline: 31391010]
- Allen J, Balfour R, Bell R, Marmot M. Social determinants of mental health. Int Rev Psychiatry 2014 Aug 19;26(4):392-407. [doi: <u>10.3109/09540261.2014.928270</u>] [Medline: <u>25137105</u>]
- 13. Yearwood E, Hines-Martin V. Routledge Handbook of Global Mental Health Nursing: Evidence, Practice and Empowerment. Abingdon, Oxon; New York, NY: Routledge; 2016.
- Prati G. Mental health and its psychosocial predictors during national quarantine in Italy against the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Anxiety Stress Coping 2021 Mar;34(2):145-156. [doi: <u>10.1080/10615806.2020.1861253</u>] [Medline: <u>33350343</u>]
- 15. Bostan S, Akbolat M, Kaya A, Ozata M, Gunes D. Assessments of anxiety levels and working conditions of health employees working in COVID-19 pandemic hospitals. Electron J Gen Med 2020;17(5):em246. [doi: <u>10.29333/ejgm/8228</u>]
- Trougakos JP, Chawla N, McCarthy JM. Supplemental material for Working in a pandemic: exploring the impact of COVID-19 health anxiety on work, family, and health outcomes. J Appl Psychol 2020 Nov 24;105(11):1234-1245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/apl0000739] [Medline: 32969707]
- Bavel JJV, Baicker K, Boggio PS, Capraro V, Cichocka A, Cikara M, et al. Using social and behavioural science to support COVID-19 pandemic response. Nat Hum Behav 2020 May 30;4(5):460-471. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41562-020-0884-z</u>] [Medline: <u>32355299</u>]
- Kim H, Lee M, Kim H, Sung Y, Lee J, Shim S, et al. Self-care recommendations for patients with rheumatic diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic. Rheumatol Int 2020 Aug;40(8):1347-1349 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00296-020-04614-4] [Medline: 32488428]
- 19. Associação Brasileira de Empresas de Pesquisa. URL: <u>https://abep.org/</u> [accessed 2022-06-08]
- 20. Zaki MJ, Meira W. Data Mining and Machine Learning: Fundamental Concepts and Algorithms. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; 2020.
- 21. Agrawal R, Srikant R. Fast algorithms for mining association rules. 1994 Presented at: Proceedings of the 20th VLDB Conference; 1994; Santiago, Chile.
- Yang H, Xian X, Hu J, Millis JM, Zhao H, Lu X, et al. Public psychosocial and behavioral responses in the first wave of COVID-19 pandemic: a large survey in China. Front Psychiatry 2021;12:676914 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.676914] [Medline: 34393844]
- 23. Toledo-Fernández A, Betancourt-Ocampo D, González-González A. Distress, depression, anxiety, and concerns and behaviors related to COVID-19 during the first two months of the pandemic: a longitudinal study in adult Mexicans. Behav Sci (Basel) 2021 May 13;11(5):76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/bs11050076] [Medline: 34068274]

- Haff N, Patel MS, Lim R, Zhu J, Troxel AB, Asch DA, et al. The role of behavioral economic incentive design and demographic characteristics in financial incentive-based approaches to changing health behaviors: a meta-analysis. Am J Health Promot 2015;29(5):314-323. [doi: 10.4278/ajhp.140714-LIT-333] [Medline: 25928816]
- Giles EL, Robalino S, Sniehotta FF, Adams J, McColl E. Acceptability of financial incentives for encouraging uptake of healthy behaviours: a critical review using systematic methods. Prev Med 2015 Apr;73:145-158. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.12.029] [Medline: 25600881]
- 26. Ahmed W, Vidal-Alaball J, Downing J, López Seguí F. COVID-19 and the 5G conspiracy theory: social network analysis of Twitter data. J Med Internet Res 2020 May 06;22(5):e19458 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19458] [Medline: 32352383]
- 27. Brazil Population 2022 (Live). URL: https://worldpopulationreview.com/countries/brazil-population [accessed 2022-06-08]
- Archibald SN. The Spirit Level: Why Greater Equality Makes Societies Stronger by Richard Wilkinson and Kate Pickett. 2009. Bloomsbury Press: New York, Berlin, London. 331 pages. Sociol Inq 2013 Oct 18;83(4):648-650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/soin.12020]
- 29. Elgar FJ. Income inequality, trust, and population health in 33 countries. Am J Public Health 2010 Nov;100(11):2311-2315. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2009.189134</u>] [Medline: <u>20864707</u>]
- 30. Mattes R, Moreno A. Social and political trust in developing countries: sub-Saharan Africa and Latin America. In: Oxford Handbook of Social and Political Trust. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2018:357-382.
- 31. Perini-Santos E. What is post-truth? A tentative answer with Brazil as a case study. In: Bianchi B, Wolf FO, editors. Democracy and Brazil Collapse and Regression. London, UK: Routledge; 2020:226-249.
- Xiao Y, Becerik-Gerber B, Lucas G, Roll SC. Impacts of working from home during COVID-19 pandemic on physical and mental well-being of office workstation users. J Occup Environ Med 2021 Mar 01;63(3):181-190 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/JOM.00000000002097] [Medline: 33234875]

Abbreviations

ICU: intensive care unit T1: timepoint 1 T2: timepoint 2

Edited by T Sanchez, A Mavragani; submitted 04.10.21; peer-reviewed by L Guo, A Benis; comments to author 22.02.22; revised version received 14.03.22; accepted 26.04.22; published 15.06.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Urbanin G, Meira W, Serpa A, Costa DDS, Baldaçara L, da Silva AP, Guatimosim R, Lacerda AM, Oliveira EA, Braule A, Romano-Silva MA, da Silva AG, Malloy-Diniz L, Pappa G, Miranda DM Social Determinants in Self-Protective Behavior Related to COVID-19: Association Rule–Mining Study JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e34020 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34020 doi:10.2196/34020 PMID:35704360

©Gabriel Urbanin, Wagner Meira, Alexandre Serpa, Danielle de Souza Costa, Leonardo Baldaçara, Ana Paula da Silva, Rafaela Guatimosim, Anísio Mendes Lacerda, Eduardo Araújo Oliveira, Andre Braule, Marco Aurélio Romano-Silva, Antônio Geraldo da Silva, Leandro Malloy-Diniz, Gisele Pappa, Débora Marques Miranda. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 15.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Moderating Effect of Educational Background on the Efficacy of a Computer-Based Brief Intervention Addressing the Full Spectrum of Alcohol Use: Randomized Controlled Trial

Andreas Staudt^{1,2}, PhD; Jennis Freyer-Adam^{3,4}, Prof Dr; Christian Meyer^{4,5}, Prof Dr; Gallus Bischof⁶, PhD; Ulrich John^{4,5}, Prof Dr; Sophie Baumann^{1,2}, Prof Dr

¹Institute and Policlinic of Occupational and Social Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany

²Department of Methods in Community Medicine, Institute of Community Medicine, University Medicine Greifswald, Greifswald, Germany

³Institute for Medical Psychology, University Medicine Greifswald, Greifswald, Germany

⁴German Centre for Cardiovascular Research, Partner Site Greifswald, Greifswald, Germany

⁵Department of Prevention Research and Social Medicine, Institute of Community Medicine, University Medicine Greifswald, Greifswald, Germany ⁶Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University of Lübeck, Lübeck, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Andreas Staudt, PhD Institute and Policlinic of Occupational and Social Medicine Faculty of Medicine Technische Universität Dresden Fetscherstr 74 Dresden, 01307 Germany Phone: 49 351 3177 452 Email: andreas.staudt@tu-dresden.de

Abstract

Background: The alcohol-attributable burden of disease is high among socially disadvantaged individuals. Interventional efforts intending to have a public health impact should also address the reduction of social inequalities due to alcohol.

Objective: The aim was to test the moderating role of educational background on the efficacy of a computer-based brief intervention addressing the full spectrum of alcohol use.

Methods: We recruited 1646 adults from the general population aged 18 to 64 years (920 women, 55.9%; mean age 31 years; 574 with less than 12 years of school education, 34.9%) who reported alcohol use in the past year. The participants were randomly assigned a brief alcohol intervention or to assessment only (participation rate, 66.9%, 1646/2463 eligible persons). Recruitment took place in a municipal registry office in one German city. All participants filled out a self-administered, tablet-based survey during the recruitment process and were assessed 3, 6, and 12 months later by study assistants via computer-assisted telephone interviews. The intervention consisted of 3 computer-generated and individualized feedback letters that were sent via mail at baseline, month 3, and month 6. The intervention was based on the transtheoretical model of behavior change and expert system software that generated the feedback letters automatically according to previously defined decision rules. The outcome was self-reported change in number of alcoholic drinks per week over 12 months. The moderator was school education according to highest general educational degree (less than 12 years of education vs 12 years or more). Covariates were sex, age, employment, smoking, and alcohol-related risk level.

Results: Latent growth modeling revealed that the intervention effect after 12 months was moderated by educational background (incidence rate ratio 1.38, 95% CI 1.08-1.76). Individuals with less than 12 years of school education increased their weekly alcohol use to a lesser extent when they received the intervention compared to assessment only (incidence rate ratio 1.30, 95% CI 1.05-1.62; Bayes factor 3.82). No difference was found between groups (incidence rate ratio 0.95, 95% CI 0.84-1.07; Bayes factor 0.30) among those with 12 or more years of school education.

Conclusions: The efficacy of an individualized brief alcohol intervention was moderated by the participants' educational background. Alcohol users with less than 12 years of school education benefited, whereas those with 12 or more years did not. People with lower levels of education might be more receptive to the behavior change mechanisms used by brief alcohol

interventions. The intervention approach may support the reduction of health inequalities in the population at large if individuals with low or medium education can be reached.

Trial Registration: German Clinical Trials Register DRKS00014274; https://www.drks.de/DRKS00014274

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33345) doi:10.2196/33345

KEYWORDS

drinking; brief intervention; screening; school education; public health; prevention

Introduction

Globally, alcohol use is one of the most important risk factors for impaired health [1]. The alcohol-attributable burden of disease has been found to be higher among those with low school education [2,3] or low socioeconomic status [4,5]. Furthermore, for a given amount of alcohol consumed, lower-educated groups have been found to experience disproportionately higher levels of alcohol-related harm, including alcohol-attributable mortality [6,7]. Although the underlying mechanisms of this relationship, commonly referred to as the alcohol harm paradox [8], are not yet fully understood [7,9], reducing social inequalities in alcohol-related harm can be regarded as a major public health concern [10].

Any interventional effort that intends to have a public health impact should address the reduction of social inequalities due to alcohol [11]. In the public health literature, the equity impact has proven to be a useful tool for operationalizing social gradients in intervention effects [12]. The equity impact of interventions can be positive if lower-educated groups are relatively more responsive to the intervention, neutral if the impact is the same for higher- and lower-educated groups, or negative if higher-educated groups are relatively more responsive to the intervention [12]. There is currently no convincing evidence on which types of population-based alcohol interventions, can reduce inequalities by educational background [13].

Brief alcohol interventions (BAIs) may be a tool to reduce alcohol consumption in populations with low levels of education. The umbrella term "BAI" includes interventions that aim at reducing alcohol-related harm by targeting people's motivation to change their alcohol use [14]. BAIs have been proven efficacious in reducing alcohol use in primary care populations [15] and have the potential to produce effects in the population at large when disseminated as part of systematic screening [16,17]. Moreover, modern technologies enable the provision of computer-based BAIs to large numbers of recipients at low cost [18]. Although it is known that people with low education are less likely to take up an offered health behavior intervention [19,20], research on the moderating role of education in behavior change intervention effects is scarce [21]. Thus, the equity impact of BAIs warrants further study.

Promising but model-dependent findings from an individual patient data meta-analysis revealed that heavy drinkers with low education who received internet-based interventions had stronger reductions in alcohol consumption compared to more highly educated heavy drinkers [22]. Educational attainment has been found to moderate the strength of the relationship between health cognitions and health behavior [23]. Since health cognitions are a central target of the behavior change techniques in BAIs [24], the way people respond to BAIs might depend on their educational background.

Therefore, the aim of the present study was to shed light on the moderating role of educational background on the efficacy of a computer-based brief intervention addressing the full spectrum of alcohol use. The target group included all alcohol users, irrespective of their alcohol use severity. The rationale of the intervention was based on findings that alcohol consumption has linear dose-response relationships with cancer [25,26] and cardiovascular disease [27]. Thus, motivating a large group of people to maintain or reduce their alcohol use at low levels may produce beneficial public health effects. The intervention was evaluated in a randomized controlled trial using a general population sample [28]. An assessment-only control group was chosen as comparator because repeated assessments, which were necessary for the intervention, may already reduce alcohol consumption [29,30]. To be able to attribute potential effects to the intervention itself, research participation effects [31] had to be controlled for. Although there was no clear evidence for 12-month efficacy [32], intervention effects may vary by educational background.

Methods

Ethics Approval

The study was approved by the ethics committee of the University Medicine Greifswald, Germany (protocol number BB 147/15).

Trial Description

This paper reports outcome data from the 2-armed, parallel-group randomized controlled trial "testing a proactive expert system intervention to prevent and to quit at-risk alcohol use" (PRINT). The study was prospectively registered at the German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS00014274; date of registration March 12, 2018). The corresponding study protocol [28], data on reach and retention [33], and primary outcome analyses [32] can be found elsewhere.

Participants and Procedure

Between April and June 2018, trial participants were proactively recruited in the waiting area of the municipal registry office in Greifswald, Mecklenburg-West Pomerania, Germany. The registry office is the public authority in charge of registration, passports, and vehicle administration issues. During opening hours, study assistants approached all persons appearing in the waiting area. Those between the ages of 18 and 64 were invited

to take part in a tablet-based, self-administered survey on health behaviors. Persons who were already approached during an earlier visit, were cognitively or physically incapable, had insufficient language or reading skills, or were employed at the conducting research institute were excluded.

The survey served as eligibility screening. Individuals who reported alcohol use in the past 12 months were invited to participate in the PRINT trial. Persons without a permanent address or telephone number were excluded. The study assistants informed the eligible individuals about the purpose, procedure, and data handling of the PRINT trial. All participants who gave their written informed consent were randomized to the intervention or assessment-only groups by the tablet computers, using simple randomization (with a 1:1 group allocation ratio) based on a random-number table and the individuals as units of randomization. The allocation sequence was concealed to the study assistants who carried out the recruitment.

The study assistants conducted computer-assisted telephone interviews after 3, 6, and 12 months. After 10 unsuccessful contact attempts, the participants received a questionnaire by email or postal mail, followed by up to 2 written reminders. Participants randomly assigned to the intervention group received computer-generated, individualized feedback letters by postal mail at baseline, month 3, and month 6. All participants received 2 vouchers worth € (US \$5.34) each as compensation for their participation. One voucher was given out immediately after recruitment in the registry office and the other was sent via postal mail prior to the 12-month follow-up assessment. Participants remained blinded to their individual group assignment until they received the BAI or did not. The study assistants responsible for recruitment, telephone interviews, and management of participant data were blinded to the participants' group allocation.

Intervention and Control Groups

The intervention consisted of up to 3 individualized feedback letters (at baseline, month 3, and month 6) based on the transtheoretical model of behavior change [34]. The intervention is described in more detail elsewhere [32]. The letters were generated automatically by expert system software [35], printed, and sent via postal mail. Feedback elements were chosen according to previously defined decision rules based on a participant's demographic and alcohol-related characteristics. The intervention was designed to address the full spectrum of alcohol use, from low-risk drinkers to participants with probable alcohol use disorder (AUD).

The feedback letters were tailored to the participants' current alcohol use risk level according to their scores on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) [36] and its consumption questions, AUDIT-Consumption (AUDIT-C) [37]. All feedback letters included information on recommendations for low-risk alcohol use, with the addendum that "low risk" does not equal "no risk," as well as written and graphical feedback on the amount of alcohol consumed in comparison to the individual norm group (ie, personalized normative feedback). Participants classified as at-risk drinkers received normative feedback on their motivational stage of change (precontemplation, contemplation, preparation, or action),

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33345
```

decisional balance (perceived advantages and disadvantages of reducing alcohol use), self-efficacy, and processes of change [34]. Participants with AUD according to screening (AUDIT score ≥ 20) received slightly modified feedback that focused on the motivation to utilize professional treatment. Information on local alcohol treatment services was provided. Instead of the feedback given to the at-risk drinkers on the potential risk associated with their individual level of drinking, participants with probable AUD received feedback on symptoms they had already experienced according to the AUDIT. Feedback letters at months 3 and 6 included ipsative feedback delineating the individual development since baseline regarding actual behavior change and changes in motivational measures. The expert system used data gathered in the assessments to generate the feedback letters. Therefore, participating in the respective assessment was required to receive the intervention at that point in time.

The control group received assessment only; in other words, they answered the same tablet-based, self-administered baseline survey (Multimedia Appendix 1 and Multimedia Appendix 2) and computer-assisted telephone interviews at months 3, 6, and 12 as the intervention group.

Measures

Outcome

Change in the number of drinks per week from baseline to month 12 was the primary outcome. This measure was based on self-reported frequency (answering the question "How often did you have a drink containing alcohol in the past 30 days?") and quantity of alcohol use (answering the question "How many drinks did you have on a typical day when you were drinking?"). The definition of a standard alcoholic drink (0.25 L to 0.3 L beer, 0.1 L to 0.15 L wine or sparkling wine, or 4 cL spirits) was displayed on the tablet screen or read aloud by a study assistant during the interviews. To estimate the average number of drinks per week, frequency was multiplied by typical quantity, divided by 4.25 (ie, the average number of weeks in a month) and rounded down to the nearest integer.

Moderator

Participants were asked to indicate their highest general educational degree at baseline. The response options were presented as an exhaustive list of possible school-leaving qualifications in Germany and equivalent foreign degrees, if applicable. The information provided was condensed into a categorical measure of educational background (low: 9 or less years of school education, medium: 10 to 11 years of school education, high: 12 or more years of school education). Due to the unequal distribution of educational background within the sample, the 2 former groups were combined to conduct the moderation analysis with sufficient statistical power. Thus, a binary indicator of educational background (less than 12 years vs 12 or more years of school education) was used. An additional moderation analysis with the 3-category indicator of educational background is reported as a sensitivity analysis in Multimedia Appendix 3.

Covariates

Covariates were sex, age, employment status, smoking, and alcohol-related risk level. Participants were asked if they were female or male. Employment status encompassed full-time employment, part-time employment, being a student, unemployment, and other (being retired, a homemaker, or similar). Participants were asked to characterize their own smoking behavior (never, former, occasional, or daily smoking) and occasional and daily smokers were followed up with questions about typical frequency ("How many days per month do you smoke?") and quantity ("How many cigarettes or comparable tobacco products do you currently smoke on a day when you smoke?") of smoking. The average number of cigarettes consumed per day was derived as an indicator of smoking. Nonsmokers received a value of zero on that measure. Alcohol-related risk level (low-risk and at-risk) was measured via the AUDIT-C sum score, with sex-specific cut-off values $(\geq 4 \text{ for women and } \geq 5 \text{ for men})$ indicating at-risk alcohol use [38].

Sample Size Calculation

We hypothesized that there would be a 15% difference between the intervention group (8.5 drinks per week) and control group (10 drinks per week) at the 12-month follow-up. Calculations revealed that if the primary outcome followed a negative binomial distribution with a dispersion parameter of 1.0, 80% power, and 5% significance level, 659 participants per group would be required. With an expected dropout rate of 20%, a total sample size of N=1648 was planned.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using latent growth curve modeling (LGM) in Mplus version 7. LGM is designed to analyze interindividual differences in intraindividual change over time. LGM is flexible in handling missing and nonnormally distributed data, as well as complex nonlinear growth trajectories [39]. Growth models were calculated with a full-information maximum likelihood estimator with robust standard errors using all available data (ie, including all baseline participants) assuming that data were missing at random. Thus, all analyses followed an intention-to-treat principle. Due to the positive skewness of the outcome, negative binomial models were calculated. Latent growth factors represented the change in number of alcoholic drinks per week. Rescaled likelihood ratio tests indicated that the model benefited from including higher-order functions (quadratic and cubic), allowing for nonlinear growth over time. Growth factor variances were estimated freely (except for the cubic growth factor). All models were adjusted by time-invariant covariates (sex, age, employment status, and smoking at baseline) and time-variant covariates (alcohol-related risk level at baseline and months 3, 6, and 12).

Study group, educational background, and their interaction were regressed on the growth factors to test if participants with less than 12 years versus 12 or more years of school education showed differential intervention effects. Differences between the intervention and control groups, as well as the interaction effect with educational background, were given as incidence rate ratios (IRRs) with the 95% CI. Additionally, the Bayes factor (BF) was calculated to estimate the sensitivity of the evidence for intervention effects after 12 months among the 2 subgroups [40]. Using the online Dienes calculator [41], the population value was assumed to follow a half-normal distribution for an expected intervention effect of 15%. BF values lower than 0.33 indicated evidence for lack of an effect, values above 3 evidence for the presence of an effect, and values in between indicated data insensitivity [42].

Results

Sample Characteristics

In total, 6645 registry office clients appeared in the waiting area during our recruitment period (Figure 1). Of 3969 clients meeting the inclusion criteria, 2947 (74.3%) completed the PRINT eligibility screening for alcohol use in the previous 12 months. Of 2462 eligible clients, 1646 (66.9%) consented to participate in the trial. Of those 1646 participants, 1406 (85.4%) and 1335 (81.1%) participated in the assessments after 3 and 6 months, respectively. For the 12-month follow-up assessment, 1314 of 1646 (79.8%) participants were reached. The sample (920 women of 1646 participants, 55.9%) had a mean age of 31.0 (SD 10.8) years. Regarding educational background, 574 of 1646 participants (34.9%) had less than 12 years of school education (Table 1).



Figure 1. Flow of participants through the trial.





Table 1. Baseline study sample characteristics.

Characteristics	Total sample, N=1646	Less than 12 years of school education, n=574	Twelve or more years of school education, n=1072
Women, n (%)	920 (55.9)	300 (52.3)	620 (57.8)
Age, mean (SD) years	31.0 (10.8)	35.0 (12)	28.9 (9.5)
School education, n (%)			
≤9 years	101 (6.1)	101 (17.6)	N/A ^a
10 to 11 years	473 (28.7)	473 (82.4)	N/A
≥12 years	1072 (65.1)	N/A	1072 (100)
Employment status, n (%)			
Employed full-time	689 (41.9)	333 (58)	356 (33.2)
Employed part-time	358 (21.7)	97 (16.9)	261 (24.4)
Student	444 (27)	34 (5.9)	410 (38.2)
Unemployed	53 (3.2)	41 (7.1)	12 (1.1)
Other	102 (6.2)	69 (12)	33 (3.1)
Cigarettes per day, mean (SD)	3.0 (6.2)	6.0 (8.2)	1.4 (4)
Alcohol risk level, n (%)			
Low-risk alcohol use	1085 (65.9)	423 (73.7)	662 (61.8)
At-risk alcohol use	561 (34.1)	151 (26.3)	410 (38.2)
Drinks per week, mean (SD)	2.2 (3.9)	1.8 (4.1)	2.4 (3.9)
Study group, n (%)			
Intervention group	815 (49.5)	300 (52.3)	515 (48)
Control group	831 (50.5)	274 (47.7)	557 (52)

^aN/A: not applicable.

Moderation Analysis

Participants with 12 or more years of school education who received the BAI increased their weekly alcohol use from 2.3 (SD 3.6) alcoholic standard drinks at baseline to 2.7 (SD 4.5) drinks at month 12 (Figure 2). BAI group participants with less than 12 years of school education reported 1.8 (SD 3.7) drinks at baseline and 1.9 (SD 3.6) drinks at month 12. Control group participants with 12 or more years of school education increased their weekly alcohol use from 2.4 (SD 4.1) drinks at baseline to 2.8 (SD 5.6) drinks at month 12. An increase was also observed in control group participants with less than 12 years of school education, who reported an average of 1.8 (SD 4.5) drinks at baseline and 2.3 (SD 4.1) drinks at month 12.

There was an intervention effect after 12 months in participants with less than 12 years of school education (IRR 1.30, 95% CI 1.05-1.62; BF [0, 0.14] 3.82), but not among participants with

12 or more years of school education (IRR 0.95, 95% CI 0.84-1.07; BF [0, 0.14] 0.30). Figure 3 illustrates the intervention effects as IRRs over time, with the shaded areas indicating 95% CI. Participants with less than 12 years of school education were significantly more likely to benefit from the intervention after 12 months compared to participants with 12 or more years of school education (IRR 1.38, 95% CI 1.08-1.76; P=.03) (Table 2). There was no significant interaction effect during the active intervention phase, either at month 3 (IRR 1.24, 95% CI 0.96-1.61; P=.44) or at month 6 (IRR 1.11, 95% CI 0.88-1.40; P=.17).

The results of an additional moderation analysis with a 3-category indicator of educational background (low: 9 or less years of school education, medium: 10 to 11 years of school education, high: 12 or more years of school education) can be found in Multimedia Appendix 3.



Figure 2. Observed change in number of drinks per week from baseline to month 12 in participants with less than 12 years and 12 or more years of school education; A: less than 12 years of school education; B: 12 or more years of school education; M: mean; BAI: brief alcohol intervention.



Figure 3. Intervention effect (compared to assessment only) for participants with less than 12 years and 12 or more years of school education. BAI: brief alcohol intervention; IRR: incidence rate ratio.





Table 2. Intervention effects over 12 months were moderated by educational background^a.

Time points	Difference between intervention and control group, incidence rate ratio (95% CI)		
	Less than 12 years of school education Twelve or more years of school education Interaction effect		
Active intervention phase	·		
Month 3	1.08 (0.88-1.32)	0.97 (0.86-1.09)	1.11 (0.88-1.40)
Month 6	1.34 (1.07-1.68)	1.08 (0.95-1.22)	1.24 (0.96-1.61)
Follow-up (month 12)	1.30 (1.05-1.62)	0.95 (0.84-1.07)	1.38 (1.08-1.76)
Month 3 Month 6 Follow-up (month 12)	1.08 (0.88-1.32) 1.34 (1.07-1.68) 1.30 (1.05-1.62)	0.97 (0.86-1.09) 1.08 (0.95-1.22) 0.95 (0.84-1.07)	1.11 (0.88-1.40) 1.24 (0.96-1.61) 1.38 (1.08-1.76)

^aLatent growth model (N=1646) with higher-order growth factors for negative binomial distributed outcome data. The outcome was net change in number of alcoholic drinks per week. The model was adjusted for sex, age, employment status, smoking, and alcohol-related risk level. Incidence rate ratios with 95% CI are displayed.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The efficacy of a computer-based BAI addressing the full spectrum of alcohol use was moderated by educational background. After 12 months, alcohol users from the general population with lower school education benefited from the intervention, whereas those with higher school education did not. These findings allow the presumption that BAIs might be able to support the reduction of social inequalities due to alcohol. The present study showed that an individualized BAI based on expert system software was effective among study participants with lower school education.

Comparison With Prior Work

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the efficacy of a BAI in general population subgroups with different educational backgrounds. Previous studies focused mainly on other treatment moderators, such as sex, age, and consumption-related variables [43-46], but neglected school education as a potential moderator. Comparable evidence comes from a recent meta-analysis whose findings supported the notion that internet-based interventions may be particularly beneficial for heavy drinkers with a low educational background [22]. In contrast, a technology-based intervention targeting heavy drinking was found to be more effective for highly educated adolescents in Switzerland, compared to less-educated adolescents [47]. Notwithstanding these findings, the interaction of school education and BAI efficacy is not yet well understood [21]. This study contributes to the sparse literature by showing that a BAI based on expert system software is effective among alcohol users with low and medium education.

People with a lower educational background might be more receptive to the behavior change mechanisms included in BAIs. Underestimating one's alcohol use relative to others (ie, normative misperception) has been found to be more pronounced among less-educated alcohol users [48]. If normative misperceptions precede and encourage alcohol use [49], correcting this fallacy by means of personalized normative feedback might reduce alcohol use over time [50], in particular among individuals who are more prone to believe that others drink more frequently and consume more alcohol than themselves. Personalized normative feedback was a central component of the intervention tested in this study [32]. Individuals with different educational backgrounds might have

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33345
```

responded differently to this personalized normative feedback, possibly explaining the interaction between educational background and intervention efficacy. Feedback that compares alcohol use between an an individual and their peer group might have a stronger motivating effect to reduce drinking in people with less than 12 years of school education than in those with 12 or more years of school education. Moreover, less-educated individuals might have to justify their alcohol use more often and be denied autonomy over their alcohol use more often. The BAI was designed to incorporate the spirit of motivational interviewing [51] by being centered on the participants' own point of view and valuing their motives and attitudes regarding their alcohol use. Feedback was provided in an appreciative manner, such as by pointing out the subjective advantages and disadvantages of the participants' alcohol use. This experience of appreciation might have been more motivating for less-educated compared to higher-educated individuals.

The findings speak in favor of the view that population-based BAIs might have a positive equity impact. Addressing the alcohol harm paradox is a major public health issue [10]. BAIs might be a piece of the puzzle on the path to reducing social inequality due to alcohol if (a) they are disseminated with a systematic screening approach and (b) they reach a substantial part of the population with low school education. However, it is known that lower-educated individuals are less likely to take up an offered intervention [19,20], as was the case in the PRINT trial [33]. The percentage of participants who received the complete intervention, consisting of all 3 feedback letters, was higher among those with high (413/515, 80%) education than those with low or medium education (202/300, 67%). The latter were also more difficult to reach for the telephone interviews that were needed to deliver the intervention. Therefore, strategies need to be focused on how people with a lower educational background can be reached and retained for alcohol prevention. Settings may be chosen where less-educated individuals can be reached, such as job centers [52] or primary health care clinics [53], and are best combined with a proactive approach [54].

The intervention effect after 12 months was small in magnitude, possibly because the study was not restricted to at-risk alcohol users but targeted the full spectrum of alcohol use. Thus, the initial drinking level was lower than in previous BAI trials [15], resulting in a smaller margin for reduction in alcohol consumption. It must be acknowledged that it remains unclear if BAIs will diminish social inequalities in alcohol-attributable harm by addressing alcohol use per se. Consumption-related

factors may not be sufficient to explain the alcohol harm paradox [55]. Rather, a more holistic view is needed, taking into account interactions with other health behaviors [8] and social risk factors such as deprivation [56].

Limitations

This study has several strengths and limitations. The findings add to the sparse evidence on educational background as a moderator of BAI efficacy. High participation and retention rates in a general population sample ensured external validity. The intervention approach was novel, as it addressed the full spectrum of alcohol use, not only in at-risk drinkers. The limitations were 4-fold. First, selection bias was likely, since baseline factors such as alcohol-related risk level are associated with trial participation [33]. Second, all data were completely self-reported. Third, the main outcome was measured with a quantity-frequency approach that might have underestimated the true amount of alcohol consumed [57]. Fourth, this was a secondary data analysis. The PRINT trial was not designed or powered to scrutinize how the intervention worked in subgroups with different educational backgrounds. As lower-educated people were underrepresented in our sample, comparing more than 2 subgroups resulted in a loss of statistical power, wider confidence intervals, and data insensitivity for differential efficacy (additional moderation analysis is shown in Multimedia Appendix 3).

Conclusions

The present study provided insight into the role of educational background in BAI efficacy in the general population. Future research might investigate the circumstances under which the expected positive equity impact of BAIs can be maximized. The intervention approach might be able to reduce health inequalities due to alcohol in the population at large if people with low or medium education can be reached.

Acknowledgments

AS drafted the manuscript. AS and SB managed data collection, developed the research question, and performed the data analysis. SB designed the study and acquired funding. AS, JFA, CM, UJ, GB, and SB were involved in the interpretation of data and in critically revising the work for important intellectual content. All authors read and approved the final manuscript. The study was funded by the German Research Foundation (BA 5858/2–1, BA 5858/2–3), which had no influence on design, analysis, or interpretation of the data. This manuscript received Open Access Funding by the Publication Fund of Technische Universität Dresden. We thank all participants for their participation, the study assistants for data collection and management, and Christian Goeze for software programming.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 German questionnaire. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 211 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33345_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 English questionnaire. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 209 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33345_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Additional moderation analysis. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 151 KB - publichealth v8i6e33345 app3.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 4 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 363 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33345_app4.pdf]

References

- GBD 2019 Risk Factors Collaborators. Global burden of 87 risk factors in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet 2020 Oct 17;396(10258):1223-1249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30752-2] [Medline: 33069327]
- Grittner U, Kuntsche S, Graham K, Bloomfield K. Social inequalities and gender differences in the experience of alcohol-related problems. Alcohol 2012;47(5):597-605 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/alcalc/ags040] [Medline: 22542707]

- Mackenbach JP, Kulhánová I, Bopp M, Borrell C, Deboosere P, Kovács K, et al. Inequalities in Alcohol-Related Mortality in 17 European Countries: A Retrospective Analysis of Mortality Registers. PLoS Med 2015 Dec;12(12):e1001909 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001909] [Medline: 26625134]
- 4. Katikireddi SV, Whitley E, Lewsey J, Gray L, Leyland AH. Socioeconomic status as an effect modifier of alcohol consumption and harm: analysis of linked cohort data. Lancet Public Health 2017 Jun;2(6):e267-e276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30078-6] [Medline: 28626829]
- 5. Probst C, Roerecke M, Behrendt S, Rehm J. Socioeconomic differences in alcohol-attributable mortality compared with all-cause mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Epidemiol 2014 Aug;43(4):1314-1327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu043] [Medline: 24618188]
- 6. Schmidt L, Mäkelä P, Rehm J, Room R. Alcohol: Equity and Social Determinants. In: Jackson R, Johnson M, Campbell F, Messina J, Guillaume L, Meier P, et al, editors. Interventions on Control of Alcohol Price, Promotion and Availability for Prevention of Alcohol Use Disorders in Adults and Young People. Sheffield, UK: NICE Centre for Public Health Excellence; 2010:11-30.
- Collins SE. Associations Between Socioeconomic Factors and Alcohol Outcomes. Alcohol Res 2016;38(1):83-94 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 27159815]
- Bellis MA, Hughes K, Nicholls J, Sheron N, Gilmore I, Jones L. The alcohol harm paradox: using a national survey to explore how alcohol may disproportionately impact health in deprived individuals. BMC Public Health 2016 Mar 18;16:111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-2766-x] [Medline: 26888538]
- 9. Jones L, McCoy E, Bates G, Bellis M, Sumnall H. Understanding the alcohol harm paradox in order to focus the development of interventions. Alcohol Change UK. URL: <u>https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/files.alcoholchange.org.uk/documents/</u> FinalReport_0122.pdf [accessed 2022-06-03]
- Hall W. Socioeconomic status and susceptibility to alcohol-related harm. Lancet Public Health 2017 Jun;2(6):e250-e251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30089-0] [Medline: 29253361]
- Rehm J, Probst C. What about drinking is associated with shorter life in poorer people? PLoS Med 2018 Jan;15(1):e1002477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002477] [Medline: 29293504]
- 12. Brown T, Platt S, Amos A. Equity impact of population-level interventions and policies to reduce smoking in adults: a systematic review. Drug Alcohol Depend 2014 May 01;138:7-16. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.03.001] [Medline: 24674707]
- Jackson R, Johnson M, Campbell F, Messina J, Guillaume L, Meier P, et al. Interventions on Control of Alcohol Price, Promotion and Availability for Prevention of Alcohol Use Disorders in Adults and Young People. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. URL: <u>https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph24/evidence/</u> <u>interventions-on-control-of-alcohol-price-promotion-and-availability-for-prevention-of-alcohol-use-disorders-371568349</u> [accessed 2022-06-03]
- 14. Global strategy to reduce the harmful use of alcohol. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/</u> <u>i/item/9789241599931</u> [accessed 2022-06-03]
- 15. Beyer FR, Campbell F, Bertholet N, Daeppen JB, Saunders JB, Pienaar ED, et al. The Cochrane 2018 Review on Brief Interventions in Primary Care for Hazardous and Harmful Alcohol Consumption: A Distillation for Clinicians and Policy Makers. Alcohol Alcohol 2019 Jul 01;54(4):417-427. [doi: <u>10.1093/alcalc/agz035</u>] [Medline: <u>31062859</u>]
- Heather N. Can screening and brief intervention lead to population-level reductions in alcohol-related harm? Addict Sci Clin Pract 2012;7:15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1940-0640-7-15] [Medline: 23186309]
- Manthey J, Solovei A, Anderson P, Carr S, Rehm J. Can alcohol consumption in Germany be reduced by alcohol screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment in primary health care? Results of a simulation study. PLoS One 2021;16(8):e0255843 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0255843] [Medline: 34352005]
- Murray E, Hekler EB, Andersson G, Collins LM, Doherty A, Hollis C, et al. Evaluating Digital Health Interventions: Key Questions and Approaches. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):843-851. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.008</u>] [Medline: <u>27745684</u>]
- Bender AM, Jørgensen T, Helbech B, Linneberg A, Pisinger C. Socioeconomic position and participation in baseline and follow-up visits: the Inter99 study. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2014 Jul;21(7):899-905. [doi: <u>10.1177/2047487312472076</u>] [Medline: <u>23233551</u>]
- Freyer-Adam J, Baumann S, Haberecht K, Tobschall S, Schnuerer I, Bruss K, et al. In-person and computer-based alcohol interventions at general hospitals: reach and retention. Eur J Public Health 2016 Oct;26(5):844-849. [doi: <u>10.1093/eurpub/ckv238</u>] [Medline: <u>26748101</u>]
- 21. Hagger MS, Moyers S, McAnally K, McKinley LE. Known knowns and known unknowns on behavior change interventions and mechanisms of action. Health Psychol Rev 2020 Mar;14(1):199-212. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2020.1719184] [Medline: 31964227]
- 22. Riper H, Hoogendoorn A, Cuijpers P, Karyotaki E, Boumparis N, Mira A, et al. Effectiveness and treatment moderators of internet interventions for adult problem drinking: An individual patient data meta-analysis of 19 randomised controlled trials. PLoS Med 2018 Dec;15(12):e1002714 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002714] [Medline: 30562347]

- Schüz B, Brick C, Wilding S, Conner M. Socioeconomic Status Moderates the Effects of Health Cognitions on Health Behaviors within Participants: Two Multibehavior Studies. Ann Behav Med 2020 Jan 01;54(1):36-48. [doi: <u>10.1093/abm/kaz023</u>] [Medline: <u>31260512</u>]
- Garnett CV, Crane D, Brown J, Kaner EFS, Beyer FR, Muirhead CR, et al. Behavior Change Techniques Used in Digital Behavior Change Interventions to Reduce Excessive Alcohol Consumption: A Meta-regression. Ann Behav Med 2018 May 18;52(6):530-543. [doi: <u>10.1093/abm/kax029</u>] [Medline: <u>29788261</u>]
- 25. Burton R, Sheron N. No level of alcohol consumption improves health. Lancet 2018 Sep 22;392(10152):987-988 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31571-X] [Medline: 30146328]
- 26. Rehm J, Shield KD. Alcohol Use and Cancer in the European Union. Eur Addict Res 2021;27(1):1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000507017] [Medline: 32417845]
- Wood AM, Kaptoge S, Butterworth AS, Willeit P, Warnakula S, Bolton T, Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration/EPIC-CVD/UK Biobank Alcohol Study Group. Risk thresholds for alcohol consumption: combined analysis of individual-participant data for 599 912 current drinkers in 83 prospective studies. Lancet 2018 Dec 14;391(10129):1513-1523. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30134-X] [Medline: 29676281]
- 28. Baumann S, Staudt A, Freyer-Adam J, John U. Proactive expert system intervention to prevent or quit at-risk alcohol use (PRINT): study protocol of a randomized controlled trial. BMC Public Health 2018 Jul 09;18(1):851 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5774-1] [Medline: 29986695]
- 29. Bischof G, Freyer-Adam J, Meyer C, John U, Rumpf H. Changes in drinking behavior among control group participants in early intervention studies targeting unhealthy alcohol use recruited in general hospitals and general practices. Drug Alcohol Depend 2012 Sep 01;125(1-2):81-88. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.03.018] [Medline: 22516146]
- Meier E, Miller MB, Lombardi N, Leffingwell T. Assessment reactivity: A randomized controlled trial of alcohol-specific measures on alcohol-related behaviors. Addict Behav 2017 Apr;67:44-48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.11.025] [Medline: 27992833]
- 31. McCambridge J, Kypri K, Elbourne D. Research participation effects: a skeleton in the methodological cupboard. J Clin Epidemiol 2014 Aug;67(8):845-849 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2014.03.002] [Medline: 24766858]
- Baumann S, Staudt A, Freyer-Adam J, Bischof G, Meyer C, John U. Effects of a brief alcohol intervention addressing the full spectrum of drinking in an adult general population sample: a randomized controlled trial. Addiction 2021 Aug;116(8):2056-2066. [doi: 10.1111/add.15412] [Medline: <u>33449418</u>]
- Enders CE, Staudt A, Freyer-Adam J, Meyer C, Ulbricht S, John U, et al. Brief alcohol intervention at a municipal registry office: reach and retention. Eur J Public Health 2021 Apr 24;31(2):418-423. [doi: <u>10.1093/eurpub/ckaa195</u>] [Medline: <u>33152067</u>]
- 34. Prochaska JO, Velicer WF. The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. Am J Health Promot 1997;12(1):38-48. [doi: 10.4278/0890-1171-12.1.38] [Medline: 10170434]
- 35. Bischof G, Reinhardt S, Grothues J, John U, Rumpf H. The expert test and report on alcohol (EXTRA): Development and evaluation of a computerized software program for problem drinkers. In: Baye DR, editor. New Research on Alcoholism. New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers; 2007:155-177.
- Saunders J, Aasland O, Babor T, de la Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol Consumption--II. Addiction 1993 Jun;88(6):791-804. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1993.tb02093.x] [Medline: 8329970]
- Bush K, Kivlahan DR, McDonell MB, Fihn SD, Bradley KA. The AUDIT alcohol consumption questions (AUDIT-C): an effective brief screening test for problem drinking. Ambulatory Care Quality Improvement Project (ACQUIP). Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test. Arch Intern Med 1998 Sep 14;158(16):1789-1795. [doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.158.16.1789</u>] [Medline: <u>9738608</u>]
- 38. Reinert DF, Allen JP. The alcohol use disorders identification test: an update of research findings. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2007 Feb;31(2):185-199. [doi: 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2006.00295.x] [Medline: 17250609]
- Curran PJ, Obeidat K, Losardo D. Twelve Frequently Asked Questions About Growth Curve Modeling. J Cogn Dev 2010;11(2):121-136 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15248371003699969] [Medline: 21743795]
- 40. Dienes Z, Coulton S, Heather N. Using Bayes factors to evaluate evidence for no effect: examples from the SIPS project. Addiction 2018 Feb;113(2):240-246. [doi: 10.1111/add.14002] [Medline: 28804980]
- 41. Dienes Z. Making the most of your data with Bayes. University of Sussex Life Sciences. URL: <u>http://www.lifesci.sussex.ac.uk/</u> <u>home/Zoltan_Dienes/inference/Bayes.htm</u> [accessed 2022-06-03]
- 42. Beard E, Dienes Z, Muirhead C, West R. Using Bayes factors for testing hypotheses about intervention effectiveness in addictions research. Addiction 2016 Dec;111(12):2230-2247 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/add.13501] [Medline: 27347846]
- Lau-Barraco C, Braitman AL, Linden-Carmichael A, Stamates AL. Mediators and Moderators of a Personalized Feedback Alcohol Intervention for Nonstudent Emerging Adult Drinkers. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2018 Sep;42(9):1756-1768 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acer.13819] [Medline: 29935086]
- 44. Fernandez AC, Waller R, Walton MA, Bonar EE, Ignacio RV, Chermack ST, et al. Alcohol use severity and age moderate the effects of brief interventions in an emergency department randomized controlled trial. Drug Alcohol Depend 2019 Jan 01;194:386-394 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.10.021] [Medline: 30485827]

- 45. Tanner-Smith EE, Lipsey MW. Brief alcohol interventions for adolescents and young adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Subst Abuse Treat 2015 Apr;51:1-18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2014.09.001] [Medline: 25300577]
- 46. Baumann S, Gaertner B, Haberecht K, Bischof G, John U, Freyer-Adam J. How alcohol use problem severity affects the outcome of brief intervention delivered in-person versus through computer-generated feedback letters. Drug Alcohol Depend 2018 Feb 01;183:82-88. [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.10.032] [Medline: 29241105]
- 47. Paz CR, Haug S, Kowatsch T, Filler A, Schaub MP. Moderators of outcome in a technology-based intervention to prevent and reduce problem drinking among adolescents. Addict Behav 2017 Sep;72:64-71. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.03.013</u>] [Medline: <u>28371696</u>]
- Garnett C, Crane D, West R, Michie S, Brown J, Winstock A. Normative misperceptions about alcohol use in the general population of drinkers: a cross-sectional survey. Addict Behav 2015 Mar;42:203-206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2014.11.010] [Medline: 25482365]
- Neighbors C, Dillard AJ, Lewis MA, Bergstrom RL, Neil TA. Normative misperceptions and temporal precedence of perceived norms and drinking. J Stud Alcohol 2006 Mar;67(2):290-299 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.15288/jsa.2006.67.290</u>] [Medline: <u>16562412</u>]
- Dotson KB, Dunn ME, Bowers CA. Stand-Alone Personalized Normative Feedback for College Student Drinkers: A Meta-Analytic Review, 2004 to 2014. PLoS One 2015;10(10):e0139518 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0139518] [Medline: 26447792]
- 51. Miller W, Rollnick S. Motivational Interviewing: Preparing people for change. New York, NY: The Guilford Press; 2002.
- Freyer-Adam J, Baumann S, Schnuerer I, Haberecht K, Bischof G, John U, et al. Does stage tailoring matter in brief alcohol interventions for job-seekers? A randomized controlled trial. Addiction 2014 Nov;109(11):1845-1856. [doi: 10.1111/add.12677] [Medline: 24981701]
- 53. Angus C, Brown J, Beard E, Gillespie D, Buykx P, Kaner EFS, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in the delivery of brief interventions for smoking and excessive drinking: findings from a cross-sectional household survey in England. BMJ Open 2019 May 01;9(4):e023448 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023448] [Medline: 31048422]
- 54. Velicer W, Prochaska J, Fava J, Rossi J, Redding C, Laforge R, et al. Using the Transtheoretical Model for Population-based Approaches to Health Promotion and Disease Prevention. Homeostasis in Health and Disease 2000;40:174-195.
- 55. Jones L, Bates G, McCoy E, Bellis MA. Relationship between alcohol-attributable disease and socioeconomic status, and the role of alcohol consumption in this relationship: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2015 Apr 18;15:400 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1720-7] [Medline: 25928558]
- 56. Beard E, Brown J, West R, Angus C, Brennan A, Holmes J, et al. Deconstructing the Alcohol Harm Paradox: A Population Based Survey of Adults in England. PLoS One 2016;11(9):e0160666 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0160666] [Medline: 27682619]
- Stockwell T, Zhao J, Greenfield T, Li J, Livingston M, Meng Y. Estimating under- and over-reporting of drinking in national surveys of alcohol consumption: identification of consistent biases across four English-speaking countries. Addiction 2016 Jul;111(7):1203-1213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/add.13373] [Medline: 26948693]

Abbreviations

AUD: alcohol use disorder
AUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test
AUDIT-C: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test-Consumption
BAI: brief alcohol intervention
IRR: incidence rate ratio
LGM: latent growth curve modeling
PRINT: proactive expert system intervention to prevent and to quit at-risk alcohol use

Edited by T Sanchez, A Mavragani; submitted 03.09.21; peer-reviewed by S Haug, L Guo; comments to author 23.02.22; revised version received 29.03.22; accepted 26.04.22; published 30.06.22.

Please cite as:

Staudt A, Freyer-Adam J, Meyer C, Bischof G, John U, Baumann S The Moderating Effect of Educational Background on the Efficacy of a Computer-Based Brief Intervention Addressing the Full Spectrum of Alcohol Use: Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33345 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33345 doi:10.2196/33345

PMID:<u>35771621</u>



©Andreas Staudt, Jennis Freyer-Adam, Christian Meyer, Gallus Bischof, Ulrich John, Sophie Baumann. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 30.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

User- and Message-Level Correlates of Endorsement and Engagement for HIV-Related Messages on Twitter: Cross-sectional Study

Jimin Oh^{1*}, MA, MSEd; Stephen Bonett^{2*}, MA, PhD; Elissa C Kranzler³, PhD; Bruno Saconi², AM, MS; Robin Stevens⁴, MPH, PhD

¹Graduate School of Education, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

²School of Nursing, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

³Fors Marsh Group, Arlington, VA, United States

⁴Annenberg School for Communication and Journalism, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Stephen Bonett, MA, PhD School of Nursing University of Pennsylvania 418 Curie Blvd Philadelphia, PA, 19104 United States Phone: 1 515 231 9890 Email: <u>stepdo@nursing.upenn.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Youth and young adults continue to experience high rates of HIV and are also frequent users of social media. Social media platforms such as Twitter can bolster efforts to promote HIV prevention for these individuals, and while HIV-related messages exist on Twitter, little is known about the impact or reach of these messages for this population.

Objective: This study aims to address this gap in the literature by identifying user and message characteristics that are associated with tweet endorsement (favorited) and engagement (retweeted) among youth and young men (aged 13-24 years).

Methods: In a secondary analysis of data from a study of HIV-related messages posted by young men on Twitter, we used model selection techniques to examine user and tweet-level factors associated with tweet endorsement and engagement.

Results: Tweets from personal user accounts garnered greater endorsement and engagement than tweets from institutional users (aOR 3.27, 95% CI 2.75-3.89; *P*<.001). High follower count was associated with increased endorsement and engagement (aOR 1.05, 95% CI 1.04-1.06; *P*<.001); tweets that discussed STIs garnered lower endorsement and engagement (aOR 0.59, 95% CI 0.47-1.74; *P*<.001).

Conclusions: Findings suggest practitioners should partner with youth to design and disseminate HIV prevention messages on social media, incorporate content that resonates with youth audiences, and work to challenge stigma and foster social norms conducive to open conversation about sex, sexuality, and health.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e32718) doi: 10.2196/32718

KEYWORDS

RenderX

HIV prevention; social media; public health; young adults; LASSO; HIV; Twitter; digital health

Introduction

Despite advances in prevention, the incidence of HIV among youth and young adults in the United States is a continued public health concern. From 2010-2016, adolescents and young adults experienced the highest rates of HIV infection relative to other

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e32718

age groups, with estimates suggesting that the number of individuals living with undiagnosed HIV infection is disproportionately greater within these populations [1]. By the end of 2016, an estimated 50,900 youth were living with HIV [2], yet nearly half (44%) were unaware of their HIV status [3]. These estimates are bolstered by findings that youth and young

adults achieve low rates of HIV testing [4]. Moreover, youth and young adults are the least likely of any age group to be linked to HIV care once diagnosed [3] and face unique challenges related to accessing preventative health services [5]. The Ending the HIV Epidemic in the United States initiative highlights the need to expand HIV testing and strengthen linkage to treatment and prevention for populations highly impacted by HIV, including youth and young adults [6].

Social media platforms present unique opportunities for influencing health beliefs and behaviors among users. Such platforms are exceptionally popular among youth and young adult populations; more than 90% of young adults (aged 18-29 years) report having ever used at least one social media platform or messaging app, such as YouTube, Facebook, or Instagram [7], and in recent years, a third or more of teens and young adults reported Twitter use [8]. Young people use Twitter to both engage in conversation within established social networks and communicate with larger audiences [9]. In particular, there is evidence that young people use Twitter as a platform for discussing topics related to sex and health [10-12], creating opportunities for sharing resources and information.

There is substantial evidence that social media use among youth correlates with health outcomes; this research demonstrates both positive and negative health effects among media users [13]. Exposure to alcohol and smoking-related content on social media is correlated with greater self-reported use of alcohol and tobacco products [14,15], highlighting the negative repercussions of media use. However, research has also shown that exposure to sexual health messages on social media is associated with sexual risk reduction behaviors [16], nutrition behavior interventions using social media are linked to increased fruit and vegetable consumption [17], and use of social networking sites for sexual minority youth are associated with positive mental health outcomes.

Media discourse surrounding health topics can play an instrumental role in health-relevant beliefs and behaviors. The dissemination of health-relevant information, during routine exposure to mass media or through purposeful intervention, has been shown to influence health outcomes across a range of behaviors [18]. More specifically, these effects are evident in the domain of HIV/AIDS-related behavior, with evidence that exposure to HIV prevention campaigns through mass media leads to increases in HIV knowledge and greater use of condoms [19]. Social media can fill a similar role in the dissemination of health-related messages, and there is emerging evidence of the impact of social media on HIV-related outcomes [20,21]. Media effects are contingent on message exposure [22], without which audiences cannot receive and process message content. Theories of communication suggest that in addition to message content features, the characteristics of a message source (eg, sender) can influence the extent to which audiences attend to and engage with the message [22], a prerequisite for persuasion and ultimate behavior change [23,24]. Thus, message-consistent outcomes are linked with the extent to which individuals are exposed to a given message and the distinct features of the message source and content.

Previous research suggests that characteristics of message content on social media platforms are related to engagement with health-related messages, including HIV prevention messages [25-27]. This research has suggested that messages with practical information and supportive messages tend to garner greater engagement. The impact of messenger, or message source, on engagement with health messages has also been explored. One study found that messages originating from health-related organizations garnered greater engagement compared to messages from individuals, while messages from non-health-related organized garnered less engagement [25]. Another study found that while health experts were active in producing HIV-related content on Twitter, engagement with these messages was greatest when retweeted by a non-health expert celebrity [28]. Despite the growing interest in the role of social media in health messaging, little research has examined the characteristics of HIV-related social media messages as they relate to youth engagement with such media. To address this gap in the literature, this study aims to explore how user-level characteristics (eg, age, user type, friend count, and follower count) and tweet-level characteristics (eg, format, timing, geolocation, and content) are associated with tweet engagement with and endorsement of Twitter messages posted by adolescent and young adult men in the United States.

Methods

Data Description

This study is an expanded analysis of data collected as part of Virus 2 Viral, a study of Twitter message content among young men in the United States [20]. For the Virus 2 Viral study, researchers collected a random sample of tweets from the Twitter fire hose application programming interface (API) posted between January 1, 2016, and December 31, 2016. They filtered this sample to include only users of predicted male gender and predicted age 13 to 24 years (N=336,000 users) using established procedures [29]. For this study, we then expanded the original set of tweets by collecting full timelines (ie, the entire collection of tweets posted by a given user from 2009 to 2017) for those users identified in Virus 2 Viral. The subsequent procedures used to produce the final dataset mirror those described by Stevens et al [20], using this expanded set of tweets. We briefly describe these procedures below.

The initial corpus of tweets was then subset to include only those with HIV-relevant content. HIV-relevant content was identified using a keyword list of HIV-related terms (eg, terms related to HIV, AIDS, HIV testing, condoms, multiple sexual partners, sexually transmitted infections [STIs], sexual risk behavior, and preexposure prophylaxis [PrEP]), developed in partnership with youth researchers. This process generated a dataset of 24,388 tweets that had been posted between 2009 and 2017 and were grouped into 3 broad categories: HIV prevention-specific tweets (n=5057), general sex-related tweets (n=19,319), and risk behavior–promoting tweets (n=12). To retain tweets most relevant to HIV risk and prevention while reducing this data set to a more manageable size, we included the full sample of prevention-related tweets and risk behavior–promoting tweets and a random sample of general



sex-related tweets (3091/19,319, 16.0%). This yielded a final data set of 8160 tweets from 1541 unique users that were then coded by a team of 4 research assistants (intraclass correlation coefficient at .80 or higher on all constructs) for message content and used for analysis. User type was determined based on a manual review of the user profile and recent postings of each user in the data set by a member of the research team and was recorded as either individual (eg, a personal account of an individual) or institutional (eg, public health agencies, social service organizations, or advocacy groups). User types that were ambiguous or could otherwise not be determined by the researcher were recorded as missing and were removed from the data set (n=150). The final analytic sample included 8010 tweets from 1499 unique users. A full description of the methods used for the parent study has been published elsewhere [20].

Ethics Approval

The University of Pennsylvania institutional review board reviewed this study and designated it exempt because the study (protocol #827833) does not meet the definition of human subject research.

Measure

Endorsement and Engagement

Two different binary variables were used to measure the outcomes of tweet endorsement and engagement. A tweet was classified as endorsed if it received at least 1 favorite from another user (1=endorsement, 0=no endorsement) and as engaged if it was retweeted at least once (1=engagement, 0=no engagement).

User Characteristics

Number of friends and followers were extracted for each user from the API. Predicted age was estimated using a previously validated machine learning algorithm that predicts user age from characteristics of that user's messages [29]. User type, determined by manual review of the user profile as described above, was recorded as either individual or institutional.

Tweet Characteristics

Tweet language was extracted directly from the API and was coded as a binary variable (1=English, 0=other language). Time of tweet posting was collapsed into 3 categories: daytime for tweets posted between 9 AM and 5 PM EST, evening for tweets posted between 5 PM and midnight EST, and night for tweets posted between midnight and 9 AM EST. The geographic location from which a tweet was posted was measured using tweet-specific latitude/longitude coordinates when available and the self-reported location information in Twitter user profiles otherwise. Tweet locations were then collapsed into a variable to represent region, corresponding with the 4 US Census regions (Northeast, Midwest, South, and West). A tweet was identified as a reply if it was directed at another user using the "@user" syntax (1=reply, 0=not reply). Tweet length was calculated based on the number of characters in the tweet, including "@user" syntax, if present.

Tweet Content

The content of a tweet was qualitatively coded by 4 research assistants and consisted of 19 nonexclusive binary variables corresponding to various aspects of the tweet's content. These categories are anti–risk-taking; condoms; HIV testing; HIV/AIDS; humor; lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or queer; misinformation; modeling; multiple partners; norms; PrEP; pro–risk-taking; research, education, news; stigma; STIs; substance use; transactional sex; unprotected sex; and unrelated sexual content. Full details of the procedures used in the parent study for coding tweet content have been published elsewhere [20].

Statistical Analysis

A series of logistic regression models were estimated to assess the influence of user-level and tweet-level characteristics on 2 discrete response variables: endorsement and engagement. We used least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) as a model building technique. LASSO is a form of penalized regression that forces the regression coefficients of less important variables to zero, yielding models that have fewer variables and higher predictive accuracy [30].

As LASSO regression coefficients are biased and cannot be easily interpreted, we used an extension of this technique known as relaxed LASSO, which sequentially combines the LASSO method for initial model selection with multiple logistic regression for nonpenalized coefficient estimation [31]. Therefore, separate multiple logistic regression models were built for each outcome using the LASSO-selected variables. Final model selection was performed using a backward elimination procedure that only retained predictors statistically significant at the level of .05. From the final multiple logistic models, we estimated adjusted odds ratios (aORs) of predictors of interests while controlling for the effects of covariates. Statistical significance was assessed using P values from the Wald chi-square test. All analyses were conducted using the glmnet package [32] in R statistical software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

Finally, to evaluate the overall prediction accuracy of models, we plotted receiver operating curves (ROCs) and calculated the area under the curve (AUCs) [33]. The ROCs, presented in Figure 1, display the relationship between the false positive rate (the proportion of tweets incorrectly classified as endorsed or engaged) and true positive rate (the proportion of tweets correctly classified as endorsed or engaged; also known as sensitivity) of the classifier for all possible thresholds [34], with higher AUC values indicating better predictive power of the model. In other words, each point on the ROC curves indicates the false positive rate and true positive rate of the classifier at a given threshold. ROC curves and AUC are convenient tools to evaluate the performance (accuracy) of the classifier [34]. If the ROC curves were plotted close to the top left corner, this would indicate that the model was able to correctly classify endorsed or engaged tweets with any thresholds at a low false positive rate (AUC would be close to 1). Conversely, if the model could not accurately predict tweet endorsement or engagement (effectively generating random predictions), the ROC curve would be a diagonal line (ie, AUC=0.5).

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e32718
```

XSL•FO

Figure 1. Receiver operating curve and area under the curve for models predicting tweet endorsement (A) and engagement (B).



Results

User and Tweet Descriptive Statistics

Table 1 summarizes the descriptive statistics for user and tweet characteristics in the study sample. The mean predicted age of users was 18.72 (SD 3.08) years, with approximately half (4096/8010, 51.1%) identified as institutional users. Number of friends and number of followers were positively skewed. The median number of friends was 435 (IQR 273-800), compared with a mean of 822. The number of followers showed similar patterns, with a median of 591, IQR of 241 to 1179, and mean of 2005 followers. Although the mean number of followers was 2005, most tweets (6008/8010, 75.0%) came from users with fewer than 1179 followers. This difference was due to a small



number of users with extremely high numbers of followers. Over half of all tweets (4411/8010, 55.1%) were posted during the daytime, while 26.8% (2146/8010) were posted in the evening and 18.1% (1453/8010) were posted at night. The average tweet length was 94 (SD 31.88) characters with a slight skewness toward longer messages. About 12.0% (959/8010) of tweets were categorized as replies to other users. With respect to tweet content, the most common message categories were HIV/AIDS (4438/8010, 55.4%); research, education, and news (3667/8010, 45.8%); unrelated sexual content (2314/8010, 28.9%); and anti–risk-taking (1208/8010, 15.1%); see Multimedia Appendix 1 for the frequency of each message category. Out of the tweets in the sample, 25.6% (2049/8010) were endorsed and 18.0% (1438/8010) garnered engagement.



Table 1. Descriptive statistics for user-level and message-level characteristics (n=8010).

	Value
Institution, n (%)	
Yes	4096 (51.14)
No	3914 (48.86)
Location of post, n (%)	
Midwest	663 (8.28)
Northeast	2962 (36.98)
South	2014 (25.14)
West	2371 (29.60)
Message language, n (%)	
English	7976 (99.58)
Not English	34 (0.42)
Reply, n (%)	
Yes	959 (11.97)
No	7051 (88.03)
Time of post, n (%)	
Daytime (9 AM to 5 PM)	4411 (55.07)
Evening (5 PM to midnight)	2146 (26.79)
Night (midnight to 9 AM)	1453 (18.14)
Year of post, n (%)	
2009	30 (0.37)
2010	6 (0.07)
2011	62 (0.77)
2012	62 (0.77)
2013	158 (1.97)
2014	346 (4.32)
2015	1174 (14.66)
2016	2472 (30.86)
2017	3700 (46.19)
Endorsement, n (%)	
Yes	2049 (25.58)
No	5961 (74.42)
Engagement, n (%)	
Yes	1438 (17.95)
No	6572 (82.05)
Age ^a (years), median (IQR)	18.72 (17.13-21.64)
Follower count, median (IQR)	591 (241-1179)
Friend count, median (IQR)	435 (273-800)
Message length, median (IQR)	94 (71-121)

^aAge is a predicted age, computed based on tweet and user characteristics using machine learning algorithms developed by Sap et al [29].

XSL•FO RenderX

Factors Associated With Tweet Endorsement and Engagement

For each outcome of interest (tweet endorsement and tweet engagement), we estimated logistic regression models using LASSO-selected predictors and assessed overall model performance by plotting ROCs and measuring AUCs. We note that the initial model included all the variables (excluding the outcomes) listed in Table 1 and Multimedia Appendix 1 as predictors.

Endorsement

The final model (score test χ^2_{6} : 884.65) for the outcome of tweet endorsement was a 6-variable model, which included the following predictors: number of followers; region; year of tweet posted; user type; STI message content; and research, education, and news message content. As demonstrated in Figure 1, this model had an AUC of 0.73, suggesting acceptable performance [35]. As shown in Table 2, both user-level and tweet-level characteristics were significantly associated with tweet endorsement. With respect to user-level characteristics, the odds of a tweet being endorsed were 3.27 higher for tweets from personal user accounts compared with institutional users (aOR 3.27, 95% CI 2.75-3.89; P<.001), and each additional 100 followers that a user had was associated with a 0.53% increase in the odds that their tweet was endorsed (aOR 1.01, 95% CI 1.00-1.01; P<.001). User region was also significantly associated with endorsement. Regarding tweet-level characteristics, tweets discussing specific STIs had 41% lower odds of being endorsed, relative to tweets that did not discuss STIs (aOR 0.59, 95% CI 0.47-1.74; P<.001). Additionally, tweets that included discussion of research, education, or news related to HIV had 23% lower odds of being endorsed, compared with tweets that discussed HIV in a different context (aOR 0.77, 95% CI 0.65-0.92; P<.001). Year of posting was also significantly associated with endorsement.

Table 2. Summary of logistic regression analysis for variables predicting endorsement and engagement of Twitter users (n=8010).

Predictor	Endorsement, aOR ^a (95% CI)	Engagement, aOR (95% CI)
User level		
Age	b	0.92 (0.90-0.94)
Follower count (100 counts)	1.01 (1.00-1.01)	1.01 (1.00-1.01)
Personal user count	3.27 (2.75-3.89)	1.77 (1.52-2.05)
Tweet level		
Region ^c		
Northeast	1.46 (1.31-1.99)	1.69 (1.32-2.15)
South	0.85 (0.82-1.25)	1.16 (0.91-1.48)
West	1.06 (0.71-1.08)	0.68 (0.53-0.88)
Time ^d		
Night	—	1.08 (0.90-1.31)
Daytime	—	1.36 (1.17-1.59)
Message length (10 words)	—	1.04 (1.02-1.06)
Reply	_	0.45 (0.36-0.57)
Year	1.30 (1.23-1.38)	_
Message: norm	_	1.62 (1.15-2.29)
Message: research, education, news	0.77 (0.65-0.92)	_
Message: STI	0.59 (0.47-0.74)	0.61 (0.47-0.78)

^aaOR: adjusted odds ratio.

^bNot applicable.

^cReference group: Midwest.

^dReference group: evening.

Engagement

The final model (score test χ^2_9 : 404.89) for the outcome of tweet engagement included the following 9 predictors: predicted user age, number of followers, user type, tweet length, reply tweet (@user), time of post, region, norms message content, and STI

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e32718

message content. As demonstrated in Figure 1, the 9-variable model showed an AUC of 0.68, performing slightly below the acceptable threshold of 0.70 [35].

As shown in Table 2, both user-level and tweet-level characteristics were significantly associated with tweet engagement. For each additional year in the user's predicted

age, the odds of a tweet garnering engagement decreased by 8% (aOR 0.92, 95% CI 0.90-0.94; P<.001). Additionally, tweets from personal user accounts (compared with institutional users) had 77% greater odds of garnering engagement (aOR 1.77, 95% CI 1.52-2.05; P<.001). Each additional 100 followers was associated with a 0.51% increase in the odds of a tweet garnering engagement (aOR 1.01, 95% CI 1.00-1.01; P<.001). Tweets that were replies (@user) were 55% less likely to garner engagement from other users (aOR 0.45, 95% CI 0.36-0.57; P < .001). User region was also significantly associated with engagement. Regarding tweet-level characteristics, tweets that discussed STIs had 39% lower odds of garnering engagement compared to tweets that did not discuss STIs (aOR 0.61, 95% CI 0.47-0.78; P<.001). Tweets that included discussion of social norms were 62% more likely to garner engagement compared with tweets that did not discuss social norms (aOR 1.62, 95% CI 1.15-2.29; P<.001). Tweet length and time of posting were also significantly associated with engagement.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study was designed to assess the relationships between user-level and tweet-level characteristics and endorsement and engagement of tweets related to HIV risk and prevention posted by young men. Our analysis demonstrated that characteristics both of users and of the tweets themselves were associated with tweet endorsement and engagement. Given that fostering active interaction with media content around HIV prevention is a critical component of a public health social media strategy [36], these results have important implications for HIV prevention efforts.

We found that tweets from personal accounts were 3 times more likely to be endorsed, and 75% more likely to garner engagement, when compared with institutional users. This finding suggests that message source is an important factor in how HIV-related tweets are received and that HIV-relevant messages from institutional users may not resonate as strongly with youth. Previous research has shown that while institutional sources of online HIV information may be perceived as more credible, the experiences of peers may be more influential in shaping attitudes and self-efficacy to change behaviors [37]. Public health messaging efforts around HIV prevention should acknowledge these findings when considering how to use resources related to online communication; using institutional accounts to post messages to social media platforms may not result in meaningful engagement from youth. Thus, promoting peer-to-peer discussions of HIV-related topics through social media interventions may have greater potential to influence the attitudes and behaviors of youth [38]. However, it is important to note that although institutional tweets were not often retweeted or favorited, it is possible that they were still read by many users and the information was communicated as intended.

Results demonstrated that users with many followers were more likely to garner tweet endorsement and engagement relative to users with fewer followers; each additional 100 followers were associated with a 0.5% increase in the odds of both endorsement and engagement. This is not a surprising finding, given that

having more followers increases one's opportunity for tweet exposure, thereby increasing the likelihood that a given tweet is endorsed or elicits engagement. We did not find any association between users' number of friends and endorsement or engagement, which suggests that having a robust following on Twitter may be more important than being highly connected to other users through friendship. Users with large followings may be celebrities or social media influencers, or simply perceived as such, and their position of influence could be leveraged to increase visibility of HIV prevention messages. However, considering the highly skewed distribution of followers in this data set, the relationship between the odds of endorsement or engagement and the follower count may not tell the whole story. Users may be more likely to engage with the messages from microinfluencers (eg, an influential user with fewer than 10,000 followers) than from celebrity influencers (eg, an influential user with more than 10,000 followers) due to feeling a closer sense of connection with these microinfluencers [39]; however, additional research on these relationships is warranted. These distinctions aside, influencers are well positioned to reach a large audience on Twitter and could be an important component of public health campaigns or other messaging efforts that use social media to engage with young people [40,41].

The findings from this study have implications for the implementation of popular opinion leader (POL) interventions. POL interventions aim to identify, enlist, and train key opinion leaders in a community to promote health behaviors and challenge risky social norms [42]. These leaders act as early adopters of behavior change and can serve as models and supports for peers who are considering making similar changes. Our results demonstrate that, in addition to such characteristics as the quality and originality of message content, users on social media with large numbers of followers may be positioned to garner significant engagement with their messages, thus making them good candidates as opinion leaders [43]. Future intervention development should seek ways to integrate the principles of POL into interventions related to HIV prevention through online social media.

Findings also demonstrated that the content of messages on Twitter was related to tweet endorsement and engagement. Tweets that mentioned STIs garnered decreased endorsement and decreased engagement, and tweets that were primarily focused on research, education, or news showed lower levels of endorsement. However, tweets that reflected social norms (an opinion about how oneself or others behave or should behave) garnered higher levels of engagement, suggesting that young people are eager to participate in conversations about the perceived behaviors of peers or evaluations of those behaviors. These results have important implications for efforts to develop health communication tools for HIV prevention. Stigma surrounding HIV and STIs may stifle conversations about sexual health, in light of evidence that young people tend to distance themselves from direct discussion of these issues in settings that are not sufficiently anonymous or confidential [44]. Furthermore, tweets that highlight research, education, or news about sexual health may not resonate with young people, leading to low rates of endorsement. Health communication around

XSL•FO RenderX

HIV prevention must balance an acknowledgment of this stigma without further reinforcing it. Rather than avoid direct discussion of issues related to HIV prevention, public health educational efforts should embed these discussions in the larger context of sex and sexuality and connect these discussions to the social realities that young people live in (ie, acknowledging and/or challenging social norms).

Additional characteristics of messages were found to be associated with endorsement, engagement, or both. Users with greater predicted age showed lower odds of garnering engagement, which may reflect differences in platform use between adolescents and young adults. Variations in endorsement and engagement were seen by geographic region, with messages originating from the Northeast of the United States receiving the greatest levels of endorsement and engagement, mirroring the geographic distribution of Twitter activity that has been seen in previous studies [45]. Longer tweets received greater engagement, a finding that has been described in previous studies [28]. Previous studies have shown that engagement with messages on Twitter varies across the day and according to message content [46]. The variation in message engagement seen in our study, where engagement was highest for messages posted during the day and lowest during the evening, highlights the need to consider time of posting for public health messages. Replies garnered low engagement in our study, suggesting that dialogues between users about HIV do not stimulate engagement from young people. Finally messages posted during later years in the study received greater endorsement, likely reflecting a growth in the popularity of the platform over the study period.

Public health efforts to incorporate social media messaging into HIV prevention approaches will require novel strategies around message creation, delivery, and evaluation. The use of language and style that leverages the cultural elements of social media, such as incorporating memes and sharable elements into message content, may resonate more effectively with young people than appeals based solely on facts and knowledge [41]. Future research should aim to collect additional information about tweets, including qualitative codes related to themes beyond HIV prevention (eg, presence of a meme, celebrity reference), that may correlate more strongly with tweet engagement and endorsement. Furthermore, the use of POL techniques could help to overcome and challenge stigma around sexual health, allowing information about HIV prevention to be visible on social media platforms.

Limitations

This study is subject to several notable limitations. First, our outcomes of tweet endorsement and engagement capture active interactions with social media content, not passive exposure to tweet content. Young people may be hesitant to endorse messages related to sex and sexual health because of stigma or embarrassment but may still be reading these messages anonymously [47]. However, data on tweet views are difficult to obtain, and research may be limited to measures of endorsement and engagement similar to ours. Second, there were several users who contributed a very large number of tweets (eg, one user accounted for 949 tweets) in this data set, raising concerns about the independence of observations. While capturing highly active and widely followed Twitter accounts is important to this line of work, future analyses should consider models that account for clustering of errors at the user level. Third, it is important to note that our models for tweet endorsement and tweet engagement showed only a modest capacity to discriminate between tweets that evinced the outcome and tweets that did not (acceptable discrimination for endorsement and slightly less than acceptable discrimination for engagement). While our study suggests that user and tweet-level characteristics have measurable associations with tweet endorsement and engagement, further work is needed to identify additional characteristics of users and tweets that might strengthen predictive modeling for endorsement and engagement with HIV-related messages on Twitter. Finally, it should also be noted that messages analyzed in this study were limited to Twitter messages geolocated to the United States. The patterns seen in our study may not be generalizable to social media messages on other platforms or in other countries.

Conclusions

The widespread use of social media platforms among young people offers new opportunities for communication around HIV prevention. Conversations about sex and sexual health are widespread across these platforms, providing an opportunity for public health messaging to play a role in these conversations. Efforts to engage with young people on these sensitive and often stigmatized topics will require innovative strategies to foster meaningful connection with HIV prevention messages. Public health practitioners should partner with young people to design and disseminate these messages, incorporate content that resonates with youth audiences, and work to challenge stigma and foster social norms conducive to open and honest conversation about sex, sexuality, and health.

Acknowledgments

This manuscript resulted (in part) from research supported by the Center for AIDS Research at the University of Pennsylvania (administrative supplement P30 AI04500821: Identifying Key Characteristics for HIV Prevention Among Young Men Using Social Media). The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Authors' Contributions

All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Data collection and curation were performed by JO, SB, BS, and RS. Formal analysis was performed by JO. Funding acquisition and supervision/oversight was provided by RS. The first draft of the

manuscript was written by JO, SB, ECK, and BS. All authors reviewed and edited previous versions of the manuscript and have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Qualitatively coded message frequency table (N=8010). [DOCX File , 18 KB - publichealth v8i6e32718 app1.docx]

References

- 1. 2017 HIV Surveillance Report, Volume 29. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/library/reports/surveillance/cdc-hiv-surveillance-report-2017-vol-29.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-11-21]
- 2. HIV Among Youth in the US. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/vitalsigns/</u> pdf/2012-11-27-vitalsigns.pdf [accessed 2022-06-02]
- 3. National Center for HIV/AIDS, Viral Hepatitis, STD, and TB Prevention. Selected National HIV Prevention and Care Outcomes. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2016. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/library/slidesets/cdc-hiv-prevention-and-care-outcomes-2016.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-02]
- 4. National Survey of Young Adults on HIV/AIDS. Kaiser Family Foundation. 2017. URL: <u>https://files.kff.org/attachment/</u><u>Report-National-Survey-of-Young-Adults-on-HIV/AIDS</u> [accessed 2021-07-23]
- Doll M, Fortenberry J, Roseland D, McAuliff K, Wilson C, Boyer C. Linking HIV-negative youth to prevention services in 12 US cities: barriers and facilitators to implementing the HIV prevention continuum. J Adolesc Health 2018 Apr;62(4):424-433. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.09.009] [Medline: 29224988]
- 6. Fauci AS, Redfield RR, Sigounas G, Weahkee MD, Giroir BP. Ending the HIV epidemic: a plan for the United States. JAMA 2019 Mar 05;321(9):844-845. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2019.1343</u>] [Medline: <u>30730529</u>]
- Perrin A, Anderson M. Share of US adults using social media, including Facebook, is mostly unchanged since 2018. Washington: Pew Internet and American Life Project; 2019 Apr 10. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/</u>04/10/share-of-u-s-adults-using-social-media-including-facebook-is-mostly-unchanged-since-2018/ [accessed 2022-06-02]
- Smith A, Anderson M. Social media use in 2018. Washington: Pew Internet and American Life Project; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2018/02/PI_2018.03.01_Social-Media_FINAL.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-02]
- 9. De Cristofaro E, Soriente C, Tsudik G, Williams A. Hummingbird: privacy at the time of Twitter. IEEE Symp Security Privacy 2012:285-299. [doi: 10.1109/sp.2012.26]
- Cabrera-Nguyen EP, Cavazos-Rehg P, Krauss M, Bierut LJ, Moreno MA. Young adults' exposure to alcohol- and marijuana-related content on Twitter. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2016 Mar;77(2):349-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15288/jsad.2016.77.349] [Medline: 26997194]
- 11. Cavazos-Rehg PA, Krauss M, Fisher SL, Salyer P, Grucza RA, Bierut LJ. Twitter chatter about marijuana. J Adolesc Health 2015 Feb;56(2):139-145 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.10.270] [Medline: 25620299]
- Gabarron E, Serrano JA, Wynn R, Lau AYS. Tweet content related to sexually transmitted diseases: no joking matter. J Med Internet Res 2014 Oct 06;16(10):e228 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3259] [Medline: 25289463]
- Kranzler E, Bleakley A. Youth social media use and health outcomes: #diggingdeeper. J Adolesc Health 2019 Feb;64(2):141-142. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>30660243</u>]
- Curtis BL, Lookatch SJ, Ramo DE, McKay JR, Feinn RS, Kranzler HR. Meta-analysis of the association of alcohol-related social media use with alcohol consumption and alcohol-related problems in adolescents and young adults. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2018 Jun 22;42(6):978-986 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acer.13642] [Medline: 29786874]
- Pokhrel P, Fagan P, Herzog TA, Laestadius L, Buente W, Kawamoto CT, et al. Social media e-cigarette exposure and e-cigarette expectancies and use among young adults. Addict Behav 2018 Mar;78:51-58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.10.017] [Medline: 29127784]
- 16. Stevens R, Gilliard-Matthews S, Dunaev J, Todhunter-Reid A, Brawner B, Stewart J. Social media use and sexual risk reduction behavior among minority youth. Nurs Res 2017;66(5):368-377. [doi: <u>10.1097/nnr.00000000000237</u>]
- Hsu MSH, Rouf A, Allman-Farinelli M. Effectiveness and behavioral mechanisms of social media interventions for positive nutrition behaviors in adolescents: a systematic review. J Adolesc Health 2018 Nov;63(5):531-545. [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.06.009] [Medline: 30197198]
- 18. Wakefield MA, Loken B, Hornik RC. Use of mass media campaigns to change health behaviour. Lancet 2010 Oct;376(9748):1261-1271. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(10)60809-4]
- 19. LaCroix J, Snyder L, Huedo-Medina T, Johnson B. Effectiveness of mass media interventions for HIV prevention, 1986-2013: a meta-analysis. J AIDS 2014:S329-S340. [doi: 10.1097/qai.0000000000230]

- 20. Stevens R, Bonett S, Bannon J, Chittamuru D, Slaff B, Browne SK, et al. Association between HIV-related tweets and HIV incidence in the United States: infodemiology study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 24;22(6):e17196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17196] [Medline: 32579119]
- 21. Chan M, Morales A, Zlotorzynska M, Sullivan P, Sanchez T, Zhai C, et al. Estimating the influence of Twitter on pre-exposure prophylaxis use and HIV testing as a function of rates of men who have sex with men in the United States. AIDS 2021:S101-S109. [doi: 10.1097/qad.0000000002838]
- 22. Jones L, Sinclair R, Courneya K. The effects of source credibility and message framing on exercise intentions, behaviors, and attitudes: an integration of the elaboration likelihood model and prospect theory. J Appl Soc Psychol 2003;33(1):179-196. [doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2003.tb02078.x]
- 23. Lang A. The limited capacity model of mediated message processing. J Commun 2000;50(1):46-70. [doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.2000.tb02833.x]
- 24. Cacioppo J, Petty R, Kao C, Rodriguez R. Central and peripheral routes to persuasion: an individual difference perspective. J Pers Soc Psychol 1986 Nov;51(5):1032-1043. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.5.1032]
- 25. Yang Q, Tufts C, Ungar L, Guntuku S, Merchant R. To retweet or not to retweet: understanding what features of cardiovascular tweets influence their retransmission. J Health Commun 2018;23(12):1026-1035 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2018.1540671] [Medline: 30404564]
- 26. Blankenship E. Sentiment, contents, and retweets: a study of two vaccine-related twitter datasets. Permanente J 2018:22. [doi: <u>10.7812/tpp/17-138</u>]
- 27. Schwartz J, Grimm J. PrEP on Twitter: information, barriers, and stigma. Health Commun 2017 Apr;32(4):509-516. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2016.1140271] [Medline: 27295507]
- Lohmann S, White B, Zuo Z, Chan M, Morales A, Li B, et al. HIV messaging on Twitter: an analysis of current practice and data-driven recommendations. AIDS 2018 Nov 28;32(18):2799-2805 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000002018] [Medline: 30289801]
- 29. Sap M, Park G, Eichstaedt J, Kern M, Stillwell D, Kosinski M, et al. Developing age and gender predictive lexica over social media. Proc 2014 Conf Empirical Methods Nat Lang Proc. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.gsb.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/publication-pdf/developing_age_and_gender_predictive_lexica_over_s.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-02]
- 30. Tibshirani R. Regression shrinkage and selection via the Lasso. J Royal Stat Soc Ser B 2018 Dec 05;58(1):267-288. [doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1996.tb02080.x]
- 31. Meinshausen N. Relaxed Lasso. Computat Stat Data Anal 2007 Sep;52(1):374-393. [doi: 10.1016/j.csda.2006.12.019]
- 32. Friedman J, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Regularization paths for generalized linear models via coordinate descent. J Stat Soft 2010;33(1):1. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v033.i01]
- Swets J, Dawes R, Monahan J. Psychological science can improve diagnostic decisions. Psychol Sci Public Interest 2000 May;1(1):1-26. [doi: <u>10.1111/1529-1006.001</u>] [Medline: <u>26151979</u>]
- 34. James G, Witten D, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. An Introduction to Statistical Learning. Cham: Springer; 2013.
- 35. Hosmer JD, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant R. Applied Logistic Regression. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons; 2013.
- 36. Heldman AB, Schindelar J, Weaver JB. Social media engagement and public health communication: implications for public health organizations being truly "social". Public Health Rev 2013 Jun 3;35(1):13. [doi: 10.1007/BF03391698]
- Neubaum G, Krämer N. Let's blog about health! Exploring the persuasiveness of a personal HIV blog compared to an institutional HIV website. Health Commun 2015 Jun 02;30(9):872-883. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2013.856742</u>] [Medline: <u>24885514</u>]
- 38. Cao B, Gupta S, Wang J, Hightow-Weidman LB, Muessig KE, Tang W, et al. Social media interventions to promote HIV testing, linkage, adherence, and retention: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2017 Nov 24;19(11):e394 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7997] [Medline: 29175811]
- Lin H, Bruning PF, Swarna H. Using online opinion leaders to promote the hedonic and utilitarian value of products and services. Business Horizons 2018 May;61(3):431-442. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.bushor.2018.01.010</u>]
- 40. Gough A, Hunter RF, Ajao O, Jurek A, McKeown G, Hong J, et al. Tweet for behavior change: using social media for the dissemination of public health messages. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Mar 23;3(1):e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.6313] [Medline: 28336503]
- 41. Kostygina G, Tran H, Binns S, Szczypka G, Emery S, Vallone D, et al. Boosting health campaign reach and engagement through use of social media influencers and memes. Soc Media Soc 2020 May 06;6(2):205630512091247. [doi: 10.1177/2056305120912475]
- 42. Kelly JA. Popular opinion leaders and HIV prevention peer education: resolving discrepant findings, and implications for the development of effective community programmes. AIDS Care 2004 Feb;16(2):139-150. [doi: 10.1080/09540120410001640986] [Medline: 14676020]
- Casaló L, Flavián C, Ibáñez-Sánchez S. Influencers on Instagram: antecedents and consequences of opinion leadership. J Bus Res 2020 Sep;117:510-519. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.07.005</u>]
- 44. Baelden D, Van Audenhove L, Vergnani T. Using new technologies for stimulating interpersonal communication on HIV and AIDS. Telemat Informat 2012 May;29(2):166-176. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.tele.2011.05.002</u>]

- 45. Li L, Goodchild MF, Xu B. Spatial, temporal, and socioeconomic patterns in the use of Twitter and Flickr. Cartograph Geograph Inf Sci 2013 Mar;40(2):61-77. [doi: 10.1080/15230406.2013.777139]
- 46. Zor O, Kim K, Monga A. Tweets we like aren't alike: time of day affects engagement with vice and virtue tweets. J Consum Res 2021:1. [doi: 10.1093/jcr/ucab072]
- Taggart T, Grewe ME, Conserve DF, Gliwa C, Roman IM. Social media and HIV: a systematic review of uses of social media in HIV communication. J Med Internet Res 2015 Nov;17(11):e248 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.4387</u>] [Medline: <u>26525289</u>]

Abbreviations

aOR: adjusted odds ratio
API: application programming interface
AUC: area under the ROC curve
LASSO: least absolute shrinkage and selection operator
POL: popular opinion leader
PrEP: preexposure prophylaxis
ROC: receive operating curve
STI: sexually transmitted infection

Edited by H Bradley; submitted 06.08.21; peer-reviewed by P Nguyen, M Bardus; comments to author 21.02.22; revised version received 16.03.22; accepted 10.05.22; published 17.06.22.

Please cite as:

Oh J, Bonett S, Kranzler EC, Saconi B, Stevens R User- and Message-Level Correlates of Endorsement and Engagement for HIV-Related Messages on Twitter: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e32718 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e32718</u> doi:<u>10.2196/32718</u> <i>PMID:<u>35713945</u>

©Jimin Oh, Stephen Bonett, Elissa C Kranzler, Bruno Saconi, Robin Stevens. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 17.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Strengthening the Merci Mon Héros Campaign Through Adaptive Management: Application of Social Listening Methodology

Martha Silva¹, MPH, PhD; Jonathan Walker², MSc; Erin Portillo³, MPH; Leanne Dougherty⁴, MPH

¹Department of International Health and Sustainable Development, School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, United States

²Fluency, M&C Saatchi, New York, NY, United States

³Johns Hopkins Center for Communication Programs, Baltimore, MD, United States

⁴Population Council, Washington, DC, United States

Corresponding Author:

Martha Silva, MPH, PhD Department of International Health and Sustainable Development School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine Tulane University 1440 Canal Street Suite 2200 New Orleans, LA, 70112 United States Phone: 1 2023082374 Email: <u>msilva3@tulane.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Between 2014 and 2018, the penetration of smartphones in sub-Saharan Africa increased from 10% to 30%, enabling increased access to the internet, Facebook, Twitter, Pinterest, and YouTube. These platforms engage users in multidirectional communication and provide public health programs with the tools to inform and engage diverse audiences on a range of public health issues, as well as monitor opinions and behaviors on health topics.

Objective: This paper details the process used by the U.S. Agency for International Development–funded Breakthrough RESEARCH to apply social media monitoring and social listening techniques in Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Niger, and Togo for the adaptive management of the Merci Mon Héros campaign. We documented how these approaches were applied and how the lessons learned can be used to support future public health communication campaigns.

Methods: The process involved 6 steps: (1) ensure there is a sufficient volume of topic-specific web-based conversation in the target countries; (2) develop measures to monitor the campaign's social media strategy; (3) identify search terms to assess campaign and related conversations; (4) quantitatively assess campaign audience demographics, campaign reach, and engagement through social media monitoring; (5) qualitatively assess audience attitudes, opinions, and behaviors and understand conversation context through social media listening; and (6) adapt campaign content and approach based on the analysis of social media data.

Results: We analyzed posts across social media platforms from November 2019 to October 2020 based on identified key search terms related to family planning, reproductive health, menstruation, sexual activity, and gender. Based on the quantitative and qualitative assessments in steps 4 and 5, there were several adaptive shifts in the campaign's content and approach, of which the following 3 shifts are highlighted. (1) Social media monitoring identified that the Facebook campaign fans were primarily male, which prompted the campaign to target calls to action to the male audience already following the campaign and shift marketing approaches to increase the proportion of female followers. (2) Shorter videos had a higher chance of being viewed in their entirety. In response to this, the campaign shortened video lengths and created screenshot teasers to promote videos. (3) The most negative sentiment related to the campaign videos was associated with beliefs against premarital sex. In response to this finding, the campaign included videos and Facebook Live sessions with religious leaders who promoted talking openly with young people to support intergenerational discussion about reproductive health.

Conclusions: Prior to launching health campaigns, programs should test the most relevant social media platforms and their limitations. Inherent biases to internet and social media access are important challenges, and ethical considerations around data privacy must continue to guide the advances in this technology's use for research. However, social listening and social media

monitoring can be powerful monitoring and evaluation tools that can be used to aid the adaptive management of health campaigns that engage populations who have a digital presence.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e35663) doi:10.2196/35663

KEYWORDS

social media; health communication; young people; reproductive health

Introduction

In 2020, there were an estimated 3.8 billion social media users worldwide and approximately 5.2 billion smartphone users [1]. Between 2014 and 2018, the penetration of smartphones in sub-Saharan Africa increased from 10% to 30%, enabling increased access to the internet [2]. Although internet penetration is lower in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) than high-income countries, those in LMIC who have access to the internet through any devices are more likely to network using social media platforms [3]. Facebook, Twitter, Pinterest, and YouTube are the dominant social media platforms in most of francophone West Africa [4]. These platforms engage users in multidirectional communication and provide public health programs with the tools to inform and engage diverse audiences on a wide range of public health issues, as well as monitor opinions and behaviors on health topics [5,6]. Public health campaigns routinely include social media advertisements, create fan pages, and promote conversations on social media around campaign topics [7]. However, it is only in the last decade that evidence on the use of social media for health behavioral change campaigns has emerged in the literature for LMIC [8], with the focus primarily on reducing tobacco use [9], supporting patients undergoing HIV treatment [10], influencing sexual health behaviors [11], and influencing behaviors related to infectious diseases such as malaria [12]. Among the few studies focusing on adolescent sexual and reproductive health (SRH) behaviors, most address the acceptability of using social media to interact with young people and do not assess the extent to which social media campaigns have reached their intended audience and influenced health behaviors [13,14]. Studies using social listening techniques in LMIC have only recently emerged due to the relevance of these tools to monitor the COVID-19-related infodemic [15].

Adolescent pregnancy remains a major contributor to maternal and child mortality and intergenerational cycles of ill-health and poverty [16]. West and Central Africa have the highest annual adolescent birth rate in the world at 129 live births per 1000 young women aged 15-19 years, and the lowest use of modern contraception among all women at 16% [17,18]. Merci Mon Héros (MMH), or "Thank You My Hero" in French, is a multimedia campaign codeveloped and implemented by youth activists and the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID)-funded West Africa Breakthrough ACTION (WABA) projects. WABA is a regional, USAID-funded initiative aiming to increase the coordination and effectiveness of social and behavioral change interventions in 4 priority countries: Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Niger, and Togo. The MMH campaign is designed for youth and adults, with the aim of promoting an environment conducive to young people's informed, voluntary family planning (FP) and reproductive health (RH) service access in francophone West Africa. The youth-led campaign videos (described in Table 1) and other content such as quizzes, concerts, and recorded conversations are disseminated via social media platforms, including Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, and YouTube, as well as through more traditional channels, such as television, radio, community activities, and others.

The USAID-funded Breakthrough RESEARCH project, in partnership with M&C Saatchi, collaborated with WABA to apply social listening and social media monitoring as part of a multimethod adaptive management and impact evaluation strategy of the MMH campaign. Social media monitoring refers to quantitatively tracking mentions and comments on social media regarding a specific topic, whereas social listening allows public health campaigns to better understand the context of web-based interactions by qualitatively tracking and analyzing conversation content [19].

This paper details the process of applying social media monitoring and social listening for the adaptive management of the MMH campaign in 4 countries: Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Niger, and Togo. We documented how social media monitoring and social listening were applied to inform the MMH campaign and how the lessons learned can be used to support future public health campaigns.



Table 1. A sample of Merci Mon Héros campaign videos and Facebook Live events analyzed.

Video	Primary message	
Gracian	• Talk about sexuality with young people, without shame, from an early age so they can engage in healthy sexual and reproductive health behaviors	
Camara	Prepare young women for puberty and menarche with accurate informationTalk to young people about sexual and reproductive health	
Florence	 Young people need to know how to protect themselves Use a condom during sex to avoid the risk of sexually transmitted infections such as HIV 	
Mariette	• Girls need to be informed and educated about menstruation so they can prepare themselves psychologically and manage periods effectively	
Serge	• Talk with youth about life goals and priorities so they can make reproductive health and family planning choices ac- cordingly	
Fanta	• Provide accurate information to young people about sexual and reproductive health and the onset of menstruation	
Oury	• Inform youth about family planning options to avoid unintended pregnancy, and support rather than shame youth in the event of an unplanned pregnancy	
Kouamé	• Encourage young people to visit a health provider to learn more about contraceptive methods and choosing one that is right for them	
Sedjro	• Partner communication about family planning is important, and family planning decision-making should be shared	
Mme Camara	 Contraceptive methods can help plan pregnancies Select or switch family planning methods as needed according to your current needs and priorities 	
Aichatou	• Parents should speak openly with young people about sexual and reproductive health, regardless of the parent's or child's sex or gender	
Facebook Live events	 Female puberty Male puberty The menstrual cycle and calculating the fertile window 	

Methods

Applying Social Listening to the MMH Campaign

The process of applying social media monitoring and social listening to the MMH campaign involved 6 steps: (1) ensure there is a sufficient volume of topic-specific web-based conversation in your target countries; (2) develop measures to monitor the campaign social media strategy; (3) identify search terms to assess campaign and related conversations; (4) quantitatively assess campaign audience demographics, campaign reach, and engagement through social media monitoring; (5) qualitatively assess audience attitudes, opinions, and behaviors and understand conversation context through social media listening; and (6) adapt campaign content and approach based on the analysis of social media data. Data requirements, procedures, considerations, and illustrative results are described under each step of the outlined process.

Ethics Approval

RenderX

This study obtained exempted status from the Population Council Institutional Review Board (EX2019011).

Step 1: Ensure There Is a Sufficient Volume of Topic-Specific Web-Based Conversation in Your Target Countries

When starting any social listening exercise, it is necessary to first establish whether there is a sufficient volume of conversation to analyze. Typically, this is done by conducting a quick exploratory search of web-based content using a select group of keywords. This search string can be enhanced at a later point (see step 3)—at this point the purpose is simply to ensure that conversation does exist. There is no expected benchmark for the volume of posts, as this will vary substantially based on topic and review period. Broadening search terms if a limited volume of conversation is found may be useful for exploratory purposes. However, as the search string is honed and rules are defined, the sample of relevant posts will be reduced. If social listening is used to assess changes in web-based conversation before and after an intervention, nonexistent or limited content can still serve as a baseline measure.

Step 2: Develop Measures to Monitor the Campaign Social Media Strategy

The MMH campaign was designed to create "surround sound" coverage through multiple channels and reach its 2 priority audiences—young people aged <24 years and adults aged ≥ 25

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35663
```

JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e35663 | p.71 (page number not for citation purposes)

years who support and interact with them-in different ways. The goal of sharing content through social media channels was to leverage this space to normalize the habit of talking about youth SRH and contraception needs and empower young people to share their own stories and seek the information that would help them make informed, voluntary FP choices for their future. A team of young campaign designers from francophone Africa provided input into the channel selection. Facebook, Instagram, and YouTube were selected because they were considered the social media platforms most used by young people in the region. Throughout the campaign, Facebook was the most consistently used platform by MMH audiences, and as such, the web-based campaign strategy was largely developed with Facebook's format in mind (ie, short videos, quizzes, static images, frequency of posts, and livestreams). Twitter was included in the web-based strategy to reach relevant organizations and

decision-makers. To contribute to MMH's "brand" on the internet and with an aim of being enveloped into existing web-based SRH conversations, the campaign created 2 hashtags—#MerciMonHéros and #BrisezLesTabous ("break taboos" in French)—and complementary topical (eg, hashtag #sexualité) and video-specific (eg, hashtag #Héros2Mariette) hashtags for each of the first 5 campaign videos.

We identified conversation volume as a key indicator to track changes over the time for topic-specific social media posts and comments related to FP, RH, and other relevant subtopics such as puberty and menstruation. Key indicators were also selected to help us track social media users' interaction with the campaign. Table 2 defines the 4 indicators identified at the start of the campaign to assess progress: conversation volume, reach, engagement, and views.

Table 2.	Social	media	indicators
----------	--------	-------	------------

Indicator	Definition
Conversation volume	The number of social media posts pertaining to a specific topic (ie, menstruation, etc).
Reach	The number of screens that viewed the MMH ^a videos.
Engagement	The number of times people engaged with MMH posts through reactions, comments, shares, retweets, mentions, and likes. Engagement can occur through paid promotion or when social media users organically find the campaign content.
Views	The number of MMH video views of at least 30 seconds, where each video is at least 2 minutes long.

^aMMH: Merci Mon Héros.

Step 3: Identify Search Terms to Assess Campaign and Related Conversations

To analyze social media content thematically, we defined search terms to identify social media conversations related to the campaign's topics of interest. The Breakthrough RESEARCH team developed a set of relevant keywords to capture conversations about behaviors supporting young people's conversations about and access to FP and RH services. The keywords included but were not limited to first sex, condoms, contraception, menstruation, and pregnancy, etc. These keywords were then shared with local youth stakeholders through Breakthrough ACTION to ensure we captured not only the correct usage in the local French language but also any known slang versions. These translated and context-specific search terms were entered into a Boolean search string-a type of search that allows users to combine or exclude keywords-designed to identify conversations across social media that were most relevant to the selected search terms. We used Crimson Hexagon's BrightView algorithm for text analysis software to analyze social media data [20]. The Crimson Hexagon software searched all public-facing social media for relevant conversations, including mentions from the Facebook campaign page, Twitter, social newsfeeds, blogs, forums, Reddit, Tumblr, and YouTube. Privacy limitations relating to Facebook and Instagram only allow a very limited number of posts to be included in the analysis beyond the Facebook campaign page. We collected social media content from October 2018 to October 2019 (baseline) and from November 2019 to January 2021 (initial campaign implementation period). Given that certain keywords generate a sizeable volume of irrelevant conversation, we used 2 techniques to minimize irrelevant conversation. By

RenderX

filtering our search and tying the keywords of interest to pronouns (eg, "I," "my," "his," and "her," etc), a substantial volume of irrelevant noise was cleaned from the results, ensuring the sample contained posts more suitable for qualitative analysis. In addition, we used machine learning technology to train the software to reduce irrelevant content by training our algorithm to classify a selection of social posts into key topic areas. Once a representative sample was completed by human classification, the machine learning algorithm then analyzed the remaining untrained posts and classified them accordingly based on the language and content detected in the posts.

Step 4: Quantitatively Assess Campaign Audience Demographics, Campaign Reach, and Engagement Through Social Media Monitoring

We used social media monitoring techniques to quantify campaign engagement and track conversation volume during campaign implementation. Using demographic characteristics associated with user profiles, we further disaggregated campaign platform engagement by age, sex, and geographic location to understand the audience's demographic characteristics.

Step 5: Qualitatively Assess Audience Attitudes, Opinions, and Behaviors and Understand Conversation Context Through Social Media Listening

We used Brandwatch, a social listening tool that enables analysts to investigate the data in various ways and at a granular level using topic wheels, word clouds, topic clustering, and bigram analysis. Data visualization options within the tool allow users to identify emerging themes. Some of the different techniques we used are outlined below:
- Topic wheel: This allows analysts to view the most frequently recurring keywords and phrases, which helps to easily identify how the main research themes relate to subthemes.
- Word clouds: Word clouds enable analysts to identify the most important and newly trending words, hashtags, emojis, and associated entities (people, places, and organizations) in the query.
- Topic clustering: Topic clustering displays topics and subtopics for segments of the overall data. The topics visualized in the output are selected based on how unique they are to the chosen segments. Clusters can be further filtered to identify positive or negative sentiment.
- Bigram analysis: A bigram analysis uses unstructured text data and measures how often words occur next to each other in text. This is a useful tool to identify emerging themes for further qualitative exploration.

Social listening findings validated the relevance of prioritized campaign topics (ie, the importance of encouraging honest dialogue about menstruation between parents and youth). We also quantified topic-specific conversation volumes for comparison at baseline (from October 2018 to October 2019) and endline (from November 2019 to January 2021) to assess if topic-specific conversation was increasing.

Step 6: Adapt Campaign Content and Approach Based on the Analysis of Social Media Data

After using data visualization techniques to analyze the general social media conversation and campaign-specific engagement, we shared reports with WABA to inform evidence-based adaptations to the MMH campaign.

Results

Figure 1 summarizes the conversation volume over the course of implementation and highlights when spikes in conversations related to campaign video themes occurred on social media. We found that 71% (20,611/29,030) of campaign followers were male social media users, with 60% (17,418/29,030) of the total users aged <24 years.

Table 3 shows the geographic distribution of campaign engagement by Facebook users, which, interestingly, does not mirror the levels of internet penetration. Among all Facebook users who engaged with the campaign content, most (32.28%, 937/2903) are from Ouagadougou, followed by Lomé (16.12%, 468/2903), Abidjan (14.16%, 411/2903), and Niamey (4.79%, 139/2903). Routine monitoring of Facebook page views indicated that although paid promotion of the campaign content garnered more campaign reach, organic viewers had better campaign video completion rates than paid promotion viewers (viewers who watched campaign videos to the end: 3.9%, 1031/26,435 vs 0.7%, 185/26,435, respectively).

The reports we shared with WABA provided extensive information related to trends in the conversation volume, campaign engagement, relevant hashtags, and extensive anonymized content data with direct quotes from user-generated content (see Table 4). Findings from the reports were used for program refinement throughout the initial MMH campaign period and beyond the social media monitoring time frames (beyond January 2021).

Figure 1. Merci Mon Héros conversation volume over the implementation period (from November 1, 2019, to October 20, 2020).





Table 3.	Distribution of	Facebook users	who engaged	l with the	Merci Mon	Héros campaig	n content by	v cit	v
Lance St	Distribution of	I decoord users	who cheuzee	i with the	Tricici Inion	incros cumpuiz	n content o	y CIL	y.
			0.0.						

City	Users (N=2903), n (%)
Ouagadougou	937 (32.28)
Lomé	467 (16.09)
Abidjan	411 (14.16)
Conakry	165 (5.68)
Niamey	139 (4.79)
Libreville	68 (2.34)
Bobo Dioulasso	62 (2.14)
Bamako	61 (2.1)
Cotonou	59 (2.03)
Kinshasa	44 (1.52)

Table 4. Illustrative findings from the Merci Mon Héros social media monitoring and program adjustments.

Social media monitoring finding	Program adjustment
Organic engagement yielded more engagement with the campaign than paid promotion alone.	 Maintained paid promotional posts to direct traffic to the site Looked into free ways to pull people in (Instagram and Facebook stories, Tweetups with multiple organizations, song and poetry contest, and increasing responses to individual social media posts) Researched other organizations and individuals with whom to collaborate
Facebook fans were primarily male.	 Shifted promotion campaigns toward young women Included increased calls for action targeting men, including messages around consent and talking to other men about reproductive health, etc.
Shorter videos increased view times.	 Shortened video duration Created video screenshot teasers to increase the likelihood a video would be watched
Menstruation topical content and Facebook Lives have some of the highest engagement levels.	• Decided to continue to include menstruation content and conduct at least 1 Facebook Live per month
The most negative sentiment tied to the campaign was as- sociated with religious or cultural beliefs against premarital sex.	 Included videos and Facebook Lives with religious leaders who promoted talking openly with young people about reproductive health Developed content about how social support to young parents is more beneficial than rejecting young (single) parents

Discussion

The application of these 6 steps to inform the MMH campaign led to several challenges and lessons learned, reflecting the limitations of this methodology.

Internet Users and Social Media Access

World Bank data indicate that internet penetration rates vary considerably in each of the 4 countries under review. Côte d'Ivoire's internet penetration was estimated at approximately 36% in 2019. This compares to approximately 16%, 12%, and 5% in Burkina Faso (2017), Togo (2017), and Niger (2018), respectively [21]. Further, social media would be accessed by just a subset of the web-based population, with urban, socioeconomic, and education skews [3]. However, given that social media was one of the media chosen for campaign implementation, potential biases posed by the methodology used for this study do not differ to those posed by the web-based campaign itself.

Topic Volumes

Due to the highly nuanced nature of the conversation, topic volumes should not be viewed as complete or exhaustive. First, the search strings were created to minimize irrelevant conversation in the analysis. However, it is unlikely that a search string will ever be completely exhaustive due to the vast combination of words that could be used to discuss the topic, especially across multiple languages.

Second, some posts could feasibly sit across multiple topics, yet they are assigned to just one to analyze guideline volumetrics for the conversation. However, given the same principles and classifications are applied consistently across the analysis, we view the results as representative of the total conversation.

Topic Sources

The analysis was designed to extract the mentions of public-facing social media platforms, including Twitter, YouTube comments, forums, blogs, Reddit, Pinterest, and Tumblr, etc. Notable exemptions from this list are Facebook,

Instagram, and WhatsApp. Social listening tools such as Crimson Hexagon cannot track these sites due to their privacy policies. The only Facebook page that was included in this analysis is the Merci Mon Héros campaign page. Giving social listening analysts administrative access to campaign pages is crucial to be able to effectively conduct social media monitoring and social listening on Facebook.

Machine Learning

Processes that involve machine learning should not be considered "standardized" given that the algorithms used for these analyses are constantly learning. As such, the machine becomes more accurate over time as it continues to understand the nuance within the topic material.

Lessons Learned

There are many important differences between traditional research methodologies and social media monitoring and listening, yet each adds useful elements to the monitoring and evaluation of health campaigns. Population-based quantitative surveys allow researchers to develop findings that are generalizable and standardized and enable data disaggregation. Traditional qualitative research techniques allow for in-depth probing to explore and understand the themes of interest. In contrast, social listening techniques enable users to rapidly synthesize the universe of web-based chatter around selected topics. Demographic data for individual posts are not accessible, making data interpretation more challenging. Techniques for identifying sex, age, and socioeconomic status are evolving, mostly based on analyzing the keywords and account activity associated with individual profiles. As artificial intelligence becomes more sophisticated, social listening platforms will improve at detecting the demographic detail of users, and thus, this technology's use in research will continue to require careful ethical consideration.

Nonetheless, social media listening data can be quantified and tracked over time and used to retrospectively and prospectively analyze the data. Qualitative themes can be assessed, although these techniques do not allow for additional probing for clarification or the more nuanced understanding achieved by real-time traditional qualitative techniques. The following lessons were learned from the application of social media monitoring and social listening to the MMH campaign.

Future public health social media campaigns must:

- Understand who uses social media in the implementation countries and consider how the campaign's target audience and content align with the audiences that are active on social media platforms.
- Assess which social media platforms are most active and relevant in the country of interest and the privacy limitations associated with these platforms. Relatedly, if Facebook or Instagram are the key platforms for the target audiences in the country, it is crucial that social listening analysts have administrative access to campaign pages.
- Pilot multiple engagement strategies adapted to the social media channel (ie, Facebook and Instagram, etc.) to test, through social monitoring and listening, which strategies are associated with higher engagement in adolescent sexual health–related posts.
- Pair designated hashtags representing the goals of the campaign to facilitate the monitoring of conversations. The implementation of these hashtags should be consistent across social media channels.

Conclusion

Social listening and social media monitoring are effective monitoring and evaluation support tools that can be used to aid adaptive management. With the rise in internet and social media penetration as well as the accelerated development of artificial intelligence to enhance rapid data extraction and analysis tools, these methodologies will become increasingly relevant for public health research and evaluation. Researchers should continue to look for tools that minimize or eliminate the need for in-person data collection to avoid disruptions to data collection such as those experienced at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Inherent biases that exist around internet and social media access are important challenges that limit these methodologies. Additionally, ethical considerations around data privacy must continue to guide advances in this technology's use for research. However, for health communication campaigns that already engage populations who have a digital presence, social listening and social media monitoring can be powerful monitoring and evaluation tools.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge the West Africa Breakthrough ACTION youth consultants who promoted the Merci Mon Héros campaign across francophone West Africa.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

RenderX

- 1. Kemp S. Digital 2020: 3.8 billion people use social media. We Are Social. 2020 Jan 30. URL: <u>https://wearesocial.com/uk/blog/2020/01/digital-2020-3-8-billion-people-use-social-media</u> [accessed 2021-09-15]
- Kalvin B, Suardi S. Connected society: the state of mobile internet connectivity. GSMA. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.gsma.com/mobilefordevelopment/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/GSMA-State-of-Mobile-Internet-Connectivity-Report-2019.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-09-15]

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35663

- Social media use continues to rise in developing countries but plateaus across developed ones. Pew Research Center. 2018 Jun 19. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/global/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2018/06/</u> Pew-Research-Center-Global-Tech-Social-Media-Use-2018.06.19.pdf [accessed 2021-09-15]
- Social media stats worldwide. StatCounter Global Stats. URL: <u>https://gs.statcounter.com/social-media-stats</u> [accessed 2021-09-08]
- Capurro D, Cole K, Echavarría MI, Joe J, Neogi T, Turner AM. The use of social networking sites for public health practice and research: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Mar 14;16(3):e79 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2679] [Medline: 24642014]
- 6. Kass-Hout TA, Alhinnawi H. Social media in public health. Br Med Bull 2013 Oct 08;108(1):5-24. [doi: 10.1093/bmb/ldt028] [Medline: 24103335]
- Abroms LC. Public health in the era of social media. Am J Public Health 2019 Feb;109(S2):S130-S131. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2018.304947] [Medline: 30785795]
- Hagg E, Dahinten VS, Currie LM. The emerging use of social media for health-related purposes in low and middle-income countries: a scoping review. Int J Med Inform 2018 Jul;115:92-105 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.04.010] [Medline: 29779724]
- Hamill S, Turk T, Murukutla N, Ghamrawy M, Mullin S. I 'like' MPOWER: using Facebook, online ads and new media to mobilise tobacco control communities in low-income and middle-income countries. Tob Control 2015 May 13;24(3):306-312. [doi: 10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2012-050946] [Medline: 24335477]
- 10. van der Kwaak A, Obare F, Ormel H. Sexual and reproductive desires and practices of Kenyan young positives: opportunities for skills building through social media. KTI Royal Tropical Institute. 2011 Jan 17. URL: <u>https://www.kit.nl/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/1912_Sexual-and-reproductive-desires-and.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-09-15]
- Purdy CH. Using the internet and social media to promote condom use in Turkey. Reprod Health Matters 2011 May;19(37):157-165. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0968-8080(11)37549-0</u>] [Medline: <u>21555096</u>]
- 12. Carpentier B. Malaria prevention through social media. International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies. URL: <u>https://communityengagementhub.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2020/04/</u> Malaria-and-social-media_Southeast-Asia-FINAL-with-NRC-Logo_1-May.pdf [accessed 2021-09-08]
- Pfeiffer C, Kleeb M, Mbelwa A, Ahorlu C. The use of social media among adolescents in Dar es Salaam and Mtwara, Tanzania. Reprod Health Matters 2014 May;22(43):178-186. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0968-8080(14)43756-X</u>] [Medline: <u>24908469</u>]
- Yonker LM, Zan S, Scirica CV, Jethwani K, Kinane TB. "Friending" teens: systematic review of social media in adolescent and young adult health care. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 05;17(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.3692</u>] [Medline: <u>25560751</u>]
- 15. Sommariva S, Mote J, Ballester Bon H, Razafindraibe H, Ratovozanany D, Rasoamanana V, et al. Social listening in Eastern and Southern Africa, a UNICEF risk communication and community engagement strategy to address the COVID-19 infodemic. Health Secur 2021 Feb 01;19(1):57-64. [doi: 10.1089/hs.2020.0226] [Medline: 33606573]
- 16. Adolescent pregnancy. World Health Organization. 2020 Jan 31. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/</u> adolescent-pregnancy [accessed 2021-09-08]
- 17. Loaiza E, Liang M. Adolescent pregnancy: a review of the evidence. UNFPA. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.unfpa.org/sites/</u> <u>default/files/pub-pdf/ADOLESCENT%20PREGNANCY_UNFPA.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-15]
- FP2020 Core Indicator Data File. Track20. 2020. URL: <u>http://www.track20.org/download/xls/</u> FP2020_2020_FullEstimateTables_ONLINE.xlsx [accessed 2021-09-08]
- 19. Pomputius A. Can you hear me now? social listening as a strategy for understanding user needs. Med Ref Serv Q 2019 Jun 07;38(2):181-186. [doi: 10.1080/02763869.2019.1588042] [Medline: 31173567]
- 20. Brandwatch. URL: https://www.brandwatch.com/#from-ch [accessed 2021-09-08]
- 21. Individuals using the internet (% of the population). World Bank. URL: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IT.NET.USER.</u> ZS [accessed 2021-08-08]

Abbreviations

FP: family planning
LMIC: low- and middle-income countries
MMH: Merci Mon Héros
RH: reproductive health
SRH: sexual and reproductive health
USAID: U.S. Agency for International Development
WABA: West Africa Breakthrough ACTION

Edited by H Bradley; submitted 12.12.21; peer-reviewed by R Rajan, N Hu; comments to author 24.02.22; revised version received 09.03.22; accepted 10.05.22; published 28.06.22. <u>Please cite as:</u>

Silva M, Walker J, Portillo E, Dougherty L Strengthening the Merci Mon Héros Campaign Through Adaptive Management: Application of Social Listening Methodology JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e35663 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35663</u> doi:<u>10.2196/35663</u> PMID:<u>35763319</u>

©Martha Silva, Jonathan Walker, Erin Portillo, Leanne Dougherty. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 28.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Distribution of HIV and AIDS Cases in Luzhou, China, From 2011 to 2020: Bayesian Spatiotemporal Analysis

Ningjun Ren^{1*}, MPH; Yuansheng Li^{1*}, MPH; Ruolan Wang^{1*}, MPH; Wenxin Zhang¹, MPH; Run Chen¹, MSc; Ticheng Xiao², BSc; Hang Chen², BSc; Ailing Li¹, MSc; Song Fan¹, PhD

¹School of Public Health, Southwest Medical University, Luzhou, China

²Department of HIV/AIDS Control and Prevention, Luzhou Center For Disease Control and Prevention, Luzhou, China

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Song Fan, PhD School of Public Health Southwest Medical University No.1, Section 1, Xianglin Road Longmatan District Luzhou, 646000 China Phone: 86 8303175813 Email: fansong@swmu.edu.cn

Abstract

Background: The vastly increasing number of reported HIV and AIDS cases in Luzhou, China, in recent years, coupled with the city's unique geographical location at the intersection of 4 provinces, makes it particularly important to conduct a spatiotemporal analysis of HIV and AIDS cases.

Objective: The aim of this study is to understand the spatiotemporal distribution of HIV and the factors influencing this distribution in Luzhou, China, from 2011 to 2020.

Methods: Data on the incidence of HIV and AIDS in Luzhou from 2011 to 2020 were obtained from the AIDS Information Management System of the Luzhou Center for Disease Control and Prevention. ArcGIS was used to visualize the spatiotemporal distribution of HIV and AIDS cases. The Bayesian spatiotemporal model was used to investigate factors affecting the spatiotemporal distribution of HIV and AIDS, including the gross domestic product (GDP) per capita, urbanization rate, number of hospital beds, population density, and road mileage.

Results: The reported incidence of HIV and AIDS rose from 8.50 cases per 100,000 population in 2011 to 49.25 cases per 100,000 population in 2020—an increase of 578.87%. In the first 5 years, hotspots were concentrated in Jiangyang district, Longmatan district, and Luxian county. After 2016, Luzhou's high HIV incidence areas gradually shifted eastward, with Hejiang county having the highest average prevalence rate (41.68 cases per 100,000 population) from 2011 to 2020, being 2.28 times higher than that in Gulin county (18.30 cases per 100,000), where cold spots were concentrated. The risk for the incidence of HIV and AIDS was associated with the urbanization rate, population density, and GDP per capita. For every 1% increase in the urbanization rate, the relative risk (RR) increases by 1.3%, while an increase of 100 people per square kilometer would increase the RR by 8.7%; for every 1000 Yuan (US \$148.12) increase in GDP per capita, the RR decreases by 1.5%.

Conclusions: In Luzhou, current HIV and AIDS prevention and control efforts must be focused on the location of each district or county government; we suggest the region balance urban development and HIV and AIDS prevention. Moreover, more attention should be paid to economically disadvantaged areas.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e37491) doi:10.2196/37491

KEYWORDS

RenderX

HIV and AIDS; reported incidence; Bayesian model; spatio-temporal distribution

Introduction

HIV and AIDS have been prevalent in China for more than 30 years. HIV and AIDS have become one of China's significant public health problems as it causes suffering to patients and seriously hinders healthy socioeconomic development [1]. Luzhou, located in southeastern Sichuan Province, is a central city in the combined region of Sichuan, Yunnan, Guizhou, and Chongqing, and is also an area in Sichuan Province, where the reported HIV epidemic is growing rapidly [2,3]. Despite considerable efforts by local governments, there remains much work required to fulfill the Political Declaration requirements on HIV and AIDS [4].

At present, domestic research on AIDS mainly focuses on epidemiology, prevention and control, clinical characteristics, etiology, and sociology [1]. By contrast, less research has been conducted on the process of its spatiotemporal spread. Nevertheless, some epidemiology studies have shown that the spread and distribution of HIV are closely related to geospatial factors [5]. Furthermore, although traditional regression models require variables of individuals to be independent of each other, these variables are likely to be correlated with each other owing to the influence of a familiar environment. Therefore, to identify deeper risk factors, researchers use Bayesian spatiotemporal models to be consistent with the correlation between individuals; to identify deeper risk factors, researchers use Bayesian spatiotemporal models that take into account spatial correlations. Yin et al [6] have used Bayesian spatiotemporal analysis to discover the impact of urbanization and residence on tuberculosis in other areas. Tian et al [7] have analyzed the impact of urbanization on the prevalence of scarlet fever. Card et al [8] reviewed the application of geographic information systems in HIV and emphasized the need for careful planning of resources concerning the geospatial movement and location of people living with HIV. Therefore, this study uses a Bayesian spatiotemporal model to analyze the impact of relevant data on the spatiotemporal distribution of HIV in Luzhou from 2011 to 2020 and provide a point of reference for the precise prevention and control of HIV in other prefecture-level cities in southwest China.

Methods

Ethics Approval

This study has been approved by the ethics committee of Southwest Medical University (KY2020225).

Data Sources

The data on reported HIV and AIDS cases at district and township levels, in Luzhou, Sichuan province, from January 2011 to December 2020 were obtained from the AIDS Information Management System of the Luzhou Centre for Disease Control and Prevention; the date of registered onset and current address were collected for each case. Population data for each administrative district or township at year-end were collected from the Luzhou Bureau of Statistics, covering the years 2011 to 2020, obtained from the statistical yearbook [9] of the Luzhou Bureau of Statistics and relevant data provided by the Luzhou Health and Wellness Commission.

We downloaded the fundamental geographic data of municipal boundary with a scale of 1:400,000 from the National Geomatics of China, using ArcGIS (version 10.5; Environmental Systems Research Institute) to describe the spatial distribution of HIV and AIDS in Luzhou at the district and street levels. HIV and AIDS incidence rates were calculated at the city, district (county), and street (township) levels; a Bayesian spatiotemporal analysis was performed at the district and county levels, and spatial autocorrelation analysis was performed at the street and township levels.

Analysis of Demographic Characteristics

We collected the following demographic information from the Luzhou Statistical Yearbook for use in the Bayesian spatiotemporal model and changed the units of some of the data to improve the final presentation: (1) population (the number of individuals who have lived in Luzhou for more than 6 months); (2) gross domestic product (GDP) per capita (the GDP divided by the population of the region), with 1000 Yuan (US \$147.48) as the unit; (3) the urbanization rate (which is divided by the county's resident population); (4) disposable income per capita (the sum of the final consumption expenditures and savings available to residents; ie, the income available for discretionary use), using 1000 Yuan (US \$147.48) as the unit; (5) total road mileage in the territory (the length of roads within the districts and counties of Luzhou); (6) the number of practicing (assistant) physicians and hospital beds (the number of physicians and beds per 1000 people within the area during the observation period); (7) and population density (the number of permanent residents divided by the total area of the district or county). The above data are based on the yearbook published in the current year.

Spatial Autocorrelation Analysis

Spatial autocorrelation statistics have been commonly used to understand the spatial distribution and structure of diseases; they also allow for examining spatial dependence or autocorrelation in spatial data [10,11]. According to Waldo Tobler's first law of geography, "everything is related to everything else, but near things are more related than distant things"; therefore, neighboring counties' or townships' incidence rates of HIV should be more similar than those of nonneighboring counties or townships [12]. Spatial autocorrelation includes global spatial autocorrelation, which is used to estimate the overall degree of autocorrelation of spatial data, and local indicators of spatial association (LISA), which are used to assess the impact of individual locations on global statistics and determine the location and type of clusters. We performed all of the above analyses using GeoDa (version 1.10.0.8; Center for Spatial Data Science).

The Moran *I* is computed as follows [13]:



LISA are computed as follows [14]:



	×

Where n is the number of districts, x_i and x_j are the values of the reported HIV and AIDS cases of districts *i* and *j*, respectively. x^- represents the average of all district-reported HIV and AIDS cases, and w_{ij} is the spatial weight matrix corresponding to the district pair *i* and *j*. In calculating the global autocorrelation, the Moran *I*, a negative correlation is indicated when I < 0 and P < .05, and a positive correlation is indicated when I > 0 and P < .05; the larger the value of *I*, the more obvious the spatial correlation.

Bayesian Spatiotemporal Model Analysis

We studied the impact of the resident population, urbanization rate, disposable income per capita, GDP per capita, road mileage, number of physicians, and population density on the reported incidence of HIV using HIV case data and population data for each district from 2011 to 2020. In this study, it was assumed that the number of HIV cases in the *i*th (*i*=1,2,...,7) district in the *t*th (*t*=1,2,...,10) year followed a Poisson distribution, meaning y_{it} ~ Poisson(λ_{it}) and $E(y_{it}) = \lambda_{it} = e_{it}\theta_{it}$.

 e_{it} denotes the expected number of HIV cases in year *t* in district *I*; θ_{it} denotes the ratio of the number of actual cases to the expected number of cases in year *t* in district *i*, which is the RR of disease incidence. We use the log function form of θ_{it} to build a Bayes model, computed as follows [15]. β_0 is the intercept, x_i (*i* =1,2, ..., 6) represents the urbanization rate, disposable income per capita, GDP per capita, road mileage, physicians, and density, respectively. β_1 to β_6 denote the regression coefficients of the corresponding variables.

 u_i is the spatial structure effect, reflecting spatial dependence, which is assumed to obey a conditional autoregressive process, with a Gaussian distribution, and the mean being the weighted average of neighboring regions u_i , $i \neq j$, computed as follows

×

The Bayesian spatiotemporal model analysis applies the CARBayesST and CARBayes packages in R (version 4.1.0; R Foundation for Statistical Computing) to estimate parameter values using Markov chain Monte Carlo simulations, resulting in mean values and 95% CIs for the posterior estimates of the parameters [17].

the temporal effect v_{t-1} at the previous time (ie, $v_t = \rho v_{t-1} + t_t$).

×

Results

Spatiotemporal Analysis of HIV and AIDS Incidence

A total of 13,111 HIV and AIDS cases were reported in Luzhou, Sichuan province, from 2011 to 2020. The reported incidence of HIV and AIDS rose from 8.50 cases per 100,000 population in 2011 to 49.25 cases per 100,000 in 2020, an increase of 578.87%. Table 1 shows that Hejiang county has the highest average incidence (41.68 cases per 100,000 populations) from 2011 to 2020, 2.28 times higher than that in Gulin county (18.30 cases per 100,000 population), which has the lowest average incidence rate. The highest cumulative number of cases occurred in Hejiang and Luxian counties, with 2904 and 2758 cases, respectively, during the last 10 years. In contrast, Gulin county has the lowest cumulative number of cases, only (1238/2904, 42.6%) of the cases in Hejiang county. The number of cases in each region showed an increasing trend year by year. The highest number of cases occurred in 2019, with 2850 new cases citywide, of which 688 cases were reported in Hejiang county. Figure 1 shows the change in HIV and AIDS in Luzhou from 2011-2020, where darker the color, more the HIV and AIDS cases.

Table 1. The number of HIV and AIDS cases and incidence rates by district and county in Luzhou from 2011 to 2020.

Year	Cases per district, n/N (per 100,000)						
	Jiangyang	Naxi	Longmatan	Luxian	Hejiang	Xuyong	Gulin
2011	59/585,000	30/445,000	72/352,000	71/832,000	59/707,000	29/581,000	38/706,000
	(10.09)	(6.74)	(20.45)	(8.53)	(8.35)	(4.99)	(5.38)
2012	69/586,000	35/443,000	62/358,000	99/825,000	66/706,000	66/578,000	46/701,000
	(11.77)	(7.90)	(17.32)	(12.00)	(9.35)	(11.42)	(6.56)
2013	95/595,000	48/427,000	69/360,000	185/824,000	94/697,000	69/572,000	79/692,000
	(15.97)	(11.24)	(19.17)	(22.45)	(13.49)	(12.06)	(11.42)
2014	135/606,000	61/418,000	88/369,000	163/814,000	126/695,000	67/568,000	80/685,000
	(22.28)	(14.59)	(23.85)	(20.02)	(18.13)	(11.80)	(11.68)
2015	136/526,000	72/408,000	115/384,000	278/816,000	154/699,600	109/566,000	93/678,000
	(25.86)	(17.65)	(29.95)	(34.07)	(22.01)	(19.26)	(13.72)
2016	168/654,000	127/399,000	116/407,000	298/807,000	262/696,000	137/564,000	103/672,000
	(25.69)	(31.83)	(28.50)	(36.93)	(37.64)	(24.29)	(15.33)
2017	235/681,000	197/389,000	145/426,000	309/797,000	276/695,000	171/562,000	139/664,000
	(34.51)	(50.64)	(34.04)	(38.77)	(39.71)	(30.43)	(20.93)
2018	257/707,000	292/378,000	199/444,000	467/786,000	646/692,000	274/559,000	230/660,000
	(36.35)	(77.25)	(44.82)	(59.41)	(93.35)	(49.02)	(34.85)
2019	394/737,000	351/367,000	216/464,000	565/773,000	688/691,000	406/556,000	230/656,000
	(53.46)	(95.64)	(46.55)	(73.09)	(99.57)	(73.02)	(35.06)
2020	361/762,000	202/355,000	184/480,000	323/765,000	533/689,000	293/553,000	200/652,000
	(47.38)	(56.90)	(38.33)	(42.22)	(77.36)	(52.98)	(30.67)
Average	1909/6,439,000	1415/4,029,000	1266/4,044,000	2758/8,039,000	2904/6,967,600	1621/5,659,000	1238/6,766,000
	(29.65)	(35.12)	(31.31)	(34.31)	(41.68)	(28.64)	(18.30)

Figure 1. Reported HIV and AIDS incidence rates by street/township in Luzhou from 2011 to 2020.





XSL•FO RenderX

Bayesian Analysis of HIV and AIDS Cases

We used a Bayesian spatiotemporal model to analyze factors such as urbanization rate, GDP per capita, road mileage, physicians, beds, and density, finding that urbanization rate and density increased the RR of having HIV, while GDP was a protective factor. For every 1% increase in the urbanization rate, the RR increases by 1.3%, while an increase of 100 people per square kilometer would increase the RR by 8.7%.

Table 2. Bayesian model regression coefficient values.

Furthermore, for every 1000 Yuan (US \$148.12) increase in GDP per capita, the RR value decreases by 1.5%. By contrast, the influence of the number of beds and road mileage on the risk of acquiring an HIV infection was not significant (Table 2). From 2011 to 2020, the GDP per capita of Luzhou City rose from 17,000 Yuan (US \$2518.00) to 48,100 Yuan (US \$7124.45), and the urbanization rate rose from 38.8% to 52%, while the population density remained at approximately 350 people per square kilometer, as shown in Figure 2.

Variable	Median (95% CI)	A posteriori estimated relative risk values (95% CI)
Gross domestic product per capita	-0.016 (-0.0296 to -0.0048)	0.985 (0.973 to 0.999)
Urbanization rate	0.014 (0.004 to 0.027)	1.013 (1.000 to 1.027)
Density	0.092 (0.033 to 0.159)	1.087 (1.020 to 1.164)
Road mileage	0.002 (0.000 to 0.005)	1.002 (1.000 to 1.004)
Number of beds	0.018 (-0.035 to 0.069)	1.019 (0.967 to 1.074)





Spatial Autocorrelation Analysis of HIV and AIDS Incidence

The HIV and AIDS incidence in Luzhou at the township (street) level from 2011 to 2020 is shown in Multimedia Appendix 1. The highest incidence occurred in Danlin Township, Anfu Street, Fuji Township, Hetou Township, and Ganyu Township. Table 3 shows the results of the spatial autocorrelation analysis on HIV and AIDS incidence over the last decade, with Moran I values ranging from 0.174 to 0.483 (P<.05 for each Moran I value). This analysis indicates a high positive spatial autocorrelation of HIV and AIDS incidence at the street (township) level.

Figure 3 illustrates the distribution of LISA values across Luzhou City. It shows the high-high (HH) incidence clusters in Taian township, Anfu township, and Lianhuachi township from 2011 to 2015. Since 2016, HH incidence clusters have moved toward the southeast, including some streets in Hejiang county. Most townships in Naxi county, Longmatan district, and Luxian county have transitioned to being without obvious spatial clustering after 2015. This analysis also showed that clusters of "cold spots" in core low-low areas were located in most townships in Gulin county. A map of the districts and counties of Luzhou is provided in Multimedia Appendix 2 to facilitate clarification of the administrative divisions of Luzhou.



Table 3. The results of the spatial autocorrelation test on HIV and AIDS incidence in China from 2011 to 2020.

Year	Moran I	E(I)	Z value	P value
2011	0.211	-0.0082	4.1506	.003
2012	0.174	-0.0082	3.3516	.005
2013	0.246	-0.0082	4.3966	.001
2014	0.308	-0.0082	5.5326	.001
2015	0.317	-0.0082	5.8649	.001
2016	0.336	-0.0082	6.0172	.001
2017	0.421	-0.0082	7.3177	.001
2018	0.483	-0.0082	8.3788	.001
2019	0.444	-0.0082	7.9508	.001
2020	0.411	-0.0082	7.0059	.001

Figure 3. Local indicators of spatial association cluster map of HIV and AIDS incidence in Luzhou from 2011 to 2020.



Discussion

This study analyzed the spatial and temporal distribution of HIV and AIDS incidence in Luzhou based on the number of HIV and AIDS cases and demographic data from 2011 to 2020 using Markov chain Monte Carlo methods and Bayesian spatiotemporal models. The Bayesian spatiotemporal model integrated the temporal information, spatial information, parameter uncertainty (prior distribution) embedded, and correlated factors associated spatiotemporally, which resolved the estimation bias caused by the spatial structure and made the estimates more stable and reliable [16]. We found that for every 1% increase in the urbanization rate, the RR value increases by

RenderX

1.3%, while an increase of 100 people per square kilometer would increase the RR by 8.7%. In contrast, for every 1000 Yuan (US \$148.42) increase in GDP per capita, the RR value decreases by 1.5%. Thus, density and urbanization rate may be essential factors in the rise in HIV and AIDS incidence in Luzhou, while GDP per capita slows its rise.

Previous studies based on Bayesian spatiotemporal models had shown that urbanization is positively associated with the prevalence of infectious diseases such as scarlet fever and tuberculosis [6,7]; it has also been shown that population density is associated with hemorrhagic fever in renal syndrome [18]. This study also found that increased urbanization and population density increased the RR of having HIV or AIDS. The

urbanization rate increased by 4.88%, and population density increased by 6 persons per square kilometer (varying by county) from 2011 to 2020, suggesting that this may be one of the underlying reasons for the increase in reported HIV and AIDS incidence in Luzhou. By contrast, GDP per capita emerged as a protective factor against the incidence of HIV and AIDS. Consistent with previous studies, the regions with the worst AIDS epidemics globally were often less economically developed regions; sub-Saharan Africa, where 40% of the population lives below the poverty line of US \$1.40 per day, had the highest incidence of AIDS globally [19].

Further analysis of our data for the past 10 years for the 7 counties of Luzhou showed that Longmatan district and Jiangyang district had the highest urbanization rates with the minor differences and the highest and fastest-growing GDP per capita; this area is also the economic, cultural, medical, and educational center of Luzhou with relatively complete infrastructure. However, its population density far exceeds that of other counties, increasing the RR. Combining the 3 factors, the reported HIV and AIDS incidence in the region is at a medium level. Therefore, it is suggested that the region balance urban development and HIV and AIDS prevention, increase publicity on high-risk behavior, raise awareness of self-protection methods, and increase investment in HIV and AIDS prevention and treatment.

The highest HIV and AIDS incidence was in Hejiang County, which increased to 91.74% in 2018 (compared to only 39% in 2017). This increase had implications for the predictions of the Bayesian spatiotemporal model. The GDP per capita, urbanization rate, and population density had minor variations around 2018, so we believe that the emergence of this phenomenon was related to Luzhou's policies [20,21]. The policies increased screening for HIV and AIDS, and more cases are being detected as a result. This allowed some HIV and AIDS cases in patients who had been infected for a long time but were not aware of it to be detected earlier. Early detection is an integral part of HIV and AIDS prevention and treatment [22,23], which can reduce the risk of transmission, ensure the efficiency of antiviral treatment, and increase the lifespan of individuals with HIV or AIDS, suggesting the need for early screening.

By contrast, Gulin, which had the lowest average HIV and AIDS incidence rate, has always shown a low incidence overall as it has not been the worst affected area, has been relatively stable in all factors, and is far from economic and cultural centers. However, in recent years, the population density in Gulin Township has increased, and the number of cases and incidence rates have continued to increase. With the increasing openness of sexual attitudes and the frequent occurrence of nonmarital commercial sex, Gulin Town will become a priority area for HIV and AIDS prevention and treatment in Luzhou.

To further verify the previously mentioned influencing factors, we conducted a spatial clustering analysis of HIV and AIDS in Luzhou at the street or township scale. We found that HIV and AIDS incidence hotspots were concentrated near the streets where each district and county government is located (Anfu Street, Hongxing Street, Fuji township, Hejiang township, Xuyong township, and Gulin township). As economic and social progress continues [24,25], and urbanization rates increase (especially near each district and county government), the population is becoming more and more concentrated and densely populated. From 2011 to 2015, these areas, centered on Nancheng Street in Jiangyang district, Hongxing Street in Longmatan district, and Fuji Township in Luxian, have the highest incidence of HIV and AIDS. In the case of the townships of Lushan county, for example, the GDP per capita has increased from 15,300 Yuan (US \$2266.57) per person in 2011 to 44,500 Yuan (US \$6592.30) per person in 2020, almost 3 times what it was 10 years ago, an increase that has meant the townships of Lushan county are no longer the hotspots they once were, providing evidence to suggest that economic growth is a protective factor against HIV and AIDS [26,27].

After 2016, Luzhou's high HIV and AIDS incidence area gradually shifted eastward, mainly concentrating in Xiantan, Nantan, Bailu, and Ganyu townships in Hejiang county. The area has a low level of economic development and insufficient human resources for health compared to other areas. The GDP per capita in the area is lower than the average in Luzhou, and the low level of economic development may be one of the reasons for the high prevalence of AIDS in the township [28,29]; the cold spots in Luzhou from 2011 to 2020 were mainly concentrated in Xuyong county and southern Gulin county. The results of the small-scale hotspot analysis also verified the influence of urbanization, population density, and GDP per capita on the spatial and temporal distribution of HIV and AIDS in Luzhou.

There are still some limitations in this study. First, population data are all from the Luzhou City Statistical Yearbook and are collected at the county level only; population data at the street and township levels are estimated using data from the sixth census in 2010 [30], and the incidence rates were not accurate for each year. Second, the indicators included in this paper are all macrocontrol statistics, but the causes affecting the incidence of AIDS are complex and varied, and it may not be possible to cover all the influencing factors. Lastly, the incidence of AIDS is reported late [31], and it is expected that the delay or lag between the number of reported HIV and AIDS infections and the exact number of HIV and AIDS infections will result in a difference in RR. Therefore, further studies are needed to collect more detailed data and conduct more in-depth studies.

In conclusion, from 2011 to 2020, the incidence and number of HIV and AIDS cases in all districts and counties of Luzhou have increased significantly, and the work of prevention and treatment still faces many challenges [32]. This study suggests that increasing urbanization rates and population density may be important reasons for the rise in reported HIV and AIDS incidence in Luzhou, while the growth in GDP per capita plays a protective role. This study has important implications for the precise prevention and control of HIV and AIDS in other prefecture-level cities in southwest China.



Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the Luzhou Social Science Union (grant LZ21A079). The funders had no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, writing the manuscript, or decision to publish.

Authors' Contributions

SF, NR, and YL participated in the study conception and design, literature search, and statistical analysis. NR, YL, RW, WZ, TX, and HC participated in gathering data, tabulating the tables, and generating the graphs. NR drafted and wrote the report. SF, AL, and RC participated in language polishing and provided comments on the manuscript. All the authors participated in interpreting data and study findings, and critically reviewing and substantively revising the manuscript. All authors have approved the final version of the manuscript to be published. All authors agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work and ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Heat map of reported HIV incidence rates by street/township in Luzhou, China, from 2011 to 2020. [PNG File , 973 KB - publichealth v8i6e37491 app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2

The district and county level map of Luzhou, China. [PNG File, 28 KB - publichealth_v8i6e37491_app2.png]

References

- 1. Yao Y, Gongquan L. Spatial distribution and influencing factors of AIDS in China in recent years. Chin J AIDS STD 2018;024(012):1208-1211. [doi: 10.13419/j.cnki.aids.2018.12.08]
- 2. Wei LCG, Hang C, Caibi F, Wenhong L. History of high-risk sexual behavior among HIV /AIDS cases involving heterosexual transmission in Luzhou City. Pract Prev Med 2019;26(01):77-80. [doi: <u>10.3969/j.issn.1006-3110.2019.01.018</u>]
- 3. Zhang Y, Yang Z, Zi L, Cao Y, Yu H. Spatio-temporal evolution of the AIDS pattern in China. J Geogr Inf Sci 2020;22(02):56-64. [doi: 10.12082/dqxxkx.2020.190199]
- 4. Assembly U. Political declaration on HIV and AIDS : intensifying our efforts to eliminate HIV and AIDS : resolution / adopted by the General Assembly. United Nations Digital Library. 2011. URL: <u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/708078</u> [accessed 2022-05-18]
- 5. Busgeeth K, Rivett U. The use of a spatial information system in the management of HIV/AIDS in South Africa. Int J Health Geogr 2004 Jul 07;3(1):13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1476-072X-3-13] [Medline: 15239839]
- Yin JHR, Huang RW, Jiang H, Gao ZD, Xu WL, He XX, et al. [Spatio-temporal distribution of pulmonary tuberculosis and influencing factors in Beijing, 2008-2018]. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi 2021 Jul 10;42(7):1240-1245. [doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn112338-20210106-00008] [Medline: <u>34814538</u>]
- Tian H, Hu S, Cazelles B, Chowell G, Gao L, Laine M, et al. Urbanization prolongs hantavirus epidemics in cities. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2018 May 01;115(18):4707-4712 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1712767115] [Medline: 29666240]
- Card KG, Lachowsky NJ, Althoff KN, Schafer K, Hogg RS, Montaner JSG. A systematic review of the geospatial barriers to antiretroviral initiation, adherence and viral suppression among people living with HIV. Sex Health 2019 Feb;16(1):1-17. [doi: <u>10.1071/SH18104</u>] [Medline: <u>30409243</u>]
- 9. Luzhou statistical yearbook. Luzhou Bureau of Statistics. URL: <u>http://tjj.luzhou.gov.cn/tjsj/tjnj/2020n/fm2</u> [accessed 2021-08-06]
- 10. Moran PAP. Notes on continuous stochastic phenomena. Biometrika 1950 Jun;37(1/2):17-23. [doi: 10.2307/2332142]
- 11. Haining RP. Spatial Autocorrelation. International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences 2001;14(5):14763-14768. [doi: 10.1016/b0-08-043076-7/02511-0]
- 12. Zulu LC, Kalipeni E, Johannes E. Analyzing spatial clustering and the spatiotemporal nature and trends of HIV/AIDS prevalence using GIS: the case of Malawi, 1994-2010. BMC Infect Dis 2014 May 23;14:285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-14-285] [Medline: 24886573]
- 13. Moran PAP. Some theorems on time series. Biometrika 1947;34(Pt 3-4):281. [Medline: 18918695]
- 14. Ord JK, Getis A. Local spatial autocorrelation statistics: distributional issues and an application. Geogr Anal 1995;27(4):286-306. [doi: 10.1111/j.1538-4632.1995.tb00912.x]

- Souza W, Carvalho MS, Albuquerque MFPM, Barcellos CC, Ximenes RAA. Tuberculosis in intra-urban settings: a Bayesian approach. Trop Med Int Health 2007 Mar;12(3):323-330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3156.2006.01797.x] [Medline: 17286622]
- 16. Best N, Richardson S, Thomson A. A comparison of Bayesian spatial models for disease mapping. Stat Methods Med Res 2005 Feb;14(1):35-59. [doi: 10.1191/0962280205sm3880a] [Medline: 15690999]
- 17. Lee D, Rushworth A, Napier G. Spatio-temporal areal unit modeling in R with conditional autoregressive priors using the CARBayesST package. J Stat Softw 2018;84(9):1-39. [doi: <u>10.18637/jss.v084.i09</u>]
- 18. Chang Q. Application of Bayesian Spatio-temporal Modeling in the Analysis of Hemorrhagic Fever with Renal Syndrome Influencing Factors [Masters]. Shan dong University 2021. [doi: <u>10.27272/d.cnki.gshdu.2021.003606</u>]
- Maughan-Brown B, Kenyon C, Lurie MN. Partner age differences and concurrency in South Africa: implications for HIV-infection risk among young women. AIDS Behav 2014 Dec;18(12):2469-2476 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-014-0828-6] [Medline: 25047687]
- 20. Notice of the Office of the Luzhou Municipal People's Government on the issuance of the thirteenth five-year plan of action for curbing and preventing AIDS in Luzhou. Government of Luzhou. 2018. URL: <u>http://wjw.luzhou.gov.cn/zwgk/lzyj/bmwj/zcwj/content_552514</u> [accessed 2021-07-18]
- 21. Implementation opinions of the Office of the Committee on Prevention and Treatment of Major Infectious Diseases in Luzhou on further strengthening the management of HIV antiretroviral treatment and follow-up. Government of Luzhou. URL: <u>http://wjw.luzhou.gov.cn/zwgk/lzyj/bmwj/zcwj/content_537126</u> [accessed 2018-09-15]
- 22. Consolidated guidelines on the use of antiretroviral drugs for treating and preventing HIV infection: recommendations for a public health approach. World Health Organization. 2013. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/85321/</u>9789241505727_eng.pdf;sequence=1 [accessed 2022-05-18]
- 23. US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Missed opportunities for earlier diagnosis of HIV infection--South Carolina, 1997-2005. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2006 Dec 01;55(47):1269-1272 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17136020</u>]
- 24. Xie T, Wu N. Epidemiological and mortality analysis of older adults with HIV in eastern China. Clin Interv Aging 2013;8:1519-1525 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CIA.S53657] [Medline: 24277983]
- Cheng S, Siankam B. The impacts of the HIV/AIDS pandemic and socioeconomic development on the living arrangements of older persons in sub-Saharan Africa: a country-level analysis. Am J Community Psychol 2009 Sep;44(1-2):136-147. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10464-009-9243-y</u>] [Medline: <u>19543825</u>]
- 26. Global Burden of Diseases 2019 HIV Collaborators. Global, regional, and national sex-specific burden and control of the HIV epidemic, 1990-2019, for 204 countries and territories: the Global Burden of Diseases Study 2019. Lancet HIV 2021 Oct;8(10):e633-e651 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2352-3018(21)00152-1] [Medline: 34592142]
- 27. Bongaarts J. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division world family planning 2020: highlights, United Nations publications, 2020. 46 p. Popul Dev Rev 2020 Dec 30;46(4):857-858. [doi: 10.1111/padr.12377]
- 28. Burns PA, Hall CDX, Poteat T, Mena LA, Wong FY. Living while Black, gay, and poor: the association of race, neighborhood structural disadvantage, and PrEP utilization among a sample of Black men who have sex with men in the Deep South. AIDS Educ Prev 2021 Oct;33(5):395-410. [doi: 10.1521/aeap.2021.33.5.395] [Medline: 34596429]
- McCree DH, Beer L, Jeffries WL, Tie Y, Fagan J, Crim SM. Sociodemographic correlates of self-reported discrimination in HIV health care settings among persons with diagnosed HIV in the United States, medical monitoring project, 2018-2019. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2021 Dec 15;88(5):457-464. [doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000002788] [Medline: 34446678]
- 30. Luzhou City 2010 Sixth National Population Census Main Data Bulletin (No. 2). Luzhou Statistics Bureau. 2011. URL: https://kns.cnki.net/kcms/detail/detail.aspx?doi=10.28545/n.cnki.nluzb.2011.001044&dbcode=CCND [accessed 2022-05-24]
- Chen L, Pan X, Ma Q, Yang J, Xu Y, Zheng J, et al. HIV cause-specific deaths, mortality, risk factors, and the combined influence of HAART and late diagnosis in Zhejiang, China, 2006-2013. Sci Rep 2017 Feb 15;7:42366 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/srep42366] [Medline: 28198390]
- 32. Wu Z. [Achievement of HIV/AIDS program in the past 30 years and challenges in China]. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi 2015 Dec;36(12):1329-1331. [Medline: <u>26850382</u>]

Abbreviations

GDP: gross domestic product **RR:** relative risk



Edited by Y Khader; submitted 23.02.22; peer-reviewed by YL Cheong, K Card; comments to author 09.04.22; revised version received 17.04.22; accepted 19.04.22; published 14.06.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ren N, Li Y, Wang R, Zhang W, Chen R, Xiao T, Chen H, Li A, Fan S The Distribution of HIV and AIDS Cases in Luzhou, China, From 2011 to 2020: Bayesian Spatiotemporal Analysis JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e37491 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37491 doi:10.2196/37491 PMID:35700022

©Ningjun Ren, Yuansheng Li, Ruolan Wang, Wenxin Zhang, Run Chen, Ticheng Xiao, Hang Chen, Ailing Li, Song Fan. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 14.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Correlates of Engagement Within an Online HIV Prevention Intervention for Single Young Men Who Have Sex With Men: Randomized Controlled Trial

Seul Ki Choi¹, MPH, PhD; Jesse Golinkoff¹, MPH; Mark Michna¹, BA; Daniel Connochie¹, MPH; José Bauermeister¹, MPH, PhD

Department of Family and Community Health, School of Nursing, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Seul Ki Choi, MPH, PhD Department of Family and Community Health School of Nursing University of Pennsylvania 418 Curie Blvd Philadelphia, PA, 19104 United States Phone: 1 2155734734 Email: <u>skchoi@nursing.upenn.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Digital HIV interventions (DHI) have been efficacious in reducing sexual risk behaviors among sexual minority populations, yet challenges in promoting and sustaining users' engagement in DHI persist. Understanding the correlates of DHI engagement and their impact on HIV-related outcomes remains a priority. This study used data from a DHI (myDEx) designed to promote HIV prevention behaviors among single young men who have sex with men (YMSM; ages 18-24 years) seeking partners online.

Objective: The goal of this study is to conduct a secondary analysis of the myDex project data to examine whether YMSM's online behaviors (eg, online partner-seeking behaviors and motivations) are linked to participants' engagement (ie, the number of log-ins and the number of sessions viewed).

Methods: We recruited 180 YMSM who were randomized into either myDEx arm or attention-control arm using a stratified 2:1 block randomization. In the myDEx arm, we had 120 YMSM who had access to the 6-session intervention content over a 3-month period. We used Poisson regressions to assess the association between YMSM's baseline characteristics on their DHI engagement. We then examined the association between the participants' engagement and their self-reported changes in HIV-related outcomes at the 3-month follow-up.

Results: The mean number of log-ins was 5.44 (range 2-14), and the number of sessions viewed was 6.93 (range 0-22) across the 3-month trial period. In multivariable models, the number of log-ins was positively associated with high education attainment (estimated Poisson regression coefficient [β]=.22; *P*=.045). The number of sessions viewed was associated with several baseline characteristics, including the greater number of sessions viewed among non-Hispanic YMSM (β =.27; *P*=.002), higher education attainment (β =.02; *P*=.003), higher perceived usefulness of online dating for hookups (β =.13; *P*=.002) and perceived loneliness (β =.06; *P*=.004), as well as lower experienced online discrimination (β =-.01; *P*=.007) and limerence (β =-.02; *P*=.004). The number of sessions viewed was negatively associated with changes in internalized homophobia (β =-.06; *P*<.001) and with changes in perceived usefulness of online dating for hookups (β =-.06; *P*<.001) and with changes in perceived usefulness of online dating for hookups (β =-.06; *P*<.001) and with changes in perceived usefulness of online dating for hookups (β =-.06; *P*<.001) and with changes in perceived usefulness of online dating for hookups (β =-.20; *P*<.001). There were no significant associations between the number of log-ins and changes in the participants' behaviors at the 90-day follow-up.

Conclusions: DHI engagement is linked to participants' sociodemographic and online behaviors. Given the importance of intervention engagement in the intervention's effectiveness, DHIs with personalized intervention components that consider the individuals' differences could increase the overall engagement and efficacy of DHIs.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02842060; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02842060.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33867) doi:10.2196/33867

KEYWORDS

paradata; mobile health; mHealth; digital health intervention; risk reduction; HIV prevention; public health; digital health; sexual health; sexual risks

Introduction

HIV infections among young men who have sex with men (YMSM) between 13 and 29 years of age are of particular concern in the United States [1]. HIV prevention digital health interventions (DHI) provide opportunities to reach YMSM and offer HIV-related prevention information given their appeal and broad reach [2]. High technology use among youth makes DHIs feasible, enables easier and faster spread of information, offers a greater number of opportunities for real-time behavior change cues and nudges, and provides greater access to social support and engagement, particularly for individuals who might experience stigma in their real-world environments [3-5]. By design, DHIs are appealing because they can be delivered remotely, allow for self-guided learning, and encourage asynchronous interaction with others. As a result, evaluating the effectiveness of DHIs requires a different set of considerations, as compared to face-to-face interventions that are delivered by a facilitator in a specific time and place. Researchers have recently noted how these engagement considerations remain the crucial factor in evaluating the true intervention effects of DHIs [5].

DHIs have been linked to changes in cognitive and behavioral risk factors, increases in the adoption of HIV prevention behaviors, and the development of supportive relationships online [6,7]. While the strengths of DHIs are noteworthy, a recent review [8] of 16 DHI studies on HIV prevention and treatment (8 studies encouraged HIV testing, 7 studies targeted condom use, 3 studies promoted preexposure prophylaxis initiation and adherence, and 3 studies encouraged antiretroviral therapy adherence) among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men (MSM) published between 2012 and 2019 found that 33% of the interventions that intended to promote HIV testing and 43% of those that intended to increase condom use were not statistically effective [8]. The absence of observed effects in these interventions may be related to participants' engagement with the interventions. In a recent review, Hightow-Weidman and Bauermeister [9] documented how participants' engagement with DHI content was associated with key HIV prevention outcomes across 4 distinct HIV interventions designed for YMSM. They found that intervention exposure and dosage, between-arm and within-arm, strengthened the observed intervention effects.

Limited engagement can impact an intervention's effect on behavior change; however, it is imperative that researchers examine participants' engagement with DHI to enhance the precision in calculating the efficacy of their interventions and ultimately maximize the effectiveness and efficiency of their interventions. For example, researchers found that engagement moderated the efficacy of healthMpowerment.org (HMP), a theory-based phone-optimized DHI for young Black MSM. Participants who met the recommended engagement time with the intervention (ie, 60 minutes or more during the 3-month intervention period) showed greater reduction in the number of

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33867
```

condomless anal intercourse (CAI) episodes compared to those who did not comply with the recommended engagement time [7]. Moreover, the total time spent on HMP was correlated with overall site satisfaction during usability assessment [10], and participants who engaged with the intervention components where those who could share experiences and receive social support (eg, Forum, Getting Real, and Ask Dr.W), and the content of the intervention exhibited reduced levels of stigma [11]. Therefore, without engagement metrics, it is hard to know whether a DHI was delivered to participants, achieving the intervention "dose" required for optimal behavior change, as these applications offer an array of different activities and features without dictating a standardized sequence of activities, amount of exposure or frequency, and duration of interactivity.

Researchers have promoted the use of paradata metrics for measuring engagement with DHIs [9,12]. Paradata can be defined as automatically generated process data that capture participants' actions within an application [13-15], and can be transformed to characterize the amount, frequency, duration, and depth of engagement across and within DHIs [9]. Thus, paradata metrics are crucial to understanding how differential engagement might impact behavior change and help inform what constitutes meaningful engagement [16]. To date, limited attention has been paid to whether participants' characteristics may serve as correlates of DHI engagement. Several recent studies have noted that participants' sociodemographic characteristics may be associated with DHI engagement [17,18]. Beyond examining sociodemographic differences in DHI engagement, few studies have examined whether other psychosocial factors are related to DHI engagement. Understanding the antecedents to DHI engagement may help researchers and practitioners alike to create implementation strategies that improve engagement and, in turn, maximize its potential effects.

In order to characterize users' engagement, this study examines how the interplay of internet use patterns and partner-seeking characteristics influence engagement in DHIs. Therefore, the goal of this study is to conduct a secondary analysis of the myDex project data to examine whether YMSM's online behaviors (eg, online partner-seeking behaviors and motivations) are linked to participants' engagement with the DHI. To advance this goal, our study had 3 objectives. First, we examined whether YMSM's internet-using patterns, relationship characteristics, psychological facilitators and barriers, and sexual behaviors predicts their DHI engagement. Second, we explored whether participants' engagement during the 90-day intervention impacted psychobehavioral changes in internet use patterns, relationship characteristics, psychological facilitators and barriers, and sexual behaviors from baseline to the 90-day follow-up. Third, we evaluated whether there are different correlates between frequency of engagement (number of log-ins) and amount of engagement (number of sessions viewed).

XSL•FO RenderX

Methods

Ethics Approval

The research and ethics presented in this study have been reviewed and approved by the University of Michigan Institutional Review Board (HUM00091627). The University of Pennsylvania ceded regulatory oversight to the University of Michigan (University of Pennsylvania IRB #824885). The study is also registered on ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT02842060).

Figure 1. Screenshot of myDEx intervention.

Study Procedure

Data from this study come for the myDEx web application, a DHI trial delivering dating and partner-seeking behavior content for single YMSM presumed to be HIV-negative and who engage in CAI with sexual partners met online (Figure 1). A detailed protocol for myDEx has been outlined elsewhere [19]. The participants were recruited across the United States through advertisements on online social media and sexual networking platforms. Social network advertisements were targeted to men who fit the study's age criterion and who lived in the United States.



To participate, participants had to self-report the following: (1) male sex at birth and male gender identity; (2) age of 18 to 24 years; (3) HIV-negative or HIV-unaware serostatus; (4) single relationship status; (5) prior use of online dating applications; and (6) report CAI with at least one male partner in the prior 6 months. Upon completion of an online informed consent form, eligible participants completed a 30-minute web-based baseline questionnaire ascertaining their sexual and online behaviors, mental health, and demographic information.

A sample of 180 single YMSM (aged 18-24 years; 50% [n=90] racial or ethnic minorities) were recruited between November 2016 and January 2017 and randomized to either the intervention arm (myDEx) or the attention-control arm using a stratified 2:1 block randomization design.

The participants were given access to myDEx for 90 days. The intervention (myDEx) was divided into 6 sessions, each addressing distinct cognitive and affective content areas (Table 1). Within each session, intervention content was organized into

the following three levels: (1) core messages, (2) in-depth discussion of topics linked to the core message, and (3) an interactive activity linked to the information presented. Within each session, the participants had access to brief activities and videos designed to build their HIV risk reduction skills and promote self-reflection about their sexual health and partner-seeking behaviors. We designed the sessions to keep users engaged for at least 10 minutes. The participants were required to complete the first session before being able to access the other 5 sessions and interactive activities [19]. The participants could view the sessions multiple times. However, we did not have a priori threshold for the number of sessions viewed and log-ins, nor did we set an expectation for users to use the intervention over a number of sessions or log-ins. This study analyzed (1) the effect of baseline characteristics on engagement in the myDEx intervention over 90 days and (2) the associations between engagement in the myDEx intervention as well as changes in the participants' characteristics during 90 days among 120 single YMSM in the myDEx intervention arm.

Table 1. Content of 6 sessions in myDEx.

Session	Content
Session 1: "Sexuality & Relationships"	The importance of feeling comfortable talking about sexuality, desires within relationships, and health
Session 2: "Desires & Behaviors"	Different relationship types (eg, romantic relationships, friends with benefits, and hookups) and sexual de- cision-making
Session 3: "What Makes Good Sex"	Comprehensive sex education: same-sex behaviors, including the importance of sex positivity, varying sexual practices, and sexual consent
Session 4: "Sexual Well-being"	HIV and STI ^a risks reduction when engaging in anal sex: (1) what lubricants and condoms are best suited for anal intercourse; (2) facts about HIV and STI transmission; and (3) the importance of status disclosure prior to sex.
Session 5: "Getting The Sex You Want"	Strategies to improve sexual communication with partners before, during, and after sex
Session 6: "Your Body, Your Health"	Summarizes key messages from prior modules; offers nearby HIV/STI testing resources and PrEP ^b locations.

^aSTI: sexually transmitted infection.

^bPrEP: preexposure prophylaxis.

Measures

This study analyzed the myDEx intervention arm (n=120) *paradata* over 90 days, participant characteristics at baseline, and participant characteristics at the 90-day follow-up. Participants characteristics were examined for associations with intervention engagement.

Participant Paradata

Over the 90-day trial period, the participants' actions in myDex were collected as *paradata*. *Paradata* can be transformed to characterize the amount, frequency, duration, and depth of engagement with a web-based intervention [9]. Amount refers to a quantity of something in number, size, or value. Frequency is the number of occurrences of a repeating event over a particular time. Duration is the time during which something continues. Depth represents the usage of different intervention components. In this study, we employed two types of *paradata* metrics, which are (1) the frequency of engagement (number of log-ins) and (2) the amount of engagement (number of sessions viewed). We measured the frequency of intervention use by counting the number of log-ins during the intervention period and the amount by counting the number of sessions viewed per log-in.

Demographic Characteristics

We asked the participants to report their age and ethnicity. In addition, the participants were asked to report their highest level of education (some high school, graduated high school, technical school, associate degree, some college, college, some graduate school, or graduate degree). Then, education was dichotomized as "less than associate degree" or "associate degree, college graduate, or more than college."

Internet Use Patterns

Frequency and Usefulness of Online Dating

The participants were asked about frequency and usefulness of online dating to find a date, and the same set of questions were asked regarding finding a hookup in the past 30 days. The frequency of engaging in online dating had the following six response options: (1) "Never," (2) "Once a month or less," (3) "2-3 times a month," (4) "About once a week," (5) "2-6 times

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33867

RenderX

a week," and (6) "About once a day." The usefulness of using online dating employed a 4-point Likert-type scale from "Not at all" to "Very much."

Online Discrimination

We used an 8-item adapted version of the Everyday Discrimination Scale [20] to measure experienced discrimination when looking for partners online (α =.81). The example items were as follows: "People act as if they think you are not smart" and "You are treated with less courtesy than other people are." The response had 6 response options ranging from "Never" to "Almost every day." We created a continuous score by summing 8 items (range 0-40), with higher scores indicating higher experienced discriminations when looking for a partner online.

Psychological Facilitators and Barriers

Internalized Homophobia

We used a 7-item, revised Reactions to Homosexuality Scale [21] to measure internalized homophobia. The scale includes statements such as "Even if I could change my sexual orientation, I wouldn't" and "I feel comfortable being a homosexual man." Scoring is reversed for 1 item, which is positive affect statements. The scale employed a 5-point Likert scale with response options from Strongly Disagree to Strongly Agree. Then, total score was computed by creating sum score (range 5-35) with higher scores indicating higher internalized homophobia (α =.72).

Loneliness

We used the 3-Item UCLA Loneliness Scale to measure overall social isolation [22]. The items were as follows: (1) "How often do you feel that you lack companionship?" (2) "How often do you feel left out?" and (3) "How often do you feel isolated from others?" The response categories were coded 1=hardly ever, 2=some of the time, and 3=often. We used the sum scores of these 3 items, with higher scores indicating greater social isolation (range 3-9; α =.84).

Mental Health

We used the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale with 10 items to measure mental health status in the past week [23]. The scale includes 3 items on depressed affect, 5 items on

somatic symptoms, and 2 on positive affect. The scale employed a 4-point Likert scale ranging from "rarely or none of the time" to "all of the time." Scoring is reversed for 2 items ("I felt hopeful about the future" and "I was happy"), which are positive affect statements. Total scores can range from 0 to 30 (α =.83), with higher scores indicating greater severity of symptoms.

Self-esteem

Rosenberg et al [24] developed a scale with 10 items (eg, "On the whole, I am satisfied with myself") with responses rated on a 4-point Likert-type scale ("strongly agree" to "strongly disagree") to estimate individuals' self-esteem. Scoring was reversed for negatively worded items. A higher score indicates greater self-esteem (range 0-30; α =.90).

Relationship Characteristics

Ideal Relationship Characteristics (Intimacy, Commitment, and Passion)

We used the Triadic Love Scale to assess YMSM's perceived relationship characteristics [25]. The participants responded to the importance of quality in their ideal romantic relationship with their partner. The original scale with 20-item employs a 4-point Likert-type scale with response options ranging from "Not at all important" to "Very important." Three subscales were derived from the following scales: intimacy (eg, "To feel close to your partner"; 9 items; α =.90); commitment (eg, "To feel a sense of responsibility towards your relationship"; 5 items; α =.75); and passion (eg, "To explore your sexuality with your partner"; 6 items; α =.82). In this study, we computed a mean score for each subscale (range 1-4), where higher scores indicate greater ideation on that component.

Limerence

We adapted a limerence scale to measure the intense feelings of dependence, insecurity, and doubt about a relationship and experiences with intrusive and intense thoughts about partners [26]. We asked the participants 8 items using a 5-point scale ranging from 1 ("Strongly disagree") to 5 ("Strongly agree"). The scale includes statements such as "I think about how being in a relationship would solve my problems," "I have sex to feel loved," and "I obsess about a specific person even though it may not work out." We computed a score summing 8 items ranging from 8 to 40, where higher scores indicate greater limerence (α =.84).

Sexual Risk Behaviors

Decisional Balance to Condom Use

We used the Decisional Balance Scale to examine the participants' decisional balance to use or forego condoms with partners [27]. The participants were asked 7 paired statements. For each item, the participants rated their preference for sex without condoms, followed by the same question asking about preference for sex with condoms. The items included "Sex [with/without] condoms is very intimate to me" and "Sex [with/without] condoms makes me feel close to my partner." Each item was measured using a 4-point scale ranging from "Strongly disagree" to "Strongly agree." A net difference for decisional balance items was created by summing the net difference between condomless sex and condom use scores

across the items, resulting in 7 net scores ranging from -3 to +3. Finally, we created the total decisional balance to use condoms scores by computing a mean score of these 7 items. Positive scores indicate greater endorsement of sex without condoms, while scores close to zero indicate a decisional balance between sex with and without condoms (α =.89).

Self-efficacy to Use Condoms

We used an 8-item scale to measure how hard or easy it is to use condoms with a date (α =.82), respectively, and the same set of questions was used for a hookup (α =.77). The example items were as follows: "To have condoms with you in case you have sex?" and "To discuss having safer sex with a hookup partner online?" The self-efficacy to use condoms scale employed a 4-point Likert-type scale from "Very easy to do" to "Very hard to do" (range 8-32). The total self-efficacy to use condoms was computed by summing the scores of these 8 items. Higher scores indicate hardship in using condoms when thinking about a date or a hookup.

The Number of Sex Partners and Anal Intercourse

We used an adapted version of the Sexual Practices Assessment Schedule [28,29] to quantify the number of male partners in the prior 30 days. First, the participants indicated the total number of male sexual partners with whom they had sex (oral or anal). Then, they were asked to report the number of male sexual partners with whom they had receptive and insertive anal sex. Lastly, the participants were asked to indicate the number of partners with whom they did not use condoms. We created a continuous variable to measure the number of sex partners and the number of engagements in receptive or insertive anal intercourse. We excluded outliers for the number of sex partners and anal intercourse.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the study participants' characteristics including internet use patterns, relationship characteristics, psychological facilitators and barriers, and sexual behaviors. Differences in the participants' characteristics between baseline and 90-day follow-up were compared using McNemar tests and paired *t* tests. Then, we used Poisson regressions with robust variance to assess the effect of the participants' baseline characteristics on 2 engagement outcomes (ie, the number of sessions viewed and the number of log-ins) and the associations between changes in the participants' characteristics and engagement within the myDEx intervention for 90 days. Multivariable models were fitted based on significant variables in bivariable models (P<.05). All analyses were conducted in SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc) [30].

Results

Description of the Study Participants

We summarized the participants' characteristics in Multimedia Appendix 1. Among 120 participants, the mean age was 21.67 (SD 1.81) years. Most participants were identified as White (n=89, 74.2%), followed by Black (n=18, 15.0%), Other (n=12, 10.0%), and Asian (n=10, 8.3%). One-third of the participants (n=35, 29%) were Latino, and most participants (n=98, 81.67%)

received education of some associate degree or higher. A majority of participants (n=91, 75.8%) used the internet for 1 to 6 hours per day. Almost half of the participants used online dating at least once a week to find a date (n=59, 49.2%), while a majority of participants used online dating less than 2-3 times a month to find a hookup (n=100, 83.2%). However, the participants considered online dating a useful tool to find a hookup (n=55, 45.8%) rather than a date (n=36, 30%). They also experienced moderate levels of discrimination in online settings. In addition, they showed a propensity toward seeking out novel or risky sexual stimulation (mean 20.5, SD 7.8) and had moderate ideation on intimate (mean 3.8, SD 0.3), passionate (mean 3.6, SD 0.4) and committed (mean 3.7, SD 0.4) relationships. Additionally, they reported the intense feelings of dependence, insecurity, and doubt about a relationship as well as experiences with intrusive and intense thoughts about partners (mean 22.9, SD 6.6).

We summarized engagement in the myDEx intervention over 90 days with the frequency of engagement (number of log-ins) and the amount of engagement (number of sessions viewed). On average, the participants logged into the myDEx intervention 5.44 times (range 2-14) and viewed sessions 6.93 times (range 0-22) during the 90 days of intervention.

Baseline Characteristics and myDEx Engagement

The Number of Log-ins

In bivariable models (Multimedia Appendix 2), the participants were more likely to log into myDEx during the 90 days of intervention if they had higher educational attainment (estimated Poisson regression coefficients [β]=.23; *P*=.04) and reported higher frequency of online dating to find a hookup (β =.07; *P*=.03), higher perceived usefulness of online dating for a hookup (β =.09; *P*=.01), greater loneliness (β =.05; *P*=.02), and higher number of sex partners (β =.04; *P*=.003).

In a multivariable model, higher education attainment (β =.22; *P*=.045) and loneliness (β =.04; *P*=.07) remained associated with the number of log-ins during the intervention.

The Number of Sessions Viewed

Similar to the number of log-in models, in bivariable models, the participants who identified as Hispanic (β =-.25; *P*=.002) and reported higher discrimination experiences in an online setting (β =-.01; *P*=.02) and limerence (β =-.01; *P*=.02) at baseline viewed fewer sessions. However, the participants viewed more sessions after the 90-day intervention if they had higher educational attainment (β =.25; *P*=.002), reported higher frequency of online dating use to find a hookup (β =.06; *P*=.02), perceived greater usefulness of online dating to find a hookup (β =.14; *P*<.001), experienced greater loneliness (β =.05; *P*=.01), and had a greater number of sex partners (β =.04; *P*=.001) at baseline.

In a multivariable model, the number of sessions viewed was associated with non-Hispanic ethnicity (β =-.27; *P*=.002), higher educational attainment (β =.22; *P*=.003), perceived usefulness of online dating for hookups (β =.13; *P*=.002), loneliness (β =.06; *P*=.004), experienced online discrimination (β =-.01; *P*=.007), and limerence (β =-.02; *P*=.004).

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33867

XSL•F() RenderX

Changes in the Participants' Behaviors Based on myDEx Engagement

At the 90-day follow-up, the participants' frequency of online dating to find a date or a hookup decreased significantly (Multimedia Appendix 1). At baseline, 12.5% (n=15) of the participants had not used online dating to find a date in the past month, but at the 90-day follow-up, 33.7% (n=32) of the participants had not used online dating to find a date in the past month (P=.004). Similarly, 20% (n=24) of the participants never used the internet to find a hookup at baseline, but this percentage increased to 46.3% (n=44) at the 90-day follow-up (P=.007). In addition, their experienced discrimination in an online setting decreased significantly from baseline to the 90-day follow-up (baseline mean 17.0; and 90-day follow-up mean 3.25; P<.001). The participants also showed improvements in their decisional balance of having sex with and without condoms (baseline mean -0.42; and 90-day follow-up mean -0.26; P=.03) and reported fewer sex partners in the past month (baseline mean 2.39; and 90-day follow-up mean 1.15; P<.001). We examined whether these changes over time were correlated with YMSM's engagement with the DHI.

The Number of Log-ins

There were no significant associations in bivariate or multivariable models between the number of log-ins and changes in the participants' behaviors at the 90-day follow-up (Multimedia Appendix 3).

The Number of Sessions Viewed

In bivariate models, the number of sessions viewed was negatively associated with the perceived usefulness of online dating for hookups (β =-.21; *P*<.001) and internalized homophobia (β =-.03; *P*=.008). However, the number of sessions viewed were positively associated with increased ideation of an intimate romantic relationship (β =-.29; *P*=.04) and increased number of insertive anal intercourse events (β =.08; *P*=.02).

In the multivariable model, the number of sessions viewed was negatively associated with internalized homophobia (β =-.06; *P*<.001) and with changes in perceived usefulness of online dating for hookups (β =-.20; *P*<.001). No other statistically significant associations were observed.

Discussion

Principal Results

DHIs have great potential for HIV prevention, but there is divergence in their effectiveness in the existing literature [8]. The discrepancy in DHI effectiveness may be attributable to variations in the participants' engagement. Therefore, researchers have recently noted how engagement considerations are a crucial factor in evaluating the true intervention effects of DHIs [12,31,32]. In this study, we elucidated whether DHI engagement as defined by 2 *paradata* indicators (ie, frequency of log-ins and number of sessions viewed) are associated with participants' characteristics and the intervention's effect on several HIV-related behavior at the 90-day follow-up.

The participants who engaged in the myDEx intervention logged in at least 2 times, with a maximum of 14 times, in the 90-day

intervention period. Moreover, the participants viewed an average of 7 sessions. However, there were 8/120 (6.7%) participants who never viewed any of the sessions, including the initial mandatory session. Varied engagement was driven by differences in the participants' sociodemographic characteristics and online behaviors. Similar to the study by Bonett et al [17], we found that both frequency and amount of engagement were greater among YMSM with higher educational attainment. We also noted lower amounts of engagement among Latino participants. DHIs have the potential to reduce HIV inequities among underserved communities, including racial and ethnic minority communities and populations with fewer socioeconomic resources [33]; however, our findings suggest that these inequities may not be resolved if the same populations are less likely to engage with DHIs. Efforts to address the digital divide by addressing health literacy [34], cultural competency [35], and high-quality access to technologies that facilitate DHI engagement are warranted. We recommend that future intervention studies examine the extent to which increasing health literacy and cultural factors as well as addressing online access barriers (eg, reducing entry barriers) may be warranted [36-38] to increase engagement among underserved populations that could benefit from DHIs.

Engagement was also linked to YMSM's online partner-seeking behaviors at baseline. Engagement was greater among YMSM who perceived online dating applications as a useful hookup tool and who self-reported interpersonal difficulties both online and offline (eg, greater loneliness and social isolation, greater discrimination in online settings, and reported overzealous romantic ideation or limerence). Taken together, these findings suggest the need to acknowledge and address the role that psychological factors may play in YMSM's DHI engagement. Given the correlation between psychological factors and HIV risk behaviors [39,40], researchers should explore how to address these psychological factors as part of the DHI implementation strategy to reduce the presence or severity of these HIV risk correlates while also creating opportunities to address other HIV risk factors in YMSM's lives. For example, participants who self-report social isolation or online discrimination at baseline may benefit from access or nudges to intervention components focused on social support earlier on in the intervention, whereas those reporting limerence may benefit from intervention content and activities related to affect regulation earlier in the intervention.

The participants who viewed a greater number of sessions showed significant decreases in experienced discrimination in an online setting and internalized homophobia over time. Given the complexity of cognitive decision-making in health behavior [41], we do not know whether participants who had negative experiences in an online setting engaged with the intervention more than others to enhance their resilience, which could increase their ability to bounce back from those negative experiences and resolve internalized homophobia. For instance, it is plausible that participants who experienced discrimination in an online setting and had high levels of internalized homophobia viewed more sessions in an effort to enhance their resilience [42]. To examine whether these changes would improve DHI engagement, we encourage researchers to leverage innovations in research designs in future efforts. For instance, to detangle these complex behavior-change processes during a DHI, researchers may need to monitor the participants' engagement and changes in their psychosocial behaviors in real time to understand these complex processes and respond by providing adequate intervention strategies. Just-in-time adaptive intervention designs [43] may facilitate these efforts given their ability to automatically detect changes in participants' behaviors in real time and to deliver intervention components most relevant to the participants' ongoing needs [36,44]. Just-in-time adaptive interventions have been used for various health behaviors, including addiction, mental health, and healthy diet [45]. Future intervention research examining whether optimized designs can increase DHI engagement is warranted.

The examination of various paradata metrics facilitates the understanding of accurate and meaningful engagement and outcome in DHIs. In this study, the amount of engagement (ie, sessions viewed) was significantly associated with internet use psychological facilitators and barriers, patterns, and partner-seeking correlates. However, the frequency of engagement (ie, the number of log-ins) was not associated with any of these factors. There is a tendency to assume the number of log-ins as the only paradata metric, but the results of this study highlight that the amount of intervention content participants consumed is a more meaningful measure to capture their behavior change. While traditional face-to-face interventions can control participants' engagement through an intervention facilitator, DHIs offer no similar function to guarantee full use after the participants log in. However, we cannot conclude that the quality of engagement is better than the quantity of engagement. It is possible that meaningful correlates with the number of log-ins were not examined in this study, and meaningful *paradata* metrics could vary by study. Therefore, a rigorous measurement of paradata metrics to describe meaningful engagement in DHIs is needed. Future research investigating an array of *paradata* metrics to explain true engagement is warranted.

Limitations

There are several limitations in this study. First, we selected 2 standardized metrics of engagement to understand frequency and amount as engagement domains, yet we recognize that other domains (eg, depth and duration) and metrics (eg, time spent in each component and use over time) may also be important to examine [9]. It may be worthwhile to consider how the proportion of engagement was linked to active learning (eg, interactive activities) compared to passive learning (eg, reading content) in future research. Unfortunately, we did not collect depth of engagement in our study. Future intervention studies examining how different engagement domains (in-depth engagement) may be related to DHI engagement are warranted. Second, we did not have a priori threshold to define optimal engagement for the number of sessions viewed and log-ins. In the absence of thresholds that may be used across studies, we will use the engagement data collected during this pilot trial to inform thresholds for a subsequent, large-scale clinical trial of the myDEx intervention. It also remains unclear whether comparable rates of engagement would be observed outside of a clinical trial. Therefore, future research examining how

XSL•FO

participants engage in myDEx, both within and outside of a clinical setting, is needed to characterize its potential as an intervention that may be used beyond a 3-month period. Third, we could not establish causal relationships between engagement and changes in characteristics. This study hypothesized that increased engagement led to changes in psychosocial and behavioral characteristics, but this can be interpreted in the opposite direction, such that changes in behavior lead to more engagement. Future research examining how changes in participants' DHI engagement over time are related to the changes in hypothesized intervention mechanisms and key outcomes is warranted.

Conclusions

Paradata analyses are a vital component of DHI evaluation. Determining intervention efficacy has proven challenging due to the absence of a consensus on what constitutes effective or meaningful engagement [16]. This study highlighted internet use patterns, psychological facilitators and barriers, and partner-seeking correlates associated with intervention engagement. Therefore, DHIs with personalized intervention components that consider the individuals' differences could increase the overall engagement and efficacy of the intervention. Moreover, research identifying which components are popular in an intervention, which components work best for whom, and which intervention duration would derive the optimum result is warranted to increase the participants' engagement.

Acknowledgments

This research was sponsored by the US National Institutes of Health, under R34 MH101997. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Comparing descriptive statistics at baseline and 90-day follow-up. [DOCX File , 20 KB - publichealth v8i6e33867 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Associations between baseline characteristics and myDEx engagement. [DOCX File, 18 KB - publichealth v8i6e33867 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Changes in the participants' behaviors based on myDEx engagement. [DOCX File , 17 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33867_app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 CONSORT-eHEALTH Checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1224 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33867_app4.pdf]

References

- 1. HIV by Group. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/group/index.html</u> [accessed 2022-06-13]
- Muessig KE, Nekkanti M, Bauermeister J, Bull S, Hightow-Weidman LB. A systematic review of recent smartphone, Internet and Web 2.0 interventions to address the HIV continuum of care. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2015 Mar 28;12(1):173-190. [doi: 10.1007/s11904-014-0239-3] [Medline: 25626718]
- 3. Leanza F, Hauser D. Teens, technology, and health care. Prim Care 2014 Sep;41(3):559-566. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pop.2014.05.006</u>] [Medline: <u>25124206</u>]
- 4. Lelu iu-Weinberger C, Manu M, Ionescu F, Dogaru B, Kovacs T, Dorobăn escu C, et al. An mHealth Intervention to Improve Young Gay and Bisexual Men's Sexual, Behavioral, and Mental Health in a Structurally Stigmatizing National Context. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Nov 14;6(11):e183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9283] [Medline: 30429117]
- Hightow-Weidman LB, Muessig KE, Bauermeister J, Zhang C, LeGrand S. Youth, Technology, and HIV: Recent Advances and Future Directions. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 2015 Dec 18;12(4):500-515. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11904-015-0280-x</u>] [Medline: <u>26385582</u>]
- Hightow-Weidman LB, Muessig KE, Pike EC, LeGrand S, Baltierra N, Rucker AJ, et al. HealthMpowerment.org: Building Community Through a Mobile-Optimized, Online Health Promotion Intervention. Health Educ Behav 2015 Aug 14;42(4):493-499. [doi: 10.1177/1090198114562043] [Medline: 25588932]

- Hightow-Weidman LB, LeGrand S, Muessig KE, Simmons RA, Soni K, Choi SK, et al. A Randomized Trial of an Online Risk Reduction Intervention for Young Black MSM. AIDS Behav 2019 May 29;23(5):1166-1177. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-018-2289-9] [Medline: <u>30269231</u>]
- Nelson KM, Perry NS, Horvath KJ, Smith LR. A systematic review of mHealth interventions for HIV prevention and treatment among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. Transl Behav Med 2020 Oct 12;10(5):1211-1220. [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibaa007] [Medline: 33044531]
- Hightow-Weidman LB, Bauermeister JA. Engagement in mHealth behavioral interventions for HIV prevention and care: making sense of the metrics. Mhealth 2020 Jan;6:7-7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2019.10.01] [Medline: 32190618]
- Baltierra NB, Muessig KE, Pike EC, LeGrand S, Bull SS, Hightow-Weidman LB. More than just tracking time: Complex measures of user engagement with an internet-based health promotion intervention. J Biomed Inform 2016 Feb;59:299-307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2015.12.015] [Medline: 26732997]
- Bauermeister JA, Muessig KE, Flores DD, LeGrand S, Choi S, Dong W, et al. Stigma Diminishes the Protective Effect of Social Support on Psychological Distress Among Young Black Men Who Have Sex With Men. AIDS Educ Prev 2018 Oct;30(5):406-418. [doi: 10.1521/aeap.2018.30.5.406] [Medline: 30332312]
- 12. Bauermeister J, Golinkoff J, Muessig K, Horvath K, Hightow-Weidman L. Addressing engagement in technology-based behavioural HIV interventions through paradata metrics. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2017;12(5):442. [doi: 10.1097/coh.0000000000396]
- 13. Couper M. Measuring survey quality in a CASIC environment. Proc Surv Res Methods Sect 1998:41-49.
- 14. Couper M, Kreuter F. Using paradata to explore item level response times in surveys. J R Stat Soc Ser A Stat Soc 2013;176(1):286. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-985X.2012.01041.x]
- 15. Nicolaas G. Survey paradata: a review. National Centre for Research Methods. 2011. URL: <u>https://eprints.ncrm.ac.uk/id/eprint/1719/1/Nicolaas_review_paper_jan11.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-13]
- 16. Kumar S, Nilsen WJ, Abernethy A, Atienza A, Patrick K, Pavel M, et al. Mobile health technology evaluation: the mHealth evidence workshop. Am J Prev Med 2013 Aug;45(2):228-236. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2013.03.017</u>] [Medline: <u>23867031</u>]
- Bonett S, Connochie D, Golinkoff JM, Horvath KJ, Bauermeister JA. Paradata Analysis of an eHealth HIV Testing Intervention for Young Men Who Have Sex With Men. AIDS Educ Prev 2018 Oct;30(5):434-447. [doi: 10.1521/aeap.2018.30.5.434] [Medline: 30332307]
- Madkins K, Moskowitz DA, Moran K, Dellucci TV, Mustanski B. Measuring Acceptability and Engagement of The Keep It Up! Internet-Based HIV Prevention Randomized Controlled Trial for Young Men Who Have Sex With Men. AIDS Educ Prev 2019 Aug;31(4):287-305. [doi: 10.1521/aeap.2019.31.4.287] [Medline: 31361516]
- Bauermeister JA, Tingler RC, Demers M, Harper GW. Development of a Tailored HIV Prevention Intervention for Single Young Men Who Have Sex With Men Who Meet Partners Online: Protocol for the myDEx Project. JMIR Res Protoc 2017 Jul 19;6(7):e141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.7965] [Medline: 28724513]
- 20. Williams DR, Yan Yu, Jackson JS, Anderson NB. Racial Differences in Physical and Mental Health: Socio-economic Status, Stress and Discrimination. J Health Psychol 1997 Jul;2(3):335-351. [doi: 10.1177/135910539700200305] [Medline: 22013026]
- Smolenski DJ, Diamond PM, Ross MW, Rosser BRS. Revision, criterion validity, and multigroup assessment of the reactions to homosexuality scale. J Pers Assess 2010 Nov 15;92(6):568-576. [doi: <u>10.1080/00223891.2010.513300</u>] [Medline: <u>20954058</u>]
- 22. Hughes ME, Waite LJ, Hawkley LC, Cacioppo JT. A Short Scale for Measuring Loneliness in Large Surveys: Results From Two Population-Based Studies. Res Aging 2004 Aug 19;26(6):655-672. [doi: 10.1177/0164027504268574] [Medline: 18504506]
- Lewinsohn PM, Seeley JR, Roberts RE, Allen NB. Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) as a screening instrument for depression among community-residing older adults. Psychology and Aging 1997;12(2):277-287. [doi: <u>10.1037/0882-7974.12.2.277</u>]
- 24. Rosenberg M, Schooler C, Schoenbach C, Rosenberg F. Global Self-Esteem and Specific Self-Esteem: Different Concepts, Different Outcomes. American Sociological Review 1995 Feb;60(1):141. [doi: 10.2307/2096350]
- Bauermeister JA, Johns MM, Pingel E, Eisenberg A, Santana ML, Zimmerman M. Measuring Love: Sexual Minority Male Youths' Ideal Romantic Characteristics. J LGBT Issues Couns 2011 Apr;5(2):102-121. [doi: <u>10.1080/15538605.2011.574573</u>] [Medline: <u>21709758</u>]
- Bauermeister JA, Ventuneac A, Pingel E, Parsons JT. Spectrums of love: examining the relationship between romantic motivations and sexual risk among young gay and bisexual men. AIDS Behav 2012 Aug 6;16(6):1549-1559. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-011-0123-8] [Medline: 22223300]
- 27. Bauermeister JA, Carballo-Diéguez A, Ventuneac A, Dolezal C. Assessing motivations to engage in intentional condomless anal intercourse in HIV risk contexts ("Bareback Sex") among men who have sex with men. AIDS Educ Prev 2009 Apr;21(2):156-168. [doi: 10.1521/aeap.2009.21.2.156] [Medline: 19397437]
- 28. Bauermeister JA. Sexual partner typologies among single young men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav 2015 Jun 31;19(6):1116-1128. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-014-0932-7] [Medline: 25358726]

- 29. Carballo-Diéguez A, Dolezal C, Ventuneac A. Sexual Practices Assessment Schedule. New York, US: HIV Center for Clinical and Behavioral Studies, Columbia University and New York State Psychiatric Institute; 2002.
- 30. SAS Institute Inc. URL: <u>https://www.sas.com/en_us/home.html</u> [accessed 2022-06-13]
- Donkin L, Hickie IB, Christensen H, Naismith SL, Neal B, Cockayne NL, et al. Rethinking the dose-response relationship between usage and outcome in an online intervention for depression: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Oct 17;15(10):e231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2771] [Medline: 24135213]
- 32. Graham ML, Strawderman MS, Demment M, Olson CM. Does Usage of an eHealth Intervention Reduce the Risk of Excessive Gestational Weight Gain? Secondary Analysis From a Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jan 09;19(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6644] [Medline: 28069560]
- van Veen T, Binz S, Muminovic M, Chaudhry K, Rose K, Calo S, et al. Potential of Mobile Health Technology to Reduce Health Disparities in Underserved Communities. West J Emerg Med 2019 Aug 06;20(5):799-802. [doi: 10.5811/westjem.2019.6.41911] [Medline: 31539337]
- 34. Ownby RL, Acevedo A, Waldrop-Valverde D. Enhancing the Impact of Mobile Health Literacy Interventions to Reduce Health Disparities. Q Rev Distance Educ 2019;20(1):15-34. [Medline: <u>31537979</u>]
- Beach MC, Saha S, Korthuis PT, Sharp V, Cohn J, Wilson I, et al. Differences in patient-provider communication for Hispanic compared to non-Hispanic white patients in HIV care. J Gen Intern Med 2010 Jul 18;25(7):682-687. [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1310-4] [Medline: 20238204]
- 36. Hightow-Weidman LB, Horvath KJ, Scott H, Hill-Rorie J, Bauermeister JA. Engaging youth in mHealth: what works and how can we be sure? Mhealth 2021;7:23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth-20-48] [Medline: 33898592]
- Olansky E, Mansergh G, Pitts N, Mimiaga MJ, Denson DJ, Landers S, et al. PrEP Awareness in the Context of HIV/AIDS Conspiracy Beliefs Among Black/African American and Hispanic/Latino MSM in Three Urban US Cities. J Homosex 2020 May 11;67(6):833-843. [doi: 10.1080/00918369.2018.1557953] [Medline: 30633661]
- 38. Lo SC, Reisen CA, Poppen PJ, Bianchi FT, Zea MC. Cultural beliefs, partner characteristics, communication, and sexual risk among Latino MSM. AIDS Behav 2011 Apr 21;15(3):613-620. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-010-9760-6] [Medline: 20652629]
- Hightow-Weidman L, LeGrand S, Choi SK, Egger J, Hurt CB, Muessig KE. Exploring the HIV continuum of care among young black MSM. PLoS One 2017 Jun 29;12(6):e0179688 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0179688] [Medline: 28662170]
- Maulsby C, Millett G, Lindsey K, Kelley R, Johnson K, Montoya D, et al. HIV among Black men who have sex with men (MSM) in the United States: a review of the literature. AIDS Behav 2014 Jan 26;18(1):10-25. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-013-0476-2] [Medline: 23620241]
- 41. Jeffery RW. How can Health Behavior Theory be made more useful for intervention research? Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2004 Jul 23;1(1):10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-1-10] [Medline: 15272938]
- 42. Meanley SP, Stall RD, Hawk ME, Surkan PJ, Shoptaw SJ, Matthews DD, et al. Multifactorial discrimination, discrimination salience, and prevalent experiences of internalized homophobia in middle-aged and older MSM. Aging Ment Health 2020 Jul;24(7):1167-1174. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2019.1594161] [Medline: 30938175]
- Nahum-Shani I, Smith SN, Spring BJ, Collins LM, Witkiewitz K, Tewari A, et al. Just-in-Time Adaptive Interventions (JITAIs) in Mobile Health: Key Components and Design Principles for Ongoing Health Behavior Support. Ann Behav Med 2018 May 18;52(6):446-462. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9830-8] [Medline: 27663578]
- 44. Goldstein SP, Evans BC, Flack D, Juarascio A, Manasse S, Zhang F, et al. Return of the JITAI: Applying a Just-in-Time Adaptive Intervention Framework to the Development of m-Health Solutions for Addictive Behaviors. Int J Behav Med 2017 Oct;24(5):673-682. [doi: 10.1007/s12529-016-9627-y] [Medline: 28083725]
- 45. Wang L, Miller LC. Just-in-the-Moment Adaptive Interventions (JITAI): A Meta-Analytical Review. Health Commun 2020 Nov 05;35(12):1531-1544. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2019.1652388] [Medline: 31488002]

Abbreviations

CAI: condomless anal intercourse DHI: digital health intervention HMP: healthMpowerment.org MSM: men who have sex with men YMSM: young men who have sex with men



Edited by H Bradley; submitted 27.09.21; peer-reviewed by L Donkin, L McCann, K Wrona, F Fischer; comments to author 21.02.22; revised version received 07.03.22; accepted 10.05.22; published 27.06.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Choi SK, Golinkoff J, Michna M, Connochie D, Bauermeister J Correlates of Engagement Within an Online HIV Prevention Intervention for Single Young Men Who Have Sex With Men: Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33867 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33867 doi:10.2196/33867 PMID:35759333

©Seul Ki Choi, Jesse Golinkoff, Mark Michna, Daniel Connochie, José Bauermeister. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 27.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Effect of Switching Antiretroviral Treatment Regimen in Patients With Drug-Resistant HIV-1 Infection: Retrospective Observational Cohort Study

Yiping Li^{1*}, BSc; Qinjian Wang^{2*}, BSc; Shu Liang^{1*}, PhD; Chuanteng Feng³, PhD; Hong Yang¹, BSc; Hang Yu¹, BSc; Dan Yuan^{1*}, MSc; Shujuan Yang^{2,4*}, PhD

³Institute for Disaster Management and Reconstruction, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

⁴International Institute of Spatial Lifecourse Health, Wuhan University, Wuhan, China

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Shujuan Yang, PhD West China School of Public Health and West China Fourth Hospital Sichuan University No.17, Section 3, Renmin South Road, Wuhou District Chengdu, 610000 China Phone: 86 2885401949 Email: <u>rekiny@126.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Evidence on the efficacy of antiretroviral therapy (ART) regimen switches on the mortality of patients with HIV drug resistance (HIVDR) is limited.

Objective: We aim to provide policy guidance for ART regimen selection and evaluate the effectiveness of ART regime switches for people living with HIV and HIV-1 drug resistance.

Methods: This retrospective observational cohort study included 179 people living with HIV and HIV-1 drug resistance from 2011 to 2020. The time that participants switched treatment regimens either to protease inhibitor (PI)–based ART regimens (PIs) or nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NNRTI)–based ART regimens (NNRTIs) was taken as an observation starting point and followed up every 12 months. The parametric g-formula was used to estimate the 5-year risk of mortality under the situations of (1) natural course, (2) immediate switch to NNRTIs, (3) immediate switch to PIs, and (4) if CD4(+) T cells<200 switched to PIs.

Results: The follow-up time of the 179 patients ranged from 30 to 119 months. The median follow-up time was 90 months. During a follow-up of 15,606 person-months, 27 individuals died in the cohort. The estimated 5-year risk of mortality under natural course, immediate switch to NNRTIs, immediate switch to PIs, and if CD4(+), and switch to PIs if T cells<200 were 11.62% (95% CI 7.82-17.11), 31.88% (95% CI 20.79-44.94), 2.87% (95% CI 0.32-7.07), and 5.30% (95% CI 2.07-10.21), respectively. The risk ratios (RRs) of immediate switch to NNRTIs, immediate switch to PIs, and switch to PIs if CD4(+) T cells<200, compared with natural course mortality rate, were 2.74 (95% CI 2.01-3.47), 0.25 (95% CI 0.04-0.54), and 0.46 (95% CI 0.22-0.71), respectively. The risk differences were 20.26% (95% CI 10.96-28.61), -8.76% (95% CI -13.34 to -5.09) and -6.32% (95% CI -9.75 to -3.11), respectively.

Conclusions: Our study found that a PI-based ART regimen was beneficial for reducing mortality in people living with HIV and HIV-1 drug resistance. More effort should be given to find HIV-1 drug resistance earlier to ensure a timely adjustment to PI-based ART, thereby maximizing the benefit of early switch treatment for people living with HIV and HIV-1 drug resistance.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33429) doi: 10.2196/33429

KEYWORDS

HIV; antiretroviral therapy; drug resistance; protease inhibitors; parametric g-formula

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33429



¹Center for AIDS/STD Control and Prevention, Sichuan Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Chengdu, China

²West China School of Public Health and West China Fourth Hospital, Sichuan University, Chengdu, China

Introduction

The widespread use of antiretroviral therapy (ART) has effectively prolonged the life span of people living with HIV and has reduced the risk of HIV transmission [1]. However, many challenges have emerged with the promotion and use of ART [2,3]. HIV drug resistance (HIVDR) is a critical cause of virological failure in people living with HIV. It compromises the therapeutic effects for individuals and endangers the population [4]. Between 2016 and 2030, a pretreatment HIVDR level of over 10% (mean 15%), 16% of AIDS deaths, 9% of new infections, and 8% of ART program costs in sub-Saharan Africa will be attributable to HIVDR [5]. In limited-income countries, ART failure based on nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors (NNRTIs) occurs in 10%-30% of people living with HIV per year [6-8].

A protease inhibitor (PI)-based ART regimen includes 2 nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor (NRTI) drugs (zidovudine/tenofovir and lamivudine, TDF/AZT and 3TC), and 1 of the PI drugs (lopinavir and ritonavir; LPV/r) [9]. Boosted PI options are currently recommended as part of second-line regimens due to their safety and efficacy, as proven by systematic reviews and meta-analyses [10,11]. Patients with HIVDR on NNRTIs should, in principle, switch to PIs as soon as possible, as a delay in switching treatment regimens has led to increased mortality [12-16]. However, it is still common to delay the switch [17,18]. Several observational studies have investigated the estimated effect of the delayed switch to PIs on mortality. Tsegaye et al [15] found that the risk of death was 4.8 times higher for people with HIV who did not switch to PIs than those who did switch. Gsponer et al [16] showed a drastic reduction in mortality for patients who switched to PIs compared to those who did not based on an immunological criterion of failing and the benefit of switching early. Petersen et al [19] estimated that among HIV-infected patients with confirmed virologic failure on NNRTIs, remaining on NNRTIs led to an increase in mortality relative to switching to PIs.

In China, only a few studies have compared the differences in immunological outcomes and drug resistance between PIs and NNRTIs among people living with HIV [20,21], more so for people living with HIV who developed resistance to NNRTIs, as not all of them could immediately switch to PIs and instead switched to other NNRTIs due to limited health resources. However, no studies have compared the mortality difference between switching to other NNRTIs and switching to PIs in China. Since information on the effect of ART regimen switches on the mortality of patients with HIV is limited, research is warranted to accurately judge ART regimen switches and guide the regimen selection for optimal treatment.

To fill these research gaps, we conducted a 9-year retrospective cohort study to compare the impact of switches to other NNRTIs and switches to PIs on mortality in Sichuan, where the largest population of people with HIV resides in China [22]. The parametric g-formula adjusted the time-varying confounders affected by previous treatments [23]. We chose the parametric g-formula since traditional multivariate regression techniques may yield biased treatment effect estimates in our context. In

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33429

contrast, the parametric g-formula can appropriately adjust for measured time-varying confounders. This research aims to guide policies on ART regimen selection and evaluate the effectiveness of ART regimen switches in people living with HIV and HIV-1 drug resistance.

Methods

Study Design and Participants

A retrospective observational cohort study was conducted based on the National Free Antiretroviral Treatment Program database of Sichuan. This confidential, nonpublic database is managed by the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Each province, municipality, and autonomous region has access to data within its jurisdiction.

Participants of this study were selected from the database according to the following inclusion criteria: people living with HIV who (1) were under NNRTIs based ART regimens for 12 months in Sichuan during 2011-2014; (2) failed those NNRTI-based ART regimens with viral load ≥ 1000 copies/ml; (3) were tested for HIV-1 genotype resistance and confirmed to have HIV-1 drug resistance; and (4) received at least 1 test of CD4(+) T cells and viral load during the follow-up period. The exclusion criteria included people living with HIV (1) without immunological outcomes after switching ART regimen during the follow-up period; and (2) who did not have the demographic information (eg, gender, age, and ART) in the baseline database. A total of 2037 people living with HIV tested for HIV-1 genotype resistance, and 197 were confirmed to have HIV-1 drug resistance. Of these 197 people with HIV, 18 were excluded without detecting CD4(+) T cells and viral load during the follow-up period. Finally, 179 people with HIV were included in the final analysis.

In 2011, the first person living with HIV entered the cohort, and the last one entered in 2014. The starting point of observation was defined as when the person with HIV switched treatment regimens, and each person living with HIV was followed up from the entry date to the date of death or the end of this study (December 2020). A total of 179 participants met the inclusion criteria and were included in this study. They were followed up approximately every 12 months for documentation of their CD4(+) T cell count, viral load, and drug resistance. We estimated and compared the mortality risks of 3 simulated ART regimen switch scenarios with the real-world scenario (natural course), including (1) immediate switch to NNRTIs, (2) immediate switch to PIs, and (3) switch to PIs if CD4(+) T cells<200

Ethics Approval

The Ethical Committee of Sichuan Center for Disease Control and Prevention approved this study (No. SCCDCIRB2021-025). This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Data Collection

The NNRTI and PI regimens were carried out following the approved guidelines [24]. NNRTI regimens consisted of tenofovir/zidovudine (TDF/AZT) + lamivudine (3TC) +

XSL•FO RenderX

efavirenz/ nevirapine (EFV/NVP). PI regimens included tenofovir/zidovudine (TDF/AZT) + lamivudine (3TC) + lopinavir and ritonavir (LPV/r).

The CD4(+) T cell count and viral load were collected at the starting point every 12 months of follow-up to evaluate the immunological reconstruction effect. ART regimens and survival status were also included in the follow-up. To deal with missing CD4(+) T cell count during the followed-up period, we used the expectation-maximization-bootstrap algorithm for multiple imputations [25]. The imputation model included all baseline and follow-up variables (including lagged and lead versions). The algorithm accounted for the nonlinear and longitudinal structure of the data.

Covariates

All baseline characteristics were taken as covariates—demographic and HIV-related characteristics and immunological outcomes. Demographic characteristics included age, gender, and education level. HIV-related characteristics included transmission patterns, history of sexually transmitted diseases, and history of tuberculosis treatment.

Laboratory Tests

All participants provided blood specimens to measure CD4(+) T cell count at the starting point and during follow-up after switching treatment regimens, measured using flow cytometry (FACSC Calibur, BD). Real-time molecular beacon detection was applied to detect the viral load of HIV (NucliSens EasyQ Analyzer). Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was used to amplify a 1300-bp fragment of the HIV pol gene for drug resistance mutation analysis and viral subtype determination. Successfully amplified sequences were analyzed for HIVDR using the Stanford University HIV Drug Resistance All experimental protocols followed Database. the manufacturer's instructions. People living with HIV with low or higher drug resistance to one or more drugs were considered as having HIVDR [26-28].

Statistical Analysis

Adjustment is usually used for confounders in regression models (eg, the Cox proportional hazards model), which is equivalent to estimating the hazard ratios of a specific stratum and then averaging the information-weighted hazard ratios. When some of these confounding factors are also causal intermediates, the effects of exposure are adjusted [29]. However, the first step in g-formula is to obtain the weighted averages of the stratum-specific hazards and then combine the averaged (standardized) hazards into a summary hazard ratio. The potential bias arising from time-varying covariates that can be both confounders and causal intermediates is a drawback of using regression models [30,31], which can be overcome by using the g-formula [32]. This study considers that patients' treatment regimens differed by their CD4(+) T cell count and viral load, which were also influenced by their previous treatment regimens and other baseline covariates. The outcomes (death) were influenced by time-varying treatment regimens and time-varying covariates (eg, CD4(+) T cell count and viral load level), and baseline characteristics (Multimedia Appendix 1). Our estimates had to adjust the time-varying confounders

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33429

RenderX

CD4(+) T cell count and viral load level and confounders measured at baseline. Since standard statistical methods cannot appropriately adjust for time-varying confounders affected by previous ART treatment [23], we applied the parametric g-formula to obtain adjusted estimates (eg, mortality risk) for each treatment strategy under the assumptions of conditional exchangeability, positivity, no residual confounding, no measurement error, and no model misspecification [32,33].

Specifically, the procedure of the parametric g-formula had 3 steps. First, we fit separate logistic regression models for the treatment and viral load and linear regression models for CD4(+) T cell count. All regression models included time-varying covariates (treatment, viral load level, and CD4(+) T cell count) and baseline variables (age, gender, education level, marital status, patterns of transmission, history of sexually transmitted diseases, and history of tuberculosis treatment). The assumed relationships between all variables are depicted in Multimedia Appendix 1. Second, a pseudo sample more prominent than the overall sample size, set as 10,000 in this study, was generated by Monte Carlo simulation based on the distribution of the postbaseline outcomes and time-varying covariates separately under each ART regimen switch scenario. Third, a bootstrap sampling method was used to repeat the aforementioned process 500 times to obtain the 95% CIs [34].

The RRs and risk differences (RDs) and their 95% CIs were estimated to compare the mortality risk between the natural course and 3 hypothetical ART switch strategies. To explore the validity of our parametric assumptions, we compared the observed (nonparametric estimates) means of the outcome and time-varying covariates with those predicted by our models (parametric g-formula estimates) (Multimedia Appendix 2). All statistical analyses were performed using R 4.0.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

Sensitivity Analyses

A total of 4 sensitivity analyses were performed in this study to ensure the stability of the results. First, we excluded people older than 60 years at baseline since they may have a higher risk of death. Second, CRF01_AE was the primary subtype of people living with HIV in Sichuan; thus, we restricted to the subset of participants with the CRF01_AE subtype to estimate the mortality risk. Third, we fit linear regression models for the viral load as a continuous variable to estimate the results. Fourth, we reexamined the hazard ratios using a time-dependent Cox proportional risk model.

Results

Baseline Characteristics of the Participants

A total of 179 participants (79 immediately switched to the PIs, 35 immediately switched to the NNRTIs, and 65 switched to other NNRTIs and then to PIs) were included in our study. The initial conditions of people living with HIV among the 3 switched ART groups were comparable except for the age, CD4(+) T cell counts, and viral load (Multimedia Appendix 3). Of the 179 participants, 138 (77.1%) were male, 90 (50.3%) were married, and 91 (50.8%) were younger than 40 years at baseline (Table 1). Heterosexual transmission was the dominant

transmission route (72.6%). About 24.6% of the participants achieved higher than a senior high school level education. Of the participants, 19 (10.6%) had other sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), 18 (6.9%) had tuberculosis, and 110 (61.5%)

had CRF_01AE HIV-1 subtype (Table 1). Additionally, 145 participants (81%) had CD4(+) T cell counts<200, and 114 (63.7%) had viral load \geq 10,000 copies/ml (Table 1).

Baseline characteristics		Overall mean (SD)	Median (IQR) follow-up, month	Mortality (per 1000 person-months)
Overall		179 (100)	90 (80-101.5)	1.73
Ag	e (years)			
	≤40	91 (50.8)	93 (85.5-103)	1.22
	>40	88 (49.2)	87.5 (74.75-99.5)	2.30
Ge	nder			
	Male	138 (77.1)	92 (80.25-102)	1.66
	Female	41 (22.9)	88 (76-99)	1.95
Ed	ucation level			
	No formal education	9 (5.0)	93 (87-105)	2.39
	Primary or junior high school	126 (70.4)	91 (77.75-102.75)	1.92
	Senior high school or more	44 (24.6)	90 (81.75-98)	1.04
Ma	arital status			
	Married	90 (50.3)	89 (79-95)	1.75
	Unmarried/widowed/divorced/separated	89 (49.7)	93 (81.75-104.75)	1.71
Pat	ttern of transmission			
	Heterosexual	130 (72.6)	90.5 (80-102.75)	1.76
	Homosexual	36 (20.1)	90 (81.75-98)	1.29
	Other	13 (7.3)	89 (80-98)	2.67
Had other STDs ^a				
	Yes	19 (10.6)	92 (82.5-94)	2.56
	No	119 (66.5)	90 (80-101)	1.93
	Unknown	41 (22.9)	91 (76-103)	0.81
Ha	d been treated for tuberculosis			
	Yes	18 (10.1)	92.5 (86.25-103)	0
	No	161 (89.9)	90 (79-101)	1.94
Ba	seline CD4(+) T (cells/ μ L)			
	<200	145 (81.0)	90 (77-101)	1.92
	≥200	34 (19.0)	92 (82.25-104.5)	0.96
Baseline viral load copies/Ml				
	<10000	65 (36.3)	93 (87-103)	1.53
	≥10000	114 (63.7)	88.5 (77.5-98.75)	1.85
HIV subtype				
	CRF01_AE	110 (61.5)	90.5 (80.25-101.75)	1.56
	CRF07_BC	50 (27.9)	89 (75.25-94)	2.37
	Others	19 (10.6)	98.0 (84.5-104.5)	1.15

^aSTD: sexually transmitted disease.

Follow-up and Mortality

The follow-up time of 179 patients ranged from 30 to 119 months, and the median follow-up time was 90 months. During a follow-up of 15,606 person-months, 27 individuals from the cohort died. The overall mortality was 1.73 per 1000 person-months (Table 1). The observed mortality rates were higher in individuals with lower CD4(+) T cell count and older age at baseline (Table 1).

Estimated Risk of Mortality

The estimated 5-year risk of mortality under natural course was 11.62% (95% CI 7.82-17.11). The estimated 5-year risk of mortality of the 3 ART regimen switch scenarios of an immediate switch to NNRTIs, immediate switch to PIs, and switch to PIs if CD4(+) T cells <200 was 31.88% (95% CI 20.79-44.94), 2.87% (95% CI 0.32-7.07), and 5.30% (95% CI 2.07-10.21), respectively (Table 2). The mortality risk for the 4 treatment regimens scenarios increased over time, with the fastest mortality rate for immediate switch to NNRTIs scenario

and the slowest rate for immediate switch to PIs scenario (Figure 1).

Using the parametric g-formula, the RRs of immediate switch to NNRTIs, immediate switch to PIs, and switch to PIs if CD4(+) T cells<200, compared with natural course mortality rate, were 2.74 (95% CI 2.01-3.47), 0.25 (95% CI 0.04-0.54), and 0.46 (95% CI: 0.22-0.71), respectively, and the RDs were 20.26% (95% CI 10.96-28.61), -8.76% (95% CI -13.34 to -5.09), and -6.32% (95% CI -9.75 to -3.11), respectively. The effect of the sensitivity analyses estimates of the 5-year risk of mortality, RRs, and RDs of the 3 ART regimen switch scenarios were robust (Multimedia Appendix 4, Figures 2-4). The Cox proportional risk model results showed the hazard ratio (HR) of mortality among people living with HIV with an immediate switch to PIs (HR=0.11, 95% CI 0.03-0.39), and the switch to other NNRTIs and then to PIs (HR=0.08, 95% CI 0.02-0.33) was lower than those with the immediate switch to NNRTIs (Multimedia Appendix 5).

Table 2. Estimated risks of mortality under 4 antiretroviral therapy (ART) switched strategies for individuals tested for HIV-1 genotype resistance from ART in Sichuan from 2011 to 2020^a.

Switched treatment regimens	5-year risk of mortality (95% CI)	RR ^b , (95% CI)	RD ^c , % (95% CI)	
Natural course	11.62 (7.82-17.11)	1 (Ref ^d)	0 (Ref ^d)	
Immediate switch to NNRTIs ^e	31.88 (20.79-44.94)	2.74 (2.01-3.47)	20.26 (10.96- 28.61)	
Immediate switch to PIs ^f	2.87 (0.32-7.07)	0.25 (0.04-0.54)	-8.76 (-13.34 to -5.09)	
If CD4(+) T cells<200 switched to PIs.	5.30 (2.07-10.21)	0.46 (0.22-0.71)	-6.32 (-9.75 to -3.11)	

^aEstimates based on the parametric g-formula adjusted for measured time-varying confounders (CD4(+) T cells count, viral load, and treatment) and baseline characteristics (age, gender, education level, marital status, pattern of transmission, history of sexually transmitted diseases, and history of tuberculosis treatment). Natural course means that the ART regimen is observed without simulated intervention. Natural course mortality was subtracted from estimated mortality for each group.

^bRR: risk ratio.

^cRD: risk difference.

^dRef: reference object.

^eNNRTIs: nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor-based ART.

^fPIs: protease inhibitor-based ART.



Figure 1. Mean of the mortality outcome for individuals who were tested for HIV-1 genotype resistance from antiretroviral therapy (ART) in Sichuan, China, simulated via the parametric g-formula. NNRTIs: nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor–based antiretroviral therapy; PIs: protease inhibitor–based ART.



Figure 2. Five-year risk of mortality under 4 analyses. 1: primary analyses (viral load as a binary variable); 2: individuals lower than 60 years at baseline; 3: individuals with a CRF01_AE subtype; 4: viral load as a continuous variable. NNRTIs: nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor–based antiretroviral therapy (ART); PIs: protease inhibitor–based ART.





Figure 3. Risk ratio of mortality under 4 analyses. 1: primary analyses (viral load as a binary variable); 2: individuals lower than 60 years old at baseline; 3: individuals with a CRF01_AE subtype; 4: viral load as a continuous variable. NNRTIs: nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor–based antiretroviral therapy (ART); PIs: protease inhibitor–based ART; RR: risk ratio.





Figure 4. Risk difference of mortality under 4 analyses. 1: primary analyses (viral load as a binary variable), 2: individuals lower than 60 years old at baseline; 3: individuals with a CRF01_AE subtype; 4: viral load as a continuous variable. NNRTIs: nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor–based antiretroviral therapy (ART); PIs: protease inhibitor–based ART; RD: risk difference.



Discussion

Principal Findings

This retrospective cohort study compared the mortality risk of ART switch regimens among people living with HIV with resistance to NNRTIs using the parametric g-formula method. It provided real-world evidence on the efficacy of PIs and NNRTIs switches. Our results indicate that switching to NNRTIs resulted in a higher mortality rate during the 9- year follow-up period. The 2 scenarios showing a switch to PIs were associated with lower mortality rates. This finding suggests that an immediate switch to PIs after confirmation of drug resistance can help reduce the mortality of people living with HIV and HIV-1 drug resistance.

The 5-year risk of mortality was 8.76% lower for an immediate switch to PIs and 6.32% lower when switched to PIs if CD4(+) T cells<200 compared to the natural course group, which means that in a hypothetical cohort of 100 patients with drug resistance, PIs would prevent about 6-8 deaths over 5 years. On the contrary, the 5-year risk of mortality was 20.26% higher for an immediate switch to NNRTIs when comparing the natural course

RenderX

scenario, meaning that NNRTIs would have an increase of 20 deaths over 5 years.

People living with HIV who switched to PIs had a lower mortality risk. Possible reasons for this might be that PIs could cross the resistance gene barrier and act on the resistant strains to inhibit virus replication [35] or that our participants might have had cross-resistance to NNRTIs and NRTI drugs [36]. If only NNRTIs drugs in the original ART regime were replaced (eg, switching NVP to EFV) or the drug type of NRTIs was replaced (eg, switching AZT to TDF), the immunological outcomes did not change due to the cross-resistance. There was a higher mortality risk if participants continued NNRTI-based ART.

A few studies reported that the resistance rates of NNRTIs and NRTIs were 80%-92% and 95%-100% after the failure of the NNRTI-based ART regimen, respectively [37,38]. With the therapy time prolonged, the resistance mutations of the reverse transcriptase inhibitor would accumulate, leading to severer cross-resistance. If the participants still switched to the NNRTIs, cross-resistance of the strains resulted in no significant improvement in follow-up therapy. Although LPV/r in China is free, the first condition for switching to PIs regimen is NNRTI

resistance due to the limited resources of LPV/r in most provinces [20,39,40]. Therefore, it is important to monitor and detect drug-resistant patients to NNRTIs in a timely manner and switch to PIs to successfully inhibit the replication of NRTI-and NNRTI-mutant viruses. This monitoring will improve the virological and immunological effects, consequentially reducing mortality. Additionally, switching to PIs if CD4(+) T cells <200 is also effective for reducing the mortality risk if switching immediately without assessing cell count is impossible in some resource-limited areas.

Strengths and Limitations

Our study has 2 strengths. First, we simulated interventions to evaluate the risk, risk difference, and risk ratio of mortality by contrasting estimates from idealized study settings with those from more realistic settings. Compared with standard statistical calculations, the parametric g-formula can be more easily used to evaluate the causal effect of complex interventions [41]. In particular, dynamic treatments [42] and joint interventions considering multiple factors can be explored naturally with this method. Second, to our knowledge, this is the first study to compare the mortality difference between switching to other NNRTIs and switching to PIs among people living with HIV with NNRTIs resistance, avoiding the ethical issues of randomized clinical trials.

Nonetheless, several limitations should be considered. First, as in all nonrandomized studies, our approach provided consistent (unbiased) estimates of the cumulative incidence of mortality under several assumptions: all variables (eg, CD4(+) T cell count, viral load, treatment, and death) were measured without error; patients' ART treatment at different CD4(+) T cell counts are exchangeable within levels of measured covariates, in that there are no unmeasured confounding variables [30]. However, we did not collect ART adherence information, which may influence the decision to switch ART regimens in patience with resistance to NNRTIs and may have biased our estimates. Second, the parametric g-formula requires that all models be correctly specified. This condition cannot be guaranteed, but it seems plausible because our models resulted in simulated data sets with means of the outcome and time-varying covariates similar to those in the original data (Multimedia Appendix 2). Third, although we collected the data of all patients who received HIV-1 genotype resistance, were confirmed to have HIV-1 drug resistance, and could be followed up, only 179 participants were included in our research. The small sample size may have led to low test efficiency. Moreover, many patients may not have receive HIV-1 genotype resistance between 2011 and 2014 since the drug resistance monitoring was only conducted in about 20% of people living with HIV, which may induce potential selection bias and influence the extrapolation of our results.

Conclusion

Our study found that the PI regimen helped improve the survival time of people living with HIV and HIV-1 drug resistance. More efforts should be conducted to detect HIV-1 drug resistance earlier to ensure timely regimen switches, thereby maximizing the benefit of early switch ART regimens for people living with HIV and HIV-1 drug resistance and reducing their mortality.

Acknowledgments

We thank the Center for AIDS/STD Control and Prevention, Sichuan Center for Disease Control and Prevention for the data support, and the International Institute of Spatial Lifecourse Epidemiology (ISLE) for research support. This research was funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81703279), Science and Technology Project of Sichuan Provincial Health Committee (20PJ121), and Sichuan Science and Technology program (2020YJ0449).

Authors' Contributions

SY, DY and QW took conceived the study idea, wrote the protocol, developed the methodologies, conducted analyses, and drafted and wrote the manuscript. SY, QW, YL, and CF made critical revisions to the manuscript. SY contributed to the write up of the study protocol and revised the paper. DY, H Yang, H Yu and SL collected, cleaned, and analyzed the data. All authors have read and approved the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Directed acyclic graph. [DOCX File , 24 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33429_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Mean of the mortality outcome and time-varying variables in persons living with HIV and HIV-1 drug resistance. [DOCX File, 98 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33429_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Basic characteristics of the population with 2 antiretroviral therapy (ART) regimens at the observed starting point.

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33429

[DOCX File, 17 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33429_app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Estimated risks of mortality under 4 antiretroviral therapy (ART) switched strategies for 3 sensitivity analyses. [DOCX File , 15 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33429_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% CIs for association between mortality and antiretroviral therapy (ART) switched strategies according to Cox proportional hazards model.

[DOCX File, 14 KB - publichealth v8i6e33429 app5.docx]

References

- Granich R, Gupta S, Hersh B, Williams B, Montaner J, Young B, et al. Trends in AIDS deaths, new infections and ART coverage in the top 30 countries with the highest AIDS mortality burden; 1990-2013. PLoS One 2015;10(7):e0131353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131353] [Medline: 26147987]
- Rougemont M, Nchotu Ngang P, Stoll B, Delhumeau C, Hill A, Ciaffi L, et al. Safety of zidovudine dose reduction in treatment-naïve HIV infected patients. A randomized controlled study (MiniZID). HIV Med 2016 Mar;17(3):206-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hiv.12303] [Medline: 26354678]
- 3. Margolis AM, Heverling H, Pham PA, Stolbach A. A review of the toxicity of HIV medications. J Med Toxicol 2014 Mar;10(1):26-39 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13181-013-0325-8] [Medline: 23963694]
- Sanguansittianant S, Nooroon N, Phaengchomduan P, Ammaranond P. Trends in prevalence of HIV-1 drug resistance in Thailand 2009-2010. J Clin Lab Anal 2013 Sep;27(5):346-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jcla.21609] [Medline: 24038219]
- Phillips A, Stover J, Cambiano V, Nakagawa F, Jordan M, Pillay D, et al. Impact of HIV drug resistance on HIV/AIDS-associated mortality, new infections, and antiretroviral therapy program costs in Sub-Saharan Africa. J Infect Dis 2017 May 01;215(9):1362-1365. [doi: 10.1093/infdis/jix089] [Medline: 28329236]
- 6. Barth RE, van der Loeff MFS, Schuurman R, Hoepelman AIM, Wensing AMJ. Virological follow-up of adult patients in antiretroviral treatment programmes in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 2010 Mar;10(3):155-166. [doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(09)70328-7] [Medline: 20185094]
- McMahon JH, Elliott JH, Bertagnolio S, Kubiak R, Jordan MR. Viral suppression after 12 months of antiretroviral therapy in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ 2013 May 01;91(5):377-385E [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.12.112946] [Medline: 23678201]
- Aghokeng AF, Monleau M, Eymard-Duvernay S, Dagnra A, Kania D, Ngo-Giang-Huong N, ANRS 12186 Study Group. Extraordinary heterogeneity of virological outcomes in patients receiving highly antiretroviral therapy and monitored with the World Health Organization public health approach in sub-saharan Africa and southeast Asia. Clin Infect Dis 2014 Jan;58(1):99-109. [doi: 10.1093/cid/cit627] [Medline: 24076968]
- 9. Paton NI, Kityo C, Hoppe A, Reid A, Kambugu A, Lugemwa A, EARNEST Trial Team. Assessment of second-line antiretroviral regimens for HIV therapy in Africa. N Engl J Med 2014 Jul 17;371(3):234-247. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1311274] [Medline: 25014688]
- Hermes A, Squires K, Fredrick L, Martinez M, Pasley M, Trinh R, et al. Meta-analysis of the safety, tolerability, and efficacy of lopinavir/ritonavir-containing antiretroviral therapy in HIV-1-infected women. HIV Clin Trials 2012;13(6):308-323. [doi: <u>10.1310/hct1306-308</u>] [Medline: <u>23195669</u>]
- 11. Huang Y, Huang X, Luo Y, Zhou Y, Tao X, Chen H, et al. Assessing the efficacy of lopinavir/ritonavir-based preferred and alternative second-line regimens in HIV-infected patients: a meta-analysis of key evidence to support WHO recommendations. Front Pharmacol 2018;9:890 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00890] [Medline: 30174599]
- 12. Cain LE, Saag MS, Petersen M, May MT, Ingle SM, Logan R, Antiretroviral Therapy Cohort Collaboration, the Centers for AIDS Research Network of Integrated Clinical Systems, the HIV-CAUSAL Collaboration. Using observational data to emulate a randomized trial of dynamic treatment-switching strategies: an application to antiretroviral therapy. Int J Epidemiol 2016 Dec 01;45(6):2038-2049 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ije/dyv295] [Medline: 26721599]
- Cain L, Sterne J, May M, Ingle S, Abgrall S, Saag M. When to switch cart: novel methods for the comparison of switching strategies using observational data. In: Am J Epidemiol. 2012 Presented at: 45th Annual Meeting of the Society-for-Epidemiologic-Research (SER); June 27-30, 2012; Minneapolis, MN p. S117-S117.
- 14. Ford D, Robins JM, Petersen ML, Gibb DM, Gilks CF, Mugyenyi P, DART Trial Team. The impact of different CD4 cell-count monitoring and switching strategies on mortality in HIV-infected African adults on antiretroviral therapy: an application of dynamic marginal structural models. Am J Epidemiol 2015 Oct 01;182(7):633-643. [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwv083] [Medline: 26316598]
- 15. Tsegaye AT, Alemu W, Ayele TA. Incidence and determinants of mortality among adult HIV infected patients on second-line antiretroviral treatment in Amhara region, Ethiopia: a retrospective follow up study. Pan Afr Med J 2019;33:89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.11604/pamj.2019.33.89.16626] [Medline: 31489067]
- Gsponer T, Petersen M, Egger M, Phiri S, Maathuis MH, Boulle A, IeDEA Southern Africa. The causal effect of switching to second-line ART in programmes without access to routine viral load monitoring. AIDS 2012 Jan 02;26(1):57-65. [doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32834e1b5f] [Medline: 22089376]
- 17. Fox M, Cutsem GV, Giddy J, Maskew M, Keiser O, Prozesky H, IeDEA-SA collaboration. Rates and predictors of failure of first-line antiretroviral therapy and switch to second-line ART in South Africa. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2012 Aug 01;60(4):428-437 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3182557785] [Medline: 22433846]
- Madec Y, Leroy S, Rey-Cuille M, Huber F, Calmy A. Persistent difficulties in switching to second-line ART in sub-saharan Africa--a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2013 Dec 23;8(12):e82724 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082724] [Medline: 24376570]
- Petersen ML, Tran L, Geng EH, Reynolds SJ, Kambugu A, Wood R, et al. Delayed switch of antiretroviral therapy after virologic failure associated with elevated mortality among HIV-infected adults in Africa. AIDS 2014 Sep 10;28(14):2097-2107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000000349] [Medline: 24977440]
- 20. Chen J, Zhang M, Shang M, Yang W, Wang Z, Shang H. Research on the treatment effects and drug resistances of long-term second-line antiretroviral therapy among HIV-infected patients from Henan Province in China. BMC Infect Dis 2018 Nov 15;18(1):571 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12879-018-3489-7] [Medline: 30442114]
- Liu P, Xing H, Liao L, Feng Y, Leng X, Wang J, et al. HIV drug resistance in patients in China's national HIV treatment programme who have been on first-line ART for at least 9 months. AIDS Res Ther 2020 Mar 05;17(1):9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12981-020-00264-5] [Medline: 32138739]
- 22. Yuan D, Liu M, Li Y, Jia P, Su L, Ye L, et al. Genetic transmission networks of HIV-1 CRF07_BC strain among HIV-1 infections with virologic failure of ART in a minority area of China: a population-based study. BMC Infect Dis 2020 Aug 26;20(1):631 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12879-020-05347-2] [Medline: 32842977]
- 23. Hernán MA, Hernández-Díaz S, Robins JM. A structural approach to selection bias. Epidemiology 2004 Sep;15(5):615-625. [doi: 10.1097/01.ede.0000135174.63482.43] [Medline: 15308962]
- 24. National Manual of Free Antiviral Treatment for AIDS M 4th Edition. Beijing, China: Beijing: People's Medical Publishing House; 2016. URL: <u>https://wenku.baidu.com/view/4ac4dbcc777f5acfa1c7aa00b52acfc788eb9f04.html</u> [accessed 2022-06-06]
- 25. Honaker J, King G, Blackwell M. II: a program for missing data. J Stat Soft 2011;45(7):1-47. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v045.i07]
- 26. Liu TF, Shafer RW. Web resources for HIV type 1 genotypic-resistance test interpretation. Clin Infect Dis 2006 Jun 01;42(11):1608-1618. [doi: 10.1086/503914] [Medline: 16652319]
- Shafer RW, Rhee SY, Pillay D, Miller V, Sandstrom P, Schapiro JM, et al. HIV-1 protease and reverse transcriptase mutations for drug resistance surveillance. AIDS 2007 Jan 11;21(2):215-223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e328011e691] [Medline: 17197813]
- Zhong P, Pan Q, Ning Z, Xue Y, Gong J, Zhen X, et al. Genetic diversity and drug resistance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) strains circulating in Shanghai. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 2007 Jul;23(7):847-856. [doi: 10.1089/aid.2006.0196] [Medline: 17678466]
- 29. Weinberg CR. Toward a clearer definition of confounding. Am J Epidemiol 1993 Jan 01;137(1):1-8. [doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116591] [Medline: 8434568]
- 30. Robins J. A new approach to causal inference in mortality studies with a sustained exposure period—application to control of the healthy worker survivor effect. Math Model 1986;7(9-12):1393-1512. [doi: 10.1016/0270-0255(86)90088-6]
- 31. Hernán MA, Robins JM. Estimating causal effects from epidemiological data. J Epidemiol Community Health 2006 Jul 01;60(7):578-586 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jech.2004.029496] [Medline: 16790829]
- 32. Keil AP, Edwards JK, Richardson DB, Naimi AI, Cole SR. The parametric g-formula for time-to-event data. Epidemiology 2014;25(6):889-897. [doi: 10.1097/ede.00000000000160]
- Westreich D, Cole SR, Young JG, Palella F, Tien PC, Kingsley L, et al. The parametric g-formula to estimate the effect of highly active antiretroviral therapy on incident AIDS or death. Stat Med 2012 Aug 15;31(18):2000-2009 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/sim.5316] [Medline: 22495733]
- 34. McGrath S, Lin V, Zhang Z, Petito LC, Logan RW, Hernán MA, et al. gfoRmula: An R package for estimating the effects of sustained treatment strategies via the parametric g-formula. Patterns 2020 Jun 12;1(3):100008 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.patter.2020.100008] [Medline: 32656541]
- 35. Huang X, Xu L, Sun L, Gao G, Cai W, Liu Y, et al. Six-year immunologic recovery and virological suppression of HIV patients on LPV/r-based second-line antiretroviral treatment: a multi-center real-world cohort study in China. Front Pharmacol 2019;10:1455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.01455] [Medline: 31920648]
- Bacha T, Tilahun B, Worku A. Predictors of treatment failure and time to detection and switching in HIV-infected Ethiopian children receiving first line anti-retroviral therapy. BMC Infect Dis 2012 Aug 24;12(7):197-191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-12-197] [Medline: 22916836]
- 37. Marconi VC, Sunpath H, Lu Z, Gordon M, Koranteng-Apeagyei K, Hampton J, South Africa Resistance Cohort Study Team. Prevalence of HIV-1 drug resistance after failure of a first highly active antiretroviral therapy regimen in KwaZulu

Natal, South Africa. Clin Infect Dis 2008 May 15;46(10):1589-1597 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1086/587109] [Medline: 18419495]

- Sungkanuparph S, Manosuthi W, Kiertiburanakul S, Piyavong B, Chumpathat N, Chantratita W. Options for a second-line antiretroviral regimen for HIV type 1-infected patients whose initial regimen of a fixed-dose combination of stavudine, lamivudine, and nevirapine fails. Clin Infect Dis 2007 Feb 01;44(3):447-452. [doi: 10.1086/510745] [Medline: 17205457]
- 39. Boyd MA, Cooper DA. Second-line combination antiretroviral therapy in resource-limited settings: facing the challenges through clinical research. AIDS 2007 Jul 21;21 Suppl 4(12):S55-S63. [doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000279707.01557.b2] [Medline: 17620754]
- 40. Hosseinipour MC, Gupta RK, Van Zyl G, Eron JJ, Nachega JB. Emergence of HIV drug resistance during first- and second-line antiretroviral therapy in resource-limited settings. J Infect Dis 2013 Jun 15;207 Suppl 2:S49-S56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit107] [Medline: 23687289]
- Taubman S, Robins JM, Mittleman MA, Hernán MA. Intervening on risk factors for coronary heart disease: an application of the parametric g-formula. Int J Epidemiol 2009 Dec;38(6):1599-1611 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ije/dyp192] [Medline: 19389875]
- Young JG, Cain LE, Robins JM, O'Reilly EJ, Hernán MA. Comparative effectiveness of dynamic treatment regimes: an application of the parametric g-formula. Stat Biosci 2011 Sep 01;3(1):119-143 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12561-011-9040-7] [Medline: 24039638]

Abbreviations

ART: antiretroviral therapy **AZT:** zidovudine EFV: efavirenz FPV/r: fosamprenavir/ritonavir HIVDR: HIV drug resistance HR: hazard ratio **ISLE:** International Institute of Spatial Lifecourse Epidemiology LPV/r: lopinavir/ritonavir NNRTI: nonnucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor NRTI: nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor **NVP:** nevirapine **NFV:** nelfinavir PI: protease inhibitor RR: risk ratio RD: risk difference **TDF:** tenofovir TPV/r: tipranavir/ritonavir **3TC:** lamivudine

Edited by H Bradley; submitted 07.09.21; peer-reviewed by P Liu, P Wang; comments to author 21.02.22; revised version received 16.04.22; accepted 10.05.22; published 24.06.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Li Y, Wang Q, Liang S, Feng C, Yang H, Yu H, Yuan D, Yang S Effect of Switching Antiretroviral Treatment Regimen in Patients With Drug-Resistant HIV-1 Infection: Retrospective Observational Cohort Study JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33429 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33429</u> doi:10.2196/33429 PMID:<u>35749212</u>

©Yiping Li, Qinjian Wang, Shu Liang, Chuanteng Feng, Hong Yang, Hang Yu, Dan Yuan, Shujuan Yang. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 24.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Enablers and Barriers to HIV Services for Gay and Bisexual Men in the COVID-19 Era: Fusing Data Sets from Two Global Online Surveys Via File Concatenation With Adjusted Weights

George Ayala¹, BA, PsyD; Sonya Arreola², MPH, PhD; Sean Howell³, PhD; Thomas J Hoffmann⁴, PhD; Glenn-Milo Santos⁴, MPH, PhD

¹Alameda County Public Health Department, San Leandro, CA, United States

²Arreola Research, San Francisco, CA, United States

³Hornet, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁴Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Glenn-Milo Santos, MPH, PhD Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics University of California San Francisco UCSF Medical Center at Mission Bay 550 16th St 2nd floor San Francisco, CA, 94158 United States Phone: 1 4155020955 Email: <u>glenn-milo.santos@ucsf.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Gay and bisexual men are 26 times more likely to acquire HIV than other adult men and represent nearly 1 in 4 new HIV infections worldwide. There is concern that the COVID-19 pandemic may be complicating efforts to prevent new HIV infections, reduce AIDS-related deaths, and expand access to HIV services. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on gay and bisexual men's ability to access services is not fully understood.

Objective: The aim of this study was to understand access to HIV services at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods: Our study used data collected from two independent global online surveys conducted with convenience samples of gay and bisexual men. Both data sets had common demographic measurements; however, only the COVID-19 Disparities Survey (n=13,562) collected the outcomes of interest (HIV services access at the height of the first COVID-19 wave) and only the Global Men's Health and Rights Survey 4 (GMHR-4; n=6188) gathered pre-COVID-19 pandemic exposures/covariates of interest (social/structural enablers of and barriers to HIV services access). We used data fusion methods to combine these data sets utilizing overlapping demographic variables and assessed relationships between exposures and outcomes. We hypothesized that engagement with the gay community and comfort with one's health care provider would be positively associated with HIV services access and negatively associated with poorer mental health and economic instability as the COVID-19 outbreaks took hold. Conversely, we hypothesized that sexual stigma and experiences of discrimination by a health care provider would be negatively associated with HIV services access and positively associated with poorer mental health and economic instability.

Results: With 19,643 observations after combining data sets, our study confirmed hypothesized associations between enablers of and barriers to HIV prevention, care, and treatment. For example, community engagement was positively associated with access to an HIV provider (regression coefficient=0.81, 95% CI 0.75 to 0.86; P<.001), while sexual stigma was negatively associated with access to HIV treatment (coefficient=-1.39, 95% CI -1.42 to -1.36; P<.001).

Conclusions: HIV services access for gay and bisexual men remained obstructed and perhaps became worse during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. Community-led research that utilizes novel methodological approaches can be helpful in times of crisis to inform urgently needed tailored responses that can be delivered in real time. More research is needed to understand the full impact COVID-19 is having on gay and bisexual men worldwide.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33538) doi:10.2196/33538

KEYWORDS

COVID-19; HIV services; gay and bisexual men; sexual health

Introduction

Gay men and other men who have sex with men (MSM; hereafter referred to as gay and bisexual men) [1] are 26 times more likely to acquire HIV than other adult men, and in 2019 represented nearly 1 in 4 new HIV infections worldwide [2,3]. While biological and social factors converge to elevate the risk for HIV acquisition and transmission [4], structural barriers such as sexual stigma, discrimination, and criminalization of sex between men impede access to and utilization of HIV testing, prevention, and treatment services [5,6]. Conversely, factors such as community engagement and having supportive health care providers enable service access and utilization for gay and bisexual men [7].

The world remains off track in meeting global HIV targets, especially for socially marginalized and criminalized groups. For example, surveys from 114 nationally representative data sets in 38 African countries with nearly 1.5 million sexually active adults aged 15-49 years conducted from 2003 to 2018 were examined to estimate trends in annual HIV testing and condom use during the last occurrence of highest-risk sex. These data were used to calculate the probability of reaching key Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) targets. Investigators observed limited progress and little chance of reaching global targets [8]. There is now concern that the COVID-19 pandemic may further complicate efforts to bend the HIV incidence curve; reduce AIDS-related deaths; and expand prevention, care, and treatment coverage [2]. Recent research suggests that COVID-19 is exacerbating challenges gay and bisexual men face in their attempts to access HIV and other sexual health services. A recent study found deleterious economic and mental health consequences of COVID-19 and public health responses among a global sample of gay and bisexual men [9]. The same study also found significant interruptions to HIV testing, prevention, treatment, and care services. The role of COVID-19-related social and structural factors in gay and bisexual men's access to HIV-related services is less understood.

More evidence is needed for providing early and potentially critical programmatic and policy-related interventions in the era of COVID-19. This study utilized a statistical matching method that combined data sets (ie, data fusion) from two separate global online cross-sectional surveys to enable drawing inferences about the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on gay and bisexual men's ability to access services. Neither data set could address the question individually, as one had only outcomes and demographics and the other only exposures and demographics. Data fusion allowed us to relate outcomes to exposures across the data sets. Specifically, this approach allowed us to explore social and structural enablers of and barriers to HIV service access among gay and bisexual men worldwide during the early days of the COVID-19 pandemic. We hypothesized that engagement with the gay community and comfort with one's health care provider would be positively associated with HIV services access and negatively associated

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33538
```

with poorer mental health and economic instability despite the challenges brought about by COVID-19 outbreaks. Conversely, we hypothesized that sexual stigma and experiences of discrimination by a health care provider would be negatively associated with HIV services access and positively associated with poorer mental health and economic instability.

Our hypotheses are informed by social ecological theory, which suggests that various factors at structural, community, interpersonal, and individual levels facilitate or impede access to resources such as HIV and other health services. Social ecological theory is useful for identifying high-impact leverage points in the successful implementation of health-promoting interventions and for strategic alignment of policy and services across a continuum of population health needs [10,11].

Methods

Study Design

Our study used data collected from two independent surveys conducted with gay and bisexual men. The first, Global Men's Health and Rights Survey 4 (GMHR-4), was designed to explore correlates to HIV services access and utilization. GMHR-4 was launched on September 4, 2019, and closed on March 31, 2020 [12,13]. Slightly over 1% of participants took the survey after February 2020. Earlier versions of the survey are described elsewhere in greater detail [5,14]. GMHR-4 data were collected from a nonprobability internet sample of gay and bisexual men, recruited via organizational outreach, email listservs, gay dating apps, and websites. Participants were invited to complete a 20to 30-minute online survey. Eligible participants who consented to take the survey needed to identify as male (cisgender or transgender); have had sex with another man in the last 6 months; be 18 years or older; and able to complete the online survey in Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Indonesian, Portuguese, Russian, Spanish, Swahili, or Vietnamese. No geographical restrictions were applied.

The second survey, COVID-19 Disparities Survey, was administered by Hornet between April 16, 2020, through May 4, 2020 [9]. Hornet is a free, smartphone-based gay social networking app with over 25 million users worldwide. Its users are predominantly gay and bisexual men. The COVID-19 Disparities Survey was a brief, 10- to 15-minute questionnaire, which sought to explore the impacts of COVID-19 on economic status, mental health, and HIV services access among Hornet users. Eligible participants were Hornet users, 18 years or older.

Ethics Approval

Ethical approval for the use of GMHR-4 data was obtained from the Western Institutional Review Board, which determined that GMHR-4 was exempt under 45 CFR 46.104(d)(2) (#1-1174358-1). Study procedures for the COVID-19 Disparities Survey were reviewed by the Johns Hopkins School of Public Health Institutional Review Board, which designated the protocol as exempt under Category 4.

Ayala et al

Measures

Both surveys included demographic questions (eg, age, country of residence, sexual orientation, gender identity, relationship status, racial/ethnic minority status, ability to meet one's basic financial needs, health care coverage, and HIV status). GMHR-4 included questions responded to on 5-point Likert scales, which asked about: (1) engagement with the gay community, assessed on a 10-item scale (Cronbach α =.72), including "During the past 6 months, how often have you participated in gay/bisexual/MSM with social groups?" with a response scale ranging from 1=never to 5=more than 12 times; (2) comfort with one's health care provider, assessed on a 3-item scale (Cronbach α =.85), including "In your country, how comfortable do you feel discussing your sexual health concerns with your health care provider?" where 1=very uncomfortable and 5=very comfortable; (3) experiences of *sexual stigma* (ie, homophobia) using a 7-item scale (Cronbach α =.82), including "In your country, how many people believe that male homosexuals are disgusting?", where 1=none, 2=a few, 3=some, 4=most, 5=all; and (4) provider discrimination, a 6-item scale (Cronbach α =.87), including "In the last 6 months, has a health care provider refused to treat you because you are gay/bisexual/MSM?" where responses ranged from 1=no-never to 5=yes more than 5 times.

The COVID-19 Disparities Survey asked participants about the impact COVID-19 was having on their economic situation; mental health; and ability to access HIV testing, prevention,

care, and treatment services. *Economic impact* was assessed using the question: "How much are you expecting your income to reduce because of the COVID-19 crisis?" The economic impact question used a categorical response scale from 0% to 100%, ordered in 10-point increments. *Mental health* was assessed using validated items from the Patient Health Questionnaire-4 (PHQ-4), which is used to screen for depression and anxiety; scores \geq 3 indicate psychological distress [15].

HIV services impact measures asked whether participants experienced changes in access to condoms, HIV onsite HIV testing, and pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP), such as "Do you feel you have access to HIV prevention strategies during the COVID-19 crisis, i.e., condoms, PrEP, onsite HIV testing?" The 5-point Likert scale response options ranged from "definitely yes" to "definitely no." For participants living with HIV, the survey asked about access to HIV providers, such as "Since the beginning of the COVID-19 crisis, have you been able to see your HIV provider if you needed to?", with the following response options: "Yes, in person"; "Yes, via telemedicine"; "No, because of reduced hours"; "No, because it is closed"; "Not applicable." In addition, the survey assessed treatment access by asking, "Do special measures related to COVID-19 impact your ability to access or refill your HIV medicine?" Response options included: "I cannot access or refill my HIV medicine"; "I can access or refill my HIV medicine, but access is burdensome or complicated"; and "Not applicable." Measures used for the data fusion analysis (described below) are depicted in Figure 1.

Figure 1. Venn diagram of Global Men's Health and Rights Survey 4 (GMHR-4) and COVID-19 Disparities survey measures used for data fusion analysis. Demographic measures that overlap between the two studies' samples include: age, country of residence, sexual orientation, gender identity, relationship status, racial/ethnic minority status, ability to meet one's basic financial needs, health care coverage, and HIV status.



Statistical Analysis

Because we were examining data from two different surveys with only partial variable overlap (demographics in both data sets, exposures in one data set, and outcomes in the other data set), and we were interested in associations between

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33538

nonoverlapping variables across these questionnaires, we utilized statistical matching (ie, data fusion) methods to combine the data sets [16,17] in STATA v15 (College Station, TX) with the community-contributed *smpc* and *smmatch* programs [18]. The data fusion method works as follows: data set A (which contains variables Y and X) and data set B (which contains variables X

and Z) are concatenated and weighted. Y is regressed on X and Z is regressed on X, and a prespecified partial correlation $\rho_{Y,Z|X}$ (discussed below) is used to calculate joint regression coefficients and predict Y and Z values in the concatenated data set. Each individual missing Z (ie, from data set A) is matched to the closest new predicted Z in data set B. After matching, the observed value of the match is imputed as the missing value. A similar process is used for individuals missing Y (ie, from dataset B) [19]. In practice, a range of 5 partial correlation values has been shown to work well and reduce bias [17], and results can then be combined utilizing existing equations and frameworks from multiple imputation (but we note that the method is different than the usual multiple imputation). All predictors and outcomes are treated as continuous variables.

To make an initial informed estimate of the partial correlations between the outcomes from the COVID-19 Disparities Survey data set and the GMHR-4 predictors in the imputation prediction regression models, we calculated the partial correlations between each of the GMHR-4 predictors with the measure that we believed was the closest proxy to each of the outcomes in the COVID-19 data set, while accounting for the jointly observed demographic characteristics (income, education, relationship status, urbanicity [urban vs rural], racial/ethnic minority status, health insurance, and region [Global North vs Global South]). For example, we calculated the partial correlation between the exposure, community engagement, and access to HIV testing in the GMHR-4 data set, while accounting for the jointly observed demographic variables. We then used this partial correlation value in the prediction model for community engagement and the outcome of access to HIV testing during COVID-19 in the COVID-19 Disparities Survey data set. That is, we assumed that the partial correlation between community engagement and access to HIV testing in GMHR-4 was a reasonable approximation for the partial correlation between community engagement in GMHR-4 and access to HIV testing during COVID-19 in the COVID-19 Disparities Survey data set. The range of partial correlations used in the fusion procedure included this initial informed estimate, $\pm 5\%$, and $\pm 10\%$.

Ayala et al

For each partial correlation value and resulting fused data set, we then performed linear regressions between the imputed outcomes and exposures [17]. In these models, outcomes included access (during the COVID-19 crisis) to onsite HIV testing, condoms, PrEP, HIV care, HIV treatment, and mental health services; exposures (covariates of interest) included sexual stigma, provider discrimination, provider comfort, and engagement in the gay community. The models also adjusted for income, education, relationship status, urbanicity (urban vs rural), racial/ethnic minority status, health insurance, and region (Global North vs Global South). In sensitivity analyses, we limited the covariates in the regression models to the demographic characteristics above, exclusive of urbanicity and region.

Results

Sample Characteristics/Matched Variables

A total of 19,643 observations from gay and bisexual men were included in this study after combining outcomes from the GMHR-4 (n=6189) with exposures from the COVID-19 Survey (n=13,454) through overlapping Disparities demographics via data fusion (see Figure 1). Among the total sample, 44.00% (8643/19,643) of participants were under the age of 30 years and 57.00% (11,197/19,643) indicated an inability to financially meet their basic needs. Participants had a high level of education, with 54.00% (10,607/19,643) having completed college. Global northerners (participants from Europe, Canada, the United States, Australia, and New Zealand) and southerners (participants from Africa, Asia, the Caribbean, Latin America, the Middle East, and Pacific Islands) were nearly equally represented in the combined data set. Higher proportions of GMHR-4 study participants reported an HIV-positive status, were from the Global South, and had completed a college education when compared with study respondents from the COVID-19 Disparities Survey. Participant demographics are more fully summarized in Table 1.



Table 1. Participant demographic characteristics jointly observed across both data sets.

Ch	aracteristics	Total ^a (N=19,643), n (%)	GMHR-4 ^b (n=6189), n (%)	COVID-19 Disparities (n=13,454), n (%)
Ag	e (years)			
	<20	1287 (6.55)	537 (8.68)	750 (5.57)
	20-29	7234 (36.83)	2687 (43.42)	4547 (33.80)
	30-49	9240 (47.04)	2528 (40.85)	6712 (49.89)
	50+	1878 (9.56)	433 (7.00)	1445 (10.74)
Ec	onomic status			
	Not able to meet needs well	11,275 (57.40)	3982 (64.34)	7293 (54.21)
	Able to meet needs well	8368 (42.60)	2207 (35.66)	6161 (45.79)
Ed	ucation			
	Did not complete college	9031 (45.98)	1553 (25.09)	7478 (55.58)
	Completed college	10,612 (54.02)	4636 (74.91)	5976 (44.42)
Re	lationship status			
	In a relationship	5725 (29.15)	1673 (27.03)	4052 (30.12)
	Not in a relationship	13,918 (70.85)	4516 (72.97)	9402 (69.88)
Lo	cation of residence			
	Not in a city/urban area	4070 (20.72)	831 (13.43)	3239 (24.07)
	Resides in a city/urban area	15,573 (79.28)	5358 (86.57)	10,215 (75.93)
Ra	cial and ethnic background			
	Not a racial or ethnic minority	16,117 (82.05)	4733 (76.47)	11,384 (84.61)
	Racial or ethnic minority	3526 (17.95)	1456 (23.53)	2070 (15.39)
He	alth insurance			
	No	5398 (27.48)	1908 (30.82)	3490 (25.94)
	Yes	14,245 (72.52)	4281 (69.17)	9964 (74.06)
Re	gion			
	Global South	9671 (49.23)	5563 (89.89)	4108 (30.53)
	Global North	9741 (49.59)	598 (9.66)	9143 (67.96)
HI	V status			
	Not living with HIV	17,194 (87.53)	5173 (83.58)	12,021 (89.35)
	Living with HIV	2449 (12.47)	1016 (16.42)	1433 (10.65)

^aValues may not necessarily add to column totals due to missing responses from participants. ^bGMHR-4: Global Men's Health and Rights Survey 4.

Partial Correlations

Partial correlations between each GMHR-4 predictor with the measure that we believed represented the closest proxy to each of the outcomes in the COVID-19 data set were calculated and are presented in Table 2. Partial correlations were estimated

while adjusting for jointly observed demographic characteristics, including age, country of residence, sexual orientation, gender identity, relationship status, racial/ethnic minority status, ability to meet one's basic financial needs, health care coverage, and HIV status.



Table 2. Partial correlations between Global Men's Health and Rights Survey 4 (GMHR-4) predictor and GMHR-4 proxy measures for COVID-19 outcome variables^a.

Predictors	HIV testing	Condoms	PrEP ^b	Access to HIV provider	Access to ART ^c refills	Low income	Poor mental health
Community engagement	0.08	0.05	0.13	0.11	0.11	0.02	-0.06
Comfort with provider	0.21	0.19	0.25	0.26	0.26	-0.17	-0.15
Sexual stigma	-0.15	-0.19	-0.21	-0.21	-0.18	0.17	0.15
Provider discrimination	-0.07	-0.08	-0.06	-0.05	-0.04	0.09	0.10

^aValues calculated for partial correlations were used as anchors for the range of partial correlations used in smpc and smmatch, with the range set at $\pm 5\%$ and $\pm 10\%$ of values.

^bPrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis.

^cART: antiretroviral therapy.

Enablers and Barriers to HIV Services

Although sexual stigma was commonly reported by study participants (mean 3.53, SD 0.61), discrimination from one's health care provider was low (mean 1.14, SD 0.39). Comfort with one's provider was also frequently reported (mean 2.98, SD 1.25). Our study found poor community engagement, as evidenced by a low mean score (mean 1.32, SD 0.43).

Access to HIV Prevention

Study participants reported relatively high access to HIV testing (mean 3.7, SD 0.43) and condoms (mean 4.6, SD 0.9), but

suboptimal access to PrEP (mean 3.2, SD 1.4). Our study confirmed hypothesized associations between enablers of and barriers to HIV prevention. Community engagement and comfort with one's health care provider were positively associated with access to HIV testing, condoms, and PrEP. Conversely, sexual stigma and experiences of provider discrimination were negatively associated with access to the same set of prevention services. Associations were statistically significant (P<.005). Coefficients and confidence intervals are shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Associations between hypothesized predictors and access to HIV prevention^a.

Predictors	HIV onsite testing access		Condom access			PrEP ^b access			
	Coef ^c	95% CI	P value	Coef	95% CI	P value	Coef	95% CI	P value
Community engagement	1.16	1.14 to 1.18	<.001	0.95	0.92 to 0.99	<.001	1.23	1.16 to 1.30	<.001
Comfort with provider	0.78	0.77 to 0.79	<.001	0.69	0.68 to 0.70	<.001	0.90	0.89 to 0.91	<.001
Sexual stigma	-0.86	-0.87 to-0.84	<.001	-1.05	-1.08 to -1.02	<.001	-1.05	-1.07 to -1.03	<.001
Provider discrimination	-0.96	-1.01 to -0.92	<.001	-0.81	-0.84 to -0.77	<.001	-1.17	-1.19 to -1.14	<.001

^aRegression models also adjusted for income, education, relationship status, urbanicity (urban vs rural), racial/ethnic minority status, health insurance, and region (Global North vs Global South) as covariates. In sensitivity analyses omitting urbanicity and region, results were similar with respect to magnitude and level of significance of estimates.

^bPrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis.

^cCoeff: regression coefficient.

Access to HIV Care and Treatment

Our study found access to HIV care (mean 2.4, SD 0.8) and HIV treatment (mean 2.1, SD 1.2) to be low. Enablers of and barriers to HIV care and treatment were significantly associated

in the predicted directions. For example, community engagement was positively associated with access to an HIV provider and sexual stigma was negatively associated with access to HIV treatment. A detailed summary of associations is presented in Table 4.



Table 4. Associations between hypothesized predictors and access to HIV care and treatment^a.

Predictors	HIV provider access		Access to ART ^b refills			
	Coef ^c	95% CI	P value	Coef	95% CI	P value
Community engagement	0.81	0.75 to 0.86	<.001	1.23	1.19 to 1.27	<.001
Comfort with provider	0.54	0.53 to 0.55	<.001	0.79	0.78 to 0.80	<.001
Sexual stigma	-0.87	-0.95 to -0.78	<.001	-1.08	-1.11 to -1.05	<.001
Provider discrimination	-0.77	-0.81 to -0.73	<.001	-1.13	-1.17 to -1.09	<.001

^aRegression models also adjusted for income, education, relationship status, urbanicity (urban vs rural), racial/ethnic minority status, health insurance, and region (Global North vs Global South) as covariates. In sensitivity analyses omitting urbanicity and region, results were similar with respect to magnitude and level of significance of estimates.

^bART: antiretroviral therapy.

^cCoef: regression coefficient.

Mental Health

The mean PHQ-4 score was 4.7, indicative of prevalent depression and anxiety among respondents who were included in this study. Community engagement and comfort with one's

health care provider were each negatively associated with poorer mental health. However, poorer mental health outcomes were significantly associated with experiences of sexual stigma and provider discrimination (see Table 5).

 Table 5. Associations between hypothesized predictors and poorer mental health^a.

Predictors	Poorer mental health (PHQ-4 ^b)		
	Coef ^c	95% CI	<i>P</i> value
Community engagement	-3.03	-3.19 to -2.87	<.001
Comfort with provider	-2.19	-2.23 to -2.15	<.001
Sexual stigma	2.48	2.42 to 2.54	<.001
Provider discrimination	3.15	2.94 to 3.35	<.001

^aRegression models also adjusted for income, education, relationship status, urbanicity (urban vs rural), racial/ethnic minority status, health insurance, and region (Global North vs Global South) as covariates. In sensitivity analyses omitting urbanicity and region, results were similar with respect to magnitude and level of significance of estimates.

^bPHQ-4: Patient Health Questionnaire-4.

^cCoef: regression coefficient.

Economic Impact

Although the mean score for the question assessing anticipated income reduction was low (2.4), the SD (3.6) suggests broad variability in participant responses. As displayed in Table 6,

regression analyses confirmed hypothesized associations between predictor and outcome variables of interest, with one important exception: community engagement was positively associated with anticipated income reduction.

Table 6. Associations between hypothesized predictors and economic instability^a.

Anticipated income reduction during COVID-19					
Coef ^b	95% CI	<i>P</i> value			
0.84	0.74 to 0.93	<.001			
-0.65	-0.65 to -0.64	<.001			
0.74	0.73 to 0.75	<.001			
0.89	0.85 to 0.92	<.001			
	Anticipated income reduction duri Coef ^b 0.84 -0.65 0.74 0.89	Anticipated income reduction during COVID-19 Coef ^b 95% CI 0.84 0.74 to 0.93 -0.65 -0.65 to -0.64 0.74 0.73 to 0.75 0.89 0.85 to 0.92			

^aRegression models also adjusted for income, education, relationship status, urbanicity (urban vs rural), racial/ethnic minority status, health insurance, and region (Global North vs Global South) as covariates. In sensitivity analyses omitting urbanicity and region, results were similar with respect to magnitude and level of significance of estimates.

^bCoef: regression coefficient.

Ayala et al

Discussion

Principal Findings

To our knowledge, this is the first community-led, HIV-related research study to systematically combine data sets via data fusion from two separate online surveys of gay and bisexual men. The strategy enabled us to compare variables that would otherwise not be comparable. Specifically, we could combine outcomes from one data set with exposures from the other data set with a fusion process through the overlap [18]. This approach allowed us to confirm hypothesized associations between sexual stigma, provider discrimination, community engagement, and comfort with one's health care provider, each experienced prior to the global onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, with access to HIV services, income reduction, and mental health impact at the height of the pandemic's first surge.

Our study suggests that experiences of sexual stigma and provider discrimination continue to be common and likely persist through the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, despite low overall levels of engagement with the gay community, when reported, community engagement may be moderating the deleterious effects of sexual stigma and provider discrimination on mental health and economic security. This may be because communities are sources of information, safety, support, and affinity [20-24]. Although community engagement was positively associated with anticipated reductions in income, this finding makes sense if study participants are actively engaging community-based or -led organizations for support. Study findings confirm prior research showing the enabling effects of community engagement and comfort with one's health care provider on access to HIV prevention, testing, treatment, and care services for gay and bisexual men [25]. Moreover, HIV and other health services are more likely to be perceived as accessible and to be utilized if they are delivered by peers [26-28].

All exposures or predictors were assessed using scales contained in GMHR-4, based on data collected in the weeks and months prior to the pandemic. All outcomes were measured using items from the COVID-19 Disparities Survey. Although we cannot directly infer causal relationships between predictor and outcome variables, measures utilized asked COVID-19 Disparities Survey participants to consider COVID-19 in their responses, allowing us the unique opportunity to infer associations beyond the time parameters prescribed by GMHR-4. Our findings point to actionable factors that both enable and inhibit access to HIV services for gay and bisexual men in the COVID-19 era.

Strengths and Limitations

There are some study limitations that are important to mention. First, both the GMHR-4 and COVID-19 Disparities Survey utilized online convenience samples, recruited through networks of advocates, service providers, and online dating apps. The study is therefore subject to selection bias for gay and bisexual men who are connected through networks and for whom internet-based technologies are more easily available. Study participants may thus have greater access to information and motivation to respond to surveys. Based on the sociodemographic characteristics of the sample, participants

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33538
```

may likely have been gay and bisexual men who were less affected by the negative consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic. Consequently, findings reported here may reflect an underestimation of the true magnitude of COVID-19's impact. In addition, the COVID-19 Disparities Survey was conducted at different stages of the epidemic's spread and the magnitude of national responses likely varied from country to country. Convenience sampling also violates the assumption of the data fusion method that the two data sets were drawn as simple random samples from the same population [16], which may also bias our results. In addition, we note that our two data sets had more pronounced differences from each other in education and region. However, the matching procedure itself used to impute values is based on matching to similar covariate values. Moreover, results depended on our specification and assumptions used in the partial correlation for imputation. Nevertheless, we used estimates in our partial correlation calculation that we expected to be close and further combined over a range of partial correlation values [17]. Additional research is needed to determine the accuracy of our assumptions in the partial correlations we calculated. Like other observational studies, there may be other unmeasured confounders (eg, mental health, socioeconomic status) that may be associated with our exposures of interest and access to HIV services. Finally, the results relied on data that are cross-sectional in nature, which precludes our ability to examine temporal changes in predictors and outcomes measured. Further research, including qualitative studies, are needed to fully explore: (1) unequal access to HIV services, including their causes; (2) factors that enable access to both services and health; and (3) the impact COVID-19 is having on gay and bisexual men worldwide.

Despite these limitations, our study underscores the continued need to better understand and address impediments to service access among gay and bisexual men, especially in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Key strengths of this study include the range of domains used that can be harnessed for future research related to the HIV and COVID-19 pandemics and their impact on vulnerable populations. These include individual financial security, mental and sexual health, access to services, and program utilization. Moreover, the data sets used include samples from countries hardest hit by COVID-19, including Brazil, France, Mexico, and Russia.

Studies highlighting factors thought to enable access to HIV services are rare among gay and bisexual men [29]. Further, barriers to HIV services unique to international samples of gay and bisexual men are only sporadically studied [5,6,30,31], and are not universally and specifically addressed in national HIV responses [32]. Understanding the enablers of and barriers to HIV services access is critically important to getting the world back on track to achieving zero new infections, zero AIDS deaths, and zero discrimination [33]. Having a full and nuanced grasp of service enablers and barriers is especially important now, as we witness the impact of a second, unrelated global pandemic. This is because pre-existing vulnerabilities may become exacerbated during times of crisis, moderated to the extent that enabling factors are consistently and strategically buttressed with funding and technical support [34].

Conclusions

Community-led research employing novel methodological approaches are paramount during times of crisis. The use of approaches such as data fusion to combine data sets can help to quickly clarify salient enabling factors rapidly and cost-efficiently, as well as expose the economic, mental health, and service impacts of sexual stigma and provider discrimination. Such information can potentially lead to tailored responses delivered in real time, which can be critically important during public health emergencies such as that represented by the COVID-19 pandemic. Community-led, methodologically creative, and cost-efficient approaches should be encouraged and funded, especially during such times.

Our study specifically highlights the importance of reinforcing enablers such as community engagement and comfort with one's health care provider, while addressing stigma and discrimination as critically and equally central to ensuring equitable HIV services access among gay and bisexual men worldwide. Although not new, the findings reported here suggest that addressing factors that enable and deter access to HIV services may be especially important in buffering against the mental health and economic impacts of new and unrelated pandemics. Moreover, our study raises the question of whether the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in worsening HIV services access among gay and bisexual men, a question that remains open and ready for further research. Future research is needed, including prospective studies of gay and bisexual men that more deeply examine the associations between exposures and outcomes of interest within the same sample. Future studies should also examine the concerns of gay and bisexual men more comprehensively, beyond those related to HIV, in a world transfixed and transformed by COVID-19.

Acknowledgments

The authors deeply appreciate the teams at MPact Global Action for Gay Men's Health and Rights and Hornet. We would especially like to thank the thousands of participants in community-led survey efforts, such as those featured here. Finally, we recognize, with humility, the courage of sexual minority people worldwide, who put their lives and livelihoods on the line every day in their struggles for respect, dignity, and human rights. Human rights include the right to HIV and other sexual health services free from stigma and discrimination.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Young R, Meyer I. The trouble with "MSM" and "WSW": erasure of the sexual-minority person in public health discourse. Am J Public Health 2005 Jul;95(7):1144-1119. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2004.046714</u>] [Medline: <u>15961753</u>]
- Seizing the moment: Tackling entrenched inequalities to end epidemics. Global AIDS Update. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). 2020. URL: <u>https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/</u> 2020 global-aids-report_en.pdf [accessed 2020-07-21]
- 3. Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). 2018. URL: <u>https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/fact-sheet</u> [accessed 2020-07-21]
- 4. Beyrer C, Baral S, van Griensven F, Goodreau S, Chariyalertsak S, Wirtz A, et al. Global epidemiology of HIV infection in men who have sex with men. Lancet 2012 Jul 28;380(9839):367-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60821-6] [Medline: 22819660]
- Arreola S, Santos G, Beck J, Sundararaj M, Wilson P, Hebert P, et al. Sexual stigma, criminalization, investment, and access to HIV services among men who have sex with men worldwide. AIDS Behav 2015 Feb;19(2):227-234. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-014-0869-x] [Medline: 25086670]
- Santos G, Makofane K, Arreola S, Do T, Ayala G. Reductions in access to HIV prevention and care services are associated with arrest and convictions in a global survey of men who have sex with men. Sex Transm Infect 2017 Feb 04;93(1):62-64. [doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2015-052386] [Medline: 26944344]
- Burns P, Williams M, Mena L, Bruce M, Bender M, Burton E, et al. Leveraging community engagement: the role of community-based organizations in reducing new HIV infections among Black men who have sex with men. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities 2020 Apr;7(2):193-201. [doi: 10.1007/s40615-019-00691-9] [Medline: 31942692]
- Nguyen PT, Gilmour S, Le PM, Onishi K, Kato K, Nguyen HV. Progress toward HIV elimination goals: trends in and projections of annual HIV testing and condom use in Africa. AIDS 2021 Jul 01;35(8):1253-1262. [doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000002870] [Medline: 33730746]
- 9. Santos G, Ackerman B, Rao A, Wallach S, Ayala G, Lamontage E, et al. Economic, mental health, HIV prevention and HIV treatment impacts of COVID-19 and the COVID-19 response on a global sample of cisgender gay men and other men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav 2021 Feb;25(2):311-321 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-020-02969-0] [Medline: 32654021]
- 10. White F, Stallones L, Last J. Global public health: ecological foundations. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2013.

- Baral S, Logie CH, Grosso A, Wirtz AL, Beyrer C. Modified social ecological model: a tool to guide the assessment of the risks and risk contexts of HIV epidemics. BMC Public Health 2013 May 17;13(1):482 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-482] [Medline: 23679953]
- 12. Arreola S, Solares D, Tohme J, Ayala G. Criminalization of consensual sex between men associated with poor access to HIV-services for gay, bisexual, other men who have sex with men worldwide: Findings from GMHR 2019-2020. 2020 Presented at: 23rd International AIDS Conference; July 6-10, 2020; San Francisco, CA/virtual. [doi: 10.1037/e502982010-001]
- Arreola S, Doàn TT, Walimbwa J, Solares D, Ayala G. Structural Violence HindersResiliency Enables Access to Sexual Health Services for Gay, Bisexualother men who have Sex with Men Worldwide. 2020 Presented at: 23rd International AIDS Conference; July 6-10, 2020; San Francisco, CA/virtual.
- 14. Arreola S, Hebert P, Makofane K, Beck J, Ayala G. Access to HIV prevention treatment for men who have sex with men: findings from the 2012 Global Men's Health Rights Study. The Global Forum on MSM & HIV (MSMGF). 2012. URL: https://www.msmgf.org/files/msmgf/documents/GMHR_2012.pdf [accessed 2020-07-21]
- 15. Kroenke K, Spitzer R, Williams J, Löwe B. An ultra-brief screening scale for anxiety and depression: the PHQ-4. Psychosomatics 2009;50(6):613-621. [doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.50.6.613] [Medline: 19996233]
- 16. Rubin DB. Statistical matching using file concatenation with adjusted weights and multiple imputations. J Bus Econ Stat 1986 Jan;4(1):87-94. [doi: 10.1080/07350015.1986.10509497]
- 17. Moriarity C, Scheuren F. A note on Rubin's statistical matching using file concatenation with adjusted weights and multiple imputations. J Bus Econ Stat 2003 Jan;21(1):65-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1198/073500102288618766]
- 18. Alpman A. Implementing Rubin's alternative multiple-imputation method for statistical matching in Stata. Stata J 2016 Sep 01;16(3):717-739 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1536867x1601600311]
- Aluja-Banet T, Daunis-I-Estadella J, Brunsó N, Mompart-Penina A. Improving prevalence estimation through data fusion: methods and validation. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2015 Jun 24;15(1):49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-015-0169-z] [Medline: 26104747]
- 20. Campbell C, Burgess R. The role of communities in advancing the goals of the Movement for Global Mental Health. Transcult Psych 2012 Jul;49(3-4):379-395 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1363461512454643] [Medline: 23008350]
- Argento E, Duff P, Bingham B, Chapman J, Nguyen P, Strathdee S, et al. Social cohesion among sex workers and client condom refusal in a Canadian setting: implications for structural and community-led interventions. AIDS Behav 2016 Jun;20(6):1275-1283 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-015-1230-8] [Medline: 26499335]
- 22. Brown G, Reeders D, Cogle A, Madden A, Kim J, O'Donnell D. A systems thinking approach to understanding and demonstrating the role of peer-led programs and leadership in the response to HIV and hepatitis C: findings from the W3 Project. Front Public Health 2018;6:231. [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00231] [Medline: 30234083]
- Kakietek J, Geberselassie T, Manteuffel B, Ogungbemi K, Krivelyova A, Bausch S, et al. It takes a village: community-based organizations and the availability and utilization of HIV/AIDS-related services in Nigeria. AIDS Care 2013 Jun 09;25(Suppl 1):S78-S87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/09540121.2012.740158] [Medline: 23745634]
- 24. Datta J, Reid D, Hughes G, Mercer CH, Wayal S, Weatherburn P. Places and people: the perceptions of men who have sex with men concerning STI testing: a qualitative study. Sex Transm Infect 2018 Feb;94(1):46-50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/sextrans-2016-052983] [Medline: 28778980]
- 25. Ayala G, Santos GM. Will the global HIV response fail gay and bisexual men and other men who have sex with men? J Int AIDS Soc 2016 Nov 21;19(1):21098. [doi: 10.7448/ias.19.1.21098]
- 26. Veronese V, Oo Z, Thein Z, Aung P, Draper B, Hughes C, et al. Acceptability of peer-delivered HIV testing and counselling among men who have sex with men (MSM) and transgender women (TW) in Myanmar. AIDS Behav 2018 Aug;22(8):2426-2434. [doi: 10.1007/s10461-017-2022-0] [Medline: 29427231]
- 27. Leitinger D, Ryan K, Brown G, Pedrana A, Wilkinson A, Ryan C, et al. Acceptability and HIV prevention benefits of a peer-based model of rapid point of care HIV testing for Australian gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men. AIDS Behav 2018 Jan;22(1):178-189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-017-1888-1] [Medline: 28849434]
- Ochonye B, Folayan M, Fatusi A, Emmanuel G, Adepoju O, Ajidagba B, et al. Satisfaction with use of public health and peer-led facilities for HIV prevention services by key populations in Nigeria. BMC Health Serv Res 2019 Nov 21;19(1):856 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4691-z] [Medline: 31752853]
- 29. Brown G, Leonard W, Lyons A, Power J, Sander D, McColl W, et al. Stigma, gay men and biomedical prevention: the challenges and opportunities of a rapidly changing HIV prevention landscape. Sex Health 2017 Feb;14(1):111-118. [doi: 10.1071/SH16052] [Medline: 27977386]
- Baral S, Holland C, Shannon K, Logie C, Semugoma P, Sithole B, et al. Enhancing benefits or increasing harms: community responses for HIV among men who have sex with men, transgender women, female sex workers, and people who inject drugs. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2014 Aug 15;66(Suppl 3):S319-S328. [doi: <u>10.1097/QAI.000000000000233</u>] [Medline: <u>25007203</u>]
- 31. Ayala G, Santos G, Arreola S, Garner A, Makofane K, Howell S. Blue-Ribbon Boys: factors associated with PrEP use, ART use and undetectable viral load among gay app users across six regions of the world. J Int AIDS Soc 2018 Jul;21(Suppl 5):e25130 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jia2.25130] [Medline: 30033536]

- 32. Focus on key populations in National HIV strategic plans in the African Region. World Health Organization Regional Office for Africa. 2018. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/275494/WHO-AF-CDS-HIV-02.2018-eng.pdf?ua=1</u> [accessed 2020-07-21]
- Global HIV, Hepatitis and Sexually Transmitted Infections Programmes, Guidelines Review Committee. Consolidated guidelines on HIV prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care for key populations. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2016.
- 34. Gupta G, Parkhurst J, Ogden J, Aggleton P, Mahal A. Structural approaches to HIV prevention. Lancet 2008 Aug 30;372(9640):764-775. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60887-9] [Medline: 18687460]

Abbreviations

GMHR-4: Global Men's Health and Rights Survey-4 MSM: men who have sex with men PHQ-4: Patient Health Questionnaire-4 PrEP: pre-exposure prophylaxis UNAIDS: Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS

Edited by T Sanchez; submitted 12.09.21; peer-reviewed by P Nguyen, V Minichiello, K Card; comments to author 29.12.21; revised version received 23.03.22; accepted 01.04.22; published 27.06.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ayala G, Arreola S, Howell S, Hoffmann TJ, Santos GM Enablers and Barriers to HIV Services for Gay and Bisexual Men in the COVID-19 Era: Fusing Data Sets from Two Global Online Surveys Via File Concatenation With Adjusted Weights JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33538 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33538</u> doi:<u>10.2196/33538</u> PMID:<u>35377321</u>

©George Ayala, Sonya Arreola, Sean Howell, Thomas J Hoffmann, Glenn-Milo Santos. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 27.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Estimating COVID-19 Hospitalizations in the United States With Surveillance Data Using a Bayesian Hierarchical Model: Modeling Study

Alexia Couture¹, MPH; A Danielle Iuliano^{1,2}, PhD; Howard H Chang³, PhD; Neha N Patel^{1,4}, MPH; Matthew Gilmer^{1,5}, MS; Molly Steele¹, PhD; Fiona P Havers^{1,2}, MD; Michael Whitaker¹, MPH; Carrie Reed¹, SCiD

¹Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA, United States

²United States Public Health Service, Rockville, MD, United States

³Department of Biostatistics and Bioinformatics, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, United States

⁴Division of Health and Environment, Abt Associates, Atlanta, GA, United States

⁵General Dynamics Information Technology, Atlanta, GA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Alexia Couture, MPH Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1600 Clifton Road Atlanta, GA, 30329 United States Phone: 1 4044985984 Email: njh6@cdc.gov

Abstract

Background: In the United States, COVID-19 is a nationally notifiable disease, meaning cases and hospitalizations are reported by states to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Identifying and reporting every case from every facility in the United States may not be feasible in the long term. Creating sustainable methods for estimating the burden of COVID-19 from established sentinel surveillance systems is becoming more important.

Objective: We aimed to provide a method leveraging surveillance data to create a long-term solution to estimate monthly rates of hospitalizations for COVID-19.

Methods: We estimated monthly hospitalization rates for COVID-19 from May 2020 through April 2021 for the 50 states using surveillance data from the COVID-19-Associated Hospitalization Surveillance Network (COVID-NET) and a Bayesian hierarchical model for extrapolation. Hospitalization rates were calculated from patients hospitalized with a lab-confirmed SARS-CoV-2 test during or within 14 days before admission. We created a model for 6 age groups (0-17, 18-49, 50-64, 65-74, 75-84, and \geq 85 years) separately. We identified covariates from multiple data sources that varied by age, state, and month and performed covariate selection for each age group based on 2 methods, Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO) and spike and slab selection methods. We validated our method by checking the sensitivity of model estimates to covariate selection and model extrapolation as well as comparing our results to external data.

Results: We estimated 3,583,100 (90% credible interval [CrI] 3,250,500-3,945,400) hospitalizations for a cumulative incidence of 1093.9 (992.4-1204.6) hospitalizations per 100,000 population with COVID-19 in the United States from May 2020 through April 2021. Cumulative incidence varied from 359 to 1856 per 100,000 between states. The age group with the highest cumulative incidence was those aged \geq 85 years (5575.6; 90% CrI 5066.4-6133.7). The monthly hospitalization rate was highest in December (183.7; 90% CrI 154.3-217.4). Our monthly estimates by state showed variations in magnitudes of peak rates, number of peaks, and timing of peaks between states.

Conclusions: Our novel approach to estimate hospitalizations for COVID-19 has potential to provide sustainable estimates for monitoring COVID-19 burden as well as a flexible framework leveraging surveillance data.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e34296) doi:10.2196/34296

KEYWORDS

COVID-19; SARS-CoV-2; hospitalization; Bayesian; COVID-NET; extrapolation; hospital; estimation; prediction; United States; surveillance; data; model; modeling; hierarchical; rate; novel; framework; monitoring

Introduction

Monitoring disease burden and severity is a critical component of public health research, communication, and response. The current COVID-19 pandemic, which is caused by SARS-CoV-2, has been ongoing since early 2020 and presents novel challenges and barriers to monitoring due to the unique transmission, nature of the virus, and variety of symptom presentations. In the United States, COVID-19 cases, hospitalizations, and deaths are captured through the National Notifiable Disease Surveillance System (NNDSS) and death certificates reported to the National Vital Statistics System (NVSS) [1-3]. However, the hospitalization status of cases reported by states through the NNDSS is often incomplete and thus might inaccurately represent the burden of COVID-19 hospitalization in the United States. In addition, since July 15, 2020, hospitalizations known or suspected to be related to COVID-19 have been reported daily through the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) Protect, known as the unified hospital time-series data [4]. This data collection is a burden on facilities that is likely unsustainable in the long term.

Current research and methods for estimating hospitalizations of COVID-19 are limited. In mid-2020, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) developed a multiplier method for estimating SARS-CoV-2 infections and hospitalizations for COVID-19 based on state- and territory-reported line-level case data [5]. To date, these COVID-19 burden estimates from this case-based multiplier model are calculated and published on the CDC's website [6]. Other papers have leveraged seroprevalence surveys to estimate SARS-CoV-2 infections and hospitalizations for COVID-19 [7,8]. These methods rely on data systems such as case reporting or wide-scale, special seroprevalence surveys that were initiated during the pandemic but might not exist in the future, as the pandemic winds down. Case count data and consistent, representative seroprevalence data may eventually be discontinued due to the pandemic slowing down and resources and attention going elsewhere, leaving a need for longer-term systems that can be sustained.

Since March 2020, the COVID-19-Associated Hospitalization Surveillance Network (COVID-NET) has collected data on laboratory-confirmed SARS-CoV-2-positive patients from a network of hospitals in 14 US states [9]. Although this sentinel surveillance system does not cover the entire United States, it is expected to continue monitoring rates of COVID-19 hospitalization even after the pandemic ends. The COVID-NET system was built off of the similar long-standing Influenza Hospitalization Surveillance Network (FluSurv-NET), which has been monitoring population-based rates of influenza hospitalization for almost 20 years [10]. Although the network does not currently make any further determination about the relationship between a positive SARS-CoV-2 test and the reason for hospitalization for each identified patient, this system and data are the best source available for the long-term surveillance of COVID-19 hospitalizations.

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34296

We created a method to utilize COVID-NET data to provide national and state-specific estimates of hospitalization to provide a long-term, sustainable framework to generate estimates of COVID-19 disease burden in the United States. The aim of this study was to estimate monthly COVID-19 hospitalization rates, defined as hospitalized patients with positive tests for SARS-CoV-2 infections, for all 50 states from May 2020 through April 2021. We adapted a Bayesian hierarchical model to estimate and extrapolate hospitalization rates, accounting for uncertainty and variability between states and across time.

Methods

COVID-NET Surveillance Hospitalization Data and Adjustments

We used COVID-19 hospitalization data from COVID-NET. The network identifies hospitalized patients with a positive SARS-CoV-2 test, including molecular assay and antigen detection, during hospitalization or within 14 days prior to hospitalization [9]. Hospitalization rates are calculated by the number of residents in a catchment area, defined as the area or population around the reporting hospital that the hospital potentially services, of the COVID-NET sites who are hospitalized with a confirmed, positive SARS-CoV-2 test divided by the total population within that defined catchment area. The network is made up of over 250 acute care hospitals representing 99 counties in 14 states: California, Colorado, Connecticut, Georgia, Iowa, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, New Mexico, New York, Ohio, Oregon, Tennessee, and Utah. Overall, the network covers about 10% of the United States population. For this analysis, case data were aggregated by month of hospitalization, state reporting, and the following 6 age groups: 0-17 years, 18-49 years, 50-64 years, 65-74 years, 75-84 years, and \geq 85 years. Age groups were chosen based on available data age groupings as well as interest in breaking apart older age groups, which have been impacted more by severe COVID-19.

Recognizing that all hospital patients are unlikely to be tested for SARS-CoV-2 and, therefore, some true cases are not classified as COVID-19 patients, COVID-19 hospitalization rates are adjusted by weighting them for SARS-CoV-2 testing practices (ie, the probability of being tested for SARS-CoV-2 during their hospitalization). In addition, testing practices changed over the course of the pandemic. The probability of being tested was calculated from the IBM Watson Health Explorys electronic health record database (IBM Corporation), which includes more than 39 health system partners across the country. All states participating in COVID-NET, except Connecticut, used the same testing probabilities calculated from IBM Watson data, which were aggregated testing practices of all partners stratified by month and age group. The testing probabilities for these 13 states ranged from 0.28 to 0.67. Connecticut provided site-specific testing practice data through COVID-NET, which ranged from 0.32 to 1.00. Rates were also

adjusted to account for the SARS-CoV-2 assay sensitivity because, depending on the sensitivity of the assay, some patients could have false-negative test results (ie, would not be identified as a COVID-19 hospitalization). The assay sensitivity was assumed to be 0.885, which is the midpoint for the range found in a systemic review [11]. The adjusted hospitalization counts were used to calculate rates using COVID-NET catchment populations for each site. Due to the range in hospitalizations by age groups over time, 6 models were run, 1 for each age group:

where *s*=1, ..., *S* for each COVID-NET state and *m*=1, ..., *M* for each month.

Covariate Data and Selection

To extrapolate COVID-19 hospitalization rates from COVID-NET sites to states not included in the COVID-NET network, we incorporated model covariates based on state, month, and age-specific demographic and epidemiological data. We used different data measures to account for differences between states with COVID-NET sites and those states without COVID-NET sites from multiple sources (Table 1). Including covariates in the model helps to quantify differences between age groups, months, and states and allows for the model to account for these differences when estimating how many COVID-19 hospitalizations have occurred. We considered both time-varying and time-invariant state-level covariates that captured other COVID-19 disease trends, population demographics, and population health indicators. For the time-varying covariates, we considered the percent of SARS-CoV-2 positive tests from commercial and public health laboratories, percent of all-cause deaths that were coded as COVID-19 deaths from the National Center for Health Statistics and NVSS, and the following hospital capacity variables: percent patients with COVID-19 out of all inpatients and percent intensive care unit (ICU) beds occupied out of all ICU beds [12-16]. We incorporated a 1-week lag to the percent positive COVID-19 tests to account for time between symptom onset and hospitalization and a 1-week lead to the percent of COVID-19 deaths out of all deaths to account for time between hospitalization and death. For the time-invariant covariates, we considered the percent Native American and percent Black American and the population prevalence of the following conditions or diseases from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS): obesity, heart disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, and asthma [17,18]. Underlying medical and chronic conditions were found to be highly prevalent in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 and were therefore included as possible covariates [18]. Time- and age-varying data for population prevalence of underlying medical and chronic conditions were not available. Table 1 summarizes all of the variables that were considered as covariates. We used covariate selection methods to determine which of the possible covariates to include in the model. For the <18-year-old age group, only asthma was included as a possible covariate from the chronic conditions or diseases because of a lack of evidence that the prevalence of other chronic conditions or diseases affected COVID-19 hospitalization in that age group [19].

Table 1. Variables considered to be covariates in our Bayesian model to extrapolate COVID-19 hospitalizations for all 50 US states with stratification and source.

Variables	Stratified by	Source
Laboratory surveillance: SARS-CoV-2 % positive using rt-PCR ^a tests	Month, state, age	Commercial lab and public health lab data
Vital records death: % of all-cause deaths that were coded as COVID-19 deaths	Month, state, age	National Center for Health Statistics National Vital Surveillance System
Hospital capacity: % COVID patients out of all inpatients, % ICU ^b occupied out of all ICU beds	Month, state	HHS ^c Protect/National Center for Health Statistics
Race/ethnicity: % American Indian, % Black, % racial minority ^d	State, age	National Center for Health Statistics/National Vital Statis- tics System
Chronic conditions/diseases: % obesity, % heart disease, % $COPD^e$, % Diabetes, % CKD^f , % asthma	State	CDC ^g MMWR ^h Stacks/Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System

^art-PCR: reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction.

^bICU: intensive care unit

^cHHS: Department of Health and Human Services.

^dRacial minority was defined as non-White and non-Hispanic.

^eCOPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

^fCKD: chronic kidney disease.

^gCDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

^hMMWR: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report.

Extreme values were detected for time-varying covariates and subsequently transformed using Winsorization (ie, minimized the influence of outliers by replacing them by the maximum or

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34296

RenderX

minimum values at a threshold of distribution percentiles) [20]. We used the adjusted COVID-NET hospitalization rates as the outcome to select covariates separately for each age group.

Couture et al out utilizing Markov chain Monte Carlo

Covariate selection methods assist with avoiding collinearity and ensuring that the most relevant and impactful covariates are included. Our method for covariate selection utilized Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (LASSO) and spike and slab [21,22]. Covariates were included in the final model for the specific age group if they were selected by LASSO and then the model incorporated spike and slab selection. The LASSO chooses a subset of predictors by introducing an upper bound for the sum of squares and minimizing the errors present in the model. Spike and slab is a Bayesian approach in which we assigned priors to the regression coefficients to be zero or nonzero, which is where the name comes from. From that, the posterior distributions show a biseparation effect in the model coefficients-those that peak at zero and those significantly different from zero. Assumption for nonzero was high in the model due to LASSO selection being done first.

Bayesian Hierarchical Model and Extrapolation

We implemented a Bayesian hierarchical model for extrapolation adapted from a model to estimate global influenza burden rates [23]. Parameter estimation and inference were conducted under a fully Bayesian framework to better quantify uncertainties in predicted hospitalization rates, including those that are extrapolated to states without COVID-NET data.

We let A_{sm} denote the estimated, adjusted COVID-19 hospitalization count from the COVID-NET states during months from the pandemic, starting in May 2020, where s=1,...,S, and S=14 states in COVID-NET, m=1,..., M, and M=12 for each month included in the model (ie the observed data adjusted in section COVID-NET Surveillance Hospitalization Data and Adjustments). Because the observed hospitalization estimate is a count, we can view them as deriving from a Poisson probability [24]. This is used to account for the random variation from the observed data. Those estimated, adjusted COVID-19 hospitalization counts, along with the COVID-NET catchment populations and the selected covariates, were used as inputs into the following Bayesian hierarchical model:

Level 1: $A_{sm} \sim Pois(\theta_{sm} * Population_s/100,000)$

where A_{sm} = Adjusted COVIDNET Count_{sm} (the estimated hospitalization count for state and month from COVID-NET data), *Population_s* is the catchment population for state *s*, and θ_{sm} is the unobserved true hospitalization rate.

Level 2:
$$\theta_{sm} \sim logN(\mu + \gamma_1 X_{1.sm} + ... + \gamma_k X_{k.sm} \sigma^2)$$

where *X* is the value of covariate *i* in state *s* at time *m*, k=1, ..., K, K = the number of selected covariates, and covariates are with mean 0 and variance 1.

Level 3: $\gamma_k \sim N(0, 1000000^{(1-gk)} * 0.001)$ $g_k \sim Bern(0.9)$ Priors: $\mu \sim N(0, 10^{-6})$ $\sigma^2 \sim Unif(0, 1000)$

where k=1, ..., K and K = the number of selected covariates.

Inference was carried out utilizing Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) simulations with 20,000 iterations. The model outputs included samples from the posterior distribution of COVID-19-associated hospitalizations for each state and month. Using these samples, we calculated the median and 90% credible intervals (CrIs) for hospitalization counts, rounded to the hundreds due to MCMC errors, and used the state population by age group to calculate final hospitalization rates. To calculate overall age, age by month, age by state, and state by month hospitalizations and rates, we first summed the posterior samples. Since the median of sums does not equal the sum of medians, this led to slightly different total hospitalizations depending on which grouping was used to sum. For consistency, we calculated total hospitalizations from overall age medians, total monthly hospitalizations from age by month, and total state hospitalizations by age by state. We chose 20,000 iterations after starting with 2000 iterations and slowly increasing to obtain stable estimates that also minimized simulation error.

Validation and Comparison

We conducted sensitivity analyses to assess the effect of covariate selection and input data on the model. Multiple combinations of covariates were examined for each age group to assess how robust the hospitalization estimates were to covariate selection. To validate and test the sensitivity of the model, first, we compared how the model estimated hospitalizations for each COVID-NET state with the observed hospitalization rate from COVID-NET. In another sensitivity analysis, we dropped data from each COVID-NET state, one by one, and then compared the observed hospitalization rates to the extrapolated rates for each dropped state. Finally, we also compared our COVID-19 hospitalization estimates against other public estimates and databases, including COVID-19 hospitalization rates reported through Healthdata.gov (The Unified Hospital Timeseries data), the COVID Tracking project, and from the CDC's case-based multiplier model [5,6,25-28]. The Unified Hospital Timeseries data and COVID Tracking are publicly project available data sets providing state-aggregated data for COVID-19 hospitalizations over time. According to Healthdata.gov, the Unified Hospital Timeseries data had reliable counts of new hospitalizations with COVID-19 starting in the fall of 2020 when over 95% reporting from all hospitals reported by the HHS. The Unified Hospital Timeseries data are from reports at the facility level and do not account for nonresponse or missingness. The COVID Tracking Project compiled data taken directly from the websites of state or territory public health authorities but stopped and switched to reporting the Unified Hospital Timeseries on March 7, 2021. The CDC's case-based multiplier model estimates hospitalization in 2-month increments and by HHS regions, not by state. Our model output was aggregated appropriately for comparisons.

Ethical Statement

This activity was reviewed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and determined to be consistent with nonhuman participant research activity (#0900f3eb81da6749). Informed consent was waived, as data were deidentified and aggregated.

Results

The covariates selected for each age group varied (Multimedia Appendix 1). The SARS-CoV-2 percent positive, the percentage of inpatients with COVID-19 out of all inpatients, and the percentage of hospitalizations that were ICU admissions were selected for each of the age groups. The 18- to 49-year-old age group had the most covariates selected, and the <18-year-old age group had the fewest covariates selected.

From May 2020 through April 2021 in the United States, we estimated there were 3,583,100 (90% CrI 3,250,500-3,945,400) hospitalizations representing a rate of 1093.9 (90% CrI 992.4-1204.6) hospitalizations per 100,000 population with COVID-19. The estimated rates varied by age group, state, and month. The highest rates of hospitalization were among those aged \geq 85 years, with a rate of 5575.6 per 100,000 population (90% CrI 5066.4-6133.7), and the lowest hospitalization rate

was for those <18 years of age, with a rate of 83.9 per 100,000 population (90% CrI 76.8-91.4). Table 2 summarizes the final estimated counts and rates of hospitalizations by age group from May 2020 through April 2021.

Hospitalization rates for all age groups peaked in either December 2020 or January 2021. Figure 1 shows the epidemiologic curves of hospitalizations over time by age group. During the study period, we observed the largest peak in hospitalization rates in December 2020 (183.7/100,000), followed by January 2021 (180.1/100,000). A second, smaller peak in COVID-19 hospitalizations was observed for all age groups in July 2020 (90.6/100,000). The lowest rate of hospitalization was observed across age groups in September 2020 (46.9/100,000). Following the peak in COVID-19 hospitalization rates during the winter months, COVID-19 hospitalizations declined until the month of April 2021 (Figure 1).

Table 2. Cumulative COVID-19 hospitalization count (median) and rate per 100,000 population and accompanying 90% credible intervals (CrIs) for each age group and overall from May 2020 through April 2021 for 50 US states from our Bayesian model output.

Age group	Hospitalization count	90% CrIs	Hospitalization rate per 100,000	90% CrI
<18 years	61,200	56,000-66,600	83.9	76.8-91.4
18-49 years	892,700	805,700-992,100	647.7	584.6-719.8
50-64 years	927,900	846,900-1,016,100	1477.1	1348.2-1617.6
65-74 years	709,800	645,200-776,500	2258.0	2052.5-2470.3
75-84 years	623,900	562,600-689,700	3912.7	3528.7-4325.7
≥85 years	367,600	334,000-404,400	5575.6	5066.4-6133.7
Total	3,583,100	3,250,500-3,945,400	1093.9	992.4-1204.6

Figure 1. COVID-19 hospitalization rates per 100,000 population and 90% credible intervals by age group over time from May 2020 through April 2021 for 50 US states from our Bayesian model output. The Y-axis limits are adjusted to the unique range for each age group (ie, they are not set to the same scale).



At a state level, cumulative hospitalization rates from May 2020 through April 2020 ranged from 359.3 (90% CrI 241.5-476.6) hospitalizations per 100,000 people in Vermont to 1855.6 (90% CrI 1184.3-2640.1) hospitalizations per 100,000 people in Nebraska. Figure 2 shows the overall cumulative hospitalization rate per 100,000 people from May 2020 to April 2021 for all states with a heat map (Figure 2A) and by bar graph (Figure 2B) to show the range of hospitalization burden across the country. COVID-NET states are well distributed throughout the highest to lowest rates by state.

Considering state-specific hospitalization rates over time, not all states had the same peaks or magnitudes of peaks. Figure 3 shows the epidemiological curves across the study period for the top 10 states with the highest upper 90% credible interval for cumulative hospitalization rates from May 2020 through April 2021. From these example states, we were able to observe differences in the time trends between states regarding the timing and number of peaks. States including Texas, Nevada, Alabama, Arizona, and Tennessee have 2 peaks; however, they differed by timing and magnitude of the peaks. In contrast, Nebraska, Kansas, Virginia, Missouri, and Oklahoma experienced only 1 major peak, which also differed by timing and magnitude. Hospitalization rates per 100,000 population from the final output model over time are provided in Figure 3.

To assess the sensitivity of the selected covariates, we ran the model using multiple combinations of the covariates, including those selected by the LASSO method alone and those by the spike and slab method alone. Hospitalization estimates did not

vary greatly overall or by age depending on covariate combinations and were almost 100% consistent between LASSO alone, spike and slab alone, and when both were used, which are the covariates used in the final model for each age group. To validate the final model, we compared the observed COVID-NET hospitalization rates to the final model's estimated hospitalization rates. The rates are higher from the final model. However, the trends over time and by age group follow the observed, input rates (Multimedia Appendix 2). The supplementary images are a plot of each COVID-NET state comparing observed (input), estimated (final model), and monthly hospitalization extrapolated rate in the leave-one-state-out analysis, showing rates over time and by age group. Model median results for other states were mostly consistent whether the specific COVID-NET state was dropped or not. Almost all of the COVID-NET states' extrapolated estimates (ie, when dropped) had a 90% CrI that included the observed (input) estimate and estimated (final model) rate. The older age groups were more consistent and had more overlap between estimates than the younger age groups in the leave-one-state-out analysis. Finally, we compared our output with other hospitalization estimates and data for the final step of our sensitivity analysis. We compared our results with the Unified Hospital Timeseries data and data published on The COVID Tracking Project [25,26]. Figure 4 shows a comparison of hospitalization rate from each source over time. We also compared our results to the current published numbers from the CDC's case-based multiplier model (Multimedia Appendix 3) [5,6,27].



Figure 2. Cumulative COVID-19 hospitalization rate per 100,000 population by state from May 2020 through April 2021 in the United States from our Bayesian model output: (A) heat map of the United States of cumulative hospitalization rate per 100,000 population from May 2020 through April 2021 and (B) bar chart of cumulative hospitalization rate per 100,000 population from May 2020 through April 2021, with 90% credible intervals and states from COVID-19-Associated Hospitalization Surveillance Network (COVID-NET) in blue.



Figure 3. COVID-19 hospitalization rates per 100,000 population over time for the top 10 US states with the highest upper 90% credible interval for cumulative COVID-19 hospitalization rates from May 2020 through April 2021 from the Bayesian model output: (A) Nebraska, (B) Texas, (C) Kansas, (D) Nevada, (E) Alabama, (F) Arizona, (G) Tennessee, (H) Virginia, (I) Missouri, and (J) Oklahoma.







Figure 4. Comparison of COVID-19 hospitalization rates per 100,000 population over time from May 2020 through April 2021 in the United States from our Bayesian model output with 90% credible intervals, the Unified Hospital Timeseries data, and data from The COVID Tracking Project.

Discussion

Overall, our method estimated that 3,583,100 hospitalizations occurred in the United States from May 2020 through April 2021, with estimated rates varying by age group, state, and month. These estimates demonstrate the large burden of COVID-19 hospitalizations in the United States and provide visibility on variations in disease burden by age group, state, and time. As expected, the most severe burden of COVID-19 hospitalizations occurred among older age groups, specifically among people aged ≥ 65 years old. The largest peak in hospitalizations occurred in December 2020 and January 2021, aligning with the largest peak in reported case rates [28].

Our approach to estimating the burden of COVID-19 hospitalization using long-term surveillance data has several benefits. First, we designed our model to build on an existing system that was initially started to track hospitalizations for influenza and has expanded to capture other respiratory viruses including COVID-19. COVID-NET was built on a long-standing surveillance infrastructure that has been conducting surveillance for respiratory infections, including influenza and respiratory syncytial virus, for many years and is expected to continue monitoring COVID-19 hospitalization rates into the future [29]. Our model calculated estimates of state-level hospitalization rates by month and age group, rather than assuming the 14 COVID-NET sentinel sites are representative of the United States. Each US state has experienced the pandemic differently, and our models allow us to capture the variations in the number and magnitude of peaks and state-specific trends in hospitalization rates. Further, using covariates to extrapolate data from the COVID-NET sites to the rest of the United States

provides useful information to understand state-level differences in hospitalization. The covariates add information to the input hospitalization rates to then create a better story for the states to which it extrapolates. This model helps preserve notable differences in the epidemiology of COVID-19 between states.

When we compared our model against the published Unified Hospital Timeseries and the COVID-Tracking Project, our COVID-19 hospitalization estimates were higher but showed the same trends and included the Unified Hospital Timeseries' rates in our 90% CrIs for a few months (Figure 4). We also compared our model to the case-based multiplier model. The CDC developed the case-based multiplier model using nationally notifiable COVID-19 case report data and assumptions for underdetection of confirmed cases, which is still being used to produce published burden estimates [5,6]. Our Bayesian model offers an alternative method of estimation by leveraging sentinel surveillance data if or when case report data become unreliable or unavailable. When we compared our model's output to the case-based multiplier model during time periods that overlapped, we found that our model generated more conservative estimates of hospitalization. Our model's output was lower than the estimates from the case-based multiplier model (Multimedia Appendix 3). From June 2020 to March 2021, our model estimated a cumulative incidence of 904.3 per 100,000 population whereas the case-based multiplier estimated 1345.3 per 100,000 population. When comparing estimates by age group, months, and HHS regions, specific differences are highlighted. Our model had much lower estimates of hospitalization rates per 100,000 for the 0- to 17-year-old age group (210.7 for the case-based multiplier model and 67.4 for ours) and \geq 65-year-old age group (4401.7 for the case-based

multiplier model and 2800.8 for ours), while the other age groups were only slightly lower (Multimedia Appendix 3). In addition, our February through March estimate and HHS regions 2 and 9 were much lower. However, our model had higher estimates for a few HHS regions compared with the case-based multiplier estimates. Our method has several advantages over the case-based multiplier method. First, the case report data used were often incomplete for hospitalization status and relied on the imputation of hospitalization status. In our method, the input hospitalization data were from a surveillance system that actively identified laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 hospitalizations. This may account for the differences observed in the hospitalization estimates between the models. Imputation could lead to more hospitalizations than those counted from the surveillance system. For example, if those not missing in case data have a bias toward being hospitalized, then those with missing hospitalization status in the case data would also have a bias toward being hospitalized when imputed. A second difference between the methods was that the case-based multiplier method adjusted reported cases for factors that influenced case detection, including health care-seeking behaviors and testing practices at the HHS region level. Therefore, they adjusted and estimated at the HHS region level rather than the state level like our method. Estimating at the regional versus the state level may also explain differences in estimates.

The case-based multiplier model relies on COVID-19 being a nationally notifiable disease and continued case reporting by states and jurisdictions, which may not continue long term. In contrast, our method relies on routine sentinel surveillance data and allows for extrapolation to places without data. Both the case report data and seroprevalence data used by Angulo et al [7] as the basis for their national COVID-19 disease burden estimates were data sources created to inform the pandemic response, but it is unclear how long these data will continue to be collected.

Although we utilized this method for estimating state-level hospitalization rates for COVID-19 in the United States from May 2020 through April 2021, our method can be adapted for different outcomes or measures of interest both domestically and in international settings. The main components needed are reliable surveillance data in enough areas to have diversity in disease occurrence and covariates that help explain the variation between all areas of extrapolation. There are surveillance systems set up that do not have complete coverage. For example, this approach was adapted from an analysis using a Bayesian Hierarchical model to extrapolate influenza yearly rates by country [23]. This method provides an opportunity to leverage surveillance data and inform more accurate estimates of disease burden. Efforts to further expand the method to other levels of disease severity including infection, illness, or death are ongoing.

Our method also has some limitations. First and foremost, we are estimating hospitalizations with positive tests for SARS-CoV-2 infections, as the contributing surveillance data do not currently attribute whether patients were hospitalized due to complications caused by the infection. Even for hospitalizations that are incidental, like an elective surgery, the

hospital still has to deal with cohorting and infection control for that person, which adds burden on the hospital. Second, since our goal was to use routine surveillance data, our time frame for estimates began in May 2020 in states where we believe the surveillance systems were established and providing stable data after being set up in the early months of the pandemic. Therefore, we cannot estimate cumulative hospitalizations since the start of the pandemic. Third, we assume that COVID-NET captures all patients who were tested for COVID-19 and had a positive result. Although we adjusted for testing practices (ie, those not tested), we could be underestimating hospitalizations if this assumption is not true and confirmed positives are not being reported. Fourth, we assumed that testing practices did not differ by states, except in Connecticut where testing practice data for COVID-NET sites were available. This assumption could result in either an over- or underestimation of hospitalizations. In addition, we assumed testing sensitivity for COVID-19 in COVID-NET was 0.885, which can lead to an over- or underestimation of hospitalizations depending on true sensitivity. We also did not adjust for false positives because the reported specificity for tests in COVID-NET is extremely high [11]. However, this could also lead to an overestimation of hospitalizations. Fifth, our method assumes that the COVID-NET sites are representative of the entire state. In some states, such as Maryland, COVID-NET includes all counties; in other states, such as Iowa, it includes only 1 county. Although the model accounted for uncertainty and variability between states, we are still limited by representativeness within a state between the COVID-NET site and the truth of the entire state. As a result, our model may be under- or overestimating hospitalizations at the state level for COVID-NET states depending on how well the particular catchment area reflects COVID-19 activity in the state. Sixth, our method assumes that COVID-NET states capture enough diversity across the nation to extrapolate data to all states, which may not be true. Although the 14 states from COVID-NET vary in many ways, we cannot be sure that they cover the variation in COVID-19 hospitalizations, including variations in things that may impact hospitalizations like mitigation strategies and vaccination rates. For example, we could not extrapolate to Washington DC or New York City appropriately due to the extreme variation between a state and a purely metropolitan city. Seventh, although the covariates are meant to inform the extrapolation, the covariates are limited by the quality, completeness, and availability of the data. There could be vital information around COVID-19 hospitalization rates that are missing, such as other chronic conditions, underlying risk factors in the population, mitigation measures, and vaccination rates. Although our model has time-varying covariates that describe the COVID-19 impact in each state, including percent positive, percent COVID-19 deaths, and hospital capacity covariates, vaccination rates were not included so we may be under- or overestimating age groups and states based on potential unaccounted variation from the correlation to vaccination rates. Another limitation is the wide CrIs. Median estimates from the model's output distributions of hospitalizations seem to be reasonable through our sensitivity, validation, and comparison analysis, but the 90% CrIs are wide for some of the states where extrapolation was carried out. This

limits the precision of true hospitalizations and inference of medians presented. Finally, since we ran a different model for each age group, we are limited in the interpretation of hospitalization estimates by month and state since combining models' outputs may underestimate variability and does not capture correlations between age groups. Although we calculated hospitalizations by month and state, combined variance is unknown, so CrIs may be wider than reported.

In conclusion, we estimated that about 4 million COVID-19 hospitalizations occurred in the United States from May 2020 through April 2021. As COVID-19 continues to circulate and cause illness, it will be important to develop a sustainable method to continue to estimate the disease burden of COVID-19 that can account for regional variation in timing and incidence of disease activity as well as changes in detection and reporting

of COVID-19 and that utilizes ongoing surveillance data. With an unknown future of COVID-19, burden estimates will continue to be needed. Having a burden estimation method that uses a sentinel surveillance system ensures we will have the ability to create burden estimates despite changes in case data reporting. Knowing disease burden helps us understand vaccine-averted burden, post–COVID-19 conditions, and more important public health research. Our method leverages routine surveillance data that are expected to continue after the pandemic and a Bayesian hierarchical modeling approach as a novel way to continue estimating COVID-19 hospitalizations. The model offers an approach that will be useful not only to COVID-19 hospitalization estimations but also to other levels of the disease burden pyramid, including SARS-CoV-2 infections and COVID-19 deaths.

Acknowledgments

Funding for this work was supported by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC; Atlanta, GA). The authors received no financial support for the research, authorship, or publication of these data.

Authors' Contributions

AC, ADI, HHC, NNP, MG, MS, and CR were involved in the study conceptualization. AC, ADI, NNP, MG, MW, and CR analyzed the primary and input data. AC and HHC coded the model, and AC was responsible for running all model analyses. AC, ADI, NNP, MG, MS, FPH, MW, and CR validated the data used in the analysis. AC and CR led the initial drafting of the manuscript. All authors contributed ideas for analysis and manuscript edits and subsequent drafts. All authors had access to the underlying data, have seen and approved the final manuscript, and were responsible for the decision to submit.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Covariates selected for each Bayesian model for extrapolation of COVID-19 hospitalizations for all 50 US states by age group out of all covariates. For the 0-17 years age group, only asthma was included as a possible covariate from the chronic conditions/diseases. CKD: chronic kidney disease, COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, ICU: intensive care unit, inpat: inpatients.

[DOCX File, 18 KB - publichealth_v8i6e34296_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Comparison of COVID-19 hospitalization rates per 100,000 population and 90% credible intervals (error bars) from our Bayesian model by age group for each US state in COVID-NET showing observed rate (COVID-NET input rate), estimated rate (final model), and extrapolated rate (dropped). Y-axis limits adjust to the unique minimum and maximum rate for each age group. [DOCX File , 2181 KB - publichealth v8i6e34296 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Comparison of COVID-19 hospitalization estimates between our Bayesian model and case-based multiplier model by age group, months, and HHS regions, including distribution of hospitalization for each group from June 2020 through March 2021. [DOCX File, 21 KB - publichealth_v8i6e34296_app3.docx]

References

- Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) 2020 Interim Case Definition, Approved August 5, 2020. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://ndc.services.cdc.gov/case-definitions/coronavirus-disease-2019-2020-08-05/</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- 2. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) 2020 Interim Case Definition, Approved April 5, 2020. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://ndc.services.cdc.gov/case-definitions/coronavirus-disease-2019-2020/</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]

- 3. COVID-19 Death Data and Resources. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021 Feb 05. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/covid-19.htm</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- 4. Hospital Reporting. HHS Protect Public Data Hub. URL: <u>https://protect-public.hhs.gov/pages/hospital-reporting</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- Reese H, Iuliano AD, Patel NN, Garg S, Kim L, Silk BJ, et al. Estimated Incidence of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Illness and Hospitalization-United States, February-September 2020. Clin Infect Dis 2021 Jun 15;72(12):e1010-e1017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa1780] [Medline: 33237993]
- 6. Estimated COVID-19 Burden. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/</u> 2019-ncov/cases-updates/burden.html [accessed 2022-02-11]
- Angulo FJ, Finelli L, Swerdlow DL. Estimation of US SARS-CoV-2 Infections, Symptomatic Infections, Hospitalizations, and Deaths Using Seroprevalence Surveys. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Jan 04;4(1):e2033706 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.33706] [Medline: 33399860]
- 8. Hozé N, Paireau J, Lapidus N, Tran Kiem C, Salje H, Severi G, et al. Monitoring the proportion of the population infected by SARS-CoV-2 using age-stratified hospitalisation and serological data: a modelling study. The Lancet Public Health 2021 Jun;6(6):e408-e415. [doi: 10.1016/s2468-2667(21)00064-5]
- Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)-Associated Hospitalization Surveillance Network (COVID-NET). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/covid-net/purpose-methods.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- 10. Influenza Hospitalization Surveillance Network (FluSurv-NET). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/weekly/influenza-hospitalization-surveillance.htm</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- Arevalo-Rodriguez I, Buitrago-Garcia D, Simancas-Racines D, Zambrano-Achig P, Del Campo R, Ciapponi A, et al. False-negative results of initial RT-PCR assays for COVID-19: A systematic review. PLoS One 2020;15(12):e0242958 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0242958] [Medline: 33301459]
- 12. Syndromic Data Critical to COVID-19. National Syndromic Surveillance Program. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nssp/index.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- National Vital Statistics System: Guidance for Certifying COVID-19 Deaths 2020. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020 Mar 04. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvss/coronavirus/</u> <u>Alert-1-Guidance-for-Certifying-COVID-19-Deaths.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- National Vital Statistics System: New ICD code introduced for COVID-19 deaths. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2020 Mar 24. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvss/coronavirus/</u> <u>Alert-2-New-ICD-code-introduced-for-COVID-19-deaths.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- National Center for Health Statistics: Reporting and Coding Deaths Due to COVID-19. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/covid19/coding-and-reporting.htm</u> [accessed 2022-05-26]
- 16. Hospital Utilization. HHS Protect Public Data Hub. URL: <u>https://protect-public.hhs.gov/pages/hospital-utilization</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- 17. CDC Wonder: bridged-race population estimates. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://wonder.cdc.gov/</u> bridged-race-population.html [accessed 2021-08-08]
- Razzaghi H, Wang Y, Lu H, Marshall KE, Dowling NF, Paz-Bailey G, et al. Estimated County-Level Prevalence of Selected Underlying Medical Conditions Associated with Increased Risk for Severe COVID-19 Illness - United States, 2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Jul 24;69(29):945-950. [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6929a1] [Medline: 32701937]
- 19. Clift AK, Coupland CAC, Keogh RH, Diaz-Ordaz K, Williamson E, Harrison EM, et al. Living risk prediction algorithm (QCOVID) for risk of hospital admission and mortality from coronavirus 19 in adults: national derivation and validation cohort study. BMJ 2020 Oct 20;371:m3731 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m3731] [Medline: 33082154]
- 20. Ruppert D. Trimming and Winsorization. In: Balakrishnan N, Colton T, Everitt B, Piegorsch W, Ruggeri F, Teugels JL, editors. Wiley StatsRef: Statistics Reference Online. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Blackwell; 2006.
- 21. Tibshirani R. Regression Shrinkage and Selection Via the Lasso. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological) 2018 Dec 05;58(1):267-288. [doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1996.tb02080.x]
- 22. Ishwaran H, Rao JS. Spike and slab variable selection: Frequentist and Bayesian strategies. Ann Statist 2005 Apr 1;33(2):1. [doi: 10.1214/009053604000001147]
- 23. Iuliano A, Roguski K, Chang H, Muscatello D, Palekar R, Tempia S, Global Seasonal Influenza-associated Mortality Collaborator Network. Estimates of global seasonal influenza-associated respiratory mortality: a modelling study. Lancet 2018 Mar 31;391(10127):1285-1300 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33293-2</u>] [Medline: <u>29248255</u>]
- 24. Kochanek KD, Xu J, Murphy SL, Miniño AM, Kung H. Deaths: final data for 2009. Natl Vital Stat Rep 2011 Dec 29;60(3):1-116. [Medline: 24974587]
- 25. COVID-19 Reported Patient Impact and Hospital Capacity by State Timeseries. Healthdata.gov. URL: <u>https://healthdata.gov/Hospital/COVID-19-Reported-Patient-Impact-and-Hospital-Capa/g62h-syeh</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- 26. The COVID Tracking Project. URL: https://covidtracking.com/ [accessed 2021-08-08]
- 27. Estimated COVID-19 Burden. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/</u> 2019-ncov/cases-updates/burden.html [accessed 2021-08-08]

- 28. COVID Data Tracker. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/</u> [accessed 2021-08-08]
- 29. Chaves SS, Lynfield R, Lindegren ML, Bresee J, Finelli L. The US Influenza Hospitalization Surveillance Network. Emerg Infect Dis 2015 Sep;21(9):1543-1550 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3201/eid2109.141912] [Medline: 26291121]

Abbreviations

BRFSS: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System
CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
COVID-NET: COVID-19-Associated Hospitalization Surveillance Network
CrI: credible interval
FluSurv-NET: Influenza Hospitalization Surveillance Network
HHS: Department of Health and Human Services
ICU: intensive care unit
LASSO: Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator
MCMC: Markov chain Monte Carlo
NNDSS: National Notifiable Disease Surveillance System
NVSS: National Vital Statistics System

Edited by T Sanchez; submitted 15.10.21; peer-reviewed by S Rigdon, N Fenton, J Fitzner; comments to author 09.12.21; revised version received 21.12.21; accepted 21.04.22; published 02.06.22.

Please cite as:

Couture A, Iuliano AD, Chang HH, Patel NN, Gilmer M, Steele M, Havers FP, Whitaker M, Reed C Estimating COVID-19 Hospitalizations in the United States With Surveillance Data Using a Bayesian Hierarchical Model: Modeling Study JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e34296 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34296 doi:10.2196/34296 PMID:35452402

©Alexia Couture, A Danielle Iuliano, Howard H Chang, Neha N Patel, Matthew Gilmer, Molly Steele, Fiona P Havers, Michael Whitaker, Carrie Reed. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 02.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



COVID-19 Surveillance in the Biobank at the Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine: Observational Study

Randi K Johnson^{1,2,3*}, MPH, PhD; Katie M Marker^{1,3,4*}, MPH; David Mayer¹, BS; Jonathan Shortt¹, PhD; David Kao^{1,3}, MD; Kathleen C Barnes^{1,3}, PhD; Jan T Lowery^{2,3*}, MPH, PhD; Christopher R Gignoux^{1,3,4*}, PhD

¹Division of Biomedical Informatics and Personalized Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Colorado School of Medicine, Aurora, CO, United States

³Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine, Aurora, CO, United States

⁴Human Medical Genetics and Genomics Program, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Randi K Johnson, MPH, PhD Division of Biomedical Informatics and Personalized Medicine Department of Medicine University of Colorado School of Medicine 13001 E 17th Place Mail Stop 563 Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 3037245375 Email: randi.johnson@cuanschutz.edu

Abstract

Background: Characterizing the experience and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic among various populations remains challenging due to the limitations inherent in common data sources, such as electronic health records (EHRs) or cross-sectional surveys.

Objective: This study aims to describe testing behaviors, symptoms, impact, vaccination status, and case ascertainment during the COVID-19 pandemic using integrated data sources.

Methods: In summer 2020 and 2021, we surveyed participants enrolled in the Biobank at the Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine (CCPM; N=180,599) about their experience with COVID-19. The prevalence of testing, symptoms, and impacts of COVID-19 on employment, family life, and physical and mental health were calculated overall and by demographic categories. Survey respondents who reported receiving a positive COVID-19 test result were considered a "confirmed case" of COVID-19. Using EHRs, we compared COVID-19 case ascertainment and characteristics in EHRs versus the survey. Positive cases were identified in EHRs using the International Statistical Classification of Diseases, 10th revision (ICD-10) diagnosis codes, health care encounter types, and encounter primary diagnoses.

Results: Of the 25,063 (13.9%) survey respondents, 10,661 (42.5%) had been tested for COVID-19, and of those, 1366 (12.8%) tested positive. Nearly half of those tested had symptoms or had been exposed to someone who was infected. Young adults (18-29 years) and Hispanics were more likely to have positive tests compared to older adults and persons of other racial/ethnic groups. Mental health (n=13,688, 54.6%) and family life (n=12,233, 48.8%) were most negatively affected by the pandemic and more so among younger groups and women; negative impacts on employment were more commonly reported among Black respondents. Of the 10,249 individuals who responded to vaccination questions from version 2 of the survey (summer 2021), 9770 (95.3%) had received the vaccine. After integration with EHR data up to the time of the survey completion, 1006 (4%) of the survey respondents had a discordant COVID-19 case status between EHRs and the survey. Using all longitudinal EHR and survey data, we identified 11,472 (6.4%) COVID-19-positive cases among Biobank participants. In comparison to COVID-19 cases identified through the survey, EHR-identified cases were younger and more likely to be Hispanic.

²Department of Epidemiology, Colorado School of Public Health, Aurora, CO, United States

Conclusions: We found that the COVID-19 pandemic has had far-reaching and varying effects among our Biobank participants. Integrated data assets, such as the Biobank at the CCPM, are key resources for population health monitoring in response to public health emergencies, such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e37327) doi: 10.2196/37327

KEYWORDS

COVID-19; surveillance; pandemic; biobank; EHR; public health; integrated data; population health; health monitoring; electronic health record; eHealth; health record; emergency response; vaccination status; vaccination; testing; symptom; disease impact

Introduction

The COVID-19 global pandemic has caused a significant burden on the health and well-being of our families and communities. It has changed the way we work, socialize, and go about our daily lives. To date, over 888,000 Americans have died from COVID-19, and more than 49 million have been infected with the virus, many of whom have been hospitalized or suffered from a range of symptoms lasting from days to years [1]. Further, the burden of this disease, with respect to infection rates, hospitalizations, deaths, and impacts on physical and mental health, is not evenly distributed throughout the population. Understanding the nature and magnitude of this disease has been challenging due to the evolving nature of this virus, changing recommendations from public health around testing and self-quarantine, and our own health behaviors to avoid exposure.

As we strive to understand this novel virus in terms of risk and outcomes, it is important to assess the impact of COVID-19 among various populations, including those who may experience serious versus mild effects from infection, those who experience symptoms but do not undergo testing, and those who never contract the disease. This broad inquiry requires multiple data sources. Electronic health records (EHRs) are useful for capturing information about persons who seek medical care or become hospitalized due to COVID-19, and thus may reflect more severe cases [2-4]. However, due to incomplete and unstructured data collection in EHRs, self-reported population surveys can provide information about persons with more mild disease who may opt not to seek medical care and those never infected [5]. Combining data sources from EHRs and surveys can mitigate limitations and biases inherent in each as well as optimize capture of the COVID-19 experience in a broader population.

We sought to characterize the experience and impact of the COVID-19 virus among a large and diverse group of persons enrolled in the Biobank at the Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine (CCPM), a collaborative initiative supported by UCHealth and the University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus. Specifically, we assessed the prevalence of testing and positive test results, the type and frequency of symptoms, health care utilization, severity of disease, and the impacts of the pandemic on mental and physical health, and employment. Uniquely, for this analysis, we were able to combine clinical data from EHRs with self-reported information collected via an online survey that was offered to all Biobank participants.

We present here results from our analysis of self-reported survey data and clinical data recorded in EHRs for Biobank participants. By combining these unique data sources, we were able to capture more COVID-19-positive cases and assess population differences in symptoms, health care utilization, severity (hospitalization), and personal impact. We also highlight the value of biobanks such as ours in facilitating rapid and comprehensive inquiries about emerging public health threats such as COVID-19.

Methods

Study Population

Enrollment in the CCPM Biobank is open to all UCHealth patients who are 18 years of age or older and able to provide consent for themselves through My Health Connection, the mobile EHR patient portal for UCHealth. Enrolled participants consent to use of their clinical data from EHRs and to being recontacted about new research opportunities and to complete surveys. To date, the Biobank has enrolled over 200,000 adult participants from among the 2.5 million UCHealth patients across Colorado. Biobank participants are representative of the whole UCHealth population with respect to age, gender, race/ethnicity, and comorbidity status (Multimedia Appendix 1). For this study, all living Biobank participants with a valid email address were invited to complete an online survey about their experience with the COVID-19 pandemic. Participants were identified by a unique ID generated by Health Data Compass (HDC), the system-wide data warehouse for UCHealth. For this analysis, HDC linked survey responses to participants' clinical data in EHRs using this unique ID, removed personal identifiers, and deposited the data into a datamart that was accessible to the authors.

Survey Development and Administration

We developed our survey based on an instrument developed by the International Common Disease Alliance (ICDA) [6] early in the pandemic. Our survey included questions about testing for COVID-19, test results, symptoms related to COVID-19 infection, health care utilization following a positive test or symptoms, underlying health conditions, the impact of COVID-19 on health and well-being, potential household exposure to COVID-19, and current smoking behaviors (Multimedia Appendix 2). Given the novelty of the COVID-19 pandemic, no validated questionnaires were available at the time of our survey development and administration.

We created the survey in REDCap [7], a Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA)-compliant database and research management platform, and created unique

survey links for each Biobank participant. Personal invitations to complete the survey were sent by email to all participants beginning in June 2020, with a follow-up reminder to nonresponders within 2 weeks. We repeated the process in October 2020 for all participants newly enrolled between June and October 2020. We revised the survey in March 2021 to include additional questions on vaccine uptake, adverse reactions to the vaccine, and long-term symptoms postinfection (Multimedia Appendix 3). The revised survey was sent to all participants who had not responded to the initial survey and newly enrolled participants through May 2021. In total, survey invites were sent to 180,599 individual participants over the course of 15 months.

COVID-19 Case and Severity Definitions: Survey and EHRs

A summary of available data and definitions from the EHR and survey is provided in Multimedia Appendix 4. Survey respondents who reported receiving a positive COVID-19 test result were considered a "confirmed case" of COVID-19. Self-reported cases also reported whether the respondent tested positive for COVID-19, saw a doctor in person or through telehealth, visited the emergency room (ER), were hospitalized overnight, stayed home/isolated, or did nothing different. We looked at severity in terms of either hospitalization due to COVID-19 or death after COVID-19. Respondents who reported having 1 or more overnight stays in the hospital were considered to be "hospitalized."

Positive cases were identified in EHRs using *International Statistical Classification of Diseases, 10th revision* (ICD-10) diagnosis codes, health care encounter types, and encounter primary diagnoses. Participants who received an ICD-10 diagnosis code of U07.1 or at least 1 of 11 COVID-19-specific encounter primary diagnoses (Multimedia Appendix 5) were considered an "EHR-confirmed case." Participants who were hospitalized in a UCHealth hospital overnight during the 3 days before or up to 21 days after their COVID-19 diagnosis date and who had at least 1 of 64 COVID-19-related encounter primary diagnoses (Multimedia Appendix 6) were considered to be "EHR hospitalized." To compare positive cases identified from EHRs and the survey, we examined the number of hospitalized cases that were discordant between these data sources.

All-cause mortality data stored in the HDC clinical data warehouse include the cause of death as certified by a physician or coroner/medical examiner, related ICD-10 cause of death codes generated by Centers for Disease Control and prevention (CDC), and age at death. These data are obtained through routine linkage of UCHealth patients with the vital statistics/death certificates provided by the Department of Vital Statistics at the Colorado Department of Public Health and the Environment (CDPHE). Accounting for the ~3-month lag time to register certificates, map ICD-10 cause of death codes, and update the clinical databases, the ascertainment of mortality among UCHealth patients for this analysis is nearly 95% complete.

Other Definitions

Age and race/ethnicity were determined from EHRs. Race and ethnic indicators were extracted as encoded in EHRs and categorized into 4 racial-ethnic groups to preserve >10 individuals in each group in all analyses, including non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, any Hispanic, and other.

Statistical Analysis

We generated descriptive statistics to characterize our study population and responses to survey questions using R version 4.0.5 (R Core Team) [8]. We also stratified respondents with respect to COVID-19 infection status based on reported test status and symptomology. We compared COVID-19-positive individuals who were identified via the survey and via EHRs by demographics and severity (overnight hospitalization and death). We investigated case status and hospitalization misclassification in both the survey and EHRs by comparing those who were discordant in the survey and EHRs. We calculated differences between groups using chi-square and t test statistics for categorical and continuous measures, respectively. As expected, due to the large sample size in the study, most comparisons were statistically significant at a 2-sided α of <.05. Therefore, we focused results and interpretation on effect sizes and the corresponding SE of the estimate.

Ethical Considerations

The Colorado Multiple Institutional Review Board (COMIRB) approved all CCPM Biobank study protocols (COMIRB #15-0461), and this research was performed in accordance with relevant guidelines/regulations.

Results

Survey Response

Of 180,599 Biobank participants with valid email addresses, 25,063 (13.9% response rate) completed at least 1 survey and had complete demographic information (Figure 1). Compared to nonrespondents (Multimedia Appendix 7), respondents were older (mean age 55.0 years vs 48.6 years, P<.001) and enriched for a higher proportion of females (n=15,695, 62.6%, vs n=91,707, 59.0%, P<.001) and individuals of non-Hispanic White race/ethnicity (n=21,917, 87.4%, vs n=119,848, 77.1%, P<.001).



Figure 1. The CCPM Biobank COVID-19 survey population. CCPM: Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine.



COVID-19 Testing

Among all survey respondents, 10,661 (42.5%) reported being tested for COVID-19. The most common reasons for testing were having symptoms (n=3148, 29.5%), exposure to someone who tested positive for COVID-19 (n=1975, 18.5%), doctor recommendation (n=1565, 14.7%), requirement of the employer (n=950, 8.9%), and recent international travel (n=362, 3.4%). An additional 4352 (40.8%) of individuals tested reported other reasons for testing that included having surgery or other medical procedure, planned travel, a desire or need to be around large groups or family members, and work site offerings for testing.

Of those tested, 1366 (12.8%) tested positive for COVID-19 (Table 1) and were considered confirmed cases. The distributions of age, sex, race/ethnicity, college education,

number of symptoms, number of preexisting comorbidities, overall health status, and exposure to a household member who tested positive for COVID-19 were different across the 3 groups of those who tested positive, tested negative, and were not tested (all P<.001). Young adults (aged 18-29 years) were overrepresented among the tested-positive group, representing 146 (10.7%) of those who tested positive compared to 619 (6.7%) of those who tested negative and 738 (5.1%) of those who were not tested (P for trend <.001). Similarly, individuals of Hispanic race/ethnicity were overrepresented in the tested-positive group at 125 (9.2%) compared to 528 (5.7%) of those who tested positive were also more likely to report symptoms, household exposure to COVID-19, and poor health status (Table 1; all P<.001).



Table 1.	COVID-19 testing	in the Biobank	among survey	respondents.
----------	------------------	----------------	--------------	--------------

Johnson et al

Characteristics	Total respondents (N=25,063)	Tested (N=10,661)			Not tested (N=14,4	02)	P value ^a
		Tested positive (N=1366)	Tested negative (N=9295)	P value ^b	Respondents	P value ^c	
Age (years), mean (SD)	55.0 (15.8)	48.9 (14.6)	53.7 (15.6)	<.001	56.5 (15.8)	<.001	<.001
Age (years), n (%)				<.001	N/A ^d	<.001	<.001
18-29	1503 (6.0)	146 (10.7)	619 (6.7)	N/A	738 (5.1)	N/A	N/A
30-64	15,049 (60.0)	1000 (73.2)	5890 (63.4)	N/A	8159 (56.7)	N/A	N/A
65+	8511 (34.0)	220 (16.1)	2786 (30.0)	N/A	5505 (38.2)	N/A	N/A
Sex, n (%)				.09	N/A	<.001	<.001
Female	15,695 (62.6)	902 (66.0)	5915 (63.6)	N/A	8878 (61.6)	N/A	N/A
Male	9368 (37.4)	464 (34.0)	3380 (36.4)	N/A	5524 (38.4)	N/A	N/A
Race/ethnicity, n (%)				<.001	N/A	<.001	<.001
Non-Hispanic White	21,916 (87.4)	1117 (81.8)	8072 (86.8)	N/A	12,727 (88.4)	N/A	N/A
Non-Hispanic Black	308 (1.2)	24.0 (1.8)	133 (1.4)	N/A	151 (1.0)	N/A	N/A
Hispanic	1272 (5.1)	125 (9.2)	528 (5.7)	N/A	619 (4.3)	N/A	N/A
Other	1567 (6.3)	100 (7.3)	562 (6.0)	N/A	905 (6.3)	N/A	N/A
Bachelor's degree, n (%)				<.001		.13	<.001
Yes	19407 (77.4)	973 (71.2)	7219 (77.7)	N/A	11,215 (77.9)	N/A	N/A
No	5482 (21.9)	381 (27.9)	2008 (21.6)	N/A	3093 (21.5)	N/A	N/A
Unknown	174 (0.7)	12.0 (0.9)	68.0 (0.7)	N/A	94.0 (0.7)	N/A	N/A
Number of acute symptoms, mean (SD)	0.261 (1.05)	2.09 (2.61)	0.393 (1.15)	<.001	0.00222 (0.0897)	<.001	<.001
Number of comorbidities, mean (SD)	1.51 (1.38)	1.46 (1.46)	1.59 (1.44)	.004	1.46 (1.32)	<.001	<.001
Health status, n (%)				<.001	N/A	<.001	<.001
Excellent	5664 (22.6)	235 (17.2)	1993 (21.4)	N/A	3436 (23.9)	N/A	N/A
Very good	10,532 (42.0)	444 (32.5)	3784 (40.7)	N/A	6304 (43.8)	N/A	N/A
Good	6558 (26.2)	440 (32.2)	2527 (27.2)	N/A	3591 (24.9)	N/A	N/A
Fair	1859 (7.4)	196 (14.3)	793 (8.5)	N/A	870 (6.0)	N/A	N/A
Poor	323 (1.3)	45.0 (3.3)	151 (1.6)	N/A	127 (0.9)	N/A	N/A
Unknown	127 (0.5)	6.00 (0.4)	47.0 (0.5)	N/A	74.0 (0.5)	N/A	N/A
Questionnaire version, n (%)				<.001	N/A	<.001	<.001
1-Summer-fall 2020	14,814 (59.1)	410 (30.0)	3718 (40.0)	N/A	10,686 (74.2)	N/A	N/A
2-Summer-fall 2021	10,249 (40.9)	956 (70.0)	5577 (60.0)	N/A	3716 (25.8)	N/A	N/A
EHR ^e COVID-19 case, n (%)				<.001	N/A	<.001	<.001
Yes	717 (2.9)	519 (38.0)	125 (1.3)	N/A	73.0 (0.5)	N/A	N/A
No	24,346 (97.1)	847 (62.0)	9170 (98.7)	N/A	14,329 (99.5)	N/A	N/A
Household member tested pos	sitive, n (%)			<.001	N/A	<.001	<.001
No	19,472 (77.7)	482 (35.3)	7268 (78.2)	N/A	11,722 (81.4)	N/A	N/A
Yes	1519 (6.1)	691 (50.6)	517 (5.6)	N/A	311 (2.2)	N/A	N/A
Unknown	4072 (16.2)	193 (14.1)	1510 (16.2)	N/A	2369 (16.4)	N/A	N/A
Genetic data, n (%)				.17	N/A	<.001	<.001
No	20,182 (80.5)	1157 (84.7)	7732 (83.2)	N/A	11,293 (78.4)	N/A	N/A

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37327

```
JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e37327 | p.138
(page number not for citation purposes)
```

Johnson et al

Characteristics	Total respondents (N=25,063)	Tested (N=10,661)			Not tested (N=14,4	P value ^a	
		Tested positive (N=1366)	Tested negative (N=9295)	P value ^b	Respondents	<i>P</i> value ^c	
Yes	4881 (19.5)	209 (15.3)	1563 (16.8)	N/A	3109 (21.6)	N/A	N/A

^aFrom chi-square or ANOVA, comparing tested positive versus tested negative versus not tested.

^bFrom chi-square or ANOVA, comparing tested positive versus tested negative.

^cFrom chi-square or ANOVA, comparing tested versus not tested.

^dN/A: not applicable.

^eEHR: electronic health record.

COVID-19 Case Symptomology

Of the 1366 COVID-19-positive individuals identified from the survey, 1154 (84.4%) individuals had at least 1 of the following COVID-19-related symptoms since February 2020: cough, fever over 99.9°F, general tiredness/fatigue, muscle/body aches, runny nose, difficulty breathing/shortness of breath, loss of sense of smell or taste, and stomach or gastrointestinal (GI) problems (Figure 2). However, only 661 (48.4%) reported at least 1 symptom 14 days before or after a positive COVID-19 test. The number of symptoms individuals reported was relatively even from 1 to 8 symptoms, ranging from 50 (3.7%) individuals reporting all 8 symptoms and 115 (8.4%) reporting 4 symptoms (Figure 2A). General tiredness/fatigue and muscle/body aches were the most commonly reported symptoms within 14 days of a positive COVID-19 test, at 517 (37.8%) and 439 (32.1%)

individuals, respectively (Figure 2B). The next most common symptom was loss of sense of smell or taste, with 397 (29.1%) individuals reporting within 14 days of a positive COVID-19 test (Figure 2B). However, an additional 283 (20.7%) individuals reported this symptom outside the 28-day window. A quarter of the individuals (n=346, 25.3%) reported a cough within 14 days of a positive COVID-19 test, and 310 (22.7%) and 302 (22.1%) reported difficulty breathing/shortness of breath and a runny nose, respectively (Figure 2B). Only 234 (17.1%) of individuals reported stomach or GI problems (Figure 2B). The remainder (n=705, 51.6%) reported no symptoms within 14 days before or after their COVID-19 positive test. There were no significant differences in asymptomatic cases compared to symptomatic cases (having at least 1 symptom) when comparing by age, sex, or race/ethnicity (Figure 2C-E).



Figure 2. Symptomology among COVID-19 cases. Each symptom was reported 14 days before or 14 days after a positive COVID-19 test. (A) Number of symptoms reported among COVID-19 cases. (B) Percentage of COVID-19-positive cases that reported each symptom. Comparing asymptomatic cases with symptomatic cases (at least 1 symptom) by (C) age, (D) sex, and (E) race/ethnicity. *P* value from the Pearson chi-square test for different distributions across demographic groups. Error bars indicate the 95% CI for the percentage point estimate. GI: gastrointestinal.



Health Behaviors and Impact on the Health Care System

To assess health behaviors among COVID-19 cases and the potential impact on the health care system, we asked these individuals what they did as a result of testing positive (Figure 3A). Of the 1366 respondents with positive tests, 1108 (81.1%) stayed home and self-isolated, and 76 (5.6%) did not report any changes in behavior (Figure 3A). Of those who did not change behavior, 63 (82.9%) did not have any symptoms reported 14 days before or after their COVID-19 test. Of the 1366 individuals who tested positive, 625 (45.8%) sought out at least 1 form of medical care: 190 (13.9%) saw a doctor at an in-person visit, 454 (33.2%) saw a doctor via telehealth, 194 (14.2%) went to the ER, and 108 (7.9%) had an overnight stay in a hospital (Figure 3A). A subset of 229 (16.7%) individuals reported being

tested at a UCHealth facility versus 213 (15.6%) outside UCHealth, with no response from 924 (67.6%) respondents. Of the 229 (16.7%) respondents who said they tested positive at a UCHealth facility, only 137 (59.8%) were identified as a "case" within EHRs. There was a high rate of missingness for the question on who performed the test (n=924, 67.6%), so there may be confusion by participants about who supplied the COVID-19 test.

Among respondents who were not tested but reported having at least 1 COVID-related symptom, 1901 (41.9%) said they did nothing different, whereas 1920 (42.3%) stayed home and self-isolated (Figure 3B). A third (n=1515, 30.4%) sought out at least 1 form of medical care, 934 (20.6%) had an in-person clinic visit, 77 (17.1%) had a telehealth clinic visit, 275 (6.1%) went to the ER, and 90 (2.0%) had an overnight stay in the hospital (Figure 3B).

Figure 3. The impact of COVID-19 on the health care system. (A) Participants' behavior after testing positive for COVID-19 and (B) participants' behavior when having symptoms, among those with at least 1 symptom who did not get tested for COVID-19. Error bars indicate the 95% CI for the percentage point estimate. ER: emergency room.



Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on employment, family life, mental health, or physical health was largely negative, with 18,861 (75.3%) of respondents reporting a negative impact from the COVID-19 pandemic in at least 1 of these domains compared to 5856 (23.4%) of respondents reporting a positive impact in at least 1 domain (P<.001). Mental health and family life were most negatively affected by the pandemic, at 13,688 (54.6%) and 12,233 (48.8%) of respondents reporting a negative impact, respectively. The negative impact in the other 2 domains was lower at 7059 (28.2%) for physical health and 5320 (21.2%) for employment (P<.001).

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic was not equal across groups by age, race/ethnicity, sex, and COVID-19 testing status (maximum P=.006; Figure 4). A higher proportion of young adults reported a negative mental health impact (1123/1499, 74.9%, 95% CI 72.7%-77.1%) than adults aged 30-64 years (9092/14,975, 60.7%, 95% CI 59.6%-61.5%) and older adults (65+ years; 3473/8445, 41.1%, 95% CI 40.1%-42.2%). A similar

linear trend across age groups was seen for the negative impact of the pandemic on employment and physical health (Figure 4A). Using self-reported race/ethnicity as captured in EHRs, a higher proportion of non-Hispanic Black respondents reported a negative impact on their employment (108/302, 35.8%, 95% CI 30.4%-41.2%) compared to other race/ethnic groups (non-Hispanic White: 4498/21,628, 20.8%; Hispanic: 328/1257, 26.1%; other: 386/1550, 24.9%; Figure 4B). Women reported a greater negative impact of COVID-19 compared to men across all domains: employment (3625/15,470 [23.4%] versus 1695/9267 [18.3%]), family life (7865/15,579 [50.5%] versus 4368/9298 [47.0%]), mental health (9407/15,609 [60.3%] versus 4281/9310 [46.0%]), and physical health (4796/15,600 [30.7%] versus 2263/9293 [24.4%]) (Figure 4C, all P<.001). Respondents who tested positive for COVID-19 reported a higher negative impact on their physical health (744/1353, 55.0%, 95% CI 52.3%-57.6%) than those who tested negative (2854/9234, 30.9%, 95% CI 30.0%-31.9%) and those who did not report a COVID-19 test (3461/14,306, 24.2%, 95% CI 23.5%-24.9%, Figure 4D).

Figure 4. The impact of COVID-19 on employment, family life, and mental and physical health by (A) age, (B) race/ethnicity, (C) sex, and (D) COVID-19 test status. *P* value from the Pearson chi-square test for different distributions across impact and demographic groups. Error bars indicate the 95% CI for the percentage point estimate.

18-29

30-64

Female

Male

65-





COVID-19 Vaccination

In our second round of the survey (administered in spring/summer 2021), we added questions about COVID-19 vaccination. Of the 10,249 (40.9%) of the total overall survey population (N=25,063) who responded to the second survey, 9770 (95.3%) received the vaccine. Younger people were less likely to have received a vaccine: 46 (7.6%) of those aged 18-29 years did *not* receive a vaccine compared to 303 (4.9%) of those aged 30-64 years and 69 (2.0%) of those aged 65+ years (P<.001, Figure 5A). Women were slightly less likely to receive a vaccine (n=289, 4.6%, of women vs n=129, 3.3%, of men,

P=.003, Figure 5B). The vaccination rate was similar across race/ethnicity categories, with 368 (4.2%) non-Hispanic Whites, <10 (4.4%) non-Hispanic Blacks, 23 (4.1%) Hispanics, and 21 (3.3%) in the other race category not receiving vaccines (P=.79, Figure 5C). The median income of the home 3-digit zip code was lower for unvaccinated participants: US \$67,800 in the unvaccinated compared to US \$71,500 in the vaccinated group (P<.001). The median percentage of the population that received a bachelor's degree by 3-digit zip code was lower for unvaccinated (37.7%) compared to vaccinated (47.3%) participants (P<.001).

P=.79

Race/Ethnicity

Non Hisp Hispanic White Hispanic Black

Figure 5. Vaccine uptake by (A) age, (B) sex, and (C) race/ethnicity. *P* value from the Pearson chi-square test for different distributions across impact and demographic groups. Error bars indicate the 95% CI for the percentage point estimate.



Demographics of COVID-19 Cases Captured by EHRs vs the Survey

We identified 11,472 (6.4%) COVID-19 positive cases from among 180,599 eligible Biobank participants: 1366 (11.9%) from the survey and 10,639 (92.7%) from EHRs; 533 (4.6%) cases were identified in both sources (Figure 6).

In comparing COVID-19 cases from EHRs to those in the survey (Figure 7), we found that cases identified in EHRs were younger, with 17.2% of individuals in the 18-29 age group compared to

10.7% in the survey group (P<.001, Figure 7A). A higher percentage of cases identified in EHRs were Hispanic compared to survey cases (14.7% vs 9.2%, respectively, P<.001, Figure 7B). EHR cases also had a slightly lower proportion of women (61.9%) compared to the survey group (66.0%; P=.003, Figure 7C). The median income for the 3-digit zip code was the same, US \$69,900 in both groups. The median percentage of the population that received a bachelor's degree by 3-digit zip code was slightly lower in the EHR (41.3%) group compared to the survey (45.7%) group (P<.001).

No



Figure 6. COVID-19-positive CCPM Biobank participants identified through the UCHealth EHRs and the survey. CCPM: Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine; EHR: electronic health record.



Figure 7. Comparison of COVID-19 cases captured in the EHRs and the survey by (A) age, (B) race/ethnicity, (C) sex, and (D) COVID-19-related overnight hospitalization. *P* value from the Pearson chi-square test for different distributions across impact and demographic groups. Error bars indicate the 95% CI for the percentage point estimate. EHR: electronic health record.


COVID-19 Case Severity in EHRs and the Survey

A higher percentage of COVID-19-positive cases identified from the survey were hospitalized overnight (8.3%) compared to the EHR (6.5%) group (P=.01, Figure 7D). Using all-cause mortality data obtained from CDPHE vital statistics, 130 (2.3%) individuals in the EHR group died, leading to a death rate of 1.2%. In addition, 4 (0.29%) people in the survey group died, with a death rate of 0.2%.

The EHR is a longitudinal data source; therefore, we can capture COVID-19 cases on a continuing basis, whereas the survey reflects a point in time and can only identify individuals who had COVID-19 before they took the survey. Of 907 COVID-19 cases identified in EHRs who completed the survey but did not report a positive COVID-19 diagnosis in the survey, 379 (41.8%) reported receiving a negative COVID-19 test result and 528 (58.2%) had not taken a COVID-19 test and were presumed to be negative. The majority of these individuals (n=732, 80.7%) completed the survey before they were diagnosed with COVID-19 in EHRs.

COVID-19 Case and Hospitalization Discordance Between EHRs and the Survey

To quantify discordance of the COVID-19 case status between EHRs and the survey, we looked across our entire set of survey

respondents (N=25,063). We only counted a participant as "EHR COVID-19 positive" if the diagnosis made was prior to taking the survey, not COVID-19 cases that happened after the survey was taken. Although neither the survey nor EHRs are a gold standard for case classification, we can look at the discordance between them to identify the potential for misclassification. Overall, there were a total of 1006 (4%) respondents discordant for COVID-19 case status. Of the 25,063 individuals who took the survey, 173 (0.7%) were identified as COVID-19 positive in EHRs but negative or not tested in the survey, leading to a discordance rate of 0.7% (Table 2). In addition, 833 (3.3%) individuals were identified as COVID-19 positive in the survey but negative in EHRs, leading to a discordance rate of 3.3%.

To quantify discordance of the hospitalization status in both EHRs and in the survey, we restricted it to individuals who responded to the survey and were COVID-19 positive in either EHRs or the survey (n=2273). EHR hospitalizations were only considered if they were prior to taking the survey. There were 6 (0.3%) individuals who were positive for hospitalization in EHRs but negative in the survey, a discordance rate of 0.3% (Table 3). There were 59 (2.6%) individuals who were negative in EHRs, a discordance rate of 2.6%.

 Table 2. Case status misclassification between the survey and EHRs^a (N=25,063).

COVID-19 status	Survey COVID-19 positive, n (%)	Survey COVID-19 other (negative or not tested), n (%)	Total, n (%)
EHR COVID-19 positive	533 (2.1)	173 (0.7)	706 (2.8)
EHR COVID-19 other (negative or not tested)	833 (3.3)	23,524 (93.9)	24,357 (97.2)
Total	1366 (5.5)	23,697 (94.4)	25,063 (100)

^aEHR: electronic health record.

 Table 3. Hospitalization misclassification between the survey and EHRs^a (N=2273).

Hospitalization	Survey hospitalization positive, n (%)	Survey hospitalization negative, n (%)	Total, n (%)
EHR hospitalization positive	49 (2.2)	6 (0.3)	55 (2.4)
EHR hospitalization negative	59 (2.6)	2159 (95)	2218 (97.6)
Total	108 (4.8)	2165 (95.2)	2273 (100)

^aEHR: electronic health record.

Discussion

Principal Findings

We found that the COVID-19 pandemic has had far-reaching and varying effects among our Biobank participants. Of the 25,063 survey respondents, 10,661 (42.5%) were tested for the virus, 1366 (12.8%) of those tested were positive, and among positive cases, 1154 (84.5%) reported having 1 or more COVID-related symptoms since February 2020 and 625 (45.8%) sought medical care following their diagnosis. The vast majority of all survey respondents (n=18,861, 75%) reported a negative impact from the COVID-19 pandemic—most commonly around mental health and family life. Differences between data captured in EHRs versus those captured in the survey reveal the benefit of using both sources in combination. For example, mild cases with subclinical manifestations of infection that did not result in seeking care may be missing from EHRs but captured in a survey.

Strengths and Limitations

EHRs are a longitudinal data source that collect clinical information on all patients diagnosed with or treated for COVID-19 within the UCHealth system irrespective of proclivity to participate in research or respond to surveys. As such, EHRs captured COVID-19 cases from Biobank participants that the survey did not. However, a key strength of this study was our ability to leverage an existing, living resource in the CCPM Biobank and survey engine to assess the health and well-being of our participants in ways that are not

highlighted by EHRs. Because Biobank participants consent to recontact, we have an opportunity to follow up with subpopulations within our cohort to collect additional information and monitor outcomes such as reinfection and vaccine uptake. Although our overall response to the survey was sizeable, we acknowledge that the composition of the underlying patient population at UCHealth who enrolled in the Biobank and differential responses to the survey may have introduced some bias—results may not generalize outside of the CCPM Biobank and UCHealth population. However, our ability to incorporate EHR data allowed us to build a research population of Biobank participants that is more representative of the entire patient population.

There are benefits and limitations to COVID-19 case ascertainment using either a survey or EHRs. Because both methods of ascertainment draw from the CCPM Biobank, they are both limited to individuals who have sought treatment at a UCHealth facility and enrolled in the CCPM Biobank. Furthermore, the survey is a convenience sample of individuals who responded to an email asking them to participate. The EHR will capture any health care encounter at a UCHealth facility, but it is an open system, and it will not capture all health care encounters for all every Biobank participant. The ascertainment bias in both methods can be a challenge for future analytical studies. We hope that by describing the demographics and case severity in both these methods of collection, future analytical studies will better be able to adjust for these biases.

Comparison With Prior Work

Our overall case positivity rate of 13% is comparable to those reported by other EHR-based retrospective studies conducted in 2020 and 2021 [9,10]. However, our finding of higher positivity rates (20%) among our younger participants (aged 18-39 years) and Hispanics (19%) has not been reported previously and may reflect differences in reasons for testing in these groups (eg, due to having symptoms or recent exposure vs other reasons). Though not surprising that a large proportion of respondents reported having symptoms, given the breadth of symptoms reported (eg, runny nose, fever, body aches), it is notable that 3026 (34.4%) of those with symptoms did not undergo testing nor seek medical care. It is likely that a percentage of this group had COVID-19 and would not be counted as such via public health surveillance efforts, which could lead to substantial underestimates of the true infection rate in the general population.

We found that females more often reported negative impacts than males in all domains—employment, family life, and mental and physical health. This disproportionate negative impact on females is consistent with prior public health emergencies [11], including the 2016 Zika and 2014 Ebola outbreaks [12]. Among US women, this has been described in several areas, including the health care workforce, reproductive health, drug development, gender-based violence, and mental health [13]. It is both notable and concerning that nearly 1123 (75%) of younger adults (aged 18-29 years) reported negative impacts on their mental health, which was higher than for any other group. The younger end of this range captures members of Generation Z, who are more likely to report poor mental health

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37327
```

compared to prior generations [14,15]. However, they are also more likely to receive mental health therapy or treatment [14] and, therefore, may accept interventions to address the negative mental health consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic. Further, we found that negative impacts on employment were more commonly reported among Black participants. These findings highlight the breadth of negative impacts of this pandemic in our community and reveal the disproportionate impact experienced by certain subgroups that should be targeted in future intervention efforts.

Our study population had a much higher vaccination rate compared to Colorado overall and the general US population. Over 95% of our survey participants are fully vaccinated compared to 76% of adults throughout Colorado [16]. Vaccination directly reduces the likelihood of infection and severity of disease, but it also has an indirect effect on society via reduced viral transmission and herd immunity. Because of this impact on others, getting vaccinated is considered a prosocial behavior [17-19]. Being a participant in a biobank has also been positively associated with prosocial behavior, as the individuals who participate in biobanks tend to be motivated by furthering research for the greater good [20,21]. Since our study population only includes those who elected to be in the Biobank and additionally those who responded to the survey, these are likely individuals with high levels of prosocial behaviors, which likely explains the high vaccination rate.

COVID-19 has variable clinical presentations ranging from asymptomatic infections to severe symptoms that require hospitalization. We expected that COVID-19 patients identified in EHRs would be more likely to have severe COVID-19 and less likely to have asymptomatic infections than those captured by the survey [22,23]. However, we found that there was a slightly higher percentage of COVID-19 hospitalizations among survey cases compared to EHR cases. This unexpected result may be explained, in part, by the fact that individuals who were hospitalized with COVID-19 may be highly motivated to contribute to COVID-19 research by taking the survey. This likely includes individuals who went to non-UCHealth hospitals, which would not have been identified in EHRs. With respect to participant demographics, it is notable that a higher percentage of younger (18-29 years) and Hispanic/Latino COVID-19-positive cases were identified via EHRs versus the survey. This may, in part, be explained by lower survey response rates in these groups. Hispanic/Latino individuals may have been less likely to take the survey because of language barriers (the survey was only in English), limited internet access, or other structural barriers [24]. Lower participation among Hispanic individuals is consistent with observations in other outreach efforts [25] and is a limitation of the convenience survey design. Additionally, the Hispanic population in Colorado, as in many other states, had a higher incidence of COVID-19 infections, hospitalizations, and death [4,26-29], which may explain why they are more likely to be identified through EHRs.

Conclusion

The combination of EHR and survey data provides a powerful opportunity to monitor and describe the ongoing effects of the

```
XSL•FO
```

COVID-19 pandemic in our communities. As the pandemic continues, there is a critical need for optimal COVID-19 case ascertainment in order to capture both mild and severe cases and monitor specific long-term outcomes, such as postacute sequelae of SARS-CoV-2 infection (PASC) or downstream breakthrough infections postvaccination. In an open health system, as is common in the United States, the development of a combined resource such as ours (with EHR and survey data) represents long-term potential for additional recruitment and follow-up as a critical complement to large-scale informatics-focused investigations, such as the National COVID Cohort Collaborative [30]. As the pandemic continues, we anticipate that resources such as the CCPM Biobank and other biobanks will continue to be a key resource for ongoing data collection relevant to population health monitoring during the era of COVID-19 and other emerging public health issues.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all participants in the Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine (CCPM), as well as the entire CCPM team making these research initiatives a possibility in the pandemic. The CCPM is supported by UCHealth and the University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus. We thank Eric Campbell for assistance on survey design. The research derivation of electronic health records (EHRs) was made possible by the Health Data Compass Data Warehouse project. KMM and CRG are partially supported by R01HG011345. The REDCap database in this publication was supported by the National Institutes of Health (NIH)/National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (NCATS) Colorado Clinical and Translational Science Awards (CTSA; Grant UL1TR002535). The contents are the authors' sole responsibility and do not necessarily represent official NIH views.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Characteristics of participants in the Biobank at the Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine Compared to the UC Health System.

[DOCX File, 18 KB - publichealth_v8i6e37327_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 COVID-19 survey instrument administered in 2020. [DOCX File, 2173 KB - publichealth v8i6e37327 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 COVID-19 Survey Instrument Administered in 2021. [DOCX File, 3457 KB - publichealth_v8i6e37327_app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Data availability from the EHR and the survey. [DOCX File, 101 KB - publichealth_v8i6e37327_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 COVID-19 specific encounter primary diagnoses used in addition to U07.1 to identify "EHR-confirmed case" from UC Health EHR data.

[DOCX File, 13 KB - publichealth v8i6e37327 app5.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 6

Specific encounter primary diagnoses used in conjunction with hospitalization, timing of hospitalization, and COVID-19 case definitions to identify "EHR-hospitalization" from UC Health EHR data. [DOCX File, 15 KB - publichealth_v8i6e37327 app6.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 7 Characteristics of Biobank participants by COVID-19 survey response. [DOCX File, 17 KB - publichealth_v8i6e37327_app7.docx]

References

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37327



- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. COVID-19. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/index.html</u> [accessed 2021-12-10]
- Magesh S, John D, Li WT, Li Y, Mattingly-App A, Jain S, et al. Disparities in COVID-19 outcomes by race, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status: a systematic-review and meta-analysis. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Nov 01;4(11):e2134147 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.34147] [Medline: 34762110]
- 3. Tenforde MW, Billig Rose E, Lindsell CJ, Shapiro NI, Files DC, Gibbs KW, CDC COVID-19 Response Team. Characteristics of adult outpatients and inpatients with COVID-19 11 academic medical centers, United States, March-May 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Jul 03;69(26):841-846 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6926e3] [Medline: 32614810]
- Acosta AM, Garg S, Pham H, Whitaker M, Anglin O, O'Halloran A, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in rates of COVID-19-associated hospitalization, intensive care unit admission, and in-hospital death in the United States from March 2020 to February 2021. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Oct 01;4(10):e2130479 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.30479] [Medline: 34673962]
- Morlock R, Morlock A, Downen M, Shah SN. COVID-19 prevalence and predictors in United States adults during peak stay-at-home orders. PLoS One 2021;16(1):e0245586 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0245586] [Medline: 33481900]
- 6. International Common Disease Alliance. International Common Disease Alliance (ICDA). URL: <u>https://www.icda.bio/</u> [accessed 2022-05-14]
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap): a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009 Apr;42(2):377-381 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010] [Medline: 18929686]
- 8. The R Foundation. The R Project for Statistical Computing. URL: <u>https://www.R-project.org/</u> [accessed 2022-05-07]
- Lindsay L, Secrest MH, Rizzo S, Keebler DS, Yang F, Tsai L. Factors associated with COVID-19 viral and antibody test positivity and assessment of test concordance: a retrospective cohort study using electronic health records from the USA. BMJ Open 2021 Oct 01;11(10):e051707 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-051707] [Medline: 34598988]
- Sheehan M, Reddy A, Rothberg M. Reinfection rates among patients who previously tested positive for coronavirus disease 2019: a retrospective cohort study. Clin Infect Dis 2021 Nov 16;73(10):1882-1886 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab234] [Medline: <u>33718968</u>]
- 11. Smith J. Overcoming the 'tyranny of the urgent': integrating gender into disease outbreak preparedness and response. Gender Dev 2019 Jun 28;27(2):355-369. [doi: <u>10.1080/13552074.2019.1615288</u>]
- 12. Davies SE, Bennett B. A gendered human rights analysis of Ebola and Zika: locating gender in global health emergencies. Int Affairs 2016 Aug 31;92(5):1041-1060. [doi: 10.1111/1468-2346.12704]
- Connor J, Madhavan S, Mokashi M, Amanuel H, Johnson NR, Pace LE, et al. Health risks and outcomes that disproportionately affect women during the Covid-19 pandemic: a review. Soc Sci Med 2020 Dec;266:113364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113364] [Medline: 32950924]
- 14. American Psychological Association. 2018 Stress in America: Generation Z. Stress in America[™] Survey. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association; 2018.
- 15. American Psychological Association. Stress in AmericaTM: One Year Later, A New Wave of Pandemic Health Concerns. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association; 2021.
- 16. Colorado Department of Public Health and the Environment. Colorado COVID-19 Vaccination Data. URL: <u>https://covid19.</u> <u>colorado.gov/vaccine-data-dashboard</u> [accessed 2021-12-17]
- Böhm R, Betsch C, Korn L, Holtmann C. Exploring and promoting prosocial vaccination: a cross-cultural experiment on vaccination of health care personnel. Biomed Res Int 2016;2016:6870984 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2016/6870984] [Medline: 27725940]
- Böhm R, Betsch C, Korn L. Selfish-rational non-vaccination: experimental evidence from an interactive vaccination game. J Econ Behav Organ 2016 Nov;131:183-195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2015.11.008]
- Cucciniello M, Pin P, Imre B, Porumbescu GA, Melegaro A. Altruism and vaccination intentions: evidence from behavioral experiments. Soc Sci Med 2022 Jan;292:114195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2021.114195] [Medline: 34602309]
- 20. Broekstra R, Aris-Meijer J, Maeckelberghe E, Stolk R, Otten S. Demographic and prosocial intrapersonal characteristics of biobank participants and refusers: the findings of a survey in the Netherlands. Eur J Hum Genet 2021 Jan;29(1):11-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41431-020-0701-1] [Medline: 32737438]
- Streicher SA, Sanderson SC, Jabs EW, Diefenbach M, Smirnoff M, Peter I, et al. Reasons for participating and genetic information needs among racially and ethnically diverse biobank participants: a focus group study. J Community Genet 2011 Sep;2(3):153-163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12687-011-0052-2] [Medline: 22109822]
- 22. Violán C, Foguet-Boreu Q, Hermosilla-Pérez E, Valderas JM, Bolíbar B, Fàbregas-Escurriola M, et al. Comparison of the information provided by electronic health records data and a population health survey to estimate prevalence of selected health conditions and multimorbidity. BMC Public Health 2013 Mar 21;13:251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-251] [Medline: 23517342]

- 23. Mizrahi B, Shilo S, Rossman H, Kalkstein N, Marcus K, Barer Y, et al. Longitudinal symptom dynamics of COVID-19 infection. Nat Commun 2020 Dec 04;11(1):6208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-20053-y] [Medline: 33277494]
- 24. Jang M, Vorderstrasse A. Socioeconomic status and racial or ethnic differences in participation: web-based survey. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Apr 10;8(4):e11865 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11865] [Medline: 30969173]
- 25. Martinez IL, Carter-Pokras O, Brown PB. Addressing the challenges of Latino health research: participatory approaches in an emergent urban community. J Natl Med Assoc 2009 Sep;101(9):908-914. [doi: 10.1016/s0027-9684(15)31038-5] [Medline: 19806848]
- 26. Podewils LJ, Burket TL, Mettenbrink C, Steiner A, Seidel A, Scott K, et al. Disproportionate incidence of COVID-19 infection, hospitalizations, and deaths among persons identifying as Hispanic or Latino Denver, Colorado March-October 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Dec 04;69(48):1812-1816 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6948a3] [Medline: 33270613]
- Moore JT, Ricaldi JN, Rose CE, Fuld J, Parise M, Kang GJ, COVID-19 State, Tribal, Local, Territorial Response Team. Disparities in incidence of COVID-19 among underrepresented racial/ethnic groups in counties identified as hotspots during June 5-18, 2020 - 22 states, February-June 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Aug 21;69(33):1122-1126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6933e1] [Medline: 32817602]
- Romano SD, Blackstock AJ, Taylor EV, El Burai Felix S, Adjei S, Singleton C, et al. Trends in racial and ethnic disparities in COVID-19 hospitalizations, by region - United States, March-December 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021 Apr 16;70(15):560-565 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7015e2] [Medline: 33857068]
- 29. Mackey K, Ayers CK, Kondo KK, Saha S, Advani SM, Young S, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in COVID-19-related infections, hospitalizations, and deaths: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2021 Mar;174(3):362-373 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M20-6306] [Medline: 33253040]
- 30. National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences. National COVID Cohort Collaborative (N3C). URL: <u>https://ncats.nih.gov/n3c</u> [accessed 2022-05-14]

Abbreviations

CCPM: Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine CDPHE: Colorado Department of Public Health and the Environment EHR: electronic health record ER: emergency room GI: gastrointestinal HDC: Health Data Compass ICD-10: International Statistical Classification of Diseases, 10th revision

Edited by A Mavragani; submitted 15.02.22; peer-reviewed by I Mircheva, Y Chu; comments to author 21.03.22; revised version received 06.04.22; accepted 27.04.22; published 13.06.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Johnson RK, Marker KM, Mayer D, Shortt J, Kao D, Barnes KC, Lowery JT, Gignoux CR COVID-19 Surveillance in the Biobank at the Colorado Center for Personalized Medicine: Observational Study JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e37327 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37327</u> doi:10.2196/37327 PMID:<u>35486493</u>

©Randi K Johnson, Katie M Marker, David Mayer, Jonathan Shortt, David Kao, Kathleen C Barnes, Jan T Lowery, Christopher R Gignoux. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 13.06.2022. This is an Creative open-access article distributed under the terms of the Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Changes in Temporal Properties of Notifiable Infectious Disease Epidemics in China During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Population-Based Surveillance Study

Xixi Zhao^{1,2,3*}, PhD; Meijia Li^{4*}, MPhil; Naem Haihambo⁴, MSc; Jianhua Jin⁵, BMed; Yimeng Zeng^{6,7}, MPhil; Jinyi Qiu⁸, MPhil; Mingrou Guo^{9,10}, MPhil; Yuyao Zhu¹¹, PhD; Zhirui Li¹², BSc; Jiaxin Liu¹³, BSc; Jiayi Teng¹⁴, BSc; Sixiao Li¹⁵, MSc; Ya-nan Zhao¹⁶, MPhil; Yanxiang Cao^{1,2,3}, PhD; Xuemei Wang^{1,2,3}, MD; Yaqiong Li^{1,2,3}, MD; Michel Gao¹⁷, MPhil; Xiaoyang Feng¹⁸, MPhil; Chuanliang Han^{9,10}, PhD

¹⁶Institute of Acupuncture and Moxibustion, China Academy of Chinese Medical Sciences, Beijing, China

- ¹⁸Institute of Mental Health, Peking University Sixth Hospital, Beijing, China
- *these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Chuanliang Han, PhD Brain Cognition and Brain Disease Institute Shenzhen Institute of Advanced Technology Chinese Academy of Sciences 1068 Xueyuan Avenue Shenzhen University Town, Nanshan District Shenzhen, 518055 China Phone: 86 18800129802 Email: hanchuanliang2014@163.com

Abstract

RenderX

Background: COVID-19 was first reported in 2019, and the Chinese government immediately carried out stringent and effective control measures in response to the epidemic.

Objective: Nonpharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) may have impacted incidences of other infectious diseases as well. Potential explanations underlying this reduction, however, are not clear. Hence, in this study, we aim to study the influence of the COVID-19 prevention policies on other infectious diseases (mainly class B infectious diseases) in China.

¹The National Clinical Research Center for Mental Disorders, Beijing Anding Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

²Advanced Innovation Center for Human Brain Protection, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

³Beijing Key Laboratory of Mental Disorders, Beijing Anding Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

⁴Faculty of Psychology and Center for Neuroscience, Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Brussel, Belgium

⁵Zhongshan School of Medicine, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China

⁶State Key Laboratory of Cognitive Neuroscience and Learning, Beijing Normal University, Beijing, China

⁷IDG/McGovern Institute for Brain Research, Beijing Normal University, Beijing, China

⁸School of Artificial Intelligence, Beijing Normal University, Beijing, China

⁹Brain Cognition and Brain Disease Institute, Shenzhen Institute of Advanced Technology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shenzhen, China

¹⁰Shenzhen Key Laboratory of Neuropsychiatric Modulation and Collaborative Innovation Center for Brain Science, Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Brain Connectome and Behavior, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Shenzhen, China

¹¹College of Environmental Sciences and Engineering, Peking University, Beijing, China

¹²Baoding First Central Hospital, Baoding, China

¹³Department of Psychology, University of Washington, Seattle, Seattle, WA, United States

¹⁴School of Psychology, Philosophy and Language Science, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom

¹⁵School of Music, Faculty of Arts, University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom

¹⁷WM Therapeutics Ltd, Beijing, China

Methods: Time series data sets between 2017 and 2021 for 23 notifiable infectious diseases were extracted from public data sets from the National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. Several indices (peak and trough amplitudes, infection selectivity, preferred time to outbreak, oscillatory strength) of each infectious disease were calculated before and after the COVID-19 outbreak.

Results: We found that the prevention and control policies for COVID-19 had a strong, significant reduction effect on outbreaks of other infectious diseases. A clear event-related trough (ERT) was observed after the outbreak of COVID-19 under the strict control policies, and its decreasing amplitude is related to the infection selectivity and preferred outbreak time of the disease before COVID-19. We also calculated the oscillatory strength before and after the COVID-19 outbreak and found that it was significantly stronger before the COVID-19 outbreak and does not correlate with the trough amplitude.

Conclusions: Our results directly demonstrate that prevention policies for COVID-19 have immediate additional benefits for controlling most class B infectious diseases, and several factors (infection selectivity, preferred outbreak time) may have contributed to the reduction in outbreaks. This study may guide the implementation of nonpharmaceutical interventions to control a wider range of infectious diseases.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e35343) doi:10.2196/35343

KEYWORDS

class B infectious disease; COVID-19; event-related trough; infection selectivity; oscillation; public health interventions; pandemic; surveillance; health policy; epidemiology; prevention policy; public health; risk prevention

Introduction

Atypical pneumonia caused by a new coronavirus was first reported in December 2019 [1-4] and was subsequently termed "COVID-19" by the World Health Organization (WHO) on February 12, 2020. Later, human-to-human transmission of COVID-19 was confirmed, resulting in a pandemic outbreak worldwide [5-13]. After the outbreak, the Chinese government took immediate action to implement strict public health policies [14], such as lockdown, quarantine measures, and social distancing. Domestic and international travel was restricted, mass gatherings were reduced, and public entertainment venues and schools were closed. The government also asked people to be more vigilant and take personal precautions, such as sanitizing hands and wearing surgical masks. Under these policies, the number of COVID-19 infections in China sharply decreased, and this situation has lasted until recently [15-17]. In addition to the COVID-19 outbreak, other fatal infectious diseases have also had outbreaks [18], which may have been overlooked. In China, the national infectious disease surveillance system has been recording outbreaks of other diseases [19]. Infectious diseases are divided into notifiable classes A, B, and C. In this classification, class B notifiable diseases have the potential to cause severe epidemic outbreaks, such as hepatitis B virus (HBV) [20], scarlet fever [21], measles [22], and rabies [23-25]. Notably, COVID-19 is classified as a class B disease.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, local and international governments relied on nonpharmaceutical measures until vaccines were available. Unlike vaccines or medicine, which are restricted by supply and logistics [26], nonpharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) could have a broader impact on multiple infectious diseases. Take the influenza virus as an example. Human beings have little immunity to it, which allows it to spread rapidly from one person to another. In the absence of effective vaccines to immunize people, NPIs are one of the best strategies to control pandemics. Several studies have found that policies to prevent COVID-19 and other NPIs could reduce the number of infections of influenza [17,27-29], tuberculosis

[30,31], and some other diseases [32,33] to a large degree, while the characteristics of an epidemic are not only limited to the static number of the infected cases but also limited to the temporal dynamics of the epidemic. The temporal features of an infectious epidemic after NPIs is not precisely defined, although common sense suggests that the number of cases may decrease. The question whether under a consistent and rigorous prevention policy, this decrease would rebound or only fall to 0 arises. New analysis indicators are required to define it clearly. There are some characteristics of temporal dynamics, such as the tuning curve of the infectious disease in a year [34-37] and the spectrogram of the epidemic [38-42] analyzed by the Fourier method. The tuning curve of monthly infected cases illustrates the essential profile of each disease outbreak and gives a direct picture of the monthly situation, but it lacks quantitative features (eg, infection selectivity and preferred outbreak time) that were highly summarized from the tuning curve and lack of further analysis. Although these temporal indices have been mentioned in previous studies, it remains unclear how they changed with strict NPIs during the COVID-19 outbreak and to what extent they contributed to the reduction in infectious cases under the NPIs.

In the light of this, in this study, we investigated the impact of NPIs on other class B infectious diseases. We extracted the time series data for 23 class B notifiable infectious diseases between 2017 to 2021 from public data sets of the National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China [43]. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the strict NPIs in China have always been existing, which can be described by the stringency index taken from the Oxford COVID-19 Government Response Tracker [44]. We expected to find a significant trough of most class B infectious diseases after the outbreak and subsequent interventions for COVID-19, which we defined as the event-related trough (ERT). The ERT can be used to investigate the fluctuations in several infections that are time-locked to an event without intervention. We then explored how infection selectivity and the preferred month of the outbreak of the infectious diseases may affect the ERT. Finally, we calculated

the oscillatory strength of each infectious disease and compared the power before and after the COVID-19 outbreak.

Methods

Data and Sources

Time series data available for the monthly reported and confirmed cases of 23 class B notifiable infectious diseases in China's mainland, from April 2017 to September 2021, were obtained from the National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. The data set is open to the public around the world and is reported by the Chinese Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) each month. These 23 diseases are HIV/AIDS, hepatitis (including hepatitis A virus, HAV; HBV; hepatitis C virus, HCV; and hepatitis E virus, HEV), measles, hemorrhagic fever, dengue and severe dengue, rabies, Japanese encephalitis, anthrax, Shigella spp. or Entamoeba histolytica, tuberculosis, typhoid and paratyphoid fever, pertussis, neonatal tetanus, scarlet fever, brucellosis, gonorrhea, Treponema pallidum, leptospirosis, schistosomiasis, and malaria. The data sampling rate was 1 time point per month (12 time points per year) from the monthly report of the National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. We used 2 criteria to select these diseases. First, the maximum number of infectious cases each month in recent years should be larger than 10. Second, the time points should be continuously publicly reported within the years of interest. We were mainly interested in how other class B infectious diseases might be influenced by policies related to COVID-19, considering that COVID-19 is also classified as class B. We did not include class A diseases due to their low incidences. Class C diseases, such as the flu, were not included, because they are less fatal and controllable and would not have the same impact as class B diseases.

Indicators of government response in China were taken from the Oxford COVID-19 Government Response Tracker [44]. In this work, we use the stringency index (all closure indicators, such as lockdown policies and travel bans, and health system policies that record public information campaigns and contact tracing), which records the strictness of lockdown-style policies. The index scores the level of government responses between 0 and 100. The higher the score is, the stricter the government interventions were (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Ethical Considerations

For this study, we used public data from the National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. Our study did not involve any intervention on human participants. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Beijing Anding Hospital, Capital Medical University, China.

Trough and Peak Amplitude Before and After the COVID-19 Outbreak

We defined a new concept named the ERT, which originates from the event-related potential (ERP) in neuroscience [45]. The ERT describes the direct impact of specific events on reducing the number of infectious diseases. This event could be a pharmaceutical or nonpharmaceutical intervention to prevent the spread of infectious disease. In this study, the specific event is the strong prevention and control policies

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35343
```

implemented at the outbreak of the COVID-19 epidemic, which are an NPI. The ERT is the lowest increase of an outbreak in the period of 6 months after the outbreak of COVID-19. The trough amplitude before COVID-19 is the lowest value of the infection in the 3-year period before COVID-19 (Equation 1). The peak amplitude (Equation 2) before and after the COVID-19 outbreak is the highest value of the infection before and after COVID-19. We also calculated the trough ratio index as the ratio of troughs before and after the outbreak of COVID-19 (Equation 3).

Trough amplitude = arg min(infected cases after outbreak of the epidemic) (1)

Peak amplitude = arg max(infected cases after outbreak of the epidemic) (2)

Trough ratio index = arg min(infected cases before outbreak of the epidemic)/arg min(infected cases after outbreak of the epidemic) (3)

Tuning Curves for Monthly Infected Cases Before and After the COVID-19 Outbreak

The tuning curve of the monthly infected cases illustrates the essential profile of the outbreak of each disease in China, which gives a direct picture of the situation each month based on the historical data. We assumed that all infectious diseases included in this study have a similar trend each year for the years of observation (Multimedia Appendix 2), similar to previous studies [18]. Thus, we took the monthly average number of infected cases and computed them into a tuning curve (Equation 4). Each infectious disease in this study has a tuning curve before and after the COVID-19 outbreak, and the oscillatory pattern within a year is clear.

Tuning curve_{month} = sum(infected cases_{month})/N, (4)

where N is the number of years.

Preferred Month and Selectivity of the Epidemic Outbreak Before and After COVID-19

Two indices of the disease were defined: preferred month and infection selectivity (Equation 5), which are important indicators of the infectious property of the epidemics caused by a disease in a year. The preferred month index is defined as the month in a year that has the most cases of infections. The infection selectivity index is defined as (1 - ratio of the minimum and) the maximum number of infected cases in a year). If the selectivity index is closer to 1, it means outbreaks only occur in specific months. If the selectivity index is closer to 0, it means that outbreaks occur throughout the year.

Selectivity index = 1 - [min(mean infected cases in a year)/max(mean infected cases in a year)] (5)

Power Spectrum Analysis

The oscillatory property of an infectious disease is an important indicator of the regular fluctuations and recurrence of epidemics. To better quantify these fluctuations, we used spectrum analysis. Similar methods have been used in classic and modern studies in the field of infectious diseases [38-42] and some other biological research [46,47]. Spectrum analysis is a technique for decomposing complex signals into simpler signals based on

XSL•FO RenderX

Fourier transform (Equation 6). Many biological signals can be expressed as the sum of various simple signals of different frequencies and produce information about a signal at different frequencies (eg, amplitude, power, intensity, phase).

×

The power spectral density (PSD; Equation 7) for each infectious disease before and after the outbreak of COVID-19 was computed using the multitaper method with the Chronux toolbox [48], an open source, data analysis toolbox [49]. Power spectra of the time series data (infected cases of each disease) were calculated in 2 time periods (2017-2020 and 2020-2021).

_			
	н		
~	н		
~	н		
	н		
_			

where $W_T(t)$ is 1 within the arbitrary period and 0 elsewhere, and T is centered about some arbitrary time t=t₀.

Correlation Analysis

We performed Pearson correlation to measure the relationship of several indices (ERT, selectivity, oscillatory strength, and mean infected number) before and after the COVID-19 outbreak. Pearson correlation was also performed in the correlation analysis between trough ratio and selectivity, between the change in power and change in infected numbers, and between the change in power and change in trough amplitude. Spearman correlation was performed to measure the relationship between the trough amplitude and the peak amplitude before and after the COVID-19 outbreak. The significance (*P* value) of the correlation was corrected with Bonferroni correction.

Statistical Analysis

We performed an independent-sample t test to compare the difference between several indices (trough amplitude, peak amplitude) before and after the COVID-19 outbreak and test the difference in the trough ratio between diseases with a different preferred time of outbreak. The pairwise t test was performed to compare the oscillatory power and the average infected number before and after the COVID-19 outbreak.

Results

Monthly Data

This study analyzed monthly data from April 2017 to September 2021 of confirmed cases of 23 class B notifiable infectious diseases in China's mainland. After the COVID-19 outbreak, most class B infectious diseases had an obvious sudden trough, which we defined as the ERT (see Figure 1A for 3 typical examples). The stringency index of China showed that during the COVID-19 pandemic, the strict NPIs in China have always been existing (Multimedia Appendix 1), which allows us to analyze the long-term effect after the COVID-19 outbreak.

Figure 1. Infectious disease before and after the COVID-19 outbreak (A) Monthly infected cases from 2017 to 2021 of three examples (HCV, Tuberculosis, and Gonorrhea). The curve after the vertical dotted line shows specifically the infected cases after the COVID-19 outbreak. (B) The normalized mean number of infected cases before and after the COVID-19 outbreak. (C) Trough amplitude (left) and peak amplitude (right) before and after the COVID-19 outbreak (** is for P<.01). (D) The relationship between the normalized trough (left) and peak (right) before and after the COVID-19 outbreak.



Significant Event-Related Trough Occurred After the Strict Control Policy for the COVID-19 Outbreak in China

We showed several examples of diseases that had an obvious ERT after the COVID-19 outbreak (HCV, tuberculosis, and

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35343

RenderX

all diseases. To compare the time series of all diseases on a notionally common scale, we normalized the time series of the number of infected people by subtracting the mean number of infections before COVID-19 and dividing it by its SD. Hence, the mean number of infections before COVID-19 was 0 for all

gonorrhea); see Figure 1A, and see Multimedia Appendix 3 for

after the event (policy in response to COVID-19). Results showed that the amplitude of both peak (P<.01) and trough (P<.01) significantly decreased, which indicated that the outbreak strongly moderated the oscillation amplitude (see Figure 1C). We then calculated the correlation between the normalized trough before and after the outbreak event, and we found that the trough after the outbreak was significantly correlated (r=0.88, P<.001) to the trough before but the peak was not correlated (r=-0.15, P=.48; see Figure 1D).

Infection Selectivity and Preferred Outbreak Time Strongly Related to the Trough Ratio Before and After the COVID-19 Outbreak

The ERT might be affected by the basic properties (infection selectivity and preferred outbreak time) of infectious disease outbreaks. To further clarify potential factors that would cause an ERT, we determined the property of oscillations for infectious

diseases in a year by defining 2 indicators: infection selectivity and preferred outbreak time of the infectious disease. We selected 3 infectious diseases that have different selectivity as examples (Figure 2A,B; see Multimedia Appendix 4 for all diseases). The infection selectivity index is defined as (1 - ratio of the minimum and the maximum number of infected cases in a year). If the selectivity index is closer to 1, then the shape of the tuning curve is sharper (eg, Japanese encephalitis), and vice versa (eg, HEV). The preferred month index is defined as the month in a year that has the most cases of infections. Results showed that there was a significant increase in infection selectivity after the outbreak of COVID-19, and infection selectivity before and after the outbreak was positively correlated (with Bonferroni correction; Figure 2C). When we compared the selectivity before the outbreak and the trough ratio, we found that the stronger the infection selectivity, the smaller the trough ratio (Figure 2D). We also conducted a partial correlation analysis between infection selectivity and trough ratio, controlling for the preferred time of outbreak, which was significant (r=-0.58, P=.004). The association between infection selectivity and trough ratio confounded by seasons was, however, weak.

Figure 2. Relationship between selectivity and trough ratio before and after the COVID-19 outbreak (A) Monthly infected cases from 2017 to 2021 of three examples (Japanese encephalitis, Scarlet fever, and HEV). The curve after the vertical dotted line shows specifically the infected cases after the COVID-19 outbreak. (B) The number of infected cases every month in a year calculated before (light-colored curve) and after the COVID-19 outbreak (dark-colored curve) corresponding to the time-series data of plot A. (C) The scatter plot of the selectivity before and after the COVID-19 outbreak. (D) The relationship between the selectivity (before) and trough ratio (post/pre).



Relationship Between an Infection and Its Oscillatory Power Before and After the COVID-19 Outbreak

We quantified the oscillatory strength of outbreaks using power spectrum analysis (Figures 3A and 3B; see Multimedia Appendix 5 for all diseases). We then explored the relationship between infected cases and their corresponding strength of oscillatory power before and after the COVID-19 outbreak. Results indicated that the oscillatory strength (r=0.83, P<.001) and mean infected cases (r=0.95, P<.001) before the COVID-19 outbreak were significantly positively correlated to the indices after the COVID-19 outbreak (Figure 3C), showing that the stronger the oscillatory power was before the outbreak, the stronger it was after the outbreak. The same was true for mean infected cases.

To determine the differences between oscillatory power before and after the COVID-19 outbreak and between mean infected cases before and after the COVID-19 outbreak, we also split the data and compared the indices before and after the event. Consistent with our hypothesis, results showed both decreases in oscillatory power and mean infected cases after the COVID-19 outbreak (Figure 3D). We further examined the relationship between the change in power between the change in infected numbers and trough amplitude. Results showed that the change in power and the change in infected numbers was significantly correlated (r=0.92, P<.001). The more the change in oscillatory power, the more changes in the number of confirmed cases (Figure 3E). However, the change in power was not related to the change in trough amplitude (r=-0.37, P=.08 with Bonferroni correction; Figure 3F). In sum, the COVID-19 outbreak reduced the outbreaks of class B notifiable infectious diseases, as indicated by oscillatory power and mean infected cases.

Figure 3. Relationship between the infection and its oscillatory power before and after COVID outbreak (A) Infected cases from 2017 to 2021 of three examples (Rabies, Dysentery, and Brucellosis). The curve after the vertical dotted line represents specifically the infected cases after the COVID-19 outbreak. (B) The power spectrum calculated before (light-colored curve) and after the COVID-19 outbreak (dark-colored curve) corresponding to the time-series data of plot A. (C) The scatter plot of the power (left) and mean infected number (right) before and after the COVID-19 outbreak. (D) The histogram of the oscillatory power (left) and averaged infected cases (right) before and after the COVID-19 outbreak. (E) The scatter plot of the change of power and change of infected number. (F) The scatter plot of the change of power and change of trough amplitude.



Discussion

RenderX

Principal Findings

In this study, we defined several novel concepts and robust metrics (ERT, selectivity of infection, preferred time to outbreak, oscillatory strength of the infectious disease) to quantify and capture the temporal characteristics of infectious disease outbreaks and event-related fluctuations in China. Our results showed that a clear ERT occurred for most class B infectious diseases after the COVID-19 outbreak under the strict public health policy. We further found that the ERT was related to the nature of diseases, such as their infection selectivity and preferred outbreak time. However, their oscillatory strength was somehow unrelated. We also compared these indices of the infectious diseases before and after the outbreak of COVID-19. The impact of the COVID-19 outbreak influenced the infectious diseases by reducing the trough amplitude, mean infected cases, and oscillatory strength but increasing infectious selectivity (see Figure 4).

Zhao et al

Figure 4. A summary of the main finding. As illustrated in the four plots, the impact of the COVID-outbreak influenced the infectious diseases in four aspects: decreased the trough amplitude, the mean infected cases, and the oscillatory strength, but increased the seasonal selectivity.



Comparison With Prior Work

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to systematically investigate the influence of the COVID-19 outbreak on the temporal characteristics of other class B infectious diseases in China, including both respiratory infectious diseases and other types, such as those transmitted through sex, body fluids, the digestive tract, contact, and mosquitos. The key contribution of this study is that several new concepts were purported, such as the ERT, selectivity of infectious diseases, the preferred outbreak time, and the power strength of infectious oscillation. Some previous studies have investigated basic properties of a few infectious diseases in China [18,22-25,50-52] and countries worldwide [39,40,53-55], and NPIs to mitigate COVID-19 could have affected the transmission dynamics of influenza and other respiratory diseases [17,27-29,56,57]. However, previous research did not quantify the reduction using a specific temporal index. We first defined the ERT in the field of infectious diseases to capture the immediate influence of the strong interventions related to the public health events, such as the prevention policy on disease outbreaks. The ERT could measure the temporal feature when studying the effect of some specific interventions in the future, which increases 1 dimension (temporal dynamics) compared with a simple reduction number.

Another novel finding of this study is that we also built up a connection between the ERT and some other important indicators (selective property and oscillatory property), which were neglected in prior works. In this study, we found that the ERT is related to the selectivity (Figure 2D) of an infectious disease, which gives a new understanding of how an epidemic could be more easily controlled (when a disease has high selectivity). In the future, infectious selectivity would play a more important role than before, especially when combined with the tuning curve of a disease. It would depict new pictures of the basic property of each disease and give more practical guidance on the prevention and control of epidemics. The oscillatory properties of infectious diseases were also analyzed in some previous studies [18,22-25,38-40,53-55,58-60], which could be driven by both natural [11,61,62] and human [63-68]

factors. However, prior studies did not investigate the influence of COVID-19 measures or other NPIs to control epidemics on the oscillatory strength of infectious diseases systematically. Our results indicate that the oscillatory strength significantly decreased after the COVID-19 outbreak, which was accompanied by a decrease in the mean infections. This finding supports the conceptual hybrid model [18]. We also found that the oscillatory strength before the COVID-19 outbreak did not correlate to the change in trough, which further suggests that the ERT is not related to some seasonal factors but more to the measurement of the COVID-19 outbreak. The oscillatory phenomenon of population-based epidemics would be the new impetus for the study of public health. In the future, this index could be connected to more natural and human factors, which would contribute to constructing a more generic stimulated model to explain history and predict the future situation.

Limitations

One limitation of our study is that the data we used are from the entire mainland China but are not specific to different provinces or cities, which may lack spatial resolution. Another limitation of our study is that the results were based on a macroscopic rather than a microscopic view of most class B infectious diseases. Further studies are needed to clarify the deeper underlying mechanisms of the COVID-19 pandemic. With these findings, we could better provide the government with recommendations on the optimal timing to intervene before achieving herd immunity, thereby helping to design fit-for-purpose policies.

Conclusion

In sum, the study developed a new and potentially universal approach to revealing the dynamics of infectious diseases. The transmissibility and severity of infectious diseases fluctuate regularly. The introduction of the concept of the ERT in infectious diseases can better capture the immediate influence of interventions related to previous public health events. Our results confirmed that early commencement of strong public health interventions has additional benefits on other infectious diseases.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China for availability of the public data set on cases of 23 class B infectious diseases. This study was sponsored by the Beijing Municipal Hospital Clinical Technology Innovation

and Research Plan (XMLX201805), the Beijing Municipal Hospital Research and Development Project (PX2021068), and the Advanced Innovation Center for Human Brain Protection Project (3500-12020137).

Authors' Contributions

CH, ML, and XZ conceived and designed the study. CH, ML, NH, YZ, JJ, and ZL contributed to the literature search. CH, JL, JT, SL, YZ, XZ, XW, and YL contributed to data collection. CH, YC, MG, XF, JQ, and MG contributed to data analysis and interpretation of results. All authors contributed to writing the paper.

Conflicts of Interest

The coauthors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Stringency index in China after January 2020 (data from the Oxford COVID-19 Government Response Tracker). [PNG File , 48 KB - publichealth v8i6e35343 app1.png]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Annual average of all infected cases diseases. HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus; HAV: hepatitis A virus; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; HEV: hepatitis E virus. [PNG File , 448 KB - publichealth_v8i6e35343_app2.png]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Monthly cases of infection for all diseases. HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus; HAV: hepatitis A virus; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; HEV: hepatitis E virus.

[PNG File, 369 KB - publichealth_v8i6e35343_app3.png]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Annual average of all infected cases of diseases before (gray) and after (black) the COVID-19 outbreak. HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus; HAV: hepatitis A virus; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; HEV: hepatitis E virus. [PNG File, 383 KB - publichealth_v8i6e35343_app4.png]

Multimedia Appendix 5

Power spectrum of all infected cases before (gray) and after (black) the COVID-19 outbreak. HIV: Human Immunodeficiency Virus; HAV: hepatitis A virus; HBV: hepatitis B virus; HCV: hepatitis C virus; HEV: hepatitis E virus. [PNG File, 378 KB - publichealth_v8i6e35343_app5.png]

References

- 1. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 2020 Feb;395(10223):497-506. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30183-5]
- Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X, Zhou L, Tong Y, et al. Early transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China, of novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia. N Engl J Med 2020 Mar 26;382(13):1199-1207 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2001316] [Medline: 31995857]
- Wang H, Wang Z, Dong Y, Chang R, Xu C, Yu X, et al. Phase-adjusted estimation of the number of coronavirus disease 2019 cases in Wuhan, China. Cell Discov 2020 Feb 24;6(1):10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41421-020-0148-0] [Medline: 32133152]
- 4. Wang D, Zhou M, Nie X, Qiu W, Yang M, Wang X, et al. Epidemiological characteristics and transmission model of corona virus disease 2019 in China. J Infect 2020 May;80(5):e25-e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.008] [Medline: 32171870]
- Tian H, Liu Y, Li Y, Wu C, Chen B, Kraemer MUG, et al. An investigation of transmission control measures during the first 50 days of the COVID-19 epidemic in China. Science 2020 May 08;368(6491):638-642 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/science.abb6105] [Medline: 32234804]
- 6. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 2020 Feb 20;382(8):727-733. [doi: 10.1056/nejmoa2001017]
- Wu J, Leung K, Leung GM. Nowcasting and forecasting the potential domestic and international spread of the 2019-nCoV outbreak originating in Wuhan, China: a modelling study. Lancet 2020 Feb;395(10225):689-697. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30260-9] [Medline: <u>32014</u>]

- Young L, Danial Z. Three pre-vaccine responses to Covid-like epidemics. PLoS One 2021 May 13;16(5):e0251349 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0251349] [Medline: 33984035]
- 9. Spina S, Marrazzo F, Migliari M, Stucchi R, Sforza A, Fumagalli R. The response of Milan's Emergency Medical System to the COVID-19 outbreak in Italy. Lancet 2020 Mar;395(10227):e49-e50. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30493-1]
- Rosenbaum L. Facing Covid-19 in Italy: ethics, logistics, and therapeutics on the epidemic's front line. N Engl J Med 2020 May 14;382(20):1873-1875. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmp2005492</u>]
- Han C, Li M, Haihambo N, Babuna P, Liu Q, Zhao X, et al. Mechanisms of recurrent outbreak of COVID-19: a model-based study. Nonlinear Dyn 2021 Mar 18;106(2):1169-1185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11071-021-06371-w] [Medline: 33758464]
- 12. Martinez-Alvarez M, Jarde A, Usuf E, Brotherton H, Bittaye M, Samateh AL, et al. COVID-19 pandemic in west Africa. Lancet Global Health 2020 May;8(5):e631-e632. [doi: 10.1016/s2214-109x(20)30123-6]
- Dawood FS, Ricks P, Njie GJ, Daugherty M, Davis W, Fuller JA, et al. Observations of the global epidemiology of COVID-19 from the prepandemic period using web-based surveillance: a cross-sectional analysis. Lancet Infect Dis 2020 Nov;20(11):1255-1262. [doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(20)30581-8]
- 14. Han C, Liu Y, Tang J, Zhu Y, Jaeger C, Yang S. Lessons from the mainland of China's epidemic experience in the first phase about the growth rules of infected and recovered cases of COVID-19 worldwide. Int J Disaster Risk Sci 2020 Aug 18;11(4):497-507. [doi: 10.1007/s13753-020-00294-7]
- 15. Vasconcelos G, Macêdo A, Duarte-Filho G, Brum A, Ospina R, Almeida F. Complexity signatures in the COVID-19 epidemic: power law behaviour in the saturation regime of fatality curves. medRxiv 2020. [doi: 10.1101/2020.07.12.20152140]
- 16. Tang JW. COVID-19: interpreting scientific evidence uncertainty, confusion and delays. BMC Infect Dis 2020 Sep 08;20(1):653 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12879-020-05387-8] [Medline: 32895050]
- Feng L, Zhang T, Wang Q, Xie Y, Peng Z, Zheng J, et al. Impact of COVID-19 outbreaks and interventions on influenza in China and the United States. Nat Commun 2021 May 31;12(1):3249 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-23440-1] [Medline: 34059675]
- Han C, Li M, Haihambo N, Cao Y, Zhao X. Enlightenment on oscillatory properties of 23 class B notifiable infectious diseases in the mainland of China from 2004 to 2020. PLoS One 2021 Jun 9;16(6):e0252803 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0252803] [Medline: 34106977]
- 19. Ortiz E, Clancy CM. Use of information technology to improve the quality of health care in the United States. Health Serv Res 2003 Apr;38(2):xi-xxii [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.00127] [Medline: 12785557]
- 20. Chen S, Li J, Wang D, Fung H, Wong L, Zhao L. The hepatitis B epidemic in China should receive more attention. Lancet 2018 Apr;391(10130):1572. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(18)30499-9]
- 21. Liu Y, Chan T, Yap L, Luo Y, Xu W, Qin S, et al. Resurgence of scarlet fever in China: a 13-year population-based surveillance study. Lancet Infect Dis 2018 Aug;18(8):903-912. [doi: 10.1016/s1473-3099(18)30231-7]
- Luo T, Sumi A, Zhou D, Kamo K, Yu B, Zhao D, et al. Study on the effect of measles control programmes on periodic structures of disease epidemics in a large Chinese city. Epidemiol Infect 2010 May 18;139(2):257-264. [doi: 10.1017/s0950268810001056]
- 23. Ma C, Hao X, Deng H, Wu R, Liu J, Yang Y, et al. Re-emerging of rabies in Shaanxi Province, China, from 2009 to 2015. J Med Virol 2017 Sep 15;89(9):1511-1519. [doi: <u>10.1002/jmv.24769</u>] [Medline: <u>28112421</u>]
- 24. Zhang Y, Vrancken B, Feng Y, Dellicour S, Yang Q, Yang W, et al. Cross-border spread, lineage displacement and evolutionary rate estimation of rabies virus in Yunnan Province, China. Virol J 2017 Jun 03;14(1):102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12985-017-0769-6] [Medline: 28578663]
- Tian H, Feng Y, Vrancken B, Cazelles B, Tan H, Gill MS, et al. Transmission dynamics of re-emerging rabies in domestic dogs of rural China. PLoS Pathog 2018 Dec 6;14(12):e1007392 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1007392] [Medline: 30521641]
- 26. Moore S, Hill EM, Tildesley MJ, Dyson L, Keeling MJ. Vaccination and non-pharmaceutical interventions for COVID-19: a mathematical modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis 2021 Jun;21(6):793-802. [doi: <u>10.1016/s1473-3099(21)00143-2</u>]
- Huang QS, Wood T, Jelley L, Jennings T, Jefferies S, Daniells K, NPIsImpactOnFlu Consortium, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 nonpharmaceutical interventions on influenza and other respiratory viral infections in New Zealand. Nat Commun 2021 Feb 12;12(1):1001 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21157-9] [Medline: <u>33579926</u>]
- 28. Cowling BJ, Ali ST, Ng TWY, Tsang TK, Li JCM, Fong MW, et al. Impact assessment of non-pharmaceutical interventions against coronavirus disease 2019 and influenza in Hong Kong: an observational study. Lancet Public Health 2020 May 17;5(5):e279-e288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30090-6] [Medline: 32311320]
- 29. Wu D, Lu J, Liu Y, Zhang Z, Luo L. Positive effects of COVID-19 control measures on influenza prevention. Int J Infect Dis 2020 Jun;95:345-346 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.04.009] [Medline: 32283283]
- Komiya K, Yamasue M, Takahashi O, Hiramatsu K, Kadota J, Kato S. The COVID-19 pandemic and the true incidence of tuberculosis in Japan. J Infect 2020 Sep;81(3):e24-e25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.07.004] [Medline: 32650109]

- Chen B, Wang M, Huang X, Xie M, Pan L, Liu H, et al. Changes in incidence of notifiable infectious diseases in China under the prevention and control measures of COVID-19. Front Public Health 2021 Oct 15;9:728768 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.728768] [Medline: 34722440]
- Geng M, Zhang H, Yu L, Lv C, Wang T, Che T, et al. Changes in notifiable infectious disease incidence in China during the COVID-19 pandemic. Nat Commun 2021 Nov 26;12(1):6923 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-27292-7] [Medline: <u>34836947</u>]
- Dadras O, Alinaghi SAS, Karimi A, MohsseniPour M, Barzegary A, Vahedi F, et al. Effects of COVID-19 prevention procedures on other common infections: a systematic review. Eur J Med Res 2021 Jul 03;26(1):67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40001-021-00539-1] [Medline: 34217366]
- 34. Wang Z, Liu Y, Li Y, Wang G, Lourenço J, Kraemer M, et al. The relationship between rising temperatures and malaria incidence in Hainan, China, from 1984 to 2010: a longitudinal cohort study. Lancet Planet Health 2022 Apr;6(4):e350-e358. [doi: 10.1016/s2542-5196(22)00039-0]
- 35. Zhang X, Hou F, Li X, Zhou L, Liu Y, Zhang T. Study of surveillance data for class B notifiable disease in China from 2005 to 2014. Int J Infect Dis 2016 Jul;48:7-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2016.04.010] [Medline: 27094249]
- 36. Gui J, Liu Z, Zhang T, Hua Q, Jiang Z, Chen B, et al. Epidemiological characteristics and spatial-temporal clusters of hand, foot, and mouth disease in Zhejiang Province, China, 2008-2012. PLoS One 2015 Sep 30;10(9):e0139109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0139109] [Medline: 26422015]
- Zhang X, Hou F, Qiao Z, Li X, Zhou L, Liu Y, et al. Temporal and long-term trend analysis of class C notifiable diseases in China from 2009 to 2014. BMJ Open 2016 Oct 17;6(10):e011038 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011038] [Medline: 27797981]
- Anderson RM, Grenfell BT, May RM. Oscillatory fluctuations in the incidence of infectious disease and the impact of vaccination: time series analysis. J Hyg (Lond) 1984 Dec 19;93(3):587-608 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/s0022172400065177] [Medline: 6512259]
- Broutin H, Guégan JF, Elguero E, Simondon F, Cazelles B. Large-scale comparative analysis of pertussis population dynamics: periodicity, synchrony, and impact of vaccination. Am J Epidemiol 2005 Jun 15;161(12):1159-1167. [doi: 10.1093/aje/kwi141] [Medline: 15937025]
- Sumi A, Kamo K, Ohtomo N, Kobayashi N. Study of the effect of vaccination on periodic structures of measles epidemics in Japan. Microbiol Immunol 2007 Nov 14;51(9):805-814 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1348-0421.2007.tb03976.x</u>] [Medline: <u>17895597</u>]
- 41. Greer M, Saha R, Gogliettino A, Yu C, Zollo-Venecek K. Emergence of oscillations in a simple epidemic model with demographic data. R Soc Open Sci 2020 Jan 29;7(1):191187 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1098/rsos.191187] [Medline: 32218949]
- 42. Pons-Salort M, Grassly NC. Serotype-specific immunity explains the incidence of diseases caused by human enteroviruses. Science 2018 Aug 24;361(6404):800-803 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/science.aat6777] [Medline: 30139872]
- 43. National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. URL: <u>http://www.nhc.gov.cn/</u> [accessed 2022-06-17]
- 44. OxCGRT team at the Blavatnik School of Government. Oxford COVID-19 Government Response Tracker. URL: <u>https://covidtracker.bsg.ox.ac.uk/</u> [accessed 2022-06-17]
- 45. Zhao X, Li H, Wang E, Luo X, Han C, Cao Q, et al. Neural correlates of working memory deficits in different adult outcomes of ADHD: an event-related potential study. Front Psychiatry 2020 May 1;11:348 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00348] [Medline: 32425833]
- 46. Han C, Wang T, Yang Y, Wu Y, Li Y, Dai W, et al. Multiple gamma rhythms carry distinct spatial frequency information in primary visual cortex. PLoS Biol 2021 Dec 21;19(12):e3001466 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3001466] [Medline: 34932558]
- 47. Han C, Wang T, Wu Y, Li Y, Yang Y, Li L, et al. The generation and modulation of distinct gamma oscillations with local, horizontal, and feedback connections in the primary visual cortex: a model study on large-scale networks. Neural Plast 2021;2021:8874516 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2021/8874516] [Medline: 33531893]
- 48. Percival DB, Walden AT. Spectral Analysis for Physical Applications: Multitaper and Conventional Univariate Techniques. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1993.
- 49. Chronux Analysis Software. URL: http://chronux.org [accessed 2022-06-17]
- 50. Zhang X, Zhang T, Young AA, Li X. Applications and comparisons of four time series models in epidemiological surveillance data. PLoS One 2014 Feb;9(2):e88075 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0088075] [Medline: 24505382]
- Chen M, Zhang C, Kong D, Pan H, Zhang X, Chen M. Investigation of Streptococcus pyogenes carriage in population vulnerable to scarlet fever during 2015-2017 in Shanghai, China. J Biosci Med 2018;06(11):89-97. [doi: 10.4236/jbm.2018.611009]
- 52. Lu Q, Ding Z, Wu C, Wu H, Lin J. Analysis of epidemiological characteristics of notifiable diseases reported in children aged 0-14 years from 2008 to 2017 in Zhejiang Province, China. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Jan 09;16(2):168 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16020168] [Medline: 30634443]
- 53. Fine PE, Clarkson JA. Seasonal influences on pertussis. Int J Epidemiol 1986 Jun;15(2):237-247. [doi: 10.1093/ije/15.2.237] [Medline: 3721687]

- 54. De Greeff SC, Dekkers ALM, Teunis P, Rahamat-Langendoen JC, Mooi FR, De Melker HE. Seasonal patterns in time series of pertussis. Epidemiol Infect 2009 Mar 30;137(10):1388-1395. [doi: <u>10.1017/s0950268809002489</u>]
- 55. Wearing HJ, Rohani P. Estimating the duration of pertussis immunity using epidemiological signatures. PLoS Pathog 2009 Oct 30;5(10):e1000647 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000647] [Medline: 19876392]
- Rana MS, Usman M, Alam MM, Ikram A, Salman M, Zaidi SSZ, et al. Impact of COVID-19 preventive measures on other infectious and non-infectious respiratory diseases in Pakistan. J Infect 2021 May;82(5):e31-e32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2021.01.018] [Medline: <u>33524424</u>]
- 57. Lim RH, Chow A, Ho HJ. Decline in pneumococcal disease incidence in the time of COVID-19 in Singapore. J Infect 2020 Dec;81(6):e19-e21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.08.020] [Medline: 32810519]
- Gunning CE, Ferrari MJ, Erhardt EB, Wearing HJ. Evidence of cryptic incidence in childhood diseases. Proc Biol Sci 2017 Aug 30;284(1861):20171268 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.1268] [Medline: 28855364]
- 59. Bhattacharyya S, Ferrari MJ, Bjørnstad ON. Species interactions may help explain the erratic periodicity of whooping cough dynamics. Epidemics 2018 Jun;23:64-70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.epidem.2017.12.005] [Medline: 29306640]
- 60. Hitz DA, Tewald F, Eggers M. Seasonal Bordetella pertussis pattern in the period from 2008 to 2018 in Germany. BMC Infect Dis 2020 Jul 03;20(1):474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12879-020-05199-w] [Medline: 32620085]
- 61. Tian H, Yu P, Cazelles B, Xu L, Tan H, Yang J, et al. Interannual cycles of Hantaan virus outbreaks at the human-animal interface in Central China are controlled by temperature and rainfall. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2017 Jul 25;114(30):8041-8046 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1701777114] [Medline: 28696305]
- 62. Suk J, Vaughan E, Cook R, Semenza J. Natural disasters and infectious disease in Europe: a literature review to identify cascading risk pathways. Eur J Public Health 2020 Oct 01;30(5):928-935 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckz111] [Medline: 31169886]
- Yorke JA, London WP. Recurrent outbreaks of measles, chickenpox and mumps. II. Systematic differences in contact rates and stochastic effects. Am J Epidemiol 1973 Dec;98(6):469-482. [doi: <u>10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a121576</u>] [Medline: <u>4767623</u>]
- 64. Fine PE, Clarkson JA. Measles in England and Wales--I: an analysis of factors underlying seasonal patterns. Int J Epidemiol 1982 Mar;11(1):5-14. [doi: 10.1093/ije/11.1.5] [Medline: 7085179]
- 65. Ferrari MJ, Grais RF, Bharti N, Conlan AJK, Bjørnstad ON, Wolfson LJ, et al. The dynamics of measles in sub-Saharan Africa. Nature 2008 Feb 07;451(7179):679-684. [doi: <u>10.1038/nature06509</u>] [Medline: <u>18256664</u>]
- Bharti N, Tatem AJ, Ferrari MJ, Grais RF, Djibo A, Grenfell BT. Explaining seasonal fluctuations of measles in Niger using nighttime lights imagery. Science 2011 Dec 09;334(6061):1424-1427 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/science.1210554] [Medline: 22158822]
- 67. Buonomo B, Della Marca R. Oscillations and hysteresis in an epidemic model with information-dependent imperfect vaccination. Math Comput Simul 2019 Aug;162:97-114. [doi: 10.1016/j.matcom.2019.01.005]
- Fisman D. Seasonality of viral infections: mechanisms and unknowns. Clin Microbiol Infect 2012 Oct;18(10):946-954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2012.03968.x] [Medline: 22817528]

Abbreviations

ERT: event-related trough HBV: hepatitis B virus HCV: hepatitis C virus HEV: hepatitis E virus NPI: nonpharmaceutical intervention

Edited by A Mavragani, T Sanchez; submitted 01.12.21; peer-reviewed by T Huang, X Wang; comments to author 02.02.22; revised version received 09.04.22; accepted 24.05.22; published 23.06.22.

Please cite as:

Zhao X, Li M, Haihambo N, Jin J, Zeng Y, Qiu J, Guo M, Zhu Y, Li Z, Liu J, Teng J, Li S, Zhao YN, Cao Y, Wang X, Li Y, Gao M, Feng X, Han C

Changes in Temporal Properties of Notifiable Infectious Disease Epidemics in China During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Population-Based Surveillance Study

JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e35343 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35343</u> doi:<u>10.2196/35343</u>

PMID:<u>35649394</u>

©Xixi Zhao, Meijia Li, Naem Haihambo, Jianhua Jin, Yimeng Zeng, Jinyi Qiu, Mingrou Guo, Yuyao Zhu, Zhirui Li, Jiaxin Liu, Jiayi Teng, Sixiao Li, Ya-nan Zhao, Yanxiang Cao, Xuemei Wang, Yaqiong Li, Michel Gao, Xiaoyang Feng, Chuanliang Han. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 23.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

XSL•FO

Vaccination Intention and Behavior of the General Public in China: Cross-sectional Survey and Moderated Mediation Model Analysis

Liuqing Yang^{1,2*}, PhD; Lili Ji^{3*}, MA; Qiang Wang^{1,2}, PhD; Yan Xu³, MA; Guoping Yang³, MA; Tingting Cui^{1,2}, PhD; Naiyang Shi^{1,2}, PhD; Lin Zhu³, MA; Shixin Xiu⁴, MA; Hui Jin^{1,2}, PhD; Shiqi Zhen³, PhD

¹Department of Epidemiology and Health Statistic, School of Public Health, Southeast University, Nanjing, China

²Key Laboratory of Environmental Medicine Engineering, Ministry of Education, School of Public Health, Southeast University, Nanjing, China ³Jiangsu Provincial Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Nanjing, China

⁴Department of Immunization Planning, Wuxi Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Wuxi, China

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Hui Jin, PhD Department of Epidemiology and Health Statistic School of Public Health Southeast University 87# Dingjiaqiao Nanjing, 210009 China Phone: 86 025 8327 2572 Fax: 86 825 83272561 Email: jinhui hld@163.com

Abstract

Background: Promoting vaccination and eliminating vaccine hesitancy are key measures for controlling vaccine-preventable diseases.

Objective: We aimed to understand the beliefs surrounding and drivers of vaccination behavior, and their relationships with and influence on vaccination intention and practices.

Methods: We conducted a web-based survey in 31 provinces in mainland China from May 24, 2021 to June 15, 2021, with questions pertaining to vaccination in 5 dimensions: attitude, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, intention, and behavior. We performed hierarchical regression analysis and structural equation modeling based on the theory of planned behavior—in which, the variables attitude, subjective norms, and intention each affect the variable intention; the variable intention mediates the relationships of attitude and subjective norms with behavior, and the variable perceived behavioral control moderates the strength of this mediation—to test the validity of the theoretical framework.

Results: A total of 9924 participants, aged 18 to 59 years, were included in this study. Vaccination intention mediated the relationships of attitude and subjective norms with vaccination behavior. The indirect effect of attitude on vaccination behavior was 0.164 and that of subjective norms was 0.255, and the difference was statistically significant (P<.001). The moderated mediation analysis further indicated that perceived behavioral control would affect the mediation when used as moderator, and the interaction terms for attitude (β =-0.052, P<.001) and subjective norms (β =-0.028, P=.006) with perceived behavioral control were significant.

Conclusions: Subjective norms have stronger positive influences on vaccination practices than attitudes. Perceived behavioral control, as a moderator, has a substitution relationship with attitudes and subjective norms and weakens their positive effects on vaccination behavior.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e34666) doi:10.2196/34666

KEYWORDS

RenderX

vaccine; theory of planned behavior; attitude; subjective norms; perceived behavior control; moderator; mediation

Introduction

Vaccines play a crucial role in protection against infectious diseases. Vaccination is an important component of both family and public health. However, confusion and misunderstanding still surround vaccines, even though they protect against a wide variety of organisms that cause disease, such as influenza, cervical cancer, hepatitis B, COVID-19, pneumonia, and rabies. A recent study [1] by the COVID-19 reaction team at Imperial College London, found that high vaccine hesitancy rates can significantly prolong the time required for nondrug interventions to maintain and decrease the mortality associated with COVID-19. Therefore, exploring the mechanisms behind vaccination behavior to reduce vaccine hesitancy and improve vaccination rates has become a key research topic. Research on vaccine acceptance suggests that individual decisions about vaccination behavior are much more complex and may involve emotional, cultural, social, spiritual, or political factors, as well as cognitive factors [2,3]. It has been demonstrated that theory-based behavioral interventions are more effective [4-9]. However, rather than building on the premise of theoretical models to test hypotheses, most studies [10-12] that have collected data to conduct exploratory studies of knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs or have focused on demographic factors related to vaccination practices.

Currently, the theory of planned behavior, which is one of the most commonly used psychological theories to explain health behavior, is considered to be the most suitable for explaining vaccination behavior [5,13-15], and has been used effectively as a theoretical framework for designing health behavior interventions [16,17]. Another framework—the health belief model-is also widely used in behavioral health fields; however, studies [18-20] have shown that the health belief model is more suited to description rather than explanation of health behavior and has weak predictive validity. Although Webb et al [21] found that theory of planned behavior-based interventions were more effective than those based on other theories, existing studies on theory of planned behavior have not been in-depth-a systematic review [22] demonstrated that most researchers did not address adaptive feedback, merely focused on intention as the outcome, and ignored mediating effects between intentions and behaviors. Yet, the purpose of the theory of planned behavior was to account for perceived behavioral control, which, as a representative of actual behavioral control, should have an impact on the overall model [23].

The beliefs and behavioral drivers of vaccination need to be studied to be able to develop better targeted intervention strategies. We aimed to confirm the theoretical validity and ability of the theory of planned behavior to explain vaccination practices.

Methods

Ethics Approval

The Wuxi Center for Disease Control and Prevention Ethics Committee approved this study (2020No10).

Participants and Procedure

From May 24 to June 15, 2021, we conducted surveys in 31 provinces in mainland China using web-based questionnaires. We used convenience sampling. The link to the questionnaire was created through Wen Juan Xing, which is a platform dedicated to the creation and dissemination of questionnaires, and forwarded by the WeChat platform of the Jiangsu Provincial Center for Disease Control and Prevention. Written information was provided as a statement that could be read, which assured participants that the study was conducted on a voluntary basis and for research purposes only. All surveys were conducted in Chinese. (The surveys were translated into English by 2 researchers only for the purpose of this paper.) Questionnaires answered by people under 18 years and over 60 years were not analyzed. To prevent repeated submission of questionnaires, WeChat real name verification was required when using the link to fill out the questionnaire, and an IP address could only be used to submit a questionnaire once. Questionnaires completed in less than 60 seconds were automatically discarded. Questionnaires with selections at the same level of the Likert scale were also considered invalid.

The questionnaire (Multimedia Appendix 1) was used to collect demographic information (age, gender, ethnicity, usual place of residence, education level, annual household income, and whether respondents worked in the health care industry, residential status), chronic disease history, and information on self-assessment of health status.

Theoretical Background

The theory of planned behavior is widely used to study intentions and behaviors. In this model, intentions are considered the most direct predictor of behaviors and are weighted based on attitudes, which is the degree to which behaviors are positively or negatively evaluated, and subjective norms, which is the pressure society places on implementing or not implementing behaviors. The effects of attitudes and subjective norms are mediated by perceived behavioral control, which is people's perceptions of their ability to perform a given behavior. When perceived behavioral control is accurate, it acts as a proxy for actual behavioral control, that is, the extent to which a person has the ability, resources, and other conditions required to perform the behavior.

In this study, the variable *attitude* represented people's positive or negative perceptions of the vaccine. The variable *subjective norms* referred to the expectations of family, friends, and physicians. The variable *perceived behavioral control* represented people's beliefs about barriers to vaccination (such as the time, cost, and side effects caused by vaccination). Each item was assessed using a 5-point Likert scale (Table 1).

Yang et al

Table 1. Translation of the questionnaire.

Dimension and questions	Scale
Attitude	1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree)
Q1. I think that vaccination is safe.	
Q2. I think that vaccination is effective.	
Q3. I think that vaccination is beneficial.	
Q4. I think that vaccination is important.	
Subjective norms	1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree)
Q5. Did my family, doctors, and close friends think I should be vaccinated?	
Q6. Will I do what they think I should do?	
Q7. Can vaccination can protect close relatives from relevant vaccine- preventable diseases?	
Perceived behavior control	1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree)
Q8. The possibility of still being infected after vaccination would discourage me from getting vaccinated.	
Q9. The exorbitant cost of vaccinating would stop me from getting vaccinated.	
Q10. Vaccination causes a decline in autoimmunity.	
Q11. Concerns about side effects of the vaccine stop me from getting vaccinated.	
Q12. Difficulty in obtaining an appointment for vaccination would prevent me from getting vaccinated.	
Intention	1 (completely impossible) to 5 (completely possible)
Q13. The possibility of considering getting vaccinated.	
Q14. The possibility of trying to get vaccinated.	
Q15. The possibility of actually getting vaccinated.	
Behavior	1 (completely impossible) to 5 (completely possible)
Q16. How likely are you to go for a COVID-19 vaccine?	
Q17. What is the possibility of getting an influenza shot this year?	
Q18. What is the level of hesitation about vaccinating?	

Hypotheses

Hypothesis 1

Attitude will have a positive association with vaccination *behavior*.

Hypothesis 2

Subjective norms will have a positive association with vaccination *behavior*.

Hypothesis 3

Vaccination *intention* will have a positive association with vaccination *behavior*.

Hypothesis 4

Vaccination *intention* will mediate the relationships of *attitude* (hypothesis 4a) and *subjective norms* (hypothesis 4b) with vaccination *behavior*.

Hypothesis 5

Perceived behavior control will moderate the strength of the mediated relationships of *attitude* (hypothesis 5a) and *subjective norms* (hypothesis 5b) with vaccination *behavior* via vaccination *intention*.

Model Testing

Before structural equation modeling, confirmatory factor analysis was conducted to assess the reliability and validity of the constructs. Reliability was assessed by calculating the squared multiple correlation [24] and composite reliability [25]. We also examined parameter estimates and their associated tvalues, factor loadings, and the average variance extracted [26]. We established discriminant validity by calculating the square root of the average variance extracted for each latent variable. The error variances and modification indices of items were estimated.



Model Fitting

The goodness-of-fit index (GFI), adjusted GFI, comparative fit index (CFI), and the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) were used to evaluate the model fit [27]. For GFI, CFI, and adjusted GFI, values closer to 1 are better, and values greater than 0.95 indicate relatively good fit; RMSEA values less than 0.06 indicate relatively good fit [27,28].

Statistical Analysis

We used bootstrapping (5000 trials) to test mediator effects [29]. Hierarchical moderator regression was used to test moderation effects, and all variables were standardized to avoid multicollinearity [30]. The control variables were entered in the block 1 (gender, education level, health care occupation, annual household income, main living condition, self-evaluation of health, chronic diseases, past behavior), followed by the standardized value of the main effect (*attitude, subjective norms*, and *perceived behavioral control*) in block 2, and finally, the interactions and moderators (*subjective norms* * *perceived behavioral control, attitude* * *perceived behavioral control*) in block 3.

AMOS software (version 23; IBM Corp) was used to estimate the structural equation coefficients between latent variables in

the model. Hierarchical moderator regression analysis was performed using SPSS software (version 23; IBM Corp). Statistical significance was set at P<.05.

Results

Participant Information

A total of 9924 participants (male: 5407/9924, 54.5%; female: 4517/9924, 45.5%) were included in this study (Table 2). Most respondents had a college degree or higher (7589/9924, 76.4%), and did not work in health care–related industries (7007/9924, 70.6%).

In this study, the proportion showing vaccine hesitancy (respondents who selected not sure, hesitant, and very hesitant for Q18) was estimated to be about 26.6% (2640/9924). Of the total sample, 77% (7643/9924) reported that they had received COVID-19 vaccinations, and 29.4% (2922/9924) had received the influenza vaccinations in the previous year. Of the women, 22% (992/4517) had received human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccinations. Of the total sample, of the majority believed that they would choose to receive COVID-19 (8614/9924, 86.8%) and influenza (3315/9924, 33.4%), vaccinations this year.

 Table 2.
 Participant information.

Characteristic	Respondents (n=9924). n (%)
Age group (years)	1 m m (· · · · //) - (· · /
18-24	2362 (23.8)
25-34	3963 (39.9)
35-44	2334 (23.5)
45-54	1125 (11.3)
55-59	140 (1.4)
Gender	
Male	5407 (54.5)
Female	4517 (45.5)
Educational level	
High school graduate or below	2335 (23.5)
College or equivalent	6822 (68.7)
Master's diploma or above	767 (7.7)
Health care occupation	
Yes	2917 (29.4)
No	7007 (70.6)
Annual household income (US \$)	
<16,000	4285 (43.2)
16,000-32,000	4259 (42.9)
32,000-80,000	1112 (11.2)
>80,000	268 (2.7)
Main living condition	
Living with others	9145 (92.2)
Alone	779 (7.8)
Self-evaluation of health	
Very bad	359 (3.6)
Bad	242 (2.4)
General	3168 (31.9)
Well	3816 (38.5)
Very well	2339 (23.6)
Chronic diseases	
Yes	1275 (12.8)
No	8649 (87.2)
Influenza vaccination history (last year)	
Yes	2922 (29.4)
No	7002 (70.6)
COVID-19 vaccination history	
Yes	7643 (77.0)
No	2281 (23.0)
HPV ^a vaccination history (n=4517)	
Yes	992 (22.0)
No	3525 (78.0)

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34666

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e34666 | p.166 (page number not for citation purposes) ^aHPV: human papillomavirus.

Measurement Model and Fitting

The 18 items were found to be reliable and valid based on each item's estimated error variance and modification index (Table S1 and Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2). Composite reliability values were greater than 0.6 and average variance extracted values were greater than 0.5, except those for the dimension *behavior* (Table 3).

Table 3. Item reliability.

The square roots of average variance extracted of the dimensions *attitude, subjective norms, intention,* and *perceived behavioral control* exceeded the related correlations (Table 4), indicating discriminant validity in the structures in this study [25]. The overall model achieved a good fit (GFI 0.991; CFI 0.992; adjusted GFI 0.987; RMSEA 0.029); therefore, the measurements and structural model were acceptable.

Dimension	Parameter significance estimation			Factor loading	Squared multi- ple correlation	Composite reli- ability	Average vari- ance extracted	
	Unstandard- ized estimate	SE	t value	P value	Standardized estimate			
Attitude							0.902	0.698
Q1	1.000				0.831	0.691		
Q2	1.020	0.011	96.496	<.001	0.837	0.701		
Q3	0.968	0.010	96.319	<.001	0.836	0.699		
Q4	0.988	0.010	96.319	<.001	0.836	0.699		
Subjective norms							0.759	0.514
Q5	1.000				0.628	0.394		
Q6	1.104	0.022	50.029	<.001	0.750	0.563		
Q7	1.135	0.023	49.800	<.001	0.765	0.585		
Perceived behavioral	l control						0.910	0.671
Q8	1.000				0.814	0.663		
Q9	0.976	0.012	84.038	<.001	0.761	0.579		
Q10	1.008	0.010	99.196	<.001	0.860	0.740		
Q11	1.017	0.011	94.843	<.001	0.832	0.692		
Q12	0.996	0.011	93.580	<.001	0.824	0.679		
Intention							0.863	0.678
Q13	1.000				0.811	0.658		
Q14	1.028	0.012	84.088	<.001	0.837	0.701		
Q15	0.979	0.012	83.315	<.001	0.821	0.674		
Behavior							0.549	0.300
Q16	1.000				0.434	0.188		
Q17	2.062	0.083	24.826	<.001	0.453	0.205		
Q18	3.069	0.156	19.664	<.001	0.712	0.507		



Table 4. Construct validity.

Dimension	Average vari- ance extracted	Dimension, correlation				
		Perceived behavioral control	Behavior	Intention	Subjective norms	Attitude
Perceived behavioral control	0.671	0.819	a	_	_	_
Behavior	0.300	0.618	0.548	_	_	_
Intention	0.678	0.419	0.671	0.823	—	_
Subjective norms	0.514	0.406	0.601	0.683	0.717	_
Attitude	0.698	0.486	0.639	0.587	0.551	0.835

^aRepeated correlation coefficients are omitted. The first occurrence value in each column of dimension is the square root of the average variance extracted for each latent variable.

Hierarchical Moderator Regression Analysis

Annual household income, education, gender, health care occupation, chronic diseases, health self-assessment, and past vaccination behavior affected vaccination behavior (ΔR^2 =0.121, *P*<.001); however, whether participants lived alone or not did not significantly affect vaccination behavior as a control variable (*P*=.08) (Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 2). In block 3, the *attitude* * *perceived behavioral control* and *subjective norms* * *perceived behavioral control* terms significantly changed the model compared with block 2 (ΔR^2 =0.003, *P*<.001).

In block 3, *perceived behavioral control* was positively and significantly correlated with vaccination behavior (β = 0.274, *P*<.001); however, *attitude* * *perceived behavioral control* (β =-0.052, *P*<.001) and *subjective norms* * *perceived behavioral control* (β =-0.028, *P*=.006) had reverse inhibitory effects on

vaccination behavior. This not only indicates that perceived behavioral control moderates the impact of attitude on behavior and that of *subjective norms* on *behavior*, supporting hypotheses 5a and 5b, it also shows that there is a substitution relationship between attitude, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control in their influence on vaccination behavior. Overall, perceived behavioral control weakens the positive effects of attitude and subjective norms on vaccination behavior, and when perceived behavioral control is low, the promotion effects of attitude and subjective norms on behavior are more pronounced, but with increases in perceived behavioral control, the positive effects of attitude and subjective norms on behavior gradually decrease. Specifically, the slope describing effect of attitude on behavior will decrease by 0.050 SD and that of subjective norms on behavior will decrease by 0.021 SD when perceived behavioral control increases by 1 SD (Table 5; Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 2).

 Table 5. Model information in hierarchical moderator regression analysis.

Model	$\triangle R^2$	<i>F</i> value	<i>P</i> value
Block 1	0.121	151.760	<.001
Block 2	0.233	1192.784	<.001
Block 3	0.003	23.348	<.001

Structural Equation Model of Vaccination Behavior

Both *attitude* (direct effect: β =0.493, *P*<.001) and *subjective norms* (direct effect: β =0.244, *P*<.001) showed significant positive associations with *behavior*. Hence, hypotheses 1 and 2 were confirmed. *Intention* also positively and significantly affected vaccination *behavior* (direct effect: β =0.462, *P*<.001); therefore, hypothesis 3 was confirmed. In addition, bootstrapping indicated that *intention* was present as a positive and significant mediator between *attitude* and vaccination

behavior (indirect effect: β =0.159, *P*<.001). Similarly, the mediating effect between *subjective norms* and vaccination *behavior* was positive and significant (indirect effect β =0.258, *P*<.001); therefore, hypotheses 4a and 4b were confirmed (Table 6). Furthermore, the difference between the indirect effect of *attitude* on *behavior* and that of *subjective norms* on *behavior* was statistically significant (difference=-0.091, *P*<.001), which indicated that *subjective norms* had a greater influence on vaccination *behavior* than *attitude*.



Table 6. Direct, indirect, and total effects.

Eff	ects	Unstandardized point estimate	SE	Bootstrapping		Bootstrapping, bias-corrected		P value
				95% CI lower	95% CI upper	95% CI lower	95% CI upper	
Dir	rect							
	AttitudeIntention	0.344	0.021	0.303	0.384	0.303	0.384	<.001
	Subjective normsIntention	0.558	0.025	0.510	0.609	0.510	0.609	<.001
	IntentionBehavior	0.462	0.030	0.404	0.522	0.403	0.521	<.001
	AttitudeBehavior	0.493	0.029	0.437	0.550	0.437	0.551	<.001
	Subjective normsBehavior	0.244	0.032	0.182	0.307	0.182	0.307	<.001
Ind	lirect							
	AttitudeBehavior	0.159	0.014	0.132	0.187	0.132	0.188	<.001
	Subjective normsBehavior	0.258	0.019	0.222	0.298	0.222	0.299	<.001
Tot	al							
	AttitudeBehavior	0.652	0.030	0.594	0.710	0.594	0.710	<.001
	Subjective normsBehavior	0.501	0.030	0.443	0.562	0.443	0.562	<.001

Discussion

Principal Results

Our findings support the hypothesis that intentions mediate vaccination behavior, attitudes, and subjective norms and addresses concern about the mediating process of intention in the theory of planned behavior [31], while also justifying initial theoretical claims that distal attitudes and subjective norms can influence behavior, through proximal intention mediators [32]. In particular, *perceived behavioral control* was found to be a moderator that influences the mediating processes *attitude*—*intention*—*behavior* and *subjective norms*—*intention*—*behavior*.

Comparison With Prior Work

A large meta-analysis [15] of applications of theory of planned behavior showed that subjective norms were weak predictors of intention and behavior. Recent studies [33,34] that have used the theory of planned behavior empirically for health behavior have suggested that subjective norms are not the most critical predictor. In contrast, some argued that subjective norms are strong predictors [35,36]. Our findings are similar to those in [35,36], and the indirect effects in our study further show that subjective norms have greater impacts on behavior than attitudes. This indicates that decisions about health issues are more likely to be influenced by social surroundings. Debate about whether subjective norms have a strong or weak influence on behavior might due to differences in the types of behaviors that have been targeted. In contrast to high-frequency health behaviors, such as exercise, smoking cessation, when making decisions about vaccination, people expect to be counseled by someone close to them (eg, family members and close friends [37]), or someone they trust (eg, a physician [38]). Additionally, socially desirable responses likely contributed to our finding that attitudes have less explanatory power for behavior. Socially desirable responses are defined as the tendency to give a positive self-description, which is relatively common for potentially

RenderX

sensitive problems. Korn [39] suggested that vaccination is a prosocial behavior and demonstrated that it is part of the social contract by showing that there is significant intergroup bias in vaccinated and unvaccinated cohorts. Therefore, it is reasonable that participants glorified attitudes toward the vaccine and responded positively to the investigation, rather than providing their true thoughts.

Our findings also show that high *perceived behavioral control* weakens the effect between attitude, subjective norms, and vaccination behavior, using intention as a mediator. Additionally, perceived behavioral control has an alternative relationship with attitude and subjective norms, when present as a moderator in the model. These findings extend those in existing literature on perceived behavioral control. However, perceived behavioral control was considered to be a positive predictor of intentions in many existing studies [40-42]. Our findings (block 2 in the hierarchical regression analysis) also confirm this view. It is important to consider that if a given behavior is seen as positive and implementable, people tend to engage in that behavior. However, the gap between intentions and behavior exists precisely because intention is not sufficient to ensure that a person converts ideas into actual behavior, due to the limitations of actual capabilities. Thus, we find that the mechanisms by which perceived behavioral control affect intention and behavior are different. In other words, the influence of perceived behavioral control on intention is as positive as attitude and subjective norms. However, when using perceived behavioral control to predict behavior, it should be thought of as actual behavior control [23]. Therefore, it is more appropriate to use *perceived behavioral control* as a moderating variable to influence the mediating effect of intention on behavior.

Practical Applications

The moderated mediation model provides evidence for the practical application of theory of planned behavior in vaccination behavior. Future interventions for people who are

unwilling to be vaccinated or subjectively postpone vaccination should not only focus on changing their negative attitudes toward the vaccine but should also pay attention to the ideas of their families and close friends about vaccination and intervention. This will facilitate positive intentions to get vaccinated. In a study [43] that explored factory workers' vaccination behavior using the theory of planned behavior, it was also shown that a positive attitude and the support of health care workers, relatives, and friends can contribute to individuals getting vaccinated, and in another study [44], it was found that trusted individuals had a unique influence on young women in encouraging them to get their HPV vaccination. In addition, health authorities may need to take measures such as communicating risk or giving rewards for vaccinations to improve influenza and HPV vaccine uptake.

Limitations

This study was conducted in the form of a web-based survey; thus, convenience sampling might have caused selection bias. Additionally, we used a cross-sectional survey; thus, information on respondents' vaccine-related behavior at the time of the survey was used in behavior dimension. For this reason, the values of composite reliability and average variance extracted for the *behavior* dimension were below the ideal value. However, the overall model fit was ideal, with GFI, adjusted GFI, and CFI >0.9 and RMSEA <0.06.

Data from 1 month after the survey showed that the actual COVID-19 vaccination rate (having completed at least one shot), in China was 74% [45], approximating the self-reported behavioral data in this study (8614/9924, 86.8%). Although the

self-reported data of this study are credible, cautious interpretation of the sample's representativeness of vaccination behavior is needed.

The behavior dimension was measured with 3 items-self-reported COVID-19 vaccination behavior and influenza vaccination behavior, as well as overall vaccine hesitancy. This is because according to the schedule of immunization in China [46], there are 5 main vaccines for adults 18 to 59 years of age-COVID-19, influenza, HPV, hepatitis B, and rabies. Yearly influenza and the recent COVID-19 vaccine were the used to examine vaccination behavior because the administration of the other 3 types are limited—hepatitis B vaccinations are valid for a long period, rabies vaccinations are for emergency use after possible exposure, and HPV vaccinations are mainly target the female population in China.

Conclusions

Our findings showed that subjective norms have a stronger influence than attitudes on this particular vaccination practice. Moreover, perceived behavioral control not only is a positive facilitator of intention but also has an alternative relationship with attitudes and subjective norms. As a moderator, perceived behavioral control conversely weakens the positive effects of attitudes and subjective norms on vaccination behaviors. When perceived behavioral control is low, the positive influence of attitudes and subjective norms are evident. However, when perceived behavioral control is high, the positive effects of attitudes and subjective norms gradually decrease. In particular, as a moderator, perceived behavioral control has more predictive power for vaccination behavior.

Acknowledgments

HJ, LY, and SZ designed the study. QW, LY, GY, and TC conducted the literature review and designed the questionnaire. GY, LJ, SZ, and NS assisted with the web-based investigation. LY, QW, and SX analyzed the data. HJ, QW, GY, and LZ interpreted the results. All authors critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. This work was supported by the Wuxi City Technology Development Fund (grant N20191007); the Postgraduate Research and Practice Innovation Program of Jiangsu Province (grant KYCX21_0160); and the Public Health Research Center of Jiangnan University (grant JUPH201845). The funders and sponsors did not participate in the work.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Questionnaire. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 759 KB - publichealth_v8i6e34666_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Supplementary material. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 578 KB - publichealth_v8i6e34666_app2.pdf]

References

 WHO Collaborating Centre for Infectious Disease Modelling, MRC Centre for Global Infectious Disease Analysis, Jameel Institute, Imperial College London. Report 43 - quantifying the impact of vaccine hesitancy in prolonging the need for non-pharmaceutical interventions to control the COVID-19 pandemic. Imperial College London. URL: <u>https://www. imperial.ac.uk/mrc-global-infectious-disease-analysis/covid-19/report-43-vaccine-hesitancy/</u> [accessed 2021-09-19]

- WHO Collaborating Centre for Infectious Disease Modelling, MRC Centre for Global Infectious Disease Analysis, Abdul Latif Jameel Institute for Disease and Emergency Analytics, Business School, Imperial College London, PATH. Report 33 - modelling the allocation and impact of a COVID-19 vaccine. Imperial College London. URL: <u>https://www.imperial.ac.uk/</u> <u>mrc-global-infectious-disease-analysis/covid-19/report-33-vaccine/</u> [accessed 2021-09-19]
- Loomba S, de Figueiredo A, Piatek SJ, de Graaf K, Larson HJ. Measuring the impact of COVID-19 vaccine misinformation on vaccination intent in the UK and USA. Nat Hum Behav 2021 Mar 05;5(3):337-348. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41562-021-01056-1</u>] [Medline: <u>33547453</u>]
- 4. Glanz K, Bishop DB. The role of behavioral science theory in development and implementation of public health interventions. Annu Rev Public Health 2010;31:399-418. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.012809.103604] [Medline: 20070207]
- 5. Mbous YP, Patel J, Kelly KM. A systematic review and meta-analysis of physical activity interventions among colorectal cancer survivors. Transl Behav Med 2020 Oct 12;10(5):1134-1143. [doi: <u>10.1093/tbm/ibz176</u>] [Medline: <u>33044539</u>]
- 6. Taylor N, Conner M, Lawton R. The impact of theory on the effectiveness of worksite physical activity interventions: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. Health Psychol Rev 2012 Mar;6(1):33-73. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2010.533441]
- Noar SM, Benac CN, Harris MS. Does tailoring matter? meta-analytic review of tailored print health behavior change interventions. Psychol Bull 2007 Jul;133(4):673-693. [doi: <u>10.1037/0033-2909.133.4.673</u>] [Medline: <u>17592961</u>]
- Noar SM, Black HG, Pierce LB. Efficacy of computer technology-based HIV prevention interventions: a meta-analysis. AIDS 2009 Jan 02;23(1):107-115. [doi: <u>10.1097/QAD.0b013e32831c5500</u>] [Medline: <u>19050392</u>]
- 9. Michie S, Carey RN, Johnston M, Rothman AJ, de Bruin M, Kelly MP, et al. From theory-inspired to theory-based interventions: a protocol for developing and testing a methodology for linking behaviour change techniques to theoretical mechanisms of action. Ann Behav Med 2018 May 18;52(6):501-512 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9816-6] [Medline: 27401001]
- Aimagambetova G, Babi A, Issa T, Issanov A. What factors are associated with attitudes towards HPV vaccination among Kazakhstani women? exploratory analysis of cross-sectional survey data. Vaccines (Basel) 2022 May 23;10(5):824 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines10050824] [Medline: 35632580]
- 11. Al-Qerem W, Jarab A, Hammad A, Alasmari F, Ling J, Alsajri AH, et al. Iraqi parents' knowledge, attitudes, and practices towards vaccinating their children: a cross-sectional study. Vaccines (Basel) 2022 May 22;10(5):820 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines10050820] [Medline: 35632576]
- Aljamaan F, Alhaboob A, Saddik B, Bassrawi R, Assiri R, Saeed E, et al. In-person schooling amidst children's COVID-19 vaccination: exploring parental perceptions just after omicron variant announcement. Vaccines (Basel) 2022 May 12;10(5):768 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines10050768] [Medline: 35632524]
- Corace KM, Srigley JA, Hargadon DP, Yu D, MacDonald TK, Fabrigar LR, et al. Using behavior change frameworks to improve healthcare worker influenza vaccination rates: a systematic review. Vaccine 2016 Jun 14;34(28):3235-3242 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.04.071] [Medline: 27155491]
- 14. Painter JE, Borba CPC, Hynes M, Mays D, Glanz K. The use of theory in health behavior research from 2000 to 2005: a systematic review. Ann Behav Med 2008 Jun;35(3):358-362. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-008-9042-y] [Medline: 18633685]
- 15. Armitage CJ, Conner M. Efficacy of the theory of planned behaviour: a meta-analytic review. Br J Soc Psychol 2001 Dec;40(Pt 4):471-499. [doi: 10.1348/014466601164939] [Medline: 11795063]
- Tyson M, Covey J, Rosenthal HES. Theory of planned behavior interventions for reducing heterosexual risk behaviors: a meta-analysis. Health Psychol 2014 Dec;33(12):1454-1467. [doi: <u>10.1037/hea0000047</u>] [Medline: <u>24707843</u>]
- Gourlan M, Bernard P, Bortolon C, Romain AJ, Lareyre O, Carayol M, et al. Efficacy of theory-based interventions to promote physical activity. a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Health Psychol Rev 2016;10(1):50-66. [doi: <u>10.1080/17437199.2014.981777</u>] [Medline: <u>25402606</u>]
- 18. Abraham C, Sheeran P. The Health Belief Model. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2007:97-102.
- Carpenter LR, Green AL, Norton DM, Frick R, Tobin-D'Angelo M, Reimann DW, et al. Food worker experiences with and beliefs about working while ill. J Food Prot 2013 Dec;76(12):2146-2154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4315/0362-028X.JFP-13-128] [Medline: 24290694]
- 20. Carpenter CJ. A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of health belief model variables in predicting behavior. Health Commun 2010 Dec;25(8):661-669. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2010.521906] [Medline: 21153982]
- Webb TL, Joseph J, Yardley L, Michie S. Using the internet to promote health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. J Med Internet Res 2010 Mar 17;12(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1376] [Medline: 20164043]
- 22. Lareyre O, Gourlan M, Stoebner-Delbarre A, Cousson-Gélie F. Characteristics and impact of theory of planned behavior interventions on smoking behavior: a systematic review of the literature. Prev Med 2021 Feb;143:106327. [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106327] [Medline: 33227344]
- 23. Ajzen I. The theory of planned behaviour: reactions and reflections. Psychol Health 2011 Sep;26(9):1113-1127. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2011.613995] [Medline: 21929476]
- 24. Hair J, Black W, Babin B. Multivariate Data Analysis 6th edition. Upper Saddle River: Pearson Prentice Hall; 2006.
- 25. Fornell C, Larcker DF. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J Mark Res 1981 Feb;18(1):39. [doi: 10.2307/3151312]

- 26. Anderson JC, Gerbing DW. Structural equation modeling in practice: a review and recommended two-step approach. Psychol Bull 1988 May;103(3):411-423. [doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411]
- Gerbing DW, Anderson JC. Monte Carlo evaluations of goodness of fit indices for structural equation models. Sociol Methods Res 2016 Jun 29;21(2):132-160. [doi: 10.1177/0049124192021002002]
- 28. Hu L, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. Struct Equ Modeling 1999 Jan;6(1):1-55. [doi: <u>10.1080/10705519909540118</u>]
- 29. Preacher KJ, Rucker DD, Hayes AF. Addressing moderated mediation hypotheses: theory, methods, and prescriptions. Multivariate Behav Res 2007;42(1):185-227. [doi: 10.1080/00273170701341316] [Medline: 26821081]
- 30. Cohen J, Cohen P, West SG, Aiken LS. Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. Erlbaum: Mahwah; 2003.
- 31. Wolff K. COVID-19 vaccination intentions: the theory of planned behavior, optimistic bias, and anticipated regret. Front Psychol 2021;12:648289 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.648289] [Medline: 34220620]
- 32. La Barbera F, Ajzen I. Control interactions in the theory of planned behavior: rethinking the role of subjective norm. Eur J Psychol 2020 Aug;16(3):401-417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5964/ejop.v16i3.2056] [Medline: <u>33680190</u>]
- Liu Y, Yen L, Liaw F, Lin M, Chiang S, Lin F, et al. Gender differences in the extended theory of planned behaviour on smoking cessation intention in young soldiers. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Jul 23;18(15):471-499 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18157834] [Medline: 34360123]
- Adams C, Gringart E, Strobel N, Masterman P. Help-seeking for mental health problems among older adults with chronic disease: an application of the theory of planned behaviour. Aust J Psychol 2021 Jul 19;73(4):426-437. [doi: 10.1080/00049530.2021.1952850]
- Allen JD, Mohllajee AP, Shelton RC, Othus MKD, Fontenot HB, Hanna R. Stage of adoption of the human papillomavirus vaccine among college women. Prev Med 2009 May;48(5):420-425. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.12.005</u>] [Medline: <u>19133288</u>]
- Gerend MA, Shepherd JE. Predicting human papillomavirus vaccine uptake in young adult women: comparing the health belief model and theory of planned behavior. Ann Behav Med 2012 Oct;44(2):171-180 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9366-5] [Medline: 22547155]
- Karafillakis E, Paterson P, Larson HJ. 'My primary purpose is to protect the unborn child': understanding pregnant women's perceptions of maternal vaccination and vaccine trials in Europe. Vaccine 2021 Sep 15;39(39):5673-5679 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.07.099] [Medline: 34419304]
- Qiu X, Bailey H, Thorne C. Barriers and facilitators associated with vaccine acceptance and uptake among pregnant women in high income countries: a mini-review. Front Immunol 2021;12:626717 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.626717] [Medline: <u>33981298</u>]
- Korn L, Böhm R, Meier NW, Betsch C. Vaccination as a social contract. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2020 Jun 30;117(26):14890-14899 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1919666117] [Medline: 32541033]
- 40. Xu X, Wang S, Yu Y. Consumer's intention to purchase green furniture: do health consciousness and environmental awareness matter? Sci Total Environ 2020 Mar 20;704:135275. [doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135275] [Medline: 31796272]
- 41. Buckley L, Kaye S, Pradhan AK. Psychosocial factors associated with intended use of automated vehicles: a simulated driving study. Accid Anal Prev 2018 Jun;115:202-208. [doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2018.03.021] [Medline: 29631216]
- 42. Lee M, You M. Psychological and behavioral responses in South Korea during the early stages of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Apr 25;17(9):2977 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17092977] [Medline: 32344809]
- Zhang KC, Fang Y, Cao H, Chen H, Hu T, Chen Y, et al. Behavioral intention to receive a COVID-19 vaccination among Chinese factory workers: cross-sectional online survey. J Med Internet Res 2021 Mar 09;23(3):e24673 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/24673</u>] [Medline: <u>33646966</u>]
- 44. Krawczyk AL, Perez S, Lau E, Holcroft CA, Amsel R, Knäuper B, et al. Human papillomavirus vaccination intentions and uptake in college women. Health Psychol 2012 Sep;31(5):685-693. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0027012</u>] [Medline: <u>22268713</u>]
- 45. Coronavirus (COVID-19) vaccinations. Our World in Data. URL: <u>https://ourworldindata.org/</u> <u>covid-vaccinations#how-many-covid-19-vaccination-doses-have-been-administered</u> [accessed 2022-02-28]
- 46. Non-immunization planning vaccination program in Guangdong Province (2021 version). Guangdong Provincial Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>http://cdcp.gd.gov.cn/zwgk/jsbzywj/content/post_3437520.html</u> [accessed 2022-05-30]

Abbreviations

RenderX

CFI: comparative fit index GFI: goodness-of-fit index HPV: human papillomavirus RMSEA: root mean square error of approximation

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34666

Edited by T Sanchez, A Mavragani; submitted 03.11.21; peer-reviewed by B Fordham, YL Chiu; comments to author 02.02.22; revised version received 03.03.22; accepted 26.04.22; published 20.06.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Yang L, Ji L, Wang Q, Xu Y, Yang G, Cui T, Shi N, Zhu L, Xiu S, Jin H, Zhen S Vaccination Intention and Behavior of the General Public in China: Cross-sectional Survey and Moderated Mediation Model Analysis JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e34666 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34666 doi:10.2196/34666 PMID:35723904

©Liuqing Yang, Lili Ji, Qiang Wang, Yan Xu, Guoping Yang, Tingting Cui, Naiyang Shi, Lin Zhu, Shixin Xiu, Hui Jin, Shiqi Zhen. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 20.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Overlapping Delta and Omicron Outbreaks During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Dynamic Panel Data Estimates

Alexander L Lundberg^{1,2}, PhD; Ramon Lorenzo-Redondo^{3,4}, PhD; Judd F Hultquist^{3,4}, PhD; Claudia A Hawkins^{3,5}, MD; Egon A Ozer^{3,4}, MD, PhD; Sarah B Welch^{1,2}, MPH; P V Vara Prasad⁶, PhD; Chad J Achenbach^{3,7}, MD, PhD; Janine I White¹, MSc; James F Oehmke¹, PhD; Robert L Murphy^{3,7}, MD; Robert J Havey^{7,8}, MD; Lori A Post^{1,2}, PhD

¹Buehler Center for Health Policy and Economics, Robert J Havey, MD Institute for Global Health, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

⁶Sustainable Intensification Innovation Lab, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS, United States

⁷Robert J Havey, MD Institute for Global Health, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

⁸Department of Medicine, General Internal Medicine and Geriatrics, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

Corresponding Author:

Lori A Post, PhD Buehler Center for Health Policy and Economics Robert J Havey, MD Institute for Global Health Northwestern University 750 N. Lake Shore Drive Chicago, IL, 60611 United States Phone: 1 3125031706 Email: lori.post@northwestern.edu

Abstract

Background: The Omicron variant of SARS-CoV-2 is more transmissible than prior variants of concern (VOCs). It has caused the largest outbreaks in the pandemic, with increases in mortality and hospitalizations. Early data on the spread of Omicron were captured in countries with relatively low case counts, so it was unclear how the arrival of Omicron would impact the trajectory of the pandemic in countries already experiencing high levels of community transmission of Delta.

Objective: The objective of this study is to quantify and explain the impact of Omicron on pandemic trajectories and how they differ between countries that were or were not in a Delta outbreak at the time Omicron occurred.

Methods: We used SARS-CoV-2 surveillance and genetic sequence data to classify countries into 2 groups: those that were in a Delta outbreak (defined by at least 10 novel daily transmissions per 100,000 population) when Omicron was first sequenced in the country and those that were not. We used trend analysis, survival curves, and dynamic panel regression models to compare outbreaks in the 2 groups over the period from November 1, 2021, to February 11, 2022. We summarized the outbreaks in terms of their peak rate of SARS-CoV-2 infections and the duration of time the outbreaks took to reach the peak rate.

Results: Countries that were already in an outbreak with predominantly Delta lineages when Omicron arrived took longer to reach their peak rate and saw greater than a twofold increase (2.04) in the average apex of the Omicron outbreak compared to countries that were not yet in an outbreak.

Conclusions: These results suggest that high community transmission of Delta at the time of the first detection of Omicron was not protective, but rather preluded larger outbreaks in those countries. Outbreak status may reflect a generally susceptible population, due to overlapping factors, including climate, policy, and individual behavior. In the absence of strong mitigation measures, arrival of a new, more transmissible variant in these countries is therefore more likely to lead to larger outbreaks. Alternately, countries with enhanced surveillance programs and incentives may be more likely to both exist in an outbreak status

²Department of Emergency Medicine, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

³Department of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, Feinberg School of Medicine, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

⁴Center for Pathogen Genomics and Microbial Evolution, Robert J Havey, MD Institute for Global Health, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

⁵Center for Global Communicable and Emerging Infectious Diseases, Robert J Havey, MD Institute for Global Health, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States

and detect more cases during an outbreak, resulting in a spurious relationship. Either way, these data argue against herd immunity mitigating future outbreaks with variants that have undergone significant antigenic shifts.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e37377) doi:10.2196/37377

KEYWORDS

Omicron variant of concern; Delta; COVID-19; SARS-CoV-2; B.1.1.529; outbreak; Arellano-Bond estimator; dynamic panel data; stringency index; surveillance; disease transmission metrics

Introduction

Background

Omicron, or B.1.1.529, the latest SARS-CoV-2 variant of concern (VOC), was first sequenced in Botswana in early November 2021 [1]. South Africa reported Omicron to the World Health Organization (WHO) on November 24, 2021, and the WHO designated it as a VOC on November 26, 2021 [2,3]. Early reports of Omicron from South Africa alarmed infectious disease scientists due to both its rapid spread in the population and the high degree of molecular divergence in the spike protein [4,5]. Omicron spread quickly through South Africa's population despite serological evidence of prior SARS-CoV-2 infections or vaccinations in 60%-80% of its population [6]. Omicron was better able to evade natural and vaccine-induced immunity compared to previous variants [7,8]. Ultimately, it was found to be less severe in terms of infection and symptoms than other VOCs [9], especially for those persons who received 2 messenger RNA (mRNA) vaccines and a booster [10]. However, estimated vaccine effectiveness in terms of transmissions was still lower against Omicron compared to Delta [11]. Full mRNA vaccinations plus booster caused a 70% reduction in deaths and hospitalizations compared to no vaccine [12-14]. With higher transmissibility, case counts began setting daily records [15] and health systems were overwhelmed as the Omicron VOC spread SARS-CoV-2 [2,16].

Omicron shifted the course of the pandemic because of its increased transmissibility and its relatively enhanced ability to evade immunity from vaccination or prior infection [17,18]. Early research demonstrated that the Omicron VOC gave fewer days of warning leading up to an outbreak compared to Delta, Alpha, Beta, and the original reference strain (D614) [19]. By early 2022, it was evident that Omicron was setting 2-year record highs in the number of daily new transmissions, displacing Delta as the most transmissible VOC [19]. Moreover, Omicron infections had a significant growth advantage over Delta, with a doubling period of new cases of 1.5-3 days [20,21]. The magnitude of the outbreak, as measured by its apex, was 1.5 to 2-fold higher than prior outbreaks [19].

Early observations in sub-Saharan Africa showed a consistent trend where Omicron cases quickly accelerated, and then quickly decelerated after peaking with only a slight tail [19]. However, these countries had relatively low cases counts prior to the arrival of Omicron. As Omicron spread to countries already experiencing high community transmission of Delta, it was unclear whether the trajectory of the outbreak would be altered. On the one hand, policy mitigation efforts put in place to combat ongoing outbreaks, combined with a higher frequency of natural immunity in the population, could reduce the magnitude of a

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37377
```

XSL•FO

subsequent outbreak [22]. On the other hand, a preexisting outbreak may signal underlying factors (stringency of mitigation measures, weather, etc) that are favorable to larger outbreaks with more transmissible variants [23-25]. In this study, we compared the trajectories/trends in the Omicron outbreak between countries that had low levels of community transmission of Delta and those that were already in a Delta-driven outbreak [19].

Objective

The objective of this study is to quantify and explain the impact of Omicron on pandemic trajectories and how they differ between countries that were or were not in a SARS-CoV-2 outbreak with Delta at the time Omicron arrived.

Methods

Data Collection

We used SARS-CoV-2 surveillance data to identify the duration and apex of outbreaks [26] and GISAID (Global Initiative on Sharing Avian Influenza Data) to identify VOCs [27]. We modeled the data using trend analysis [28-37], survival curves [38,39], and dynamic panel regression [40,41]. We conducted the analysis in R version 4.1.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing) with the *plm* (version 2.4-1), *survival* (version 3.2-13), and *survminer* (version 0.4.9) packages [42-45]. The sample period covered November 1, 2021, to February 11, 2022.

To estimate the date Omicron first appeared in a country, we used publicly available data on sequenced SARS-CoV-2 variants from GISAID [27]. We used Nextclade nomenclature [46] to collect clade designations from sequences and Pangolin nomenclature for lineage designations of SARS-CoV-2 [47,48]. We also contrasted prevalence data with data compiled from outbreak.info [49]. We classified countries into 2 groups: (1) outbreak countries that exceeded a threshold of 10 novel daily SARS-CoV-2 transmissions per 100,000 population at the onset date of Omicron, defined by the first instance of an Omicron clade in GISAID, and (2) nonoutbreak countries below this transmission threshold at the first instance of an Omicron clade. The outbreak threshold follows the convention adopted by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).

To maximize comparability across outbreaks, we restricted the sample to dates between November 1, 2021, and February 11, 2022. Within this period, surveillance sequencing in all countries consisted predominantly of Delta and Omicron variants, with all other variants comprising less than 0.03% of total sequences.

We excluded island countries with populations below a half million people because their outbreaks follow distinct trajectories [40]. Sequencing data are not available for every

country [27], so our sample was restricted to 80 countries. Of them, 42 (52.5%) were already in an outbreak at the onset of Omicron, and 38 (47.5%) were not.

Statistical Analysis

We estimated Kaplan-Meier survival curves for the outbreak and nonoutbreak groups to compare the length of time a country takes to reach its apex speed after the onset of Omicron [39]. We consider any country whose apex speed occurred on the final date of the sample to be censored. We also provided a trend comparison for several neighbor countries, at least 1 of whom was in the outbreak group and 1 of whom was not.

We used linear trend analysis to compare apex speed across the outbreak and nonoutbreak groups. To control for differences in population vaccination rates, prior infection rates, time since the onset of Omicron, and any time-invariant, country-specific heterogeneity, we estimated a dynamic panel regression model with the Arellano-Bond method [40,41]. We modeled the daily rate of novel transmissions as a function of 1-day and 1-week lagged transmissions, cumulative infection and vaccination rates, a binary weekend indicator, the number of days since the onset of Omicron, the number of days since a Delta outbreak began, a binary indicator for whether the date is after the earliest sequenced Omicron variant isolated in the country, and an interaction between the latter and an indicator for whether the country was in the outbreak group. The interaction term provides a test for whether Omicron generated larger increases in speed for the outbreak countries versus the nonoutbreak countries.

We tested the possibility of a weather-driven spurious effect that resulted in different outbreak trajectories with an extension of the survival analysis. We compared Kaplan-Meier survival curves for outbreaks in countries in the Northern and Southern Hemispheres. To address the possibility of SARS-CoV-2 policy response as a confounder, we calculated the average stringency index for each country over the sample period [50]. We conducted a Welch t test to compare the average index score in countries in the outbreak versus nonoutbreak groups.

Results

Omicron and Outbreak Trajectory

Figure 1 is a map of SARS-CoV-2 outbreaks on December 15, 2022. At this point in time, we can see countries already in a Delta outbreak, countries in an Omicron outbreak in the South of sub-Saharan Africa, and countries with exponential growth due to the introduction of Omicron to the genetic pool. Countries in blue are not in an outbreak. Countries in orange are not in an outbreak but are experiencing alarming growth across 7 consecutive days that will likely go into an outbreak if left unabated. Countries in red in North America, Europe, Central Asia, and some of East Asia and the Pacific are already in an outbreak, primarily driven by Delta.

Table 1 presents both speed (or the number of daily new SARS-CoV-2 transmissions per 100,000 population) at the onset of Omicron and peak speed for all countries in the sample. The countries experiencing high levels of community transmission of Delta at the time of Omicron's arrival ("already in outbreak") averaged a speed of 52.6 at the onset of Omicron, while the countries experiencing low levels of transmission at the onset of Omicron ("not in outbreak") averaged a speed of 3.2. The respective average peak speeds were 308.7 and 128.6. Thus, even after controlling for the initial differences in speed, the countries already in an outbreak saw greater than a twofold increase (2.04=[308.7-52.6]/[128.6-3.2]) in the average apex of an outbreak.

Figure 1. Map of Delta and Omicron outbreaks. Note that countries in red were in an outbreak on December 15, 2022, as defined by a daily rate of at least 10 novel SARS-CoV-2 transmissions per 100,000 population. Countries in orange were not in an outbreak but displayed 7 consecutive days of an increase in the rate of novel SARS-CoV-2 transmissions per 100,000 population.



Table 1.	Outbreak	status whe	n index	Omicron	case seq	uenced.
----------	----------	------------	---------	---------	----------	---------

Lundberg et al

Country	Speed at Omicron	Peak speed	Average speed	Average peak speed
Already in outbreak			52.6	308.7
Austria	154.5	374.8	N/A ^a	N/A
Belgium	119.3	449.9	N/A	N/A
Bosnia and Herzegovina	13.1	73.9	N/A	N/A
Botswana	39	63.9	N/A	N/A
Bulgaria	18.7	128.7	N/A	N/A
Chile	12.4	186.2	N/A	N/A
Croatia	108.4	217	N/A	N/A
Czech Republic	85.2	355.5	N/A	N/A
Denmark	67.1	807.5	N/A	N/A
Estonia	38.4	520.9	N/A	N/A
Finland	19.8	152.3	N/A	N/A
France	13.5	562.3	N/A	N/A
Georgia	83.2	543.7	N/A	N/A
Germany	58.7	231.4	N/A	N/A
Greece	61.6	347.6	N/A	N/A
Ireland	90.3	481	N/A	N/A
Italy	15.8	300.7	N/A	N/A
Jordan	47.9	192.9	N/A	N/A
Lebanon	22	121	N/A	N/A
Liechtenstein	141.3	380.7	N/A	N/A
Lithuania	64.5	402.5	N/A	N/A
Luxembourg	61.6	369.9	N/A	N/A
Malaysia	17.9	44.7	N/A	N/A
Malta	19.7	258.8	N/A	N/A
Montenegro	38.1	393.6	N/A	N/A
Netherlands	78.1	707.1	N/A	N/A
North Macedonia	12.8	84.6	N/A	N/A
Norway	45.3	376.5	N/A	N/A
Poland	61.7	129.7	N/A	N/A
Portugal	18.6	546.8	N/A	N/A
Russia	22.4	124.2	N/A	N/A
Serbia	17	220.8	N/A	N/A
Singapore	20.4	178.7	N/A	N/A
Slovakia	200.4	413.9	N/A	N/A
Slovenia	106	730.3	N/A	N/A
Spain	14.4	308	N/A	N/A
Switzerland	53.1	419.1	N/A	N/A
Turkey	27.7	122.6	N/A	N/A
Ukraine	16.8	85.5	N/A	N/A
United Kingdom	60.1	291.7	N/A	N/A
United States	22.8	245.4	N/A	N/A

 $\label{eq:linear} https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37377\\ XSL \bullet FO$

RenderX

JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e37377 | p.177 (page number not for citation purposes)

Country	Speed at Omicron	Peak speed	Average speed	Average peak speed
Vietnam	18.8	20.8	N/A	N/A
Not in outbreak			3.2	128.6
Argentina	4.2	252.3	N/A	N/A
Armenia	2.5	114.7	N/A	N/A
Australia	5.5	428.3	N/A	N/A
Azerbaijan	5.1	69.5	N/A	N/A
Brazil	4.9	89	N/A	N/A
Brunei	2.5	116.4	N/A	N/A
Canada	6.4	126	N/A	N/A
Colombia	4.2	60.1	N/A	N/A
Costa Rica	1.7	144.1	N/A	N/A
Ecuador	3.3	52.1	N/A	N/A
Guatemala	1.2	19.4	N/A	N/A
India	0.8	22.6	N/A	N/A
Indonesia	0.1	13.7	N/A	N/A
Iran	2.8	42	N/A	N/A
Iraq	0.8	18.1	N/A	N/A
Israel	5.3	1177.3	N/A	N/A
Japan	0.1	74.2	N/A	N/A
Kazakhstan	2.6	74	N/A	N/A
Kuwait	0.6	147	N/A	N/A
Mexico	1.7	38.3	N/A	N/A
Moldova	7.4	110.7	N/A	N/A
Morocco	0.4	20.2	N/A	N/A
Nepal	1	29.3	N/A	N/A
Oman	0.2	44	N/A	N/A
Panama	5.7	247.9	N/A	N/A
Peru	4.2	152.7	N/A	N/A
Philippines	0.5	31.9	N/A	N/A
Qatar	4.9	142.4	N/A	N/A
Romania	8.2	156.1	N/A	N/A
Saudi Arabia	0.1	16.1	N/A	N/A
South Africa	0.6	39.5	N/A	N/A
South Korea	6.4	90.1	N/A	N/A
Suriname	4.9	169.1	N/A	N/A
Sweden	8.9	405.2	N/A	N/A
Thailand	9.2	18.7	N/A	N/A
Tunisia	1.3	79.8	N/A	N/A
Zambia	0.06	21.1	N/A	N/A
Zimbabwe	0.2	32.4	N/A	N/A

^aN/A: not applicable.

Figure 2 plots Kaplan-Meier survival curves for the 2 groups of countries [39]. An "event" was defined as the peak speed of

the outbreak. We chose peak speed over the end of an outbreak because a substantial majority of sample countries remained in



outbreak at the time of this writing. The survival curves present the probability a country will have reached its peak (y axis) for any given number of days since the onset of Omicron (x axis).

A key advantage of the Kaplan-Meier survival curve is its accommodation of countries that may not have hit their peak speed yet [38]. We considered any country whose peak speed occurs on the most recent day of available data "censored," which means we only know it took at least as long as the observation period for the country to reach its peak. The Kaplan-Meier method includes these countries in its survival curve estimates until they are censored, at which point they exit the sample. The vertical hash marks in Figure 2 denote these exit points.

From Figure 2, countries already in an outbreak clearly take longer to reach their eventual peak than countries not initially in an outbreak. A log-rank test rejects the null hypothesis of equality between the 2 survival curves at the .10 significance level but not at the .05 level (P=.09) [51].

The survival analysis answers the question of how long the Omicron outbreak takes to peak in countries that were or were not in an outbreak at the time of Omicron's arrival. However, the survival curves provide no information on the relative magnitudes of the peaks. To that end, Figure 3 presents a scatter plot of the difference between the eventual peak speed and the Omicron onset speed (y axis) as a function of the onset speed (x axis). The linear best fit line, in dashed gray, shows a positive association between the onset speed and the additional speed accrued after the onset of Omicron. The estimated slope coefficient is 1.62, which is statistically significant at the .01 level with a P value of .002.

Figure 3 plots the difference between onset and peak speed on the y axis because peak speed alone is mechanically a function of onset speed. The onset speed cannot exceed peak speed. If an outbreak immediately contracted upon the arrival of Omicron, then peak speed is simply equal to onset speed. Figure 3 therefore shows that countries that had high onset speeds at first isolation of Omicron tended to have higher peak speeds after the onset of Omicron. Higher initial speeds are correlated with higher growth after Omicron.

Figures 2 and 3 show that the Omicron-driven outbreaks took longer to build to relatively higher peak speeds in countries already experiencing outbreaks of Delta. Neither figure controls for potentially important confounders, such as population size and vaccination rates. Furthermore, neither figure controls for the length of time since the onset of Omicron. Some outbreaks may have yet to reach their apex.

To control for these confounders, Table 2 presents the results of a dynamic panel regression [41]. The model was adapted from an empirically validated system to provide novel SARS-CoV-2 surveillance metrics [35,52,53]. The dependent variable is the rate of novel SARS-CoV-2 transmissions, which is a function of transmissions on the previous day and in the past week. Unsurprisingly, these *1-day_lag* and *7-day_lag* variables are positive and statistically significant predictors of current transmissions. The coefficient estimate for *1-day_lag* is 0.1, which means, after controlling for the other covariates, every 10 SARS-CoV-2 transmissions today predict 1 transmission tomorrow. The coefficient estimate for *7-day_lag* is 0.7, which means every 1 transmission this week predicts just under 1 transmission next week.

Figure 2. Time from arrival of Omicron until peak of outbreak. Note: Countries are considered censored if their peak speed occurred on the final day of the sample period. The cross hashes in the figure denote these censor points.



Group 🛨 Not in Outbreak 🛨 In Outbreak

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37377

RenderX

JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e37377 | p.179 (page number not for citation purposes)

Figure 3. Peak of outbreak as a function of speed at Omicron arrival. Note: Not depicted, but included in the trend line calculation, is the outlier country of Israel, which reached a peak speed of 1177.3 daily novel transmissions per 100,000 population, up from a speed of 5.3 when Omicron was first sequenced in the country. The peak speed in Israel was approximately 4.5 SDs above the mean for all countries.



Daily Speed at Omicron Onset

Table 2. Arellano-Bond dynamic panel data estimatesa.

Variable	Coefficient (SE)	<i>P</i> value
1-day_lag	0.1 (0.03)	<.001
7-day_lag	0.7 (0.15)	<.001
after_omi	-62.9 (35.1)	.07
aft_omi`in_brk	84.1 (40.2)	.04
days_since_omi	0.8 (0.4)	.05
days_since_del_outbrk	0.4 (0.2)	.06
weekend	-13.5 (4.7)	.004
total_cases_rate	-1.1e-03 (2.2e-03)	.61
total_vacc_rate	1.3e-04 (9.4e-05)	.17

^aBalanced panel: n=80, t=98 – 99, N=7868; Sargan test: $\chi^2_{(842)}$ =80 (P>.99); autocorrelation test 1: normal=-1.94 (P=.05); autocorrelation test 2: normal=-3.20 (P=.01).

The *after_omi* and *aft_omi in_brk* variables provide a test for whether daily speeds during the Omicron outbreak were higher in those countries already experiencing a Delta outbreak. The former variable is an indicator set to 1 for any date after the onset of Omicron, and the latter is an interaction between *after_omi* and *in_brk*, an indicator set to 1 if a country was in a Delta outbreak at the onset of Omicron. The coefficient estimate for *aft_omi in_brk* is 84.1 and significant at the .05 level. For the interpretation, those countries that were in a Delta outbreak saw daily speeds increase by an average of 21.2 (=84.1 – 62.9) novel transmissions per 100,000 population after the onset of Omicron.

The negative coefficient of -62.9 on the *after_omi* predictor might seem counterintuitive, but 2 factors explain the sign. First, the model controls for *days_since_omi*, which is the number of

RenderX

days since the onset of Omicron and the end of the sample period. The expected daily speed rises by 0.8 novel transmissions per 100,000 population for each day since the onset of Omicron, and this result is significant at the .05 level. Thus, as time passes, *days_since_omi* will eventually outweigh *after_omi*. The second factor is the tail end of Delta outbreaks. The negative effect of *after_omi* only applies to countries that were not in an outbreak at the onset of Omicron. Those countries tended to have recently exited a Delta outbreak, and *after_omi* partly captures the deceleration in speed before Omicron outbreaks gathered momentum. For the countries that were already in an outbreak at the onset of Omicron, the *days_since_del_outbrk* variable controls for how long ago the Delta outbreak began. The coefficient of 0.4 means those countries saw an average additional 0.4 transmissions per
100,000 population for each day after the Delta outbreak began. The variable is significant at the .10 level but not the .05 level.

The model also controls for weekend dates. The coefficient on the indicator variable for weekend dates, *weekend*, is negative and statistically significant at the .01 level. This result is expected because many countries fail to report complete data over weekends.

Lastly, *total_cases_rate* and *total_vacc_rate*, respectively, contain cumulative prior infections and vaccinations, as measured in rates per 100,000 population. The coefficient on *total_cases_rate* is not statistically significant at the .10 level, which is expected because prior infections offer little protection against Omicron [54]. The coefficient on *total_vacc_rate* is also not significant at the .10 level, which is expected from the considerable vaccine escape of Omicron [55]. The positive sign on the coefficient is explained by the differential vaccination rates across countries. The worst Omicron outbreaks have tended to occur in countries with higher vaccination rates. In the sample, countries already in an outbreak at the onset of Omicron had an average vaccination rate over 40% higher than the rate for countries not in an outbreak.

On a more subtle point, the technical feat of the Arellano-Bond dynamic panel is its ability to control for time-invariant, country-specific factors [41]. Examples include public health policies, demographics, population density, culture, and history. The dynamic panel estimates automatically control for these factors to the extent they remain stable over the sample period. Thus, even after controlling for vaccinations, time since the onset of Omicron, time a country had been in a Delta outbreak (if one existed at the onset of Omicron), and time-invariant, country-specific factors, the Omicron outbreak in countries with high community transmission of Delta reached larger peaks than in countries with low transmission of Delta.

Country Comparisons

To further examine the difference between Omicron-and-Delta outbreaks and Omicron outbreaks, we compared the outbreak trajectory of several neighbor countries, at least 1 of which was in a Delta outbreak at the onset of Omicron and 1 of which was not.

Figure 4 plots the rate of novel SARS-CoV-2 transmissions per 100,000 population for Canada and the United States over the sample period. The vertical gray lines indicate the date Omicron was first sequenced in each country (dashed for Canada, solid for the United States). The horizontal gray line depicts the CDC outbreak threshold for reference. A country is in a state of outbreak when its speed exceeds 10 cases per day per 100,000 population. At the onset of Omicron, Canada was not in an outbreak but the United States was.

When Omicron was first sequenced in Canada, the country had a speed of 6.4, while the speed for the United States was 22.8 at the onset date. The subsequent peak speeds for the countries were 126 and 245.4, respectively. The United States took longer to reach its peak from the date Omicron arrived, and its peak was nearly twice as high as Canada's.

Figure 5 plots the sequencing results of SARS-CoV-2 samples from Canada and the United States from May 2021 until February 2022. Over this period, the Delta and Omicron VOCs were the primary contributors to outbreaks in both countries. The United States sequenced 10 times as many SARS-CoV-2 samples as Canada, but both countries follow roughly similar trends.

Figure 4. Outbreaks in Canada and the United States. Note: The vertical lines indicate the date Omicron was first sequenced in each country. The solid and dashed lines correspond to those of each country in the legend.



Lundberg et al

Figure 5. The evolution of Delta and Omicron VOCs in Canada and the United States. Note: The y axis denotes the total number of sequences for each VOC on a given date. VOCs other than Delta and Omicron were too infrequent to depict on the plot. VOC: variant of concern.



In the late summer and early fall of 2021, predominantly Delta clades were identified as part of the viral pool of SARS-CoV-2 cases in both Canada and the United States. Canada had a minor Delta outbreak, where the daily number of Delta cases slightly surpassed 10 per 100,000 population between September 15, 2021, and October 7, 2021. Canada was well below the threshold of an outbreak when Omicron was first sequenced. In contrast, the United States went into an outbreak largely driven by the Delta variant on July 19, 2021, and remained in an outbreak through the Omicron peak. Canada later went into an outbreak, largely driven by Omicron, in December, but the magnitude was roughly half that of the US outbreak. Although both countries are now only reporting sporadic new Delta cases, Delta overlapped with Omicron for the majority of the Omicron outbreak that began in December 2021. Canada cleared its Delta outbreak before the United States and before the advent of Omicron.

Figure 6 provides a similar illustration for Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia. Neither Armenia nor Azerbaijan was in a state of outbreak when Omicron was first sequenced in the countries, but Georgia was. The subsequent peak in Georgia was 543.7, far larger than the peaks of 114.7 and 69.5, respectively, in

Armenia and Azerbaijan. Although the outbreak in Azerbaijan continues to grow, the recent decrease in acceleration indicates the country is near its apex.

Figure 7 provides a similar plot for Kazakhstan and Russia. Kazakhstan was not in an outbreak at the onset of Omicron, but neighbor Russia was. The peak in Russia was 124.2, and the peak in Kazakhstan was 74.0. Russia continues to see an escalation in new transmissions, but the recent decrease in acceleration indicates the country is near its apex.

Taken together, Figures 4-7 support the broader findings in Figures 2 and 3 that countries already in an outbreak at the time of Omicron's arrival had longer durations and reached higher peaks in cases compared to countries where community transmission of Delta was already low. However, this pattern does not always hold. Israel is the most extreme exception. Despite not beginning in an outbreak, the country reached a peak speed of 1177.3 novel transmissions per 100,000 population, as shown in Figure 8. Still, these specific country illustrations provide a context and guidance for a discussion of why outbreaks in countries already in a Delta outbreak at the onset of Omicron had different trajectories than outbreaks in countries with low initially community transmission.



Figure 6. Outbreaks in Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Georgia. Note: The vertical lines indicate the date Omicron was first sequenced in each country. The solid and dashed lines correspond to those of each country in the legend.



Figure 7. Outbreaks in Kazakhstan and Russia. Note: The vertical lines indicate the date Omicron was first sequenced in each country. The solid and dashed lines correspond to those of each country in the legend.





Figure 8. Outbreaks in Israel, Jordan, and Lebanon. Note: The vertical lines indicate the date Omicron was first sequenced in each country. The solid, dashed, and dotted lines correspond to those of each country in the legend.





Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, we measured the trajectory of the pandemic for every country, beginning on the first day that Omicron was sequenced, and we compared the magnitude and speed of the subsequent outbreak in countries that had high versus low levels of preexisting Delta transmission. These countries were determined to be in an outbreak or not in an outbreak at the time of their first reported Omicron sequence based on a threshold of 10 daily new SARS-CoV-2 transmissions per 100,000 population.

Our analysis of epidemiological curve trajectories for countries not in an outbreak at the time of Omicron's arrival, such as sub-Saharan African countries and India, showed these outbreaks escalate, peak, and de-escalate rapidly, ending the outbreak with a small tail [19]. In contrast, Omicron outbreaks in countries already experiencing a Delta outbreak take relatively longer to peak and attenuate. This observation holds regardless of whether the Delta outbreak peaked before Omicron was introduced or whether the Delta outbreak was still trending upward. For example, Canada had peaked before Omicron was sequenced, while the United States peaked afterward. The apex of the Omicron-driven peak was over twofold higher in countries already in a Delta-driven outbreak. The former countries reached an average apex of 308.7 daily new cases per 100,000 population, while the latter countries reached an average apex of 128.6 (see Table 1). Even after controlling for the daily speed of the pandemic when Omicron was first identified in a particular country, we find that the magnitude of Omicron outbreaks in countries not already in an outbreak is slightly less than half the magnitude of Omicron outbreaks in countries with high levels of Delta transmission.

Prior to the emergence of Omicron, the Delta VOC made up over 97% of cases worldwide, with several countries experiencing Delta-driven outbreaks at the time of Omicron's emergence in November 2021. Omicron subsequently led to outbreaks and outcompeted Delta in every country where genomic surveillance data are available, now accounting for over 97% of cases worldwide [56]. Although it was initially thought that high levels of Delta transmission in some countries could blunt the impact of Omicron, our data strongly suggest that outbreaks reached higher peak speeds and magnitudes in countries already experiencing Delta outbreaks.

The propensity of countries already in a Delta-driven outbreak to have more intense Omicron-driven outbreaks could be explained by at least 4 overlapping (and not mutually exclusive) factors: (1) policy, (2) climate, (3) epidemiologic trends, and (4) public health infrastructure.

First, a preexisting Delta outbreak may have signaled ineffective policies that underlay epidemiological trends, which took longer to build, peak, and attenuate during the Omicron outbreak. For example, countries already in a Delta outbreak already may have had less stringent public health measures that could have resulted in the significantly higher speeds and larger peaks upon the arrival of Omicron. To explore the possibility, we calculated the average stringency index for each country over the sample period [50]. The daily index takes a value between 0 and 100, with higher scores indicating stricter national or subnational SARS-CoV-2 policy responses. The index was unavailable for Armenia, Montenegro, and North Macedonia, which left 77 (96.3%) countries for comparison. The average score for countries in a preexisting Delta outbreak was 49.4 compared to an average of 48.2 for countries not in an outbreak at the time of Omicron's arrival. A Welch t test failed to reject the null hypothesis of equal means across the 2 groups (P=.68). Because

the number of countries in each group was greater than 30, the test passes the conventional guideline for approximate convergence in the central limit theorem [57]. If a *P* value provides a roughly graded measure of strength against the null hypothesis, the value suggests that other hypotheses may be more compatible with the data [58,59]. The Pearson correlation coefficient between the average score and a binary variable for the country group was also low, at -.04, with a 95% CI of -0.26 to 0.19. The Pearson coefficient is a measure of linear dependence between variables, which makes it the appropriate choice for an examination of policy intervention as a confounder in the linear dynamic panel regressions [60,61]. To summarize, policy differences seem to have limited explanatory power for the different trajectories of the Omicron outbreaks in these countries. Notwithstanding, although the enacted policies might not differ, the willingness of each country's population to adhere to these policies might, with "COVID fatigue" resulting in relaxed implementation.

A second explanation could be climate or socioeconomic conditions. Most countries that were still in a Delta outbreak reside in the Northern Hemisphere, and Omicron arrived over the winter months. If weather can affect the spread of SARS-CoV-2, then countries in colder regions might tend to have larger outbreaks of any variant [23-25]. Indeed, large outbreaks were observed in these countries during the winter of 2020-2021 prior to the emergence of the Delta or Omicron VOC, suggesting a seasonal trend independent of variant. Figure 9 provides survival curves analogous to those in Figure 2 but for countries that lie entirely in the Northern Hemisphere and those that do not. The curves cross at several points, which means sometimes outbreaks in the Northern Hemisphere take longer to reach their peak (from the onset date of Omicron), and sometimes outbreaks in the Southern Hemisphere do. The *P* value from a log-rank test is also higher than it was for the comparison between outbreak and nonoutbreak countries (P=.40 vs .09). Still, a portion of the Northern Hemisphere survival curve lies beyond the Southern Hemisphere curve, which suggests weather may partly explain why countries already in an outbreak were more adversely impacted by the arrival of Omicron. There is some visual evidence in Figure 9 that outbreaks in the Northern Hemisphere lasted longer. The Arellano-Bond method, however, controls for time-invariant, country-specific factors [41]. Climate is one such factor to the extent it remains constant for each country in the sample. In the regression estimates, temperature confounders would have to be caused by variable weather conditions over the sample period.

Figure 9. Time from arrival of Omicron until peak of outbreak by hemisphere. Note: Countries are included in the Northern Hemisphere group if their geographical area lies entirely in the Northern Hemisphere. All other countries are included in the Southern Hemisphere group.



A third possible explanation is that the enhanced ability of Omicron to infect vaccinated individuals resulted in overlapping outbreaks with Delta in slightly different populations, increasing overall case counts. Rather than an Omicron-driven outbreak, a better description would be a Delta outbreak *and* an Omicron outbreak, at least until Delta was outcompeted. Omicron does have a higher potential for immune escape compared to prior VOCs [8,62-66]. Natural infection from SARS-CoV-2 generated

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37377
```

RenderX

a strong protection against reinfection with Alpha [67,68], Beta [67], and Delta [69], but this protection was somewhat diminished, though still robust, against Omicron [70,71]. People infected with prior VOCs remain at risk for contracting the Omicron variant [70]. Furthermore, the vaccines developed to prevent contracting SARS-CoV-2 are somewhat less effective at protection against contracting the Omicron variant [72,73]. However, although Omicron has some advantage in causing

breakthrough or reinfections, it is also highly transmissible in individuals with no prior immunity, just like the Delta VOC. Therefore, it is unlikely that the 2 variants existed in independent populations and caused overlapping outbreaks. The 2 VOCs were more likely in direct competition. Omicron's fitness advantage allowed it to quickly outcompete Delta, which is reflected in the genomic surveillance data (eg, Figure 5).

A fourth potential explanation is that the public health infrastructure in the outbreak countries better enabled them to (1) track cases in real time, (2) accurately determine the earliest date of Omicron arrival, and (3) track major surges in cases. First, given the outbreak threshold of 10 daily SARS-CoV-2 transmissions per 100,000 population, a country with better case tracking would be more likely to be in an outbreak state. Second, higher sampling for genomic surveillance is likely to result in an earlier detection of Omicron relative to the eventual peak. Third, a country with better testing infrastructure can process more tests in the context of a case surge, while other countries might be prematurely capped by capacity. Taken together, these 3 factors could explain the observed results in outbreak versus nonoutbreak countries.

Regardless of the reason for higher peaks and speeds of the Omicron outbreak in countries with preexisting Delta outbreaks, it is clear that high levels of community transmission of Delta did not substantially decrease population-level susceptibility to Omicron. First, countries in Delta outbreaks at the time of Omicron emergence still had case counts well below what would be required to elicit herd immunity. Second, even if vaccine-based immunity or natural immunity were long-lasting enough to reach herd immunity against a particular variant, an antigenic shift of SARS-CoV-2 will likely continue to drive immune evasion, as has been well documented for other RNA viruses. That being said, although Omicron resulted in many breakthrough infections and reinfections, a vast majority of these resulted in only mild disease. Thus, although case counts in many countries reached record peaks, an increasingly protected population from severe disease will likely result in a transition from a pandemic virus to an endemic virus.

Limitations

Sequencing data are unavailable for many countries, which were not included in this study. However, enough countries remained (N=80) to statistically examine why Omicron outbreaks in countries already experiencing a Delta outbreak were significantly larger in magnitude and duration than Omicron-only outbreaks.

We also know that sequencing the index case of Omicron in each country may not capture the earliest date Omicron first arrived or a sustained transmission that led to the eventual outbreak of cases [74]. This assignment provides a proxy for when the Omicron outbreaks began. As long as the inaccuracies in the date of assignment from sequencing data are random and small, they should not cause significant bias in the dynamic panel estimates. For most countries, reassignment of the Omicron onset date causes negligible changes in the estimates. We acknowledge that the CDC classification threshold for an outbreak is somewhat arbitrary. Small deviations from the CDC threshold rate of 10 daily SARS-CoV-2 transmissions per 100,000 population would neither reclassify most countries in the sample nor cause a significant change in estimates. Larger deviations naturally would. To address this point, we also included Figure 3 to show a broader association between the initial rate of daily SARS-CoV-2 transmissions and later peak rates, which is independent of the outbreak classification threshold.

Because we are writing this study in as close to real time as possible, the Kaplan-Meier survival curves may contain some inaccuracies. Specifically, if the peak speed occurred before the last date of the sample period, an outbreak might reverse its de-escalation in the future and reach a new, higher peak speed.

The second-order autocorrelation test for the dynamic panel estimates rejected the null hypothesis of zero autocorrelation in the unobservable error component. Although rejection in the first-order autocorrelation test is a common feature of the Arellano-Bond first-difference operation, rejection in the second-order test indicates a possible bias in coefficient estimates caused by autocorrelation in the error component [75].

Lastly, although we addressed several possible confounders, the Arellano-Bond method controls for time-invariant, country-specific variables [41]. Unobserved variations in human behavior over the sample period, for example, might remain as a source of omitted variable bias. Furthermore, the analysis of climate through hemisphere distinction is unable to capture all the nuances of local weather conditions. Temperature, wind, and humidity can all affect the spread of SARS-CoV-2 [24,25,76-78]. Likewise, the analysis of local risk factors and management capacity through the stringency index is unable to capture all the nuances of local risk and interventions [79-81].

Comparison With Prior Work

This study builds on prior work of the Omicron VOC by Lundberg et al [19]. The original study was the first to compare singular Omicron outbreaks to previous outbreaks driven by the original SARS-CoV-2 variant, Beta, Alpha, and Delta in sub-Saharan Africa. This study compares the Omicron outbreaks in countries with high versus low community transmission of the Delta VOC at the time of Omicron's arrival.

Conclusion

Although it may be years before we fully understand the interplay between different SARS-CoV-2 variants, these data are likely to inform trends among groups of countries that could help predict the trajectories of future variants, given differences in preexisting case counts. Although Omicron has been emphasized as a less harmful variant, it has caused annual records of morbidity and mortality due to enhanced transmissibility and rapid spread. High community spread of Delta prior to the arrival of Omicron in some countries did not interfere with the spread of Omicron but rather portended a larger outbreak upon the arrival of the more transmissible variant.



Acknowledgments

This study was supported by Feed the Future through the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), under the terms of Contract 7200LA1800003 to Northwestern University from the Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Collaborative Research on Sustainable Intensification (Grant AID-OAA-L-14-00006) and Kansas State University. The opinions expressed herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the USAID or any other organization.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Kandeel M, Mohamed MEM, Abd El-Lateef HM, Venugopala KN, El-Beltagi HS. Omicron variant genome evolution and phylogenetics. J Med Virol 2022 Apr 15;94(4):1627-1632 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jmv.27515] [Medline: 34888894]
- CDC COVID-19 Response Team. SARS-CoV-2 B.1.1.529 (Omicron) variant United States, December 1-8, 2021. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021 Dec 17;70(50):1731-1734 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7050e1] [Medline: 34914670]
- Viana R, Moyo S, Amoako DG, Tegally H, Scheepers C, Althaus CL, et al. Rapid epidemic expansion of the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant in southern Africa. Nature 2022 Mar;603(7902):679-686 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-04411-y] [Medline: 35042229]
- VanBlargan L, Errico J, Halfmann P, Zost S, Crowe J, Purcell L, et al. An infectious SARS-CoV-2 B.1.1.529 Omicron virus escapes neutralization by therapeutic monoclonal antibodies. Nat Med 2021 Dec 27:1-6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-1175516/v1] [Medline: 34981042]
- Poudel S, Ishak A, Perez-Fernandez J, Garcia E, León-Figueroa DA, Romaní L, et al. Highly mutated SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant sparks significant concern among global experts - what is known so far? Travel Med Infect Dis 2022 Jan;45:102234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.tmaid.2021.102234] [Medline: 34896326]
- 6. Karim SSA, Karim QA. Omicron SARS-CoV-2 variant: a new chapter in the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet 2021 Dec;398(10317):2126-2128. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(21)02758-6]
- 7. Madhi SA, Kwatra G, Myers JE, Jassat W, Dhar D, Mukendi CK, et al. South African population immunity and severe Covid-19 with omicron variant. Medrxiv Preprint posted online December 21, 2021. [doi: 10.1101/2021.12.20.21268096]
- Hu J, Peng P, Cao X, Wu K, Chen J, Wang K, et al. Increased immune escape of the new SARS-CoV-2 variant of concern Omicron. Cell Mol Immunol 2022 Feb 11;19(2):293-295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41423-021-00836-z] [Medline: 35017716]
- Wolter N, Jassat W, Walaza S, Welch R, Moultrie H, Groome M, et al. Early assessment of the clinical severity of the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant in South Africa. Medrxiv Preprint posted online December 21, 2021. [doi: 10.1101/2021.12.21.21268116]
- Gruell H, Vanshylla K, Tober-Lau P, Hillus D, Schommers P, Lehmann C, et al. mRNA booster immunization elicits potent neutralizing serum activity against the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron variant. Nat Med 2022 Mar;28(3):477-480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41591-021-01676-0] [Medline: 35046572]
- 11. UK Health Security Agency. SARS-CoV-2 Variants of Concern and Variants under Investigation in England: Technical Briefing 34. URL: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/</u> 1050236/technical-briefing-34-14-january-2022.pdf [accessed 2022-05-27]
- 12. Nyberg T, Ferguson N, Nash S, Webster H, Flaxman S, Andrews N, et al. Comparative analysis of the risks of hospitalisation and death associated with SARS-CoV-2 omicron (B.1.1.529) and delta (B.1.617.2) variants in England: a cohort study. Lancet 2022 Apr;399(10332):1303-1312. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00462-7]
- Andrews N, Stowe J, Kirsebom F, Toffa S, Rickeard T, Gallagher E, et al. Covid-19 vaccine effectiveness against the Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant. N Engl J Med 2022 Apr 21;386(16):1532-1546 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2119451] [Medline: 35249272]
- 14. Post LA, Lorenzo-Redondo R. Omicron: fewer adverse outcomes come with new dangers. Lancet 2022 Apr;399(10332):1280-1281. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(22)00514-1]
- 15. Nirappil K, Keating D. Covid Deaths Highest in a Year as Omicron Targets the Unvaccinated and Elderly. URL: <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/health/2022/02/08/omicron-deaths-covid/</u> [accessed 2022-05-27]
- Del Rio C, Omer SB, Malani PN. Winter of Omicron-the evolving COVID-19 pandemic. JAMA 2022 Jan 25;327(4):319-320. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2021.24315</u>] [Medline: <u>34935863</u>]
- Hoffmann M, Krüger N, Schulz S, Cossmann A, Rocha C, Kempf A, et al. The Omicron variant is highly resistant against antibody-mediated neutralization: implications for control of the COVID-19 pandemic. Cell 2022 Feb 03;185(3):447-456.e11
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2021.12.032] [Medline: 35026151]
- Pérez-Then E, Lucas C, Monteiro VS, Miric M, Brache V, Cochon L, et al. Neutralizing antibodies against the SARS-CoV-2 Delta and Omicron variants following heterologous CoronaVac plus BNT162b2 booster vaccination. Nat Med 2022 Mar 20;28(3):481-485 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41591-022-01705-6] [Medline: 35051990]

- Lundberg AL, Lorenzo-Redondo R, Ozer EA, Hawkins CA, Hultquist JF, Welch SB, et al. Has Omicron changed the evolution of the pandemic? JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 Jan 31;8(1):e35763 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/35763] [Medline: 35072638]
- 20. Saxena SK, Kumar S, Ansari S, Paweska JT, Maurya VK, Tripathi AK, et al. Transmission dynamics and mutational prevalence of the novel severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 Omicron variant of concern. J Med Virol 2022 May;94(5):2160-2166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jmv.27611] [Medline: 35050521]
- 21. Vaughan A. Omicron emerges. New Scientist 2021 Dec;252(3363):7. [doi: 10.1016/s0262-4079(21)02140-0]
- 22. Ariful Kabir K, Tanimoto J. Analysis of individual strategies for artificial and natural immunity with imperfectness and durability of protection. J Theor Biol 2021 Jan 21;509:110531. [doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2020.110531] [Medline: 33129951]
- Mecenas P, Bastos RTDRM, Vallinoto ACR, Normando D. Effects of temperature and humidity on the spread of COVID-19: a systematic review. PLoS One 2020 Sep 18;15(9):e0238339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0238339] [Medline: 32946453]
- 24. Ganslmeier M, Furceri D, Ostry JD. The impact of weather on COVID-19 pandemic. Sci Rep 2021 Nov 11;11(1):22027 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-01189-3] [Medline: 34764317]
- 25. Chen S, Prettner K, Kuhn M, Geldsetzer P, Wang C, Bärnighausen T, et al. Climate and the spread of COVID-19. Sci Rep 2021 Apr 27;11(1):9042 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-87692-z] [Medline: 33907202]
- 26. Post L, Lundberg A, White J. The Global SARS-CoV-2 Surveillance System Project (GASSP). URL: <u>https://sites.northwestern.edu/covidglobalsurveillance/</u> [accessed 2022-05-27]
- 27. GISAID Initiative. URL: https://www.gisaid.org/ [accessed 2022-05-27]
- Post L, Culler K, Moss CB, Murphy RL, Achenbach CJ, Ison MG, et al. Surveillance of the second wave of COVID-19 in Europe: longitudinal trend analyses. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2021 Apr 28;7(4):e25695 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25695] [Medline: 33818391]
- Post LA, Lin JS, Moss CB, Murphy RL, Ison MG, Achenbach CJ, et al. SARS-CoV-2 wave two surveillance in East Asia and the Pacific: longitudinal trend analysis. J Med Internet Res 2021 Feb 01;23(2):e25454 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25454] [Medline: 33464207]
- Post L, Marogi E, Moss CB, Murphy RL, Ison MG, Achenbach CJ, et al. SARS-CoV-2 surveillance in the Middle East and North Africa: longitudinal trend analysis. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jan 15;23(1):e25830 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25830] [Medline: <u>33302252</u>]
- Post L, Ohiomoba RO, Maras A, Watts SJ, Moss CB, Murphy RL, et al. Latin America and the Caribbean SARS-CoV-2 surveillance: longitudinal trend analysis. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2021 Apr 27;7(4):e25728 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25728] [Medline: 33852413]
- 32. Post LA, Argaw ST, Jones C, Moss CB, Resnick D, Singh LN, et al. A SARS-CoV-2 surveillance system in sub-Saharan Africa: modeling study for persistence and transmission to inform policy. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 19;22(11):e24248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24248] [Medline: 33211026]
- Post LA, Benishay ET, Moss CB, Murphy RL, Achenbach CJ, Ison MG, et al. Surveillance metrics of SARS-CoV-2 transmission in Central Asia: longitudinal trend analysis. J Med Internet Res 2021 Feb 03;23(2):e25799 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25799] [Medline: 33475513]
- 34. Post LA, Issa TZ, Boctor MJ, Moss CB, Murphy RL, Ison MG, et al. Dynamic public health surveillance to track and mitigate the US COVID-19 epidemic: longitudinal trend analysis study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 03;22(12):e24286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24286] [Medline: 33216726]
- Oehmke JF, Oehmke TB, Singh LN, Post LA. Dynamic panel estimate-based health surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 infection rates to inform public health policy: model development and validation. J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 22;22(9):e20924 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20924] [Medline: 32915762]
- Oehmke TB, Post LA, Moss CB, Issa TZ, Boctor MJ, Welch SB, et al. Dynamic panel data modeling and surveillance of COVID-19 in metropolitan areas in the United States: longitudinal trend analysis. J Med Internet Res 2021 Feb 09;23(2):e26081 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26081] [Medline: 33481757]
- Welch SB, Kulasekere DA, Prasad PVV, Moss CB, Murphy RL, Achenbach CJ, et al. The interplay between policy and COVID-19 outbreaks in South Asia: longitudinal trend analysis of surveillance data. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2021 Jun 17;7(6):e24251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24251] [Medline: 34081593]
- Rich JT, Neely JG, Paniello RC, Voelker CCJ, Nussenbaum B, Wang EW. A practical guide to understanding Kaplan-Meier curves. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2010 Sep 01;143(3):331-336 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.otohns.2010.05.007] [Medline: 20723767]
- Stalpers LJA, Kaplan EL. Edward L. Kaplan and the Kaplan-Meier survival curve. Br J Hist Math 2018 May 18;33(2):109-135. [doi: <u>10.1080/17498430.2018.1450055</u>]
- 40. Anderson T, Hsiao C. Formulation and estimation of dynamic models using panel data. J Econom 1982 Jan;18(1):47-82. [doi: 10.1016/0304-4076(82)90095-1]
- 41. Arellano M, Bond S. Some tests of specification for panel data: Monte Carlo evidence and an application to employment equations. Rev Econ Stud 1991 Apr;58(2):277. [doi: 10.2307/2297968]
- 42. R Core Team. The R Project for Statistical Computing. 2021. URL: https://www.r-project.org/

- 43. Croissant Y, Millo G. Panel data econometrics in R: the plm package. J Stat Softw 2008;27(2):1-43. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v027.i02]
- 44. Therneau TM, Lumley T, Atkinson E, Crowson C. survival: Survival Analysis. URL: <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/</u> survival/index.html
- 45. Kassambara A, Kosinski M, Biecek P, Scheipl F. survminer: Drawing Survival Curves using 'ggplot2'. 2022. URL: <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/survminer/index.html</u>
- 46. Huddleston J, Hadfield J, Sibley T, Lee J, Fay K, Ilcisin M, et al. Augur: a bioinformatics toolkit for phylogenetic analyses of human pathogens. J Open Source Softw 2021 Jan;6(57):2906 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21105/joss.02906] [Medline: 34189396]
- Rambaut A, Holmes EC, O'Toole Á, Hill V, McCrone JT, Ruis C, et al. A dynamic nomenclature proposal for SARS-CoV-2 lineages to assist genomic epidemiology. Nat Microbiol 2020 Nov 15;5(11):1403-1407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41564-020-0770-5] [Medline: 32669681]
- 48. O'Toole Á, Scher E, Underwood A, Jackson B, Hill V, McCrone JT, et al. Assignment of epidemiological lineages in an emerging pandemic using the pangolin tool. Virus Evol 2021;7(2):veab064 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/ve/veab064</u>] [Medline: <u>34527285</u>]
- 49. Singh J, Rahman SA, Ehtesham NZ, Hira S, Hasnain SE. SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern are emerging in India. Nat Med 2021 Jul 27;27(7):1131-1133. [doi: 10.1038/s41591-021-01397-4] [Medline: 34045737]
- Hale T, Angrist N, Goldszmidt R, Kira B, Petherick A, Phillips T, et al. A global panel database of pandemic policies (Oxford COVID-19 Government Response Tracker). Nat Hum Behav 2021 Apr 08;5(4):529-538. [doi: 10.1038/s41562-021-01079-8] [Medline: <u>33686204</u>]
- 51. Bland JM, Altman DG. The logrank test. BMJ 2004 May 01;328(7447):1073 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7447.1073] [Medline: 15117797]
- 52. Oehmke JF, Moss CB, Singh LN, Oehmke TB, Post LA. One COVID, three Americas: dynamic panel surveillance to inform health policy. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 5;22(10):e21955. [doi: 10.2196/21955]
- Oehmke JF, Moss CB, Singh LN, Oehmke TB, Post LA. Dynamic panel surveillance of COVID-19 transmission in the United States to inform health policy: observational statistical study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 05;22(10):e21955 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21955] [Medline: 32924962]
- 54. Pulliam JRC, van Schalkwyk C, Govender N, von Gottberg A, Cohen C, Groome MJ, et al. Increased risk of SARS-CoV-2 reinfection associated with emergence of the Omicron variant in South Africa. Medrxiv Preprint posted online December 2, 2021. [doi: 10.1101/2021.11.11.21266068]
- 55. Nemet I, Kliker L, Lustig Y, Zuckerman N, Erster O, Cohen C, et al. Third BNT162b2 vaccination neutralization of SARS-CoV-2 Omicron infection. N Engl J Med 2022 Feb 03;386(5):492-494. [doi: <u>10.1056/nejmc2119358</u>]
- Nextstrain. Genomic Epidemiology of Novel Coronavirus Global Subsampling. URL: <u>https://nextstrain.org/ncov/gisaid/global</u> [accessed 2022-05-27]
- 57. Kwak SG, Kim JH. Central limit theorem: the cornerstone of modern statistics. Korean J Anesthesiol 2017 Apr;70(2):144-156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4097/kjae.2017.70.2.144] [Medline: 28367284]
- 58. Amrhein V, Korner-Nievergelt F, Roth T. The earth is flat (>0.05): significance thresholds and the crisis of unreplicable research. PeerJ 2017;5:e3544 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7717/peerj.3544] [Medline: 28698825]
- 59. Greenland S, Senn SJ, Rothman KJ, Carlin JB, Poole C, Goodman SN, et al. Statistical tests, P values, confidence intervals, and power: a guide to misinterpretations. Eur J Epidemiol 2016 Apr 21;31(4):337-350 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10654-016-0149-3] [Medline: 27209009]
- 60. Schober P, Boer C, Schwarte LA. Correlation coefficients. Anesth Analg 2018;126(5):1763-1768. [doi: 10.1213/ane.00000000002864]
- 61. Rovetta A. Raiders of the lost correlation: a guide on using Pearson and Spearman coefficients to detect hidden correlations in medical sciences. Cureus 2020 Nov 30;12(11):e11794 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.11794] [Medline: 33409040]
- 62. Sigal A. Milder disease with Omicron: is it the virus or the pre-existing immunity? Nat Rev Immunol 2022 Feb 19;22(2):69-71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41577-022-00678-4] [Medline: 35046570]
- 63. Ai J, Zhang H, Zhang Y, Lin K, Zhang Y, Wu J, et al. Omicron variant showed lower neutralizing sensitivity than other SARS-CoV-2 variants to immune sera elicited by vaccines after boost. Emerg Microbes Infect 2022 Dec 24;11(1):337-343 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/22221751.2021.2022440] [Medline: 34935594]
- 64. Zhang L, Li Q, Liang Z, Li T, Liu S, Cui Q, et al. The significant immune escape of pseudotyped SARS-CoV-2 variant Omicron. Emerg Microbes Infect 2022 Dec 21;11(1):1-5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/22221751.2021.2017757] [Medline: 34890524]
- Cele S, Jackson L, Khoury DS, Khan K, Moyo-Gwete T, Tegally H, Network for Genomic Surveillance in, COMMIT-KZN Team, et al. Omicron extensively but incompletely escapes Pfizer BNT162b2 neutralization. Nature 2021 Dec 23;602(7898):654-656. [doi: 10.1038/d41586-021-03824-5]
- 66. Callaway E. Beyond Omicron: what's next for COVID's viral evolution. Nature 2021 Dec 07;600(7888):204-207. [doi: 10.1038/d41586-021-03619-8] [Medline: 34876665]

- 67. Chemaitelly H, Bertollini R, Abu-Raddad LJ. Efficacy of natural immunity against SARS-CoV-2 reinfection with the Beta variant. N Engl J Med 2021 Dec 30;385(27):2585-2586. [doi: 10.1056/nejmc2110300]
- 68. Abu-Raddad LJ, Chemaitelly H, Ayoub HH, Coyle P, Malek JA, Ahmed AA, et al. Introduction and expansion of the SARS-CoV-2 B.1.1.7 variant and reinfections in Qatar: a nationally representative cohort study. PLoS Med 2021 Dec;18(12):e1003879 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003879] [Medline: 34914711]
- 69. Kim P, Gordon SM, Sheehan MM, Rothberg MB. Duration of SARS-CoV-2 natural immunity and protection against the Delta variant: a retrospective cohort study. Clin Infect Dis 2021 Dec 03:ciab999 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab999] [Medline: 34864907]
- 70. Altarawneh HN, Chemaitelly H, Hasan MR, Ayoub HH, Qassim S, AlMukdad S, et al. Protection against the Omicron variant from previous SARS-CoV-2 infection. N Engl J Med 2022 Mar 31;386(13):1288-1290. [doi: 10.1056/nejmc2200133]
- 71. Accorsi EK, Britton A, Fleming-Dutra KE, Smith ZR, Shang N, Derado G, et al. Association between 3 doses of mRNA COVID-19 vaccine and symptomatic infection caused by the SARS-CoV-2 Omicron and Delta variants. JAMA 2022 Feb 15;327(7):639-651. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2022.0470] [Medline: 35060999]
- 72. Mahase E. Covid-19: Do vaccines work against omicron-and other questions answered. BMJ 2021 Dec 10;375:n3062. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n3062] [Medline: 34893476]
- 73. Buchan S, Chung H, Brown KA, Austin PC, Fell DB, Gubbay JB, et al. Effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines against Omicron or Delta symptomatic infection and severe outcomes. Medrxiv Preprint posted online January 28, 2022.
- 74. Chappell B. The Omicron Variant Was in Europe a Week before South Africa Reported It. URL: <u>http://npr.org/2021/11/</u> 30/1060025081/omicron-variant-netherlands-europe-south-africa [accessed 2022-05-27]
- 75. Roodman D. A note on the theme of too many instruments. Oxford Bull Econ Stats 2009;71(1):135-158. [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0084.2008.00542.x]
- 76. Fontal A, Bouma MJ, San-José A, López L, Pascual M, Rodó X. Climatic signatures in the different COVID-19 pandemic waves across both hemispheres. Nat Comput Sci 2021 Oct 21;1(10):655-665. [doi: 10.1038/s43588-021-00136-6]
- 77. Christophi CA, Sotos-Prieto M, Lan F, Delgado-Velandia M, Efthymiou V, Gaviola GC, et al. Ambient temperature and subsequent COVID-19 mortality in the OECD countries and individual United States. Sci Rep 2021 Apr 22;11(1):8710 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-87803-w] [Medline: 33888744]
- 78. Ganegoda NC, Wijaya KP, Amadi M, Erandi KKWH, Aldila D. Interrelationship between daily COVID-19 cases and average temperature as well as relative humidity in Germany. Sci Rep 2021 May 28;11(1):11302 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-90873-5] [Medline: 34050241]
- 79. Pluchino A, Biondo AE, Giuffrida N, Inturri G, Latora V, Le Moli R, et al. A novel methodology for epidemic risk assessment of COVID-19 outbreak. Sci Rep 2021 Mar 05;11(1):5304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-82310-4] [Medline: 33674627]
- Pegoraro V, Heiman F, Levante A, Urbinati D, Peduto I. An Italian individual-level data study investigating on the association between air pollution exposure and Covid-19 severity in primary-care setting. BMC Public Health 2021 May 12;21(1):902 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10949-9] [Medline: 33980180]
- Haug N, Geyrhofer L, Londei A, Dervic E, Desvars-Larrive A, Loreto V, et al. Ranking the effectiveness of worldwide COVID-19 government interventions. Nat Hum Behav 2020 Dec 16;4(12):1303-1312. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41562-020-01009-0</u>] [Medline: <u>33199859</u>]

Abbreviations

CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention GISAID: Global Initiative on Sharing Avian Influenza Data mRNA: messenger RNA VOC: variant of concern WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by G Eysenbach, T Sanchez; submitted 03.03.22; peer-reviewed by S Nagavally, A Rovetta; comments to author 24.03.22; revised version received 25.03.22; accepted 29.04.22; published 03.06.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Lundberg AL, Lorenzo-Redondo R, Hultquist JF, Hawkins CA, Ozer EA, Welch SB, Prasad PVV, Achenbach CJ, White JI, Oehmke JF, Murphy RL, Havey RJ, Post LA Overlapping Delta and Omicron Outbreaks During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Dynamic Panel Data Estimates JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e37377 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e37377</u> doi:10.2196/37377 PMID:35500140



©Alexander L Lundberg, Ramon Lorenzo-Redondo, Judd F Hultquist, Claudia A Hawkins, Egon A Ozer, Sarah B Welch, P V Vara Prasad, Chad J Achenbach, Janine I White, James F Oehmke, Robert L Murphy, Robert J Havey, Lori A Post. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 03.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

XSL•FO RenderX

Original Paper

Enhancing COVID-19 Epidemic Forecasting Accuracy by Combining Real-time and Historical Data From Multiple Internet-Based Sources: Analysis of Social Media Data, Online News Articles, and Search Queries

Jingwei Li^{1,2}, PhD; Wei Huang^{3,4,5}, PhD; Choon Ling Sia², PhD; Zhuo Chen^{6,7}, PhD; Tailai Wu⁸, PhD; Qingnan Wang¹, PhD

¹School of Management, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China

²Department of Information Systems, City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

⁴College of Business, Southern University of Science and Technology, Shenzhen, China

⁶College of Public Health, University of Georgia, Athens, GA, United States

⁷School of Economics, University of Nottingham Ningbo China, Ningbo, China

⁸School of Medicine and Health Management, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China

Corresponding Author: Wei Huang, PhD National Center for Applied Mathematics Shenzhen No. 1088, Xueyuan Avenue Nanshan District Shenzhen, 518055 China Phone: 86 15129077179 Email: <u>waynehuangwei@163.com</u>

Abstract

Background: The SARS-COV-2 virus and its variants pose extraordinary challenges for public health worldwide. Timely and accurate forecasting of the COVID-19 epidemic is key to sustaining interventions and policies and efficient resource allocation. Internet-based data sources have shown great potential to supplement traditional infectious disease surveillance, and the combination of different Internet-based data sources has shown greater power to enhance epidemic forecasting accuracy than using a single Internet-based data source. However, existing methods incorporating multiple Internet-based data sources only used real-time data from these sources as exogenous inputs but did not take all the historical data into account. Moreover, the predictive power of different Internet-based data sources in providing early warning for COVID-19 outbreaks has not been fully explored.

Objective: The main aim of our study is to explore whether combining real-time and historical data from multiple Internet-based sources could improve the COVID-19 forecasting accuracy over the existing baseline models. A secondary aim is to explore the COVID-19 forecasting timeliness based on different Internet-based data sources.

Methods: We first used core terms and symptom-related keyword-based methods to extract COVID-19–related Internet-based data from December 21, 2019, to February 29, 2020. The Internet-based data we explored included 90,493,912 online news articles, 37,401,900 microblogs, and all the Baidu search query data during that period. We then proposed an autoregressive model with exogenous inputs, incorporating real-time and historical data from multiple Internet-based sources. Our proposed model was compared with baseline models, and all the models were tested during the first wave of COVID-19 epidemics in Hubei province and the rest of mainland China separately. We also used lagged Pearson correlations for COVID-19 forecasting timeliness analysis.

Results: Our proposed model achieved the highest accuracy in all 5 accuracy measures, compared with all the baseline models of both Hubei province and the rest of mainland China. In mainland China, except for Hubei, the COVID-19 epidemic forecasting accuracy differences between our proposed model (model i) and all the other baseline models were statistically significant (model 1, t_{198} =-8.722, *P*<.001; model 2, t_{198} =-5.000, *P*<.001, model 3, t_{198} =-1.882, *P*=.06; model 4, t_{198} =-4.644, *P*<.001; model 5,

³National Center for Applied Mathematics Shenzhen, Shenzhen, China

⁵Department of Information Systems and Intelligent Business, School of Management, Xi'an Jiaotong University, Xi'an, China

 t_{198} =-4.488, *P*<.001). In Hubei province, our proposed model's forecasting accuracy improved significantly compared with the baseline model using historical new confirmed COVID-19 case counts only (model 1, t_{198} =-1.732, *P*=.09). Our results also showed that Internet-based sources could provide a 2- to 6-day earlier warning for COVID-19 outbreaks.

Conclusions: Our approach incorporating real-time and historical data from multiple Internet-based sources could improve forecasting accuracy for epidemics of COVID-19 and its variants, which may help improve public health agencies' interventions and resource allocation in mitigating and controlling new waves of COVID-19 or other relevant epidemics.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e35266) doi:10.2196/35266

KEYWORDS

SARS-CoV-2; COVID 19; epidemic forecasting; disease surveillance; infectious disease epidemiology; social medial; online news; search query; autoregression model

Introduction

COVID-19 poses extraordinary challenges for public health systems worldwide. As of November 26, 2021, COVID-19 had affected 222 countries and territories [1] and caused 259,502,031 confirmed cases, including 5,183,003 deaths worldwide [2]. Moreover, variants of the COVID-19 virus led to further challenges for public health. After the highly contagious Alpha variant swept across Europe and the United States in early 2021, the Delta variant replaced Alpha and became the dominant COVID variant worldwide [3]. The Delta variant is around 60% more transmissible than the Alpha variant, is moderately resistant to vaccines [4], and caused a new wave of the COVID-19 epidemic in Europe in late 2021 [5,6]. Omicron, an even more worrying variant, was reported from South Africa on November 24, 2021; it is said to out-compete the Delta variant and has been identified in Botswana, Belgium, Hong Kong, and Israel [7,8]. More timely and accurate forecasting of the incidence of COVID-19 and its variants is key to improving the efficiency of resource allocation and timeliness of intervention policy implementation [9-11].

Internet-based data sources, such as social media data (like microblogs), online news article data, and search query data, accumulate huge amounts of data all the time and have been proven to be an effective supplement to traditional infectious disease surveillance systems [12,13]. The underlying mechanism is that, before experiencing serious symptoms and going to a sentinel hospital, patients with symptoms may search for disease-related information on search engines like Google [14], complain about disease-related symptoms on social media like microblogs [15], or even share disease-related personal experiences on personal news articles platforms like instant articles [16]. This gives Internet-based data the ability to provide early warning for disease outbreaks [17,18] or provide supplemental information to enhance epidemic forecasting accuracy [14,16]. For instance, Wilson and Brownstein [19] retrieved official public health emergency-related online articles to support the early warning of Listeria outbreaks. Yang et al [14] proposed an autoregression model with Google search query data (AGRO) to improve the forecasting accuracy for influenza epidemics [14]. McGough et al [20] produced an improved estimation for the Zika virus in Latin America with a 1-week lead time. They used a multivariable linear regression model, combining real-time search query data, social media data (Twitter), outbreak news report counts, and historical

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35266

officially reported case counts [20]. Internet-based data contain a large volume of unstructured text data [21] accompanied by noise caused by linguistic errors or misinformation [22]. To deal with Internet-based data, researchers have adopted a combination of methods, which include, but are not limited to, natural language processing, classification or clustering algorithms based on machine learning, and time-series models [12,23,24].

As COVID-19 has been and continues to be the most consequential infectious disease worldwide in this century, many researchers have used various Internet-based data sources to supplement COVID-19 surveillance [4,10,25]. Like previous research on other infectious diseases, COVID-19 forecasting research based on Internet-based data focuses mainly on 2 aspects: improving forecasting accuracy and improving forecasting timeliness. To improve COVID-19 forecasting accuracy, Shen et al [26] used the Granger causality test and showed that adding COVID-19 symptom-related microblogs could help enhance the COVID-19 predictive power. Liu et al [11] adopted a multivariable model and showed that adding real-time search query data and news article data into the traditional COVID-19 forecasting model could lead to more accurate forecasting results. The combination of different Internet-based data sources has shown greater power to enhance the forecasting accuracy of infectious diseases (including COVID-19) than using a single Internet-based data source [20]. However, existing methods incorporating more than one Internet-based data source used only real-time data from these sources as exogenous inputs but did not use historical data from all possible sources.

As for improving COVID-19 forecasting timeliness, Yuan et al [10] examined the lagged correlation between COVID-19 symptoms and core term–related search queries and daily new COVID-19 cases in the United States. They found that COVID-19–related search queries could provide a 12- to 14-day earlier warning for COVID-19 epidemics [10]. Similarly, Li et al [27] [26]proved that the Baidu search index and Weibo (social media platform similar to Twitter) index could both provide warning for COVID-19 outbreaks in China 8 days to 12 days earlier. However, the power of different Internet-based data sources to improve COVID-19 epidemic forecasting timeliness has not been fully explored [16]. The length of early warning time that Internet-based data could provide is not consistent across studies, varying from 0 [28] to 21 days [29]. Moreover, even though unofficial online news articles have shown great

Our study explored whether combining real-time and historical data from multiple Internet-based sources could improve COVID-19 forecasting accuracy over the existing baseline models. We also compared COVID-19 forecasting timelines based on different Internet-based data sources.

Methods

Data Collection and Processing

We focused on the first wave of the COVID-19 epidemic in mainland China and compiled data on daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts, online news articles, microblogs, and search queries from various sources. Following a previous study [26], we collected data from mainland China, with separate analyses for Hubei province and the remaining provinces. The official laboratory-confirmed case counts in mainland China, except Hubei province, can be retrieved since January 19, 2020 [21], while the official laboratory-confirmed case counts in Hubei province can be retrieved since January 10, 2020 [11]. The max time lags we explored were 20 days, following the example from previous studies [10,26]. Thus, we traced the Internet-based sources to December 21, 2019. We chose the end of our study period as February 29, 2020, when the primary wave of the COVID-19 epidemic in China had passed and the new confirmed case number decreased to single figures [21].

Daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts were collected from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (China CDC) website [32], which started collecting data on January 16, 2020. Earlier counts in Hubei province between January 10, 2020, and January 16, 2020, were compiled based on reports from the Health Commission of Hubei Province [33]. We then collected online news article data and microblog data from Sina Network Opinion Surveillance System (SNOSS) [34], a commercially available web-based platform that collects various Internet-based data in mainland China. Search query data were collected from the Baidu Index website [35]. We were the first to identify online news articles about COVID-19 and COVID-19-related microblogs using an approach based on COVID-19 core terms and symptom-related keywords. We also used COVID-19-related symptoms and core terms to extract COVID-19-related search queries, following a previous study [36]. Detailed Internet-based data extraction and filtering methods are described in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Statistical Analysis

We first described the Internet-based data we retrieved and the COVID-19–related data we extracted. We then summarized all the COVID-19 forecasting-related data in 1 figure, including the fraction of online news articles and microblogs, search query counts, and lab-confirmed new case counts in mainland China, except Hubei, and Hubei province. All the data were normalized into an interval of 0 to 100 for better comparison. The figures aimed to show the Internet-based data sources' potential to provide warnings for COVID-19 epidemics.

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35266

We also conducted lagged Pearson correlation analyses to evaluate the strength of relationships between different Internet-based data sources and daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts. The max time lag explored was 20 days [26]. Because outliers can have a large influence on the Pearson correlation [37], we replaced the outlier data in Hubei on February 12, 2020, with the average of the 2 nearest neighbors [38]. A high correlation threshold of 0.7 was used, based on previous research [27].

Model Formulation

Following previous infectious disease surveillance research [14,15,39], including COVID-19 forecasting research [11,26], we proposed an autoregressive model with exogenous inputs [40,41]. We used the proportion of daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts as a dependent variable. For the proportions of daily new confirmed case counts bounded between 0 and 1, we used logit transformation on the variable to turn it into unbounded scores [14,39,42]. The proportion was calculated by dividing the number of new confirmed COVID-19 case counts over the related population, which was based on the latest Chinese national population census [43]. We then proposed our model by adding log-transformed COVID-19-related Internet-based data as exogenous inputs, including the fraction of online news article, microblogs, and search query counts. Let p_t be the new confirmed COVID-19 case proportion. For days when $p_t = 0$, we added a small positive number, λ , in the logit transformation. λ was calculated by dividing the square of the first quantile by the third quantile of all the proportions [44]. Let $y_t = logit(p_{t+}\lambda)$ be the logit-transformed new confirmed COVID-19 case proportion at day t. Let x_t be the log-transformed fraction of COVID-19-related online news articles at day t, z_t be the log-transformed fraction of COVID-19-related microblogs at day t, and s_t be the log-transformed COVID-19-related search volume at day t. We chose "fever" to represent search queries, for it showed the highest correlations with new confirmed COVID-19 counts.

We proposed our autoregressive model with exogenous inputs, denoted as



Incorporating the real-time and historical data from online news articles, microblogs, and search query volume:

¥
^

Where a_i quantifies the contribution from the historical new confirmed COVID-19 case counts, b_j quantifies the contribution from the historical fraction of COVID-19–related online news articles, c_h quantifies the contribution from the historical fraction of COVID-19–related online news articles, d_k quantifies the contribution from the historical fraction of COVID-19–related online news articles, d_k quantifies the contribution from the historical fraction of COVID-19–related online news articles, d_k quantifies the contribution from the historical COVID-19–related search queries, M is a binary variable that equals 1 when data are in Hubei and equals 0 when data are outside Hubei, f is a constant term, and $_t$ is a vector of independent random disturbance. I_t is a time-varying binary variable that equals 1 on February 12,

2020, when Hubei adopted the fifth edition of the diagnostic criteria. I_t controls for the exogenous shock of case counts on that day [26]. lag_{NC} , lag_{News} , lag_{Mblog} , and lag_{Query} ranged from 1 to 20 and were the optimal values that led to the highest forecasting accuracy (lowest root-mean-square error [RMSE]) for related baseline models described in the next paragraph using a single Internet-based data source (see Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 for detailed lag selections).

We considered 5 baseline models, including (1) $AR(lag_{NC})$: autoregression model based on historical new confirmed COVID-19 case only [16, 26],counts (2) $AR(lag_{NC})+News(lag_{News})$: autoregression model adding the fraction of COVID-19-related online news articles as an exogenous input [16], (3) $AR(lag_{NC})+Mblog(lag_{Mblog})$: autoregression model adding the fraction of microblogs as an exogenous input [26], (4) $AR(lag_{NC})+Query(lag_{Ouery})$: autoregression model adding search volume as an exogenous input [36], and (5) $AR(lag_{NC})+News(1)+Mblog(1)+Query(1)$: multivariable linear model adding the fraction of real-time online news articles, the fraction of microblogs, and search query volume into historical official COVID-19 report data [11,20] (see Multimedia Appendix 3 for detailed model formulations).

Retrospective estimations of the daily proportion of confirmed COVID-19 counts were produced through the proposed model and baseline models. The estimation period was from January 19, 2020, to February 29, 2020, for mainland China, except for Hubei. For Hubei province, even though the official laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 cases can be retrieved since January 10, 2020, there was a severe lack of laboratory testing capacity at the beginning of this unexpected epidemic. Specifically, there were thousands of COVID-19-suspected cases that could not be confirmed due to the lack of testing capacity before January 27, 2020, and the daily test capacity in Hubei had to be extended 10 times on January 27, 2020 to address this issue [45]. The officially reported daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts before January 27, 2020 reflected the testing capacity rather than the evolution of the epidemic. Thus, we tested the proposed model and other baseline models from January 27, 2020, to February 29, 2020, in Hubei.

We used the variance inflation factor (VIF) to measure multicollinearity in the independent variables. A VIF over 4 indicates a moderate level of multicollinearity, and a VIF exceeding 10 shows severe multicollinearity [46]. A repeated k-fold cross-validation [47,48] was adopted to evaluate the proposed model and baseline models. In this study, we split the data into 10 folds and repeated the cross-validation procedure 10 times [47]. We adopted the 5 most commonly used accuracy measures to compare the models' forecasting results with the actual daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts. The accuracy measures included the RMSE, mean absolute error (MAE), mean absolute percentage error (MAPE), correlation with forecasting target, and correlation of increment with forecasting target (the formulas for the accuracy indexes are presented in Multimedia Appendix 4) [14,49]. We conducted the analyses with the R version 4.0.2 statistical software package caret [50] version 6.0-86 and DAAG [51] version 1.24.

Results

Internet-Based Data Statistics

Overall, we extracted 608,335 (out of 75,431,068) and 123,955 (out of 15,062,844) COVID-19-related online news articles for mainland China, except Hubei, and Hubei province separately, respectively. Unofficial online news articles accounted for about 92.8% (83,966,946/90,493,912) of all the news articles traced. We also identified 476,932 (out of 32,475,162) and 191,296 (out of 4,926,738) COVID-19-related microblogs posted in mainland China, except Hubei, and Hubei province, respectively. For the COVID-19-related search queries, we retrieved 24,165,139 queries in mainland China, except Hubei, and 988,402 related queries in Hubei province. The daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts, the fraction of COVID-19-related online news articles, the fraction of COVID-19-related microblogs, and COVID-19-related search query counts are displayed in Figures 1 and 2.

Figure 1 shows that the first peak of daily confirmed COVID-19 case counts was reached on January 30, 2020, in provinces except Hubei. Compared with the official COVID-19 case counts, the peak in COVID-19–related online news articles was 2 days earlier (January 28, 2020), the peak in microblogs was 3 days earlier (January 27, 2020), and the peaks in search queries were 4 days to 7 days earlier (from January 23, 2020, to January 26, 2020).

Figure 2 shows that the highest peak of daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts was reached on February 4, 2020, in Hubei province. Compared with the peak of official COVID-19 case counts, the peak in COVID-19-related online news articles was 12 days earlier (January 23, 2020), peak in microblogs was 13 days earlier (January 22, 2020), and peaks in search queries were 10 days to 12 days earlier (from January 23, 2020, to January 25, 2020). An outlier of incidence was found on February 12, 2020, when the new confirmed COVID-19 case counts increased dramatically as Hubei province started implementing the fifth edition of the COVID-19 diagnostic criteria. The new diagnostic criteria introduced more flexible diagnostic standards and turned many previously suspected cases into confirmed cases. This outlier could impact the forecasting accuracy and has been dealt with carefully in the model formulation and data analysis.

Lagged Pearson correlation analyses between different Internet-based data sources and daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts were also conducted to illustrate the predictive power. The highest correlations for different sources with different time lags are summarized in Table 1 (see Tables S2 and S3 in Multimedia Appendix 2 for more details).

Table 1 shows that, in mainland China except Hubei, the highest correlation for online news articles was 0.619 with 2 days' time lag, the highest correlation for microblogs was 0.613 with 2 days' time lag, and the highest correlations for search queries ranged from 0.831 to 0.949 with time lags of 3 days to 6 days. In Hubei province, the highest correlation for online news articles was 0.667 with 14 days' time lag, the highest correlation for microblogs was 0.632 with 7 days' time lag, and the highest

correlations for search queries ranged from 0.750 to 0.826 with time lags of 10 days to 12 days. Although the highest correlations for online news articles and microblogs were below

the high correlation threshold (0.7), these correlations were all above 0.6, which was relatively high.

Figure 1. Daily time series of new confirmed COVID-19 case counts (NC), the fraction of COVID-19 related microblogs (Mblog), the fraction of COVID-19–related online news articles (News), and numbers of COVID-19–related search queries with the keyword "fever," "dry cough," "chest distress," "pneumonia," or "coronavirus" in mainland China, except Hubei province, from December 21, 2019 to February 29, 2020.



Figure 2. Daily time series of new confirmed COVID-19 case counts (NC), the fraction of COVID-19 related microblogs (Mblog), the fraction of COVID-19–related online news articles (News), and numbers of COVID-19–related search queries with the keyword "fever," "dry cough," "chest distress," "pneumonia," or "coronavirus" in Hubei province from December 21, 2019 to February 29, 2020.





Table 1. Strongest correlation coefficients, *P* values, and related time lag between new confirmed COVID-19 case counts and the fraction of COVID-19–related microblogs, fraction of COVID-19–related online news articles, and numbers of COVID-19–related search queries between December 21, 2019, and February 29, 2020.

Source	Outside Hubei			Hubei		
	Highest correlation	P value	Days earlier	Highest correlation	P value	Days earlier
News articles	0.619	<.001	2	0.667	<.001	14
Microblogs	0.613	<.001	2	0.632	<.001	7
Search for "fever"	0.949	<.001	4	0.826	<.001	12
Search for "dry cough"	0.831	<.001	6	0.775	<.001	12
Search for "chest distress"	0.867	<.001	3	0.806	<.001	10
Search for "pneumonia"	0.854	<.001	5	0.750	<.001	11
Search for "coronavirus"	0.831	<.001	6	0.765	<.001	12

Model Evaluation

The forecasting results for our proposed model and baseline models are presented in Tables 2 and 3. Optimal lags of different data sources, which result in the lowest RMSE for related

baseline models incorporating a single Internet-based data source, are shown (see Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 for the optimal lag selection). The last 2 columns show the paired t test results comparing our proposed model with the baseline models.

Table 2. COVID-19 epidemic forecasting model comparison for mainland China, except Hubei, between January 19, 2020, and February 29, 2020.

Model (lag)	Model number	RMSE ^a	MAE ^b	MAPE ^c	Correlation	Incremental correlation	t ₁₉₈	P value
AR(7)+News(1)+ Mblog(10)+Query(1)	model i	87.461	47.780	0.154	0.960	0.435	N/A ^d	N/A
AR(7)	model 1	152.182	97.852	0.579	0.852	0.006	-8.722	<.001
AR(7)+News(1)	model 2	117.223	68.158	0.374	0.911	0.066	-5.000	<.001
AR(7)+Mblog(10)	model 3	93.754	51.375	0.185	0.948	0.403	-1.882	.06
AR(7)+Query(1)	model 4	138.724	85.024	0.421	0.905	0.168	-4.644	<.001
AR(7)+News(1)+ Mblog(1)+Query(1)	model 5	90.494	53.332	0.306	0.954	0.167	-4.488	<.001

^aRMSE: root-mean-square error.

^bMAE: mean absolute error.

^cMAPE: mean absolute percentage error.

^dN/A: not applicable.

Table 3. COVID-19 epidemic forecasting model comparison for Hubei province, China, between January 27, 2020, and February 29, 2020.

Model (lag) (model no.)	Model number	RMSE ^a	MAE ^b	MAPE ^c	Correlation	Incremental correlation	t ₁₉₈	P value
AR(1)+News(3)+ Mblog(1)+Query(3)	model i	325.216	225.620	0.168	0.990	0.984	N/A ^d	N/A
AR(1)	model 1	658.238	403.665	0.267	0.963	0.958	-1.732	.09
AR(1)+News(2)	model 2	488.974	325.731	0.226	0.978	0.976	-1.196	.24
AR(1)+Mblog(1)	model 3	431.457	311.196	0.228	0.983	0.977	-0.252	.80
AR(1)+Query(3)	model 4	437.368	286.900	0.201	0.983	0.976	-0.364	.72
AR(1)+News(1)+ Mblog(1)+Query(1)	model 5	360.725	272.602	0.206	0.988	0.981	-0.965	.34

^aRMSE: root-mean-square error.

^bMAE: mean absolute error.

^cMAPE: mean absolute percentage error.

^dN/A: not applicable.

XSL∙F() RenderX

The results from the 5 accuracy measures were interpreted. The results in Tables 2 and 3 show that our proposed model (model i) achieved the highest accuracy in all 5 accuracy measures,

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35266

compared with all the baseline models in both Hubei province and the rest of mainland China. Plots depicting forecasting

results and estimation errors for the proposed model and baseline models are also shown in Figures 3 and 4.

We then assessed the statistical significance of the forecasting accuracy improvement between different models based on paired t tests on the models' RMSEs. For mainland China, except Hubei, Table 2 and Figure 3 show that our proposed model (model i) could significantly improve the forecasting accuracy, compared with all the other baseline models (model 1, t₁₉₈=-8.722, P<.001; model 2, t₁₉₈=-5.000, P<.001; model 3, t_{198} =-1.882, P=.06; model 4, t_{198} =-4.644, P<.001; model 5, t₁₉₈=-4.488, P<.001). For Hubei province, Table 3 and Figure 4 show our proposed model's (model i) forecasting accuracy improved significantly (at a significance level of .10) compared with the forecasting model using historical new confirmed COVID-19 case counts only (model 1, t_{198} =-1.732, P=.09) and no significant differences compared with other baseline models (model 2, t_{198} =-1.196, P=.24; model 3, t_{198} =-0.252, P=.80; model 4, t₁₉₈=-0.364, P=.72; model 5, t₁₉₈=-0.965, P=.34). The forecasting accuracy differences between other baseline models using Internet-based data sources and model 1 are not significant (model 2, t_{198} =-0.900, P=.37; model 3, t_{198} =-1.630, P=.11; model 4, t_{198} =-1.324, P=.19; model 5, t_{198} =-0.786, P=.43).

We also evaluated the practical significance of the forecasting models from the perspective of MAPE. For provinces outside Hubei of mainland China in Table 2, our proposed model showed significant accuracy improvement. Specifically, our proposed forecasting model's unexplained error percentage was 15.4%, while the unexplained error percentages for the other models were as follows: forecasting model based on historical new confirmed COVID-19 case counts only (model 1), 57.9%; model incorporating COVID-19-related online news articles (model 2), 37.4%; model incorporating COVID-19-related microblogs (model 3), 18.5%; model incorporating COVID-19-related search queries (model 4), 42.1%; model combining real-time Internet-based sources into historical new COVID-19 case counts (model 5), 30.6%. Meanwhile, for Hubei province in Table 3, the improvement in accuracy with our proposed model was also nearly significant. The unexplained error percentage for our proposed model was 16.8%, while the unexplained error percentages for the other models were as follows: model 1, 26.7%; model 2, 22.6%; model 3, 22.8%; model 4, 20.1%; model 5, 20.6%.

The collinearity diagnostics revealed that real-time social media data, online news articles, and search queries are independent of each other in supplementing COVID-19 surveillance. More detailed results and discussions are presented in Multimedia Appendix 5.







Figure 4. (A) Forecasting results for Hubei province between January 27, 2020 and February 29, 2020, during which the daily estimations of our proposed model and baseline models were compared against the daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts (NC), and (B) the estimation error, defined as the estimated value minus the daily new confirmed COVID-19 case counts.



Discussion

Principal Findings

The SARS-COV-2 virus and its variants pose extraordinary challenges for public health systems worldwide. More accurate forecasting of COVID-19 epidemics is key to improving the efficiency of resource allocation and the implementation of intervention policies [11,26]. Our proposed model innovatively incorporates both real-time and historical data from multiple Internet-based sources for COVID-19 epidemic forecasting. Tested during the first wave of the COVID-19 epidemic in mainland China, except Hubei, our proposed model showed statistically significant improved forecasting accuracy compared with the other baseline models. Tested in Hubei province, our proposed model outperformed all the baseline models in all 5 accuracy indexes, revealed significant practical influence, and showed statistically significant improved forecasting accuracy compared with baseline model 1 using the lab-confirmed case count only. Other baseline models incorporating different Internet-based data sources did not show significant differences compared with baseline model 1. This may be because people knew little of the disease at first and all talked online about the novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, Hubei, which could lead to disturbances in the Internet-based data sources [52]. In this condition, a single Internet-based data source or real-time data only may not be able to improve the COVID-19 forecasting accuracy, and our proposed model shows the ability to mitigate the disturbance and enhance COVID-19 surveillance by

combining real-time and historical data from multiple Internet-based data sources.

This study also explored COVID-19 forecasting timeliness using different Internet-based data sources. Unlike previous studies that mainly focused on official online news articles, our study also took into account unofficial online news articles, which accounted for about 92.5% of all online news articles. The results show that COVID-19-related online news articles could provide a warning for the COVID-19 epidemic in mainland China, except Hubai, about 2 days earlier and in Hubai about 12 days to 14 days earlier. A similar early warning ability was also shown for microblogs and search queries. We found significant differences in the lag in an early warning for mainland China, except Hubei, and Hubei province, which may be caused by 2 reasons. First, Hubei experienced an extreme shortage of testing capacity in the beginning [26], which could have delayed the peak of lab-confirmed new case counts. Second, at the beginning of the first COVID-19 epidemic, people were curious about this unknown disease and tended to search or post related information even when they did not have associated symptoms [52]. This could advance the corresponding peak in Internet-based sources. As of the time of this writing, people were familiar with COVID-19-related information, and Internet-based sources, including online news articles, are supposed to provide a 2- to 6-day early warning for COVID-19 outbreaks.

Our study innovatively proposes core terms and symptom-related keyword-based approaches to extract COVID-19–related Internet-based data sources. The

keyword-based approaches allow us to constantly and conveniently update the core terms and symptoms to keep up with the mutation of the COVID-19 virus. For example, people infected with the Delta variant are more likely to have a "runny nose," "headache," or "sore throat" and less likely to experience "loss of smell" [53]. Researchers then could focus more on the core term of "Delta variant" and the symptoms of "runny nose," "headache," and "sore throat" in online public data–based COVID-19 surveillance for this new round of epidemic in Europe [6]. We thus argue that our proposed model could help governments better prepare and respond to a new wave of COVID-19 and its variants.

Another interesting finding of our study is that the peak of daily new confirmed case counts in Hubei was reached on February 4, 2020, while the peak in the rest of mainland China was reached on January 30, 2020 (5 days earlier than Hubei Province). This finding was contrary to our common sense, for Hubei was the epicenter of the initial outbreak, and the rest of mainland China was influenced by this epidemic later. One possible reason for the delay of the COVID-19 epidemic peak in Hubei was the extreme shortage of medical resources at the beginning of the epidemic, including testing ability and hospital beds [26,45]. Many suspected cases could not be tested until the testing ability was extended 10 times on January 27 [45]. And until 15 mobile cabin hospitals were built in early February 2020, many confirmed cases with no or mild symptoms had to be quarantined at home rather than stay in the hospital, which increased the risk of COVID-19 transmission [54]. Different from Hubei, the rest of mainland China experienced a much smaller number of COVID-19 cases and had much more adequate medical resources [26], which made it possible to test and quarantine all the COVID-19 suspected cases in time. Thus, even though the rest of mainland China was influenced by the COVID-19 epidemic later than Hubei province, it is possible that the rest of mainland China could control the disease and reach the peak of daily new confirmed case counts earlier than Hubei. Future research could explore the factors contributing to the delay or advance of the epidemic peaks.

Overall, the results show that incorporating both real-time and historical data from multiple Internet-based sources into the COVID-19 forecasting model could significantly improve the forecasting accuracy, compared with other baseline models. Internet-based data sources, including online news articles, microblogs, and search queries, could provide early warning for COVID-19 outbreaks. These findings have broad public health implications. Internet-based data are timely, low-cost, and rich in information, making them critical in the surveillance of COVID-19 outbreaks. This application is even more important in rural areas, where the health infrastructure does not allow for widespread screening. COVID-19 surveillance using Internet-based data could provide much-needed information to help the government trace the outbreak and more effectively allocate resources, including testing capacity, oxygen cylinders, and hospital beds. Internet-based platforms allow users to capture detailed real-time snapshots of COVID-19-related events that happen to them or near them. As the COVID-19 virus continues to mutate, Internet-based

RenderX

sources with richer information have the potential to identify novel COVID-19 variants through deeper information analysis.

Limitations

There are several limitations and potential future directions of this study that we would like to mention. First, our study only used retrospective data from mainland China and did not test the proposed model in countries that are currently experiencing an epidemic of COVID-19 and its variants. This is mainly because of data accessibility. We could not find available databases or online platforms that allowed us to access a large volume of real-time and historical microblogs and unofficial online news articles in other countries. We encourage future work to use the proposed method in different countries to test its generalizability and robustness.

Second, our study did not incorporate machine learning methods in the data filtering process. In this study, we explored the full database of Internet-based sources in mainland China from the SNOSS and Baidu Search Index, where the raw data are not available for downloading and further analysis. Future research could apply advanced machine learning methods to the raw data of various Internet-based sources to achieve more accurate epidemic-related data extraction and deeper information analyses. For example, future research can use the support vector machine to help extract COVID-19–related online data [55] or use a topic modeling algorithm to generate major themes about the COVID-19 epidemic [56]. Deeper content analyses could help identify real-time characteristics of the COVID-19 epidemic, which may act as early warning signals for new emerging COVID-19 variants or other epidemics.

Finally, our study mainly used symptom- and core term-related keywords to extract COVID-19-related Internet-based data, which has been proven to provide the most accurate predictions compared with other types of keywords [9,15]. Our underlying assumption is that, before getting severe symptoms and going to a sentinel hospital, patients with mild symptoms would likely search for or post COVID-19-related symptoms or core terms online. Our Internet-based method could identify patients with COVID-19 symptoms but lose sight of patients in the incubation period with no symptoms, which meant our method could only provide warning 2 days to 6 days earlier for the epidemic outbreaks. As our study's major aim was to improve the COVID-19 forecasting accuracy, we did not explore new methods to improve the forecasting timeliness of Internet-based data in our study. We call for future studies to explore novel Internet-based sources, like traffic data and weather [21,57], to help improve the forecasting timeliness for COVID-19 epidemics.

Conclusions

COVID-19 and its variants have been and continue to be a major public health threat worldwide. COVID-19 core term– and symptom-related Internet-based data could provide invaluable warning signals to the public and supplement existing COVID-19 surveillance systems. This study showed that our proposed COVID-19 forecasting method, incorporating both real-time and historical data from multiple Internet-based sources, could significantly improve the forecasting accuracy

compared with other baseline models. Our results also show that Internet-based sources, including online news articles, could

provide a warning 2 days to 6 days earlier for COVID-19 outbreaks.

Acknowledgments

JL would like to acknowledge the partial grant support for the research (71731009, 72061127002, 92146005). WH would also like to acknowledge the partial grant support (2018WZDXM020, 71722014, 71732006, 91546119). CLS would also like to acknowledge the partial grant support (Hong Kong's RGC-GRF grant 9042571 and CityU 11504417). This research was also partially supported by Shenzhen Key Research Base in Arts & Social Sciences and the National Laboratory of Mechanical Manufacture Systems Engineering, Xi'an Jiaotong University.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Detailed descriptions of the Internet-based data extraction and filtering methods. [DOCX File, 28 KB - publichealth v8i6e35266 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Supplementary tables. [DOCX File, 37 KB - publichealth v8i6e35266 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Descriptions and formulations of baseline models. [DOCX File , 19 KB - publichealth_v8i6e35266_app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Accuracy indexes. [DOCX File, 13 KB - publichealth_v8i6e35266_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Collinearity diagnostics. [DOCX File , 23 KB - publichealth v8i6e35266 app5.docx]

References

- 1. COVID-19 Weekly Epidemiological Update. World Health Organization. 2021 Jan 31. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/docs/</u> <u>default-source/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20210202_weekly_epi_update_25.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 2. Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://covid19.who.int/</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- Lovelace B. WHO says delta is the fastest and fittest Covid variant and will "pick off" most vulnerable. CNBC. 2021 Jun 23. URL: <u>https://www.cnbc.com/2021/06/21/</u>
- <u>covid-delta-who-says-variant-is-the-fastest-and-fittest-and-will-pick-off-most-vulnerable-.html</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
 Callaway E. Delta coronavirus variant: scientists brace for impact. Nature 2021 Jul 22;595(7865):17-18. [doi:
- <u>10.1038/d41586-021-01696-3</u> [Medline: <u>34158664</u>]
 Delta coronavirus variant has spread to 185 countries, says WHO. Business Standard. 2021 Sep 22. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/msfw9ts</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 6. Covid: WHO says it is very worried about Europe surge. BBC. 2021 Nov 20. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/</u> world-europe-59358074 [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 7. What we know about the new omicron COVID-19 variant. The Japan Times. 2021 Nov 27. URL: <u>https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2021/11/27/world/covid-variant-omicron-explainer/</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- Covid: New variant classed 'of concern' and named Omicron. BBC. 2021 Nov 27. URL: <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/</u> world-59438723 [accessed 2022-06-07]
- Yousefinaghani S, Dara R, Mubareka S, Sharif S. Prediction of COVID-19 waves using social media and Google search: a case study of the US and Canada. Front Public Health 2021;9:656635 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.656635] [Medline: 33937179]

- Yuan X, Xu J, Hussain S, Wang H, Gao N, Zhang L. Trends and prediction in daily new cases and deaths of COVID-19 in the United States: an internet search-interest based model. Explor Res Hypothesis Med 2020 Apr 18;5(2):1-6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14218/ERHM.2020.00023] [Medline: 32348380]
- 11. Liu D, Clemente L, Poirier C, Ding X, Chinazzi M, Davis J, et al. Real-time forecasting of the COVID-19 outbreak in Chinese provinces: machine learning approach using novel digital data and estimates from mechanistic models. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 17;22(8):e20285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20285] [Medline: 32730217]
- 12. Gupta A, Katarya R. Social media based surveillance systems for healthcare using machine learning: A systematic review. J Biomed Inform 2020 Aug;108:103500 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2020.103500] [Medline: 32622833]
- 13. Fung IC, Tse ZTH, Cheung C, Miu AS, Fu K. Ebola and the social media. Lancet 2014 Dec 20;384(9961):2207. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)62418-1] [Medline: 25625391]
- 14. Yang S, Santillana M, Kou SC. Accurate estimation of influenza epidemics using Google search data via ARGO. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015 Nov 24;112(47):14473-14478 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1515373112] [Medline: 26553980]
- Achrekar H, Gandhe A, Lazarus R, Yu SH, Liu B. Twitter Improves Seasonal Influenza Prediction. 2012 Presented at: International Conference on Health Informatics - HEALTHINF; February 1-4, 2012; Vilamoura, Algarve, Portugal p. 61-70. [doi: <u>10.5220/0003780600610070</u>]
- Li J, Sia C, Chen Z, Huang W. Enhancing influenza epidemics forecasting accuracy in China with both official and unofficial online news articles, 2019-2020. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Jun 18;18(12):6591 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18126591] [Medline: 34207479]
- 17. Ginsberg J, Mohebbi MH, Patel RS, Brammer L, Smolinski MS, Brilliant L. Detecting influenza epidemics using search engine query data. Nature 2009 Feb 19;457(7232):1012-1014. [doi: <u>10.1038/nature07634</u>] [Medline: <u>19020500</u>]
- Yan S, Chughtai A, Macintyre C. Utility and potential of rapid epidemic intelligence from internet-based sources. Int J Infect Dis 2017 Oct;63:77-87 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2017.07.020] [Medline: 28765076]
- Wilson K, Brownstein JS. Early detection of disease outbreaks using the Internet. CMAJ 2009 Apr 14;180(8):829-831 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.090215] [Medline: 19364791]
- 20. McGough SF, Brownstein JS, Hawkins JB, Santillana M. Forecasting Zika incidence in the 2016 Latin America outbreak combining traditional disease surveillance with search, social media, and news report data. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2017 Jan;11(1):e0005295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0005295] [Medline: 28085877]
- Liu N, Chen Z, Bao G. Role of media coverage in mitigating COVID-19 transmission: Evidence from China. Technol Forecast Soc Change 2021 Feb;163:120435 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2020.120435] [Medline: 33162619]
- 22. Bridgman A, Merkley E, Loewen PJ, Owen T, Ruths D, Teichmann L, et al. The causes and consequences of COVID-19 misperceptions: Understanding the role of news and social media. HKS Misinfo Review 2020 Jun 18:1. [doi: 10.37016/mr-2020-028]
- 23. Chen Z, Cho S, Poudyal N, Roberts RK. Forecasting housing prices under different market segmentation assumptions. Urban Studies 2009 Jan 01;46(1):167-187. [doi: 10.1177/0042098008098641]
- 24. Ardabili SF, Mosavi A, Ghamisi P, Ferdinand F, Varkonyi-Koczy AR, Reuter U, et al. COVID-19 outbreak prediction with machine learning. Algorithms 2020 Oct 01;13(10):249. [doi: 10.3390/a13100249]
- 25. Lee J, Kwan Y, Lee JY, Shin JI, Lee KH, Hong SH, et al. Public interest in immunity and the justification for intervention in the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic: analysis of Google trends data. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jun 18;23(6):e26368 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26368] [Medline: 34038375]
- 26. Shen C, Chen A, Luo C, Zhang J, Feng B, Liao W. Using reports of symptoms and diagnoses on social media to predict COVID-19 case counts in mainland China: observational infoveillance study. J Med Internet Res 2020 May 28;22(5):e19421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19421] [Medline: 32452804]
- Li C, Chen LJ, Chen X, Zhang M, Pang CP, Chen H. Retrospective analysis of the possibility of predicting the COVID-19 outbreak from Internet searches and social media data, China, 2020. Euro Surveill 2020 Mar;25(10):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.10.2000199] [Medline: 32183935]
- Effenberger M, Kronbichler A, Shin JI, Mayer G, Tilg H, Perco P. Association of the COVID-19 pandemic with Internet search volumes: a Google trends analysis. Int J Infect Dis 2020 Jun;95:192-197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.04.033] [Medline: 32305520]
- 29. Venkatesh U, Gandhi PA. Prediction of COVID-19 outbreaks using Google trends in India: a retrospective analysis. Healthc Inform Res 2020 Jul;26(3):175-184 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4258/hir.2020.26.3.175] [Medline: 32819035]
- Valentin S, Mercier A, Lancelot R, Roche M, Arsevska E. Monitoring online media reports for early detection of unknown diseases: Insight from a retrospective study of COVID-19 emergence. Transbound Emerg Dis 2021 May;68(3):981-986 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/tbed.13738] [Medline: 32683774]
- 31. Gu J, Wu Y, Xu Y. Linguistic Feature and Temporal Pattern of User-Generated News: Evidence from an Online News Portal in China. 2018 Jun Presented at: PACIS 2018; June 26-30, 2018; Yokohama, Japan p. 19 URL: <u>https://aisel.aisnet.org/pacis2018/19</u>
- 32. COVID-19 Epidemic Dynamics. Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>http://www.chinacdc.cn/jkzt/</u> <u>crb/zl/szkb_11803/jszl_11809/</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 33. News. Health Commission of Hubei Province. URL: http://wjw.hubei.gov.cn/bmdt/dtyw/ [accessed 2022-06-07]

- 34. Sina Network Opinion Surveillance System. URL: <u>https://yqt.mdata.net/</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 35. Baidu Index. URL: <u>http://index.baidu.com/</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 36. Qin L, Sun Q, Wang Y, Wu K, Chen M, Shia B, et al. Prediction of number of cases of 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) using social media search index. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Mar 31;17(7):2365 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17072365] [Medline: 32244425]
- 37. Goodwin LD, Leech NL. Understanding correlation: factors that affect the size of r. The Journal of Experimental Education 2006 Apr;74(3):249-266. [doi: 10.3200/jexe.74.3.249-266]
- Beretta L, Santaniello A. Nearest neighbor imputation algorithms: a critical evaluation. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2016 Jul 25;16 Suppl 3:74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-016-0318-z] [Medline: 27454392]
- 39. Hswen Y, Brownstein JS, Liu J, Hawkins JB. Use of a digital health application for influenza surveillance in China. Am J Public Health 2017 Jul;107(7):1130-1136. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2017.303767] [Medline: 28520492]
- 40. Zou H, Yang Y. Combining time series models for forecasting. International Journal of Forecasting 2004 Jan;20(1):69-84. [doi: 10.1016/s0169-2070(03)00004-9]
- 41. Simpkins A. System Identification: Theory for the User, 2nd Edition (Ljung, L.; 1999) [On the Shelf]. IEEE Robot. Automat. Mag 2012 Jun;19(2):95-96. [doi: 10.1109/MRA.2012.2192817]
- 42. Lesaffre E, Rizopoulos D, Tsonaka R. The logistic transform for bounded outcome scores. Biostatistics 2007 Jan 05;8(1):72-85. [doi: 10.1093/biostatistics/kxj034] [Medline: 16597671]
- 43. Seventh National Population Census. National Bureau of Statistics. URL: <u>http://www.stats.gov.cn/ztjc/zdtjgz/zgrkpc/</u> <u>dqcrkpc/</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 44. Stahel W. Statistische datenanalyseine einführung für naturwissenschaftler. Braunschweig, Germany: Springer Vieweg Verlag; 2002.
- 45. Wuhan: Daily Testing Ability Raising From 200 to 2000. Health Commission of Hubei Province. 2020 Jan 29. URL: <u>http://wjw.hubei.gov.cn/bmdt/ztzl/fkxxgzbdgrfyyq/fkdt/202001/t20200129_2016053.shtml</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 46. O'brien RM. A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. Qual Quant 2007 Mar 13;41(5):673-690. [doi: 10.1007/s11135-006-9018-6]
- 47. James G, Witten D, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. An Introduction to Statistical Learning with Applications in R. New York, NY: Springer; 2013.
- Ayyoubzadeh SM, Ayyoubzadeh SM, Zahedi H, Ahmadi M, R Niakan Kalhori S. Predicting COVID-19 incidence through analysis of Google trends data in Iran: data mining and deep learning pilot study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Apr 14;6(2):e18828 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18828] [Medline: 32234709]
- 49. Chen Z, Yang Y. Assessing Forecast Accuracy Measures. 2004 Mar 14. URL: <u>https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.69.1016&rep=rep1&type=pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 50. Kuhn M. Building predictive models in R using the caret package. J. Stat. Soft 2008;28(5):1. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v028.i05]
- 51. Maindonald JH, Braun WJ. DAAG: Data Analysis and Graphics Data and Functions. Cran R. 2015. URL: <u>https://cran.</u> <u>r-project.org/package=DAAG</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 52. Lazer D, Kennedy R, King G, Vespignani A. Big data. The parable of Google Flu: traps in big data analysis. Science 2014 Mar 14;343(6176):1203-1205. [doi: 10.1126/science.1248506] [Medline: 24626916]
- 53. Katella K. 5 Things To Know About the Delta Variant. Yale Medicine. 2022 Mar 01. URL: <u>https://www.yalemedicine.org/news/5-things-to-know-delta-variant-covid</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 54. A total of 16 mobile cabin hospitals have been built and 15 have been put into operation in Wuhan. SOHU. 2020 May 14. URL: <u>https://www.sohu.com/a/395142180_118392</u> [accessed 2022-06-07]
- 55. Broniatowski DA, Paul MJ, Dredze M. National and local influenza surveillance through Twitter: an analysis of the 2012-2013 influenza epidemic. PLoS One 2013;8(12):e83672 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083672] [Medline: 24349542]
- 56. Fu K, Liang H, Saroha N, Tse ZTH, Ip P, Fung IC. How people react to Zika virus outbreaks on Twitter? A computational content analysis. Am J Infect Control 2016 Dec 01;44(12):1700-1702. [doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2016.04.253] [Medline: 27566874]
- 57. Wang Q, Huang W, Kou B. Examining the relationships between air pollutants and the incidence of acute aortic dissection with electronic medical data in a moderately polluted area of Northwest China. Inquiry 2021 Dec 28;58:469580211065691 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/00469580211065691] [Medline: 34961361]

Abbreviations

RenderX

CDC: Center for Disease Control and Prevention MAE: mean absolute error MAPE: mean absolute percentage error RMSE: root-mean-squared error SNOSS: Sina Network Opinion Surveillance System VIF: variance inflation factor Edited by T Sanchez, A Mavragani; submitted 29.11.21; peer-reviewed by C Wen, C Luo; comments to author 22.01.22; revised version received 12.02.22; accepted 03.05.22; published 16.06.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Li J, Huang W, Sia CL, Chen Z, Wu T, Wang Q Enhancing COVID-19 Epidemic Forecasting Accuracy by Combining Real-time and Historical Data From Multiple Internet-Based Sources: Analysis of Social Media Data, Online News Articles, and Search Queries JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e35266 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e35266 doi:10.2196/35266 PMID:35507921

©Jingwei Li, Wei Huang, Choon Ling Sia, Zhuo Chen, Tailai Wu, Qingnan Wang. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 16.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Attitudes Toward the Global Allocation of Chinese COVID-19 Vaccines: Cross-sectional Online Survey of Adults Living in China

Hanzhi Yu^{1*}, PhD; Runming Du^{2*}, BSc; Minmin Wang^{3*}, PhD; Fengyun Yu^{4*}, BSc; Juntao Yang^{4*}, PhD; Lirui Jiao⁵, BA; Zhuoran Wang⁶, BSc; Haitao Liu⁶, PhD; Peixin Wu^{6,7}, MD; Till Bärnighausen^{6,8,9,10*}, MD, ScD; Lan Xue^{11*}, PhD; Chen Wang^{6,12,13*}, MD, PhD; Shannon McMahon^{8*}, PhD; Pascal Geldsetzer^{14,15*}, MD, PhD; Simiao Chen^{6,8*}, ScD

⁶Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China

⁷Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Beijing, China

⁹Department of Global Health and Population, Harvard T.H. Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States

¹⁰Africa Health Research Institute, Somkhele, South Africa

- ¹²National Clinical Research Center for Respiratory Diseases, Beijing, China
- ¹³Department of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Center of Respiratory Medicine, China-Japan Friendship Hospital, Beijing, China

¹⁴Division of Primary Care and Population Health, Department of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States

¹⁵Chan Zuckerberg Biohub, San Francisco, CA, United States

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Simiao Chen, ScD Heidelberg Institute of Global Health Faculty of Medicine and University Hospital Heidelberg University Postfach 10 57 60 69047 Heidelberg, 69047 Germany Phone: 49 6221 54 0 Fax: 49 6221 54 2618 Email: <u>simiao.chen@uni-heidelberg.de</u>

Abstract

RenderX

Background: COVID-19 vaccines are in short supply worldwide. China was among the first countries to pledge supplies of the COVID-19 vaccine as a global public product, and to date, the country has provided more than 600 million vaccines to more than 200 countries and regions with low COVID-19 vaccination rates. Understanding the public's attitude in China toward the global distribution of COVID-19 vaccines could inform global and national decisions, policies, and debates.

Objective: The aim of this study was to determine the attitudes of adults living in China regarding the global allocation of COVID-19 vaccines developed in China and how these attitudes vary across provinces and by sociodemographic characteristics.

Methods: We conducted a cross-sectional online survey among adults registered with the survey company KuRunData. The survey asked participants 31 questions about their attitudes regarding the global allocation of COVID-19 vaccines developed in China. We disaggregated responses by province and sociodemographic characteristics. All analyses used survey sampling weights.

¹School of Public Affairs, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China

²Department of Global Health, Peking University School of Public Health, Beijing, China

³Key Laboratory of Carcinogenesis and Translational Research, Laboratory of Genetics, Ministry of Education, Peking University Cancer Hospital & Institute, Beijing, China

⁴State Key Laboratory of Medical Molecular Biology, Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China

⁵Columbia University, New York, NY, United States

⁸Heidelberg Institute of Global Health, Faculty of Medicine and University Hospital, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

¹¹School of Public Policy and Management, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China

Results: A total of 10,000 participants completed the questionnaire. Participants generally favored providing COVID-19 vaccines to foreign countries before fulfilling domestic needs (75.6%, 95% CI 74.6%-76.5%). Women (3778/4921, 76.8%; odds ratio 1.18, 95% CI 1.07-1.32; P=.002) and those living in rural areas (3123/4065, 76.8%; odds ratio 1.13, 95% CI 1.01-1.27; P=.03) were especially likely to hold this opinion. Most respondents preferred providing financial support through international platforms rather than directly offering support to individual countries (72.1%, 95% CI 71%-73.1%), while for vaccine products they preferred direct provision to relevant countries instead of via a delivery platform such as COVAX (77.3%, 95% CI 76.3%-78.2%).

Conclusions: Among our survey sample, we found that adults are generally supportive of the international distribution of COVID-19 vaccines, which may encourage policy makers to support and implement the distribution of COVID-19 vaccines developed in China worldwide. Conducting similar surveys in other countries could help align policy makers' actions on COVID-19 vaccine distribution with the preferences of their constituencies.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33484) doi: 10.2196/33484

KEYWORDS

COVID-19 vaccines; China; global allocation; public attitudes; cross-sectional; survey; vaccines; COVID-19; pandemic; public health; health policy; epidemiology

Introduction

Vaccination is a promising approach to achieving global control of COVID-19. It is estimated that over 14 million future deaths could be prevented if COVID-19 vaccines could be delivered sufficiently [1-3]. As of December 31, 2021, over 70% of people in high-income countries are fully vaccinated against COVID-19; while in low-income countries, that number is only 4% [4]. Inequitable allocation of vaccines may lead to avoidable death, social dissatisfaction, and adverse mental health consequences [5,6].

Expanding vaccine coverage to low-income countries is difficult due to insufficient COVID-19 vaccine production and supply; at present, only 22 countries have the capacity to produce COVID-19 vaccines [7]. For most countries, the available vaccines that they can acquire depend on international assistance provided by procurement or purchasing from foreign vaccine companies, bilateral aid between countries, or multilateral aid via institutions (eg, COVAX, a global risk-sharing mechanism for pooled procurement and equitable distribution of COVID-19 vaccines coled by the World Health Organization [WHO], The Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunizations [GAVI], and the Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations, with GAVI responsible for vaccine delivery).

Understanding population-level attitudes toward the global allocation of vaccines is important for several reasons. First, international organizations such as the WHO, which coordinates and allocates COVID-19 vaccines at the global level, need to ensure fair allocation and delivery of vaccines with minimal conflicts and dissatisfactions [8-10]. Knowing the public's attitudes toward the global delivery of vaccines can inform policy making and can support global policy makers to effectively mobilize international communities through their widespread support. Second, public attitudes can have a substantial impact on a country's national foreign aid policies [11]. National governments may avoid formulating foreign policies that contradict public opinions for political reasons. Third, identifying population groups with high and low support for global COVID-19 vaccine allocation is crucial for developing targeted education and communication campaigns

to enhance the recognition and support for a more equitable distribution of vaccines worldwide.

We are not aware of studies exploring public attitudes toward the global allocation of locally produced COVID-19 vaccines (ie, the allocation of COVID-19 vaccines from a domestic population to a global community). Existing research on public attitudes has focused exclusively on domestic allocation of COVID-19 vaccines (ie, priority setting among population groups locally). That literature highlights the public's broad support for vaccinating medical staff first [12-16]. Within China [12], the United States [13], and Italy [14], further research suggests public support for vaccination among older adults, although a study drawing upon Belgian perspectives found support instead for those who are chronically ill, hold essential professions, or who are most likely to spread the virus [15].

Chinese COVID-19 vaccines manufactured by Sinopharm and Sinovac were listed for emergency use by the WHO in 2021 (on May 7 [17] and June 1 [18], respectively). The WHO Strategic Advisory Group of Experts has thoroughly assessed the data on quality, safety, and efficacy of the vaccine, and has recommended its use for people 18 years and older [19,20]. The immunogenicity and safety of the Chinese recombinant COVID-19 vaccine (adenovirus type 5 vector) codeveloped by CanSinoBIO and the Beijing Institute of Biotechnology have been confirmed through randomized controlled trials [21,22]. The Chinese government was among the first to pledge COVID-19 vaccines as a global public good [23]. As of October 17, 2021, China has provided more than 1.5 billion doses to more than 100 countries and international organizations as donations or as a purchased export [24]. At the same time, China is under intense pressure to meet a sizable domestic demand. To achieve an 80% vaccination rate by the end of 2021, an average of 230 million doses is required each month [25-27].

This study explores the Chinese public's attitudes toward global COVID-19 vaccine allocation. In doing so, we provide evidence to policy makers in China for formulating future strategies of global COVID-19 vaccine distribution. Furthermore, work such as this can guide similar public surveys in other COVID-19 vaccine-producing countries.

Methods

Sampling Process

The survey was implemented by KuRunData, an online private survey platform that maintains a database of potential survey participants and delivers surveys. KuRunData recruits members through its own platform [28] and partnerships with other websites, and by encouraging registered members to recruit new members through the popular mobile app WeChat Mini. KuRunData verifies that members have access to mobile phones and the internet, and are capable of navigating online surveys. For this study, we used KuRunData to sample approximately the same number of participants in each of China's provincial-level administrative units, with the total sample size goal being 10,000 adults. Potential participants were unable to access the questionnaire once this sample size goal was reached. Within each province, KuRunData aimed to sample a proportion of participants that was reflective of the demographic composition of the province's population (as per the 2020 China Statistical Yearbook [29]) by sex and urban-rural residence. Adults in the survey pool were invited to participate in the survey by KuRunData's own platform on а first-come-first-served basis. They were informed that they would receive between ¥2 and ¥5 (equivalent to US \$0.30-\$0.80) for completing the questionnaire, according to their membership level. Before filling in the questionnaire, participants had to provide their informed written consent with signature confirmation. The informed consent page described the project's background and purpose, the possible risks, the payment after completing the questionnaire, and the confidentiality of information and records. To be able to access the questionnaire, participants must have opened and scrolled through the informed consent description for at least 15 seconds and self-declared understanding the purpose and risks of the study before signing. The survey was administered between February 19 and March 28, 2021.

Questionnaire

The questionnaire included 31 questions, partitioned into the following sections: informed consent and introduction, attitudes toward delivery and distribution of COVID-19 vaccines, and sociodemographic characteristics. The questionnaire was written in standard simplified Chinese and is shown in Multimedia Appendix 1. Participants had to answer a question to reach the next question.

Data Quality Checks

First, we made sure that the KuRunData platform verified the time taken to complete the questionnaire to ensure that participants read questions before answering. Specifically, survey samples were deleted if the participant took less than 240 seconds or more than 900 seconds to complete the questionnaire. Second, questions included strings that tested for whether there was conflict in the respondents' logic, for example, if the age selected by the respondent is too small to match the situation of marriage, education, and occupation selected by the respondent in any possible way. A total of 243 samples were deleted because of these reasons.

RenderX

Data Analysis

All analyses used sampling weights to account for the complex survey design. The sampling weights were the inverse of the probability of selecting participants given the following variables: sex, rural versus urban residence, and province. These probabilities were calculated using population counts from the 2020 China Statistical Yearbook within each province. In the second part of the questionnaire (on attitudes toward delivery and distribution of COVID-19 vaccines), questions with multiple options were combined as binary variables. For each question, we computed the percentage of participants who selected certain options to summarize the survey findings. For binomial proportions, we constructed 2-sided 95% CIs using the Wilson score interval. To examine how attitudes varied by participants' characteristics, we regressed the binary response onto age (10-year age groups); sex; household income; educational attainment; rural versus urban residence; vocation; and whether a participant had a family member, friend, or acquaintance who they knew had been infected with COVID-19. All regressions were logistic regressions and included only one of these variables plus a binary indicator for each province (province-level fixed effects). We also performed multivariable regression to demonstrate the results with all these variables included in Multimedia Appendix 2, Table A2. In a separate analysis, we used ordinal probit regression as a robustness check and treated the response to Q4 and Q9 as ordinal variables, which takes on the values 1 to 4 for Q4 and 1 to 5 for Q9. For Q4, those with a rank of 1 have the highest willingness to provide COVID-19 vaccines to foreign countries, while those with a rank of 4 have the lowest. For Q9, those with a rank of 1 have the highest price, while those with a rank of 5 have the lowest. The related results are listed in Multimedia Appendix 2, Table A3.

Ethics

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Commission of the Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences (001-2021), and the Research Ethics Commission of Zhejiang University (003-2020).

Results

Sample Characteristics

A total of 10,000 participants were invited to take the survey. All respondents completed the whole survey. Selected participants' sociodemographic characteristics are shown in Table 1, and the full table is listed in Multimedia Appendix 2, Table A1. A total of 4921 females and 5079 males completed the questionnaire. In the survey sample, 9% (900) of the participants were aged 18 or 19 years, the majority (n=7250, 72.5%) were aged 20-59 years, and 18.5% (n=1850) were 60 years or older. Only one-tenth (n=1063, 10.6%) of participants had never been to school or only been to elementary school. About one-third (n=3512, 35.1%) of participants had received high school or technical secondary school education, and one-third (n=3371, 33.7%) had completed an undergraduate degree. Most the of participants (n=9444, 94.4%) were of Han ethnicity. A majority of participants (n=5935, 59.4%) lived in urban areas. About 1.7% (n=171) of participants worked as a

health care provider, including nurses (n=35, 0.4%), physicians (n=46, 0.5%), community health workers (n=51, 0.5%),

pharmacists (n=13, 0.1%), and "other" health care providers (n=26, 0.3%).

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the survey participants.

Characteristic	Survey participants	Survey participants				
	Proportion (weighted %) ^b	Participants, n (%)				
Sex						
Female	48.9	4921 (49.2)	48.9			
Age group (years)						
<20	10.1	900 (9.0)	21.9			
20-29	17.2	1645 (16.5)	13.1			
30-39	17.4	1895 (19.0)	15.7			
40-49	20.3	1890 (18.9)	15.8			
50-59	17.7	1820 (18.2)	15.3			
≥60	17.3	1850 (18.5)	18.1			
Rural-urban residency						
Urban	61.1	5935 (59.4)	60.6			
Works as a health care provider						
No	98.3	9829 (98.3)	99.1			
Nurse	0.4	35 (0.4)	0.3			
Physician	0.5	46 (0.5)	0.3			
Community health worker	0.4	51 (0.5)	<0.1			
Pharmacist	0.1	13 (0.1)	<0.1			
Other health care provider	0.3	26 (0.3)	0.2			

^aAs per the 2020 China Statistical Yearbook.

^bWeighted using survey sampling weights.

Attitude Toward Global Allocation of Chinese COVID-19 Vaccines

As shown in Table 2, about three-quarters of participants (75.6%, 95% CI 74.6%-76.5%) agreed to provide COVID-19 vaccines to foreign countries before fulfilling all domestic needs. Most participants (64.4%, 95% CI 63.3%-65.4%) preferred providing COVID-19 vaccines as a more appropriate way to aid foreign countries compared with offering financial support or sending medical teams. In terms of financial support, participants preferred providing assistance through international platforms (72.1%, 95% CI 71%-73.1%) rather than directly offering assistance to the foreign countries. If COVID-19

vaccines were provided to foreign countries, countries that have diplomatic relations with China were considered as the priority by 56.6% (95% CI 55.5%-57.7%) of participants. Considering the way to deliver vaccines to foreign countries, 77.3% (95% CI 76.3%-78.2%) of participants preferred to provide vaccine products (finished vaccine products or transferring vaccine technology) directly to relevant countries instead of providing vaccines via a delivery platform like COVAX. Less than one-quarter of participants (22.7%, 95% CI 21.8%-23.7%) agreed to provide COVID-19 vaccines to foreign countries at the same or even lower than the cost, and over one half (56.5%, 95% CI 55.4%-57.6%) kept the view that the Chinese government should bear a larger proportion of the cost.



Table 2. Summary of survey findings.

Survey question, combined response, and original response	Proportion, % (95% CI)
In your opinion, if there is a shortage of Chinese COVID-19 vaccines, how should the domestic and internationa	l demand first be met?
Provide to foreign countries before satisfying all domestic needs	
The vaccination needs of global (both domestic and abroad) high-risk and high-danger groups should be met first before other needs are taken into consideration.	19.9 (19.0-20.8)
The vaccination needs of domestic high-risk and high-danger groups should be met first before the vaccination needs abroad are supported.	55.7 (54.6-56.8)
Satisfy the vaccination needs of all Chinese people before providing to others	
The vaccination needs of all domestic groups should be met first before the vaccination needs abroad are supported.	22.7 (21.8-23.6)
Only the domestic vaccination needs should be met, and the remaining vaccines should be taken as national strategic reserves without supporting the vaccination needs abroad.	1.8 (1.5-2.1)
In response to the COVID-19 global pandemic, what do you think China should first consider in providing assist	tance to relevant countries?
To provide COVID-19 vaccines developed by Chinese scientific research institutions and enterprises	
Providing COVID-19 vaccines	64.3 (63.3-65.4)
To provide financial support, medical teams, or others	
Providing financial aid	13.5 (12.8-14.3)
Send medical teams	18.6 (17.7-19.5)
Others, please specify	1.0 (0.8-1.3)
None of the above	2.5 (2.2-2.9)
If COVID-19 vaccines that are developed by Chinese research institutions and companies are to support foreign do you think should be most supported?	countries, which countries
Friendly countries that have diplomatic relations with China	
Countries with friendly diplomatic relations	56.7 (55.4-57.7)
Low-income countries, countries in need, or countries suggested by the WHO ^a to support	
Lowest-income countries	6.0 (5.5-6.6)
Any countries in need	21.0 (20.1-21.9)
Countries recommended to be supported by the WHO	16.4 (15.6-17.2)
In response to the COVID-19 global pandemic, what do you think China should first consider if it were to provi countries?	de financial aid to other
To provide financial support directly to foreign countries	
Donate the funds to the designated country, and the government of the recipient country will arrange its own pandemic prevention efforts	27.9 (26.9-29.0)
To provide financial support via authoritative international organizations or specialized organizations	
Donate the funds to international organizations (eg, the WHO) for comprehensive arrangement and coordination of the response to the pandemic	42.6 (41.5-43.8)
Donate the funds to specialized vaccine organizations (eg, the GAVI ^b Alliance) to purchase COVID-19 vaccines for less-developed countries	29.4 (28.4-30.5)
What plan do you think China should prioritize if it were to provide the Chinese COVID-19 vaccines to other co	ountries?
To provide finished vaccine products directly to foreign countries, or to transfer vaccine technology to releva production	ant countries to allow local
Plan A: Directly providing vaccine products to relevant countries	61.2 (60.1-62.3)
Plan B: Provide vaccine technology transfer to relevant countries and have their local enterprises produce the vaccines	16.1 (15.3-16.9)
To provide vaccines via the delivery platform of authoritative international organizations	
Plan C: Leverage the vaccine delivery platforms of international professional organizations	22.7 (21.8-23.7)

XSL•FO RenderX

Yu et al

Proportion, % (95% CI)

Survey question, combined response, and original response	

In your opinion, at what price should the COVID-19 vaccines developed by the Chinese scientific institutions and enterprises be provided to foreign countries?

At market price or a small profit	
Market price	39.9 (38.8-41.0)
A price with meager profits	37.4 (36.3-38.5)
At or even lower than cost price	
Cost price	18.0 (17.1-18.9)
A price with meager loss	1.4 (1.2-1.7)
Free of charge	3.3 (2.9-3.8)

If the Chinese COVID-19 vaccines are priced below cost, who should bear the price loss when the vaccines are foreigners who are receiving foreign aid?

The	he government should bear a larger proportion of the loss than the enterprise.						
	All borne by the enterprises	3.1 (2.8-3.5)					
	Most borne by the enterprises and partially borne by the Chinese government	19.2 (18.3-20.1)					
	Equally borne by the enterprises and the Chinese government	21.2 (20.3-22.1)					
The	enterprise should bear a larger proportion of the loss than the government.						
	Most borne by the Chinese government and partially borne by the enterprises	36.9 (35.8-38.0)					
	All borne by the Chinese government	19.7 (18.8-20.6)					

^aWHO: World Health Organization.

^bGAVI: Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunizations.

Variation in Attitude Toward International Delivery of COVID-19 Vaccines by Sociodemographic Characteristics

Regarding the willingness to provide COVID-19 vaccines to foreign countries, participants who were female and living in a rural area tended to agree that COVID-19 vaccines can be provided to foreign countries before fulfilling all domestic needs (Table 3). Females were 1.18 (95% CI 1.07-1.32) times more likely than males to agree to provide COVID-19 vaccines to foreign countries. The probability that urban residents agreed was 0.89 (95% CI 0.79-0.99) that of rural residents. Multivariate regression and ordered logistic regression results showed the same results (see Multimedia Appendix 2, Tables A2 and A3).

In terms of COVID-19 vaccine pricing, urban residents and higher annual household income groups were more inclined to believe that COVID-19 vaccines should be provided abroad at market price, instead of at a lower price or free of charge (Table 3). The probability that urban residents agreed to provide COVID-19 vaccines abroad at a low price or free of charge was 0.88 (95% CI 0.78-0.98) that of rural residents. The probability people whose annual household income was that ¥90,000-¥119,999 (US \$14,229-\$18,972) agreed to provide COVID-19 vaccines abroad at a low price or free of charge was 0.62 (95% CI 0.49-0.80) that of the <¥ 30,000 (US \$4743) income group. In multivariate regression, rural-urban residency was not significant, which might be explained by the collinearity between annual household income and rural-urban residency (see Multimedia Appendix 2, Table A2). The ordered logistic regression result showed the same results (see Multimedia Appendix 2, Table A3).



Yu et al

Table 3. Variation in attitude toward international delivery of COVID-19 vaccines by sociodemographic characteristics.^a

Ch	aracteristic	Supporting COVID-	19 vaccine provision illing all domestic no	to foreign eeds ^b	ign Supporting COVID-19 vaccines as low free global public goods ^c		priced or
		Participants, n (%)	OR ^d (95% CI)	P value	Participants, n (%)	OR (95% CI)	P value
Sez	K						
	Male (n=5079)	3779 (74.4)	1 (ref)	N/A ^e	1110 (21.9)	1 (ref)	N/A
	Female (n=4921)	3778 (76.8)	1.18 (1.07-1.32)	.002	1147 (23.3)	1.10 (0.98-1.22)	.10
Ag	e group (years)						
	18-19 (n=900)	724 (80.4)	1 (ref)	N/A	227 (25.2)	1 (ref)	N/A
	20-29 (n=1645)	1299 (79.0)	0.84 (0.67-1.05)	.13	371 (22.6)	0.87 (0.70-1.08)	.21
	30-39 (n=1895)	1400 (73.9)	0.67 (0.54-0.84)	<.001	441 (23.3)	0.88 (0.71-1.09)	.24
	40-49 (n=1890)	1400 (74.1)	0.69 (0.55-0.85)	.001	437 (23.1)	0.89 (0.73-1.10)	.29
	50-59 (n=1820)	1375 (75.5)	0.72 (0.58-0.90)	.004	383 (21.0)	0.75 (0.61-0.93)	.009
	>60 (n=1850)	1359 (73.5)	0.64 (0.52-0.80)	<.001	398 (21.5)	0.80 (0.65-0.99)	.04
An	nual household income (¥)						
	<30,000 (n=572)	419 (73.3)	1 (ref)	N/A	173 (30.2)	1 (ref)	N/A
	30,000-59,999 (n=1307)	1013 (77.5)	1.25 (0.97-1.61)	.09	306 (23.4)	0.72 (0.56-0.93)	.01
	60,000-89,999 (n=1929)	1458 (75.6)	1.18 (0.93-1.51)	.18	459 (23.8)	0.72 (0.57-0.92)	.008
	90,000-119,999 (n=1726)	1311 (76.0)	1.25 (0.98-1.60)	.07	386 (22.4)	0.62 (0.49-0.80)	<.001
	120,000-149,999 (n=1726)	1317 (76.3)	1.25 (0.97-1.60)	.08	385 (22.3)	0.64 (0.50-0.82)	<.001
	150,000-199,999 (n=1882)	1407 (74.8)	1.17 (0.91-1.49)	.22	364 (19.3)	0.56 (0.44-0.72)	<.001
	≥200,000 (n=858)	632 (73.7)	1.08 (0.82-1.43)	.58	184 (21.4)	0.56 (0.42-0.75)	<.001
Ed	ucation						
	Never been to school (n=526)	398 (75.7)	1 (ref)	N/A	123 (23.4)	1 (ref)	N/A
	Elementary school (n=537)	391 (72.8)	0.79 (0.57-1.10)	.16	119 (22.2)	1.10 (0.78-1.54)	.59
	Middle school (n=1753)	1318 (75.2)	0.97 (0.74-1.27)	.83	384 (21.9)	1.04 (0.79-1.37)	.77
	High school/technical secondary school (n=3512)	2679 (76.3)	1.02 (0.79-1.32)	.87	831 (23.7)	1.14 (0.88-1.47)	.32
	College/undergraduate (n=3371)	2534 (75.2)	1.00 (0.78-1.29)	.99	731 (21.7)	0.96 (0.74-1.24)	.76
	Graduate and above (n=301)	237 (78.7)	1.20 (0.80-1.81)	.37	69 (22.9)	1.03 (0.69-1.53)	.89
Ru	ral-urban residency						
	Rural (n=4065)	3123 (76.8)	1 (ref)	N/A	970 (23.9)	1 (ref)	N/A
	Urban (n=5935)	4434 (74.7)	0.89 (0.79-0.99)	.03	1287 (21.7)	0.88 (0.78-0.98)	.02
We	orks as a health care provider						
	No (n=9829)	7418 (75.5)	1 (ref)	N/A	2212 (22.5)	1 (ref)	N/A
	Nurse (n=35)	30 (85.7)	2.44 (0.89-6.66)	.08	12 (34.3)	1.72 (0.79-3.73)	.17
	Physician (n=46)	38 (82.6)	1.00 (0.43-2.36)	.99	10 (21.7)	1.09 (0.49-2.43)	.83
	Community health worker (n=51)	40 (78.4)	1.06 (0.49-2.26)	.89	13 (25.5)	1.28 (0.63-2.61)	.49
	Pharmacist (n=13)	10 (76.9)	1.13 (0.30-4.30)	.86	4 (30.8)	1.25 (0.34-4.56)	.74
	Other health care provider (n=26)	21 (80.8)	1.40 (0.51-3.88)	.51	6 (23.1)	0.79 (0.30-2.12)	.64
Kn	ows someone with a confirmed SARS-	CoV-2 infection					
	No (n=9972)	7537 (75.6)	1 (ref)	N/A	2253 (22.6)	1 (ref)	N/A
	Self (n=3)	2 (66.7)	1.22 (0.11-14.11)	.87	0 (0.0)	0.00 (0.00-0.00)	<.001
	Family member (n=3)	2 (66.7)	0.48 (0.04-5.57)	.56	0 (0.0)	0.00 (0.00-0.00)	<.001

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33484

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e33484 | p.211 (page number not for citation purposes)

Characteristic	Supporting COVID-19 vaccine provision to foreign countries before fulfilling all domestic needs ^b			Supporting COVID-1 free global public go	19 vaccines as low-p ods ^c	oriced or
	Participants, n (%)	OR ^d (95% CI)	P value	Participants, n (%)	OR (95% CI)	P value
Friend (n=8)	6 (75.0)	1.00 (0.19-5.23)	>.99	3 (37.5)	1.85 (0.39-8.73)	.44
Neighbor (n=3)	2 (66.7)	1.03 (0.08-13.07)	.98	0 (0.0)	0.00 (0.00-0.00)	<.001
Coworker (n=3)	1 (33.3)	0.05 (0.00-0.56)	.02	1 (33.3)	3.16 (0.29-34.90)	.35
Others (n=8)	7 (87.5)	8.43 (1.03-69.13)	.047	0 (0.0)	0.00 (0.00-0.00)	<.001

^aAll regressions included only one of the variables (sex; age group; income; education; rural-urban residency; vocation; whether or not a participant has a family member, friend, or acquaintance who they know to have been infected with SARS-CoV-2) shown in the table and a binary indicator for each province (province-level fixed effects).

^b"Satisfy the vaccination needs of all Chinese people before providing to others" is the reference response.

^c"At market price or a small profit" is the reference response.

^dOR: odds ratio.

^eN/A: not applicable.

Geographical Differences in People's Attitude Toward International Delivery of COVID-19 Vaccines

There was a moderate degree of geographical variation in peoples' attitudes toward international delivery of COVID-19 vaccines. The percentage of the population that supported provision of COVID-19 vaccines to foreign countries before fulfilling all domestic needs ranged from 69.7% (95% CI 64.8%-74.3%) in Jiangsu Province to 81% (95% CI 76.2%-85.1%) in Hainan Province (Figure 1a), and the percentage of the population that favored provision of

COVID-19 vaccines at a low-price or as a free global public good ranged from 17.3% (95% CI 13.4%-22.1%) in Fujian Province to 31.2% (95% CI 26.2%-36.7%) in Shanxi Province (Figure 1b). As for Hubei Province, which was first exposed to serious COVID-19 prevalence in early 2020, the proportion of the above two questions were 74.4% (95% CI 69.1%-79%) and 22% (95% CI 17.7%-27%), respectively, and were among the middle of the geographical difference. There was a low degree of regional variation in people's attitudes toward other questions on international delivery of COVID-19 vaccines, as detailed in Multimedia Appendix 2, Figure A1.

Figure 1. The proportion of the population by province (A) supporting COVID-19 vaccine provision to foreign countries before fulfilling all domestic needs and (B) supporting COVID-19 vaccines as low-priced or free global public goods.



Discussion

This study investigated population-level attitudes toward the global allocation of Chinese COVID-19 vaccines based on a large-scale online survey. Our study has four main findings. First, in general, the Chinese public strongly supports the provision of domestic vaccines as international assistance—even if herd immunity has not been achieved domestically. Second, participants had mixed preferences regarding multilateral and bilateral international assistance. In terms of financial support, most people preferred donation to international organizations such as the WHO rather than directly to specific countries; regarding COVID-19 vaccines on the other hand, most participants preferred direct bilateral provision of vaccines to relevant countries. Third, female participants and those living

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33484

in a rural area tended to state a higher willingness to provide Chinese COVID-19 vaccines abroad. This may be because rural areas are vast, and participants from rural areas face a lower risk of COVID-19 than urban areas, but further research is necessary to determine a rationale. Fourth, participants with a high household income had a lower willingness to provide Chinese COVID-19 vaccines to foreign countries at low prices or free of charge compared to lower-income individuals.

Several factors may explain Chinese adults' support for international vaccine assistance. First, China has thus far contained the epidemic through a series of nonpharmaceutical interventions such as prompt physical distancing [30,31]; an effective test, trace, and isolate system [32]; the adoption of facility-based isolation, widely used in Asia, but not in Western countries [33-36]; and clear communication and education

[37,38]. As such, existing research has highlighted how Chinese residents often do not view themselves as "desperately needing" vaccination [39]. Second, the Chinese public receive messages from domestic key opinion leaders [40,41] as well as news from the national media and the WHO [42] that the virus causing COVID-19 will not disappear in the short term and is likely to circulate worldwide [43,44], and that the only way to end the global pandemic is through global collaboration to jointly contain the epidemic in all countries. Third, China has committed at the 2020 World Health Assembly to make Chinese vaccines a global public good and to ensure that they are provided to low- and middle-income countries at an affordable price [45]. This announcement that was widely reported via domestic channels [46-48] may have affected the attitudes of the Chinese public.

Participants in this study preferred providing funding via global institutions such as the WHO instead of direct bilateral economic aid during the pandemic, but in terms of COVID-19 vaccines, they preferred direct support to foreign countries. Scholars have used principal-agent theory to explain people's preference toward multilateral or bilateral foreign aid and found that people often prefer multilateral foreign aid because they think it is a way to share responsibilities mutually with partner countries through the platform of international organizations. On the other hand, people often prefer bilateral aid because they think their country can have more control over the aid [11]. However, previous studies did not distinguish people's attitudes on different aid categories such as direct economic aid or products. Based on these findings, we suggest that the Chinese public may recognize the benefit of providing financial support to the WHO because international health assistance requires collective action. However, the Chinese public may regard providing vaccines as a specific task, such that the advantage of delegation does not appear to outweigh the cost of foregoing the opportunity of choosing recipient countries.

Although people from different countries may have divergent views, the evidence from China suggests public support for international vaccine assistance. This finding has important policy implications for current global vaccine delivery and allocation work that could be particularly relevant for global policy makers within the WHO and in countries with considerable capability to produce vaccines. Although some policy approaches reflect a desire to complete domestic vaccination first before considering international assistance and exports [49], the evidence from China implies that the public may have different views—preferring instead to address international demand regardless of whether domestic herd immunity has been reached. Scientists and academics in other countries or anybody who is neutral in this matter could conduct national surveys to explore the public's view. If the public supports the international assistance or export of COVID-19 vaccines, politicians may feel encouraged to stop stockpiling vaccines.

In addition, this research provides evidence for global policy makers such as the WHO to encourage and call on more countries to provide vaccine assistance in the name of public support. To date, the WHO and other global leaders working within COVAX have called on governments and the private sector to facilitate the global distribution and contribution of COVID-19 vaccines in an equitable way [50,51], but they have not yet appealed to the public. This research suggests that a majority of the Chinese public support international assistance with COVID-19 vaccination and that the public sees merit in financial support to the WHO during the pandemic. Regular global surveys on such preferences among the public of different nations could inform global leaders when making decisions about financial or in-kind support.

While a strength of this study is its nationwide coverage and relatively large sample size of 10,000 participants, it also has several important limitations. First, the survey was restricted to China, and thus, our findings may not be transferable to other countries or regions. Second, our sample of participants is unlikely to be representative of the general population in China because individuals had to be registered with KuRunData to be eligible for this study and were invited to participate on a first-come-first-served basis. Third, social desirability bias could have influenced participants to answer in ways that they thought they should, rather than how they truly felt.

In conclusion, participants in this online survey were generally supportive of the national government's provision of domestically produced vaccines to other countries. However, preferences varied somewhat between population subgroups. Our findings could be useful for global and national policy makers as they seek to facilitate an equitable global allocation of COVID-19 vaccines.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Questionnaire text in English and Chinese. [DOCX File, 63 KB - publichealth v8i6e33484 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Supplementary material. [DOCX File, 7920 KB - publichealth v8i6e33484 app2.docx]

References

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

- 1. Gavi. 2020 Sep 21. URL: <u>https://www.gavi.org/</u> [accessed 2021-05-04]
- 2. COVAX vaccine roll-out: country updates. Gavi. 2022 Jan 17. URL: <u>https://www.gavi.org/covax-vaccine-roll-out</u> [accessed 2022-02-10]
- 3. Fair allocation mechanism for COVID-19 vaccines through the COVAX Facility: final working version. World Health Organization. 2020 Sep 09. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/mrxtu8mh</u> [accessed 2021-05-11]
- 4. Ye Y, Zhang Q, Wei X, Cao Z, Yuan H, Zeng DD. Equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines makes a life-saving difference to all countries. Nat Hum Behav 2022 Feb;6(2):207-216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41562-022-01289-8] [Medline: 35102361]
- 5. The Lancet. Global governance for COVID-19 vaccines. Lancet 2020 Jun 20;395(10241):1883 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31405-7] [Medline: 32563355]
- 6. Van Hoof E. Lockdown is the world's biggest psychological experiment and we will pay the price. World Economic Forum. 2020 Apr 09. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/3d6kmp5j</u> [accessed 2021-05-04]
- 7. Vaccine manufacturing. Launch and Scale Speedometer. 2022 Jan 14. URL: <u>https://launchandscalefaster.org/covid-19/</u> vaccinemanufacturing [accessed 2022-02-10]
- Wouters OJ, Shadlen KC, Salcher-Konrad M, Pollard AJ, Larson HJ, Teerawattananon Y, et al. Challenges in ensuring global access to COVID-19 vaccines: production, affordability, allocation, and deployment. Lancet 2021 Mar 13;397(10278):1023-1034 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00306-8] [Medline: 33587887]
- 9. Saksena N. Global justice and the COVID-19 vaccine: limitations of the public goods framework. Glob Public Health 2021;16(8-9):1512-1521. [doi: 10.1080/17441692.2021.1906926] [Medline: 33764847]
- Herlitz A, Lederman Z, Miller J, Fleurbaey M, Venkatapuram S, Atuire C, et al. Just allocation of COVID-19 vaccines. BMJ Glob Health 2021 Feb;6(2):e004812 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2020-004812] [Medline: 33589419]
- 11. Milner HV, Tingley D. Public opinion and foreign aid: a review essay. Int Interact 2013 Jul;39(3):389-401. [doi: 10.1080/03050629.2013.784090]
- Chen M, Li Y, Chen J, Wen Z, Feng F, Zou H, et al. An online survey of the attitude and willingness of Chinese adults to receive COVID-19 vaccination. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2021 Jul 03;17(7):2279-2288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2020.1853449] [Medline: 33522405]
- Gollust SE, Saloner B, Hest R, Blewett LA. US adults' preferences for public allocation of a vaccine for coronavirus disease 2019. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Sep 01;3(9):e2023020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.23020] [Medline: 32990736]
- 14. Craxì L, Casuccio A, Amodio E, Restivo V. Who should get COVID-19 vaccine first? A survey to evaluate hospital workers' opinion. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Mar 25;9(3):189 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9030189] [Medline: 33668695]
- 15. Luyten J, Tubeuf S, Kessels R. Who should get it first? Public preferences for distributing a COVID-19 vaccine. Covid Economics, Vetted and Real-Time Papers 2020;57:1-19.
- Islam M, Siddique A, Akter R, Tasnim R, Sujan M, Ward P, et al. Knowledge, attitudes and perceptions towards COVID-19 vaccinations: a cross-sectional community survey in Bangladesh. BMC Public Health 2021 Oct 13;21(1):1851 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11880-9] [Medline: 34645399]
- 17. WHO lists additional COVID-19 vaccine for emergency use and issues interim policy recommendations. World Health Organization. 2021 May 07. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/d96nw9z4</u> [accessed 2022-02-03]
- WHO validates Sinovac COVID-19 vaccine for emergency use and issues interim policy recommendations. World Health Organization. 2021 Jun 01. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/2w7fpk8y</u> [accessed 2022-02-03]
- 19. The Sinopharm COVID-19 vaccine: what you need to know. World Health Organization. 2021 Sep 02. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/the-sinopharm-covid-19-vaccine-what-you-need-to-know</u> [accessed 2022-02-03]
- 20. The Sinovac-CoronaVac COVID-19 vaccine: what you need to know. World Health Organization. 2021 Sep 02. URL: https://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/the-sinovac-covid-19-vaccine-what-you-need-to-know [accessed 2022-02-03]
- 21. Zhu F, Li Y, Guan X, Hou L, Wang W, Li J, et al. Safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity of a recombinant adenovirus type-5 vectored COVID-19 vaccine: a dose-escalation, open-label, non-randomised, first-in-human trial. Lancet 2020 Jun 13;395(10240):1845-1854 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31208-3] [Medline: 32450106]
- 22. Zhu F, Guan X, Li Y, Huang J, Jiang T, Hou L, et al. Immunogenicity and safety of a recombinant adenovirus type-5-vectored COVID-19 vaccine in healthy adults aged 18 years or older: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet 2020 Aug 15;396(10249):479-488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31605-6] [Medline: 32702299]
- 23. Hu Y, Chen S. J Travel Med 2021 Jun 01;28(4):taab026 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jtm/taab026] [Medline: 33635318]
- 24. China provides over 1.5b COVID-19 vaccine doses to intl community. The State Council of The People's Republic of China. 2021 Oct 27. URL: <u>http://english.www.gov.cn/news/videos/202110/27/content_WS6178ba94c6d0df57f98e3ead.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2022-02-03]
- 25. China's cumulative coverage of COVID-19 vaccine has exceeded 600 million doses, Zhong Nanshan said it still needs to be popularized as soon as possible. Forward-The Economist. 2021 Jun 04. URL: <u>https://www.qianzhan.com/analyst/detail/</u>220/210604-bcd5d8be.html [accessed 2021-06-20]

- 26. Zhong Nanshan: China's COVID-19 vaccine coverage rate will reach 80% by the end of the year, and production capacity needs to be strengthened. Xinhuanet. 2021 May 29. URL: <u>http://www.xinhuanet.com/politics/2021-05/29/c_1127508240.</u> <u>htm</u> [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 27. Zhong Nanshan: China's vaccination rate is far from universal immunization. Chinanews.com. 2021 May 08. URL: <u>http://www.chinanews.com/sh/2021/05-08/9472946.shtml</u> [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 28. Online panel. KuRunData. URL: <u>https://www.kurundata.com/en/panel.html?id=289201012151</u> [accessed 2021-05-01]
- 29. The urban-rural composition of the population by region and the birth rate, death rate, and natural growth rate. National Bureau of Statistics of China. 2020. URL: <u>http://www.stats.gov.cn/tjsj/ndsj/2020/indexch.htm</u> [accessed 2021-05-01]
- Chen S, Yang J, Yang W, Wang C, Bärnighausen T. COVID-19 control in China during mass population movements at New Year. Lancet 2020 Mar 07;395(10226):764-766 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30421-9</u>] [Medline: <u>32105609</u>]
- Chen S, Chen Q, Yang W, Xue L, Liu Y, Yang J, et al. Buying time for an effective epidemic response: the impact of a public holiday for outbreak control on COVID-19 epidemic spread. Engineering (Beijing) 2020 Oct;6(10):1108-1114 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eng.2020.07.018] [Medline: 32983582]
- Li Z, Chen Q, Feng L, Rodewald L, Xia Y, Yu H, China CDC COVID-19 Emergency Response Strategy Team. Active case finding with case management: the key to tackling the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet 2020 Jul 04;396(10243):63-70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31278-2] [Medline: 32505220]
- Chen S, Zhang Z, Yang J, Wang J, Zhai X, Bärnighausen T, et al. Fangcang shelter hospitals: a novel concept for responding to public health emergencies. Lancet 2020 Apr 18;395(10232):1305-1314 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30744-3] [Medline: 32247320]
- 34. Chen S, Chen Q, Yang J, Lin L, Li L, Jiao L, et al. Curbing the COVID-19 pandemic with facility-based isolation of mild cases: a mathematical modeling study. J Travel Med 2021 Feb 23;28(2):taaa226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jtm/taaa226] [Medline: 33274387]
- 35. Chen S, Jin Z, Bloom DE. Act early to prevent infections and save lives: causal impact of diagnostic efficiency on the Covid-19 pandemic. SSRN J 2020:1. [doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3704132]
- Klaus P, Chen S, Kuhn M, Bloom D. Effective pandemic management that minimises economic harm. VOX, CEPR Policy Portal. 2021 Jan 04. URL: <u>https://voxeu.org/article/effective-pandemic-management-minimises-economic-harm</u> [accessed 2021-05-11]
- 37. Horton R. Offline: COVID-19-what have we learned so far? Lancet 2020 Dec 05;396(10265):1789 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32584-8] [Medline: 33278922]
- Yu F, Geldsetzer P, Meierkord A, Yang J, Chen Q, Jiao L, et al. Knowledge about COVID-19 among adults in China: cross-sectional online survey. J Med Internet Res 2021 Apr 29;23(4):e26940 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26940] [Medline: 33844637]
- 39. Wang J, Lu X, Lai X, Lyu Y, Zhang H, Fenghuang Y, et al. The changing acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination in different epidemic phases in China: a longitudinal study. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Mar 25;9(3):191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9030191] [Medline: 33668923]
- 40. Zhong Nanshan: epidemic prevention and control must have a "global concept". Chinanews.com. 2021 May 30. URL: http://www.chinanews.com/sh/2021/05-30/9488774.shtml [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 41. When will the epidemic end? ——Zhong Nanshan in conversation with South Korean experts. Chinanews.com. 2021 Apr 10. URL: <u>https://backend.chinanews.com/gn/2020/04-10/9153426.shtml</u> [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 42. A global pandemic requires a world effort to end it none of us will be safe until everyone is safe. World Health Organization. 2020 Sep 30. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/2vw3tmer</u> [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 43. Chen S, Prettner K, Cao B, Geldsetzer P, Kuhn M, Bloom DE, et al. Revisiting the association between temperature and COVID-19 transmissibility across 117 countries. ERJ Open Res 2020 Oct;6(4):00550-2020 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/23120541.00550-2020] [Medline: 33263060]
- 44. Chen S, Prettner K, Kuhn M, Geldsetzer P, Wang C, Bärnighausen T, et al. Climate and the spread of COVID-19. Sci Rep 2021 Apr 27;11(1):9042. [doi: <u>10.1038/s41598-021-87692-z</u>] [Medline: <u>33907202</u>]
- 45. Full text: speech by President Xi Jinping at opening of 73rd World Health Assembly. China Plus. 2020 May 19. URL: http://chinaplus.cri.cn/recommended/1661/469062 [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 46. Xi Jinping delivers a speech at the opening ceremony of the 73rd World Health Assembly video conference. China.cnr.cn. 2020 May 19. URL: <u>http://china.cnr.cn/news/20200519/t20200519_525095028.shtml</u> [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 47. Xi Jinping delivers a speech at the opening ceremony of the 73rd World Health Assembly video conference. CYOL.com. 2020 May 19. URL: <u>http://zqb.cyol.com/html/2020-05/19/nw.D110000zgqnb_20200519_2-01.htm</u> [accessed 2021-06-20]
- Xi Jinping delivers a speech at the opening ceremony of the 73rd World Health Assembly video conference (Fulltext). Ministry of Commerce of the People's Republic of China. 2020 May 20. URL: <u>http://www.mofcom.gov.cn/article/i/jyjl/l/</u> 202005/20200502966664.shtml [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 49. Open letter to G7 leaders: a G7 action plan to ensure the world is vaccinated quickly and equitably. Center for Strategic and International Studies. 2021 Jun 07. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y6nt5m9d</u> [accessed 2021-06-20]

- 50. Call to action: vaccine equity. World Health Organization. 2021 Jun 18. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/campaigns/vaccine-equity/vaccine-equity/vaccine-equity/declaration</u> [accessed 2021-06-20]
- 51. Global equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines estimated to generate economic benefits of at least US\$ 153 billion in 2020-21, and US\$ 466 billion by 2025, in 10 major economies, according to new report by the Eurasia Group. World Health Organization. 2020 Dec 03. URL: https://tinyurl.com/2ssjsa96 [accessed 2021-06-20]

Abbreviations

GAVI: Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunizations **WHO:** World Health Organization

Edited by T Sanchez, A Mavragani; submitted 10.09.21; peer-reviewed by Z Jin, MY Song; comments to author 23.01.22; revised version received 22.02.22; accepted 26.04.22; published 07.06.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Yu H, Du R, Wang M, Yu F, Yang J, Jiao L, Wang Z, Liu H, Wu P, Bärnighausen T, Xue L, Wang C, McMahon S, Geldsetzer P, Chen S

Attitudes Toward the Global Allocation of Chinese COVID-19 Vaccines: Cross-sectional Online Survey of Adults Living in China JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33484 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33484 doi:10.2196/33484 PMID:35483084

©Hanzhi Yu, Runming Du, Minmin Wang, Fengyun Yu, Juntao Yang, Lirui Jiao, Zhuoran Wang, Haitao Liu, Peixin Wu, Till Bärnighausen, Lan Xue, Chen Wang, Shannon McMahon, Pascal Geldsetzer, Simiao Chen. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 07.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.


Original Paper

Testing the Efficacy of Attitudinal Inoculation Videos to Enhance COVID-19 Vaccine Acceptance: Quasi-Experimental Intervention Trial

Rachael Piltch-Loeb^{1,2}, MSPH, PhD; Max Su¹, PhD; Brian Hughes³, PhD; Marcia Testa^{1,2,4}, MPH, PhD; Beth Goldberg⁵, MA; Kurt Braddock³, PhD; Cynthia Miller-Idriss³, MPP, PhD; Vanessa Maturo⁵, MA, MPA; Elena Savoia^{1,2}, MPH, MD

⁴Massachusetts Association of Health Boards, Wellesley, MA, United States

⁵Jigsaw, Google LLC, New York, NY, United States

Corresponding Author: Rachael Piltch-Loeb, MSPH, PhD Department of Biostatistics Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health 90 Smith St Boston, MA, 02120 United States Phone: 1 3393649813 Email: piltch-loeb@hsph.harvard.edu

Abstract

Background: Over the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, a variety of COVID-19-related misinformation has spread and been amplified online. The spread of misinformation can influence COVID-19 beliefs and protective actions, including vaccine hesitancy. Belief in vaccine misinformation is associated with lower vaccination rates and higher vaccine resistance. Attitudinal inoculation is a preventative approach to combating misinformation and disinformation, which leverages the power of narrative, rhetoric, values, and emotion.

Objective: This study seeks to test inoculation messages in the form of short video messages to promote resistance against persuasion by COVID-19 vaccine misinformation.

Methods: We designed a series of 30-second inoculation videos and conducted a quasi-experimental study to test the use of attitudinal inoculation in a population of individuals who were unvaccinated (N=1991). The 3 intervention videos were distinguished by their script design, with intervention video 1 focusing on narrative/rhetorical ("Narrative") presentation of information, intervention video 2 focusing on delivering a fact-based information ("Fact"), and intervention video 3 using a hybrid design ("Hybrid"). Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) models were used to compare the main effect of the intervention on the 3 outcome variables: ability to recognize misinformation tactics ("Recognize"), willingness to share misinformation ("Share"), and willingness to take the COVID-19 vaccine ("Willingness").

Results: There were significant effects across all 3 outcome variables comparing inoculation intervention groups to controls. For the Recognize outcome, the ability to recognize rhetorical strategies, there was a significant intervention group effect (P<.001). For the Share outcome, support for sharing the mis- and disinformation, the intervention group main effect was statistically significant (P=.02). For the Willingness outcome, there was a significant intervention group effect; intervention groups were more willing to get the COVID-19 vaccine compared to controls (P=.01).

Conclusions: Across all intervention groups, inoculated individuals showed greater resistance to misinformation than their noninoculated counterparts. Relative to those who were not inoculated, inoculated participants showed significantly greater ability to recognize and identify rhetorical strategies used in misinformation, were less likely to share false information, and had greater willingness to get the COVID-19 vaccine. Attitudinal inoculation delivered through short video messages should be tested in public health messaging campaigns to counter mis- and disinformation.

¹Department of Biostatistics, Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States

²Emergency Preparedness Research Evaluation & Practice Program, Division of Policy Translation & Leadership Development, Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States

³Polarization and Extremism Research and Innovation Lab, American University, Washington, DC, United States

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e34615) doi:10.2196/34615

KEYWORDS

attitudinal inoculation; intervention; COVID-19 vaccine; vaccine hesitancy; COVID-19; vaccine; vaccination; public health; health intervention; misinformation; infodemiology; vaccine misinformation

Introduction

The study of misinformation and disinformation and how to counter them is not new. There are centuries-old examples of the challenges in rebutting misleading or manipulative information [1-3]. However, although false and manipulative media are not new, "the digital age has changed how such messages are created, circulated, and interpreted, as well as their potential effects" [4]. As features of the COVID-19 media ecosystem, misinformation and disinformation are functionally similar, in that both either contradict or distort the current scientific and public health consensus as to the nature of the virus and appropriate steps to combat it [5,6]. However, the 2 terms refer to separate phenomena insofar as concerns motive. "Misinformation" is unintentionally inaccurate, while "disinformation," is intentionally inaccurate and meant to mislead [7]. In the context of public health, the term "infodemic" was coined to refer to "an overflow of information of varying quality that surges across digital and physical environments during an acute public health event" [8]. Infodemiology, as a field of study and intervention, dates back to 1996 [9,10]. Eysenbach defines infodemiology as the "science of distribution and determinants of information in an electronic medium, specifically the Internet, or in a population, with the ultimate aim to inform public health and public policy" [9]. As Eysenbach describes it, infodemiology rests on the premise that public health and patterns of communication are correlated, and perhaps even causally connected.

Since the pandemic's beginning, a variety of COVID-19-related misinformation and disinformation has spread and been amplified online [11]. The content and spread of misinformation can influence COVID-19 beliefs and protective actions [12,13]. Despite the availability of the COVID-19 vaccine in the United States, hesitancy among the general population remains a challenge. In their review of 39 nationally representative polls taken in the first half of 2021, Steelfisher et al [14] found that nearly 30% of the population remains hesitant to get the COVID-19 vaccine. Belief in vaccine misinformation is associated with lower vaccination rates and higher vaccine resistance [15]. The spread of misinformation and disinformation online can increase COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy [16]. Studies conducted at varying time points in 2020 have found that reliance on social media is associated with higher levels of holding both conspiracy beliefs and higher levels of vaccine hesitancy [17-20].

Studies of how to address the current infodemic are nascent. The inaugural World Health Organization (WHO) Infodemiology Conference of 2021 called for more research on interventions to address the infodemic [11]. Countering misinformation is a critical piece of infodemic management because misinformation impacts protective actions and vaccine

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34615
```

hesitancy. Infodemiology research has shown that quality health information can be elusive to the public, especially in evolving situations, such as a pandemic [21]. One common approach used by public health risk communicators focuses on "facts." However, as Eysenbach [21] points out, in times of evolving science, factual information can be hard to determine, and initial reports and decisions are made based on the best information available at any given time. Currently, the most common approach to countering misinformation is to engage in fact checking. Research evaluating the utility of online fact checking suggests that even under less uncertain conditions, it remains an uneven but relatively effective counterstrategy to disinformation [22-26]. However, fact checking carries with it 2 challenges: asymmetry and volume. Feelings of social ostracism are shown to decrease receptivity to counter disinformation fact checking [27]. Media consumers with less overall political knowledge are likewise less receptive, as are political conservatives more generally [28]. Meanwhile, the sheer volume with which bad actors are increasingly equipped to "flood the zone" with mis- and disinformation [29] can exhaust most audience's ability to sift good information from bad, apart from more formal, time-and-resource-intensive fact-checking projects. Human moderators cannot match the speed and volume of false information and, furthermore, require an ever-changing range of subject expertise that content moderators cannot reasonably be expected to acquire [30,31]. Studies into the relative efficacy of logic-based versus emotionally based public health communication have suggested that the use of narrative [32-34], appeals to values [35,36], and rhetoric of personal, lived experience [37-39] yield better persuasive outcomes than more abstract, fact-based, or logical counterparts. Per Maertens et al [40], this might relate to the "broad spectrum" of potential viewpoints that such approaches address. That is, fact checking's narrower focus on specific content addresses fewer points of persuasive vulnerability than a broader focus on form offered by rhetoric, narrative, and values.

Attitudinal inoculation (or, simply, "inoculation") is a preventative approach to combating misinformation and disinformation that leverages the power of narrative, rhetoric, values, and emotion. Inoculation theory promises that people can become resistant to persuasion if they perceive a threat from an attempt to change their beliefs or attitudes and if they receive information to refute this attempt [41]. It originates in the midcentury work of William McGuire [41-43]. It uses the biological metaphor of viral inoculation to propose that "[t]hrough exposing individuals to messages containing a weakened argument against an attitude they hold, it is possible to 'inoculate' the individuals against future attacks on the attitude" [44]. Inoculation consists of exposing someone to a persuasive message that contains weakened arguments against

XSL•FO RenderX

an established attitude, which develops resistance against stronger persuasive attacks in the future [41].

Inoculation is preemptive, addressing audiences holding "healthy (ie, preferred) positions," or agnostic and undecided [45]. It scales against the "flooded zone" of information, allowing individuals to bypass entire categories of misleading, manipulative, or simply distracting information. Inoculation is suited to address the needs of low-information audiences, ideologically polarized and conspiratorial groups, and groups that are traditionally difficult audiences to reach with corrections [46]. Inoculation may partially overcome the post hoc correction challenges of asymmetry and volume, while accounting for of variations in the efficacy fact-based versus narrative/rhetoric-based approaches.

Studies have supported the effectiveness of attitudinal inoculation as a tool for strengthening resistance to persuasion on public health topics, such as underage alcohol consumption, adolescent smoking initiation, deceptive nutrition-related food claims, unprotected sex, and child vaccine safety claims [47,48]. Additionally, attitudinal inoculation has been shown as an effective strategy for counterradicalization. In a foundational study, inoculation conferred resistance to persuasion by far-right and far-left extremist propaganda by reducing the credibility of the extremist groups that produced the propaganda and increasing reactance (the combination of anger and counterarguing) against the propaganda itself. By reducing source credibility and increasing reactance, inoculation ultimately reduced participant intentions to support the group that produced the propaganda [49].

The potential for attitudinal inoculation to combat COVID-19 vaccine misinformation was proposed by van der Linden et al [50]. Although attitudinal inoculation enjoys a rich body of literature, and infodemiology likewise can claim extensive source material, the specific application of both approaches to the crisis of the COVID-19 pandemic is scant at best. This study is among the first to answer the call made by van der Linden et al [50]. It not only sought to test the effectiveness of attitudinal inoculation against COVID-19 misinformation and disinformation but also attempted to address questions relating to persuasive communication, which bear direct relevance to the matter of public health communication in the pandemic. As described before, the relative efficacy of fact versus narrative or rhetoric in persuasive messaging has been studied across many dimensions of public health. Our study testing the use of video-based attitudinal inoculation to inoculate viewers against misinformation on COVID-19 vaccine injury is the first of its kind to compare the effectiveness of using facts versus narrative-rhetoric approaches to attitudinal inoculation messages relating to COVID-19 vaccine misinformation and disinformation. The goal of our research was to build upon the work of Braddock, van der Linden, and other inoculation theorists by using inoculation messages in the form of short video messages to promote resistance against persuasion by COVID-19 vaccine misinformation.

Methods

Identification of Antivax Narratives

This study was built upon our formative evaluation work that identified common rhetorical strategies and COVID-19 vaccine misinformation narratives and used formative surveys to explore their prevalence and validate select survey items that were used in this study [20,51,52]. The narratives were identified by analyzing 6 months of content from 10 online channels of antivaccine or COVID-19 denialist propaganda. These took the form of Twitter accounts, amateur videos, documentaries, Facebook groups, blogs, and Instagram pages. From these media sources, we created a list of 22 key narrative tropes and 16 rhetorical strategies, which represented the discursive foundation of the antivaccine and COVID-19 denialist media data collected, and created a codebook [53]. Narratives ranged from general claims that the COVID-19 vaccine could cause physical injury to the theory it was a bioweapon promoted by intelligence agencies for shadowy and perhaps even supernatural purposes. Some rhetorics framed their arguments along the lines of bodily autonomy by co-opting the language of women's reproductive rights, while others relied on audio-visual cues, such as nauseating colors and low-frequency sounds, to cue unease in their audience.

Development of Inoculation Messages

Based on the identification of the antivax narratives, we selected a prominent metanarrative related to vaccine injury that was used to develop 3 different inoculation messages: (1) a fact-based video, focused on countering false statistics about the science and safety of vaccines; (2) a narrative and rhetoric-focused video, which "prebunked" (ie, practice of countering potential misinformation by warning people against it before it is disseminated) common antivaccine misinformation strategies; and (3) a hybrid video that tested a combination of factual rebuttal with narrative/rhetorical prebunking. These 3 approaches were selected in order to deepen understanding of the relative efficacy of fact-based and narrative/rhetoric-based persuasion. As discussed before, the relative efficacy of each approach has been addressed across a variety of fields, from extremist deradicalization to public health.

Development of Inoculation Videos

We designed a series of 30-second inoculation videos and conducted a quasi-experimental study to test the use of attitudinal inoculation in a population of individuals who were unvaccinated. We developed 3 inoculation videos. Each 30-second video contained a "microdose," a weakened example of manipulation, which has been shown not to cause harm in a controlled research setting. The microdoses, while weakened, constitute an "active threat" that let people generate cognitive "antibodies" [40,54,55]. The differences between the 3 inoculation videos are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Description of video types.

Video types	Purpose	Example of video script
Narrative and rhetoric inoculation	Inoculate viewers against vaccine misinforma- tion strategies, such as manipulation, scapegoat- ing, or conspiratorial reasoning.	• "Sometimes, people trying to change your mind this way will show pic- tures of needles, crying babies, or extreme close-ups of viruses. Some- times, they'll make videos with sounds that are scientifically proven to provoke a feeling of unease in humans. Strange, but true!"
Factual rebuttal inoc- ulation	Counter false information about science and safety about vaccines.	• "Sometimes, these people talk about 'vaccine injury'. Actual injuries re- lated to vaccines are extremely rare. Only two out of every one million people who received vaccine results even claimed to have been injured. Of those claims, about a third turned out not to be actual injuries related to vaccines."
Hybrid	Combine fact-based information and inocula- tion against misinformation strategies.	• "Sometimes, these people talk about 'vaccine injury'. Actual injuries re- lated to vaccines are so rare, you are nearly twice as likely to be struck by lightning."
		• "Actual injuries related to vaccines are extremely rare. You are 769 times more likely to die from COVID than to experience any vaccine injury."
		• "Sometimes, people trying to change your mind this way will show pic- tures of needles, crying babies, or extreme close-ups of viruses. Some- times, they'll make videos with sounds that are scientifically proven to provoke a feeling of unease in humans. Strange, but true!"

Study Hypothesis

Based upon our prior research on the relationship between knowledge, attitude, and behavior, we posited 3 hypotheses:

- Hypothesis 1: Relative to noninoculated participants, inoculated participants will demonstrate a greater ability to identify rhetorical strategies typically used in mis- and disinformation videos.
- Hypothesis 2: Relative to noninoculated participants, inoculated participants will be less likely to report engaging in behaviors that support the spread of COVID-19 mis- and disinformation videos.
- Hypothesis 3: Relative to noninoculated participants, inoculated participants will report greater intention to get vaccinated against COVID-19.

Study Design

We conducted a quasi-experimental study with a pre-post intervention questionnaire and control group using an organic sampling survey method between June 3 and 5, 2021 [56]. Using this method, 4 separate surveys were conducted for each of the video exposure interventions, and as such, randomization was not possible. We conducted our surveys through the Pollfish (an online survey company) survey platform. Participants were eligible to participate if they indicated they had *not* received a COVID-19 vaccine, were over the age of 18 years, and lived in the United States. In total, 500 US adults were recruited into each study arm by Pollfish via mobile technology. Respondents were recruited into 1 of 4 study arms, 1 for each type of inoculation message, plus a control group that received a video unrelated to inoculation or vaccines using the design outlined Figure 1.

All participants first answered questions about their demographics, social media and information consumption, exposure to and trust of information about COVID-19 vaccines, and perceptions of vaccine harm. Then, participants in the 3 treatment groups were "inoculated" by showing them a 30-second scripted video that highlights narrative or rhetorical tactics used in vaccine misinformation (intervention group 1, "Narrative," n=500), contains factual rebuttal of vaccine misinformation (intervention group 2, "Fact," n=500), or a hybrid of both (intervention group 3, "Hybrid," n=500). The control group (n=500) watched a neutral video that described how to make a paper airplane. Participants were then asked a series of questions on their perceptions of the video.

After watching the inoculation video, participants were shown a video stimulus that utilizes the manipulation techniques participants were alerted to in the inoculation video. The same stimulus video was displayed to participants in the control group and all treatment groups. Participants were then asked the same series of questions on their perceptions of the video. The same questions were asked following the intervention/control video and the stimulus video in order to avoid alerting the respondent as to the type of video being assessed.



Figure 1. Study design.



Ethical Considerations

The study protocol was approved by the American University Institutional Review Board (IRB-2022-295).

Variables of Interest

We had 3 hypotheses of interest. Each hypothesis corresponded to a different dependent variable below. The first hypothesis was related to the ability to identify misinformation, the second was related to willingness to share information, and the third

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34615

RenderX

was related to willingness to get vaccinated. The measures described below were designed to correspond to these 3 research questions, though the survey also included other items related to emotional reactance to the content.

Dependent Variables (Question Number - Variable Name)

We selected 3 particular outcomes of interest:

- The ability to recognize rhetorical strategies in a video containing misinformation about the COVID-19 vaccine, such as unusual colors, scary music, and vague language (Q25 Recognize)
- Willingness to share the video containing misinformation about the COVID-19 vaccine (Q24 Share)
- Willingness to get vaccinated (Q26 Willingness)

Independent Variables

We had the following independent variables:

- Demographic variables: gender (male, female), age (continuous), race (non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, Hispanic, non-Hispanic Asian, other), income (continuous), education (less than high school, high school/General Educational Development (GED), some college, bachelor's degree, postgraduate degree, other)
- General vaccine attitude covariates: "Most vaccines do not cause immediate injuries or side effects," "Most vaccines do not lead to long-term side effects," "Vaccines cause more harm than benefit," "Taking a vaccine is likely to give me a disease," "Vaccination can protect me from getting a disease," "Vaccines cause autism," and "Vaccines are designed as a form of government control," which was tested and then analyzed as a factor that controlled for vaccine attitudes (see analysis plan)

Statistical Analyses

The analyses included 3 steps: first, to conduct descriptive statistics of baseline sample characteristics; second, to analyze multi-item scale development; and third, to test the effect of the 3 interventions in comparison to controls on the endpoints collected after the second video. All final models were adjusted for demographics (age, gender, race, education, and income); baseline value, if available; and mean scores calculated about general attitudes toward vaccines.

Descriptive Statistics of Baseline Sample Characteristics

Baseline characteristics of the sample, including age, gender, race, income, education, and attitudinal variables, were described using means and SDs for continuous variables and counts and percentages for categorical variables. Descriptive statistics were calculated for the entire sample and by intervention group.

Multi-Item Scale Development

Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to test the dimensionality of multi-item scales, which included the scales for prior general vaccine attitudes and the 3 primary study outcomes, namely Recognize, Share, and Willingness. We planned to retain components associated with eigenvalues greater than 1 as long as factor loadings and internal consistency within components, as measured by Cronbach α , were acceptable (>.7). When more than 1 component was retained, the varimax rotation was applied to the model to aid in the interpretation of the factor loadings. For retained components, scores were created as the mean of their items.

Statistical Analysis of Effects of Interventions on Outcomes

Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) models were used to compare the main effect of the intervention on the 3 outcome variables. The model for each outcome included the main effect of the intervention adjusted for age, gender, race, education, income, and the scores for prior general attitudes toward vaccines that was formed in the second step of our analysis. For the Share scale, the model also included the baseline Share score from after the first video. For the 3 outcomes, we were interested in testing the null hypothesis of no difference between intervention groups using a 2-tailed statistical test. To control the type 1 error rate resulting from multiple endpoints, we used the Holm method. For outcomes with a significant intervention group F test, we tested paired differences between the intervention groups and the control group and controlled for multiple comparisons using the Dunnett test. The power of the statistical test for an ANOVA with 3 intervention groups and 1 control group where the Dunnett test is used to compare each treatment mean with the control mean, one would require 477 subjects in each group in order to achieve 81% power to detect a mean difference of 0.33 between at least 1 pair of intervention and control groups, assuming an SD of 1.8 within each group and a family-wise type 1 error rate of .017, which corresponds to the first rejection level of the Holm method for this study.

Results

Sample Characteristics

This analysis included 1991 subjects. Although 500 (25.1%) subjects were enrolled in each intervention group, not all subjects completed the survey questionnaire, leaving an analysis population of 495 (24.9%) participants in the control group and 480 (24.1%) in the narrative-rhetorical, 489 (24.6%) in the factual, and 489 (24.6%) in the hybrid video intervention groups. Overall, the study population had a mean age of 40.7 (SD 11.8) years, and 968 (50%) were female, 1439 (74%) were non-Hispanic White, 1173 (60%) had a bachelor's degree or higher education, and 773 (40%) reported an income of US \$100,000 or more. A summary of baseline characteristics for the entire sample and by intervention group is given in Table 2.



Table 2. Baseline characteristics.

Characteristic	All groups (N=1953)	Controls (N=495)	Narrative (N=495)	Fact (N=489)	Hybrid (N=489)	P value ^a
Age (in years), mean (SD)	40.8 (11.8)	41.0 (11.7)	36.6 (11.6)	41.6 (11.4)	43.6 (11.4)	<.001
Female gender, n (%)	968 (50)	248 (50)	234 (49)	243 (50)	243 (50)	.98
Race, n (%)						.03
Non-Hispanic White	1439 (74)	380 (77)	347 (72)	356 (73)	356 (73)	N/A ^b
Non-Hispanic Black	206 (11)	29 (6)	59 (12)	59 (12)	59 (12)	N/A
Hispanic/Latino	98 (5)	35 (7)	21 (4)	21 (4)	21 (4)	N/A
Non-Hispanic Asian	73 (4)	13 (3)	20 (4)	20 (4)	20 (4)	N/A
Other	137 (7)	38 (8)	33 (7)	33 (7)	33 (7)	N/A
Income (US \$), n (%)						.02
<25,000	238 (12)	76 (15)	54 (11)	54 (11)	54 (11)	N/A
25,000-49,999	245 (12)	75 (15)	56 (11)	57 (12)	57 (11)	N/A
50,000-74,999	273 (14)	48 (10)	75 (15)	75 (15)	75 (15)	N/A
75,000-99,999	310 (16)	74 (15)	78 (16)	79 (16)	79 (16)	N/A
100,000-124,999	170 (9)	42 (8)	42 (9)	43 (9)	43 (9)	N/A
125,000-149,999	200 (10)	51 (10)	47 (10)	51 (10)	51 (10)	N/A
≥150,000	403 (21)	83 (17)	106 (22)	107 (22)	107 (22)	N/A
Prefer not to say	114 (6)	46 (9)	22 (5)	23 (5)	23 (5)	N/A
Education, n (%)						<.001
Less than high school	164 (8)	17 (3)	49 (10)	49 (10)	49 (10)	N/A
High school/GED ^c	290 (15)	103 (21)	61 (13)	63 (13)	63 (13)	N/A
Some college	254 (13)	104 (21)	50 (10)	50 (10)	50 (10)	N/A
Bachelor's degree	405 (21)	105 (21)	100 (21)	100 (20)	100 (20)	N/A
Postgraduate degree	768 (39)	166 (34)	196 (41)	203 (42)	203 (42)	N/A
Other	72 (4)	0 (0)	24 (5)	24 (5)	24 (5)	N/A

^aTest of significant intervention group effect using ANOVA model for Age and Pearson chi-square test for categorical variables.

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cGED: General Educational Development.

Results of Statistical Analysis of Scales

PCA of the 7 items measuring prior attitudes toward vaccines retained 2 factors that accounted for 65% of the variance in the data. All items had a high factor loading on 1 of the 2 factors, with loading in the range of 0.71-0.83, while also having small factor loadings of less than 0.2 on the other factor (Table 3). Items loading most heavily on the first component asked the level of agreement to the statements "Most vaccines do not cause immediate injuries or side effects," "Most vaccines do not lead to long-term side effects," and "Vaccination can protect me from getting a disease," while the remaining items that asked "Vaccines cause more harm than benefit," "Taking a vaccine is likely to give me a disease," "Vaccines cause autism," and "Vaccines are designed as a form of government control" loaded

highly onto the second component. Cronbach α for the 3 items loading on the first component was .70, while the 4 items loading on the second component had a Cronbach α of .83, indicating good internal consistency within each set of items. Because these 7 items formed 2 distinct constructs with good reliability, we created 2 scores for general attitudes toward vaccines by taking a subject's mean response to the questions that loaded highly onto each factor.

For the 3 questions measuring the Recognize outcome, PCA showed the items to be unidimensional, with a single factor accounting for 72% of the variance. Factor loadings were all greater than 0.84, and Cronbach α was .81. PCA of the 5 items measuring the Share outcome also retained a single factor that accounted for 70% of the variance in the data. Factor loadings were high (0.70-0.89), and Cronbach α was .89.



 Table 3. PCA^a factor structure.

Construct items	Factor 1 loading	Factor 2 loading
General attitudes toward vaccines		
Most vaccines do not cause immediate injuries or side effects.	0.79	0.13
Most vaccines do not lead to long-term side effects.	0.69	0.11
Vaccines cause more harm than benefit.	0.09	0.74
Taking a vaccine is likely to give me a disease.	0.09	0.75
Vaccination can protect me from getting a disease.	0.49	0.10
Vaccines cause autism.	0.19	0.75
Vaccines are designed as a form of government control.	0.14	0.66
Recognize		
Scary music	0.78	N/A ^b
Weird colors	0.78	N/A
Vague language (words that are unclear or not specific)	0.73	N/A
Sharing		
How likely are you to share this second video with people in your social media network?	0.83	N/A
How likely are your friends to share this second video on their social media networks?	0.81	N/A
If you could, how likely would you be to support the producer of this second video by following them (receiving future posts from them) on social media?	0.88	N/A
If you could, how likely would you be to financially support the producer of this second video?	0.82	N/A
How likely are you to check the facts on the second video you just watched?	0.60	N/A

^aPCA: principal component analysis.

^bN/A: not applicable.

Effect of Interventions on Outcomes of Interest

Hypothesis 1. The Ability to Recognize Rhetorical Strategies in a Video Containing Misinformation About the COVID-19 Vaccine (Recognize)

For the Recognize score, the ability to recognize rhetorical strategies, there was a significant intervention group effect $(F_{(3,1929)}=8.5, P<.001)$; see Table 4. Since this was the smallest of the intervention group effect *P* values among the 3 study endpoints, the Holm method rejected the null hypothesis of the no-intervention-group effect when P<.05/3=.02, which was

achieved. The least squares (LS) means (SE) of the Recognize scale for controls and the 3 video intervention groups were 3.67 (0.09), 3.98 (0.09), 4.10 (0.09), and 4.14 (0.09), respectively. The LS mean differences between intervention groups (Narrative, Fact, and Hybrid) and controls were 0.31 (P=.01), 0.43 (P<.001), and 0.47 (P<0.001), respectively, with all P values being significant after adjusting for multiple comparison using the Dunnett test. These tests indicated that each intervention group had a statistically significant greater awareness of the tactics used to gain attention in the second video compared to controls.



Table 4. ANCOVA^a models' estimated intervention effects, mean scores, and differences.

Intervention LS ^b means and SEs			Differences from con	ntrol intervention
Outcome by intervention	F statistic P value ^c	LS mean (SE) ^c	LS mean (SE)	Adjusted P value ^d
Recognition of rhetorical strategies	("Recognize")		·	
Intervention effect	<.001	N/A ^e	N/A	N/A
Control	N/A	3.67 (0.09)	N/A	N/A
Narrative	N/A	3.98 (0.09)	0.31 (0.11)	.01
Fact	N/A	4.10 (0.09)	0.43 (0.10)	<.001
Hybrid	N/A	4.14 (0.09)	0.47 (0.10)	<.001
Willingness to share misinformation	n content ("Share")			
Intervention effect	.017	N/A	N/A	N/A
Control	N/A	4.11 (0.08)	N/A	N/A
Narrative	N/A	3.90 (0.07)	-0.21(0.09)	.03
Fact	N/A	3.90 (0.07)	-0.22 (0.09)	.022
Hybrid	N/A	3.89 (0.07)	-0.22 (0.09)	.019
Willingness to get vaccinated ("Will	ingness")			
Intervention effect	.006	N/A	N/A	N/A
Control	N/A	2.77 (0.09)	N/A	N/A
Narrative	N/A	3.05 (0.09)	0.28 (0.10)	.012
Fact	N/A	3.05 (0.09)	0.28 (0.10)	.011
Hybrid	N/A	3.05 (0.09)	0.28 (0.10)	.01

^aANCOVA: analysis of covariance.

^bLS: least squares.

 ^{c}F statistic, LS mean, and SE were obtained from an ANCOVA model for each outcome, with the intervention group as the main effect and adjusting for age, gender, race, education, income, and scores from 2 scales of general attitudes toward vaccines.

 ^{d}P value adjusted for multiple comparisons between controls and intervention groups using the Dunnett test after finding a significant main effect for intervention.

^eN/A: not applicable.

Hypothesis 2. Support for Sharing the Video Containing Misinformation About the COVID-19 Vaccine (Sharing)

For the Share scale, support for sharing the mis- and disinformation, the intervention group main effect was statistically significant ($F_{(3,1928)}=3.4$, P=.02) using the Holm P value threshold of .05. For the control and intervention groups (Narrative, Fact, and Hybrid), the LS means (SE) were 4.11 (0.08), 3.90 (0.07), 3.90 (0.07), and 3.89 (0.07), respectively. The LS means for the difference between the control group and the 3 intervention groups were 0.21 (P=.03), 0.22 (P=.022), and 0.22 (P=.019) lower than that for the control group, respectively, indicating lower support for sharing/supporting the second video in each intervention group compared to controls.

Hypothesis 3. Willingness to Get vaccinated (Willingness)

The intervention group effect for the Willingness scale, willingness to get the vaccine, had the second smallest *P* value $(F_{(3,1929)}=4.1, P=.01)$ among the 3 study endpoints, which was significant at the Holm method adjusted cut-off of 0.05/2=.03. The LS means (SE) for the willingness scale for the control and 3 intervention groups were 2.77 (0.09), 3.05 (0.09), 3.05 (0.09),

RenderX

and 3.05 (0.09), respectively. The difference between the control groups and the 3 intervention groups (Narrative, Fact, and Hybrid) were 0.28 (P=.012), 0.28 (P=.011), and 0.28 (P=.01) points higher than that for the controls, respectively, indicating that subjects in the intervention groups were more willing to get the COVID-19 vaccine compared to controls.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The purpose of this study was to identify the effect of attitudinal inoculation videos on the ability to identify misinformation, willingness to share misinformation, and willingness to vaccinate. We found there was a significant effect of having been exposed to an inoculation video compared to a control video across each outcome of interest. Our results support our initial hypotheses that inoculation messaging can increase the ability to identify misinformation, decrease willingness to share misinformation, and increase willingness to vaccinate.

Our study explored not only whether there is an effect of inoculating participants but also whether inoculating against a

narrative/rhetorical strategy or against factual misinformation is more effective. We also tested a hybrid video that combined fact-based and narrative/rhetorical strategies within the inoculation message. Past studies into the relative efficacy of narrative/rhetoric compared to fact-based appeals have suggested that narrative approaches are more likely to be persuasive to viewers [32-34,37-39,55]. However, we did not find significant differences across the 3 active intervention groups, suggesting that the content of the intervention video (narrative/rhetoric, fact based, or hybrid) does not impact the effect of the intervention. This may be attributable to the nuanced differences in the scripts used, which might have been difficult to distinguish in such a short time frame. Additionally, because there was only 1 video for each video script strategy, it is not possible to say whether there may be differences in other videos that used these same strategies. It is even possible that the cinematographic and casting choices behind each video (ie, the production and the medical workers who narrated them) themselves made indirect narrative and rhetorical appeals to viewers. These appeals include, for example, clean sets, approachable body language, hopeful music, and other emotionally engaging features of the videos. This, in turn, might have produced a "flattening" effect, rendering the appeals of the videos more uniform.

The intervention videos were designed to protect people against being misled by flawed argumentation used in common online mis- and disinformation, such as conspiracy theories [57,58]. In practice, this means that watching a video with an inoculation message and a weakened microdose of manipulation techniques allows viewers to discern more readily subsequent misinformation that makes use of similar flawed argumentation techniques. In this study, we were able to achieve this in videos that were only 30 seconds in duration. This is critical because 30 seconds is consistent with short attention spans for online video consumption on social media and the length of many ads online, enabling such a video to be shown in ad slots. Prior inoculation studies have tested longer-form videos or text [49,51,58]. These findings for the effects of 30-second videos have implications for the ability to disseminate inoculation messages in social media ad slots.

Furthermore, online platforms are a viable place to disseminate these interventions to affect perceptions and behavior, because information on vaccine injury is viewed and spread on social media and exposure to online misinformation is associated with lower vaccination intentions [17,59,60]. Social media platforms that may hesitate at the prospect of hosting inoculation videos containing a microdose of misinformation might be reassured that in the proper context of an inoculation message, these microdoses are vital to the overall discrediting of misinformation and disinformation.

Limitations

This study has limitations. First, the study sample was not representative of the general population but rather was more highly educated, mobile app users. Testing the effects of the intervention with a broader audience and determining whether there are differential effects among particular subsamples of the population will add to the understanding of the effect of these types of videos. Second, as described before, further investigation is needed to explore whether there may be meaningful differences in narrative versus fact versus hybrid models that could not be detected in this study due to the study design; however, in general, our results suggest that fact-based rhetorical strategies can be as effective as a narrative-rhetoric or hybrid approach.

Conclusion

As an infodemic management strategy, approaches that go beyond fact checking, and do not simply focus on countering 1 piece of content, may be valuable. We found that attitudinal inoculation in video-based messages may be an intervention strategy that can be used in designing public health messaging campaigns to counter mis- and disinformation. Online dissemination of these videos could be a viable strategy to increase vaccine uptake and can be tried more broadly. Videos that use attitudinal inoculation to combat COVID-19 vaccine misinformation should be tested with a broader audience beyond the United States and on social media platforms, such as YouTube and TikTok. More research is needed to understand how videos with attitudinal inoculation perform when individuals are in a typical information consumption environment and faced with competing demands for attention.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Plato. In: Woolsey TD, Stallbaum G, editors. The Gorgias of Plato. Boston, MA: J. Munroe & Company; 1848.
- 2. Clem S. Post-truth and vices opposed to truth. J Soc Christ Ethics 2017;37(2):97-116.
- 3. Aquinas T. Summa theologica. Complete English ed. TX: Christian Classics; 1981.
- 4. Freelon D, Wells C. Disinformation as political communication. Polit Commun 2020 Feb 14;37(2):145-156. [doi: 10.1080/10584609.2020.1723755]
- Sell T, Hosangadi D, Smith E, Trotochaud M, Vasudevan P, Gronvall G, et al. National Priorities to Combat Misinformation and Disinformation for COVID-19 and Future Public Health Threats: A Call for a National Strategy. URL: <u>https://www. centerforhealthsecurity.org/our-work/pubs_archive/pubs-pdfs/2021/210322-misinformation.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-05-31]

- Bernardo T, Sobkowich KE, Forrest RO, Stewart LS, D'Agostino M, Perez Gutierrez E, et al. Collaborating in the time of COVID-19: the scope and scale of innovative responses to a global pandemic. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2021 Feb 09;7(2):e25935 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25935] [Medline: 33503001]
- 7. Kapantai E, Christopoulou A, Berberidis C, Peristeras V. A systematic literature review on disinformation: toward a unified taxonomical framework. New Media Soc 2020 Sep 20;23(5):1301-1326. [doi: <u>10.1177/1461444820959296</u>]
- 8. Directorate-General for Communications Networks, Content and Technology (European Commission). A Multi-dimensional Approach to Disinformation: Report of the Independent High Level Group on Fake News and Online Disinformation. URL: https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/6ef4df8b-4cea-11e8-be1d-01aa75ed71a1 [accessed 2022-05-31]
- Davison K, Guan S. The quality of dietary information on the World Wide Web. J Can Diet Assoc 1996;57(4):137-141.
 Eysenbach G. Infodemiology and infoveillance: framework for an emerging set of public health informatics methods to analyze search, communication and publication behavior on the Internet. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(1):e1157.
- Calleja N, AbdAllah A, Abad N, Ahmed N, Albarracin D, Altieri E, et al. A public health research agenda for managing infodemics: methods and results of the first WHO Infodemiology Conference. JMIR Infodemiol 2021;1(1):e30979 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/30979] [Medline: 34604708]
- 12. Akpan I, Aguolu O, Kobara Y, Razavi R, Akpan A, Shanker M. Association between what people learned about COVID-19 using web searches and their behavior toward public health guidelines: empirical infodemiology study. J Med Internet Res 2021;23(9):e28975.
- Bridgman A, Merkley E, Loewen PJ, Owen T, Ruths D, Teichmann L, et al. The Causes and Consequences of COVID-19 Misperceptions: Understanding the Role of News and Social Media. URL: <u>https://misinforeview.hks.harvard.edu/article/ the-causes-and-consequences-of-covid-19-misperceptions-understanding-the-role-of-news-and-social-media/</u> [accessed 2022-05-31]
- 14. Allington D, Duffy B, Wessely S, Dhavan N, Rubin J. Health-protective behaviour, social media usage and conspiracy belief during the COVID-19 public health emergency. Psychol Med 2021;51(10):1763-1769.
- SteelFisher GK, Blendon R, Caporello H. An uncertain public encouraging acceptance of Covid-19 vaccines. N Engl J Med 2021 May 22;384(16):1483-1487. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMp2100351</u>] [Medline: <u>33657291</u>]
- 16. Ognyanova K, Lazer D, Baum M, Druckman J, Green J, Perlis R. The COVID States Project #60: COVID-19 vaccine misinformation: from uncertainty to resistance. OSF Preprints 2021. [doi: 10.31219/osf.io/xtjad]
- 17. Loomba S, de FA, Piatek S, de GK, Larson H. Measuring the impact of COVID-19 vaccine misinformation on vaccination intent in the UK and USA. Nat Hum Behav 2021;5(3):337-348.
- 18. Romer D, Jamieson K. Patterns of media use, strength of belief in COVID-19 conspiracy theories, and the prevention of COVID-19 from March to July 2020 in the United States: survey study. J Med Internet Res 2021;23(4):e25215.
- 19. Romer D, Jamieson K. Conspiracy theories as barriers to controlling the spread of COVID-19 in the U.S. Soc Sci Med 2020;263:113356.
- 20. Piltch-Loeb R, Savoia E, Goldberg B, Hughes B, Verhey T, Kayyem J. Examining the effect of information channel on COVID-19 vaccine acceptance. PLOS ONE 2021;16(5):e0251095.
- 21. Eysenbach G. How to fight an infodemic: the four pillars of infodemic management. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 29;22(6):e21820 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21820] [Medline: 32589589]
- 22. Hameleers M, Powell TE, Van Der Meer TG, Bos L. A picture paints a thousand lies? The effects and mechanisms of multimodal disinformation and rebuttals disseminated via social media. Polit Commun 2020 Feb 05;37(2):281-301. [doi: 10.1080/10584609.2019.1674979]
- 23. Pérez-Escolar M, Ordóñez-Olmedo E, Alcaide-Pulido P. Fact-checking skills and project-based learning about infodemic and disinformation. Think Skills Creat 2021 Sep;41:100887. [doi: 10.1016/j.tsc.2021.100887]
- 24. Wood T, Porter E. The elusive backfire effect: mass attitudes' steadfast factual adherence. Polit Behav 2018 Jan 16;41(1):135-163. [doi: 10.1007/s11109-018-9443-y]
- 25. Zimmermann F, Kohring M. Mistrust, disinforming news, and vote choice: a panel survey on the origins and consequences of believing disinformation in the 2017 German parliamentary election. Polit Commun 2020;37(2):215-237.
- 26. Rodríguez-Pérez C, Paniagua-Rojano F, Magallón-Rosa R. Debunking political disinformation through journalists' perceptions: an analysis of Colombia's fact-checking news practices. Media Commun 2021;9(1):264-275.
- 27. Garrett L. COVID-19: the medium is the message. Lancet 2020;395(10228):942-943.
- 28. Graves L, Nyhan B, Reifler J. Understanding innovations in journalistic practice: a field experiment examining motivations for fact-checking. J Commun 2016 Jan 08;66(1):102-138. [doi: 10.1111/jcom.12198]
- 29. Nemr C, Gangware W. Weapons of Mass Distraction: Foreign State-Sponsored Disinformation in the Digital Age. URL: https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/

Weapons-of-Mass-Distraction-Foreign-State-Sponsored-Disinformation-in-the-Digital-Age.pdf [accessed 2022-05-31]
 Newton C. The Trauma Floor: The Secret Lives of Facebook Content Moderators in America. URL: https://www.

- theverge.com/2019/2/25/18229714/cognizant-facebook-content-moderator-interviews-trauma-working-conditions-arizona [accessed 2022-05-31]
- 31. Roberts S. Behind the Screen. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press; 2019.

- 32. Adebayo A, Davidson Mhonde R, DeNicola N, Maibach E. The effectiveness of narrative versus didactic information formats on pregnant women's knowledge, risk perception, self-efficacy, and information seeking related to climate change health risks. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Sep 23;17(19):6969 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17196969] [Medline: 32977683]
- 33. Liu S, Yang JZ. The role of temporal distance perception in narrative vs. non-narrative persuasion related to e-cigarettes. J Health Commun 2020 Jul 02;25(7):543-553. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2020.1788678] [Medline: 32673189]
- 34. Murphy ST, Frank LB, Chatterjee JS, Moran MB, Zhao N, Amezola de Herrera P, et al. Comparing the relative efficacy of narrative vs nonnarrative health messages in reducing health disparities using a randomized trial. Am J Public Health 2015 Oct;105(10):2117-2123. [doi: 10.2105/ajph.2014.302332]
- 35. Falk E, Scholz C. Persuasion, influence, and value: perspectives from communication and social neuroscience. Annu Rev Psychol 2018 Jan 04;69(1):329-356. [doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-122216-011821] [Medline: 28961060]
- 36. Bryan CJ, Yeager DS, Hinojosa CP. A values-alignment intervention protects adolescents from the effects of food marketing. Nat Hum Behav 2019 Jun;3(6):596-603 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41562-019-0586-6] [Medline: 30988478]
- 37. Chen M, Bell RA. A meta-analysis of the impact of point of view on narrative processing and persuasion in health messaging. Psychol Health 2022 May 06;37(5):545-562. [doi: 10.1080/08870446.2021.1894331] [Medline: 33678078]
- 38. de Wit JBF, Das E, Vet R. What works best: objective statistics or a personal testimonial? An assessment of the persuasive effects of different types of message evidence on risk perception. Health Psychol 2008 Jan;27(1):110-115. [doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.27.1.110] [Medline: 18230021]
- 39. Gilkey M, Grabert B, Malo T, Hall M, Brewer N. Physicians' rhetorical strategies for motivating HPV vaccination. Soc Sci Med 2020;266:113441.
- 40. Maertens R, Roozenbeek J, Basol M, van der Linden S. Long-term effectiveness of inoculation against misinformation: three longitudinal experiments. J Exp Psychol Appl 2021;27(1):1-16.
- 41. McGuire WJ. Inducing resistance to persuasion. Some contemporary approaches. In: Haaland CC, Kaelber WO, editors. Self and Society. An Anthology of Readings. Lexington, MA: Ginn Custom; 1981:192-230.
- 42. McGuire WJ, Papageorgis D. The relative efficacy of various types of prior belief-defense in producing immunity against persuasion. J Abnorm Soc Psychol 1961 Mar;62(2):327-337. [doi: 10.1037/h0042026] [Medline: 13773992]
- 43. McGuire WJ. The effectiveness of supportive and refutational defenses in immunizing and restoring beliefs against persuasion. Sociometry 1961;24(2):184-197.
- 44. Banas JA, Rains SA. A meta-analysis of research on inoculation theory. Commun Monogr 2010 Sep;77(3):281-311. [doi: 10.1080/03637751003758193]
- 45. Braddock K. Vaccinating against hate: using attitudinal inoculation to confer resistance to persuasion by extremist propaganda. Terror Polit Violence 2019:1-23.
- 46. Roozenbeek J, van der Linden S, Nygren T. Prebunking Interventions Based on the Psychological Theory of "Inoculation" Can Reduce Susceptibility to Misinformation Across Cultures. URL: <u>https://misinforeview.hks.harvard.edu/article/global-vaccination-badnews/</u> [accessed 2022-05-31]
- 47. Compton J, Jackson B, Dimmock JA. Persuading others to avoid persuasion: inoculation theory and resistant health attitudes. Front Psychol 2016;7:122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00122] [Medline: 26903925]
- 48. Cook J, Lewandowsky S, Ecker U. Neutralizing misinformation through inoculationxposing misleading argumentation techniques reduces their influence. PLOS ONE 2017;12(5):e0175799.
- 49. Braddock K, Hughes B, Goldberg B, Miller-Idriss C. Subversive online activity predicts susceptibility to persuasion by far-right extremist propaganda. MediArXiv Preprint posted online June 1, 2021. [doi: <u>10.33767/osf.io/c734s</u>]
- 50. van DLS, Dixon G, Clarke C, Cook J. Inoculating against COVID-19 vaccine misinformation. EClinicalMedicine 2021:33.
- 51. Hughes B, Braddock K, Miller-Idriss C, Goldberg B, Criezis M, Dashtgard P. Inoculating against persuasion by scientific racism propaganda: the moderating roles of propaganda form and subtlety. SocArXiv Preprint posted online July 31, 2021 [FREE Full text]
- 52. Savoia E, Piltch-Loeb R, Goldberg B, Miller-Idriss C, Hughes B, Montrond A, et al. Predictors of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy: socio-demographics, co-morbidity, and past experience of racial discrimination. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Jul 09;9(7):767 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9070767] [Medline: 34358184]
- 53. Hughes B, Miller-Idriss C, Piltch-Loeb R, Goldberg B, White K, Criezis M. Development of a codebook of online anti-vaccination rhetoric to manage COVID-19 vaccine misinformation. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;18(14):7556.
- Roozenbeek J, van der Linden S. Fake news game confers psychological resistance against online misinformation. Palgrave Commun 2019;5(1):1-10.
- 55. Ooms J, Hoeks J, Jansen C. "Hey, that could be me": the role of similarity in narrative persuasion. PLOS ONE 2019;14(4):e0215359 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0215359] [Medline: 30998694]
- 56. Rothschild D, Konitzer T. Random Device Engagement (RDE) with Organic Samples. New York, NY: Pollfish; 2022.
- Lewandowsky S, Yesilada M. Inoculating against the spread of Islamophobic and radical-Islamist disinformation. Cogn Res Princ Implic 2021 Aug 19;6(1):57 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/s41235-021-00323-z</u>] [Medline: <u>34410513</u>]
- 58. van der Linden S, Leiserowitz A, Rosenthal S, Maibach E. Inoculating the public against misinformation about climate change. Glob Chall 2017 Mar 27;1(2):1600008 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/gch2.201600008] [Medline: 31565263]

- 59. Lazer D, Green J, Ognyanova K, Baum M, Lin J, Druckman J. The COVID States Project #57: social media news consumption and COVID-19 vaccination rates. OSF Preprints 2021.
- Basch CE, Basch CH, Hillyer GC, Meleo-Erwin ZC, Zagnit EA. YouTube videos and informed decision-making about COVID-19 vaccination: successive sampling study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2021 May 06;7(5):e28352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28352] [Medline: 33886487]

Abbreviations

ANCOVA: analysis of covariance GED: General Educational Development LS: least squares PCA: principal component analysis

 Edited by T Sanchez; submitted 01.11.21; peer-reviewed by M Jones, M Bardus; comments to author 06.01.22; revised version received 26.01.22; accepted 26.04.22; published 20.06.22.

 <u>Please cite as:</u>

 Piltch-Loeb R, Su M, Hughes B, Testa M, Goldberg B, Braddock K, Miller-Idriss C, Maturo V, Savoia E

 Testing the Efficacy of Attitudinal Inoculation Videos to Enhance COVID-19 Vaccine Acceptance: Quasi-Experimental Intervention Trial

 JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e34615

 URL: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e34615

 PMID: 35483050

©Rachael Piltch-Loeb, Max Su, Brian Hughes, Marcia Testa, Beth Goldberg, Kurt Braddock, Cynthia Miller-Idriss, Vanessa Maturo, Elena Savoia. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 20.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Reasons for COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy Among Chinese People Living With HIV/AIDS: Structural Equation Modeling Analysis

Yan Yao^{1*}, PhD; Ruiyu Chai^{1*}, MM; Jianzhou Yang², PhD; Xiangjun Zhang³, PhD; Xiaojie Huang⁴, PhD; Maohe Yu⁵, PhD; Geng-feng Fu⁶, PhD; Guanghua Lan⁷, PhD; Ying Qiao⁸, MM; Qidi Zhou⁹, PhD; Shuyue Li¹⁰, MM; Junjie Xu¹¹, PhD

Corresponding Author:

Junjie Xu, PhD Clinical Research Academy Peking University Shenzhen Hospital Peking University 1120, Lianhua Road Futian District Shenzhen, 518036 China Phone: 86 755 8392333 Email: xjjcmu@163.com

Related Article:

This is a corrected version. See correction statement: https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/7/e40910

Abstract

Background: Many countries and organizations recommended people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA) receive the COVID-19 vaccine. However, vaccine hesitancy still exists and becomes a barrier for promoting COVID-19 vaccination among PLWHA.

Objective: This study aims to investigate factors that contributed to COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among PLWHA.

Methods: The study used a multicenter cross-sectional design and an online survey mode. We recruited PLWHA aged 18-65 years from 5 metropolitan cities in China between January 2021 and February 2021. Participants completed an online survey through Golden Data, a widely used encrypted web-based survey platform. Multiple linear regression models were used to assess the background characteristics in relation to COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy, and structural equation modeling was performed to assess the relationships among perceived benefits, perceived risks, self-efficacy, subjective norms, and COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy.

Results: Among 1735 participants, 41.61% (722/1735) reported COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. Older age, no other vaccinations in the past 3 years, and having chronic disease history were positively associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. Structural equation modeling revealed a direct relationship of perceived benefits, perceived risks, and subjective norms with self-efficacy

¹Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, School of Public Health, Jilin University, Changchun, China

²Department of Preventive Medicine, Changzhi Medical College, Changzhi, China

³Department of Public Health, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN, United States

⁴Beijing Youan Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

⁵Tianjin Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Tianjin, China

⁶Jiangsu Provincial Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Nanjing, China

⁷Guangxi Center for Disease Prevention and Control, Nanning, China

⁸The Second Hospital of Huhhot, Huhhot, China

⁹Department of Emergency Medicine, Shenzhen Hospital, Peking University, Shenzhen, China

¹⁰Changchun Maternity Hospital, Changchun, China

¹¹Clinical Research Academy, Peking University Shenzhen Hospital, Peking University, Shenzhen, China

^{*}these authors contributed equally

and vaccine hesitancy and an indirect relationship of perceived benefits, perceived risks, and subjective norms with vaccine hesitancy. Moreover, self-efficacy toward COVID-19 vaccination was low. PLWHA had concerns of HIV disclosure during COVID-19 vaccination. Family member support could have an impact on COVID-19 vaccination decision-making.

Conclusions: COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy was high among PLWHA in China. To reduce COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy, programs and strategies should be adopted to eliminate the concerns for COVID-19 vaccination, disseminate accurate information on the safety and efficacy of the COVID-19 vaccine, encourage family member support for COVID-19 vaccination, and improve PLWHA's trust of medical professionals.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33995) doi:10.2196/33995

KEYWORDS

COVID-19 vaccine; vaccine hesitancy; PLWHA; structural equation modeling

Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has become a global health challenge and poses a serious health threat [1]. Compared with the HIV-negative population, people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA) with a weakened immune condition or with comorbidities have an increased risk of having poorer outcomes from COVID-19 [2]. Moreover, PLWHA who are immunocompromised are more likely to have a more severe illness and a longer disease course from COVID-19 [3-5]. Some longitudinal studies have reported that PLWHA have higher COVID-19 mortality than the HIV-negative population [6-8]. Therefore, it is critical for PLWHA to receive vaccines to prevent COVID-19. Many countries and organizations recommended PLWHA to receive a COVID-19 vaccine [9-14]. The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS has declared that the COVID-19 vaccines authorized by regulators can significantly reduce the risks of severe COVID-19 illness and death and are safe for most people, including PLWHA [11]. The UK Department of Health and US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention released guidance that recommended PLWHA, regardless of CD4 count, should be vaccinated against COVID-19 [12,13]. In March 2021, China launched an updated COVID-19 guideline that also recommended PLWHA receive COVID-19 vaccines [14].

Although the evidence on the side effects and protective efficacy of COVID-19 vaccination in PLWHA is insufficient, some studies have shown that COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy is higher among PLWHA than HIV-negative people [15,16]. For example, a study in British Columbia, Canada, showed that 65.2% of PLWHA reported intending to receive a COVID-19 vaccine recommended and available to them, which was lower than HIV-negative people (79.6%). That is to say, COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy is higher among PLWHA than HIV-negative people [15]. In a cross-sectional study conducted in Beijing, China, the rate of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy of the PLWHA population was 27.5%, which was higher than HIV-negative people (17.75%) [16]. Hence, vaccine hesitancy exists and becomes a barrier for promoting COVID-19 vaccination among PLWHA. Vaccine hesitancy was defined by the World Health Organization as the delay in acceptance or refusal of vaccination despite the availability of vaccination services [17]. Vaccine hesitancy was listed as one of the top 10 global health threats in 2019 [18].

It is urgently needed to eliminate COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and improve the coverage rate for PLWHA who might encounter more barriers and have more concerns about COVID-19 vaccination. A recent study reported that vaccine hesitancy was influenced by various factors, such as perceived benefits and risks of a vaccine, perceived safety of a vaccine, confidence in a vaccine, attitudes toward a vaccine, and an individual's demand [17,19-21]. Perceived vaccine safety was reported as an essential factor that can lead to a vaccination decision [22]. In other words, people who perceive a vaccine as unsafe are more likely to refuse or delay vaccination (vaccine hesitancy) [23]. Perceived risks of a vaccine could also result in vaccine hesitancy [24]. Moreover, a recent French study that investigated COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in PLWHA indicated a high hesitancy rate of 28.7%, and PLWHA had concerns about serious side effects of COVID-19 vaccination [25]. Another study that investigated vaccine hesitancy among African American PLWHA demonstrated that people trusted some COVID-19 vaccination sources, such as social service and health care providers, more than others [26].

Although previous studies determined some factors that were associated with PLWHA's vaccine hesitancy, complex relationships among multiple factors might exist but remain unassessed. A structural equation modeling (SEM) approach that provides a flexible framework to analyze multiple variables and takes into consideration relationships among variables could provide a more compelling explanation of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. However, there is a lack of research investigating the factors correlated with PLWHA's vaccine hesitancy through SEM. Therefore, we designed a survey that investigated factors associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among PLWHA using SEM. Some factors that were reported in the literature were assessed and included in the model, such as perceived benefits, perceived risks, self-efficacy, and subjective norms. The findings of the study aimed to provide valuable evidence for a deep understanding of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy, therefore contribute to policy making and programming efforts with the goals of addressing vaccine hesitancy and promoting COVID-19 vaccination among PLWHA.

Methods

Study Design

The study used a multicenter cross-sectional design and an online survey mode. Recruitment was conducted in 5 large cities

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33995
```

from 4 regions of China between January 2021 and February 2021. These cities included 2 in the North (Tianjin and Beijing), 1 in the Northeast (Hohhot), 1 in the East (Nanjing), and 1 in the South (Nanning). To achieve the study objectives, we have set up the following criteria for cities to be qualified and included in this study: (1) must have community-based organizations (CBOs) providing services to PLWHA; (2) each city has a minimum of 3000 reported PLWHA; (3) COVID-19 vaccination was first scaled up in these sites; and (4) there is an adequate supply of vaccines in these sites.

We used 2 methods to calculate the sample size.

The first one was based on the estimation of the rate of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy among the PLWHA population based on the clustering sample method. According to a cross-sectional study conducted in Beijing, China, the rate of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy of the PLWHA population was 27.5% [16]. We first estimated the sample size using the following sample size formula from a simple randomized sampling method. The α is the significance level; if α was 0.05, $Z_{1-\alpha/2}$ could be assumed to be 1.96. δ is the allowable error, and was considered to be 0.05. The p, or the estimated COVID hesitancy rate in the PLWHA population, was considered to be 27.5%. Then, we used the design effect (deff) to further calculate the sample size based on a clustering sampling method. The deff was defined as the ratio of the variance, taking into account the clustering sample design and the variance of a simple random sample design with the same number of observations, deff was considered to be 2 based on previous studies [27-29]. Eventually, a sample size of 613 was initially generated based on a clustering sample study design. A minimum sample size of 852 was acquired after taking into consideration the no response rate of participants (20%) and the portion of unacceptable responses (10%). The sample size formula was expressed as:

For the second sample size calculation, Nunnally [30] believed that the minimum sample size should be at least 10 times the analyzed variables to conduct a SEM analysis. There are 23 variables in this study without considering background characteristics, so a sample size of 230 was initially needed. A minimum sample size of 320 was acquired after taking into consideration the no response rate of participants (20%) and the portion of unacceptable responses (10%).

×

Last, we used 852 as the minimum sample size of this study.

Participants

Eligible participants were individuals aged 18-65 years who had been diagnosed with HIV or AIDS and were living in 1 of the 5 cities. Exclusion criteria included (1) being illiterate and unable to complete the online questionnaire and (2) PLWHA who had been vaccinated against COVID-19.

Recruitment and Data Collection

We recruited participants mainly through CBOs, which provide services mainly to PLWHA and have been cooperating closely with HIV clinical service providers in the 5 study sites. In China,

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33995
```

HIV outreach services to PLWHA have been transferred from government agencies to CBOs [31]. At present, CBOs are the primary providers of these routine tasks. In addition, a large portion of PLWHAs is followed up by CBOs. The questionnaire survey was carried out using Golden Data, a commonly used, encrypted, web-based survey platform. Each participant took about 13-15 minutes to complete this survey. An electronic coupon with a value of 20 Chinese yuan (US \$3.10) was sent to the participant upon completion. The database we used was protected by a password and could only be accessed by designated research team members. More detailed information about recruitment and data collection can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Instrumentation

A panel consisting of public health researchers, psychologists, clinicians, CBO staff, and participant representatives was assembled to develop the questionnaire for the study. Ten participant representatives responded to the online survey and provided feedback for improvement. The panel revised and finalized the questionnaire based on the pilot responses and the feedback. The 10 participants were not included in the final analyses of the study.

The questionnaire included the following sections: (1) background characteristics (eg, including sociodemographic characteristics, presence of chronic conditions, history of other vaccination in the past 3 years, HIV disease information), (2) vaccine hesitancy, (3) perceived risks, (4) self-efficacy, (5) perceived benefits, and (6) subjective norms. Constructs (2) to (6) were assessed using a 5-point Likert scale. Latent variables that may have direct or indirect relationships with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy were also measured according to the hypotheses.

In this study, vaccination hesitancy was defined as the proportion of respondents who reported "definitely not" or "probably not" or "unsure" to undergo the COVID-19 vaccination program based on a recent peer-reviewed study by Fisher et al [32].

Study Hypotheses

Based on the literature, we proposed the following study hypotheses:

- Hypothesis 1: Perceived benefit is negatively associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy (the higher the perceived benefits, the lower the degree of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy).
- Hypothesis 2: Perceived risk is positively associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy (the higher the perceived risks, the higher the degree of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy).
- Hypothesis 3: Subjective norms are negatively associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy (the higher the subjective norms, the lower the degree of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy).
- Hypothesis 4: Self-efficacy is negatively associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy (the higher the self-efficacy, the lower the degree of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy).

- Hypothesis 5: Self-efficacy is positively associated with perceived benefits (the higher the self-efficacy, the higher the degree of perceived benefits).
- Hypothesis 6: Self-efficacy is negatively associated with perceived risks (the higher the self-efficacy, the lower the degree of perceived risks).
- Hypothesis 7: Self-efficacy is positively associated with subjective norms (the higher the self-efficacy, the higher the degree of subjective norms).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were performed to summarize the background characteristics associated with and frequencies of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. The total average scores and dimensional average scores for vaccine hesitancy, perceived benefits, perceived risks, self-efficacy, and subjective norms were generated. A 1-way ANOVA test was used to identify the factors predicting COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. SPSS software (version 24.0; IBM Corporation) was used to perform all data analyses. The significance level was set at a 2-tailed *P* value of <.05.

Model Analysis

First, means and standard deviations were generated to describe the basic information; skewness and kurtosis were computed to describe the distribution of the data. Furthermore, we used Amos 24.0 to construct the SEM and used the nonparametric percentile bootstrap method of bias correction to test the indirect relationships.

Ethics Approval

The institutional review boards of the Changzhi Medical College (RT2021003) approved this study. Respondents were informed that their participation was voluntary, and consent was implied by completion of the questionnaire.

Results

Background Characteristics

A total of 1883 PLWHA completed the online survey from the 5 metropolitan cities. We excluded 148 participants who had been vaccinated for COVID-19. A total of 1735 participants were included in this study. The majority of the participants were 18-39 years old (1285/1735, 74.06%) and identified themselves as male (1638/1735, 94.41%; Table 1). In terms of relationship status, education, and employment status, 67.44% (1170/1735) of participants were currently single, 62.25% (1080/1735) had received a college education or higher, and 69.91% (1213/1735) had a full-time job. Only 77.22% (1339/1735) of the participants had basic health insurance. Moreover, 17.35% (301/1735) of the participants received their HIV diagnosis within 1 year prior, 97.58% (1693/1735) of the participants were on antiretroviral therapy (ART), 70.55% (1224/1735) reported they had an undetectable viral load, and 46.86% (813/1735) reported their CD4 T cell counts were above 500 cells/µL.



Table 1. Background characteristics of participants (n=1735).

Sociodemographic characteristics and chronic disease and HIV-related indicators	Results, n (%)
Age group (years)	·
18-29	523 (30.14)
30-39	762 (43.92)
40-49	325 (18.73)
≥50	125 (7.20)
Gender at birth	
Male	1638 (94.41)
Female	97 (5.59)
Gender identity	
Male	1420 (81.84)
Female	164 (9.45)
Transgender	146 (8.41)
Others	5 (0.29)
Relationship status	
Currently single	1170 (67.44)
Cohabited/married with a same-sex partner	236 (13.60)
Cohabited/married with an opposite-sex partner	329 (18.96)
Highest education level attained	
Junior high or below	277 (15.97)
Senior high or equivalent	378 (21.79)
College and above	1080 (62.25)
Employment status	
Full-time	1213 (69.91)
Part-time/unemployed/retired/students/others	522 (30.09)
Monthly personal income (Chinese yuan/US \$)	
No fixed income	204 (11.76)
<1000/154	94 (5.42)
1000-2999/154-462	230 (13.26)
3000-4999/462-770	501 (28.88)
5000-6999/770-1078	338 (19.48)
7000-9999/1078-1540)	174 (10.03)
≥10,000/1540)	194 (11.18)
Type of health insurance	
No	197 (11.35)
Basic health insurance only	1339 (77.18)
Commercial health insurance only	35 (2.02)
Both basic and commercial health insurance	157 (9.05)
Others	7 (0.40)
Study site	
Beijing	495 (28.53)
Tianjin	320 (18.44)
Nanjing	313 (18.04)

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33995

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022 | vol. 8 | iss. 6 |e33995 | p.234 (page number not for citation purposes)

Yao et al

Sociodemographic characteristics and chronic disease and HIV-related indicators	Results, n (%)
Hohhot	315 (18.16)
Nanning	292 (16.83)
Current tobacco use	
No	1253 (72.22)
Yes	482 (27.78)
Current alcohol use	
No	1395 (80.40)
Yes	340 (19.60)
Self-reported BMI (kg/m ²)	
<18.5	155 (8.93)
18.5-23.9	1128 (65.01)
24.0-27.9	364 (20.98)
≥28	88 (5.07)
Presence of chronic disease conditions (not including HIV)	
No	1157 (66.69)
Yes	578 (33.31)
Medication use for treating chronic diseases (not including HIV)	
No	1639 (94.47)
Yes	96 (5.53)
History of other vaccinations in the past 3 years	
No	1324 (76.31)
Yes	411 (23.69)
Time since HIV diagnosis (years)	
≤1	301 (17.35)
2-5	806 (46.46)
>5	628 (36.20)
On antiretroviral therapy	
No	42 (2.42)
Yes	1693 (97.58)
HIV viral load in the most recent episode of testing (copies/mL)	
Undetectable (<50)	1224 (70.55)
Detectable (≥50)	197 (11.35)
Not sure	314 (18.10)
CD4+ T cell count in the most recent episode of testing, cells/mm ³	
>500	813 (46.86)
350-499	354 (20.40)
200-349	177 (10.20)
<200	59 (3.40)
Unknown	332 (19.14)

Attitudes Toward COVID-19 Vaccines

Regarding the responses to the statement "the likelihood of receiving free COVID-19 vaccination in the future," 58.4%

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33995

XSL•FO RenderX (1013/1735) of the participants responded that they would accept. Only 2.2% (38/1735) of the participants responded that they would definitely not get vaccinated, 6.7% (116/1735) of

the participants said they would probably not get vaccinated, and 32.7% (568/1735) of the participants said they were unsure. In total, 41.6% (722/1735) of participants had vaccine hesitancy (Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2).

Among the 722 participants who hesitated to be vaccinated, when they were asked about factors affecting their vaccine willingness, a majority (482/722, 66.8%) of participants demonstrated concerns about a possible influence on ART, and 65% (469/722) had concerns about a possible influence on HIV disease status, that is the HIV disease would progress abnormally, including a rebound of viral load, or a decrease of

absolute CD4+ T cell counts after COVID-19 vaccination. Moreover, 57.6% (416/722) of participants had concerns about the possible side effects of the COVID-19 vaccine. Nearly one-half of the participants (332/722, 46%) demonstrated fear of HIV disclosure. Many participants (308/722, 42.7%) had concerns that ART might affect the effectiveness of the vaccine, 40.3% (291/722) of participants worried that their HIV status might affect the effectiveness of the vaccine, and 22.9% (165/722) had concerns about the vaccine effectiveness alone. A small number of participants (15/722, 2.1%) reported other factors that were associated with their vaccine hesitancy (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Self-reported reasons of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in people living with HIV/AIDS (PLWHA; n=722). ART: antiretroviral therapy.



Vaccine Hesitancy and Background Characteristics

A 1-way ANOVA was used to assess differences in COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy scores among participants with different demographic characteristics. Compared with the group aged 18-29 years old, participants over 29 years old were more hesitant to get the COVID-19 vaccine (P=.009; Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2). Participants who had chronic diseases or a chronic disease history were more hesitant than those who did not have (PLWHA without chronic diseases: 2.62 vs PLWHA with chronic diseases or history: 2.42; P<.001). PLWHA who did not have other vaccinations in the past 3 years were more hesitant than the ones who did (eg, without other vaccinations: 2.35 vs with other vaccinations: 2.21; P=.01).

The significant variables in the univariate analyses were included in the multiple linear regression model. Multiple linear regression analyses identified that the tolerance of independent variables was greater than 0.1, and the variance expansion factor ranged from 1.01 to 1.40. All were less than 10, which indicated there was no multicollinearity and the results of the linear regression model were reliable.

The results of the multivariate linear regression analyses showed that, in general, older age (except for the group aged 40-49 years) was positively associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. Having received another vaccination in the past 3 years was negatively correlated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy (β =-0.07, *P*=.01; Table 2). Having chronic diseases or a chronic disease history was positively correlated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy (β =-0.77, *P*=.01).

Table 2. Multivariate analyses of vaccine hesitancy by background characteristics.

Characteristics	Unstandardized coefficient		Standardized coefficient (β)	t value (df)	P value	Collinearity statistics	
	В	SE				Tolerance	VIF ^a
Intercept	2.22	0.04	N/A ^b	50.23	<.001	N/A	N/A
Age (years)							
18-29	Ref ^c	Ref	Ref	Ref (3)	Ref	Ref	Ref
30-39	0.12	0.05	0.06	2.23 (1)	.03	0.71	1.40
40-49	0.10	0.07	0.04	1.47 (1)	.14	0.73	1.37
≥50	0.23	0.10	0.06	2.35 (1)	.02	0.83	1.20
Presence of chronic dis- ease conditions	0.14	0.05	0.07	2.77 (1)	.01	0.93	1.07
History of other vaccina- tions in the past 3 years	-0.15	0.05	-0.07	-2.86 (1)	<.001	1.00	1.01

^aVIF: variance inflation factor.

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cRef: reference.

Correlation Matrix

The results showed a negative correlation between perceived benefits and vaccine hesitancy and a positive correlation between perceived risks and vaccine hesitancy (both P<.001; Table S3 in Multimedia Appendix 2). Self-efficacy and subjective norms were negatively correlated with vaccine hesitancy (both P<.001).

Measurement Scores

Generally, when the absolute value of the skewness coefficient of an observation variable is <3 and the absolute value of the kurtosis coefficient is <8, the data can be regarded as having a normal distribution. According to the kurtosis results (from -1.29 to 1.45) and skewness (from -1.23 to 0.72), the study data were normally distributed.

The mean self-efficacy score was the lowest of all indicators; in other words, participants' confidence of COVID-19 vaccination was generally low. The mean perceived risk was the highest. In addition, the concern about HIV disclosure showed the highest mean score among all perceived risks. Moreover, PLWHA would accept the suggestions of family members on COVID-19 vaccination. However, recommendations from a HIV-positive peer and medical professionals had less influence on the acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine (Table S4 in Multimedia Appendix 2).

Results of Confirmatory Factor Analysis and SEM

This study hypothesized that perceived risks, perceived benefits, self-efficacy, and subjective norms were associated with COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy; therefore, these 4 factors were included in the SEM to explore their direct or indirect relationships with vaccine hesitancy.

Confirmatory Factor Analysis

Confirmatory factor analysis was used to confirm that each latent factor was being measured appropriately. We used the root mean square error of approximation, normed fit index (NFI), incremental fit index (IFI), Tucker-Lewis index (TLI), and comparative fit index (CFI) to assess whether the model was fit appropriately. The values of NFI, IFI, TLI, and CFI were 0.93, 0.94, 0.93, and 0.94, respectively (all >0.90). The results showed that the hypothesized model had an adequate fit (Table S5 in Multimedia Appendix 2).

Table 3 showed that the factor loadings for the items were between 0.52 and 0.92 (above 0.5), and the Cronbach α values were between 0.85 and 0.92. It indicated that this online survey had good reliability. The average variance extracted (AVE) and the construct reliability were above 0.5 and 0.7, respectively, which indicated that the convergent validity and internal consistency of this survey were good. According to the discriminant validity analysis, all square roots of AVE were higher than the correlation values, which indicated a good evaluation (Table 4).



 Table 3. Results of reliability and convergent validity analyses.

Constructs and items	Measures	Estimate	P value	Cronbach α	AVE ^a	CR ^b
Perceived benefits				0.86	0.53	0.87
PB1	COVID-19 vaccination is effective in improv- ing immune function.	0.65	<.001			
PB2	COVID-19 vaccination is effective in reduc- ing your risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection.	0.75	<.001			
PB3	COVID-19 vaccination is effective in reduc- ing mortality caused by COVID-19.	0.86	<.001			
PB4	COVID-19 vaccination is effective in reduc- ing the severity of COVID-19.	0.81	<.001			
PB5	COVID-19 vaccination is effective in reduc- ing the risk of spreading.	0.70	<.001			
PB6	Getting COVID-19 vaccination can make you feel relieved.	0.52	<.001			
Perceived risks				0.90	0.58	0.91
PR1	COVID-19 vaccination has severe side effects.	0.81	<.001			
PR2	COVID-19 vaccination uptake has a significant negative influence on the effectiveness of ART ^c .	0.76	<.001			
PR3	COVID-19 vaccination uptake can reduce immunity.	0.70	<.001			
PR4	You have concerns about the risk of exposing your PLWHA ^d identity when taking up the COVID-19 vaccine.	0.69	<.001			
PR5	COVID-19 vaccination uptake can bring trouble/psychological pressure.	0.84	<.001			
PR6	COVID-19 vaccination uptake may not pro- duce protective antibodies due to HIV infec- tion.	0.80	<.001			
PR7	The side effects of COVID-19 vaccination are severer for PLWHA than those without HIV infection.	0.70	<.001			
Self-efficacy				0.92	0.70	0.92
SFE1	You will take up the COVID-19 vaccine even if it interrupts your daily routine.	0.79	<.001			
SFE2	You will get the COVID-19 vaccine even when you do not feel well.	0.81	<.001			
SFE3	You will get the COVID-19 vaccine even if the side effects would affect your daily activ- ities.	0.92	<.001			
SFE4	You will get the COVID-19 vaccine even if HIV infection would reduce its effectiveness.	0.84	<.001			
SFE5	You will get the COVID-19 vaccine even if it reduces the effectiveness of ART.	0.82	<.001			
Subjective norms				0.85	0.60	0.86
SN1	Your family members will support you to get the COVID-19 vaccine.	0.88	<.001			
SN2	Your HIV-infected friends will support you to get the COVID-19 vaccine.	0.84	<.001			
SN3	Medical professionals will support you to get the COVID-19 vaccine.	0.74	<.001			

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33995

XSL•FO RenderX

Yao et al

Constructs and items	Measures	Estimate	P value	Cronbach α	AVE ^a	CR ^b
SN4	CBO ^e workers will support you to get the COVID-19 vaccine.	0.62	<.001			
^a AVE: average variance	e extracted.					
^b CR: construct reliabil	lity.					
^c ART: antiretroviral th	ierapy.					

^dPLWHA: person living with HIV/AIDS.

^eCBO: community-based organization.

Table 4. Display discriminant validity analysis.

Constructs	Perceived benefits	Perceived risks	Self-efficacy	Subjective norms
Perceived benefits	0.53	0.32	0.34	0.19
Perceived risks	0.32	0.58	-0.16	-0.19
Self-efficacy	0.34	-0.16	0.70	0.41
Subjective norms	0.19	-0.19	0.41	0.60
The square root of AVE ^a	0.72	0.76	0.84	0.78

^aAVE: average variance extracted.

Structural Equation Modeling

Table 5 shows that the results supported hypothesis 1 (H1) to hypothesis 7 (H7). In other words, respondents who had higher perceived benefits, lower perceived risks, higher self-efficacy, and more support from social networks were more willing to receive the COVID-19 vaccine or were less hesitant to be vaccinated against COVID-19. Perceived benefits, perceived risks, and subjective norms yielded significant direct effects on self-efficacy (β =0.35; β =-0.25; β =0.30, respectively; all *P*<.001). The relationship between perceived benefits and vaccine hesitancy was partially mediated by self-efficacy (β =0.03, *P*<.001). The relationship between perceived risks and vaccine hesitancy also was partially mediated by self-efficacy (β =0.08, *P*<.001). Similarly, the relationship between subjective norms and vaccine hesitancy was partially mediated by self-efficacy (β =-0.29, *P*<.001). Furthermore, there were direct relationships between perceived benefits, perceived risks, and subjective norms and COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy (β =-0.15; β =-0.08; β =-0.29; β =-0.20, respectively; all *P*<.001). SEM results are visualized in Figure 2.

Table 5. Estimation results of the COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy model.

Hypothesis	Unstandardized path coeffi- cient	Standardized path coeffi- cient	SE	CR ^a	P value	Support
H1:PB ^b -VH ^c	-0.17	-0.15	0.03	-5.33	<.001	Yes
H2:PR ^d -VH	0.07	0.08	0.02	2.96	<.001	Yes
H3:SN ^e -VH	-0.44	-0.29	0.04	-11.00	.003	Yes
H4:SFE ^f -VH	-0.17	-0.20	0.02	-7.37	<.001	Yes
H5:PB-SFE	0.49	0.35	0.00	12.20	<.001	Yes
H6:PR-SFE	-0.24	-0.22	0.03	-8.21	<.001	Yes
H7:SN-SFE	0.56	0.30	0.05	11.72	<.001	Yes

^aCR: critical ratio.

^bPB: perceived benefits.

^cVH: vaccine hesitancy.

^dPR: perceived risk.

^eSN: subjective norms.

^fSFE: self-efficacy.



Figure 2. Structural equation modeling results on relationships of perceived benefits (PB), perceived risks (PR), subjective norms (SN), self-efficacy (SFE), and COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy (VH).



Discussion

Principal Findings

This study utilized SEM to investigate relationships among perceived benefits, perceived risks, self-efficacy, subjective norms, and COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. The study found a high COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy rate among PLWHA in China. Factors associated with vaccine hesitancy were age, a history of chronic diseases, and other vaccinations in the past 3 years. In addition, confidence in COVID-19 vaccination showed the lowest mean of all measured indicators, while perceived risks had the highest mean score. People were highly concerned about possible HIV disclosure during the COVID-19 vaccination. The findings of this study provided valuable information on designing a COVID-19 vaccination campaign addressing possible barriers and improving COVID-19 acceptance among PLWHA.

In this study, 41.61% (722/1735) of participants reported COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. The rate was higher than the result of 16.4% generated by a previous nationwide online survey in China [33]. Although the updated Chinese guideline included PLWHA for COVID-19 vaccination, PLWHA might

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33995

have a higher vaccine hesitancy rate than the general population because of concerns about HIV disclosure, interactions with ART and HIV disease, side effects, and others. Moreover, the vaccine hesitancy rate was higher than that of PLWHA in other nations and regions. Various factors might contribute to the difference, such as sociocultural factors, national policy and guidance, and types of vaccines.

This study found that vaccine hesitancy was associated with age, and the relationship showed an inverted U-shaped curve. Except for the group aged 40-49 years, older participants showed higher vaccine hesitancy than the younger group. This finding was consistent with a recent French study [34]. Moreover, we found other vaccinations in the past 3 years and a history of chronic diseases were significant predictors of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. PLWHA who did not have other vaccinations in the past 3 years and had a history of chronic diseases were more hesitant be vaccinated against COVID-19. The findings could help promote COVID-19 vaccination among PLWHA. More detailed guidelines on COVID-19 vaccination for people with chronic diseases could be widely disseminated to the public and health care providers. PLWHA and HIV doctors must work on managing chronic diseases and eliminating concerns on COVID-19 vaccination.

XSL•FO RenderX

We found perceived benefits, perceived risks, and subjective norms yielded significant direct effects on self-efficacy and COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy. The relationships between perceived benefits, perceived risks, subjective norms, and vaccine hesitancy were partially mediated by self-efficacy. The SEM results showed that the higher the perceived benefits, the higher the self-efficacy and the lower the degree of hesitation. Therefore, in order to reduce vaccine hesitation in PLWHA, an education campaign could be developed to provide evidence of the safety and effectiveness of the vaccine, highlighting the latest COVID-19 vaccination guidelines for PLWHA, and informing about the benefits of COVID-19 vaccination from both population and individual perspectives. Previous studies also have highlighted that the safety and efficacy of the COVID-19 vaccine were associated with individuals' vaccine hesitancy [35,36].

Perceived risks included participants' perceptions on vaccine safety and the fear of HIV disclosure. The SEM results showed that the higher the perceived risks, the lower the self-efficacy and the higher the degree of hesitation. Moreover, the fear of HIV disclosure during COVID-19 vaccination was a major concern. HIV stigma exists, and people might hesitate to disclose their HIV status when they receive a COVID-19 vaccine. Unintentional HIV disclosure and related stigma might aggravate their psychological burden [8,37,38]. Some strategies could be proposed to address COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy; for example, HIV clinics could collaborate with COVID-19 vaccination sites to provide COVID-19 vaccines to PLWHA. Health care providers at COVID-19 vaccination sites could underline and inform people about a protocol while protecting individuals' information and privacy.

Subjective norms included the support of family members, HIV-infected friends, medical professionals, and CBO workers. The SEM analysis results showed that, with a higher score for subjective norms, the higher the self-efficacy and the lower the degree of hesitation. PLWHA would prefer to accept suggestions regarding COVID-19 vaccination from the support of their family members. On the other hand, the support of an HIV-positive person and medical professionals showed less Yao et al

influence on PLWHA's decision making. It showed that PLWHA need the strength of their families. COVID-19 vaccination programs based on PLWHA families could be implemented to improve self-efficacy and reduce vaccine hesitancy in PLWHA through family support and mobilization. Although professional medical providers were one of the most trusted groups that could influence vaccine decision making [39], PLWHA could distrust medical staff because of HIV-related stigma and other reasons [40].

This study had limitations. First, this was a cross-sectional study, so no causality was established. Second, this survey was conducted in PLWHA from 5 large Chinese cities; therefore, the results may not be generalizable to PLWHA in China as COVID-19 vaccine availability, COVID-19 vaccine education, and regional policies and programs might be different among cities and regions. Third, because most of the reported PLWHAs in the 5 selected cities were male, the participants were also majority male. This may influence medical hesitancy, as women are more likely to access medical care. Fourth, because policies and guidelines related to the COVID-19 vaccine have been changing frequently, people's attitudes about COVID-19 vaccination may vary. Therefore, the findings were sensitive to some factors, such as political and vaccine-related circumstances. Fifth, most measurements in this study were self-constructed and adopted from existing measurements in the general population. The internal validity of these scales was acceptable. However, external validation data were unavailable. Finally, this study did not use random sampling based on the sampling framework, which cannot represent the current situation regarding the vaccination willingness of the entire PLWHA population in China. The extrapolation of the research results needs to be cautious.

Conclusions

COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy was high among PLWHA in China. To reduce vaccine hesitation and increase vaccine coverage in PLWHA, social sectors, health facilities, and local communities must work on joint efforts and collaborations to implement strategies and programs that increase COVID-19 vaccination efficacy and eliminate barriers.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all participants in this study and the staff who contributed during the data collection process. We are also thankful to the Changzhi Medical College and National Institute of Mental Health of the National Institutes of Health for funding this project.

This study was funded the Academic technology leader project of Changzhi Medical College (Grant No. XSQ201902). The funders had no role in study design, collection, analysis or interpretation of the data, writing the manuscript, or the decision to submit the paper for publication.

Authors' Contributions

RC, YY, and JX conceptualized the study and wrote, reviewed, and edited the manuscript. RC, XH, XZ, SL, and YY designed the methodology. JY, XH, MY, GF, GL, QY, and QZ curated the data. RC, JY, and YY performed the formal analysis. JY, XH, MY, GF, and GL performed project administration. XH and JY obtained the resources. QZ, SL,YY, and JX supervised the study. YY and RC contributed equally as first authors. JY, XZ, SL and JX contributed equally as corresponding authors. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript as submitted.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

The process of specific recruitment and data collection. [DOCX File, 13 KB - publichealth_v8i6e33995_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Supplementary tables. [DOCX File, 34 KB - publichealth v8i6e33995 app2.docx]

References

- 1. WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://covid19.who.int/</u> [accessed 2022-05-24]
- Mathur R, Rentsch CT, Morton CE, Hulme WJ, Schultze A, MacKenna B, OpenSAFELY Collaborative. Ethnic differences in SARS-CoV-2 infection and COVID-19-related hospitalisation, intensive care unit admission, and death in 17 million adults in England: an observational cohort study using the OpenSAFELY platform. Lancet 2021 May 08;397(10286):1711-1724. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00634-6] [Medline: 33939953]
- Choi B, Choudhary MC, Regan J, Sparks JA, Padera RF, Qiu X, et al. Persistence and Evolution of SARS-CoV-2 in an Immunocompromised Host. N Engl J Med 2020 Dec 03;383(23):2291-2293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2031364] [Medline: 33176080]
- Hensley MK, Bain WG, Jacobs J, Nambulli S, Parikh U, Cillo A, et al. Intractable Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and Prolonged Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) Replication in a Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T-Cell Therapy Recipient: A Case Study. Clin Infect Dis 2021 Aug 02;73(3):e815-e821 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab072] [Medline: 33507235]
- Khatamzas E, Rehn A, Münchhoff M, Hellmuth J, Gaitzsch E, Weiglein T, et al. Emergence of multiple SARS-CoV-2 mutations in an immunocompromised host. medRxiv. Preprint published on January 15, 2021 2020. [doi: 10.1101/2021.01.10.20248871]
- 6. Bhaskaran K, Rentsch CT, MacKenna B, Schultze A, Mehrkar A, Bates CJ, et al. HIV infection and COVID-19 death: a population-based cohort analysis of UK primary care data and linked national death registrations within the OpenSAFELY platform. The Lancet HIV 2021 Jan;8(1):e24-e32. [doi: 10.1016/s2352-3018(20)30305-2]
- Western Cape Department of Health in collaboration with the National Institute for Communicable Diseases, South Africa. Risk Factors for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Death in a Population Cohort Study from the Western Cape Province, South Africa. Clin Infect Dis 2021 Oct 05;73(7):e2005-e2015 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa1198] [Medline: 32860699]
- Tran BX, Phan HT, Latkin CA, Nguyen HLT, Hoang CL, Ho CSH, et al. Understanding Global HIV Stigma and Discrimination: Are Contextual Factors Sufficiently Studied? (GAP). Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 May 29;16(11):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16111899] [Medline: 31146379]
- 9. Canada's COVID-19 Immunization Plan: Saving Lives and Livelihoods. Public Health Agency of Canada. URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/documents/services/diseases/2019-novel-coronavirus-infection/canadas-reponse/canadas-covid-19-immunization-plan-en.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-05-24]
- 10. Recommendations on the use of COVID-19 vaccines. Government of Canada. 2021 Oct 22. URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/immunization/national-advisory-committee-on-immunization-naci/recommendations-use-covid-19-vaccines.html</u> [accessed 2022-05-24]
- 11. COVID-19 vaccines and HIV. UNAIDS. 2021 Jun 01. URL: <u>https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/documents/2021/covid19</u> -vaccines-and-hiv [accessed 2022-05-24]
- 12. British HIV Association. 2021 Jan 11. URL: <u>https://www.bhiva.org/SARS-CoV-2-vaccine-advice-for-adults-living-with-HIV-update</u> [accessed 2022-05-24]
- 13. HIV and COVID-19 Basics. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/covid-19.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2022-05-24]
- COVID-19 Vaccination Technical Guidelines (First Edition). National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. 2021 Mar 29. URL: <u>http://www.nhc.gov.cn/xcs/yqfkdt/202103/c2febfd04fc5498f916b1be080905771.shtml</u> [accessed 2022-05-24]
- Kaida A, Brotto LA, Murray MCM, Côté HCF, Albert AY, Nicholson V, et al. Intention to Receive a COVID-19 Vaccine by HIV Status Among a Population-Based Sample of Women and Gender Diverse Individuals in British Columbia, Canada. AIDS Behav 2022 Jul;26(7):2242-2255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10461-022-03577-w] [Medline: 35020094]
- Liu Y, Han J, Li X, Chen D, Zhao X, Qiu Y, et al. COVID-19 Vaccination in People Living with HIV (PLWH) in China: A Cross Sectional Study of Vaccine Hesitancy, Safety, and Immunogenicity. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Dec 09;9(12):1458 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9121458] [Medline: 34960204]

- 17. Report of the SAGE Working Group on vaccine hesitancy. World Health Organization. 2014 Nov 12. URL: <u>https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/immunization/sage/2014/october/sage-working-group-revised-report-vaccine-hesitancy.pdf?sfvrsn=240a7c1c_4 [accessed 2022-05-24]</u>
- 18. Ten threats to global health in 2019. Pan American Health Organization. 2019 Jan 17. URL: <u>https://www.paho.org/en/news/</u> <u>17-1-2019-ten-threats-global-health-2019</u> [accessed 2022-05-24]
- Betsch C, Schmid P, Heinemeier D, Korn L, Holtmann C, Böhm R. Beyond confidence: Development of a measure assessing the 5C psychological antecedents of vaccination. PLoS One 2018;13(12):e0208601 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208601] [Medline: 30532274]
- Hou Z, Tong Y, Du F, Lu L, Zhao S, Yu K, et al. Assessing COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy, Confidence, and Public Engagement: A Global Social Listening Study. J Med Internet Res 2021 Jun 11;23(6):e27632 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/27632] [Medline: 34061757]
- 21. Sallam M. COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy Worldwide: A Concise Systematic Review of Vaccine Acceptance Rates. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Feb 16;9(2):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9020160] [Medline: <u>33669441</u>]
- Wang J, Lu X, Lai X, Lyu Y, Zhang H, Fenghuang Y, et al. The Changing Acceptance of COVID-19 Vaccination in Different Epidemic Phases in China: A Longitudinal Study. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Feb 25;9(3):191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9030191] [Medline: 33668923]
- 23. MacDonald NE, SAGE Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy. Vaccine hesitancy: Definition, scope and determinants. Vaccine 2015 Aug 14;33(34):4161-4164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.036] [Medline: 25896383]
- 24. Lin C, Tu P, Beitsch LM. Confidence and Receptivity for COVID-19 Vaccines: A Rapid Systematic Review. Vaccines (Basel) 2020 Dec 30;9(1):16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9010016] [Medline: 33396832]
- 25. Vallée A, Fourn E, Majerholc C, Touche P, Zucman D. COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy among French People Living with HIV. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Mar 24;9(4):302 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9040302] [Medline: 33804808]
- 26. Bogart LM, Ojikutu BO, Tyagi K, Klein DJ, Mutchler MG, Dong L, et al. COVID-19 Related Medical Mistrust, Health Impacts, and Potential Vaccine Hesitancy Among Black Americans Living With HIV. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2021 Feb 01;86(2):200-207 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/QAI.00000000002570] [Medline: 33196555]
- 27. Carlin JB, Hocking J. Design of cross-sectional surveys using cluster sampling: an overview with Australian case studies. Aust N Z J Public Health 1999 Oct;23(5):546-551. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-842x.1999.tb01317.x</u>] [Medline: <u>10575783</u>]
- Ferreira AC, Teixeira AL, Silveira MF, Carneiro M. Quality of life predictors for people living with HIV/AIDS in an impoverished region of Brazil. Rev Soc Bras Med Trop 2018;51(6):743-751 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/0037-8682-0442-2017] [Medline: 30517527]
- 29. Knox SA, Chondros P. Observed intra-cluster correlation coefficients in a cluster survey sample of patient encounters in general practice in Australia. BMC Med Res Methodol 2004 Dec 22;4(1):30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-4-30] [Medline: 15613248]
- 30. Nunnally JC, Bernstein IH. Psychometric Theory. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill; 1994.
- 31. Lau JT, Wang Z, Kim Y, Li J, Gu J, Mo PK, et al. Low sustainability, poor governance, and other challenges encountered by grassroots non-governmental organizations targeting HIV prevention for men who have sex with men in China a nation-wide study. AIDS Care 2017 Dec 08;29(12):1480-1490. [doi: 10.1080/09540121.2017.1300630] [Medline: 28271717]
- 32. Fisher KA, Bloomstone SJ, Walder J, Crawford S, Fouayzi H, Mazor KM. Attitudes Toward a Potential SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine : A Survey of U.S. Adults. Ann Intern Med 2020 Dec 15;173(12):964-973 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M20-3569] [Medline: 32886525]
- Lin Y, Hu Z, Zhao Q, Alias H, Danaee M, Wong LP. Understanding COVID-19 vaccine demand and hesitancy: A nationwide online survey in China. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2020 Dec;14(12):e0008961 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0008961] [Medline: 33322359]
- Schwarzinger M, Watson V, Arwidson P, Alla F, Luchini S. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in a representative working-age population in France: a survey experiment based on vaccine characteristics. The Lancet Public Health 2021 Apr;6(4):e210-e221. [doi: 10.1016/s2468-2667(21)00012-8]
- Del Riccio M, Boccalini S, Rigon L, Biamonte MA, Albora G, Giorgetti D, et al. Factors Influencing SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine Acceptance and Hesitancy in a Population-Based Sample in Italy. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 Jun 10;9(6):633 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9060633] [Medline: 34200656]
- Edwards B, Biddle N, Gray M, Sollis K. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and resistance: Correlates in a nationally representative longitudinal survey of the Australian population. PLoS One 2021;16(3):e0248892 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0248892] [Medline: <u>33760836</u>]
- 37. Agenda for Zero Discrimination in Health-Care Settings. UNAIDS. 2017 Feb 15. URL: <u>https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/</u> <u>documents/2017/2017-agenda-zero-discrimination-health-care</u> [accessed 2022-05-24]
- Jackson-Best F, Edwards N. Stigma and intersectionality: a systematic review of systematic reviews across HIV/AIDS, mental illness, and physical disability. BMC Public Health 2018 Jul 27;18(1):919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5861-3] [Medline: 30049270]
- Hildreth JEK, Alcendor DJ. Targeting COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy in Minority Populations in the US: Implications for Herd Immunity. Vaccines (Basel) 2021 May 11;9(5):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/vaccines9050489] [Medline: 34064726]

40. Senyurek G, Kavas MV, Ulman YI. Lived experiences of people living with HIV: a descriptive qualitative analysis of their perceptions of themselves, their social spheres, healthcare professionals and the challenges they face daily. BMC Public Health 2021 May 12;21(1):904 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10881-y] [Medline: 33980195]

Abbreviations

ART: antiretroviral therapy AVE: average variance extracted CBO: community-based organization CFI: comparative fit index deff: design effect IFI: incremental fit index NFI: normed fit index PLWHA: people living with HIV/AIDS SEM: structural equation modeling TLI: Tucker-Lewis index

Edited by T Sanchez, A Mavragani; submitted 03.10.21; peer-reviewed by M Wambura, J Opoku; comments to author 24.01.22; revised version received 13.02.22; accepted 27.04.22; published 30.06.22.

Please cite as:

Yao Y, Chai R, Yang J, Zhang X, Huang X, Yu M, Fu GF, Lan G, Qiao Y, Zhou Q, Li S, Xu J Reasons for COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy Among Chinese People Living With HIV/AIDS: Structural Equation Modeling Analysis JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e33995 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e33995</u> doi:<u>10.2196/33995</u> PMID:<u>35486810</u>

©Yan Yao, Ruiyu Chai, Jianzhou Yang, Xiangjun Zhang, Xiaojie Huang, Maohe Yu, Geng-feng Fu, Guanghua Lan, Ying Qiao, Qidi Zhou, Shuyue Li, Junjie Xu. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 30.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Mobile Phone Ownership and Use Among Women Screening for Cervical Cancer in a Community-Based Setting in Western Kenya: Observational Study

Jacob Stocks^{1*}, MSc; Saduma Ibrahim^{2*}, BSc; Lawrence Park^{3,4*}, PhD; Megan Huchko^{1,5*}, MPH, MD

¹Center for Global Reproductive Health, Duke Global Health Institute, Durham, NC, United States

²Kenya Medical Research Institute, Nairobi, Kenya

³Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, NC, United States

⁴Research Design and Analysis Core, Duke Global Health Institute, Durham, NC, United States

⁵Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Duke University School of Medicine, Durham, NC, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Jacob Stocks, MSc Center for Global Reproductive Health Duke Global Health Institute 310 Trent Drive Durham, NC, 27710 United States Phone: 1 919 681 7760 Email: jacob_stocks@med.unc.edu

Abstract

Background: Mobile phone ownership among women of reproductive age in western Kenya is not well described, and our understanding of its link with care-seeking behaviors is nascent. Understanding access to and use of mobile phones among this population as well as willingness to participate in mobile health interventions are important in improving and more effectively implementing mobile health strategies.

Objective: This study aims to describe patterns of mobile phone ownership and use among women attending cervical cancer screening and to identify key considerations for the use of SMS text message–guided linkage to treatment strategies and other programmatic implications for cervical cancer screening in Kenya.

Methods: This analysis was nested within a cluster randomized trial evaluating various strategies for human papillomavirus (HPV)–based cervical cancer screening and prevention in a rural area in western Kenya between February and November 2018. A total of 3299 women were surveyed at the time of screening and treatment. Questionnaires included items detailing demographics, health history, prior care-seeking behaviors, and patterns of mobile phone ownership and use. We used bivariate and multivariable log-binomial regression to analyze associations between independent variables and treatment uptake among women testing positive for high-risk HPV.

Results: Rates of mobile phone ownership (2351/3299, 71.26%) and reported daily use (2441/3299, 73.99%) were high among women. Most women (1953/3277, 59.59%) were comfortable receiving their screening results via SMS text messages, although the most commonly *preferred* method of notification was via phone calls. Higher levels of education (risk ratio 1.23, 95% CI 1.02-1.50), missing work to attend screening (risk ratio 1.29, 95% CI 1.10-1.52), and previous cervical cancer screening (risk ratio 1.27, 95% CI 1.05-1.55) were significantly associated with a higher risk of attending treatment after testing high-risk HPV–positive, although the rates of overall treatment uptake remained low (278/551, 50.5%) among this population. Those who shared a mobile phone with their partner or spouse were less likely to attend treatment than those who owned a phone (adjusted risk ratio 0.69, 95% CI 0.46-1.05). Treatment uptake did not vary significantly according to the type of notification method, which were SMS text message, phone call, or home visit.

Conclusions: Although the rates of mobile phone ownership and use among women in western Kenya are high, we found that individual preferences for communication of messages about HPV results and treatment varied and that treatment rates were low across the entire cohort, with no difference by modality (SMS text message, phone call, or home visit). Therefore, although

text-based results performed as well as phone calls and home visits, our findings highlight the need for more work to tailor communication about HPV results and support women as they navigate the follow-up process.

(JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e28885) doi:10.2196/28885

KEYWORDS

cell phone; mobile health; mHealth; cervical cancer screening; Kenya; human papillomavirus; HPV testing

Introduction

Background

Cervical cancer disproportionately affects women in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs). It is the fourth most common cancer worldwide [1], with nearly 90% of cervical cancer-related deaths occurring in LMICs [1-3]. The vast majority of these deaths are preventable, as advances in screening methodologies, including cytology-based testing, have helped to decrease cervical cancer mortality in high-income countries [4,5]. Although the World Health Organization has recommended simplified and lower-cost screening strategies for LMICs, many countries such as Kenya still face a range of challenges in implementing and scaling cervical cancer prevention programs. These challenges include low numbers of trained health care providers, lack of physical and financial resources, complicated screening logistics, low community awareness of disease risk and screening opportunities, and personal health beliefs [6,7]. According to Kenya's 2014 Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS), only 14% of women surveyed had ever been screened for cervical cancer; however, the country experiences the highest cervical cancer incidence rate within the East African region (33.8 per 100,000 women) and one of the highest in the world [1,8]. Thus, new and innovative approaches are required to overcome the current shortcomings in screening and linkage to treatment.

Human papillomavirus (HPV)-based screening, recently endorsed by the World Health Organization for use in screen-and-treat strategies in LMICs [9], can be collected via self-sampling, facilitating the decentralization of care from health facilities into community settings. In addition, HPV-based screening can be offered by nonphysician clinicians. This could increase the availability and acceptance of testing among women in low-resource settings. However, to be effective, HPV-based screening programs must be accompanied by effective counseling and education and electronic tracking systems for laboratory results and patient follow-up. One strategy to bridge these system-, provider-, and patient-level gaps is through the use of mobile phone technology. Mobile phone-based health (mobile health [mHealth]) interventions appear to be promising solutions to many of the infrastructure- and access-related challenges faced by LMICs and nonurban communities [10,11]. Many approaches to using telecommunications technology, including the collection of client data, medication adherence notifications, service reminders, and knowledge sharing campaigns, have been implemented in a variety of settings [12-15].

The efficacy of mHealth interventions relies, in part, on the level of access to and ownership of mobile phones among target populations. Improvements in cell phone network capability,

```
https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e28885
```

decreasing costs of mobile phone ownership, and urbanization have led to growing mobile phone ownership throughout sub-Saharan Africa [16,17]. In recent decades, there has been a significant increase in mobile phone access in Kenya, with mobile subscription rates increasing from 0.02 to 86.1 per 100 people between 1997 and 2017 [16,18,19]. However, disparities in cell phone ownership and access by gender, residence type (urban or rural), educational attainment, and wealth remain [20]. Women constitute more than half of those currently unreached by the mobile phone market, and those who are poorer and less educated tend to be even less connected [21,22]. An analysis of mobile phone access from Kenya's 2014 DHS revealed that 86.7% of women reported having a mobile phone in their household but did not provide insight into personal ownership, which is important to consider if potentially sensitive information is to be shared during an mHealth intervention [23]. Mobile phone ownership among women of reproductive age in western Kenya is not well described, and our understanding of its link with care-seeking behaviors is nascent. Understanding access to and use of mobile phones among this population as well as willingness to participate in mHealth interventions is important in improving and more effectively implementing mHealth strategies.

A recent cluster randomized trial in rural western Kenya showed that HPV testing via self-collection within community health campaigns (CHCs) was an acceptable and well-attended strategy for cervical cancer screening. However, the study found that treatment uptake among HPV-positive women was <50% [24]. Consequently, we used an enhanced strategy to link women to treatment, which used SMS text messages to provide women with screening results, educational content, and treatment reminders.

Study Objectives

The objectives of this study were (1) to describe patterns of mobile phone ownership and use among women attending cervical cancer screening, (2) to identify key considerations for the use of SMS text message–guided linkage to treatment strategies and other programmatic implications for cervical cancer screening in Kenya, and (3) to determine whether mobile phone ownership or the method of results notification are independent predictors of treatment uptake among women who tested positive for HPV.

Methods

Study Setting and Sample

This analysis was nested within a cluster randomized trial evaluating various strategies for HPV-based cervical cancer screening and prevention in a rural area of western Kenya [24]. The cluster randomized trial enrolled women eligible for

XSL•FO RenderX

screening based on the Kenya Ministry of Health guidelines (aged 25-65 years with an intact uterus and cervix). High-risk human papillomavirus (hrHPV)-based screening was offered free of charge via self-sampling to women in health facilities or CHCs. To address levels of treatment uptake of <50%, the study staff engaged key stakeholders to develop an enhanced *linkage-to-treatment* strategy. The strategy included decentralized treatment sites with increased frequency and educational content via mobile phone messaging for women who had been screened for HPV. This study analyzed mobile phone ownership data and treatment uptake from the trial after the implementation of the enhanced strategy, which was identical across arms.

Study Design

A total of 6 CHCs were conducted in Migori County, Kenya, between February and November 2018. Each CHC lasted 2 weeks and took place at different sites around the community with a predetermined schedule that was promoted during community mobilization. After self-collection and laboratory processing, the study staff notified women of their results via their preferred notification method: phone calls, SMS text messages, or home visits. Those who tested positive for hrHPV were referred to a treatment site deemed most accessible based on their community, where cryotherapy was available 5 days per week at no charge to the participants.

Data for this analysis originated from questionnaires administered at the time of screening and treatment (Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2). After informed consent was obtained, trained study staff verbally delivered the questionnaires and recorded participant responses electronically with tablets using OpenDataKit. The questionnaires included items detailing demographics, health history, prior care-seeking behaviors, and patterns of mobile phone ownership and use. Methods for data privacy and storage as well as specimen collection and storage have been described elsewhere [24].

Quantitative Analysis

Women who attended one of the CHCs during the study period, consented to participate, completed the prescreening questionnaire, and were screened were included in this analysis. Basic descriptive statistics were used to characterize the study population. These included frequencies and percentages of demographic factors. In addition, we analyzed factors related to the implementation of SMS text messaging in screening and treatment strategies and their association with mobile phone ownership, compared using the chi-square test of independence. We considered women who reported personal ownership of their most frequently used mobile phone as mobile phone owners and those who did not report personal ownership but did report the use of a mobile phone as mobile phone were considered as nonusers. We carried out bivariate log-binomial regression to analyze associations between independent variables, including mobile phone ownership and chosen method of result notification, and the main outcome variable, attendance at treatment after having screened positive for hrHPV. We dichotomized treatment attendance, defined as attending a designated treatment facility within 3 months (not self-reported), as no=0 (did not attend treatment) and yes=1 (attended or attempted treatment). This distinction was made regardless of whether participants actually received treatment, as some were deemed ineligible for treatment because of pregnancy at the time of presentation, menses, or suspicion of cervical cancer. To control for potential confounding factors, age and all variables associated with the outcome (significant at the P<.10 level) in the bivariate analysis were included in the multivariable log-binomial regression analyses. We reported adjusted risk ratios and 95% CI resulting from multivariable log-binomial regression analysis and considered statistical significance at the 5% significance level (two-sided P < .05) for all tests. All aforementioned analyses were performed using STATA/SE 17 software (Stata Corporation).

Ethics Approval

We obtained ethics approval for this study from the ethics review unit of the Kenya Medical Research Institute (protocol #2918) and the institutional review board of Duke University (protocol #Pro00077442). The parent cluster randomized trial was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT02124252). All participants provided written consent at the time of screening. The participants provided verbal affirmation during all follow-up visits.

Results

Overall, 3299 women attended and were screened for HPV at one of the study CHCs. The average age was 38.2 (SD 11.3) years, with 60.02% (1980/3299) of the women aged between 25 and 39 years (Table 1). A large majority of the participants (2779/3299, 84.24%) reported having a primary school education or less, and very few participants (102/3299, 3.09%) had completed a collegiate degree. Nearly all women (3212/3299, 97.36%) who were screened were either married or widowed, and most (2364/2521, 93.77%) of those who reported having a partner lived with that person. The majority of women (1893/3299, 57.38%) worked outside of the home, and overall, women had an average of 4.9 (SD 2.9) children. Few women (497/3299, 15.06%) had previously been screened for cervical cancer, whereas almost all women (3185/3299, 96.54%) had previously been tested for HIV, and 24.29% (773/3182) of women self-reported that they were living with HIV. Although nearly all women (3252/3299, 98.58%) reported being sexually active, less than half of them (1328/3299, 40.25%) reported using modern family planning methods. The overall hrHPV positivity rate during CHCs was 16.70% (551/3299; Table 1).



Stocks et al

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of the study population by mobile phone ownership in a prospective study of mobile phone ownership in Migori,Kenya, between February and November 2018.

Characteristic	Total (N=3299)	Owners (n=2351)	Sharers (n=394)	Nonusers (n=554)
Age (years), mean (SD)	38.2 (11.3)	38.0 (10.9)	35.4 (10.9)	40.5 (12.6)
Age (years; n=3295), n (%)				
25-29	955 (29)	647 (27.5)	162 (41.1)	146 (26.5)
30-39	1025 (31.1)	765 (32.6)	112 (28.4)	148 (26.8)
40-49	686 (20.8)	520 (22.1)	67 (17.0)	99 (17.9)
50-59	453 (13.8)	312 (13.3)	39 (9.9)	102 (18.5)
60-65	176 (5.3)	105 (4.5)	14 (3.6)	57 (10.3)
Relationship status, n (%)				
Single	37 (1.1)	27 (1.1)	5 (1.3)	5 (0.9)
Single with partner	11 (0.3)	9 (0.4)	1 (0.2)	1 (0.2)
Married	2510 (76.1)	1779 (75.7)	348 (88.3)	383 (69.1)
Widowed	702 (21.3)	502 (21.3)	39 (9.9)	161 (29.1)
Separated or divorced	39 (1.2)	34 (1.5)	1 (0.3)	4 (0.7)
Live with partner (n=2521), n (%)				
Yes	2364 (93.8)	1655 (92.6)	341 (97.7)	368 (95.8)
No	157 (6.2)	133 (7.4)	8 (2.3)	16 (4.2)
Education level, n (%)				
Primary school or less	2779 (84.2)	1900 (80.8)	346 (87.8)	533 (96.2)
Some secondary school	520 (15.8)	451 (19.2)	48 (12.2)	21 (3.8)
Work outside of home, n (%)				
Yes	1893 (57.4)	1442 (61.3)	194 (49.2)	257 (46.4)
No	1406 (42.6)	909 (38.7)	200 (50.8)	297 (53.6)
Number of children, mean (SD)	4.9 (2.9)	4.8 (2.8)	4.8 (3.1)	5.4 (3.1)
Previous cervical cancer screening, n (%)				
Yes	497 (15.1)	413 (17.6)	41 (10.4)	43 (7.8)
No	2799 (84.8)	1937 (82.4)	353 (89.6)	509 (91.9)
Unsure	3 (0.1)	1 (0)	0 (0)	2 (0.3)
Previous testing for HIV, n (%)				
Yes	3185 (96.5)	2288 (97.3)	379 (96.2)	518 (93.5)
No	102 (3.1)	57 (2.4)	14 (3.6)	31 (5.6)
Unsure	12 (0.4)	6 (0.3)	1 (0.2)	5 (0.9)
HIV status (n=3182) ^a , n (%)				
Positive	773 (24.3)	587 (25.7)	63 (16.6)	123 (23.7)
Negative	2390 (75)	1688 (73.8)	313 (82.6)	389 (75.1)
Unsure	19 (0.6)	10 (0.4)	3 (0.8)	6 (1.2)
Currently using family planning or contraception, n (%)			
Yes	1328 (40.3)	996 (42.4)	165 (41.9)	167 (30.1)
No	1921 (58.2)	1323 (56.3)	221 (56.1)	377 (68.1)
Unsure	3 (0.1)	2 (0.1)	0 (0)	1 (0.2)
Not sexually active	47 (1.4)	30 (1.3)	8 (2)	9 (1.6)
Human papillomavirus result, n (%)				

https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e28885



JMIR PUBLIC HEALTH AND SURVEILLANCE				Stocks et al
Characteristic	Total (N=3299)	Owners (n=2351)	Sharers (n=394)	Nonusers (n=554)
Positive	551 (16.7)	393 (16.7)	66 (16.8)	92 (16.6)
Negative	2748 (83.3)	1958 (83.3)	328 (83.2)	462 (83.4)

^aA total of 3 participants refused to answer.

Among the 83.21% (2745/3299) of participants who reported having ever used a mobile phone, 85.64% (2351/2745) reported owning a mobile phone, and 14.31% (394/2745) reported sharing a mobile phone with their partner, child, family members, friends, neighbors, or other individuals. Compared with those who shared or did not use a mobile phone, mobile phone owners tended to be more highly educated, more commonly did not live with their partner, worked outside of the home at a greater proportion, and had fewer children. In addition, these women demonstrated greater health seeking behavior, as they had previously screened for HPV, tested for HIV, and used modern family planning methods at a higher proportion than mobile phone sharers and nonusers. Proportions of previous cervical cancer screening, HIV testing, and contraceptive use were the lowest among women who had never used a mobile phone. Self-reported HIV-positive status was more common among those who owned a mobile phone as compared with those who did not. No appreciable difference in hrHPV positivity was observed according to mobile phone ownership (Table 1).

Nearly three-quarters of women who shared their mobile phones did so with a spouse or partner, whereas few shared with children, other family members, friends, and neighbors. Although most women who reported having used a mobile phone said they used the device 7 days a week, a greater proportion of mobile phone owners used their device daily when compared with sharers (Table 2). Frequent technical issues were reported by both owners and sharers. A total of 56.81% (1559/2744) of women reported encountering challenges with use on a weekly basis, whereas just over approximately 13% (350/2744) reported daily issues. Approximately 15% (412/2744) of the participants stated that they never faced challenges using their device. Nearly two-thirds of women felt comfortable reading and receiving SMS text messages, whereas a quarter said they were unable to do so. Similarly, the majority of women were comfortable writing and sending SMS text messages. As expected, comfort with SMS text messages was not commonly reported by nonusers.

Most women (1953/3277, 59.60%) said that they would be comfortable receiving hrHPV test results via SMS text message, with 20.48% (671/3277) being very comfortable and 39.12% (1282/3277) being comfortable. Mobile phone owners and sharers dominated this majority, as only approximately 14% of nonusers reported comfort with SMS text message for notification of results (Table 3). However, when given the choice between different notification types, only 1 out of 4 women (25.98%) said that they would *prefer* to receive their results by SMS text message if negative, with 22.52% (743/3299) of women preferring SMS text message if their HPV result was positive. Of the 3.46% (114/3299) of participants whose preference for SMS text message changed based on possible HPV results, the overwhelming majority preferred a phone call

XSL•FO RenderX for their results, whereas very few indicated a preference for home visits if their HPV result was positive. SMS text message was the only notification method that showed such variation based on potential screening outcome (Table 3). Preference for home visit result notification remained the same regardless of the hypothetical HPV result, whereas the proportion of women preferring a phone call decreased slightly if the result was positive. Regardless of mobile phone ownership, most women willing to receive results via SMS text message preferred notifications in Dholuo or English.

Overall, half of the surveyed women *preferred* to receive a phone call for results, either positive or negative, with the second most common method being home visits if positive and SMS if negative. However, notification method preferences varied significantly by mobile phone ownership. Nearly all women who reported personal ownership of a mobile phone preferred a phone-based method for notification of results (2100/2351, 89.32% if hrHPV-positive, and 2171/2351, 92.34% if hrHPV-negative). A lower proportion of mobile phone sharers preferred a phone-based notification (243/394, 61.7% if hrHPV-positive, and 251/394, 63.7% if hrHPV-negative). Unsurprisingly, very few nonusers preferred a phone-based notification (68/554, 12.3% if hrHPV-positive, and 71/554, 12.8% if hrHPV-negative; *P*<.001 if negative or positive).

In bivariable analysis, at least a secondary education, having missed work to attend screening, and previous cervical cancer screening resulted in a significantly higher risk of treatment uptake (crude risk ratio 1.23, 95% CI 1.02-1.50; crude risk ratio 1.29, 95% CI 1.10-1.52; and crude risk ratio 1.27, 95% CI 1.05-1.55, respectively; Table 4). In addition, the unadjusted risk of treatment uptake among women who shared a mobile phone with their spouse or partner was significantly lower than that among those who owned their own phone (crude risk ratio 0.65, 95% CI 0.43-0.97; Table 5). The unadjusted risk of treatment uptake was highest among those who received an SMS text message for result notification, although not significantly higher than phone calls or home visits in the bivariable analysis (Table 6). Number of children, working outside of the home, use of modern family planning methods, being told to attend screening by a family member, and frequency of mobile phone use were not significantly associated with treatment uptake, and therefore, they were not considered in multivariable analysis (Table 4). In multivariable analysis, the risk of treatment uptake for women who shared a mobile phone with their spouse or partner was lower than that for those who owned a mobile phone (adjusted risk ratio 0.69, 95% CI 0.46-1.05); however, the difference was not statistically significant. There was no appreciable difference in the risk of treatment uptake between mobile phone owners and nonusers (Table 5). In addition, when accounting for at least a secondary education, having missed work to attend screening, previous cervical cancer screening, and mobile phone ownership, the risk

of treatment uptake did not vary significantly by notification type.

 Table 2. Patterns of mobile phone ownership and use among women attending community-based cervical cancer screening in a prospective study in

 Migori, Kenya, between February and November 2018.

Technology use characteristics	Total (N=3299), n (%)	Owners (n=2351), n (%)	Sharers (n=394), n (%)			
Owner of commonly used mobile phone (n=2745)	·					
My own	2351 (85.6)	2351 (100)	N/A ^a			
Spouse or partner	288 (10.5)	N/A	288 (73.1)			
Child	34 (1.2)	N/A	34 (8.6)			
Other family	30 (1.1)	N/A	30 (7.6)			
Others	42 (1.5)	N/A	42 (10.7)			
Frequency of mobile phone use among users (n=2745	Frequency of mobile phone use among users (n=2745)					
<7 days a week	304 (11.1)	138 (5.9)	166 (42.1)			
7 days a week	2441 (88.9)	2213 (94.1)	228 (57.9)			
Frequency of technical issues (n=2744) ^b						
Never	393 (14.3)	346 (14.7)	47 (11.9)			
At least once per month	313 (11.4)	274 (11.6)	39 (9.9)			
At least once per week	1559 (56.8)	1379 (58.7)	180 (45.7)			
At least once per day	350 (12.8)	305 (13.0)	45 (11.4)			
Unsure	115 (4.2)	35 (1.5)	80 (20.3)			
Other	15 (0.5)	11 (0.5)	3 (0.8)			
Comfort reading and receiving SMS text message						
Not able	814 (24.7)	384 (16.3)	87 (22.1)			
Very uncomfortable	68 (2.1)	39 (1.7)	7 (1.8)			
Uncomfortable	295 (8.9)	149 (6.3)	45 (11.4)			
Comfortable	1453 (44.0)	1197 (50.9)	190 (48.2)			
Very comfortable	650 (19.7)	580 (24.7)	57 (14.5)			
Unsure	19 (0.6)	2 (0.1)	8 (2.0)			
Comfort writing and sending SMS text message (N=3298) ^b						
Not able	912 (27.6)	465 (19.8)	95 (24.1)			
Very uncomfortable	68 (2.1)	39 (1.7)	6 (1.5)			
Uncomfortable	372 (11.3)	215 (9.2)	54 (13.7)			
Comfortable	1275 (38.7)	1046 (44.5)	176 (44.7)			
Very comfortable	644 (19.5)	576 (24.5)	55 (14.0)			
Unsure	27 (0.8)	10 (0.4)	7 (1.8)			

^aN/A: not applicable.

^bOne participant refused to answer.



 Table 3. Considerations for programmatic implementation and an SMS text message–guided linkage to treatment strategy based on a study of mobile phone ownership in Migori, Kenya, between February and November 2018.

Programmatic considerations	Total (N=3299), n (%)	Owners (n=2351), n (%)	Sharers (n=394), n (%)	Nonusers (n=554), n (%)
Comfort receiving screening results via SMS text message (n=3277) ^a				
Very uncomfortable	327 (10)	153 (6.5)	25 (6.3)	149 (27.9)
Uncomfortable	892 (27.2)	508 (21.6)	133 (33.8)	251 (47)
Comfortable	1282 (39.1)	1058 (45)	165 (41.2)	59 (11)
Very comfortable	671 (20.5)	604 (25.7)	55 (14)	12 (2.2)
Unsure	105 (3.2)	27 (1.2)	15 (3.8)	63 (11.8)
Preferred notification method if HPV ^b -negative ^c				
SMS text message	857 (26)	777 (33)	61 (15.5)	19 (3.4)
Phone call	1636 (49.6)	1394 (59.3)	190 (48.2)	52 (9.4)
Home visit	806 (24.4)	180 (7.7)	143 (36.3)	483 (87.2)
Preferred notification method if HPV-positive ^c				
SMS text message	743 (22.5)	666 (28.3)	59 (15)	18 (3.2)
Phone call	1668 (50.6)	1434 (61)	184 (46.7)	50 (9)
Home visit	888 (26.9)	251 (10.7)	151 (38.3)	486 (87.7)
Preferred language of SMS notification (n=897)				
English	184 (20.5)	174 (21.5)	7 (10.4)	3 (15)
Kiswahili	164 (18.3)	142 (17.5)	20 (29.9)	2 (10)
Dholuo	549 (61.2)	494 (61)	40 (59.7)	15 (75)

^aA total of 22 participants refused to answer (20 of which were nonusers).

^bHPV: human papillomavirus.

^cParticipants were asked about notification preferences at the time of screening, before knowing their HPV status. These are intended to convey women's preferences in the event of a positive or negative result. This is not a comparison of method preference based on actual screening results.

Stocks et al

Table 4. Factors associated with treatment uptake in bivariate analysis among women in a prospective study in Migori, Kenya, between February and November 2018 (n=551).

Characteristic	Treatment uptake	No treatment uptake	Crude risk ratio (95% CI)
Age (years), mean (SD)	36.4 (10.6)	35.5 (10.6)	1.00 (1.00-1.01)
Education level, n (%)			
Primary school or less	224 (48.6)	237 (51.4)	a
Some secondary school	54 (60)	36 (40)	1.23 (1.02-1.50)
Number of children, mean (SD)	4.5 (2.8)	4.1 (2.7)	1.02 (1.00-1.05)
Work outside of home, n (%)			
No	110 (46.6)	126 (53.4)	_
Yes	168 (53.3)	147 (46.7)	1.14 (0.96-1.36)
Missed work to attend screening, n (%)			
No	165 (45.8)	195 (54.2)	—
Yes	113 (59.2)	78 (40.8)	1.29 (1.10-1.52)
Told by family to attend screening, n (%)			
No	96 (46.2)	112 (53.8)	—
Yes	182 (53.1)	161 (46.9)	1.15 (0.96-1.37)
Previous cervical cancer screening, n (%)			
No	228 (48.5)	242 (51.5)	—
Yes	50 (61.7)	31 (38.3)	1.27 (1.05-1.55)
Currently using family planning or contraception, n (%	6)		
No	151 (49.5)	154 (50.5)	—
Yes	124 (52.5)	112 (47.5)	1.06 (0.90-1.25)
Not sexually active	2 (22.2)	7 (77.8)	0.45 (0.13-1.53)
Frequency of mobile phone use, n (%)			
<7 days a week	18 (38.3)	29 (61.7)	_
7 days a week	212 (51.5)	200 (48.5)	1.34 (0.92-1.95)

^aReference category.

Table 5. Effect of mobile phone ownership on treatment uptake among women in Migori, Kenya, between February and November 2018 (n=551).

Mobile phone ownership	Treatment uptake, n (%)	No treatment uptake, n (%)	Crude risk ratio (95% CI)	Adjusted risk ratio ^a (95% CI)
Owners	207 (52.7)	186 (47.3)	b	_
Sharers				
Spouse or partner	16 (34)	31 (66)	0.65 (0.43-0.97)	0.69 (0.46-1.05)
Other ^c	7 (36.8)	12 (63.2)	0.70 (0.39-1.27)	0.69 (0.38-1.25)
Nonusers	48 (52.2)	44 (47.8)	0.99 (0.80-1.23)	1.06 (0.84-1.32)

^aAdjusted for having missed work to attend screening, prior cervical cancer screening, age, and education.

^bReference category.

^cIncludes children, other family, friends, neighbors, and others.


Stocks et al

Table 6. Effect of notification type on treatment uptake among women in Migori, Kenya, between February and November 2018 (n=551).

Notification type	Treatment uptake, n (%)	No treatment uptake, n (%)	Crude risk ratio (95% CI)	Adjusted risk ratio ^a (95% CI)
SMS text message	72 (56.3)	56 (43.7)	b	_
Phone call	135 (48.7)	142 (51.3)	0.87 (0.71-1.05)	0.92 (0.76-1.12)
Home visit	71 (48.6)	75 (51.4)	0.86 (0.69-1.08)	0.89 (0.67-1.19)

^aAdjusted for having missed work to attend screening, prior cervical cancer screening, age, education, and mobile phone ownership (owner, sharer, and nonuser).

^bReference category.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study examined patterns of mobile phone ownership and use among women screening for cervical cancer in western Kenya. Mobile phone ownership rates and reported daily use were high, with more than three-quarters of women having ever used a mobile phone and \geq 7 in 10 women owning their own phone. Most women were comfortable receiving their screening results via SMS text messages, although the most commonly *preferred* method of notification was via phone calls. Those who shared a mobile phone with their spouse or partner were less likely to attend treatment than those who owned a phone; however, overall, the method by which women received their screening results did not significantly impact their treatment uptake.

Understanding mobile phone ownership and comfort with use are essential for planning mHealth interventions. We observed rates of mobile phone ownership and use consistent with similar studies of women of reproductive age in sub-Saharan Africa, namely, Ethiopia, Burkina Faso, and Nigeria, which reported rates between 46% and 77% [25-27]. Although a recent study from northern Kenya reported mobile phone access at 99% among a small sample of women (n=104), our results seem more aligned with an analysis of mobile phone access conducted by Lee et al [23], who analyzed Kenya's 2014 DHS mobile phone data in relation to contraceptive knowledge and use [28]. This nationally representative survey of 31,059 women reported mobile phone access of 87%, which is consistent with our data [23]. However, women surveyed for the DHS were asked about household-level access rather than personal-level ownership [23]. Such a distinction and related differences in women's access are important to consider, especially given the sensitive nature of information that may be shared regarding HPV test results, treatment plans, and posttreatment instructions around sexual activity. Women who share a mobile phone with a partner or child may be less willing to engage in such interventions because of fear of unwanted disclosure or breach of privacy.

Many studies have identified links between mobile phone access and care-seeking behaviors [23,26,27,29]. Although the results of this study did not show a relationship between mobile phone ownership and treatment uptake, our data highlight many important considerations for the use of mHealth interventions. First, the ability to read, write, send, and receive SMS text messages among one's target population is important to consider when designing text-based mHealth interventions. If populations have high levels of comfort with such tasks, as demonstrated by this survey, additional avenues of communication may be available between clients and providers. In addition to the unidirectional transmission of information, such as treatment or medication reminders, two-way communication is made possible, which could increase communication between client and provider and potentially reduce unnecessary visits to health facilities, freeing up time and space for health care workers. Such channels of communication can be maintained by live health workers or by automated chatbots and other algorithms. Given the high reported comfort with screening results via SMS text message, as well as comfort with reading, writing, sending, and receiving SMS text messages, such strategies appear feasible within western Kenya. Second, although mHealth has shown promise in bridging logistical gaps in similar situations, programs must ensure alternative means of communication or contact between health facilities and target populations to provide adequate and equitable access to women with varying levels of mobile connectivity or mobile phone access. In their work in Burkina Faso, Greenleaf et al [26] refer to such variance in access as "selective ownership" and argue that this can create an "ownership bias" in mHealth intervention uptake, making it difficult to reach populations most as risk. Such pitfalls can decrease intervention efficacy and alienate women who do not own or have access to a mobile phone, which based on our data, would exclude women with lower levels of educational attainment and poorer health seeking behaviors, putting them at risk for worse health outcomes. "Pre-intervention assessment," as suggested by Jennings et al [27] conducting research in Nigeria, could illuminate such issues and allow health officials to preempt and address problems of equity for women in the intervention setting.

In addition to the aforementioned mHealth intervention considerations, this study illustrated the need for further research on a variety of topics related to the implementation of mHealth for cervical cancer screening. More information is needed to understand the lack of preference for text notification and why preferences change depending on the hrHPV status. The decrease in preference for SMS text message result notification if a participant was to screen hrHPV-positive compared with hrHPV-negative is likely a result of a desire for increased privacy, which could be related to cultural factors such as stigma. However, our data do not allow us to draw concrete conclusions on this, as we did not ask about factors that influenced preference, or lack thereof. Further studies should be conducted to survey women of reproductive age to help better understand these barriers and facilitators of SMS text message use and privacy as well as strategies for messaging at the time

of screening, which would make SMS text messages more appealing. Second, frequent challenges and technical difficulties when using mobile phones were reported among the study population. These challenges could limit the feasibility and efficacy of an SMS text message-based system, as testing results and treatment reminders may be missed or not received owing to technical issues. Further examination of the nature of technical challenges and how they might impact the receipt of SMS text messages from program implementors is needed to further tailor this campaign. Third, regardless of the differences in treatment access by mobile phone ownership, the overall uptake remained low, even after the implementation of the enhanced linkage to the treatment strategy. Although this low level of treatment uptake (50.5%) improves upon treatment rates observed before implementation of the enhanced linkage strategy (between 31% and 39% uptake), the consistently low levels highlight the need for further exploration of opportunities for multipronged approaches to increasing uptake and access to care [24]. Identifying and bridging gaps in the cervical cancer prevention cascade is necessary to address the inequitable and preventable deaths caused by this disease. Finally, given the potential health benefits and increases in autonomy, there is a need to support increases in access to mobile phones and mobile phone networks for women of reproductive age [22].

Limitations

Although we achieved a large sample size among the target population of women in rural Kenya, the study had a number of limitations. First, although treatment uptake was measured at the time of presentation to the clinic, the self-reported nature of our survey data limited our ability to make strong claims about the observed patterns of mobile phone ownership and use and how they impacted uptake. In addition, social desirability bias could have led to measurement errors, with women not accurately reporting health behaviors or mobile phone use given societal expectations. In addition, as services confirming receipt or review of SMS text messages would have imparted costs to the participants, we did not collect this information and were not able to report on how this may have affected treatment uptake. Although socioeconomic status was relatively homogenous among our study population, there was no strong operationalization of socioeconomic status within the survey. Therefore, it is difficult to conclude whether the observed associations are because of mobile phone ownership or a more upstream effect of economic status. Finally, our data may lack generalizability as we only considered women who attended a CHC, which is a self-selective action and could be affected by many factors. If such factors systematically inhibit a significant portion of women from these locations, the results of this study would be biased and not generalizable to the target population as a whole. A random, community-based, representative survey is warranted to evaluate the validity and generalizability of the findings of this study.

Conclusions

This study examined the rates of mobile phone ownership, access, and the patterns of daily use among women of reproductive age in western Kenya. In addition, we highlighted many key considerations for the implementation of mHealth interventions in resource-limited settings, specifically those using SMS text messaging. Although rates of mobile phone ownership and use among women in western Kenya are high, we found that individual preferences for communication of messages about HPV results and treatment varied, and treatment rates were low across the entire cohort, with no difference by modality (SMS text message, phone call, or home visit). Further work is needed to tailor communication about HPV results and to support women as they navigate the follow-up process.

Acknowledgments

This study was completely supported by the National Cancer Institute of the National Institutes of Health (award R01CA188248). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Questionnaire administered at screening. [DOC File, 453 KB - publichealth_v8i6e28885_app1.doc]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Questionnaire administered at treatment. [DOCX File , 159 KB - publichealth_v8i6e28885_app2.docx]

References

 Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018 Nov;68(6):394-424 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.21492] [Medline: 30207593]

- Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D. Global cancer statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 2011;61(2):69-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3322/caac.20107] [Medline: 21296855]
- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer 2015 Mar 01;136(5):E359-E386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ijc.29210] [Medline: 25220842]
- 4. Sankaranarayanan R, Nene BM, Shastri SS, Jayant K, Muwonge R, Budukh AM, et al. HPV screening for cervical cancer in rural India. N Engl J Med 2009 Apr 02;360(14):1385-1394. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa0808516</u>] [Medline: <u>19339719</u>]
- Cervix Cancer Screening: IARC Handbooks of Cancer Prevention Volume 10. International Agency for Research on Cancer. 2005. URL: <u>https://publications.iarc.fr/Book-And-Report-Series/Iarc-Handbooks-Of-Cancer-Prevention/</u> <u>Cervix-Cancer-Screening-2005</u> [accessed 2021-01-02]
- Morema EN, Atieli HE, Onyango RO, Omondi JH, Ouma C. Determinants of cervical screening services uptake among 18-49 year old women seeking services at the Jaramogi Oginga Odinga Teaching and Referral Hospital, Kisumu, Kenya. BMC Health Serv Res 2014 Aug 06;14:335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-14-335] [Medline: 25100298]
- 7. Abdikarim IK, Carole Atieno WM, Habtu M. Prevalence and associated factors of cervical cancer screening among Somali Women in an urban settlement in Kenya. J Comm Pub Health Nurs 2017 Feb 17;3(1):159. [doi: 10.4172/2471-9846.1000159]
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, Ministry of Health/Kenya, National AIDS Control Council/Kenya, Kenya Medical Research Institute, National Council for Population and Development/Kenya, ICF International. Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2014. Demographic and Health Survey, Kenya. 2015 Dec 1. URL: <u>https://dhsprogram.com/publications/</u> <u>publication-fr308-dhs-final-reports.cfm</u> [accessed 2021-01-19]
- 9. WHO guideline for screening and treatment of cervical pre-cancer lesions for cervical cancer prevention. World Health Organization. 2013. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/94830/9789241548694_eng.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-01-05]
- Labrique AB, Vasudevan L, Kochi E, Fabricant R, Mehl G. mHealth innovations as health system strengthening tools: 12 common applications and a visual framework. Glob Health Sci Pract 2013 Aug;1(2):160-171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.9745/GHSP-D-13-00031] [Medline: 25276529]
- 11. World Health Organization Global Observatory for eHealth. mHealth: new horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth. World Health Organization. 2011. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44607</u> [accessed 2021-01-20]
- 12. Ashar R, Lewis S, Blazes DL, Chretien JP. Applying information and communications technologies to collect health data from remote settings: a systematic assessment of current technologies. J Biomed Inform 2010 Apr;43(2):332-341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2009.11.009] [Medline: 19961957]
- Cafazzo JA, Casselman M, Hamming N, Katzman DK, Palmert MR. Design of an mHealth app for the self-management of adolescent type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2012 May 08;14(3):e70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2058] [Medline: 22564332]
- 14. Laurence C, Wispelwey E, Flickinger TE, Grabowski M, Waldman AL, Plews-Ogan E, et al. Development of PositiveLinks: a mobile phone app to promote linkage and retention in care for people with HIV. JMIR Form Res 2019 Mar 20;3(1):e11578 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11578] [Medline: 30892269]
- 15. Fry JP, Neff RA. Periodic prompts and reminders in health promotion and health behavior interventions: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2009 May 14;11(2):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1138] [Medline: 19632970]
- 16. Mobile cellular subscriptions (per 100 people). The World Bank. 2018. URL: <u>https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/IT.CEL.</u> <u>SETS.P2</u> [accessed 2021-01-20]
- 17. Cell phones in Africa: Communication Lifeline. Pew Research Center. 2015 Apr 15. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2015/04/15/cell-phones-in-africa-communication-lifeline/</u> [accessed 2021-01-21]
- Njoroge M, Zurovac D, Ogara EA, Chuma J, Kirigia D. Assessing the feasibility of eHealth and mHealth: a systematic review and analysis of initiatives implemented in Kenya. BMC Res Notes 2017 Feb 10;10(1):90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13104-017-2416-0] [Medline: 28183341]
- 19. Lee S, Cho YM, Kim SY. Mapping mHealth (mobile health) and mobile penetrations in sub-Saharan Africa for strategic regional collaboration in mHealth scale-up: an application of exploratory spatial data analysis. Global Health 2017 Aug 22;13(1):63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12992-017-0286-9] [Medline: 28830540]
- 20. Wesolowski A, Eagle N, Noor AM, Snow RW, Buckee CO. Heterogeneous mobile phone ownership and usage patterns in Kenya. PLoS One 2012;7(4):e35319 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035319] [Medline: 22558140]
- 21. Newman L, Biedrzycki K, Baum F. Digital technology use among disadvantaged Australians: implications for equitable consumer participation in digitally-mediated communication and information exchange with health services. Aust Health Rev 2012 May;36(2):125-129. [doi: 10.1071/AH11042] [Medline: 22624630]
- 22. Women and Mobile: A Global Opportunity. Cherie Blair Foundation for Women. 2010. URL: <u>https://cherieblairfoundation.org/women-and-mobile-a-global-opportunity/</u> [accessed 2021-01-07]
- 23. Lee S, Begley CE, Morgan R, Chan W, Kim SY. Addition of mHealth (mobile health) for family planning support in Kenya: disparities in access to mobile phones and associations with contraceptive knowledge and use. Int Health 2019 Nov 13;11(6):463-471. [doi: 10.1093/inthealth/ihy092] [Medline: 30576546]

RenderX

- 24. Huchko MJ, Ibrahim S, Blat C, Cohen CR, Smith JS, Hiatt RA, et al. Cervical cancer screening through human papillomavirus testing in community health campaigns versus health facilities in rural western Kenya. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2018 Apr;141(1):63-69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12415] [Medline: 29197067]
- 25. Endehabtu B, Weldeab A, Were M, Lester R, Worku A, Tilahun B. Mobile phone access and willingness among mothers to receive a text-based mHealth intervention to improve prenatal care in Northwest Ethiopia: cross-sectional study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2018 Oct 17;1(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/pediatrics.9618] [Medline: 31518334]
- 26. Greenleaf AR, Ahmed S, Moreau C, Guiella G, Choi Y. Cell phone ownership and modern contraceptive use in Burkina Faso: implications for research and interventions using mobile technology. Contraception 2019 Mar;99(3):170-174 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2018.11.006] [Medline: 30468721]
- Jennings L, Omoni A, Akerele A, Ibrahim Y, Ekanem E. Disparities in mobile phone access and maternal health service utilization in Nigeria: a population-based survey. Int J Med Inform 2015 May;84(5):341-348. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.01.016] [Medline: 25737460]
- Kazi AM, Carmichael JL, Hapanna GW, Wangoo PG, Karanja S, Wanyama D, et al. Assessing mobile phone access and perceptions for texting-based mHealth interventions among expectant mothers and child caregivers in remote regions of Northern Kenya: a survey-based descriptive study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2017 Jan 30;3(1):e5 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.5386] [Medline: 28137702]
- Nie J, Unger JA, Thompson S, Hofstee M, Gu J, Mercer MA. Does mobile phone ownership predict better utilization of maternal and newborn health services? A cross-sectional study in Timor-Leste. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016 Jul 23;16(1):183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0981-1] [Medline: 27448798]

Abbreviations

CHC: community health campaign DHS: Demographic and Health Surveys HPV: human papillomavirus hrHPV: high-risk human papillomavirus LMIC: low- and middle-income country mHealth: mobile health

Edited by T Sanchez; submitted 17.03.21; peer-reviewed by R Marshall, I Pires; comments to author 18.11.21; revised version received 28.02.22; accepted 01.04.22; published 07.06.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Stocks J, Ibrahim S, Park L, Huchko M Mobile Phone Ownership and Use Among Women Screening for Cervical Cancer in a Community-Based Setting in Western Kenya: Observational Study JMIR Public Health Surveill 2022;8(6):e28885 URL: <u>https://publichealth.jmir.org/2022/6/e28885</u> doi:<u>10.2196/28885</u> PMID:<u>35671089</u>

©Jacob Stocks, Saduma Ibrahim, Lawrence Park, Megan Huchko. Originally published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance (https://publichealth.jmir.org), 07.06.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Public Health and Surveillance, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://publichealth.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

